
CABINET
AGENDA

Page 1 of 3

TUESDAY 27 MARCH 2018 AT 7.30 PM
CONFERENCE ROOM 2 - THE FORUM

The Councillors listed below are requested to attend the above meeting, on the day and at the time 
and place stated, to consider the business set out in this agenda.

Membership

Councillor Williams (Leader)
Councillor Griffiths (Deputy Leader)
Councillor Elliot

Councillor Harden
Councillor Marshall
Councillor G Sutton

For further information, please contact Member Support

AGENDA

1. MINUTES  (Pages 4 - 11)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 13th February 2018.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

To receive any apologies for absence.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

To receive any declarations of interest

A member with a disclosable pecuniary interest or a personal interest in a matter who 
attends a meeting of the authority at which the matter is considered -

(i) must disclose the interest at the start of the meeting or when the interest 
becomes apparent

and, if the interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest, or a personal interest 
which is also prejudicial

(ii)  may not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter (and must withdraw 

Public Document Pack



Page 2 of 3

to the public seating area) unless they have been granted a dispensation.

A member who discloses at a meeting a disclosable pecuniary interest which is not 
registered in the Members’ Register of Interests, or is not the subject of a pending 
notification, must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 days of the 
disclosure.

Disclosable pecuniary interests, personal and prejudicial interests are defined in Part 2 
of the Code of Conduct for Members

[If a member is in any doubt as to whether they have an interest which should be 
declared they should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer before the start of the 
meeting] 

4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  

An opportunity for members of the public to make statements and ask questions in 
accordance with the rules as to Public Participation.

5. REFERRALS TO CABINET  

There were no referrals to Cabinet

6. CABINET FORWARD PLAN  (Pages 12 - 13)

7. TWO WATERS MASTER PLAN  (Pages 14 - 516)

8. SENIOR PAY POLICY  (Pages 517 - 539)

9. COUNCIL NEW BUILD PROGRAMME UPDATE  (Pages 540 - 548)

10. SOUTH WEST HERTS JOINT STRATEGIC PLAN  (Pages 549 - 582)

11. Q3 RISK REGISTER  (Pages 583 - 601)

12. REVIEW OF HRA BUSINESS PLAN  (Pages 602 - 626)

13. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  

To consider passing a resolution in the following terms:

That, under s.100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 Schedule 12A Part 1 as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 
2006 the public be excluded during the items in Part 2 of the Agenda for this 
meeting, because it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted, that, if members of the public were present during those items, there 
would be disclosure to them of exempt information relating to the financial and 
business affairs of the Council and third party companies/organisations.

Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Part 1, paragraph 3.



Page 3 of 3



MINUTES

CABINET

13 FEBRUARY 2018

Present:

Members:

Councillors: Williams (Leader)
Griffiths (Deputy Leader)
Elliot
Harden
Marshall
G Sutton

Also attended: Cllrs Hicks, Douris, and Howard

Officers: S Marshall Chief Executive
J Deane Corporate Director (Finance & Operations)
M Brookes Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer
R Smyth Assistant Director (Performance, People & Innovation)
J Doyle Group Manager (Democratic Services)
C O’Neil Corporate Support Team Leader
K Soley Communication & Consultation Team Leader

The meeting began at 7.30 pm

CA/19/18  MINUTES

There were no minutes for consideration, minutes of the meeting held 30 January 
2018 will be considered at March Cabinet.

CA/20/18  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Mark Gaynor – Corporate Director (Housing & Regeneration)

Cllr Sutton asked that best wishes be sent to M Gaynor following his injury.

CA/21/18  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

Page 4

Agenda Item 1



CA/22/18  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There was no public participation.

CA/23/18  REFERRALS TO CABINET

There were no referrals to Cabinet.

CA/24/18  CABINET FORWARD PLAN

That the Cabinet Forward Plan be noted with the following items to be brought 
forward to March 2018;

 Hemel Hempstead Town Centre Parking Access and Movement Strategy
 South West Herts Memorandum of Understanding

CA/25/18  BUDGET REPORT

That Cabinet RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND the Council:

(details of the following are set out in Appendices A-M of the report to the Cabinet)

General Fund Revenue Estimate 
a) set a Dacorum Borough Council General Fund Council Tax requirement 

of £11.094m, and of £11.872m for the combined Borough Council and 
Parish Councils’ requirement for 2018/19; 

b) approve an increase of 2.99% in Council Tax for Dacorum Borough 
Council, taking Band D Council Tax to £195.51 for 2018/19; 

c) approve the base estimates for 2018/19, as shown in Appendix A1, and 
the indicative budget forecasts for 2018/19 – 2021/22, as shown in 
Appendix A2; 

d) approve the forecast balances of Revenue Reserves as shown in 
Appendix J, and approve section 10 of this report as the updated 
Reserves Strategy; 

e) approve increases in Fees and Charges for 2018/19 as set out in 
Appendices C3, D3, and E3; 

f) approve and adopt the Treasury Management Strategy for 2018/19, 
attached at Appendix K (to follow); 

g) approve and adopt the Treasury Management Principles and Practices 
for 2018/19, attached at Appendix L (to follow); 

h) note that this budget paper, when approved by Council, will form part of 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

Capital Programme 

a) approve the revised Capital Programme for 2017/18, and for 2018/19 to 
2022/23, as detailed in Appendix I; 

b) approve the financing proposals in Appendix I subject to an annual 
review of the financing options by the Corporate Director (Finance & 

Page 5



3

Operations), in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance and 
Resources, during the preparation of the Statement of Accounts. 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

c) reduce dwelling rents by 1% in accordance with government legislation, 
resulting in an average rent of £101.22 per week (based on 52 weeks); 

d) approve the HRA estimate for 2018/19 as shown in Appendix F. 

Terms & Conditions 

a) approve the continued application of a living wage supplement for all 
affected employees, in accordance with the rates of the Living Wage 
Foundation, for 2018/19 (to be reviewed annually thereafter). 

Statement by Chief Finance Officer 
a) approve the statement by the Chief Finance Officer regarding the 

robustness of the budget estimates and level of reserves as set out in 
Appendix M. 

Reason for decision
To present to Cabinet budget proposals for recommendation to Council in relation to: 

 Revenue and Capital Expenditure together with the potential use of reserves 

 The setting of the Council Tax for 2018/19 

 The Treasury Management Strategy 2018/19 

 The level of fees and charges for 2018/19 

 Advice to Councillors on the robustness of the Budget proposals and adequacy of 
balances and reserves as required by the Local Government Act 2003 

Corporate objectives
All of the Council’s corporate objectives are reflected in the Budget proposals.

Monitoring Officer/S.151 Officer comments

Monitoring Officer:   
Under the Council’s Constitution it is the responsibility of Cabinet to draw up firm 
proposals for the Budget, having regard to the responses to the consultation, and to 
present those proposals to full Council for approval. Once full Council has approved 
the Budget it is the responsibility of Cabinet to implement it.

S.151 Officer:
Comments contained in body of report.  Chief Finance Officer Statement contained 
in Appendix M of the report.

Page 6



Advice

Cllr Elliott introduced the Budget Report and advised that the proposed budget for 
2018/19 is the culmination of several months’ hard work from both Members and 
Officers across all of the Council’s services. 
The scale of the challenge facing the Council was laid out in the MTFS approved by 
Council in September 2017, which set the savings requirement for 2018/19 at £1.6m, 
an amount equivalent to 9% of the Council’s Net Cost of Services.

The Council’s previous implementation of a multi-year savings programme meant 
that we were well placed to face the challenge with around £1.3m of savings 
initiatives having already been identified by the start of the budget setting round.

Despite additional challenges arising since September, the gap has been closed and 
I am able to propose a balanced budget today. This has been achieved through a 
combination of efficiency savings; increased commercialism; and improved contract 
terms with private sector partners.

All of these improvements have enabled us to once again protect the Council’s front 
line services, and continue delivering a first class service for our residents, all for a 
Band D Council Tax of £3.75 per week.

Once again the Council has reduced its housing rents by 1% in line with statutory 
requirements, but has managed to maintain a new build programme with 170 units 
currently planned .
The Council continues to invest in the borough, with £190m of expenditure planned 
over the next 5 years.  

Cllr Griffiths noted that the background info is very detailed and thanked officers.  
Noted this has been through Scrutiny twice and on that basis she was happy to 
second going forward to Council next week.
Cllr Marshall asked, is there any difference between the papers tonight and those last 
week to scrutiny.  JDeane confirmed this is the same report/content.

Voting
None.

CA/26/18  MANAGEMENT OF TRING SWIMMING POOL

Decision

That Cabinet approved;

1. The proposal to transfer responsibility for Tring Sports Centre to Tring School in 
line with the conditions and requirements outlined in this report to enable 
significant investment in Tring leisure facilities.

2. Recommendation 1 above is conditional on the successful completion of due 
diligence and following formal approval from Tring School.    

Page 7



5

3. For DBC to mutually agree to terminate the existing Dual Use Agreement and 
enter into a new Funding Agreement to reflect the terms as set out in the Cabinet 
report. This will be undertaken in consultation with the Section 151 Officer and 
the Monitoring Officer.  

Reason for decision
For Cabinet to review and approve the proposal to transfer responsibility for Tring 
Sports Centre to Tring School in line with the conditions and requirements outlined in 
report

Corporate objectives

These reliefs will support the corporate objectives of:

 Clean, Safe and Enjoyable Environment 
and;

 Modern and Efficient Council 

Monitoring Officer/S.151 Officer comments

Monitoring Officer:   
No comments to add to the report

S.151 Officer
This investment is within the budget previously approved by Council for the 
improvements at Tring Pool.

In order to ensure the required returns from the investment, the new Funding 
Agreement with Tring School must adequately capture the appropriate guarantees 
over continued public use of the facility. The Service will need to work closely with 
Finance throughout the drafting of the Agreement.

Advice

RSmyth provided a verbal update further to discussions with Tring School that had 
taken place today (13/02/18); and was comfortable with everything outlined in report.  
Tring School have some concern about timings as dependent on the Government 
signing off on a contract for 1st April (EFSA will sign off).  We have developed a 
backup position, still involving Tring school taking over from the 1st April, but allowing 
us more time to develop the contract should the EFSA take longer than the 4-6 
weeks they suggest.  All parties happy we will be able to take this forward in the 
timescales proposed.

RSmyth added, construction work to be delivered by Kier, expecting final design and 
schedule of works in next couple of weeks but all progressing well.  Once received, 
will share this with the school to put a definitive timeline in place to start works 
(expected May 2018)

Cllr Marshall asked, what is the extent of the community use, will the School provide 
‘X’ amount of hours over the duration of the contract?  RSmyth advised they will have 
to mirror the arrangements and hours that are already in place.

Page 8



Cllr Marshall asked, will the contract allow the Council and the School to amend 
those hours in the future if needs arise?  RSmyth clarified that the school must, as a 
minimum, honour the existing hours.  

Cllr Williams confirmed, for clarity, that we will be ending the existing dual use 
agreement and starting a new dual use agreement, protections will be in place for 
those facilities covered by the agreement.

Cllr Harden asked, under Item 3.3 in the report around the potential of the facility not 
being financially viable in the future, is there a scenario where the school could say it 
is not financially viable but we disagree with them?  MBrookes advised that we would 
go through a process of testing the information to ensure we are satisfied with the 
position before any decision would be made.

Cllr Marshall suggested the school could decide it is not viable to keep the facility 
open outside of school hours and may decide to close it to the community, what 
would be the position should that happen?  MBrookes advised there is a penalty 
clause built into the contract to cover that.

Cllr Hicks asked if the proposal is yet at the stage where the information can be 
shared, he would like to see the specification.  RSmyth advised that as soon as the 
works are signed off and the information is available it can be shared.

Cllr Hicks referred to the disabled facilities at the pool, stating that they require 
upgrade.  RSmyth advised that the upgrade of the pool lift equipment has been 
included in the specification.

Cllr Hicks referred to the 10 year contract period and asked, are there any plans for 
what will happen in terms of refurb of equipment after the 10 years?  RSmyth 
responded that it would be a policy decision for Members at that time to look at what 
the next options will be for the facility.

Cllr Douris referred to the 10 year duration of the contract and asked what the break 
notice is within that 10 years, is there any scope for Tring School to devolve the 
running of the facility to a 3rd party company, and what would happen if the 3rd party 
then decided it was not financially viable for them?  RSmyth responded that the 
breakage notice is 2 years, with financial penalties built in.

Cllr Douris referred to Item 3.12 in the report, noting that it would imply that the 2 
years notice period is in reference to after the 10 years of operation, not before.  

RSmyth confirmed it is the same notice period prior to the 10 years.  MBrookes 
confirmed that within that 10 years there would be significant financial penalty.

RSmyth confirmed that Tring School can appoint a 3rd party to run the facility for 
them.  Tring have advised that in the long term they want to run the facility 
themselves but may need to bring an operator in while they get up and running.  It 
would remain the responsibility of Tring School to maintain any operator, who would 
have to continue to work within the confines of our specification.

Page 9



7

Cllr Douris asked if we as the Council would have oversight of any contract with a 3rd 
party to ensure that the community is not being overlooked.  RSmyth confirmed it 
would be for Tring School to run, but one of the things we are very clear about is that 
this is a partnership, the School wants the same thing as us so we would fully expect 
they would talk to us, however it would remain their decision.

Cllr Williams added that should Tring School appoint an operator that does not 
operate within our specification they then the school would be in breach of the 
contract.

Voting
None.

CA/27/18  COMMITTEE TIMETABLE 2018/19

Decision
Cabinet approved the Meeting Timetable for 2018/19, on condition of an additional 
generic stand-by scrutiny date to be programmed in April 2019.

NB – the date has been proposed as Tuesday 2nd April 2019.

Reason for decision
To approve the Meeting Timetable for 2018/19 as set out in Annex A to this report.

Corporate objectives

The various meetings of the Council, Cabinet and Committees support the 
achievement of the Council’s Corporate Objectives.

Monitoring Officer/S.151 Officer comments

Monitoring Officer:

No comments to add to the report.

Deputy S.151 Officer: 

There are no direct financial implications arising from the content of this report.

Advice

Cllr Sutton thanked officers for re-working the timetable to accommodate the 3 
weekly DMC cycle.

Cllr Marshall noted there is no scrutiny committee’s during the months of April and 
May 2019, whilst appreciating there will be an Election, noted it would be beneficial to 
have at least 1 date in on stand-by should it be needed, or a call-in date.

Page 10



Cllr Griffiths noted that this appears to happen annually, where no scrutiny meetings 
take place until after Annual Council and noted it can add pressure to the agendas of 
subsequent meetings.

Cllr Williams confirmed that should an emergency meeting be required, there is 
adequate time in the timetable to accommodate. Cllr Marshall requested a generic 
OSC be put in the diary and cancelled if not needed, this was agreed.

Voting
None.

The Meeting ended at 8.00 pm

Page 11



19 March 2018
 CABINET FORWARD PLAN 

DATE
MATTERS FOR 

CONSIDERATION
Decision 
Making 
Process

Reports to 
Monitoring 
Officer/S.15

1 Officer
CONTACT DETAILS BACKGROUND 

INFORMATION

1. 24/04/18 Vehicle Repair 
Shop

05/04/18 David Austin, Assistant Director 
Neighbourhood Delivery, 01442 
228355 
david.austin@dacorum.gov.uk 

To approve the 
maintenance and 
repair of 
equipment used by 
the Clean Safe and 
Green service 
being brought back 
in house

2. 24/04/18 Health & Safety 
Policies 

05/04/18 David Austin, Assistant Director 
Neighbourhood Delivery, 01442 
228355 
david.austin@dacorum.gov.uk

To approve revised 
Health and Safety 
policies.

3. 24/04/18 Public Space 
Protection Orders

05/04/18 Mark Brookes, Solicitor to the 
Council
01442 228236
mark.brookes@dacorum.gov.uk 

For the Council to 
consider the 
introduction of a 
PSPO for the town 
centre.

4. 24/04/18 Hemel Hempstead 
Town Centre 
Market Contract

05/04/18 James Doe, Assistant Director 
Planning, Development & 
Regeneration
01442 228583
James.doe@dacorum.gov.uk

To be provided 

5. 24/04/18 Hemel Hempstead 
Town Centre 
Parking Access 
and Movement 
Strategy

05/04/2018 James Doe, Assistant Director 
Planning, Development & 
Regeneration
01442 228583
James.doe@dacorum.gov.uk

To be provided

6. 24/04/18 Formalisation of 
Grovehill 
Neighbourhood 
Plan

05/04/18 James Doe, Assistant Director 
Planning, Development & 
Regeneration
01442 228583
James.doe@dacorum.gov.uk

To be provided

7. 24/04/18 Investment in 
Athletics Track

05/04/18 Robert Smyth, Assistant Director 
Performance & Projects, 01442 
228979 
robert.smyth@dacorum.gov.uk

To be provided

8. 22/05/18 Financial Outturn 
2017/18

03/05/18 James Deane, Corporate 
Director Finance & Operations
01442 228278
james.deane@dacorum.gov.uk 

To approve the 
financial outturn. 

9. 22/05/18 Equality  & 
Diversity

03/05/18 Robert Smyth, Assistant Director 
Performance & Projects, 01442 
228979 
robert.smyth@dacorum.gov.uk

To be provided

10. 26/06/18 The Bury – 
Approval of Stage 
1 Bid to Lottery 
Fund

07/06/18 James Doe, Assistant Director 
Planning, Development & 
Regeneration
01442 228583
James.doe@dacorum.gov.uk

To be provided

11. 26/06/18 Q4 Risk Register 07/06/18 James Deane, Corporate 
Director Finance & Operations
01442 228278
james.deane@dacorum.gov.uk 

Linda Dargue, Insurance & Risk 
Lead Officer 01442 228320
linda.darge@dacorum.gov.uk 

To review and 
approve the risk 
register as at 
quarter 4.

12. 26/06/18 Dacorum Borough 
Local Plan

07/06/18 James Doe, Assistant Director 
Planning, Development & 
Regeneration
01442 228583
James.doe@dacorum.gov.uk

To be provided

13. 31/07/18 12/07/18

Page 12

Agenda Item 6

mailto:david.austin@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:david.austin@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:mark.brookes@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:James.doe@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:James.doe@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:James.doe@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:robert.smyth@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:James.doe@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:robert.smyth@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:James.doe@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:James.doe@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:linda.darge@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:James.doe@dacorum.gov.uk


19 March 2018
  

Future Cabinet Dates 2018: 18 September
16 October
13 November
11 December

2019: 29 January
12 February
19 March
23 April
21 May

Future Items:

Enterprise and Investment Plan 
Authority Monitoring Report
Dacorum Borough Local Plan

Page 13



Agenda Item
Page 1 of 8

Agenda item
Page 1 of 8

Report for: Cabinet

Date of meeting: 27 March 2018

Part: 1

If Part II, reason:

Title of report: Two Waters Masterplan 
Contact: Cllr Graham Sutton, Portfolio Holder for Planning and 

Regeneration

Responsible Officer: 
James Doe, Assistant Director, Planning, Development & 
Regeneration

Authors:
Nathalie Bateman, Team Leader Strategic Planning and 
Regeneration 

Shalini Jayasinghe, Strategic Planning and Regeneration 
Officer

Purpose of report: To present to Cabinet the Two Waters Masterplan Guidance 
for their review and recommendation to put forward the 
document for adoption by Council as a Planning Statement. 

Recommendations That Cabinet recommends to Council that the Two Waters 
Masterplan Guidance (Appendix 1) be adopted as a Planning 
Statement until the new Dacorum Borough Local Plan is in 
place when it will be adopted as a Supplementary Planning 
Document.

Corporate 
Objectives:

Affordable Housing

The Two Waters Masterplan Guidance will help deliver 
affordable housing through development and sets out guidance 
for its delivery in accordance with DBC’s Core Strategy policy 
CS19.
 
Building Community Capacity

The Vision for the Two Waters Masterplan Guidance centres 
on creating a sustainable community balancing national 

AGENDA ITEM:

SUMMARY

Page 14

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item
Page 2 of 8

Agenda item
Page 2 of 8

pressures for delivering housing and development with local 
needs and sets out guidance for developers and potential 
developers to regenerate the area and develop in a manner 
that builds local community capacity. 

Delivering an Efficient and Modern Council

The Vision for Two Waters Masterplan Guidance sets out to 
deliver development that is modern and efficient for the 
enjoyment of those living and working in the Borough which will 
be enabled through the guidance provided for development 
coming forward in the area. 

Ensuring Economic Growth and Prosperity

The Two Waters Masterplan Guidance sets out a Vision, 
Objectives and Guidance to steer development that ensures 
economic growth and prosperity through high quality mixed 
use development around transport hubs and in close proximity 
to the town centre, as well as the provision of improved 
infrastructure including transport. Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) and/or S106 contributions will enable the provision 
of improved infrastructure and community facilities that 
facilitates economic growth and prosperity. 

A Safe, Clean and Enjoyable Environment

The Two Waters Masterplan Guidance sets out a framework 
for the delivery of a safe, clean and enjoyable environment. 

Implications:

‘

Financial

No financial implications involving direct spend for the Council 
arise from the completed Masterplan Guidance.

The Two Waters Masterplan Guidance is a planning policy 
document and will be used to steer development that reflects 
local aspirations and secures benefits for the wider community. 
It will also be used to help generate investment in the area and 
to secure  developer contributions such as CIL/S106 
obligations or other mechanisms in place, and to leverage 
investment from stakeholders to improve infrastructure and 
contribute towards DBC’s regeneration objectives for the area 
to benefit the wider community.

The majority of the development in the Two Waters area will be 
delivered by private developers. 

There are a number of DBC owned land assets both within the 
wider Two Waters area and specifically within the key 
Development Sites. These include but are not limited to the 
Car Wash site at the Plough Roundabout, land on Site 4 
(currently used by Sunnyside Rural Trust), Lawn Lane playing 
field (all within Development Site 4) and Frogmore Paper Mill. 

In addition, suitable infrastructure, particularly around 

Page 15



Agenda Item
Page 3 of 8

Agenda item
Page 3 of 8

Value For Money 
Implications’

improvements to public and sustainable transport infrastructure 
and parking, will need to be delivered to support new 
development in the area. It is expected that this will be funded 
or at least part funded through CIL/S106 obligations or other 
developer contributions. Appropriate funding sources will need 
to be sought for any shortfall in funding. 

Value for Money

The Two Waters Masterplan Guidance will help to steer 
development that reflects local aspirations and secures 
benefits for the wider community. It will also help to generate 
investment through developer contributions such as CIL/S106 
or other mechanism in place and leverage investment from 
stakeholders to improve infrastructure and contribute towards 
benefitting the wider community delivering value for money.

Risk Implications A full risk assessment has been carried out as part of the 
Project Initiation Document (PID) for the Local Planning 
Framework.  These risks are reviewed monthly through 
Rocket, the Council’s Performance Management System and 
reported each year through the annual Authority Monitoring 
Report (AMR).  Identified risks include failure of external 
agencies or consultants to deliver on time, change in 
Government policy and team capacity.  

There are significant additional risks that would arise from not 
having a masterplan in place for the area.  These would relate 
to a lack of up-to-date site specific guidance upon which to 
base planning decisions within the Two Waters area, and the 
likelihood of a significant increase in speculative planning 
applications (and potentially appeals), particularly for housing 
development in the key development sites of the area, which 
would prove hard to defend.  There would also be financial 
implications i.e. extra costs associated with planning appeals 
and inquiries. 

Community Impact 
Assessment

An Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out for the 
Core Strategy, which sets the context for the detailed 
proposals and policies within the Site Allocations Development 
Plan Document (DPD).  An independent Sustainability 
Appraisal Report which accompanies the Site Allocations DPD 
considers equalities issues separately.  It concludes that the 
Site Allocations DPD avoids any discrimination on the basis of 
disability, gender or ethnic minority. A Community Impact 
Assessment is currently being undertaken to cover all planning 
guidance and policies.

Health And Safety 
Implications

This document is a strategic planning document and sets out 
flexible guidance for development coming forward within the 
Two Waters area. The Health and Safety impacts of any 
detailed proposals coming forward will be assessed at project 
stage. 

Monitoring 
Officer/S.151 
Officer Comments

Monitoring Officer:   

The Masterplan will provide a framework which can be used to 
guide development in the area.  It should enable a more 

Page 16



Agenda Item
Page 4 of 8

Agenda item
Page 4 of 8

consistent approach to decision making and thus avoid 
unnecessary appeals and legal challenges.

S.151 Officer

No further comments to add.
Consultees: Mark Gaynor, Corporate Director (Housing & Regeneration), 

DBC
Mark Brookes, Solicitor to the Council, Legal Governance 
Management, DBC
James Deane, Corporate Director (Finance & Operations), 
DBC
David Skinner, Assistant Director (Finance & Resources), DBC
Ben Hosier, Group Manager (Commissioning, Procurement & 
Compliance), DBC
Steve Barnes, Parking Services Team Leader, DBC
Corporate Management Team (CMT), DBC
Strategic Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (10 October 2017)
Public & Stakeholders - Please refer Consultation Statement 
(Appendix 2)

Background 
papers:

Two Waters Strategic Framework (2015)
Consultation Statement (Appendix 2)
Two Waters Draft Masterplan Guidance Evidence Base – 
available at  www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration 
Strategic Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (10 October 2017) –papers and minutes

Glossary of 
acronyms and any  
other abbreviations 
used in this report:

CIL Community Infrastructure Levy
DBC Dacorum Borough Council
DPD Development Plan Document
HCC Hertfordshire County Council
MHCLG Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government
PID Project Initiation Document
SPAEOSC Strategic Planning and Environmental Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

Background 

1. Introduction

1.1 Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) commissioned consultants BDP to build on the 
Two Waters Strategic Framework (November 2015) and prepare a Two Waters 
Masterplan Guidance report for the Two Waters area.

1.2 Located to the south of Hemel Hempstead town centre and situated between the 
train stations of Hemel Hempstead and Apsley and the Plough Roundabout, the 
defined Two Waters masterplan area covers an area of approximately 124 
hectares.

1.3 There is a significant amount of underused land within the Two Waters area. 
Dacorum’s housing targets in the adopted Dacorum Core Strategy (2013) are 
already high and based on draft Government policy, are likely to rise by a 

Page 17

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration


Agenda Item
Page 5 of 8

Agenda item
Page 5 of 8

significant level. Given the Borough’s extensive Green Belt, there is a need to 
consider positively the contribution that previously developed sites, particularly 
those with high accessibility and close to public transport interchanges, can 
make to boost the housing supply. These issues are themes being put forward 
by the Government in its draft National Planning Policy Framework (MHCLG, 
March 2018). 

1.4 This masterplan guidance report creates opportunities to guide much needed 
new homes, employment, community services and improve the environment in a 
manner that benefits the community. It also creates opportunities to deliver 
sustainable development focused on public transport, walking and cycling to 
ease traffic congestion in the area, as well as guide infrastructure improvements 
to support the new housing.

1.5 The Two Waters Masterplan Guidance is underpinned by a robust high level 
evidence base comprising: 

 an urban design, transport and movement, and viability baseline analysis; 
 development of a masterplan to test feasible development capacities and 

design principles; and 
 a viability and transport appraisal of the masterplan. 

The Masterplan Guidance Evidence Report online at 
www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration . 

1.6 DBC has undertaken significant public consultation including public exhibitions 
and workshops and online consultation on the draft document as well as 
meetings with key stakeholders and landowners, all of which have informed the 
development of the Masterplan Guidance. The Consultation Statement is 
available at Appendix 2.

2. Aims and scope of the masterplan guidance

2.1 The Two Waters Masterplan Guidance will guide future development in Two 
Waters and play an important role to ensure that development and changes in 
the area are planned and designed in the best possible way to ensure we have 
an attractive, sustainable and balanced town, fit for the future. 

2.2 The Two Waters Masterplan Guidance will inform emerging planning policy 
including the content of Dacorum’s new Local Plan.   It is envisaged that the Two 
Waters Masterplan Guidance will be initially adopted by Council as a Planning 
Statement and will then be adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) supporting the new Dacorum Local Plan.

2.3 The Masterplan Guidance scope:

 Is a flexible strategy that seeks to guide development that will create a place 
that reflects local aspirations and secures benefits for the wider community.

 Outlines the strengths, weaknesses, constraints and opportunities and a 
vision and objectives for the area. 

 Provides overarching guidance that will help to shape development in the 
whole area. 

 Identifies four key Development Sites and outlines key proposals, design 
guidance and development requirements for each of these four sites.

Page 18

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration


Agenda Item
Page 6 of 8

Agenda item
Page 6 of 8

 Outlines development requirements for the remediation of contaminated land, 
affordable housing provision, use of open space, transport, access and 
movement and parking improvements.

Out of scope

2.4 The Masterplan Guidance does not:

 Provide detailed designs for any sites. These will come forward through the 
planning application process. 

 Prescribe detailed transport solutions. High level transport data has been 
used by BDP and their transport sub-consultants to undertake assessments 
to inform the level of development proposed in the Masterplan Guidance, their 
impact on traffic levels and a range of proposals for each site to mitigate 
impact. This work is outlined in the Two Waters Masterplan Guidance 
Evidence Base available at www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration. The detail of 
all development, with necessary transport improvements, will need to be 
developed at the planning application stage and/or through wider work such 
as Hertfordshire County Council’s (HCC) South West Herts Growth and 
Transport Plan.

2.5 Whilst the four key development sites have been specifically identified as the 
focus of new development, it is accepted that further development is likely to 
come forward in the wider Two Waters area. Any such development will be 
governed by the overarching guidance principles.

3. Development of the Two Waters Masterplan Guidance

3.1 There is a very high housing need within Dacorum.  The precise level of this 
need is still being clarified.  Dacorum’s own assessment, calculated through its 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment indicated a figure of 756 homes per 
annum (17,388 over the 2013 – 2036 period).  The Government’s standard 
methodology (which is due to be confirmed shortly through the new National 
Planning Policy Guidance) is expected to indicate a level closer to 1,000 
additional homes per year (23,000 over the same time period). This compares to 
the current annual target in the Core Strategy of 430 homes / year. 

3.2 Two Waters is an important strategic location and has the potential to 
accommodate new development that promotes a sustainable mix of land uses. 
Maximising the potential for the construction of new dwellings within more urban 
areas such as Two Waters, serves both to concentrate development in strategic 
areas around transport hubs and town centres, as well as to reduce the possible 
impact and loss of Green Belt and greenfield land for development. 

3.3 As outlined in the Introduction section above the Two Waters area represents an 
opportunity for development. However it is crucial that development is planned, 
well designed, sustainable and appropriate for the area and balances the 
different priorities. 

3.4 The Two Waters Masterplan Guidance has been developed through a 
comprehensive and iterative process employing urban design principles, high 

Page 19

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration


Agenda Item
Page 7 of 8

Agenda item
Page 7 of 8

level transport and viability assessments and stakeholder and public 
consultation. 

3.5 The feasibility of different forms of development was tested through the process 
of preparing the Masterplan Guidance. Early iterations of the masterplan tested 
much higher development capacities than those proposed in the current 
Masterplan Guidance but these were considered inappropriate forms of 
development due to:

 Negative impacts on views and townscape due to building heights and 
dominance of taller buildings.

 Poor relationships between existing and proposed buildings due to increased 
density.

 Negative impacts on the local highways network due to increased vehicle 
movements.

 Negative impacts on viability due to the requirement for underground car 
parking.

 Views expressed through public consultation and steering group meetings. 

3.6 The final version of Two Waters Masterplan Guidance presented here 
represents what is considered an appropriate form of development balancing the 
variety of complex factors including national and local policy, townscape context, 
views and characters of the area, sensitive land uses and boundaries, the local 
highway network, viability assessments, urban designs principles and views 
expressed through the Steering Group and public and stakeholder consultation.

3.7 In particular, following the final round of consultation, maximum building heights 
in isolated areas on Site 1: Hemel Hempstead Station and Surrounding have 
been reduced from eight to six storeys. Guidance for the majority of development 
on this site including those adjacent to London Road remains at up to four 
storeys. 

3.8 In addition, following the final round of consultation and as a result of further 
work with HCC which identified that the site was not suitable based on its flood 
zone status, the option of a potential school on Site 4 has been removed from 
the Masterplan Guidance. DBC will continue to work with HCC to identify options 
for providing new primary school places for the proposed new residential 
development in the area. 

4. Referral from the Strategic Planning and Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (SPAEOSC) to Cabinet

4.1 Following public consultation on the draft Two Waters Masterplan, the draft Two 
Waters Masterplan along with the results of the consultation were presented to 
SPAEOSC on 10 October 2017. 

4.2 A referral was made by the Committee to Cabinet on the basis about the impact 
of the level of development, congestion and infrastructure and public responses 
around these issues.  Minute 123 of the Committee meeting on 10 October 2017 
refers. 

4.3 Taking on board comments made by the SPAEOSC, amendments have been 
made to the masterplan to address concerns where possible, given the scope of 
the Two Waters Masterplan Guidance.

Page 20



Agenda Item
Page 8 of 8

Agenda item
Page 8 of 8

4.4 In particular, maximum building heights in isolated areas on Site 1: Hemel 
Hempstead Station and Surrounding have been reduced from eight to six 
storeys. Guidance for the majority of development on this site including those 
adjacent to London Road remains at up to four storeys. 

4.5 The option of a potential school on Site 4 has been removed from the 
Masterplan Guidance. This is a result of both the public consultation and further 
work with HCC that identified that the site was not suitable based on its flood 
zone status.

4.6 We will continue to work with HCC to identify options for providing new primary 
school places for the proposed new residential development in the area. 

4.7 Similarly Officers will continue to work with HCC regarding transport measures 
particularly through their South West Herts Growth and Transport plan 
development.

4.8 Officers are also working and will continue to work with Environmental Health to 
look at further enhancing work on mitigating and improving air quality issues in 
this area.

5. Ongoing partnership working

5.1 Whilst the Two Waters Masterplan Guidance provides guidance for development 
in the area, DBC will need to continue to work in partnership with stakeholders 
for the delivery of supporting infrastructure.

 
5.2 DBC will continue to work closely with HCC on their emerging South West Herts 

Growth and Transport Plan and Local Transport Plan to address the traffic 
management issues in the area; this may include further work to explore 
opportunities for more efficient public and shared transport systems and multi 
modal transport interchanges in the Borough to improve connections to and from 
key destinations.

5.3  DBC will also continue to work with HCC to address the educational needs that 
will arise in the area due to the proposed development in the Two Waters area.

5.4 DBC will work with Environmental Health and wider stakeholders to improve air 
quality in the area, which is an important issue for this part of Hemel Hempstead.

5.5 DBC will further work with organisations and developers to deliver the necessary 
infrastructure and leverage additional funding where required to deliver 
improvements for the area.

6. Next steps

6.1 Subject to Cabinet approval and Council approval thereafter, the final Two 
Waters Masterplan Guidance will be adopted as a Planning Statement and will 
be a material consideration in the planning process.

6.2 It is envisioned that the Two Waters Masterplan Guidance will be adopted as a 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) supporting the new Dacorum Local 
Plan in due course.

Page 21



TWO WATERS
MASTERPLAN GUIDANCE

Dacorum Borough Council
February 2018

P
age 22



2

P
age 23



3

00 | Contents

01 | Introduction  5
02 | Supporting Research 15
03 |  Constraints & Opportunities 29
04 | Vision & Objectives  35
05 | Overarching Guidance  39
06 | Development Sites Guidance 51
07 | Next Steps  67

P
age 24



Study Area Boundary

Town Centre

A
er

ia
l I

m
ag

e 
S

o
ur

ce
: G

o
o

g
le

 M
ap

s 
20

17

Key

Town Centre

The Plough 
Roundabout

London Rd

A41

London Rd

London Rd

Dur
ra

nt
s 

Hill
 R

d

London Rd

Tw
o 

W
at

er
s 

R
d

Station Rd

Hemel Hempstead 

railway station

Blackbirds 
Moor Plough

Gardens

Bulbourne

MoorBulbourne

Meadow

Heath

Park

Apsley 

Retail Park

Corner

Hall

Apsley 

railway station

Figure 1 : Two Waters Study Area

P
age 25



5

01 | Introduction 

1.1 Introduction                 6
1.2 Background & Role     6
1.3 The Process                 7
1.4 Planning Status           7

1.5 The Study Area                     8
1.6 Regional & Local Context   10
1.7 Planning Context                 12
1.8 Consultation                         13P

age 26



6 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

1.2 Background & Role 1.1 Introduction

�DBC�recognises�that�there�is�a�significant�amount�of�
under-used land within the Two Waters area. This 
presents opportunities to provide much needed new 
homes, create employment, enhance community 
services and improve the environment through 
sustainable development. The opportunities are 
focused�around�improving�public�transport�and�
sustainable transport networks whilst promoting 
housing led mixed-use development to enhance the 
existing natural environment. In addition, high quality 
urban�design�principles,�excellent�green�infrastructure,�
and�a�strong�sense�of�character�and�community�are�
key�to�realising�the�sustainable�future�of�the�Two�
Waters area. 

 The Two Waters Masterplan Guidance seeks to 
manage�growth�and�provide�a�flexible�holistic�strategy�
to�guide�development�of�the�Two�Waters�area�as�a�
whole�and�of�individual�Development�Sites.�The�aim�
is�to�create�a�place�that�reflects�local�aspirations�and�

 Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) has commissioned 
consultants BDP to build on the Two Waters 
Strategic Framework (November 2015) and prepare a 
Masterplan�Guidance�document�for�the�Two�Waters�
area.

�The�Masterplan�Guidance�will�shape�future�
development in Two Waters and play an important 
role in ensuring that development in the area is 
planned and designed in the best possible way 
to deliver an attractive, sustainable and balanced 
environment,�fit�for�the�future.�The�Masterplan�
Guidance�also�informs�emerging�planning�policy�
including�the�content�of�Dacorum’s�new�Local�
Plan. It is envisioned that the Masterplan Guidance 
will be initially adopted by the Council as a 
planning statement and will then be adopted as a 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) supporting 
the�new�Dacorum�Local�Plan.�

 The Masterplan Guidance is underpinned by a robust 
evidence base comprising: an urban design, transport 
and movement, and viability analysis; a capacity study 
to�test�feasible�amounts�of�development�and�design�
principles;�and�a�viability�and�transport�appraisal�of�
the capacity study. 

�DBC�has�also�undertaken�significant�public�
consultation including public exhibitions and 
workshops, online consultation and meetings with 
key�stakeholders�and�landowners,�all�of�which�
have�informed�the�development�of�the�Masterplan�
Guidance.

secures�benefits�for�the�wider�community.�

The Masterplan Guidance will help to generate 
investment�to�improve�infrastructure�and�support�
development in the area. To achieve this the 
Masterplan Guidance includes:

• An exciting and bold Vision to guide regeneration 
and�ensure�the�needs�of�existing�and�future�
communities are met.

• An�aspirational�set�of�Objectives�to�address�issues�
and capitalise on opportunities.

• Overarching Guidance to shape strategic 
development across the whole study area and 
ensure separate Development Sites work together 
as a whole.

• Development Site Guidance, setting out Key 
Proposals, Design Guidance and Development 
Requirements�for�each�of�the�Development�Sites.

P
age 27



7Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

1.3 The Process

 The Masterplan Guidance was developed through an 
iterative�design�process�where�proposals�were�refined�
in response to constraints and opportunities, adopted 
and emerging planning policy, urban design analysis, 
transport analysis, viability analysis, meetings with 
key stakeholders, steering group meetings, meetings 
with�Hertfordshire�County�Council,�and�public�and�
stakeholder consultation workshops and exhibitions. 
This iterative process ensured the Masterplan 
Guidance�was�informed�by�an�understanding�of�the�
existing social, physical and economic constraints 
and opportunities and that both the Overarching 
Guidance and Development Site Guidance promotes 
realistic and deliverable development. 

The Masterplan Guidance builds on previous studies 
undertaken�within�or�adjacent�to�the�study�area,�
including:

• The Two Waters Strategic Framework (2015)
• Hemel Hempstead Town Centre Masterplan 2011- 

2021 (2013)
• Hemel Hempstead Station Gateway Feasibility 

Study (2011)
• Two Waters Open Space Feasibility Study (2011)
• Hemel Hempstead Urban Transport Plan (2009)
• Emerging�Hertfordshire�Growth�and�Transport�Plan�

(unpublished)

The�process�allowed�the�feasibility�of�different�forms�
of�development�to�be�tested�and�to�inform�the�Vision,�
and�Objectives�and�to�produce�a�robust�Masterplan�
Guidance.�Early�iterations�of�the�masterplan�testing�
included higher development capacities and these 
were�considered�to�represent�inappropriate�forms�of�
development due to: 

•  Negative impacts on views and townscape due to 
building�heights�and�dominance�of�taller�buildings.

•  Poor relationships between existing and proposed 
buildings due to increased density.

• Negative impacts on the local highways network 
due to increased vehicle movements.

•  Negative impacts on viability due to the 
requirement�for�underground�car�parking.

• Views expressed through public consultation and 
steering group meetings.

 

Key stakeholders were consulted through one to one 
meetings�and�included�Hertfordshire�County�Council,�
Network Rail, Boxmoor Trust, key landowners 
and developers who have expressed an interest in 
developing�one�or�more�of�the�Development�Sites.�
In�addition,�three�rounds�of�public�consultation�
were�undertaken�that�informed�the�development�
of�the�Masterplan�Guidance.�The�consultation�
process�findings�are�summarised�in�section�1.8�of�
this document and the Consultation Statements 
supporting the Masterplan Guidance.

1.4 Planning Status

 The Masterplan Guidance has been prepared 
in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework�(NPPF)�(March,�2012)�and�DBC’s�
emerging�and�adopted�Local�Plans.�In�particular�the�
Masterplan�Guidance�builds�on�DBC’s�Saved�Local�
Plan�(April,�2004)�Policy�10�Optimising�the�Use�of�
Urban�Land.

 The Masterplan Guidance has been prepared through 
a�process�of�extensive�public�consultation�and�is�
consistent with adopted and emerging planning 
policy. It should be given material consideration in the 
determination�of�planning�applications�within�the�Two�
Waters�study�area�boundary,�as�identified�in�Figure�2.�

 The Masterplan Guidance has also considered and 
is�broadly�consistent�with�the�aims�and�objectives�of�
the�Local�Plans.�The�Masterplan�Guidance�forms�part�
of�the�evidence�base�for�the�forthcoming�Local�Plan�
Review�anticipated�for�adoption�2019.�It�is�envisioned�
that the document will be initially adopted by the 
Council as a planning statement. Following adoption 
of�the�Local�Plan,�the�Masterplan�Guidance�will�then�
be�adopted�as�a�SPD.�Before�adoption�as�a�SPD,�it�
will be important to review the supporting evidence 
base and ensure the guidance is based on up-to-date 
and robust background research. The Two Waters 
Masterplan Guidance supersedes the Two Waters 
Strategic Framework (2015).

P
age 28



8 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

1.5 The Study Area

 The Two Waters study area is located to the south 
of�Hemel�Hempstead�town�centre�and�is�situated�
between�the�train�stations�of�Hemel�Hempstead�and�
Apsley.�The�Two�Waters�area�as�identified�in�Figure�
2 covers approximately 124 hectares. The study area 
is bound by the railway mainline between Euston and 
the Midlands in the south; Hemel Hempstead Station 
in the west; the River Bulbourne and Heath Park to 
the�north�west;�Lawn�Lane�and�Belswains�Lane�to�the�
east; and Apsley Station to the south east. 

�There�is�a�varied�mix�of�land�uses�throughout�the�
study area, including: residential, light industrial, retail, 
office�and�community�uses,�together�with�a�significant�
amount�of�open�green�space�and�waterways.�This�mix�
provides�a�range�of�facilities�in�close�proximity�to�one�
another and encourages sustainable development by 
reducing the need to travel.

�The�character�varies�significantly�across�the�study�
area�from�larger�buildings�and�higher�concentrations�
of�activity�near�the�Plough�Roundabout�signalling�
the�edge�of�Hemel�Hempstead�town�centre�to�the�
semi-rural�green�space�of�the�Moors�and�Aspley�local�
centre�with�its�parade�of�shops�and�retail�park.

 The Moors, Grand Union Canal and the River 
Bulbourne�provide�valuable�opportunities�for�
recreation and biodiversity, whilst industrial land, large 
retail units and strategic high volume roads dominate 
the key gateways into the area, detracting attention 
from�its�character�and�restricting�walking�and�cycling�
movement through the car-led environment. 

�The�area�suffers�from�a�congested�highway�network�
and a vehicle dominated environment. This vehicle 
domination�has�in�part�resulted�from�relatively�limited�
local�public�transport�links�and�the�distance�from�
Hemel Hempstead town centre and key destinations 
such as the Maylands Business Park.

 Within the study area the Masterplan Guidance 
identifies�four�key�Development�Sites�(Figure�2)�as�
the�focus�of�new�development�within�Two�Waters.�
These�sites�have�been�identified�taking�into�account�
the Strategic Framework, land ownership, physical 
boundaries, known development aspirations, and key 
gateways to Two Waters and Hemel Hempstead town 
centre. 

�Although�four�key�development�sites�are�identified,�
it is likely that many more smaller sites will come 
forward�in�the�area.�The�Masterplan�Guidance�will�
apply to all developments within the study area.

Apsley Marina 

Formal planting

London Road

P
age 29



9Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

Study area boundary

Development sites

Key

SITE 1

SITE 2

SITE 4

SITE 3

Town Centre

London Rd

1. A41

London Rd

T
w

o
 W

at
er

s 
R

d

Station Rd

Hemel Hempstead 
railway station

Apsley 

railway station
D

ur
ra

nt
s 

H
ill

 R
d

Leys Rd

St John’s RdFi
sh

er
y 

R
d

St. A
lbans Rd

Figure 2 : Two Waters Study Area & Development Sites Boundary

River Bulbourne

P
age 30



10 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

1.6 Regional & Local Context

�Two�Waters�is�situated�immediately�to�the�south�of�
Hemel Hempstead town centre. Hemel Hempstead is 
a�town�in�the�south�east�of�England,�27�miles�to�the�
north�west�from�Central�London,�which�is�the�largest�
town�in�the�Dacorum�Borough�and�provides�a�focus�
for�development.

 Two Waters is well served by rail. Hemel Hempstead 
station�is�located�in�the�west�of�the�study�area�and�is�
situated�on�the�main�line�from�London�Euston�to�the�
Midlands. Currently served by West Midlands Rail 
Limited,�the�station�has�frequent�services�running�
to�London�Euston�(26�mins),�Milton�Keynes�Central�
(27�mins),�Tring�(8�mins),�Northampton�(47�mins)�and�
East Croydon (1hr 18 mins), making Two Waters an 
attractive commuter location. Rail services also serve 
Bedford�(via�Bletchley)�and�St�Albans�(via�Watford�
Junction).

�Two�Waters�benefits�from�high�quality�national�and�
regional highway connections, through the A41 to the 
south and links to the M1 to the north. 

1.6.1 Regional 1.6.2 Local

 Hemel Hempstead was developed as a new town in 
the�post�World�War�II�period�and�forms�a�significant�
destination in its own right, with an estimated 
population�of�around�87,000�ONS�Census�2011.

�The�town�was�developed�around�the�principle�of�
having�a�series�of�neighbourhoods�focussed�around�
a�parade�of�shops.�The�industrial�areas�were�later�
incorporated�into�the�fabric�of�the�town.�The�town�is�
not�included�within�but�is�surrounded�by�London’s�
Metropolitan Green Belt. 

�The�location�of�the�Two�Waters�area,�situated�
between Hemel Hempstead town centre; Hemel 
Hempstead and Apsley train stations; and 
surrounding countryside, contributes to a varied mix 
of�land�uses�and�distinct�characters�such�as�that�of�
the�Moors�and�Apsley�local�centre.�This�creates�often�
competing pressures and valuable opportunities. 

There�are�significant�opportunities�to�provide�housing�
in�sustainable�locations�adjacent�to�public�transport;�
protect and enhance open space; revitalise redundant 
industrial land into residential communities; improve 
existing�transport�and�infrastructure;�and�better�
connect and integrate distinct character areas.

View of the Moor from the London Road/Two 
Waters Road junction

Apsley Marina

River Bulbourne

P
age 31



11Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

Railway station

Study area boundary

Hemel Hempstead
Maylands business 
park

Urban centres

Main railway line

Motorways

Highways

Hertfordshire 
boundary

Key

Figure 3 : Two Waters Study Context

Hemel 
Hempstead

Watford

Abbots

Langley

Kings

Langley

Berkhamsted

Bushey

Radlett

Shenley

Barnet

New Barnet

Northwood

Towards Heathrow Airport

Croxley Green

M
25

M
25

M
25

M1

M
1

A
1

A
41 A

4251

A41

St Albans Rd

T
w

o
 W

at
er

s 
R

d

Leighton Buzzard  Rd

Rickmansworth

Chorleywood

Little Chalfont

Amersham

Chesham

Bovingdon

Potters Bar

London Colney

St Albans

Redbourn

West Common

Hatfield

NORTH

0          0.8        1.6         2.4        3.2          4Km

P
age 32



12 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

Assessment�(February�2016).�Along�with�the�need�to�
meet housing targets, DBC will need to consider the 
wider�regeneration�of�Hemel�Hempstead,�including�
key locations in the Two Waters area.

 Given the strategic opportunities, in recent years, 
Two�Waters�has�been�subject�to�growing�developer�
interest. The Two Waters Masterplan Guidance 
adopts a proactive approach to contribute towards 
housing need and manage growth in a manner that is 
appropriate�to�its�surroundings�and�secures�benefits�
for�new�and�existing�communities.

1.7 Planning Context 

�The�adopted�DBC�development�plan�consists�of�
the�saved�policies�in�the�Local�Plan�(April�2004),�
the Dacorum Core Strategy (September 2013), Site 
Allocations�DPD�(July�2017)�and�the�Policies�Map�
(July,�2017).�

DBC’s�adopted�Site�Allocations�Development�Plan�
Document�identifies,�within�the�Two�Waters�area�
boundary:

• � H/2�National�Grid�and�339-353�London�Road,�
Hemel Hempstead. 

•  H/5 Former Hewden Hire Site, Two Waters Road, 
Hemel Hempstead.

• � H/8�233�London�Road,�Hemel�Hempstead.

• � H/10�The�Point�(former�petrol�filling�station),�Two�
Waters Road, Hemel Hempstead. 

•  MU/4 Hemel Hempstead Station Gateway, 
London�Road,�Hemel�Hempstead.

•  Two Waters General Employment Area. 

•  Apsley Mills General Employment Area.

•  Corner Hall General Employment Area.

•  Frogmore Mill General Employment Area. 

�DBC�is�also�currently�preparing�an�evidence�base�for�
a�new�Single�Local�Plan,�with�the�intention�of�adopting�
this plan in 2019.

�There�is�a�number�of�relevant�Supplementary�Planning�
Guidance (SPGs) notes and Supplementary Planning 

Documents (SPDs), including the Hemel Hempstead 
Town Centre Masterplan, which was adopted in 2013, 
to�help�implement�the�adopted�policies�referred�to�
above.

 Whilst technically the adopted allocations have the 
greatest weight in planning decision-making, the 
Masterplan�Guidance�best�articulates�DBC’s�most�
up-to-date aspirations. The Masterplan Guidance 
takes�account�of�the�relevant�allocations,�policies�and�
guidance. The aim will be to incorporate the aims and 
objectives�of�this�planning�statement�into�the�new�
Local�Plan.

�DBC�adopted�a�Community�Infrastructure�Levy�
(CIL)�Charging�Schedule�in�February�2015�and�this�
is accompanied by its Regulation 123 list, which 
identifies�the�infrastructure�that�could�be�funded�by�
CIL,�or�financial�contributions�towards�infrastructure,�
which is expected to be secured by planning 
obligations�in�S106�Agreements.

 Dacorum Core Strategy (September, 2013) Policy 
CS17�sets�out�the�housing�targets�of�10,750�over�the�
plan�period�(2006�–�2031)�to�ensure�a�suitable�supply�
of�housing�in�the�borough.�Hemel�Hempstead�is�
identified�as�the�main�centre�for�development�and�is�
expected�to�deliver�a�target�of�8,800�new�homes.

 Whilst already ambitious, DBC is required to increase 
this�housing�target�through�its�partial�review�of�
the�Core�Strategy�(new�Local�Plan�process)�and�
taking into account the Strategic Housing Market 

Site Allocations DPD Reports

P
age 33



13Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

1.8 Consultation

�DBC’s�commitment�to�stakeholder�consultation�is�set�out�in�their�
Statement�of�Community�Involvement�(SCI)�(July�2016).�The�SCI�states�
the ‘Council intends to work with partner organisations, stakeholders 
and�the�community�in�considering�local�development.’

 The Two Waters Masterplan Guidance has been prepared through 
a collaborative process, which has included consultation with the 
local community and key stakeholders. Consultation has ensured the 
Masterplan�Guidance�is�based�on�a�clear�understanding�of�the�issues�
and�opportunities�facing�Two�Waters�and�considers�local�aspirations,�
which�in�turn�underpin�an�appropriate�framework�to�guide�development.�

�The�consultation�process�has�consisted�of�a�range�of�events�and�
workshops, which have included:

• Public�Exhibitions�on�the�4th�and�5th�of�November�2016,�to�consult�
on�the�client�Vision,�Objectives�and�Overarching�Guidance�for�Two�
Waters.

• Two�weeks�online�public�consultation�on�the�draft�Vision,�Objectives�
and�Overarching�Guidance�from�the�7th�to�the�18th�of�November�
2016.

• Public�workshops�on�the�26th�of�January�2017�to�develop�detailed�
guidance�for�Two�Waters.

• Public�and�stakeholder�consultation�on�the�draft�Masterplan�
Guidance�document�from�6th�July�–�16th�August�2017.

• Individual�meetings�throughout�the�preparation�of�the�Masterplan�
with local stakeholders, including: National Grid; Boxmoor Trust; 
Network�Rail;�major�landowners;�and�London�Midland�and�London�
and Continental Railways.

Key�messages�from�the�consultation�events�are�detailed�in�the�
consultation�statements,�which�form�part�of�the�evidence�base�
underpinning the Masterplan Guidance. 

Picture 1: Public Exhibition Boards

P
age 34



P
age 35



15

02 | Supporting Research

2.1 Land Use 16
2.2 Topography, Townscape and Historic Environment 17
2.3 Open Space  18
2.4 Flood Risk  20
2.5 Transport & Movement 21
2.6 Viability                                  27

P
age 36



16 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

2.1 Land Use

 Figure 4 illustrates the predominate land uses 
within�the�study�area.�Two�Waters�benefits�from�
a�sustainable�mix�of�land�uses,�with�residential�
neighbourhoods supported by employment, retail and 
community uses in close proximity, reducing the need 
to travel. 

�Large�areas�of�redundant�employment�land,�such�
as�the�National�Grid�site�on�London�Road,�form�
large�blocks�with�a�low�density�of�development�and�
enclosed�by�blank�and�secure�fencing.�These�land�
uses�limit�activity�and�detract�from�the�quality�of�
the built environment, with limited entrances and 
interaction with the street. 

�There�is�a�high�concentration�of�community�facilities�
located�to�the�north�of�the�study�area�and�within�
the�south�eastern�part�of�the�area�focused�around�
Apsley. It is acknowledged that local primary schools 
are�operating�close�to�capacity�and�following�
development�there�is�likely�to�be�a�need�for�at�least�
one new primary school in the area. 

�The�future�development�of�Two�Waters�will�need�
to respond to existing land uses to create a 
more�efficient�use�of�land,�and�encourage�Two�
Waters�to�reach�its�full�potential�as�a�sustainable�
neighbourhood. 

  The Masterplan Guidance is supported by research which collectively 
identifies�key�opportunities�and�constraints�for�the�area.�This�section�
summarises�the�findings�of�the�supporting�research.

Study area boundary

Church Industrial activities

Water body

Education

Big supermarket/ 
shopping mall Community facility

Green space

Sports Under used land

Transport Retail

Residential Employment

Key

London Rd

D
ur

ra
nt

s 
H

ill
 R

d

Leys Rd

St John’s Rd

Fi
sh

er
y 

R
d

St. A
lbans RdBoxmoor 

Primary School

St Mary & 
Joseph Church

St John’s 
Church

Boxmoor 
Cricket Club

Sportspace H.H.

Boxmoor 
Hall

Apsley Community 
Centre

H.H. Town 
Cricket 

Club

Dacorum 
Athletics 

Track

South Hill 
Primary School

Tudor Primary 
School

Lime Walk 
Primary School

Belswains 
Primary School

Two Waters 
Primary School

Hemel Hempstead 
Community Church

St Mary’s 
Apsley End

The Dacorum 
Music School

The Hemel 
Hempstead  School

St Rose’s 
Catholic 
Infants’ 
School

London Rd

A41

T
w

o
 W

at
er

s 
R

d

Station Rd

Hemel Hempstead 
Railway Station

Apsley 

Railway Station

Figure 4 : Land�Uses

P
age 37



17Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

2.2 Topography, Townscape and Historic Environment

 Future development within Two Waters will need to 
carefully�consider�the�existing�topography,�townscape�
and�building�heights,�to�ensure�new�development�fits�
into the existing context and does not result in overly 
dominate building heights or architectural styles.

�Figure�5�shows�five�meter�level�contours,�illustrating�
how�the�study�area�slopes�from�100�metres�AOD�along�
the southern boundary to 80 metres AOD in the centre 
of�the�site,�before�sloping�back�up�to�90�metres�AOD�
to the north in Hemel Hempstead town centre. Figure 
5 also illustrates the predominate existing building 
heights, sensitive views and historic environment. 

�The�vast�majority�of�buildings�are�up�to�nine�meters,�
approximately�3�floors,�with�small�clusters�of�taller�
buildings around the Plough Roundabout and in close 
proximity Apsley Train Station.  

 The building heights strategy included in this 
Masterplan Guidance needs to be sensitive to changes 
in�topography,�particularly�to�the�south�of�London�
Road, to ensure development is not over prominent 
in views across the Moors, or result in an overbearing 
effect�on�existing�residential�properties.�Topography�
is�also�a�key�consideration�in�the�layout�of�roads�and�
pavements to ensure appropriate gradients.

�There�are�a�number�of�existing�assets�in�the�area,�
including�a�concentration�of�grade�II�listed�terraced�
houses at Corner Hall, that should be conserved. 
The�Two�Waters�area�is�of�considerable�significance�
in�terms�of�the�history�of�paper�manufacturing�and�
includes�the�John�Dickinson’s�Frogmore�Paper�Mill,�
museum�and�‘Paper�Trail’.

100 m. (Contour line)

Study area boundary

Existing tower (22 Storeys)

Wider views

Panorama views

95 m. (Contour line) Approved scheme (17 Storeys)

Key views

Listed buildings & gardens

90 m. (Contour line)

Over 6 storeys

85 m. (Contour line)

3 to 6 storeys 

80 m. (Contour line)

Up to 3 storeys

Key

London Rd

London Rd

T
w

o
 W

at
er

s 
R

d

Station Rd

D
ur

ra
nt

s 
H

ill
 R

d

View from the Chilterns Area 

of Outstanding Natural Beauty

Figure 5 : Topography & Townscape

P
age 38



18 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

2.3 Open Space 

�Figure�6�illustrates�the�wide�range�of�open�space�
across Two Waters. Within the Moors there is 
considerable�diversity,�from�rich�semi-rural�farmland�
for�grazing�of�animals,�to�parkland�and�leisure�uses,�
such as the Hemel Hempstead Cricket Club. The 
variety�of�open�space�creates�a�valuable�amenity�for�
the local community and a rich ecological resource. 

 Access to open space is limited due to extensive 
fencing,�limited�entrances�points,�and�roads�and�
waterways, which restrict movement. Pedestrian 
movement�is�further�restricted�by�the�quality�of�the�
tow�paths�and�footways.�Access�to�the�lakes�to�the�
west�of�Durrants�Hill�Road�is�also�restricted.

�These�natural�assets�play�a�key�role�in�defining�
the�character�of�the�Two�Waters�area.�The�future�
development�of�Two�Waters�needs�to�carefully�
consider the relationship with existing open spaces 
and water ways, to ensure these assets are protected 
and continue to contribute to local character and 
amenity. 

London Rd

London Rd

T
w

o
 W

at
er

s 
R

d

Station Rd

Water body Significant woodland

Amenity grassland SSSI and/or nature reserve

Sports/ play area Listed parks & gardens

Formal gardens

Pasture/ grazing land

Study area boundary

Key

Hemel Hempstead

Water Gardens

Figure 6 : Open Space

D
ur

ra
nt

s 
H

ill
 R

d

P
age 39



19Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

Mature trees Grand Union Canal Fencing restricts access Two Waters Road

Formal gardens Pasture for livestock Durrants Hill Lakes

Tow paths are popular with runners and cyclists Level differences restrict accessibility Tree lined roads

P
age 40



20 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

2.4 Flood Risk 

�Figure�7�illustrates�the�areas�identified�as�flood�risk�
zone�2�(Land�having�between�a�1�in�100�and�1�in�
1,000�(2a�and�2b)�annual�probability�of�river�flooding)�
and�zone�3�(Land�having�a�1�in�100�or�greater�annual�
probability�of�river�flooding)�by�the�Environment�
Agency.

�The�flood�risk�zones�are�relatively�wide�and�cover�
much�of�Bulbourne�and�Hardings�Moors�as�well�as�
areas�of�Boxmoor�Wharf,�but�do�not�extend�within�
much�of�the�developed�urban�areas.

�Future�development�must�consider�flood�risk�to�
ensure land uses are appropriate to their location and 
any�risk�of�flooding�is�minimised�through�appropriate�
mitigation.

Flood zone 3

Study area boundary

Flood zone 2

Water body

Key

London Rd

London Rd

T
w

o
 W

at
er

s 
R

d

Station Rd

Figure 7 : Flood Zones

D
ur

ra
nt

s 
H

ill
 R

d

P
age 41



21Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

2.5 Transport & Movement
2.5.1 Walking and Cycling

 Figure 8 illustrates the pedestrian and cyclist routes. 
The study area is a vehicle dominated environment 
with the main roads acting as barriers to pedestrian 
movement. This can be seen at the Two Waters/
London�Road�signalised�junction�where�guard�railing�
impedes pedestrian desire lines and signal timings 
mean�extended�waits�for�safe�crossing.�

 This is also compounded by the distance between the 
town centre and study area with Hemel Hempstead 
railway�station�located�approximately�1600m�from�
the town centre, equivalent to a 20 minute walk via 
pavements�adjacent�to�the�busy�highway�network.

�The�extensive�open�spaces�are�utilised�mainly�for�
informal�recreational�use,�rather�than�providing�formal�
pedestrian access routes connecting the study area 
with�the�town�centre.�There�are�public�rights�of�way�
across the study area most notably through the 
Moors.�There�are�some�further�rights�of�way�to�the�
south�of�the�Moor�through�Development�Site�2.�

�A�shared�footpath�has�been�recently�introduced�along�
Station�Road�for�use�by�pedestrians�and�cyclists�
creating�a�safer�cycle�route�between�the�Town�
Centre and railway station in Hemel Hempstead. 
Despite these works, the study area is still a vehicle 
dominated�environment�to�the�detriment�of�pedestrian�
and cyclist movement.

 Whilst the towpath along the Grand Union Canal is 
signed, it is unlit and unpaved making it less suitable 
for�walking�and�cycling�when�it�is�wet�or�in�the�dark.

D
ur

ra
nt

s 
H

ill
 R

d

Leys Rd

St John’s Rd

Fi
sh

er
y 

R
d

St. A
lbans Rd

London Rd

A41

London Rd

T
w

o
 W

at
er

s 
R

d

Station Rd

Town Centre

Hemel Hempstead 
Railway Station

Apsley 

Railway Station

Key junctions causing 
pedestrian & cycle 
crossing difficulties

Primary road

Public right of way

Pedestrian access

Bridge (vehicular & 
pedestrian)

Main distributor road

Pedestrian bridge

Primary county principal 
road

Existing tow path

Existing shared 
footpath

Study area boundary

Busy RoadImportant Bridge

Formal pedestrian 
footpath

Informal pedestrian 
footpath

Water body

Key

Figure 8 : Movement

P
age 42



22 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

2.5.2 Bus

�The�study�area�is�served�by�a�number�of�bus�services�
with the bus routes and stops shown in Figure 9. 
There are bus stop available at Hemel Hempstead 
railway�station�forecourt�itself�and�on�the�eastbound�
side�of�London�Road.�

�Buses�serve�a�range�of�towns�and�villages�in�the�
local�area,�including�Watford,�Luton,�Aylesbury�and�
Rickmansworth. More locally there is a shuttle service 
between the Two Waters, Hemel Hempstead town 
centre and Maylands Business Park which operates 
during the morning and evening peak periods. 
The�bus�frequencies�do�not�encourage�bus�use,�
particularly�for�workers�during�commuting�hours�and�
those travelling outside conventional morning and 
evening peak hours. 

 There are no bus lanes or other bus priority 
infrastructure�in�the�study�area�meaning�buses�are�
subject�to�the�same�road�network�conditions�as�
other�road�users.�Some�of�the�bus�stops�in�the�area�
incorporate inset lay-bys at the bus stops. While these 
enable�buses�to�pull�off�the�main�carriageway�and�not�
disrupt�the�traffic�flow,�this�also�means�that�buses�
lose�time�as�they�struggle�to�re-join�the�traffic�flow.�

�The�bus�stops�vary�in�terms�of�facilities�available.�
Some have a shelter and seating, while others only 
have�a�sign�indicating�a�bus�stop’s�location�and�
services available.

D
ur

ra
nt

s 
H

ill
 R

d

Leys Rd

St John’s Rd

Fi
sh

er
y 

R
d

St. A
lbans Rd

London Rd

A41

London Rd

T
w

o
 W

at
er

s 
R

d

Station Rd

Plough 
Roundabout

Town Centre
To Leighton 

Buzzard

To Berkhamsted, 
Tring, Aylesbury

To Kings 
Langley

To MI

To Maylands

To M
25

Hemel Hempstead 
railway station

Apsley railway station

Bus stop

Primary road

Busy road

Bus route

Main distributor road
Water body

Primary county principal 
roadStudy area boundary

Key

Figure 9 : Bus Services

P
age 43



23Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

2.5.3 Rail

There are two stations within the study area:

• Hemel Hempstead which is the main station.

• Apsley�station�which�has�a�lower�frequency�of�
services.

Both stations are operated by West Midlands Rail 
Limited�with�peak�hour�services�at�Hemel�Hempstead�
shown below:

• 5�trains�an�hour�to�London�(southbound).

• 4 trains an hour northbound ( 1 Milton Keynes, 2 
Tring, 1 Birmingham New Street).

• 1 train an hour to East Croydon via Kensington 
Olympia.

Meanwhile the peak hour services at Apsley are:

• 2�trains�an�hour�southbound�to�London�Euston.�

• 2 trains an hour northbound to Tring.

Hemel�Hempstead�station�has�a�large�surface�car�
park�with�496�parking�spaces�available�of�which�10�
are disabled parking bays. The train operator advises 
customers through their website that the car park is 
extremely�busy�and�normally�full�before�8am.�There�
are�also�64�spaces�available�for�bicycles�at�Hemel�
Hempstead station.  

The�station�has�a�drop-off/pick-up�area�in�the�
forecourt�for�private�vehicles,�although�this�is�not�
clearly signed. It also has a  large taxi rank which 
dominates�the�forecourt.�Bus�stops�for�travel�towards�
the town centre are located on the main road opposite 
the station entrance meaning that passengers have 

Hemel Hempstead 
station forecourt

to�cross�London�Road.�There�is�a�lack�of�onward�
travel�information,�including�signage�to�the�bus�stop�
locations.

Apsley�station�has�32�parking�spaces�of�which�2�are�
disabled parking bays. Additionally, the station has 12 
cycle parking spaces. 

Due�to�the�demand�for�car�parking�at�both�stations�
exceeding capacity, overspill parking has been 
observed on the neighbouring road network within the 
study area.

Figure 10 : Rail Services

Apsley station forecourt

P
age 44



24 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

2.5.4 Road

The�location�of�the�study�area�provides�convenient�
access to the local and strategic highway network. 
The A414 Two Waters Road is a strategic road which 
locally links the A41 to the M1 continuing east across 
Hertfordshire.�

The A41 is accessed via the Two Waters Road/
London�Road�crossroads,�which�provides�a�direct�link�
south�east�towards�the�M25.�London�Road�is�a�more�
local route which provides the immediate access to 
the study area and Apsley. It is also a parallel route 
that is used to avoid the A41. These key highway 
connections�mean�the�volume�of�traffic�can�often�
exceed available capacity, leading to low vehicle 
speeds, queuing and congestion particularly around 
the�Two�Waters�Road/London�Road�junction�and�the�
Plough Roundabout. 

It should be noted that this congestion and queuing 
has not only been observed during weekday peaks 
but�at�other�times�of�the�day�including�during�the�
weekend.

The�proximity�of�the�river�and�canal�mean�that�there�
are�limited�crossing�points�for�vehicles�over�these�two�
waterways, with bridges located on Station Road, 
Two Waters Road and Durrants Hill Road.

The�Plough�Roundabout�is�a�focal�point�in�the�town�
centre�at�the�edge�of�the�study�area�with�all�major�
roads�within�Hemel�Hempstead�feeding�into�this�
junction.��

Traffic�modelling�work�was�undertaken�by�consultants�
Jacobs�in�2014/5�for�DBC�and�tested�a�proposed�
development�scenario�for�Hemel�Hempstead�in�2031.�

This work suggested that the highway network would 
come�under�severe�pressure�by�2031�–�particularly�at�
the�Two�Waters�Road/London�Road�junction�and�the�
Plough Roundabout.

There is an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) in 
place�on�London�Road�to�the�east�of�the�Two�Waters�

Road/London�Road�junction.�The�AQMA�is�designed�
to�address�poor�air�quality,�in�part�due�to�traffic�levels�
and�congestion.�Because�of�this�any�future�increase�in�
traffic�volumes�on�this�section�of�highway�will�need�to�
be�carefully�managed.�

Existing signage 

Car dominated street crossings

Existing bus stop

Congestion

P
age 45



25Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

D
ur

ra
nt

s 
H

ill
 R

d

Leys Rd

St John’s Rd

Fi
sh

er
y 

R
d

St. A
lbans Rd

London Rd

A41

London Rd

T
w

o
 W

at
er

s 
R

d

Station Rd

Plough 
Roundabout

Town Centre
To Leighton

Buzzard

To Berkhamsted, 
Tring, Aylesbury

To Kings 
Langley

To M1

To Maylands

To M
25

Hemel Hempstead 
railway station

Apsley 

railway station

Key junctions

Primary road
Bridge

Main distributor road
Railway line

Primary county principal 
roadStudy area boundary

Water body

Key

Busy road

Figure 11 : Road Network

Two Waters Road / London Road junction

Secure access to the Moors

P
age 46



26 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

2.5.5 Local Parking Policy 2.5.6 Current Parking Provision

�There�are�three�formal�car�parks�in�the�study�area;�a�
pay�and�display�car�park�off�Durrants�Hill�Road�(61�
spaces), two station car parks at Hemel Hempstead 
(496�spaces),�and�Apsley�rail�station�(32�spaces).

�A�number�of�the�streets�within�the�study�area�have�no�
parking restrictions resulting in unmanaged on-street 
parking�behaviour�with�knock-on�impacts�on�traffic�
flows,�particularly�close�to�the�rail�stations.�

 There are some parking restrictions in place, with 
parking�on�London�Road�restricted�to�20�minutes�
around Apsley local centre. Controlled Parking Zones 
cover�Two�Waters�Road,�and�sections�of�London�
Road, Standring Rise and Roughdown Road.

 It is important to recognise that while new 
development should promote and encourage 
sustainable�travel,�especially�given�the�proximity�of�
the�rail�stations,�they�also�need�to�provide�a�sufficient�
parking supply to avoid a detrimental impact on 
surrounding�streets.�In�doing�so,�careful�consideration�
will need to be given to parking provision and its 
impact on well-designed, high quality public realm.

�Local�planning�policies�provide�guidelines�for�
parking within new developments. These policies 
are�aligned�with�wider�objectives�to�increase�the�
use�of�sustainable�travel�modes�while�not�having�a�
detrimental impact on the local area, including any 
overspill parking onto neighbouring roads. 

�Policy�57�of�Dacorum’s�Borough�Local�Plan�2011�
outlines�the�following�principles�for�the�provision�and�
management�of�parking�including:

• Using parking provision and management as a tool 
to reduce car ownership.

• Seeking�to�provide�the�minimum�level�of�car�
parking provision.

• Managing parking demand to decrease the reliance 
on the private car.

• Discouraging commuter parking.

• Considering on-street parking schemes such as 
controlled parking areas.

DBC Parking Standards are set out in the Dacorum 
Borough�Local�Plan,�2004(DBLP),�Appendix�5.�These�
are currently being reviewed. The latest parking 
standards will be applicable to all development in the 
Two Waters area.

Station car parking

Retail car parking

P
age 47



27Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

2.6 Viability
The�following�section�provides�an�overview�of�the�key�
property market sectors, and the viability assessment 
which�have�informed�the�Masterplan�Guidance.�

2.6.1 Property Market Overview

Residential

Given its location between the town centre and 
train stations, the market conditions across the Two 
Waters�area�has�significantly�improved�in�recent�years�
and is increasingly an attractive place people want to 
live and enhance.

There�is�a�lack�of�new�residential�development�
coming to the market, which has resulted in demand 
outstripping�supply.�The�characteristics�of�the�area�
and�the�nature�of�existing�residential�development�
indicate that Two Waters would be better suited to 
a�mix�of�apartment�led�development�with�a�number�
of�houses�to�create�market�choice�and�diverse�
communities. 

Parking�will�be�an�important�component�of�any�
residential�development.��Given�the�location�of�Two�
Waters, we would expect there to be limited current 
market�interest�to�any�significant�degree�in�residential�
units without dedicated parking. The exception to this 
would�be�in�respect�of�development�in�close�proximity�
to Hemel Hempstead Station where a reduced car 
parking provision could be considered, and other 

sites once sustainable transport improvements are 
delivered, such as car clubs and enhanced public 
transport.

Employment / Office

The�delivery�of�employment�is�important�in�achieving�
balanced and economically sustainable development. 
It�is�clear�in�the�current�market�that�delivery�of�
employment use will be challenging. There is limited 
scope�for�employment�development�within�the�
masterplan�area,�specifically,�office�space.

New�office�development�is�unlikely�to�be�viable�across�
much�of�the�masterplan�area�but�could�be�considered�
as�part�of�mixed�use�development�especially�around�
Hemel Hempstead Station, where higher value 
residential�use�could�help�to�cross�subsidise�office�
use.

Retail and Leisure

Given�Two�Water’s�location�directly�south�of�Hemel�
Hempstead town centre, it likely that any retail and 
leisure use would be ancillary to residential use. The 
town’s�retail�core�is�focussed�on�the�southern�end�
of�the�town�centre�with�the�Riverside�and�Marlowes�
shopping centres, with improvements to the retail 
offer�planned.

Given the above although we do not envisage 
significant�provision�of�retail�and�leisure�use�within�
the�Development�Sites,�there�will�be�opportunity�for�
ancillary provision to serve the envisaged increased 
population.

In�terms�of�station�retail�the�current�provision�is�
extremely limited and unlikely to be capitalising on the 
full�potential�of�the�commuter�trade.�In�terms�of�the�
improvement�to�the�station’s�retail�and�leisure�offer,�
the�distance�from�the�town�centre�is�a�positive,�as�
there are unlikely to be linked trips to the town centre 
which�would�detract�spend�trade�from�the�proposed�
offer.�

The�inclusion�of�a�small�food�store�would�help�to�
improve�the�viability�of�retail�development�adjacent�
to�Hemel�Hempstead�Station.�The�basket�food�sector�
area�of�the�retail�market�has�remained�relatively�strong�
recently.

P
age 48



2.6.2 Masterplan Guidance Viability Assessment

The�mix�of�land�uses�and�the�amount�of�development�
identified�in�the�Masterplan�Guidance�have�been�
tested�and�informed�by�a�viability�assessment.�The�
assessment�helps�to�inform�an�initial�understanding�of�
the�deliverability�of�development�and�identify�where�
additional�funding�may�be�required.�

The masterplan viability analysis comprises initial 
appraisals�for�each�of�the�Development�Sites�and�
the associated improvements required through the 
Masterplan�Guidance.�The�analysis�has�been�informed�
by�a�range�of�primary�and�secondary�sources�
including�a�review�of�relevant�studies,�existing�and�
emerging planning policy, an urban design audit, a 
property market review and discussions with council 
officers.

The�viability�analysis�includes�an�assessment�of�the�
likely gross development value, the development 
costs�of�delivering�the�proposed�development�and�

infrastructure�improvements,�and�the�resultant�
residual�land�value�of�the�Development�Sites.�The�
residual�land�value�is�then�considered�in�light�of�the�
estimated existing use value to determine the viability 
of�the�Development�Sites.�

This�has�provided�an�early�indication�of�the�viability�
characteristics across the Masterplan area, based on 
a�set�of�assumptions.�The�viability�of�the�Development�
Sites�is�subject�to�change�due�to�dynamic�market�
conditions,�evolution�of�individual�development�
schemes,�detailed�infrastructure�and�cost�
information,�as�well�as�phasing�and�the�approach�to�
implementation.�As�specific�schemes�come�forward�
they will require detailed viability assessments in 
order�to�understand�and�address�the�range�of�delivery�
challenges,�risks,�provision�of�infrastructure,�land�
ownership and phasing.

P
age 49



29

03 |  Constraints & 
Opportunities

3.1 Weaknesses & Constraints  30
3.2 Strengths & Opportunities 32

P
age 50



30 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

3.1 Weaknesses & Constraints 

�The�following�weaknesses�and�constraints�have�
been�identified�in�Figure�12�as�key�for�the�Masterplan�
Guidance to address:

• Barriers, such as roads and rivers, limit pedestrian 
and cycle movement across Two Waters.

• Car dominated environment,where the private car is 
the�most�popular�and�well-used�mode�of�travel.

• Large�employment�and�retail�plots�fronting�London�
Road and Two Waters Road, whose entrances do 
not�front�onto�the�street�and�limit�activity.

• Multiple land ownerships within key Development 
Sites�create�difficulties�in�delivering�development.

• Mix�of�potentially�conflicting�land�uses�create�
issues such as noise and access.

• Mixed�building�types,�ranging�from�big�box�retail�to�
Grade II* listed late 15th Century residential houses. 

• Lack�of�accessibility�to�the�Box�Moor,�canal�
towpaths and lakes.

• Poor relationship between buildings and open 
spaces and waterways. 

• Areas within the study area located in Flood Zones 
2 and 3.

• Noise�and�air�pollution�caused�by�vehicular�traffic�
and the railway lines.

• Existing�utilities�infrastructure�and�contamination�
in�parts�of�the�study�area,�and�subsequent�viability�
considerations.

• Topography�of�land�rising�in�the�south�creates�
restrictions�on�the�layout�of�development.

• Hemel Hempstead and Apsley rail stations are 

poorly�connected�to�local�services�and�facilities.
• Limited�and�infrequent�bus�services,�lack�of�shared�

car or cycle clubs and all-weather walking/cycling 
routes�provide�few�non-private�vehicle�travel�
options. 

• Severe pedestrian severance caused by a highway- 
dominated�environment�–�especially�around�the�
Two�Waters�Road/London�Road�crossroads�and�
Plough Roundabout.

• The roads within the study area experience 
congestion during the morning and evening 
peak hours and also at other times, including the 
weekend.

• The�station�forecourt�suffers�from�pedestrian/
vehicle�conflict�due�to�opposing�desire�lines.

• An Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) is in place 
on�London�Road,�to�the�East�of�the�Two�Waters�
Road/London�Road�crossroads.

• Limited�connectivity�between�the�area�north�of�the�
Canal and the study area which includes the railway 
stations due to restricted crossing points (bridges).

• A�high�proportion�of�people�travel�to/from�the�
station by car due to the distance between the 
town centre, residential neighbourhoods and Hemel 
Hempstead and Apsley stations.

• A�poorly�designed�station�forecourt�at�Hemel�
Hempstead station resulting in pedestrian/vehicle 
conflict.

• Large�amount�of�open�space�and�waterways�are�
sensitive to and physically constrain development.

• Contains�older�parts�of�the�town.

• Existing�utilities�infrastructure�and�viability�
considerations�around�contamination�in�parts�of�the�
study area.

• Impact�of�development�on�Roughdown�Common�
Sites�of�Special�Scientific�Interest.�

• Design should seek to include high quality, 
well designed public open spaces and green 
infrastructure�providing�the�amenities�which�will�be�
required�by�future�residents.�

� The�constraints�and�opportunities�summarise�the�key�findings�from�the�
background�research�and�help�to�inform�the�Vision,�Objectives�and�Guidance.

Congestion on Two Waters Road

Large impermeable blocks

P
age 51



31Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

0     100      200      300       400

NORTH

Town Centre

London Rd

A41

T
w

o
 W

at
er

s 
R

d

Station Rd

Level Change

Le
ve

l 
C

ha
ng

e

Level

C
hang

e

Hemel Hempstead 

railway station

Apsley 

railway station

London Rd

D
ur

ra
nt

s 
H

ill
 R

d

Leys Rd

St John’s Rd

Fi
sh

er
y 

R
d St. A

lbans Rd

Movement constraint Listed buildings

Existing employment uses

SSSI and/or Nature reserveRailway line Poor waterfront relationship

Flood zone

Public right of way Sensitive open space

Archeological site

Poor footway Poor accessibility

Air quality management area

Major road

Connector road

Water body

Safeguarded land for 
Infrastructure

Contaminated land

Residential areas Study area boundary

Key

Figure 12 : Weaknesses and Constraints

P
age 52



32 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

3.2 Strengths & Opportunities

 The�following�strengths�and�opportunities�have�been�
identified�as�key�for�the�Masterplan�Guidance�to�
address:

• High-quality open green space and waterway 
create a unique environment.

• Large�amount�of�developable�land�located�at�key�
Development Sites in close proximity to the railway 
stations and town centre. 

• Close proximity to Hemel Hempstead town centre 
and�Apsley�offers�a�wide�range�of�services�and�
facilities�on�offer.�

• Established sustainable mixed-use development in 
close proximity to the railway stations.

• High-quality open green space creates a unique 
environment,�a�valuable�natural�resource�for�
recreation and an opportunity to connect to new 
open spaces delivered through development.

• Use�level�differences�to�create�lower�ground�levels�
for�car�parking.�

• Served by two train stations (Hemel Hempstead 
and Apsley) which have direct train services to 
London�Euston,�Watford,�Northampton�and�Milton�
Keynes.

• High-quality national and regional highway 
connections with the A41 and M25 to the south and 
M1 to the north. 

• Canal running east-west through study area with 
tow�path�available�for�sustainable�travel�modes�
such as walking and cycling.

• Unique�area�in�terms�of�open�space,�with�access�
to waterways making sustainable travel more 
appealing.

• Improve linkages between the study area and 
the�town�centre,�enhancing�the�environment�for�
sustainable travel modes.

• Enhance�the�amenity�of�London�Road�through�
public�realm�improvements,�reallocation�of�road�
space and improving the Apsley high street area.

• Enhance�the�accessibility�of�the�open�space,�
optimising�connections�and�way-finding.

• Improve�the�station�facilities�including�car�parking�
provision.

• Improve�amenity�of�Apsley�local�centre�and�the�
shops in Cornerhall.

• Improve sustainable transport routes between the 
study area and key destinations, including the town 
centre and Maylands Business Park.

• Create a high-quality multi-modal transport 
interchange at Hemel Hempstead station, 
encouraging�journeys�to�the�station�by�non-car�
modes while aiding improvements to car parking 
provision where necessary. 

• Improve�frequency,�reliability�and�quality�of�bus�
services. 

• Enhance�the�profile�and�quality�of�the�three�
gateways in to the area (east, west and north) 
through visual and physical means.

• Improve�Two�Waters�Road/London�Road�junction�
for�pedestrians/cyclists.

• Improve�way-finding�and�signage�to�aide�
sustainable travel.

• Encourage�use�of�sustainable�travel�modes�to�
deliver�modal�shift.

• Improve�London�Road�in�terms�of�placemaking�and�
related streetscape ambitions by enhancing the 

High quality green space and waterways

High quality public transport connections

amenity�for�pedestrians/cyclists/public�transport�
users through public realm improvements, 
reallocation�of�road�space�and�improvements�to�the�
Apsley retail area.

• Enhance existing historic environment and ensure 
its�character�influences�the�design�and�context�of�
new development.

P
age 53



33Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

0     100      200      300       400

NORTH

Gateway Development sites

Public realm 
improvements Transport interchange

Towpath Sensitive open space

New public space 
potential insertion Station

Establish better 
relationship to open 
space
Waterfront 
improvements

Green open space

Water body

Study area boundary

Key

Town Centre

London Rd

A41

London Rd

D
ur

ra
nt

s 
H

ill
 R

d

Leys Rd

St John’s Rd

Fi
sh

er
y 

R
d St. A

lbans Rd

Station Rd

Hemel Hempstead 

railway station

Apsley 

railway station

Figure 13 : Opportunities

T
w

o
 W

at
er

s 
R

d

1. 10 mins walk
1. 5 mins walk

10 mins walk

5 mins walk

P
age 54



P
age 55



35

04�|�Vision�&�Objectives�

4.1 Vision 36
4.2 Objectives 37

P
age 56



36 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

4.1 Vision

 The Two Waters masterplan area will become vibrant 
residential-led mixed- use areas with an attractive 
sustainable�gateway�for�the�town�at�Hemel�Hempstead�
train station.  People will be well connected through 
convenient walking and cycling routes, and much 
improved public transport opportunities linking Hemel 
Hempstead train station to the town centre, Maylands 
Business Park and other key destinations. 

 A new and improved Hemel Hempstead train station 
and public pedestrian concourse will be easily 
navigable�for�residents�and�visitors.�The�forecourt�
will include a high quality multi-transport interchange 
that�provides�improved�car�parking�facilities�and�
cycle�parking.�The�thriving�commercial�offer�will�
include�a�hotel�and�office�space,�as�well�as�excellent�
opportunities�for�shopping�and�leisure.

 The masterplan areas will celebrate their impressive 
open spaces and water ways with better connections 
linking�the�spaces.�Improved�footpath�and�cycleway�
surfaces�and�signage�will�provide�a�healthy�
environment�for�communities�and�encourage�their�
use and access to the wider countryside. 

�New�development�with�supporting�infrastructure�
will�be�of�the�highest�design�quality,�with�a�scale�
and character that complements and integrates 
with existing areas. It will also respect and enhance 
its natural, cultural, historic and built assets. New 
development�will�encourage�the�use�of�and�access�to�
heritage assets and the historic environment, as well 
as to the countryside.

 The Vision for the Two Waters Masterplan 
Guidance sets the overall intent for new 
development over the next 20 years.

Figure 14 : Illustrative Vision

P
age 57



37Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

4.2 Objectives

1  Create an Improved Hemel Hempstead 
Transport Interchange 

 Create a new and improved major transport 
interchange at Hemel Hempstead train station, 
which encourages the use of multi-modal public 
transport and provides improved car parking 
facilities and cycle parking.

2  Provide a Sustainable Mix of Land Uses 

 Encourage viable and deliverable development 
with an appropriate mix of land uses, which 
avoids adverse impacts on the local transport 
networks. 

3  Provide Residential-led Mixed Use Development

 Increase and diversify housing development that 
supports diverse communities.

4   Respect the Existing Character of Two Waters

 Ensure new development is attractive, well 
connected, planned and complements the 
character, design, mix of uses and scale of 
existing development in the local area. 

5  Create and Connect Destinations

 Develop a clear and legible sustainable 
movement network, which prioritises 
sustainable modes of travel, enhances the 
public realm and connects and creates new 
attractions. 

6   Open up and Enhance a Network of Natural 
Assets 

 Encourage the use of Two Waters’ open space 
and water ways by improving the quality of and 
access to these areas whilst respecting their 
ecological and agricultural roles and responding 
to issues of flood risk.

7  Enhance and Better Reveal the Importance and 
Significance of the Existing Natural and Historic  
Environment in Two Waters to Contribute 
Positively to its Sense of Place.

 Enhance and better reveal the existing and 
natural built environment, historic environment 
and landmarks to contribute to Two Waters’ 
sense of place.  

8   Ensure Existing and New Development Work 
Together

 Guide the development of individual Sites 
to integrate with existing and proposed 
development, and contribute to strategic 
improvements.

  The Two Waters objectives have been 
developed to respond to the constraints and 
opportunities, achieve the vision and shape 
the development guidance. 

P
age 58



P
age 59



39

05 | Overarching Guidance 

5.1 Built Environment 41
5.2 Transport & Movement 44
5.3 Open Space, Sustainability and Pollution 46

P
age 60



5.0 Overarching Guidance 

The overarching guidance underpins the vision 
and�objectives�for�the�whole�masterplan�area.�The�
masterplan comprises 3 main strategies:

• Built Environment.
• Transport and Movement.
• Open Space and Sustainability.

It aims to embrace the opportunities available within 
the area and ensure separate developments within 
identified�Sites�1�to�4�produce�cohesive�development�
schemes in the short and longer term. The guidance 
ensures�that�a�range�of�appropriate�development�
forms�can�be�accommodated.�This�overarching�
guidance�applies�to�any�development�coming�forward�
in the study area.

BUILT ENVIRONMENT

OPEN SPACE & 
SUSTAINABILITYTRANSPORT & 

MOVEMENT

P
age 61



41Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

 The�overarching�ambition�of�the�built�environment�
strategy�illustrated�in�Figure�16�is�to�‘Ensure new 
development is attractive, well connected, planned 
and complements the character, design, mix of 
uses and scale of existing development in the local 
area’. 

 New development will be expected to consider 
and�take�account�of�the�following�guidance�where�
possible: 

Design

5.1.1. �Buildings�will�be�of�the�highest�quality�and�
carefully�designed�to�form�appropriate�
relationships with existing development. This 
should�also�include�achieving�a�high�quality�of�
new�public�realm�and�infrastructure.�

5.1.2.  Development will create visual interest 
through�a�mix�of�architectural�styles,�including�
drawing�influence�from�existing�character,�
the�use�of�wood,�glass�and�brick,�and�
contemporary design. 

5.1.3. �Buildings�in�gateway�locations�will�form�high�
quality landmarks.

5.1.4.    Development design will respect the heritage 
significance�of�assets,�including�nationally�
and locally listed buildings, and help to 
enhance�and�better�reveal�their�significance.��
A similar approach needs to be taken with 
any archaeology.  Proposals should seek 
to�identify�the�extent�of�any�archaeological�
remains�and�give�consideration�of�their�
significance.

5.1 Built Environment

Height, scale and mass
5.1.5.  Taller buildings should be restricted to, or 

immediately�adjacent�to,�gateway�locations�
as�identified�in�Figure�16.�Although�these�
opportunity�areas�for�taller�buildings�are�
identified,�the�acceptability�of�such�proposals�
will need to be tested through the planning 
application process.

5.1.6.�  Single isolated towers will be resisted 
anywhere�other�than�adjacent�to�the�Plough�
roundabout.

5.1.7.�  Medium to large scale development will 
include�a�mix�of�building�forms�to�avoid�large�
or overbearing single volumes and ensure a 
varied�and�visually�interesting�facade,�roof�
and streetscape. 

5.1.8.  Taller buildings will retain a low to medium 
scale�at�street�level�by�setting�back�from�
the building line and stepping back building 
heights above three storeys to reduce their 
visual impact (see Figure 15).

5.1.9.  Taller buildings should also be designed 
relative to open space and street widths 
to provide adequate space and ensure the 
building�fits�within�the�streetscape.�Larger�
sites have greater opportunity to create open 
spaces�and�successfully�accommodate�taller�
buildings (see Figure 15).

5.1.10. �Development�should�carefully�consider�the�
varied topography across the study area and 

benefit�from�it�where�possible.�This�includes�
using changing levels to accommodate building 
mass, and using stepped development to avoid 
over�dominant�forms�of�development.�

5.1.11. �Decisions�on�taller�buildings�will�be�informed�by�
the emerging tall and taller buildings SPD. This 
seeks to direct taller buildings to opportunity 
areas�and�identify�important�view�corridors.

5.1.12. �Building�design�will�need�to�be�fully�justified�
through the planning application process, in 
terms�of�overlooking,�sunlight�and�daylight,�
overshadowing, local views, open space, wind 
micro-climate, residential amenity and the 
historic environment. 

Figure 15 :��Set�back�from�building�line�and�at��upper�
floors�sketch�and�relationship�to�open�
space

P
age 62



42 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

Land use and activity
5.1.13.  Deliver mixed use development including 

residential,�office,�retail,�leisure�and�community�
uses.

5.1.14.  Focus activities such as retail, business, leisure 
and community uses, where they are most 
accessible; such as the stations, Apsley local 
centre and key routes and spaces within the 
wider area.

5.1.15. �Gateway�locations�identified�in�Figure�16�
are�suitable�for�higher�density�residential-
led�mixed�use�developments;�specifically�at�
the Plough Roundabout, Hemel Hempstead 
Station, Apsley Station and the A4251/A414 
crossroads. 

5.1.16.� �Create�active�frontages�in�new�developments�
wherever�possible,�particularly�for�waterside�
development and along routes to the stations. 
These should include retail, restaurants, leisure 
community�uses�and�entrances�to�offices�and�
residential�properties�at�ground�floor.

5.1.17.�  New developments should explore 
opportunities to enhance the existing built 
environment, particularly Apsley local centre 
and the shopping area in Cornerhall.

5.1.18.  New opportunities to redevelop commercial 
buildings�for�residential�purposes�should�
consider�the�relocation�of�commercial�uses�
elsewhere in the town.

Varied roof line creates interest 

Enhancing the old with the new

Encouraging active environments

P
age 63



43Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

D
ur

ra
nt

s 
H

ill
 R

d

London Rd

London Rd

T
w

o
 W

at
er

s 
R

d

Station Rd

Town Centre

Corner 

Hall

Retail

Park

Apsley

Local Centre

Existing tower (22 
storeys)

Water development

Study area boundary

Development Sites

Approved scheme (17 
storeys)

Landmark (up to 16 
storeys)

Open space & 
built environment 
relationship

Up to 8 storeys

Multi- modal 
interchange

Up to 4 storeys

Gateway Up to 6 storeys

Panorama views

Town centre

Key

0     100      200      300       400

NORTH

Figure 16 : Design Principles

P
age 64



44 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

 The overarching transport and movement strategy 
illustrated�in�Figure�17�aims�to�promote�a�step�change�
in travel encouraging more active and sustainable 
travel�while�decreasing�car�use�and�traffic�congestion.�

 New developments will be expected to consider 
and�take�account�of�the�following�guidance�where�
possible,�in�conjunction�with�guidance�provided�
by�Hertfordshire�County�Council�with�specific�
attention�paid�to�guidance�emerging�from�the�Local�
Transport�Plan,�the�Southwest�Hertfordshire�Growth�
and Transport plan and Hemel Hempstead Urban 
Transport�Plan.�All�designs�in�terms�of�transport�
infrastructure�should�follow�best�practice�guidance�
as set out in the HCC highway design guidance and 
Manual�for�Streets.

An Integrated Pedestrian and Cycle 
Environment  
5.2.1.  Pedestrian and cycle conditions will be greatly 

improved by new development across the 
study�area�through�a�range�of�enhancements�
to�dedicated�routes,�including�the�delivery�of�
additional bridges to improve connectivity. 
Traffic�calming,�cycling�infrastructure,�street�

planting and improvements to the canal and 
river�towpath�surfaces�will�form�part�of�these�
measures. Access routes and other green 
spaces will also be improved.

An Improved Public Transport Network
5.2.2.  New development will help improve the 

public transport network, by increasing bus 
service�frequencies�and�delivering�new�bus�
and coach services between key destinations. 
Further�feasibility�studies�are�required�to�
investigate opportunities to provide a rapid 
bus�route�and�bus�infrastructure�such�as�
bus lanes between key destinations such as 
Hemel Hempstead railway station, the town 
centre and Maylands Business Park. 

A Sustainable Transport Network
5.2.3.  Future development will provide localised 

improvements to the highways network, 
particularly key gateways and transport 
interchanges�to�improve�traffic�flow.�These�
will need to work with measures to reduce 
the�use�of�single�occupancy�vehicles�through�

encouraging walking and cycling, and by 
substantially improving public transport 
services and car sharing. 

Minimising Parking Requirements in 
Sustainable Locations
5.2.4.  New development will seek to minimise 

parking provision in locations within close 
walking distance to multiple transport 
options�(based�upon�DBC’s�current�parking�
standards). Development should also 
maximise opportunities to share car parking 
spaces�between�different�land�uses�at�
different�times�of�the�day�and�week.

Developing Sustainable Travel Plans
5.2.5.  Individual developments will be required to 

deliver sustainable Travel Plans to encourage 
walking,�cycling,�car�sharing�and�the�use�of�
public transport. Travel Plans may be required 
for�key�developments�as�part�of�the�planning�
process and will be produced with DBC and 
HCC to ensure monitoring, incentives and 
enforcement�are�put�in�place.

5.2 Transport & Movement

Green Line bus Car sharing parking bays Safe and convenient walking and cycling routes

P
age 65



45Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

Town Centre

London Rd

A41

London Rd

T
w

o
 W

at
er

s 
R

d

D
ur

ra
nt

s 
H

ill
 R

d

Leys Rd

St John’s Rd

Fi
sh

er
y 

R
d

St. A
lbans Rd

Station Rd

Hemel Hempstead 

Railway Station

Apsley 

railway station

Junction 
improvements

Main crossings

Railway line

Bus improvements

Potential bridge 
improvements Station interchange

Improved pedestrian 
& cycle link

Public Rights of Way

New canal bridge
Public realm  & street 
improvements

New pedestrian & 
cycle link

Improved pedestrian & cycle 
connections to Boxmoor

Water body

Study area boundary

Key

0     100      200      300       400

NORTH

Figure 17 : Transport & Movement Principles

P
age 66



46 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

 The overarching open space and sustainability 
strategy illustrated in Figure 19 aims to ‘Encourage 
the use of Two Waters open space and waterways 
by improving the quality of and access to these 
areas whilst respecting their ecological and 
agricultural roles and responding to issues of flood 
risk’.

 New development will be expected to consider 
and�take�account�of�the�following�guidance�where�
possible: 

Open Spaces, Waterways and Wildlife

5.3.1. �Create�and�connect�a�series�of�amenity�open�
spaces, which are human in scale, relate well 
to their context and are supported by high 
quality public realm. These spaces should 
also increase access to the waterways by 
improving access and providing activities to 

5.3 Open Space, Sustainability and Pollution 

enjoy.�

5.3.2.  Development should actively encourage 
the�responsible�use�of�and�sensitively�
improve�access�to�the�Moors,�giving�careful�
consideration to maintaining its current 
functions�and�uses.�

5.3.3. �Green�links�should�connect�future�and�
existing development to the Moors and 
provide walking and cycling routes, whilst 
being sensitive to the various roles the Moors 
has such as amenity space, leisure space, 
and�working�farmland.

5.3.4. �The�community�amenity�space�of�Heath�Park�
improved through recent Hemel Evolution 
work should be protected and enhanced as 
part�of�the�context/setting�and�amenity�space�
for�the�new�developments�around�the�Plough�

Roundabout

5.3.5.  Open spaces and waterways should be 
enhanced through a net increase in trees and 
planting.�There�is�a�significant�opportunity�to�
provide ecological enhancements to the east 
of�Two�Waters�Road�and�north�of�London�
Road. The River Bulbourne and River Gade 
are chalk streams and consideration should 
be given to potential impacts upon these 
natural environments.

5.3.6.�  Consideration to be given to the Actions and 
Mitigation�Measures�identified�in�the�River�
Basin�Management�Plan�2015-2021,�for�the�
Grand Union Canal, River Bulbourne and 
River Gade. 

5.3.7.� �The�biodiversity�and�natural�habitats�for�
wildlife�in�the�area�should�be�enhanced.

Improved opportunities for leisure Safe and convenient walking and cycling routes

Figure 18 :  Green links visually connecting and providing 
walking and cycling routes to established open 
spaces 

P
age 67



47Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

5.3.8.  Development should include the creation 
of�high�quality�green�amenity�spaces�such�
as pocket parks and/or communal gardens, 
particularly linking visually to the Moors.

5.3.9. �The�site�falls�within�Natural�England’s�Chalk�
and Chilterns Focus Area, with the chalk 
ridge�extending�from�the�Chilterns�into�
Hertfordshire.��Beyond,�is�a�fragmented�
landscape�of�chalk�grasslands,�woodland,�
farmland�and�ancient�trackways.�These�sites�
are increasingly valued and visited. DBC 
would support actions which enable a linking 
of�these�fragmented�landscapes,�ensuring�
a connected, accessible and robust natural 
environment along this ridge. Development 
should avoid impact on chalk grassland and 
seek opportunities to increase resilience and 
connectivity where appropriate. 

Flood Risk, Sustainable Energy and      
Pollution

5.3.10.  Development should consider pollution 
issues in the area including air quality and 
implement measures to reduce impact on 
and improve pollution issues. This would 
include improvements to existing air 
quality, noise and light pollution.

5.3.11.  Development should consider and reduce 
flood�risk,�this�should�include�suitable�
mitigation measures such as Sustainable 
Urban Drainage Systems (SUDs).

5.3.12.  Where opportunities arise, development 
should�ensure�use�of�sustainable�sources�
of�heat�and�energy�by�incorporating�
technologies such as a district combined 
heat�and�power�network,�where�feasible�
and viable.

Encourage the use of sustainable materials Swales can create landscape features and reduce flood risk Use of electric vehicles to lower air quality emissions 

Renewable PV Panels and biodiverse green roof 

P
age 68



48 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

D
ur

ra
nt

s 
H

ill
 R

d

Leys Rd

St John’s Rd

Fi
sh

er
y 

R
d

St. A
lbans Rd

London Rd

A41

London Rd

T
w

o
 W

at
er

s 
R

d

Station Rd

Town Centre

Hemel Hempstead 

railway station

Apsley 

railway station

Green connections Improved access to 
Boxmoor

Amenity & sports Water body

“Working” countryside 
farmland

Towpath improvements

Ecological 
enhancement Railway line

New open urban 
space improvements

Study area boundary

Key

Figure 19 : Open Space Principles

0     100      200      300       400

NORTH

P
age 69



49Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

Create a strong network of clear and legible connections.

Create a structure of high quality spaces, with appropriate 

character and proportions.

Create a clear hierarchy of spaces, adapted to their type and 

use.

Create gathering space that can become the 

community heart of new development areas.

Adapt the proportion and size of the space to the 

urban fabric.

Create clear and legible routes through the open 

space.

Offer variety of character and activities in the open 

space.

Create a strong interaction between built frontages and 

the open space.

Figure 20 : Open Space Principle Sketches

P
age 70



P
age 71



51

06�|��Development�Sites�
Guidance

6.2 Site 1: Hemel Hempstead Station and Surroundings      54
6.3 Site 2: Two Waters / London Road Junction West          57
6.4 Site 3: Two Waters / London Road Junction North         60
6.5 Site 4: Two Waters North                                                   63

P
age 72



52 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

6.0  Development Site Guidance

�This�section�of�the�report�sets�out�
the�guidance�for�each�of�the�four�key�
Development�Sites,�as�identified�in�Figure�21.�

�The�Development�Sites�have�been�identified�
taking into account physical boundaries, 
land ownership, development aspirations 
and�DBC’s�regeneration�objectives.�These�
specific�locations�will�be�the�focus�of�
development in Two Waters and deliver 
transformational�and�significant�interventions�
to achieve the Masterplan Guidance Vision 
and�deliver�the�Objectives.

�In�order�to�guide�future�development,�the�
Masterplan�Guidance�sets�out�the�following�
set�of�guidance�for�each�of�the�Development�
Sites:

• Key Proposals.

• Design Guidance.

• Development Requirements.

Key Proposals

 The Key Proposals set out the overarching physical 
aspirations�for�each�site�in�terms�of�the�nature�of�
development�and�mix�of�land�uses.�

Design Guidance 

�To�ensure�development�of�the�highest�design�
quality,�Design�Guidance�is�provided�for�each�of�
the Development Sites. This should be read in 
conjunction�with�the�Overarching�Guidance�as�both�
are�applicable.�The�guidance�seeks�to�shape�the�form�
of�development�and�embed�good�design�throughout�
future�proposals.

 It is crucial that robust Design Guidance is established 
to�secure�a�layout,�function�and�appearance�of�
development, which will complement the existing 
context�and�help�to�enhance�the�quality�of�life�for�the�
existing�and�future�populations�of�Two�Waters.�

�The�Design�Guidance�provides�a�framework�of�
principles,�which�is�intended�to�allow�a�variety�of�
development�forms�as�long�as�the�core�ambitions�
of�the�guidance�and�the�Vision�and�Objectives�
of�the�Masterplan�Guidance�are�achieved.�This�
flexibility�allows�development�to�respond�to�dynamic�
circumstances, whilst being prescriptive enough to 
secure�a�high�quality�of�design.

�All�designs�in�terms�of�transport�infrastructure�should�
follow�best�practice�guidelines�as�set�out�in�the�HCC�
Highway�Design�Guide�(2011)�and�Manual�for�Streets�

(2007).�This�includes�designing�in�accordance�with�
the�user�hierarchy�as�outlined�in�Manual�for�Streets�
with�pedestrians�considered�first,�followed�by�cyclists,�
public transport users, specialist service vehicles and 
lastly�other�motor�traffic.�Historic�England�have�also�
published�Streets�for�All�guidance�which�covers�public�
realm improvements. 

Development Requirements

 The Development Requirements set out the 
infrastructure�required�to�support�development,�
including transport and public realm improvements. 
The Development Requirements clearly demonstrate 
DBC’s�intention�for�each�Development�Site�and�
will�help�to�identify�specific�interventions�that�
development schemes will be required to contribute 
towards�through�the�Community�Infrastructure�Levy�
(CIL)�or�Section�106�Contributions.

�The�Development�Requirements�have�been�informed�
by�the�evidence�base,�and�identify�the�location�and�
nature�of�interventions�likely�to�be�required,�although�
these should not be viewed as an exhaustive list. It 
is�anticipated�the�requirements�of�each�Development�
Site�will�evolve�and�be�refined�as�individual�schemes�
come�forward�and�progress�through�the�planning�
application system. In addition, all proposals need 
to�take�account�of�wider�strategic�improvements,�as�
detailed in the Hemel Hempstead Urban Transport 
Plan�and�the�emerging�Hertfordshire�Growth�and�
Transport Plan.

P
age 73



53Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

Figure 21 : Two Waters Study Area & Development Sites Boundary

Study area boundary

Development sites

Key

SITE 1

SITE 2

SITE 4

SITE 3

Town Centre

London Rd

A41

London Rd

T
w

o
 W

at
er

s 
R

d

Station Rd

Hemel Hempstead Railway 
Station

Apsley 

Railway Station
D

ur
ra

nt
s 

H
ill

 R
d

Leys Rd

St John’s Rd

Fi
sh

er
y 

R
d St. A

lbans Rd

P
age 74



54 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

6.1 Site 1: Hemel Hempstead Station and Surroundings 

�Development�of�Site�1�will�be�expected�to�consider�
and�take�account�of�the�following�guidance:�

 Key Proposals

6.1.1�  A new high-quality transport interchange that 
encourages�the�use�of�multi-modal�public�
transport.

6.1.2�  An improved railway station building and 
frontage�with�improved�visibility�and�way�
finding.

6.1.3�  Mixed use high-quality commercial 
development that will support and be 
supported by the transport interchange 
including�retail,�office,�a�hotel,�cafes,�
restaurants and community uses.

6.1.4�  High quality residential developments, 
primarily 1 and 2 bedroom apartments.

6.1.5� �Residential�parking�for�new�residential�
development should be shared with other 
users,�although�sufficient�parking�for�station�
customers will be necessary. 

A new high quality transport interchange, supported by a vibrant mixed use neighbourhood

1

2

3
4

5

6

7

8

9

11

10

11

Figure 22 : Site 1 Design Principles & Development Requirements

London road 
improvements

Pedestrian/cycle 
route

Improved bus services

Potential bridge 
widening

Roman 
archaeological site 
extending to the east 
of this area

New vehicular routes

Up to 4 storeys

Sensitive residential  
edge

Up to 6 storeysActive frontage

New/improved 
crossing

Views

Green connection 
to the Moors

Railway buffer zone

Proposed residential area

Existing green space

Mixed-use transport 
interchange

Water body

Key

Development requirements 1 - 11

P
age 75



55Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

 Design Guidance

Development Parameters

6.1.6� �This�site�is�included�within�MU/4�of�the�Site�
Allocations�DPD�(July,�2017).

6.1.7�  Improved highway access, a new station and 
multi-modal interchange with supporting land 
uses shall be delivered.

6.1.8� �Development�should�deliver�35%�affordable�
housing in accordance with Core Strategy 
Policy CS19.

6.1.9�  Development will not exceed a maximum plot 
ratio�of�1.5�(Gross�External�Area/Site�Area)�
including�all�undercroft�and�above�ground�car�
parking.

6.1.10� �A�framework�for�heights�as�shown�on�
Figure 22 has been established through 
consideration�of�townscape�context,�views�
and character, sensitive land uses or 
boundaries and key urban design principles. 
These�heights�are�subject�to�detailed�
building designs meeting the scale, massing 
and design guidance in order to achieve a 
development�of�the�highest�quality.

Transport and Parking

6.1.11�  Development will be centred on a new high 
quality transport interchange that encourages 
the�use�of�multi-modal�public�transport�
including better bus services, cycle parking, 

car�share�and�cycle�hire�scheme,�facilities�for�
pedestrians�and�wayfinding�signage.

6.1.12�  Development will help to deliver pedestrian, 
cycle and public transport links between 
Hemel Hempstead station, the town centre, 
Maylands Business Park and other key 
destinations.

6.1.13�  Enhance access to the station through 
establishing�clear�links�and�sight�lines�from�
London�Road�and�introducing�a�scheme�of�
wayfinding.

6.1.14�  Station car parking will be accommodated 
within�a�multi-storey�arrangement,�or�if�viable,�
underground, and its design should seek to 
minimise�adverse�impacts�on�the�quality�of�
the built environment.

6.1.15� �A�flexible�approach�to�the�number�of�station�
car parking spaces should be adopted to 
balance operational requirements with viability 
of�development,�and�to�accommodate�
predicted growth.

6.1.16� �Given�the�proximity�of�the�station,�
development�should�explore�opportunities�for�
a reduction in residential car parking spaces 
and�promote�sustainable�means�of�transport�
in accordance with local and national policies.

6.1.17� �Where�feasible�residential�parking�should�be��
  shared with other land uses. 

Scale, Massing and Design

6.1.18� �Buildings�need�to�carefully�consider�and�
enhance the positive surrounding streetscape 
and views across the Moors, through the 
use�of�high�quality�design�and�materials.�
Development should not lead to any adverse 
effects�on�the�nearby�Roughdown�Common�
SSSI.

6.1.19�  Taller buildings will retain a low to medium 
scale�at�street�level�by�setting�back�from�
the building line and stepping back building 
heights above three storeys to reduce their 
visual impact (see Figure 15).

6.1.20� �Taller�buildings�should�fit�comfortably�within�
the�streetscape,�through�the�creation�of�open�
spaces and adequate street widths (see 
Figure 15).

6.1.21� �Layout�of�development�should�follow�a�
north/south�axis�to�break�up�the�mass�of�
development in views across the Moors.

6.1.22�  Development will respect neighbouring 
residential�development�to�the�east�in�terms�of�
scale�and�mass�of�development,�overlooking,�
sunlight and daylight, overshadowing, wind 
micro-climate and residential amenity. 

6.1.23� �Opportunities�for�sustainable�building�
designs should be incorporated including 
but�not�limited�to�efficient�and�renewable�
energy�systems,�water�conservation,�use�of�

P
age 76



56 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

 Development Requirements
sustainable transport systems, reduction/
reuse�and�recycling�of�waste�systems.

6.1.24� �Active�retail�frontages�should�be�of�high�
quality�and�follow�desire�lines�between�
London�Road�and�Hemel�Hempstead�Station.

Open Space & Historic Environment

6.1.25�  The Roman archaeological site will be 
protected as per local policies and guidance 
and opportunities to improve its visibility may 
be explored. 

6.1.26�  Create a positive relationship with the 
Moors�through�the�creation�of�green�spaces�

connecting�to�and�extending�from�the�Moors.�

6.1.27�  All development will be required to contribute 
towards�or�deliver�the�following:� 
 
(Refer�to�Figure�22�for�relevant�map�reference�
indicated in brackets.)

• A new improved railway station (1).
• A multi-modal transport interchange on 

the�station�forecourt�including�bus,�cycle�
hire scheme and cycle parking, car share 
scheme, and taxi rank (2).

• New station access (3).
• Reworked existing station access (4).
• Multi-storey car park (5).
• New�all-weather�surface�pedestrian�and�

cycle�link�to�Site�2�(6).
• Improved�all-weather�surface�pedestrian�

and cycle routes including tow paths to 
Hemel Hempstead town centre, Apsley, 
Maylands Business Park and other key 
destinations�(7).

• Improved bus services to the town 
centre, Apsley, Maylands Business Park 
and other key destinations (8).

• Potential bridge widening (9)
• London�Road�improvements�including�

public realm improvements and 
pedestrian crossings (10).

• A Controlled Parking Zone (11).

Mixed use with retail at ground floor and residential 
development above

Royal Road London, eight storey medium density 
residential development

Active residential frontages and high-quality public 
realm

P
age 77



57Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

�Development�of�Site�2�will�be�expected�to�consider�
and�take�account�of�the�following�guidance:�

 Key Proposals

6.2.1�  High quality residential development 
comprising�a�variety�of�1,2,3�and�4�bedroom�
houses and apartments in the north and 
western�part�of�the�site.�

6.2.2�  Existing employment and retail uses retained 
and�enhanced�in�the�south�eastern�part�of�the�
site.

6.2.3� �Improve�the�site’s�relationship�with�the�Moors�
by creating green spaces that visually link 
across to the Moor.

6.2.4�  Deliver pedestrian and cycle routes and 
explore opportunities to establish a route 
through to Site 1.

6.2.5� �Improve�access�and�footbridge�crossing�to�
open�space�south�of�the�railway�line.

6.2.6� �Improve�local�junctions�onto�London�Road�
and explore opportunities to alleviate 
congestion�issues�around�Whiteleaf�Road�
tailing back to the Two Waters crossroads.

6.2.7� �Improve�access�to�sustainable�modes�of�
transport.

6.2 Site 2: Two Waters / London Road Junction West

A new walkable green residential area

1

2

3

4

5

8
7

9

10

11

3

3 3

3

3

6
12

13
13

14

Figure 23 : Site 2 Design Principles & Development Requirements

London road 
improvements

Improved bus 
services

Potential bridge 
widening

Junction  
improvements

Public open space
New vehicular routes

Up to 4 storeys
Proposed pedestrian/ 
cycle route

Up to 6 storeys
Sensitive residential 
edge

Up to 8 storeys
New/improved 
crossing

Views

Industrial buffer zone

Proposed residential area

Retained employment/retail area

Existing green space

Safeguarded land for infrastructure 

Water body

Key

Development requirements 1 - 14

Green connection 
to the Moors

P
age 78



58 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

Development Parameters

6.2.8� �This�site�is�included�within�H/8�of�the�Site�
Allocations�DPD�(July,�2017).�

6.2.9�  Development will not exceed a maximum 
plot�ratio�of�1�(Gross�External�Area/Site�Area)�
including�all�undercroft�and�above�ground�car�
parking.

6.2.10� �A�framework�for�heights�as�shown�on�
Figure 23 has been established through 
consideration�of�townscape�context,�views�
and character, sensitive land uses or 
boundaries and key urban design principles. 
These�heights�are�subject�to�detailed�
building designs meeting the scale, massing 
and design guidance in order to achieve a 
development�of�the�highest�quality.

6.2.11� �Development�should�deliver�35%�affordable�
housing in accordance with Core Strategy 
Policy CS19.

6.2.12� �Safeguard�land�for�gas�infrastructure�required�
to be retained.

6.2.13�  Remediate contaminated land so that it is 
suitable�for�residential�development.

Transport and Parking

6.2.14�  Development will deliver or contribute 
towards�junction�improvements�at�both�the�

Two�Waters�Road/London�Road�junction�and�
London�Road/Whiteleaf�Road�junction.�

6.2.15�  Development will help to deliver pedestrian, 
cycle and public transport links between 
Hemel Hempstead station, the town centre, 
Maylands Business Park and other key 
destinations, including a new all-weather 
surface�cycling�and�walking�route�connecting�
to�Hemel�Hempstead�station�independent�of�
London�Road.

6.2.16� �Given�the�proximity�of�the�station�and�
town centre, development should explore 
opportunities�for�a�reduction�in�residential�
car parking spaces and promote sustainable 
means�of�transport�in�accordance�with�local�
and national policies. 

6.2.17� �Improve�access�to�the�footbridge�at�the�south�
of�the�site�crossing�the�rail�line.

Scale, Massing and Design

6.2.18� �Buildings�need�to�carefully�consider�and�
enhance the positive surrounding streetscape 
and views across the Moors, through the use 
of�high�quality�design�and�materials

6.2.19� Buildings higher than three storeys will be set  
� back�from�the�building�line�and�stepped��
� back�to�reduce�the�visual�impact�from�street��
 level (see Figure 15). 

6.2.20� Taller�buildings�should�fit�comfortably�within��
� the�streetscape,�through�the�creation�of�open��
 spaces and adequate street widths (see  
 Figure 15).

6.2.21� �Layout�of�development�should�follow�a�
north/south�axis�to�break�up�the�mass�of�
development in views across the Moors.

6.2.22�  Building heights in the retained employment/
retail area should be consistent with existing 
building heights and minimise impacts on the 
surrounding�streetscape�and�views�from�the�
Moors.

6.2.23�  The retained employment/retail area should 
be enhanced through high quality active 
frontages,�improved�visibility�from�the�
approach�from�the�A41,�and�a�separate�
access to residential development.

6.2.24� �Opportunities�for�sustainable�building�
designs should be incorporated including 
but�not�limited�to�efficient�and�renewable�
energy�systems,�water�conservation,�use�of�
sustainable transport systems, reduction/
reuse�and�recycling�of�waste�systems.

Open Space and Historic Environment

6.2.25�  Create a positive relationship with the 
Moors�through�the�creation�of�green�spaces,�
including public open space, connecting to 
and�extending�from�the�Moor.�

 Design Guidance

P
age 79



59Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

6.2.26�  All development will be required to contribute 
towards�or�deliver�the�following:� 
 
(Refer�to�Figure�23�for�relevant�map�reference�
indicated in brackets.) 

• New�all-weather�surface�pedestrian�and�
cycle link to Site 1 (1).

• Improved bus services to the town centre, 
Apsley, Maylands Business Park and other 
key destinations (2).

• Formal/informal�pedestrian�crossings�to�
improve pedestrian access to the Moors and 
town centre (3).

• Improved�access�and�footbridge�crossing�to�
open�space�south�of�the�site�(4).

• London�Road�public�realm�improvements�
(5).

• Whiteleaf�junction�improvements�(6).
• Two�Waters�Road/London�Road�junction�
pedestrian�improvements�(7).

• Two�Waters�Road/London�Road�junction�
highway improvements (8).

• All-weather�surface�pedestrian�and�cycle�
route to Hemel Hempstead town centre (9).

• Potential bridge widening (10).
• A Controlled Parking Zone (11).
• A new public open green space in the heart 
of�the�development�and�connecting�to�the�
Moor (12).

• Remediate existing contaminated land (13).
• Safeguard�land�for�gas�infrastructure�to�be�
retained,�including�suitable�safety�zones�(14).�

 Development Requirements

The Phoenix, Coventry Coin Street, London

Chiswick Courtyard Garden, London

P
age 80



60 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

A new waterside residential area

�Development�of�Site�3�will�be�expected�to�consider�
and�take�account�of�the�following�guidance:�

 Key Proposals

6.3.1.�  High quality residential-led mixed use 
development�with�strong�active�frontages�
facing�Two�Waters/London�Road�junction�and�
along waterside locations.

6.3.2.�  Improved pedestrian, cycle and public 
transport access to the town centre, train 
stations and Apsley local centre.

6.3.3.�  Pedestrian bridges connecting Two Waters 
Road through to Durrants Hill. 

6.3.4.� �Open�space�created�as�part�of�the�
development to retain strong connectivity with 
the Moors. 

6.3 Site 3: Two Waters / London Road Junction North

1

2

3
4 8

10

5
6

9

7

3
4

Figure 24 : Site 3 Design Principles & Development Requirements

London road 
improvements

Public open spaceProposed pedestrian/
cycle routes

Up to 4 storeysJunction  
improvements

Up to 6 storeys

Proposed residential area

No vehicle through 
routes

Active frontage

Potential bridge 
widening

Views

Existing green space

Water body

Key

Improved bus 
services

Development 
requirements 1 - 10

Green connection 
to the Moors

P
age 81



61Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

Development Parameters

  Development will not exceed a maximum 
plot�ratio�of�1�(Gross�External�Area/Site�Area)�
including�all�undercroft�and�above�ground�car�
parking. 

6.3.6.� �A�strong�retail-led�active�frontage�will�create�a�
high�quality�landmark�facing�the�Two�Waters/
London�Road�junction.

6.3.7.� �A�framework�for�heights�as�shown�on�
Figure 24 has been established through 
consideration�of�townscape�context,�views�
and character, sensitive land uses or 
boundaries and urban design principles. 
These�heights�are�subject�to�detailed�
building designs meeting the scale, massing 
and design guidance in order to achieve a 
development�of�the�highest�quality.

6.3.8.� �Development�should�deliver�35%�affordable�
housing in accordance with Core Strategy 
Policy CS19.

Transport and Parking
6.3.9.�  Development will help to deliver pedestrian, 

cycle and public transport links between 
Hemel Hempstead station, the town centre, 
Maylands Business Park and other key 
destinations, including a new all-weather 
surface�cycling�and�walking�route�connecting�
Apsley to the town centre avoiding Two 
Waters Road. These will include tow path 
and public realm improvements and new 
pedestrian�bridges�connecting�to�Lawn�Lane�

and Durrants Hill.

6.3.10.�  Development will deliver or contribute 
towards�junction�improvements�at�both�the�
Two�Waters�Road/London�Road�junction�and�
London�Road/Whiteleaf�Road�junction.�

6.3.11.� �Development�should�explore�opportunities�for�
a reduction in residential car parking spaces 
and�promote�sustainable�means�of�transport�
in accordance with local and national policies. 

6.3.12.� �The�layout�of�development�will�reduce�the�
potential�for�‘rat-runs’�through�the�site�by�
maintaining�no-through�routes�for�vehicles.

Scale, Massing and Design

6.3.13.� �Buildings�need�to�carefully�consider�and�
enhance the positive surrounding streetscape 
and views across the Moors, through the use 
of�high�quality�design�and�materials.

6.3.14.� Buildings higher than three storeys will be set  
� back�from�the�building�line�and�stepped��
� back�to�reduce�the�visual�impact�from�street��
 level (see Figure 15). 

6.3.15.� �Taller�buildings�should�fit�comfortably�within�
the�streetscape,�through�the�creation�of�open�
spaces and adequate street widths (see 
Figure 15).

6.3.16.� �Active�frontages�on�Two�Waters�Road�and�
London�Road�should�be�high�quality�and�help�
to create a landmark gateway to Two Waters 
and Hemel Hempstead.

 Design Guidance

6.3.17.� �Layout�of�development�should�follow�an�
east/west�axis�to�break�up�the�mass�of�
development�and�make�the�most�of�views�
across the Moors.

6.3.18.� �Development�should�provide�active�frontages�
orientated towards the River Bulbourne to 
create high quality waterside development 
and�contribute�to�Two�Waters’�character.

6.3.19.� �Opportunities�for�sustainable�building�
designs should be incorporated including 
but�not�limited�to�efficient�and�renewable�
energy�systems,�water�conservation,�use�of�
sustainable transport systems, reduction/
reuse�and�recycling�of�waste�systems.

Open Space and Historic Environment

6.3.20.�  Enhance views, access and connectivity to 
water ways and open spaces.

6.3.21.�  Opportunities to improve green spaces and 
plant additional trees should be explored, 
particularly�in�areas�of�poor�air�quality.

6.3.22.�  Create a positive relationship with the Moors 
and�through�the�creation�of�green�spaces�
within new developments to connect to and 
extend into the Moors. 

6.3.23.�  Development should consider and reduce 
flood�risk,�this�should�include�suitable�
mitigation measures such as Sustainable 
Urban Drainage Systems (SUDs).

6.3.24.� �New�public�realm�to�enhance�the�setting�of�
the nearby Grade II listed Bell Inn.

6.3.5.�

P
age 82



62 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

6.3.25.�  All development will be required to contribute 
towards�or�deliver�the�following: 
 
(Refer�to�Figure�24�for�relevant�map�reference�
indicated in brackets.) 

• Improved bus services to the town 
centre, Apsley, Maylands Business Park 
and other key destinations (1).

• Potential bridge widening (2).
• Junction and pedestrian crossing 

improvements (3).
• Public realm improvements around key 

gateways and along Two Waters Roads, 
London�Road�and�Lawn�Lane�(4).

• No through route (5).
• Improved all-weather pedestrian and 

cycle routes including tow paths and key 
routes to Hemel Hempstead town centre, 
Apsley, Maylands Business Park and 
other�key�destinations�(6).

• New open spaces and connections to 
existing�open�spaces�and�water�ways�(7).

• New pedestrian bridges connecting Two 
Waters Road to Durrants Hill (8).

• A Controlled Parking Zone (9).
• Flood alleviation scheme (10).

 Development Requirements

Illustrative example

Illustrative example Illustrative example

P
age 83



63Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

6.4 Site 4: Two Waters North

A new mixed use town centre area

�Development�of�Site�4�will�be�expected�to�consider�
and�take�account�of�the�following�guidance:�

 Key Proposals

6.4.1.� �Landmark�building�of�up�to�16�storeys�to�the�
very�north�of�the�site,�where�tall�buildings�are�
more appropriately located around the Plough 
Roundabout gateway.

6.4.2.�  High quality residential-led mixed use 
developments�with�strong�active�frontages�
taking�advantage�of�waterside�locations.

6.4.3.�  A bridge over the Grand Union Canal together 
with new pedestrian and cycle routes 
connecting�to�Lawn�Lane�Open�Space�will�
improve open space connectivity.

6.4.4.�  Corridor improvements along Two Waters 
Road�and�Lawn�Lane�together�with�junction�
enhancements will improve pedestrian, cycle 
and vehicular movement.

10

1

2

12

13

13

3

4

4

4

4

5

6

6

7

8

9

11

2

Figure 25 : Site 4 Design Principles & Development Requirements

No vehicle through 
routes

New bridge

Drop off zone

Public open space

New/improved 
crossing

Views

Active frontages

Green insertion

Up to 4 storeys

Up to 6 storeys

Up to 8 storeys

Proposed residential 
area

Existing green space

Water body

Flexible open space 
to support residential 
development 

Development 
requirements 

   1 - 13

Retain Existing Use/ 
Residential Zone

Junction  
improvements

Potential bridge 
widening

Landmark up to 16 
storeys

Improved bus 
services

London road 
improvements

Proposed pedestrian/
cycle route

Sensitive residential 
edge

Key

P
age 84



64 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

Development Parameters
6.4.5.� �Development�should�deliver�35%�affordable�

housing in accordance with Core Strategy 
Policy CS19.

6.4.6.�  Development will not exceed a maximum 
plot�ratio�of�1�(Gross�External�Area/Site�Area)�
including�all�undercroft�and�above�ground�car�
parking.

6.4.7.� �A�framework�for�heights�as�shown�on�
Figure 25 has been established through 
consideration�of�townscape�context,�views�
and character, sensitive land uses or 
boundaries and urban design principles. 
These�heights�are�subject�to�detailed�
building designs meeting the scale, massing 
and design guidance in order to achieve a 
development�of�the�highest�quality.

Transport and Parking
6.4.8.�  Development will help to deliver pedestrian, 

cycle and public transport links between 
Hemel Hempstead station, the town centre, 
Maylands Business Park and other key 
destinations, including tow path and public 
realm improvements. This should include a 
new�all-weather�surface�cycling�and�walking�
route connecting Apsley to the Town Centre 
avoiding Two Waters Road with a new 
pedestrian�bridge�to�connect�to�Lawn�Lane.

6.4.9.� �Given�the�proximity�of�the�town�centre�and�
the station, development should explore 

opportunities�for�a�reduction�in�residential�
car parking spaces and promote sustainable 
means�of�transport�in�accordance�with�local�
and national policies.

6.4.10.� �Local�access�junction�improvements�will�be�
made�to�ensure�wider�network�efficiency�on�
London�Road,�Two�Waters�Road�and�Lawn�
Lane.

Scale, Massing and Design

6.4.11.� Buildings higher than three storeys will be set  
� back�from�the�building�line�and�stepped��
� back�to�reduce�the�visual�impact�from�street��
 level (see Figure 15).

6.4.12.� �Taller�buildings�should�fit�comfortably�within�
the�streetscape,�through�the�creation�of�open�
spaces and adequate street widths (see 
Figure 15).

6.4.13.� �Buildings�need�to�carefully�consider�and�
minimise impacts on the surrounding 
streetscape and views across the Moors, 
through�the�use�of�high�quality�design�and�
materials.

6.4.14.� �Layout�of�development�should�follow�an�
east/west�axis�to�break�up�the�mass�of�
development in views across the Moors. 

6.4.15.�  Development in the north will respect 
neighbouring residential development to 
the�east�in�terms�of�scale�and�mass�of�
development, overlooking, sunlight and 

Design Guidance

daylight, overshadowing, wind micro-climate 
and residential amenity. This would also 
include�the�listed�buildings�on�the�edge�of�
Corner Hall.

6.4.16.� �Opportunities�for�sustainable�building�
designs should be incorporated including 
but�not�limited�to�efficient�and�renewable�
energy�systems,�water�conservation,�use�of�
sustainable transport systems, reduction/
reuse�and�recycling�of�waste�systems.

6.4.17.�  Commercial units on Two Waters Road 
should�include�active�frontages�and�
contribute to the southern gateway to Hemel 
Hempstead.

P
age 85



65Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

Open Space & Sustainability
6.4.18.�  A bridge over the Grand Union Canal together 

with new pedestrian and cycle routes 
connecting�to�Lawn�Lane�Open�Space�will�
improve open space connectivity.

6.4.19.�  Opportunities to improve green spaces and 
plant�additional�trees,�particularly�in�areas�of�
poor air quality, should be explored.

6.4.20.�  Enhance views, access and connectivity to 
water ways and open spaces.

6.4.21.�  Create a positive relationship with the Moors 
and�through�the�creation�of�green�spaces�
within new developments to connect to and 
extend into the Moors. 

6.4.22.�  Development should consider and reduce 
flood�risk.�This�should�include�suitable�
mitigation measures such as SUDs 

 Development Requirements

6.4.23.�  All development will be required to contribute  
towards�or�deliver�the�following: 
 
(Refer�to�Figure�25�for�relevant�map�reference�
indicated in brackets.) 

• A potential new pedestrian and cycle 
bridge,�feasibility�and�exact�location�to�
be�determined�through�further�studies�(1).

• Tow path improvements (2).
• Improved bus services to town centre 

and other key destinations such as the 
Maylands,�including�safeguarding�of�
future�road�way�improvements�(3).

• Walk/cycle routes towards town centre 
(4).

• Junction and pedestrian crossing im-
provements (5).

• Wider improvements to the public realm, 
the�Plough�Roundabout�and�Two�Waters’�
Gateway�(6).

• Potential�bridge�widening�(7).
• No through route (8).
• Drop�off�zone�(9).
• Controlled�parking�zone�(10).
• Manage parking standards (11).
• A�potential�scheme�of�flood�alleviation�to�

enable development to the south (12).
• New open green spaces connecting to 

the Moor (13).

Coin Street, London

Chichester Canal

Rubicon Court, York Way, London

P
age 86



P
age 87



67

07�|�Next�Steps�

7.1 Delivering the Two Waters Masterplan 68
7.2 Viability 68
7.3 Further Studies 70
7.4 Phasing 71
7.5 Future Planning Applications 71

P
age 88



68 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

7.1   Delivering the aim of the Two Waters Masterplan Guidance 

DBC will ensure that development within Two Waters 
is�consistent�with�the�Vision,�Objectives,�Overarching�
Guidance, Development Site Guidance and Next 
Steps set out in this document.

The�implementation�of�the�Masterplan�will�depend�on�
a�variety�of�factors�including:

• �The�overall�strength�of�local�and�regional�
economies and property markets.

• The ability to provide appropriate physical 
development opportunities.

• The�timing�and�delivery�of�physical�regeneration�
projects�in�the�area.

• Availability�of�funding�to�deliver�strategic�
improvements.

• Effective�partnership�working�between�
stakeholders.

In addition, given the varying landownerships across 
the�area�and�specifically�within�the�four�Development�
Sites,�achieving�the�Vision�and�Objectives�for�Two�
Waters�will�require�commitment�from�landowners�and�
developers to work together to deliver the individual 
schemes. It is critical that these individual schemes 
complement one another, adhere to the Masterplan 
Guidance,�achieve�the�needs�of�the�local�area�
and contribute towards developing the necessary 
infrastructure�to�support�the�area.

As�the�Local�Planning�Authority,�DBC�will�use�
its planning processes to manage development 
proposals�from�pre-application�discussions�through�
to�the�discharge�of�conditions�and�Section�106�
agreements to ensure high quality, comprehensive 
developments are planned, designed and delivered 
in line with the guidance contained within this 
Masterplan Guidance document.

All development will also be expected to contribute 
towards�delivering�strategic�infrastructure�
improvements�to�facilities�such�as�expansion�of�
current�education�facilities,�sustainable�transport�
improvements,�health�facilities,�public�realm�and�
open space improvements. This will done through 
mechanisms�such�as�CIL�and/or�Section�106,�or�
current contribution requirements. Where relevant, 
other�contributions�may�be�sought,�for�example,�in�
relation to improvements to the historic environment.

DBC�will�undertake�further�feasibility�studies�where�
necessary to develop key proposals, development 
requirements�and�any�other�infrastructure�
requirements�for�the�area.�

As�sites�come�forward�for�development�through�
the planning process, more detailed transport 
assessments with appropriate mitigation will be 
required. 

Cycle parking

P
age 89



69Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

7.2 Viability

The Two Waters Masterplan Guidance presents a 
long�term�vision�for�the�area.�The�masterplan�has�
been�designed�flexibly�with�the�ability�to�respond�to�
changing market circumstances, particularly as initial 
phases�of�development�are�brought�forward.

Viability�and�deliverability�of�potential�development�
sites have been considered and assessed during 
the�preparation�of�the�Masterplan.�This�high�level�
assessment�provides�an�overview�of�the�relative�
viability�of�delivering�development�in�Sites�1�–�4�and�
associated improvements across the Two Waters 
area. 

Additional detailed viability work will subsequently 
be required on a site by site, and individual scheme 
basis. 

The�following�steps�should�be�considered�at�the�next�
stage:

• Early dialogue between landowners, stakeholder 
and DBC.

• Early�discussions�with�third�party�landowners�of�
adjacent�plots.�It�will�be�important�to�understand�
if�terms�can�be�agreed�for�acquisition,�or�where�
appropriate�how�coordinated�delivery�of�a�
comprehensive scheme could be achieved. 

• More detailed discussions with the planning 
authority�on�s106/CIL�contributions�and�affordable�
housing.

• Investigation�into�sources�of�third�party�funding�for�
major�infrastructure�delivery�where�required.

• Phasing�of�development�and�proportionate�
contributions.

Fundamental�to�the�successful�delivery�of�the�
proposals�will�be�the�use�of�private�finance�to�
bring�forward�the�development�opportunities.�The�
Masterplan Guidance provides clarity around the 
form�and�nature�of�development�and�infrastructure�
investment required, and seeks to increase 
confidence�and�reduce�risk�with�investments.�

Development�opportunities�across�the�four�
Development�Sites�range�considerably�in�terms�of�
location, existing site characteristics, ownership 
pattern and proposed use. Given this range in 
characteristics there will be large variations in the 
viability�of�the�different�Development�Sites.

Developer interest is strong in the area, as 
demonstrated�by�a�number�of�schemes�in�advanced�
stages�of�delivery.�There�are�also�opportunities�which�
may be more challenging to deliver, such as sites 
which are already developed with viable uses. 

A�number�of�plots�within�the�Development�Sites�
include existing viable land uses, which provide 
additional�complexities�in�terms�of�delivery.�Existing�
use�value�of�buildings,�where�it�exceeds�the�estimated�
value�of�the�completed�development�with�the�cost�of�
construction�and�an�allowance�for�profit�deducted,�
can�limit�the�attractiveness�of�the�redevelopment.�

There are some landholdings within the study area 
with�likely�high�values�arising�from�existing�income�
streams. Other landholdings have complex ownership 
patterns�and�the�length�of�existing�leasehold�interests.��

The�viability�of�development�considered�has�provided�
an�early�indication�of�the�viability�characteristics�
across�the�masterplan�area.�This�is�subject�to�change�
due�to�a�number�of�factors,�including�changing�
market�conditions,�refinement�of�proposals,�detailed�
infrastructure�and�cost�information,�as�well�as�phasing�
and�the�approach�to�implementation.�As�specific�
schemes�come�forward�they�will�require�detailed�viability�
assessments in order to understand and address 
the�range�of�delivery�challenges,�risks,�provision�of�
infrastructure,�land�ownership�and�phasing.

A�package�of�funds�will�need�to�be�brought�together�to�
deliver�the�infrastructure�identified�in�the�guidance�and�
relevant�feasibility�studies,�including�contributions�from�
Section�106�and�Community�Infrastructure�Levy�(CIL),�
and�external�grant�funding�where�available.

The�Masterplan�Guideline�aims�to�maximise�funding�
opportunities and investment through a co-ordinated 
delivery strategy. The strategy is to encourage 
developments�to�come�forward�and�to�establish�a�
planning�contributions�matrix�to�lever�funding�into�a�
range�of�civic,�social,�public�realm�and�infrastructure�
projects.

The masterplan will not necessarily be able to solve 
all�of�the�existing�problems�in�Two�Waters,�particularly�
in relation to transport and station needs. Further 
feasibility�studies�will�be�undertaken�where�required.�
As�sites�come�forward�for�development�through�the�
planning process, more detailed assessments and 
feasibility�studies�will�be�required�with�appropriate�
mitigation.

P
age 90



70 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

While the Masterplan has looked at the existing travel 
patterns�and�behaviours�of�people�within�the�study�
area, longer term changes in transport, access and 
movement should also be considered, such as:

• Potential�for�a�reduction�in�privately�owned�vehicles�
with car clubs and taxis providing car-based 
mobility needs.

• The�sharing�of�vehicles�and�journeys�could�become�
normal�in�future,�with�on-demand�service�by�either�
manned�taxis,�autonomous�vehicles�or�self-drive�
clubs becoming mainstream.

• The�use�and�ownership�of�electric�cars,�
motorcycles and bicycles will substantially 
increase.

• Electric goods vehicles will be required to tackle air 
quality�(noting�the�existing�London�Road�AQMA).

• Long-term�potentially�significant�reduction�in�
ownership�and�use�of�the�private�car.

• Substantial/total reduction in petrol/diesel vehicles.
• Substantial growth in sustainable travel/behaviours 

including; walking, cycling, rail, buses and shared 
vehicles.

Hemel Hempstead Station

The�masterplan�has�identified�a�set�of�guidance�for�
the Hemel Hempstead Station Development Site. 
Further�detailed�feasibility�studies�will�look�into�the�

future�requirements�for�the�station,�including�parking�
demand and improvements to the station layout and 
arrangement. Site analysis will be undertaken prior 
to�taking�this�site�forward.�Following�the�completion�
of�this�feasibility�work�there�may�be�a�need�for�the�
guidance regarding Site 1 to be updated to take 
account�of�the�findings.

Schools
Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) in partnership with 
Hertfordshire�County�Council�(HCC)�is�looking�at�
options�for�providing�new�primary�school�places�for�
the proposed new residential development in the 
area.�This�includes�exploring�both�the�feasibility�of�
expanding current schools in the area or providing a 
new school. 

For�the�purposes�of�the�Masterplan�Guidance�a�new�
school and its associated transport costs and impacts 
was included within the viability assessment. Various 
sites were considered in the initial school site search 
together with expanding existing schools but in terms 
of�cost�the�Council�assessed��the�most�expensive�
option, which is a new school which was initially 
included within Site 4 as an illustrative potential 
school�site�in�early�draft�versions�of�the�Masterplan�
Guidance.�However,�further�discussions�with�
Hertfordshire�County�Council�as�well�as�responses�
from�public�and�stakeholder�consultation�concluded�
that�the�site�identified�within�Site�4�is�not�a�suitable�

7.3  Further Work

Movement and Transport

DBC and HCC Highways have looked at opportunities 
for�a�more�holistic�approach�to�travel,�including�
reducing the need to travel and promoting credible 
alternatives to car use through the emerging Growth 
and�Transport�Plan�for�South�West�Hertfordshire.

The�Masterplan�has�a�role�in�delivering�elements�of�
these wider proposals as well as delivering localised 
improvements�to�address�specific�problems�and�
congestion�‘hotspots’.�

Whilst�outside�the�scope�of�the�Two�Waters�
Masterplan, potential measures such as intermodal 
interchanges and public transport improvements at 
Hemel Hempstead Station and on the M1 and M25, 
additional bus routes serving Hemel Hempstead, 
increased�frequencies�of�existing�bus�services�and�
an improved cycle network are being considered to 
promote alternatives to car use. 

Whilst�it�is�not�possible�for�this�Masterplan�to�fully�
resolve�the�area’s�transport�issues�it�will�have�a�
role�in�delivering�elements�of�these�proposals�and�it�
will make a positive contribution overall to existing 
conditions�for�all�modes�of�travel.�Retention�of�land�
that�may�be�required�for�future�improvements�has�
been considered within this Masterplan.

P
age 91



71Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

7.4 Phasing

site�for�a�primary�school�as�it�falls�within�Flood�Zone�2�
and�HCC’s�Primary�Land�Specification�requires�sites�
to�have�Zone�1�status�under�flood�risk�assessments�
and this site does not meet this requirement and 
is�unsuitable.�Therefore�the�option�of�a�primary�
school�has�been�removed�from�Site�4.�DBC�(as�the�
local planning authority) and HCC (as the education 
authority)�will�continue�to�work�together�to�identify�
options�for�providing�new�primary�school�places�for�
the proposed new residential development in the area.

Hertfordshire�County�Council�has�not�identified�the�
need�for�a�new�secondary�school�in�this�area�as�
a�result�of�the�development�proposed�in�the�Two�
Waters Masterplan Guidance.

Other Infrastructure 
The�Council�works�closely�with�a�wide�range�of�
infrastructure�providers�to�ensure�that�necessary�
infrastructure�is�provided�alongside�new�development�
and�that�the�information�we�have�on�the�types�of�
infrastructure�needed�to�support�development�
is up-to-date. This includes working with those 
organisations�responsible�for�roads,�public�transport,�
education, health, water supply, sewerage and power. 

The�new�Local�Plan�must�ensure�the�delivery�of�
infrastructure�in�a�timely�and�phased�manner.�This�will�
enable�new�residents’�access�to�the�right�services�and�
facilities�and�reduce�more�negative�effects�on�existing�
communities. 

The masterplan and individual Development Sites 
will be delivered in phases and needs to take the 
following�into�consideration:

• Sequence�of�delivery�and�mitigation�of�any�
impacts on construction, access, residential 
amenity,�funding�and�delivery�of�infrastructure.

• Distribution�and�time�frames�for�the�delivery�of�
affordable�housing.

• Number�of�homes�delivered�per�year.�This�will�
have to be supported by evidence on existing 
needs and market demand. 

• Public realm and open space improvements. 
Further�work�on�key�priorities�and�projects�that�
can�come�forward�early�will�be�required.

• Timeframe�for�upgrade�of�utilities�and�transport�
infrastructure,�and�phasing�of�these�to�minimise�
disruptions. This will have to be supported by an 
overall strategy that looks at not only this area but 
also the wider context.

• Improvements to public transport services. This 
will�have�to�be�supported�by�further�transport�
studies.

P
age 92



7.5  Future Planning 
Applications

DBC�recognises�the�regeneration�of�Two�Waters�will�
be delivered through multiple planning applications 
submitted�for�individual�development�plots�with�
various timescales. Those preparing the planning 
applications are encouraged to work in partnership 
with DBC.

A�Planning�Performance�Agreement�(PPA)�would�be�
beneficial�to�help�manage�the�work�streams�leading�
to�the�preparation�of�planning�applications�and�the�
determination�of�applications.

Key to any development will be a comprehensive and 
effective�consultation,�including�early�engagement�
with local stakeholders and statutory consultees. 

Discussions with the DBC Planning Department will 
determine�the�precise�suite�of�documents�needed�to�
support individual planning applications but these 
may include:

• For individual plots within Development Sites, an 
illustrative�masterplan�for�the�whole�Development�
Site�will�be�required,�presenting�proposals�for�
buildings, spaces, movement and land use in 
accordance with the development principles 
set out in the masterplan. This will be key to 
demonstrating how individual development 
proposals�will�tie�in�to�the�future�development�of�
the Development Sites. 

• An Environmental Statement, reporting the 
effects�and�mitigation�identified�through�the�
Environmental Impact Assessment. 

• Planning Statement.
• Design and Access Statement. 
• Heritage Statement.
• Desktop Archaeological Survey.
• Socio-economic Statement. 
• Ground Contamination Assessment.
• Details�of�services�and�utilities�capacity�to�

accommodate development.
• Construction Environmental Management Plan, 

including phasing.
• Transport Assessment.
• Landscape�and�Open�Space�Strategy.
• A Flood Risk Assessment.
• A Drainage Strategy.
• A Waste Management Strategy.
• A Retail Assessment.
• Planning obligations and conditions.
• Statement�of�Community�Involvement.
• Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment.

P
age 93



73

P
age 94



74 Two Waters Masterplan Guidance | Dacorum Borough Council

P
age 95



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Two Waters Masterplan Guidance 

 

Consultation Statement 

March 2018  

Page 96



Contents  

 
 
 
 

1. Introduction  
 
 
 

2. Timeline 
 
 
3. Appendices 
 
 Appendix 1 - Consultation Report Round 1 Consultation November 2016 
 
 Appendix 2 - Publicity for Round 1 Consultation 
 
 Appendix 3 - Consultation Report Round 2 Consultation January 2017 
 
 Appendix 4 - Copies of invitations for Round 2 Consultation workshops 
 
 Appendix 5 - List of Steering Group Members 
 

 Appendix 6 - Final Consultation Report Round 3 Consultation July – August 17 (February 2018) 
(amended following Strategic Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
October 2017)  
 
 Appendix 7 - Publicity for Round 3 Consultation. 
 
 Appendix 8 - Consultation Report Round 3 Consultation July – August 17 (September 2017 
version submitted to Strategic Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
October 2017) 

 

  

Page 97



 

Consultation Statement 
 
 This Consultation Statement accompanies the Two Waters Masterplan Guidance.  

 
The Statement conforms with Dacorum Borough Council’s Statement of Community Involvement 
(July 2016) and has been prepared in accordance with Regulation 12 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.   

 
Regulation 12 relates to public participation for Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) and sets 
out the requirements for public consultation on draft SPDs.   It also sets out a requirement to prepare 
a consultation statement setting out: 
 

 (i) the persons the local planning authority consulted when preparing the supplementary 
     planning document; 
 
(ii) a summary of the main issues raised by those persons; and 
 
(iii) how those issues have been addressed in the supplementary planning document;  

 
This Consultation Statement sets out how relevant stakeholders and the wider community 
have been involved in the production of the Masterplan. 

 
 

Page 98



1.     Introduction 

 

 
Located to the south of Hemel Hempstead town centre and situated between the train stations of Hemel 

Hempstead and Apsley and the Plough Roundabout, Two Waters is an area of approximately 124 

hectares. 

 

Dacorum Borough Council recognises that there is a significant amount of under-used land within the 

Two Waters area. This creates opportunities to provide much needed new homes, create employment, 

enhance community services and improve the environment through sustainable development. The 

opportunities are focused around improving public transport and promoting a mix of housing led mixed-

use development, which promote public transport and sustainable transport networks to ease traffic 

congestion, high quality urban design principles, excellent green infrastructure and a strong sense of 

character and community. 

 

Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) has commissioned consultants BDP to build on the Two Waters 

Strategic Framework (November 2015) and prepare a Masterplan Guidance document for the Two 

Waters area. 

 
The Masterplan Guidance will shape future development in Two Waters and play an important 

role in ensuring that development in the area is planned and designed in the best possible way 

to deliver an attractive, sustainable and balanced environment, fit for the future. The Masterplan 

Guidance also informs emerging planning policy including the content of Dacorum’s new Local 

Plan. It is envisioned that the Masterplan Guidance will be initially adopted by the DBC’s Cabinet as a 

planning statement and will then be adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) supporting 

the new Dacorum Local Plan. 

 
In the course of developing this Masterplan Guidance, DBC has undertaken significant public  and 

stakeholder consultation including public exhibitions and workshops, online consultation and meetings 

with key stakeholders, relevant Officers from DBC and Herts County Council (HCC) and landowners, all 

of which has informed the development of the Masterplan Guidance. We would like to thank all parties 

who have engaged in the consultation process for their valued contributions. 

The following information evidences the actions and consultations undertaken during the preparation of 

the Two Waters Masterplan Guidance.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 99



 

 

2.   Timeline 
 

November 2015   Two Waters Strategic Framework adopted by Cabinet 

 

May  2016     Consultant BDP appointed to prepare a Masterplan for Two Waters 

 

May – Dec 2016   Background research, refining of scope and initial work on Masterplan including 

meetings with key stakeholders 

 

July  2016   Steering Group Meeting 1 

 

September 2016   Steering Group Meeting 2 

 

November  2016    Public/stakeholder consultation round 1 (exhibition) 

 

November 2016   Public/stakeholder consultation round 1 (online consultation) 

 

Dec – Jan 2016/17 BDP undertake further work on masterplan taking in to account results from 

public consultation round 1 

 

January 2017 Public/stakeholder consultation round 2 (workshops) 

 

February  2017 Steering Group Meeting 3 

 

Feb – May 2017 BDP prepare draft masterplan 

 

June   2017 Submission of draft Masterplan to be approved by Cabinet for public consultation 

 

July/August 2017 Public/stakeholder consultation round 3  

 

September 2017 Preparation of consultation round 3 report  

 

October  2017 Strategic Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

Nov 2017 – Feb 2018 Update of consultation round 3 report and preparation of final Two Waters 

Masterplan Guidance  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 100



3. Appendices 

 Appendix 1 - Consultation Report Round 1 Consultation November 2016 
 
 Appendix 2 - Publicity for Round 1 Consultation 
 
 Appendix 3 - Consultation Report Round 2 Consultation January 2017 
 
 Appendix 4 - Copies of invitations for round 2 consultation workshops 
 
 Appendix 5 - List of Steering Group Members 
 

 Appendix 6 - Final Consultation Report Round 3 Consultation July – August 17 (February 2018) 
(amended following Strategic Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
October 2017)  
 
 Appendix 7 - Publicity for Round 3 Consultation. 
 
 Appendix 8 - Consultation Report Round 3 Consultation July – August 17 (September 2017 
version submitted to Strategic Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
October 2017) 

 

Page 101



Appendix 1:  

Consultation Report Round 1 – November 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 102



Two Waters Masterplan

Consultation Statement

Rev: E 
Date: 22 December 2016

P
age 103



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

2 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY          
• Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) have commissioned BDP to build on the 

Two Waters Strategic Framework (November, 2015) and prepare the Two 
Waters Masterplan. This Consultation Statement presents an overview of the 
findings from the Two Waters Round 1 Consultation.  

• In order to understand stakeholder and public aspirations for the site, initial 
consultation has been undertaken including: 

    
- Stakeholder discussions with landowners and developers  
- Public consultation events on Friday 4th November 2016 and Saturday 

5th November 2016 with consultation boards on display demonstrating 
initial masterplan concepts; and 

- A questionnaire covering the key topics of consultation boards available 
at drop-in events and online from 4th November to 18th November, 
allowing public to provide comments on proposals.  
     

• Following the initial consultation, BDP analysed 190 questionnaire responses 
and public and stakeholder comments received via email and letters. A large 
number of the responses were focused on the scale and density of 
development, and on existing transport issues which could be exacerbated 
due to additional development.  

• Key messages expressed by respondents included:   
 

- support for development that builds on the existing character and scale 
of the surrounding area; 

- general opposition to higher scale and density;  
- concern that development around the moors may detract from the 

natural assets of the area; and 
- strong support for a comprehensive transport plan to address the 

existing high volume of traffic. 

 

 

• The results from initial consultation will be used to inform the next stage of 
work on the Masterplan which will include ideas for development of each of the 
key sites, and in turn refine the concept of the masterplan.  

• As part of this next stage, DBC will arrange a further consultation workshop in 
early 2017 to explore the key themes to be further developed.  

 
 

  

P
age 104



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

3 
 

CONTENTS  
1. Introduction  

2. Previous Consultations  

3. Stakeholder Discussions  

4. Two Waters Consultation Overview  

5. Questionnaire Findings  

6. Key Consultation Themes and Council Responses    

7. Summary of Respondents’ Comments and the Council Responses  

8. Conclusion  

Appendix A – Consultation Questionnaire 

Appendix B – Consultation Public Notice 

Appendix C – Consultation Letters 

Appendix D – Media Coverage 

Appendix E – Consultation Boards  

 

 

 
 
 

 

  

P
age 105



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

4 
 

TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN – 
STATEMENT OF CONSULTATION  

 
1. Introduction  
Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) have commissioned BDP to build on the Two 
Waters Strategic Framework (November, 2015) and prepare the Two Waters 
Masterplan. The Masterplan will inform emerging planning policy including the 
content of Dacorum’s new Local Plan and guide future development in Two 
Waters.  

Pursuant to Section 12.A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) (as Amended) Regulations 2012 and in accordance with DBC’s 
Statement of Community Involvement (June, 2006), this Consultation Statement 
provides an overview of the consultation undertaken during the production of the 
Two Waters Masterplan. 

Extensive consultation has been carried out over recent years in regard to the 
regeneration of Hemel Hempstead Town Centre, including work undertaken as part 
of the Core Strategy (adopted September, 2013) and consultation events related to 
the preparation of the Two Waters Strategic Framework (November, 2015). As a 
result a more focused consultation strategy has been employed, targeting those 
with the most interest in Two Waters and seeking to turn existing consensus into 
action by exploring and developing key messages. 
Following a comprehensive review of the planning and urban design context of 
Two Waters, preliminary consultations were undertaken with key stakeholders 
including landowners and developers - The Box Moor Trust, National Grid/St 
Williams, Network Rail, and Lumiere Developments. These initial consultations 
assisted in the development of the findings of the Two Waters Strategic Framework 
(November, 2015), and helped to identify key development sites within the 
masterplan area. Two public consultation events were then held in November 2016 

to present the initial masterplan concepts, with representatives of DBC and BDP 
present to answer any questions posed by the public. Consultation boards 
presenting the masterplan concepts were available online following the events, 
allowing the public to respond to the initial findings until 18th November 2016. In 
addition to the public consultations, a steering group consisting of representatives 
from Dacorum Borough Council, Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) and BDP met 
on two occasions to discuss the progress of the masterplan including design 
development, viability and stakeholder engagement.  This report presents the 
results of the consultations and stakeholder discussions to date in eight sections. 
Section 2 contains the main findings of relevance from previous consultation 
events related to the Two Waters Strategic Framework (November, 2015). Section 
3 provides an overview of initial stakeholder discussions. Section 4 provides an 
overview of the Two Waters Round 1 Consultation. Section 5 presents the data 
gathered by the consultation questionnaire in a visual format to summarise the key 
quantitative findings. Section 6 highlights the key themes and responses to the 
consultation. Section 7 summarises the written responses and comments received 
during this round of consultation and provides Dacorum Borough Council's 
response on how these will be addressed. Section 8 provides a short conclusion 
and further steps for the development of the Masterplan.  
  

P
age 106



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

5 
 

2. Previous Consultations  
The initial stage of this project included a review of the feedback received at the 
consultation events which were organised by Feria Urbanism during the 
development of the Two Waters Strategic Framework (November, 2015). The 
consultation was held in early 2015 and included two participatory workshops with 
significant stakeholder involvement facilitated by Feria Urbanism. The results of 
this consultation are available in a separate report on Dacorum’s website. In 
analysing the consultation results, BDP were able to identify the key messages and 
take a critical view of how these could be built on for Two Waters. The main 
challenges of relevance to the Two Waters Masterplan are set out below: 

• Peak-time traffic congestion 

• Development pressure 

• Architectural quality 

• Housing 

• Car parking 

• Sense of community 

• Sense of identity 

• Off-peak traffic congestion 

• Pressure on rail services 

• Well-connected cycle network 

Analysis of the above consultation results alongside the overarching principles 
from the Strategic Framework, enabled BDP to develop initial masterplan concepts 
highlighting the key opportunities and constraints for Two Waters. The information 
has supported the progression of the masterplan, and public consultation remains 
a key aspect of the masterplan development. Further information on the Strategic 
Framework consultation events is available on the Dacorum Borough Council 

Website.  
 

3. Stakeholder Discussions 

Prior to the public consultations, BDP undertook engagement with the following key 
stakeholders due to their role as major land owners, developers and rail providers 
in the masterplan area: 

• The Box Moor Trust; 

• National Grid and their developer St William; 

• Network Rail;  

• London Midland; and  

• Lumiere Developments  

The key stakeholders were contacted in July introducing the masterplan process 
and providing contact details for further information or comments. Following this, 
BDP held one-to-one discussions with key stakeholders between 18th July and 1st 
September 2016 to consider aspirations, opportunities and constraints for 
individual sites. The key messages gathered through consultation are summarised 
in the following section. Please note that these are the key messages from the 
stakeholders consulted and do not necessarily represent the view of Dacorum 
Borough Council.  

 
Network Rail 

• London Midland are the current holder of the franchise, although a new 
franchise period starts April 2017.  

• According to Network Rail (NR) Hemel Hempstead Station and Apsley 
Station both operate within projected capacities to at least 2026. As such, 
there is no operational need to redevelop either station. The central 
station proposed in the Strategic Framework is interesting but not a 
priority for NR. NR do not wish to rule it out but acknowledged it would not 
happen in the near future.  

P
age 107

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/regeneration
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/regeneration


TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

6 
 

• There are significant difficulties in closing stations, adding further 
complexities to the consolidation of Apsley and Hemel Hempstead 
Stations into a central station.  

• Greatest issue at Hemel Hempstead Station is the poor access 
arrangements and drop-off / set down area. The public realm needs to be 
improved and reconfigured to provide an environment which is easier to 
navigate.  

• NR support third party improvements to the Hemel Hempstead Station 
and the surrounding landholdings as part of a comprehensive 
development.  

• NR in addition to London Midland have been approached by a third party 
developer Lumiere Developments regarding comprehensive residential-
led development of the wider site, including a new station building with 
over station development.  

• NR stated that there are a number of access points at Hemel Hempstead 
Station, which have to be safeguarded or reprovided as part of any new 
development.  

• NR expressed a preference for a new station building to be clearly legible 
from London Road and not hidden behind new development. 

 

National Grid  

• National Grid (NG) has entered into a joint venture partner agreement 
with St. William, part of the Berkley Group of companies who specialise in 
building homes and neighbourhoods, to explore options for the 
development of National Grid’s London Road site, with the aim of 
submitting a planning application in outline or full in 2017.  

• London Road site has significant infrastructure and remediation 
constraints, including contaminated land across the whole site and the 
need to relocate gas infrastructure with a land take of approximately 1.5 
acres, including easements and paddy zones.  

• There is an existing Public Right of Way bisecting the site, connecting 
London Road to a pedestrian bridge crossing the rail track to the south. 

• Level differences across the site create significant challenges but also 
create opportunities to accommodate a greater quantum of development 
through undercroft or basement levels and reduce visual impacts. 

• NG/St. William have previously engaged with DBC regarding a low 
density residential development including approximately 200 units.  

• NG/St. William are undertaking further capacity modelling to look at a 
higher density scheme, comprising approximately 350 to 400 units (1, 2 
and 3 beds) within blocks between five to eight storeys in height.  

• Due to significant site constraints and associated costs, one of the 
greatest issues with developing the site is viability.  

• Due to viability issues current schemes being explored deliver 0% 
affordable housing. 

 

Box Moor Trust  
• Expressed overall support for development of Two Waters but 

acknowledged a balance needs to be struck between conserving the area 
and attracting more visitors and residents to the area.  

• Special effort needs to be made to safeguard the character of the Moors 
in the face of increased footfall and pressure from surrounding 
development.  

• There is significant potential to bring forward some of the Trust’s 
landholdings in the masterplan area.   

• As freeholders the Trust, acknowledge that the existing B&Q building is 
an ‘eye sore’ and has significant potential to improve its relationship with 
the surrounding area.  

• The Trust own also the freehold of eight semi-detached residential 
properties aligning the south side of London Road. They acknowledged 
the potential for higher density, higher quality development on this site. 
They will be happy to enter into an agreement with National Grid for the 

P
age 108



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

7 
 

properties to be included in a wider area redevelopment or bring them 
forward as a separate development on their own.  

• The Trust expressed the need for development contributions to support 
the maintenance and additional infrastructure costs for the open space 
itself given the projected increase in population that will be using it. 

 

4. Two Waters Consultation Overview 

Public consultations on initial understanding and principles took place on the 4th & 
5th November 2016. The consultation events were publicised in the local 
newspaper and advertised on noticeboards in the sports centre, public libraries, 
schools, community centres, train stations and supermarkets in the local area. 
Letters were also sent inviting all councillors, stakeholders, statutory consultees 
and local businesses to attend the public consultation and provide comments on 
the proposals. The consultation consisted of the following events: 

Public Consultation Event 1 – 4-8pm Friday 4th November 2016 

This event, held in Aspley Community Centre, allowed the public to view the 
consultation boards and provide feedback on the initial masterplan concepts. More 
than 35 people attended the event including residents, councillors, local 
businesses and land owners.  

Public Consultation Event 2 – 11-3pm Saturday 5th November 2016 

This event was held at St John’s Church, Boxmoor, and was attended by more 
than 70 people. The majority of the people attending this event were local 
residents. A number of individual queries were raised throughout the course of the 
event, particularly in relation to traffic and building heights. 

Online Responses  

After the consultation events, the consultation boards and questionnaire were 
made available online for two weeks from 4th November to 18th November on the 

DBC Website. The boards provided an overview of the initial ideas for the Two 
Waters Masterplan vision, objectives, key sites and key design principles.  

The public were encouraged to comment on the proposals online until Friday 18th 
November 2016. Due to an error in the newspapers we also accepted further 
comments from 24th November to 28th November. The Consultation Boards are 
included in full in Appendix E of this report. 

Questionnaire 

A questionnaire covering the key topics of the consultation boards was available at 
the drop-in events and online. DBC received 190 responses. Further 
correspondence in letter and email format in response to the consultation was also 
received from Historic England, Hertfordshire County Council, The Box Moor Trust, 
St William and local residents. The consultation questionnaire is included in 
Appendix A.  

 
5. Questionnaire Findings 
This section contains the main findings from the questionnaire (refer to Appendix 
A), providing quantitative feedback on the Two Waters Masterplan Round 1 
Consultation. The findings are presented in the form of pie-charts to give a visual 
representation of the data. In response to each question contained in the 
questionnaire, people were given the choice of responses, including: agree, 
disagree and no opinion.  

190 people submitted their views via the questionnaire. These have been analysed 
on the following pages. On many occasions where people have selected ‘no 
opinion’ options they have provided comments that they partially agree or disagree. 

 
 
 

P
age 109



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

8 
 

Question 1 – Do you agree or disagree with the constraints for Two Waters? 
(refer to board 3 of the consultation) 
 

 

 

Overall, the majority of respondents agreed (68.3%) or had no opinion (6%) on the 
constraints identified on the plan. 28.4% disagreed with the constraints. Those who 
agreed commented on the traffic congestion around Hemel Hempstead Station 
and, in particular, the narrow width of the road under the railway bridge. A large 
number of the respondents who disagreed commented on the existing road 
network, traffic congestion and limited parking provision as the principle constraint 

to further development in the area. Based on these results BDP will be looking at 
the area surrounding the railway bridge as an additional constraint. 

 Question 2 –Do you agree or disagree with the opportunities for Two 
Waters?  
(refer to board 3) 

 

 

Overall the majority of people agreed with (49.20%) or had no opinion (8.50%) on 
the opportunities identified on the plan. A number of those who agreed with the 
opportunities commented on the requirement of any future development to respect 
the existing character of Two Waters. Many of the people who disagreed were 
concerned about the intensification of development that will lead to further traffic 

68.30%

28.40%

6.00%

Agree Disagree No Opinion

49.20%

42.40%

8.50%

Agree Disagree No Opinion

P
age 110



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

9 
 

issues. Based on these results, no changes to the opportunities are proposed but 
specific actions to mitigate the impact of traffic will be required. 

Question 3 – Do you agree or disagree with the proposed vision for Two 
Waters? (refer to board 4) 

 
 

 
 
A higher proportion of people who filled in the questionnaire disagreed (47%) than 
agreed (44.20%) with the vision statement. A large number of those who disagreed 
with the vision expressed general concern around the intensification of the 
population density, and the impact that this may have on traffic and other issues. 
Many of the respondents who agreed also commented on the importance of a 

comprehensive movement network. Based on these results no changes to the 
vision are proposed, however, further clarification of the movement network is 
required.  

Question 4 - Do you agree or disagree with the following masterplan 
objectives? 

(refer to board 4) 

(i) Provide a sustainable mix of land uses 

 
Overall the majority of people agreed with (55.30%) or had no opinion (8.90%) on 
the masterplan objective for the area to include a sustainable mix of land uses. 
Those who agreed, welcomed the idea of development that complemented the 
existing character of Two Waters, and a large number of those who disagreed 
expressed concern around the development of tall buildings. Based on these 

44.20%

47.00%

9.90%

Agree Disagree No Opinion

55.30%
35.80%

8.90%

Agree Disagree No Opinion

P
age 111



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

10 
 

results no change to this objective is proposed, however, the Masterplan will define 

maximum building heights across the Two Waters area.  
 

(ii) Complement neighbouring centres 

 

Overall the majority of people agreed with (57.50%) or had no opinion (11.70%) on 
the objective for the area to complement neighbouring centres. Those who agreed, 
commented on the requirement for any new development to be in-keeping with the 
existing character of the area. A large number of respondents who disagreed, 
expressed concern over the development of tall buildings and the impact that this 
may have on the provision of low density family homes. Based on these results no 
change to this objective is proposed however, as stated above, the Masterplan will 
define maximum building heights across the Two Waters area.  

 

 

(iii) Respect the identity of Two Waters’ character areas 

 

Overall the majority of people agreed with (72.60%) or had no opinion (7.30%) on 
the objective for development to respect the identity of Two Waters’ character 
areas. Further comments identified the housing development at the junction of 
Roughdown Road and London Road as exemplary residential development that is 
in-keeping with Two Waters’ character areas. Those who disagreed, expressed 
concerns that to complement the existing character would enable tall buildings 
such as the Kodak Tower to be built. Based on these results no change to this 
objective is proposed however, as stated above, the Masterplan will define 
maximum building heights across the Two Waters area.  

57.50%
30.70%

11.70%

Agree Disagree No Opinion

72.60%

20.10%

7.30%

Agree Disagree No Opinion

P
age 112



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

11 
 

 

 

(iv) Open up and enhance a network of natural assets  

 

 

 

Overall the majority of people agreed with (68%) or had no opinion (9.60%) on the 
objective to open up and enhance a network of natural assets. Respondents who 
agreed commented on the need to strike a balance between preserving the 
existing green assets and providing suitable housing for future generations. Those 
who disagreed raised concerns that the potential enhancement of the moors and 
waterways would conflict with their preservation. Based on these results no change 

to this objective is proposed, however, BDP and DBC continue to work with The 
Box Moor Trust as landowners to understand their aspirations for specific sites. 

(v) Enhance and better reveal Two Waters’ heritage and landmarks 

 

 

 

Overall the majority of people agreed with (70.60%) or had no opinion (9.40%) on 
the objective for the development to enhance and better reveal Two Waters’ 
heritage and landmarks. Those who agreed, commented on the importance of any 
new development to be sympathetic to the existing character of Two Waters, and 
those who disagreed expressed concern around the development of tall buildings. 
Based on these results no change to this objective is proposed, however, as stated 

68.00%

22.50%

9.60%

Agree Disagree No Opinion

70.60%

20.00%

9.40%

Agree Disagree No Opinion

P
age 113



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

12 
 

above, the Masterplan will define maximum building heights across the Two 
Waters area. 

(vi) Ensure a deliverable masterplan  

 

 

Overall the majority of people agreed with (64.40%) or had no opinion (9%) on the 
objective to ensure the Masterplan is deliverable. A number of respondents who 
agreed commented on the requirement of the Masterplan to give priority to existing 
issues, such as traffic congestion. Those who disagreed expressed concern over 
the deliverability of the initial concepts of the masterplan, with particular comments 
on high density residential and the proposed movement network. Based on these 

results no change to this objective is proposed, however, specific actions to 
mitigate the impact of traffic will be required.  

 

 

(vii) Create and connect destinations 

 

 

Overall the majority of people agreed with (55.70%) or had no opinion (11.40%) on 
the objective to create and connect destinations within the area. A number of those 
who agreed commented on the need to implement a comprehensive movement 
network. Those who disagreed expressed concerns over the impact that new 

55.70%33.00%

11.40%

Agree Disagree No Opinion

64.40%

26.60%

9%

Agree Disagree No Opinion

P
age 114



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

13 
 

development may have on the preservation of Two Waters’ natural assets. Based 
on these results, no change to this objective is proposed. 

 

 

 

(viii) Ensure existing and new development work together 

 

 

 

Overall the majority of people agreed with (67.20%) or had no opinion (8.50%) on 
the objective to ensure existing and new developments work together. Those who 
agreed, commented on the significance of preserving the existing character of Two 
Waters, and those who disagreed expressed concern over the potential for tall 
buildings in the Masterplan area. Based on these results no change to this 
objective is proposed, however, as stated above, the Masterplan will define 
maximum building heights across the Two Waters area. 

 

Question 5 – Overall do you agree or disagree with the land use principles 
identified on board 5? 

(refer to board 5) 

 

44.90%

48.90%

6.30%

Agree Disagree No Opinion

67.20%

24.30%

8.50%

Agree Disagree No Opinion

P
age 115



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

14 
 

A higher proportion of the respondents disagreed (48.90%), than agreed (44.90%) 
with the land use principles. Those who agreed were in favour of maintaining the 
rural ambience of the canal and green spaces. Respondents who disagreed 
expressed concern over the increase in traffic that would be generated by 
additional residential and mixed use development. Based on these results no 
changes to the land use principles are proposed, however, specific actions to 
mitigate the impact of traffic will be required. 

 

Question 6 – Overall do you agree or disagree with the design principles on 
board 6? 

(refer to board 6) 

 

Overall the majority of people disagreed (60.80%) with the design principles for the 
masterplan, whilst 36.50% agreed. A large number of the respondents who agreed 
commented on the requirement for a maximum building height across the 
Masterplan. Those who disagreed with the design principles also expressed 
concern for building heights and the impact that further development might have on 
traffic congestion. Based on these responses the design principles will be 
reviewed.  

 

Question 7 – Overall do you agree or disagree with the open space and 
sustainability principles identified on board 7?  

(refer to board 7) 

 

36.50%

60.80%

2.80%

Agree Disagree No Opinion

67.40%

21.30%

11.20%

Agree Disagree No Opinion

P
age 116



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

15 
 

Overall the majority of people agreed with (67.40%) or had no opinion (11.20%) on 
the principles for open space and sustainability. Those who agreed commented on 
the required upgrade to the canal towpath which would provide greater access to 
the waterway. Those who disagreed expressed concern for the preservation of 
Two Waters’ open spaces. Based on these results no changes to the open space 
and sustainability principles are proposed, however, BDP and DBC continue to 
work with The Box Moor Trust as landowners to understand their aspirations for 
particular sites within the Masterplan.  

Question 8 – Overall do you agree or disagree with the transport and 
movement principles identified on board 8? 

(refer to board 8) 

 

Overall a higher proportion of respondents disagreed (52.30%) than agreed 
(42.50%) with the transport and movement principles. Those who agreed 
commented on the need for dedicated cycle lanes and more frequent public 
transport services. Those who disagreed were largely concerned with the existing 
issues of traffic congestion and parking. Based on these results, specific actions to 
mitigate the impact of traffic will be required.  

 

 

Question 9 – Do you agree or disagree with the boundaries of the key sites 
identified on board 9? 
 
(refer to board 9) 

42.50%

52.30%

5.20%

Agree Disagree No Opinion

P
age 117



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

16 
 

 

 

Overall the majority of people agreed with (44.10%) or had no opinion (18.40%) on 
the boundaries of the key sites. A number of the respondents who agreed with the 
boundaries of the sites commented on the need to further define the type of 
development that is suitable for each area. Site 3 raised the most concern for those 
respondents who disagreed due its location on the Box Moor. Based on these 
results, the boundaries and approach to Site 3 requires further consideration.   

 

 

6. Key Consultation Themes and Council Responses   
The key messages to emerge from the consultation and the Dacorum Borough Council proposed responses are provided below. 

KEY MESSAGE  COUNCIL RESPONSES AND PROPOSED CHANGES 

1. Scale and Density of Development 

A large number of respondents agreed that development should build on the existing 
character and scale of the surrounding area. Respondents expressed support for 
development that includes more family orientated residential development of 2 to 3 
storeys in height, including social housing and designs that are in-keeping with 
existing development. Further comments identified the housing development at the 
junction of Roughdown Road and London Road as exemplary residential 

  

Scale and density of development will be examined in further detail at the next stage 
of developing the Masterplan. 

44.10%

37.40%

18.40%

Agree Disagree No Opinion

P
age 118



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

17 
 

KEY MESSAGE  COUNCIL RESPONSES AND PROPOSED CHANGES 

development that is in-keeping with Two Waters’ character areas. 

Respondents were generally opposed to higher scale and density, with support 
provided for low scale residential development of a maximum 4 or 5 storeys in 
height. Where respondents agreed with suitable locations for taller buildings a 
maximum of 12 storeys was mentioned. 

 

2. Key Development Sites 

Site 1: Hemel Hempstead Station 

Respondents expressed support for general redevelopment of the Hemel 
Hempstead Station to include amenities, services and further parking facilities. 
However, residents raised concerns for the medium-to-high scale density of the 
proposed residential development at Site 1 as the raised topography of the area 
would further increase the height of the buildings. Some respondents questioned the 
area as appropriate for taller buildings. 

 

Site 2: London Road 

Respondents supported the redevelopment of this site but were concerned that it 
would increase the traffic congestion and exacerbate the already poor parking 
situation. Respondents were also opposed to medium-to-high density residential in 
the London Road area due to the impacts on traffic. 

 

St William, part of the Berkley Group of companies who specialise in building homes 
and neighbourhoods, would like to see a more bespoke approach to heights and 
density applied to the site, but consider the indicated land uses and reference to 
existing character too prescriptive.  

There is a very high housing need within Dacorum – indicated by a current assessed 
‘objectively assessed need’ (OAN) figure of 756 homes per annum (17,388 over the 
2013-2036 period). Two Waters is an important strategic location and has the 
potential to accommodate new development that promotes a sustainable mix of land 
uses. Detailed design principles on how this area should be developed will be 
defined in the Masterplan, with particular regard for maximum building height 
restrictions. Comprehensive transport and movement principles will specify actions 
to mitigate the impact of population increase on the issues of traffic congestion and 
parking within the Masterplan area.  

 

 

DBC are working with BDP on specific actions to mitigate the impact of traffic 
congestion and parking within the Masterplan area.  

 

 

 

St William to arrange Pre-App meeting with DBC. 

 

 

P
age 119



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

18 
 

KEY MESSAGE  COUNCIL RESPONSES AND PROPOSED CHANGES 

 

Site 3 

A large number of respondents commented that Site 3 on the Box Moor should be 
maintained as public open space, or as an enhanced east-to-west connection for the 
open green space on either side of Two Waters Road. Some respondents (3.15%) 
made specific comments in support of low scale residential development at this site, 
whilst others (4.2%) expressed opposition.  

 

Site 4 

Respondents supported the proposals for improvement to the Corner Hall site. 
However, in relation to the proposed primary school on this site concerns were 
raised as to the safety of the pedestrian environment and the impact that a school 
may have on traffic in the area.  

 

 

 

DBC and BDP are working with The Box Moor Trust as the landowner of the site to 
ensure that a balance is struck between conserving the area and attracting more 
visitors and residents. The Trust’s aspirations for the land will be discussed in further 
detail at the next stage of Masterplan development.   

 

 

The intention is to locate the school closer to existing and new homes, and as such 
the current proposed site alongside alternatives will be explored in greater detail in 
the next stage of the Masterplan development.  

 

3. Transport and Parking 

Congestion 

Popular view that London Road faces heavy congestion at peak times, in particular 
on Saturdays. Car parking on London Road and on the surrounding roads reduces 
road capacity, resulting in grid-lock throughout the area. There is strong support for a 
comprehensive transport plan to address the existing high volume of traffic.  

There is also concern that any further development, particularly where high density 
is suggested around Hemel Hempstead Station, would result in further traffic flow 
issues. 

 

DBC are working with Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) to assess the potential for 
a more holistic approach to transport – this will be embedded within HCC’s 
forthcoming Growth and Transport Plan for South West Hertfordshire.  Potential 
measures such as intermodal interchanges on the M1 and M25, additional bus 
routes serving Hemel Hempstead, increased frequencies of existing bus services 
and an improved cycle network are being considered that are intended to reduce car 
use and promote alternatives.  The masterplan could have a role in delivering 
elements of these proposals as well as more localised improvements to address 
specific problems and congestion ‘hotspots’.  Whilst it will not be possible for this 
masterplan to fully resolve the area’s transport issues it should make a positive 
contribution overall to existing conditions for all modes of travel. The safeguarding of 
land that may be required for future improvements or for development mitigation 
should also be considered in more detail at the next stage of the Masterplan 
development. 

P
age 120



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

19 
 

KEY MESSAGE  COUNCIL RESPONSES AND PROPOSED CHANGES 

 

Pedestrian and Cycle Network 

A number of respondents commented on the need for separated cycle and 
pedestrian routes into the town centre, an improvement to the Grand Union Canal 
towpath was suggested as a potential opportunity for this. 

Public Transport 

Some respondents commented that the frequency of the existing public transport 
services from the rail stations to the town centre could be increased. Further 
concerns were raised on the lack of public transport serving routes to other 
surrounding areas such as Chaulden.  

Parking 

A large number of respondents commented on the lack of parking facilities in the 
area, and as stated above, respondents raised concern over the negative impact 
that this currently has on the existing roads in the area, in particular the dangerous 
parking on the A4251 London Road.  

Respondents were in support of extra affordable parking facilities at the Hemel 
Hempstead Station. Some respondents also showed support for a park and ride in 
the area.  

Opposition to cultural change 

A large number of respondents expressed concern that an increase in public 
transport and sustainable travel is unrealistic, and a similar number of respondents 
expressed opposition to the idea of car sharing.   

 

 

 

The masterplan will indicate potential walking and cycling routes, making good use 
of the area’s green character and existing links (eg tow path). 

 

 

DBC and BDP are working with HCC to explore the improvement of public transport 
services connecting Two Waters with the surrounding area. This will be discussed in 
further detail at the next stage of the Masterplan development. 

 

Masterplan will follow DBC’s requirement for parking provision for all new 
development but will consider the appropriate parking strategy  for sites closest to 
the rail station.  BDP will also look at additional parking solutions for the Two Waters 

area.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
National Policy has moved towards securing more sustainable outcomes with 
emphasis on minimising the need to travel, reducing car use and encouraging more 
sustainable modes of transport. This is reflected in HCC’s Local Transport Plan 3 
and is a clear theme in the emerging 2050 Hertfordshire Transport Vision.  In the 
medium to long term there are likely to be environmental and social imperatives to 
improving transport opportunities for all and achieving behavioural change in mode 
choice.  Alternative and aspirational transport solutions are to be considered in 

P
age 121



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

20 
 

KEY MESSAGE  COUNCIL RESPONSES AND PROPOSED CHANGES 

further detail at the next stage of Masterplan development, linking to HCC’s Growth 
and Transport plan proposals. 

4. Open Space 

A number of respondents agreed the Grand Union Canal towpath was in need of 
improvement, and that push chair and disabled access were lacking.  

However, a large number of respondents expressed concern at the masterplan’s 
proposals to increase the access to the moors and water ways, and were opposed to 
development in this area that may detract from natural assets.  

Respondents supported the need to address flood risk in the masterplan areas and 
expressed particular concern for flooding at London Road and on the moors 
themselves. 

The Box Moor Trust expressed their support to the wider perspective and confirmed 
their commitment to protect and retain the moor for generations. They also 
suggested potential contributions from developments for the maintenance of the 
open space. 

 

DBC and BDP will be working with The Box Moor Trust as stakeholders on the open 
space strategy for the Masterplan.  

5. Social Infrastructure 

A large number of respondents commented on the need for the Masterplan to 
address the present need for schools, GP surgeries and a new hospital. 
Respondents suggested that there is an existing need for this infrastructure and any 
additional residential development, particularly high density, would put a strain on 
these facilities. 

 

The Masterplan suggests provision of a new school, and as per the response of the 
Hertfordshire County Council, the exact size area will have to be confirmed at a later 
stage. The provision of medical facilities is within the remit of the NHS trust and we 
will continue to work with them. 

 

  

P
age 122



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

21 
 

7. Summary of Respondents’ Comments and the Council’s Responses 
In addition to the table of key messages and Dacorum Borough Council responses provided above, the respondent’s comments are individually summarised in the table below. 
REFERENCE  SUMMARY OF RESPONDENTS COMMENTS THE COUNCIL’S RESPONSE AND NEXT STEPS  

Q1 

Constraints 

• Respondents highlighted railway/road bridge issue. To add the rail bridge as a constraint.  

• Traffic and car parking issues highlighted.  DBC working with Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) and BDP to assess the 
potential for a more holistic approach to transport including intermodal 
interchanges at the M1 and M25, additional bus routes, increased frequency of 
bus services, and dedicated cycle lanes. 

• Air quality concerns. The potential for a more comprehensive public transport network and sustainable 
modes of transport would help to mitigate the impact on air quality. 

Q2 

Opportunities 

• Historic England highlighted the Listed Buildings on the 
Corner Hall site and directly north of the site boundary as 
opportunities. 

Listed buildings to be added to opportunities plan, and Building Heights and 
Heritage Design Principles will respect the significance of their proximity to the 
masterplan area.   

• Respondents highlighted need for improvement of canal 
towpath, particularly in terms of push chair/ disabled 
access. 

Masterplan to include proposals to improve access to waterside including canal 
towpaths.  

• Some respondents highlighted the need for additional bus 
routes that serve areas other than the town centre. 

DBC working with HCC to look at transport options linking Two Waters with the 
surrounding area, including additional bus routes and intermodal interchanges. 

Q3 

Proposed Vision 

 

• Concern that higher density would impact on traffic 
congestion and parking. 

Comprehensive transport and movement principles to specify actions to mitigate 
the impact of population increase on traffic congestion and parking.  

• Concern that high scale and density will not be in-keeping 
with the existing context. 

The scale and density of future development will be examined in further detail at 
the next stage of the Masterplan development. 

Q4 

Masterplan 
Objectives 

• Concern for the impact of new housing density on traffic 
congestion. 

Comprehensive transport and movement principles will specify actions to 
mitigate the impact of population increase on traffic congestion and parking 
within the Masterplan area. DBC and BDP to explore in further detail at the next 
stage of Masterplan development.  

P
age 123



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

22 
 

REFERENCE  SUMMARY OF RESPONDENTS COMMENTS THE COUNCIL’S RESPONSE AND NEXT STEPS  

Q5  

Land Use 
Principles 

• Agree with residential land use, but would like to see more 
affordable housing. 

Masterplan to follow ratios set by DBC for affordable housing in new residential 
developments. 

• Concern for supporting road network. Masterplan to take a more holistic approach to travel, which includes considering 
reconfiguration of the approach roads to Plough roundabout, improving 
sustainable transport network and increasing bus service frequency. 

Q6 

Design Principles 

 

 

 

• Concern for waterside development, would like to see 
moors preserved. 

DBC and BDP are working with The Box Moor Trust to ensure development 
primarily preserves and enhances access to natural assets.  

• Concern raised over inclusion of taller buildings.  The scale and density of future development will be examined in further detail at 
the next stage of the Masterplan development. 

• Traffic and car parking issues highlighted. As stated above, DBC to work with BDP and HCC to create a more holistic 
transport plan and parking strategy.  

Q7 

Open Space and 
Sustainability 
Principles 

• Respondents agreed with sustainable energy opportunities 
enhancement to ecological reserves. However, concern 
raised over development of Box Moor with the general 
desire for preservation of the moors. 

Initial masterplan ideas indicated preservation and enhancement of the natural 
asset of the moors and surrounding waterways as a popular open space for the 
local community. The Masterplan vision will remain sensitive to this, and DBC 
and BDP continue to work with The Box Moor Trust as stakeholder.  

Q8 

Transport and 
Movement 
Principles 

• Overwhelming response in concern raised for the existing 
road network, traffic congestion and parking. 
 
 
 

As stated above, DBC and BDP in conjunction with HCC are looking at 
opportunities for a more holistic approach to travel, including reducing the need 
to travel and promoting credible alternatives to car use.  The masterplan could 
have a role in delivering elements of these wider proposals as well as delivering 
localised improvements to address specific problems and congestion ‘hotspots’.  
 
DBC and BDP are working with HCC to explore the improvement of public 
transport services connecting Hemel Hempstead Station with the surrounding 
area. Additionally, the development of the station will include increased parking 
provision.  Both topics are to be explored in further detail at the next stage of the 
Masterplan development. 
 

P
age 124



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

23 
 

REFERENCE  SUMMARY OF RESPONDENTS COMMENTS THE COUNCIL’S RESPONSE AND NEXT STEPS  

• Respondents commented on the need to increase public 
transport from the Hemel Hempstead Station to the 
surrounding areas.  

DBC and BDP are working with HCC to explore the improvement of public 
transport services connecting Hemel Hempstead Station with the surrounding 
area. Additionally, the development of the station will include increased parking 
provision. Both topics are to be explored in further detail at the next stage of the 
Masterplan development.  

Q9 

Boundaries of Key 
Sites 

• Mixed views of concern for location of development at Site 
3 on the Box Moor. Some respondents would like to see 
the area preserved as existing open space and others 
support low scale housing which is designed sensitively to 
minimise the impact of the views from the surrounding 
moors.  

DBC and BDP are working with The Box Moor Trust as the landowner of the site 
to ensure that a balance is struck between conserving the area and attracting 
more visitors and residents. The Trust’s aspirations for the land will be discussed 
in further detail at the next stage of Masterplan development.   

 

 

8. Conclusion 
This Consultation Statement has presented an overview of the findings from the 
Two Waters Round 1 Consultation. The results will be used to inform the next  
stage of work on the Masterplan which is to develop the design for each of the key  
development sites, and in turn refine the concept of the masterplan. This will  
involve feasibility testing of options for key development sites, including viability 
with GL Hearn and transport with Urban Flow. As part of this next stage, DBC will  
arrange further consultation workshops in early 2017 to explore the key themes to 
be further developed.  

 

 

 

 

P
age 125



TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
      

 

24 
 

APPENDICES 
Appendix A – Consultation Questionnaire 

Appendix B – Consultation Public Notice 

Appendix C – Consultation Letters 

Appendix D – Media Coverage 

Appendix E – Consultation Boards  

 

P
age 126



We want to hear your views about the 
initial ideas for the Two Waters Masterplan.

Thorough research and analysis, including 
discussions with stakeholders and Dacorum 
Borough Council and Hertfordshire County 
Council Officers, BDP has prepared the 
following initial ideas for the Two Waters 
Masterplan Vision, Objectives and Site 
Wide Principles.

TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN

CONSULTATION
RESPONSE FORM

November 2016

KEY SITES 
During the next stage in preparing the masterplan we will 
be working up detailed proposals for each of the key sites 
to identify appropriate and viable capacities and develop 
a set of detailed design guidance to ensure high quality 
developments.

Q9 Do you agree or disagree with the boundaries of the 
key sites identified on board 9?

Agree  □ Disagree  □ No Opinion  □

Key site comments:

Q10 Do you have any other comments about the future 
of Two Waters? Please use this space and any additional 
pages you need.

FUTURE CONSULTATION  
The next round of consultation will comprise of a 
facilitated workshop in the new year. If you want to be 
involved provide your contact information below. 

□  Please tick here if you would like to be invited to the
next event

□  Please tick here if you would like to be informed of
progress

Name:

Email:

Address:

Q6  Overall do you agree or disagree with the design 
principles identified on board 6?

Agree  □ Disagree  □ No Opinion  □ 

Design principles comments: 

Q7  Overall do you agree or disagree with the open 
space and sustainability  principles identified on board 
7?

Agree  □ Disagree  □ No Opinion  □ 

Open space and sustainability principles comments: 

Q8  Overall do you agree or disagree with the transport 
and movement  principles identified on board 8?

Agree  □ Disagree  □ No Opinion  □ 

Transport and movement principles comments: 

APPENDIX A - CONSULTATION QUESTIONNAIRE

P
age 127



Please review the consultation boards online via www.
dacorum.gov.uk/consultation.  Please let us know your 
thoughts from the 4th of November 2016 to the 18th 
November 2016 by filling in this form or alternatively 
you can send an email or a letter with your comments to 
Regeneration@dacorum.gov.uk or by post to: 

The Regeneration Team 
Dacorum Borough Council 
Civic Centre 
Hemel Hempstead 
Hertfordshire 
HP1 1HH 

Following close of the consultation we will be reviewing 
the responses and your views will help to shape the 
masterplan. 

THE VISION FOR TWO WATERS
The proposed vision sets out the overarching aspiration 
for the future of Two Waters. To view the vision in full 
please refer to board 4 of the exhibition panels. 

“Two Waters will become home to thriving well connected 
sustainable neighbourhoods, integrated with high quality 
accessible open space, rivers and Grand Union Canal. 
A clear movement network will enhance connectivity 
through the space and from key movement gateways 
such as the stations and A41 to key focal points including 
the town centre and Maylands Business Park. New high 
quality development will take account of existing context, 
and enhance and respect surrounding neighbourhoods.”

Q3  Do you agree or disagree with the proposed vision 
for Two Waters?
Agree  □ Disagree  □ No Opinion  □

Vision comments:

MASTERPLAN OBJECTIVES
The proposed objectives have been developed to respond 
to the site constraints and opportunities, achieve the 
vision and shape development principles. To view the 
objectives in full, including the explanatory text, please 
refer to board 4 of the exhibition panels. 

Q4  Do you agree or disagree with the following 
masterplan objectives?

Objective 1
Provide a sustainable mix of land uses 
Agree  □ Disagree  □ No Opinion  □ 

Objective 2
Complement neighbouring centres 
Agree  □          Disagree  □ No Opinion  □ 

Objective 3
Respect the identity of Two Waters’ character areas
Agree  □ Disagree  □ No Opinion  □

Objective 4
Open up and enhance a network of natural assets 
Agree  □ Disagree  □ No Opinion  □

Objective 5 
Enhance and better reveal Two Waters’ heritage and 
landmarks 
Agree  □ Disagree  □ No Opinion  □ 

Objective 6 
Ensure a deliverable masterplan 
Agree  □ Disagree  □ No Opinion  □

Objective 7
Create and connect destinations 
Agree  □ Disagree  □ No Opinion  □

Objective 8
Ensure existing and new development work together
Agree  □ Disagree  □ No Opinion  □

Objectives Comments:

SITE WIDE DEVELOPMENT PRINCIPLES
Site wide development principles have been proposed to 
encourage a high quality of development and achieve the 
vision and objectives.  To view the development principles 
in full, please refer to exhibition boards 5 to 8. 

Q5  Overall do you agree or disagree with the land use 
principles identified on board 5?

Agree  □ Disagree  □ No Opinion  □ 

Land use principles comments: 

TWO WATERS CONSTRAINTS AND OPPORTUNITIES 
It is important that the Two Waters Masterplan is based 
on a comprehensive understanding of the constraints and 
opportunities facing Two Waters. To view the constraints 
and opportunities in full refer to board 3 of the exhibition 
panels.  

Q1  Do you agree or disagree with the constraints for 
Two Waters?
Agree  □ Disagree  □ No Opinion  □

Constraints comments:

Q2  Do you agree or disagree with the opportunities for 
Two Waters?
Agree  □ Disagree  □ No Opinion  □

Opportunity comments:

P
age 128



NOTICE OF CONSULTATION ON THE TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN 

Dacorum Borough Council is at the initial stages of preparing a masterplan for 
Two Waters; the area between Apsley Station, the Plough Roundabout and 
Hemel Hempstead Station. This follows on from the adoption of the Two 
Waters Strategic Framework by Cabinet in November 2015.  

The Masterplan will help ensure that development and changes in the area 
including housing, business, open space, transport and community services 
are planned and designed in the best possible way to ensure we have an 
attractive, sustainable and balanced town fit for the future. It is envisaged that 
this Masterplan will be developed firstly as an informal planning statement, 
and will then be adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
supporting the new Dacorum Local Plan.  

You are invited to attend one of our drop-in sessions on: 

 Friday 4 November 4.00pm – 8.00pm, Apsley Community Centre and
 Saturday 5 November 11.00am – 3.00pm, St John’s Church Hall,

Boxmoor

An online questionnaire will also form part of this consultation and will be on 
the Council’s website www.dacorum.gov.uk from 4 November. The closing 
date for comments on this consultation is 18 November. 

Two further consultations are planned for early 2017 comprising a focussed 
workshop for interested parties in January and a 4-6 week online consultation 
on the draft Masterplan document later in the year. 

For more information visit www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration, email 
regeneration@dacorum.gov.uk, call 01442 228000 and ask for Regeneration 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

APPENDIX B - CONSULTATION PUBLIC NOTICE

Page 129

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration


Dear Sir/Madam, 

Consultation on the Two Waters Masterplan 

Dacorum Borough Council is at the initial stages of preparing a masterplan for Two 
Waters; the area between Apsley Station, the Plough Roundabout and Hemel 
Hempstead Station. This follows on from the adoption of the Two Waters Strategic 
Framework by Cabinet in November 2015.  

The Masterplan will help ensure that development and changes in the area 
including housing, business, open space, transport and community services are 
planned and designed in the best possible way to ensure we have an attractive, 
sustainable and balanced town fit for the future. It is envisaged that this Masterplan 
will be developed firstly as an informal planning statement, and will then be 
adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) supporting the new 
Dacorum Borough Local Plan.  

You are invited to attend one of our drop in sessions on: 

 Friday 4 November 4.00pm - 8.00pm, Apsley Community Centre and
 Saturday 5 November 11.00am - 3.00pm, St John’s Church, Boxmoor

An online questionnaire will also form part of this consultation and will be available 
on the Council’s website www.dacorum.gov.uk from 4 November. The closing date 
for comments on this consultation is 18 November.   

Date: 24 October 2016 
Your Ref. 
Our Ref: TW Consultation Nov 2016 
Contact: Regeneration 

Email: Regeneration@dacorum.gov.uk 
Directline: 01442 228000 

Civic Centre 
Marlowes 
Hemel Hempstead 
Hertfordshire 
HP1 1HH 

Telephone: 01442 228000 
www.dacorum.gov.uk 
DX 8804 Hemel Hempstead 
D/deaf callers, Text Relay: 
18001 + 01442 228000

APPENDIX C - CONSULTATION LETTERS

Page 130

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/


Two further consultations are planned for early 2017 comprising a focussed 
workshop for interested parties in January and a 4 – 6 week online consultation on 
the draft Masterplan document later in the year.  

For more information visit www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration, email 
regeneration@dacorum.gov.uk, call 01422 228000 and ask for Regeneration. 

Yours sincerely 

Nathalie Bateman  
Team Leader – Strategic Planning and Regeneration 

Page 131

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration
mailto:regeneration@dacorum.gov.uk


APPENDIX D - MEDIA COVERAGE

Page 132



Please leave your comments here on the post-its provided......

Welcome to the Two Waters Masterplan Public Exhibition. Dacorum Borough Council commissioned 
architecture practice BDP to prepare a masterplan for Two Waters. The masterplan will provide an 
overarching framework to guide the future development of Two Waters. 

This exhibition presents initial ideas for the masterplan vision, objectives and site wide principles, 
and aims to gather feedback to inform the development of the masterplan. 

DBC is aiming to approve the Two Waters Masterplan early in 2017 as a Planning Statement and 
following a review of the Council’s Local Plan, adopt the masterplan as a Supplementary Planning 
Document. Once approved the masterplan will provide strategic and site specific principles to guide 
the design of future development and identify focused improvements for the area as a result of any 
local development.

Box Moor Common

Two Waters Road

 BACKGROUND

• Planning	policy	requires	the	Council	to	significantly	increase	the
delivery	of	housing	in	the	borough.	One	of	the	ways	the	Council	is
aiming	to	meet	housing	targets	is	through	the	redevelopment	of	key
sites	within	Two	Waters.

• Two	Waters	has	been	subject	to	growing	developer	interest.	Without	a
masterplan,	Two	Waters	is	at	risk	of	developing	in	a	piecemeal	fashion,
where	sites	maximise	development	and	fail	to	contribute	positively	to
the	wider	area.

• A	significant	amount	of	work	has	already	been	undertaken	to
understand	how	Two	Waters	functions,	identify	development
opportunities,	and	outline	a	vision	for	the	area.	This	has	included:

	-	The	Two	Waters	Strategic	Framework	(November,	2015)

	-	The	Hemel	Hempstead	Station	Gateway	Feasibility	Study	(December,	
							2010)

					-	Two	Waters	Open	Space	Feasibility	Study	(October,	2010)

• The	Two	Waters	Strategic	Framework	identifies	opportunities	and	a
vision	for	development,	in	addition	to	high	level	principles	to	guide
development	across	the	study	area	as	a	whole.

• The	Two	Waters	Masterplan	now	seeks	to	build	on	the	Framework	in
consultation	with	the	local	community	to	develop	detailed	guidance	on
the	form	of	development.

HOW TO GET INVOLVED

The initial round of consultation is now open from the 4th November to the 18th November 
2016. 

Please review the boards, in hard copy or alternatively online via www.dacorum.gov.uk/
consultation, and fill in a questionnaire to let us know your thoughts. Please return all 
questionnaires via email to: regeneration@dacorum.gov.uk or post to the address below:

The Regeneration Team, Dacorum Borough Council, Civic Centre, Hemel Hempstead, 
Hertfordshire, HP1 1HH 

1Two Waters Masterplan - Introduction 
APPENDIX E- CONSULTATION BOARDS

P
age 133



Please leave your comments here on the post-its provided......

• Located to the south of
Hemel Hempstead, situated
between the stations of Hemel
Hempstead and Apsley, Two
Waters covers an area of
approximately 145 hectares.

• The site is bounded by the
railway mainline from Euston
to the Midlands to the south;
Hemel Hempstead Station in
the west; the north side of the
moors to the north west; Lawn
Lane and Belswains Lane to the
west; and Apsley Station to the
south east.

• A varied mix of land uses
throughout the site, including:
residential, light industrial,
retail, office and community
uses, together with large open
recreational space and working
farmland in the centre.

• High quality open space paired
with a mix of architectural
styles, industrial and retail
uses, plays an important role in
defining the area’s character.

• Network of open green spaces
and waterways, including the
Grand Union Canal the River
Gade and the River Bulbourne,
which create a distinct sense of
place and support ecology.

Two Waters Masterplan Area Boundary

0    100  200         300  400        500m

Avenue of trees on Station MoorFishing lake in the Apsley Triangle River Gade at Heath Park

Playground off Durrants Hill Road

Two Waters Road relationship to the River 
Gade

London Road towards Apsley Station 
Local Centre

Lock 64 on the Grand Union Canal, south 
of Heath Park

National Grid Site 

London Road and Station Road Junction

Horses by the River Bulbourne Station Moor

B&Q on Box Moor Wharf and the canal

Hemel Hempstead Train Station Plough Roundabout Car Wash

KEY SITE CHARACTERISTICS:

2Two Waters Masterplan - The Site 

Kodak Tower, Plough Roundabout

P
age 134



Please leave your comments here on the post-its provided......

KEY
OPPORTUNITIES 

• Barriers, such as roads, which limit pedestrian and cycle movement and
connections to the town centre.

• Car dominated environment, with congestion observed during peak
hours.

• Large employment and retail plots fronting London Road and Two
Waters Road, which do not front onto the street and limit activity.

• Multiple land ownerships within key development sites create
difficulties in bringing forward comprehensive development schemes.

• Mix of potentially conflicting land uses create issues such as noise and
access.

• Mixed building types, ranging from big box retail to grade II* listed late
15th Century residential houses.

• Lack of accessibility to the Box Moor and canal towpaths.

• Poor relationship between buildings and open spaces and waterways.

• Areas within the site located in Flood Zones 2 and 3.

• Noise and air pollution caused by vehicular traffic and the railway lines.

• Existing utilities infrastructure and contamination in parts of the study
area, specifically to the south of London Road will negatively impact the
viability of development.

• Topography of land rising in the south, creates restrictions on the
layout of development and potential for development to appear over
dominate in views.

• Hemel Hempstead and Apsley rail stations are poorly connected to local
services and facilities.

• Air Quality Management Areas indicate localised areas of poor air
quality.

• Strong transport connectivity, creates significant opportunities for
sustainable mixed use development.

• Large amount of developable land located at key development sites.

• Close proximity to Hemel Hempstead town centre and the wide range
of services and facilities on offer.

• Waterways provide an opportunity for walking and cycling routes
alongside the water, and also good opportunity for creating a high
quality waterfront environment.

• High quality open green space creates a valuable natural resource
for recreation and an opportunity to connect to new open spaces
delivered through development.

• An opportunity for London Road to be re-imaged and developed as an
attractive street high quality street.

• The three gateways into the area (east, west and north) could be
enhanced with different characters, to create a distinctive identity for
each one and improve ease of movement.

• Opportunity to improve station facilities including car parking.

• Opportunity to use level differences to create lower ground levels for
parking.

• Opportunity to improve sustainable travel, including pedestrian, cycling,
car sharing and public transport.

It is important that the Two Waters Masterplan is based on a comprehensive 
understanding of the constraints and opportunities facing Two Waters. This 
ensures future development within the study area improves those aspects of 
Two Waters, which are not working well.

This board summarises the most significant constraints and opportunities 
facing Two Waters. 

Do you agree or disagree with the constraints and opportunities below or 
have any suggestions as to what they should include?

KEY
CONSTRAINTS

Two Waters Masterplan - Constraints & Opportunities 3

P
age 135



Please leave your comments here on the post-its provided......

VISION 

The proposed vision sets out the 
overarching aspiration for the future of 
Two Waters: 

“Two Waters will become home to 
thriving well connected sustainable 
neighbourhoods, integrated with high 
quality accessible open space, rivers and 
Grand Union Canal. A clear movement 
network will enhance connectivity through 
the space and from key movement 
gateways such as the stations and A41 to 
key focal points including the town centre 
and Maylands Business Park. New high 
quality development will take account of 
existing context, and enhance and respect 
surrounding neighbourhoods.”

OBJECTIVES

The proposed objectives have been 
developed to respond to the site 
constraints and opportunities, achieve 
the vision and shape development 
principles:

1 Provide a Sustainable Mix of Land Uses 

Increase and diversify housing development, 
whilst ensuring existing viable land uses 
are safeguarded and a sustainable mix of 
employment, retail, service and community 
opportunities are provided to cater for an 
increased population and reduce the need to 
travel. 

3 Respect the Identity of Two Waters’ 
Character Areas

Two Waters benefits from a distinctive 
and unique mix of architectural styles 
and characters. New development should 
respect and complement the existing 
mix, scale and design; and reinforce Two 
Waters’ identity.

4 Open up and Enhance a Network of 
Natural Assets 

New development needs to encourage the use 
of Two Waters’ green open space and water 
ways by improving the quality of and access 
to the moors, the rivers and the Grand Union 
Canal, whilst respecting their ecological and 
agricultural roles and responding to issues of 
flood risk.

5 Enhance and Better Reveal Two 
Waters’ Heritage and Landmarks

Two Waters benefits from a number of 
nationally and locally listed heritage assets, 
and landmarks, including buildings in the 
Corner Hall neighbourhood. These assets 
should be better revealed and treated 
sensitively, to contribute to Two Waters’ sense 
of place.  

8 Ensure Existing and New Development 
Work Together

Guide the development of individual 
development sites to integrate with existing 
and proposed development, and contribute 
to site wide improvements such as roads and 
schools.

6 Ensure a Deliverable Masterplan

Encourage viable and deliverable 
development with an appropriate mix of 
land uses, which avoids adverse impacts on 
the local transport networks.

7 Create and Connect Destinations

Develop a clear and legible sustainable 
movement network, which prioritises 
sustainable modes of travel, enhances the 
public realm and connects and creates new 
attractions. 

2 Complement Neighbouring Centres

Development of Two Waters needs to 
complement the roles of neighbouring centres  
in terms of its retail, commercial and housing 
offer, including Hemel Hempstead town 
centre, Felden, Apsley, Boxmoor, Bennets End 
and Corner Hall.

Ideas for the vision and objectives of the masterplan 
have drawn on the Two Waters Strategic Framework and 
have been refined in response to further analysis and 
stakeholder consultation. 

Do you agree or disagree with the vision and objectives below or have 
any suggestions as to what they should include?

Two Waters Masterplan - Vision & Objectives 4

P
age 136



Please leave your comments here on the post-its provided......

This board sets out the initial ideas 
for the broad distribution of land uses 
across Two Waters. 

Box Moor Common

Residential London Road

Apsley Retail Park

Existing car sales rooms

0    100  200         300  400        500m

• Mixed Uses - deliver mixed use development 
across Two Waters, which includes residential, 
office, employment, retail, school and 
community uses, whilst safeguarding or 
relocating existing viable land uses.

• Accessibility – focus active uses such as retail, 
business, leisure and community uses where 
they are most accessible. 

• Commercial Offer – differentiate Two Waters’ 
commercial offer to complement that of the 
Hemel Hempstead town centre and other local 
centres.

Hemel Hempstead Station Mixed Use

Mixed use development to include 
refurbished or redeveloped station, 
medium to high density residential 
on upper storeys and commercial 
development, with associated retail, 
services and parking. Active frontages 
should be located at ground floor level. Two Waters Mixed Use

 Retained and improved 
mixed use development 
incorporating employment, 
retail, distribution and light 
industrial uses. 

Corner Hall Mixed Use

Existing employment and 
retail development to be 
retained or re-provided at 
ground floor, with residential 
development on upper floors. 
Community uses such as 
a primary school are also 
suitable in or adjacent to this 
location.

London Road Residential

Retained existing residential 
development centred on Roughdown 
Road and Stratford Way, with 
new medium density residential 
development, with supporting 
community, school and retail uses.

  Apsley Centre 

Retail, community, residential and employment 
uses to be retained and improved. Public 
Realm improvements to increase access to the 
Moors, canal and green spaces, and enhance 
the station environment.

Apsley Residential

Retain existing residential development, 
and retail, community and employment 
uses. Enhance area through public realm 
improvements and increased access to 
green spaces, canals, rivers and public 
transport. 

Do you agree or disagree with the principles below or 
have any suggestions as to what they should include?

Two Waters Masterplan - Land Use 5

P
age 137



Please leave your comments here on the post-its provided......

KEY

Do you agree or disagree with the principles below or have 
any suggestions as to what they should include?

This board sets out the initial ideas for 
the site wide design principles. 

6Two Waters Masterplan - Design Principles 

Building Heights 

Taller buildings are most appropriate 
in the most accessible locations in Two 
Waters, namely at Hemel Hempstead 
Station, and Corner Hall fronting the Plough 
Roundabout. Building heights across the 
rest of the study area should be in keeping 
with existing development.

Building Design 

Buildings should be of the highest quality 
and carefully designed to form appropriate 
relationships with existing development. 
Taller buildings should pay particular 
attention to their relationship with open 
spaces and views, and retain a low to 
medium scale at street level by stepping 
back upper floors. 

Mixed Architectural Style

Future development should create visual 
interest through a mix of architectural 
styles, including existing character and 
contemporary design. 

Enhance London Road

Reduce the dominance of cars on London 
Road through an enhanced public realm 
and development, which provides active 
frontages and benefits from the adjacency 
to the Moors. 

Gateways

Gateways should be highlighted specifically 
at the Plough Roundabout, Hemel 
Hempstead Station, Apsley Station and the 
A4251/A414 crossroads. 

Heritage

Development should respect the heritage 
significance of assets, including locally 
and nationally listed buildings, and 
help to enhance and better reveal their 
significance. 

Waterside Development

Development located adjacent to the 
canals and rivers should open up to the 
waterways to create a high quality sense of 
place and amenity.

Topography

Development should carefully consider 
and benefit from the varied topography 
across the study area, this includes using 
changes in levels to accommodate building 
height, and avoid over dominate forms of 
development. 

P
age 138



Please leave your comments here on the post-its provided......

KEY

Box Moor

Development should actively encourage the 
use of and sensitively improve access to the 
moors as the heart of Two Waters. Green links 
should connect Box Moor to future and existing 
development, whilst being sensitive to the various 
roles of the moors as an amenity space, leisure 
space, and working farmland.

Network of Green and Blue Spaces

Create and connect a series of green open spaces, 
supported by high quality public realm, which is 
human in scale and relate well to their context. 
These spaces should also increase access to 
blue infrastructure by improving towpaths and 
providing activities and open spaces to enjoy 
along the two rivers and canal. 

Ecology

Enhance green and blue infrastructure through 
a net increase in trees and planting. There is 
a significant opportunity to provide ecological 
enhancements to the east of Two Waters Road 
and north of London Road.

Flood Risk

Future development should carefully 
consider the risk of flooding, and be 
appropriately designed to reduce 
flood risk, this should include suitable 
mitigation measures such as Sustainable 
Urban Drainage Systems.

Sustainable Energy

Future development should ensure use 
of sustainable sources of heat and energy 
by incorporating technologies such as 
a district combined heat and power 
network.

This board sets out the initial ideas 
for the site wide open space and 
sustainability principles. 

Do you agree or disagree with the principles below or have 
any suggestions as to what they should include?

Two Waters Masterplan - Open Space & Sustainability Principles 

7

P
age 139



Please leave your comments here on the post-its provided......

KEY

Station Road

Plough Roundabout

London Road

Two Waters Way

Pedestrian and Cycle Environment 

Improve pedestrian and cycle conditions 
across the masterplan area through 
improvements including traffic calming  
measures, cycling infrastructure and 
street planting. This should include 
improvements to canal and river towpaths 
to increase access to open green space. 

Parking

Car parking demand should be minimised 
wherever possible with the sharing of 
spaces between different land uses at 
different times of the day and week.

Sustainable Transport Network

Future development should provide localised 
improvements to the highways network and 
reduce the use of single occupany vehicles 
through encouraging car sharing and the use of 
public transport, cycling and walking. 

Travel Plan

Individual developments will be supported by a 
travel plan to encourage sustainable travel such 
as public transport, cycling, walking and car 
sharing.

Public Transport

Deliver an effective public transport priority 
route between Hemel Hempstead Station, the 
town centre and Maylands.

Do you agree or disagree with the principles below or have 
any suggestions as to what they should include?

This board sets out the initial ideas 
for the site wide transport and 
movement principles. 

Two Waters Masterplan - Transport & Movement Principles 

8

P
age 140



Please leave your comments here on the post-its provided......

This board identifies the key development sites, which will be the focus of development within the Two Waters 
Masterplan. The sites have been identified in areas where landowners have expressed an interest in developing their 
site, or there is a strategically important opportunity to provide improve the area through high quality development and 
infrastructure.

SITE 1

SITE 2
SITE 3

SITE 4

What do you think works well and 
what does not work well for each 
of the key sites? 

What type of development would 
you like to see at each of the key 
sites?

During the next stage in preparing 
the masterplan we will be working 
up detailed proposals for each of the 
key sites to identify appropriate and 
viable capacities and develop a set of 
detailed design guidance to ensure 
high quality developments. 

Two Waters Masterplan - Key Sites 

9

P
age 141



Appendix 2: 

Publicity for Round 1 Consultation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 142



Notice of consultation published on Wednesday 2 nd November 2016 in the Gazette

NOTICE OF CONSULTATION ON THE TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN

Dacorum Borough Council is at the initial stages of preparing a masterplan for Two Waters; the area 
between Apsley Station, the Plough Roundabout and Hemel Hempstead Station. This follows on 
from the adoption of the Two Waters Strategic Framework by Cabinet in November 2015. 

The Masterplan will help ensure that development and changes in the area including housing, 
business, open space, transport and community services are planned and designed in the best 
possible way to ensure we have an attractive, sustainable and balanced town fit for the future. It is 
envisaged that this Masterplan will be developed firstly as an informal planning statement, and will 
then be adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) supporting the new Dacorum Local 
Plan. 

You are invited to attend one of our drop-in sessions on:

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

· Friday 4 November 4.00pm – 8.00pm, Apsley Community Centre and 

· Saturday 5 November 11.00am – 3.00pm, St John’s Church Hall, Boxmoor 

An online questionnaire will also form part of this consultation and will be on the Council’s website 
www.dacorum.gov.uk from 4 November. The closing date for comments on this consultation is 18 
November. 

Two further consultations are planned for early 2017 comprising a focussed workshop for interested 
parties in January and a 4-6 week online consultation on the draft Masterplan document later in the 
year. 

For more information visit www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration, email 
regeneration@dacorum.gov.uk, call 01442 228000 and ask for Regeneration

Poster displayed at Community Centres, libraries, Sports Space, noticeboards in the Two Waters 
area and local businesses who agreed to display it in their shop windows (See next page). This 
was also circulated to the local schools and businesses to display/circulate to parents, staff and 
customers (See next page).

Page 143



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

For more information visit www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration 

Email regeneration@dacorum.gov.uk 

Call 01442 228000 and ask for Regeneration 

Two Waters Masterplan Consultation 
Help shape future development 

 

You are invited to attend one of our drop-in  

consultations on: 

Friday 4 November 2016 

4pm – 8pm 

Apsley Community Centre 

Saturday 5 November 2016 

11am – 3pm 

St John’s Church Hall, Boxmoor 

Dacorum Borough 

Council is preparing a 

Masterplan for Two 

Waters; the area 

between Apsley Station, 

the Plough Roundabout 

and Hemel Hempstead 

Station. The masterplan 

will help ensure future 

development is planned 

in the best possible way. 

During the event you will have an opportunity to: 
 

 Feed in to future development in Two Waters 

 Meet Dacorum Borough Council officers and the consultants creating the 
Masterplan 

 

Page 144

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration
mailto:regeneration@dacorum.gov.uk


Press release 

Help shape the future of your town 

Have your say on development around the Two Waters area in Hemel Hempstead. 

Dacorum Borough Council is preparing a masterplan for the area between Apsley Station, the Plough 
Roundabout and Hemel Hempstead Station.  

The masterplan will help ensure future development is planned in the best possible way. 

The council is holding drop in consultation events where residents will have an opportunity to: 

 Feed in to future development in Two Waters 
 Meet Dacorum Borough Council officers and the consultants BDP who are creating the 

masterplan 

Cllr Graham Sutton, Portfolio Holder for Planning and Regeneration said: “In 2015 the Two Waters 
Strategic Framework was created to help guide and create a clear vision for the area.  We are now 
taking this work a step further to create a masterplan for key development sites within the site area 
and development principles for the wider area. We will be holding two public consultation events 
and would like to invite all interested members of the public to attend. Both events will be drop-in 
sessions and the public will have the opportunity to provide input to shape the development of the 
masterplan.” 

The consultations will be held: 

Friday 4 November 2016: 4pm – 8pm at Apsley Community Centre, London Road, Apsley, Hemel 
Hempstead, HP3 9SB. 

Saturday 5 November 2016:  11am – 3pm at St John’s Church Hall, Boxmoor, Station Road, Hemel 
Hempstead, HP1 1JY. 

 An online questionnaire will also form part of this consultation. This questionnaire will be available 

at: www.dacorum.gov.uk from 4 November – 18  November.  

Two further consultations are planned for early 2017, a focussed workshop for interested parties in 

January and a 4-6 week online consultation on the draft masterplan document later in the year.  

 

  

Page 145

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/


Newspaper coverage 

 

 

  

Page 146



 

Page 147



Social Media coverage 

 

 

 

Page 148



Slide played on Hemel Hempstead Town Centre large screen television for two weeks prior to 

consultation events 

 

  

Page 149



Copy of letter to stakeholders including statutory consultees, local businesses and stakeholders 

 

Page 150



Emails to Hemel Hempstead Business Ambassadors 

From: Gary Stringer  

Sent: 25 October 2016 12:04 

Subject: Hemel Hempstead Business Ambassadors - You are invited to attend the Two Waters 

Masterplan Consultation 

Dear Ambassadors 

Help shape the future of your town 

Have your say on development around the Two Waters area in Hemel Hempstead. 

Dacorum Borough Council is preparing a masterplan for the area between Apsley Station, the Plough 

Roundabout and Hemel Hempstead Station.  

The masterplan will help ensure future development is planned in the best possible way. 

The council is holding drop in consultation events where residents will have an opportunity to: 

 Feed in to future development in Two Waters 
 Meet Dacorum Borough Council officers and the consultants BDP who are creating the 

masterplan 

Cllr Graham Sutton, Portfolio Holder for Planning and Regeneration said: “In 2015 the Two Waters 

Strategic Framework was created to help guide and create a clear vision for the area.  We are now 

taking this work a step further to create a masterplan for key development sites within the site area 

and development principles for the wider area. We will be holding two public consultation events 

and would like to invite all interested members of the public to attend. Both events will be drop-in 

sessions and the public will have the opportunity to provide input to shape the development of the 

masterplan.” 

The consultations will be held: 

Friday 4 November 2016: 4pm – 8pm at Apsley Community Centre, London Road, Apsley, Hemel 

Hempstead, HP3 9SB. 

Saturday 5 November 2016:  11am – 3pm at St John’s Church Hall, Boxmoor, Station Road, Hemel 

Hempstead, HP1 1JY. 

An online questionnaire will also form part of this consultation. This questionnaire will be available 

at: www.dacorum.gov.uk from 4 November – 18  November.  

Two further consultations are planned for early 2017, a focussed workshop for interested parties in 

January and a 4-6 week online consultation on the draft masterplan document later in the year. I will 

of course keep you updated on these consultations. 

 

Page 151

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/


The events are drop-in events, so you don’t need to confirm or decline your attendance. If you 

would like any more information, please don’t hesitate to contact me. 

Thanks and best wishes 

Gary 

Gary Stringer 

Place Manager 

Hemel Hempstead Business Ambassadors 

Tel 01442 228808 

 

 

 

Hemel Hempstead – A place you can do business 

 

From: Gary Stringer  

Sent: 31 October 2016 11:02 

Subject: Hemel Hempstead Business Ambassadors - Maw Whitlock, The Great British High Street 

Awards and Two Waters Masterplan 

Dear Ambassadors 

Max Whitlock 

Olympic double gold medallist Max Whitlock entertained crowds in his hometown at an event to 
celebrate his success at the Rio Olympic Games. 

On Wednesday 26th October hundreds of people turned out to see Max perform a routine on Hemel 
Hempstead’s town centre Rainbow Stage. 

Max, who won two gold medals and a bronze at the Rio Olympics, then attended a special meeting 
of Dacorum Borough Council where he was made a Freeman of the Borough of Dacorum in 
recognition of his achievements. 

His performance can be seen at http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-beds-bucks-herts-
37788508 

The Great British High Street Awards 

Page 152

http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-beds-bucks-herts-37788508
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-beds-bucks-herts-37788508
http://www.hhba.work/


A reminder also to vote for Hemel Hempstead in ‘The Great British High Street of the Year Awards 
2016’. You, and your staff can vote every day at the following link. 

http://thegreatbritishhighstreet.co.uk/finalist-town-centre 
 

Hemel Hempstead’s high street has been named alongside Banbury and Blackburn as one of the top 

3 in the ‘best town’ category, out of a record 900 entries across all categories. This in itself is a 

fantastic achievement. Please encourage your staff to vote daily so that Hemel Hempstead can bring 

home this prestigious award.  

Two Waters Masterplan 

You are also invited to attend the Public Consultation on development around the Two Waters area 

in Hemel Hempstead. 

Dacorum Borough Council is preparing a masterplan for the area between Apsley Station, the Plough 

Roundabout and Hemel Hempstead Station.  

The masterplan will help ensure future development is planned in the best possible way. 

The council is holding drop in consultation events where residents will have an opportunity to: 

 Feed in to future development in Two Waters 

 Meet Dacorum Borough Council officers and the consultants BDP who are creating the 
masterplan 

 

The consultations will be held: 

 Friday 4 November 2016: 4pm – 8pm at Apsley Community Centre, London Road, Apsley, 
Hemel Hempstead, HP3 9SB. 

 Saturday 5 November 2016:  11am – 3pm at St John’s Church Hall, Boxmoor, Station Road, 
Hemel Hempstead, HP1 1JY. 
 

An online questionnaire will also form part of this consultation. This questionnaire will be available 

at: www.dacorum.gov.uk from 4 November – 18  November. 

If you’re not already doing so, please follow the Business Ambassadors on Twitter 

@Invest_in_Hemel and on Linked In. Remember to send me your news stories and Press Releases so 

that we can share our great local news. 

Thanks and Best wishes 

Gary Stringer 

Ambassador Place Manager 

Hemel Hempstead Business Ambassadors  

Maylands Business Centre, 10 Redbourn Rd, Hemel Hempstead, HP2 7BA  

Page 153

http://thegreatbritishhighstreet.co.uk/finalist-town-centre
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/


Tel: -01442 228808  

Email: - Gary.Stringer@hhba.work 

  

 

Hemel Hempstead – A place you can do business 

 

  

Page 154

mailto:Gary.Stringer@hhba.work
http://www.hhba.work/


From: Michelle Anderson  

Sent: 20 October 2016 11:41 

To: Councillors Group 

Cc: Member Support Mailbox; Emma Cooper; Shalini Jayasinghe; Nathalie Bateman; James Doe 

Subject: Two Waters Masterplan Consultation  

Dear Members, 

TWO WATERS MASTERPLAN CONSULTATION WITH RESIDENTS 

Following on from the adoption of the Two Waters Strategic Framework by Cabinet in November 2015, we 

have commissioned consultants BDP to develop a masterplan for the Two Waters area.  

Two Waters has recently attracted a lot of attention from developers and investors. The Masterplan will help 

ensure that development  and changes in the area including housing, business, open space, transport and 

community services are planned and designed in the best possible way to ensure we have an attractive, 

sustainable and balanced town fit for the future. It is envisaged that this Masterplan will be developed firstly 

as an informal planning statement, and will then be adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) as 

part of the review of the new Dacorum Local Plan around 2019.  

As part of the development of the Masterplan, the Council, with support from BDP, will be undertaking two 

drop-in public consultation sessions to allow the public the opportunity to feed-in at the initial stages of the 

process: 

 Friday 4
th

 of November at Apsley Community Centre, 4.00pm – 8.00pm; and  

 Saturday 5
th

 of November at St John’s Church, Boxmoor, 11.00am – 3.00pm.  
 
Publicity for these sessions will be going out soon. 

An online questionnaire will also form part of this consultation – this will be available from 4
th

 November – 18
th

 

November.  

Two further consultations are planned for early 2017, a focussed workshop for interested parties in January 

and a 4-6 week online consultation on the draft Masterplan document. The consultation in November will be 

advertised widely next week in the local newspaper, railway stations, local community hubs, noticeboards, 

libraries, schools, neighbourhood networks and social media together with letters to statutory stakeholders.  

I would like to invite you to join us at one or both of the drop-in sessions above on the 4
th

 and 5
th

 of November 

to share your thoughts on the proposals and hope that you will take the opportunity to speak to the public as 

well.  

If you have any queries please do not hesitate to contact me. 

With best wishes,  

James Doe 
Assistant Director – Planning, Development and Regeneration 
Dacorum Borough Council 
Civic Centre 
Marlowes 
Hemel Hempstead 
Hertfordshire 
HP1 1HH 
01442 228583 

Page 155



Email to the Dacorum Online Consultation Panel 

From: Have Your Say  

Sent: 07 November 2016 15:38 

Subject: Dacorum Borough Council's Online Email Group 

 

Dear resident  

A big welcome to all our new members, and a big thanks to existing members for their continued 

participation in the group, as your input helps us make informed decisions. 

Have a couple of things that may be of interest to you this week….. remember there is never any 

obligation to complete any of our consultations. 

Two Waters Masterplan 

Have your say on development around the Two Waters area in Hemel Hempstead.  We are 

preparing a masterplan for the area between Apsley railway station, the Plough roundabout and 

Hemel Hempstead station, which will ensure future development is planned in the best possible 

way.  If this topic appeals to you please complete the survey here .   

Please ignore if this topic is of no interest to you.   If you have any queries about this specific 

consultation, please email emma.cooper@dacorum.gov.uk 

The Great British High Street Award 

Hemel Hempstead has been named as one of the country’s best high streets by being shortlisted in 

the third annual Great British High Street competition. 

After making the top three in the ‘best town centre’ category, it now needs your votes to be 

crowned champion. 

Between now and 18 November you can cast your vote every day for free 

www.thegreatbritishhighstreet.co.uk. 

Many thanks and best wishes Claire,  (p.s. If you would like to be removed from the consultation 

email list, just drop me a line at haveyoursay@dacorum.gov.uk with the email address you originally 

registered with, and I will remove you from the list)  

 

 

  

Page 156

https://www.snapsurveys.com/wh/s.asp?k=147816618490
mailto:emma.cooper@dacorum.gov.uk
http://thegreatbritishhighstreet.co.uk/finalist-town-centre
mailto:haveyoursay@dacorum.gov.uk


Statutory consultees informed of consultation 

Statutory Consultees  

DBC Members 

Highways England 

National Health Service Executive (NHSE) 

Natural England Consultation Service 

Network Rail 

Hertfordshire County Council 

Aylesbury Vale District Council 

Bedford Borough Council 

Broxbourne Borough Council 

Bucks County Council 

Canal & River Trust 

Chiltern District Council 

East of England Strategic Health Authority 

Environment Agency 

Hertfordshire Constabulary 

Hertfordshire County Council 

Hertfordshire County Council 

Hertfordshire County Council, Hertfordshire Property 

Hertfordshire Highways (HCC) 

Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership 

Herts Valley Clinical Commissioning Group 

Hertsmere Borough Council 

Historic England 

Luton Borough Council 

Milton Keynes Council 

National Grid 

National Health Service Executive (NHSE) 

Network Rail 

North Hertfordshire District Council 

Sport England 

St Albans City & District Council 

Stevenage Borough Council 

Three 

Vodafone and O2 

Watford Borough Council 

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Berkhamsted Town Council 

Bovingdon Parish Council 

Chipperfield Parish Council 

Flamstead Parish Council 

Kings Langley Parish Council 

Little Gaddesden Parish Council 

Page 157



Markyate Parish Council 

Nash Mills Parish Council 

Nettleden & Potten End Parish Council 

Tring Town Council 

Wigginton Parish Council 

 
Local businesses that were sent a letter about the consultation 

Name of business  

Eckoh 

Eurocolour  

HSS Hire  

Discount Tyres and Exhaust Centre  

Topps Tiles  

Sallys  

Ats Euromaster  

Arriva The Shires 

Arriva The Shires 

Pets at Home  

Staples  

Halfords  

Mcdonalds  

David Lindon and Co  

The Nutz Cutz  

Unicorn Dry Cleaners 

Hemel Copy Print Ltd 

Mr Clutch 

Dragon Fireplaces 

Clements Estate Agents  

IQ Plus  

Lincoln House Surgery  

Apsley Dental Practice 

Hemel Chiropractor Clinic  

London Road Dental Practice 

Bond Link  

The Oddfellow Arms  

Utopia Signs 

Apsley Tyres  

A.G Hipgrave Ltd 

AG Hipgrave  

CML Kitchens  

Kingfisher tapes  

Bourne End Motor Services  

K2 Balti House 

Brayley Honda 

Page 158



STS Tyre Pros 

Aldi UK 

Anthony Betts Motor Group 

The Mallard, Harvester 

Tow B Fab  

Max Powder 

Apsley Tyres  

Apsley Controls Limited  

Industrial Floorcare Machines (UK) 

Janitorial Warehouse Ltd 

Clean Well Pressure Washers Ltd 

Mechanix Direct  

Sainsburys 

Shell Garage 

Dunelm  

Apsley Motor Spares  

Apple Tanning Studios 

Gade Insurance Services  

Apsley Chinese 

River Spice 

Bottle n Basket  

Carpet Master  

air salon 

Apsley Fish and Chips 

Highclere Financial Service 

The White Lion  

Maples Flowers 

My body Centre 

Classic Tattoo 

Coral 

Kendale Blinds 

The Spotted Bull 

The Party Shop 

Libritz Stamp Shop 

Stepping Out  

Memorials of Distinction 

Shaggy and Chic  

Apsley News  

Apsley Café  

Forward Finance 

Raja Tandoori 

Micheals Barbers 

Four Hairs Design  

Lemongrass 

Effeler  

Page 159



Bourne Leisure  

FFEI 

Frasers 

Furnell Transport  

Hightown HA  

Satelite Creative 

Sopra Steria 

Abode Bed and Continental 

Regency Homes Ltd 

My Mustard 

Kings Langley School  

Indigo Tree 

Barclays 

Eurotech Services 

Synergy 

MRK Associates 

Hemel Gazette 

Hopespare 

Gyron Internet Ltd 

Henkel 

Brasier Freeth 

JE2 

Aubrey Park Hotel 

Lumiere Developments 

Martin Brower 

Machins Solicitors 

Lumina Solicitors 

Lumina Technologies Ltd 

EIC Insurance 

Mediation Hertfordshire  

West Herts College  

Ashridge Business School  

Hospice of St Francis  

Cobham Consulting  

Marlowes Shopping Centre  

Barnard and Co Employment Solutions 

Golden Bites  

Mari Thomas  

People Building Ltd  

Pitch Events  

Spirit of the Old Town 

Sherry Hostler Cake Artistry 

Underwoods Solicitors  

McDonalds 

 

Page 160



Appendix 3: 

Consultation Report Round 2 Consultation 

Workshops. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 161



Two Waters Masterplan Consultation Report 
Thursday 26 January 2017 
  

  
 
 
 
 
 
   
 

P
age 162



 1 

Executive summary  

 
Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) has commissioned landscape architects BDP to prepare a Masterplan to guide future development in the Two 
Waters area. An initial public consultation was held in November 2016, followed by a second round in January 2017. This report outlines the 
results of the second round workshops. 
 
Two workshops were held on 26 January 2017: 27 people attended the morning session and 24 the afternoon session. DBC defined the five key 
themes to be discussed. The workshops were held in a Consultation Café format so that all participants were able to discuss each of the five 
topics. The groups of participants recorded their thoughts and comments on flipcharts. At the end of the workshop, the participants were 
asked to review all the comments on the flipcharts and to prioritise them.  
 
The overwhelming and repeated message was that the residents wanted developments that were designed to complement the surrounding 
buildings. They wanted imaginative designs with the right character to create a village or community feel for the Two Waters development as a 
whole.  
 
It was felt important to consider the views and vistas onto and from the moors. Green space should be protected and access opened up to 
Durrants Lakes. 
 
Congestion was highlighted as a major issue in the area and there was agreement that public transport needs to be improved along with other 
creative solutions to ease the issue. 
 
There was general support for Sites 1 and 2 being used for low to medium rise residential or mixed use with a family focus. Feedback 
emphasised the need to avoid creating dormitory areas with no community facilities. There was mixed opinion on what use should be made of 
Site 3. Site 4 was seen as appropriate for mixed use with taller buildings up to 17 storeys permitted next to the Plough roundabout. 
 
The conclusion of the prioritisation exercise shows that the Masterplan must recognise the importance of providing sustainable transport. All 
groups agreed that excellent public transport links and pedestrian routes were needed to and from the station and town centre. A number of 
the participants were concerned by the existing lack of provision of car parking at the station. The participants also wished to encourage good 
cycle and pedestrian access to the developments. Improvements to the access given by the tow path were also deemed important. 

P
age 163



 2 

Contents 

 
1. Introduction from Dacorum Borough Council 
2. Workshop methodology 
3. Results 

 Summary of results from the Consultation Café exercise and responses from DBC  

 Conclusions recorded on the flip charts 

 Prioritisation exercise 

 In Tray contributions 
 

4. Conclusions 
5. Evaluation form responses 
6. List of participants 

 
Appendices 

A. Submissions to the consultation that were sent by email by people who could not attend the events 
B. Photographs of the Flip Chart “conclusion” sheets generated by the groups 
C. The detail of the prioritisation exercise results 

 
  

P
age 164



 3 

1. Introduction from Dacorum Borough Council 
Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) has commissioned landscape architects BDP to build on the Two Waters Strategic Framework (November 
2015) and prepare a Masterplan for the Two Waters area. The Masterplan will inform emerging planning policy including the content of 
Dacorum’s new Local Plan.  The Masterplan will also guide future development in Two Waters and play an important role to ensure that 
development and changes in the area are planned and designed in the best possible way to ensure we have an attractive, sustainable and 
balanced town, fit for the future. The Masterplan will be developed firstly as an informal planning statement and will then be adopted as a 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) supporting the new Dacorum Local Plan in 2019.  
 
An initial public consultation was held in November 2016 (The report from this consultation is available at www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration) 
and the results informed further development of the masterplan.  
 
This report outlines the results of the second round of public and stakeholder consultation which was undertaken on January 26th 2017 at 
Southhill Centre, Hemel Hempstead. This second round of consultation consulted public and stakeholders further on key issues that emerged 
from the initial public consultation. The aims of the workshop were: 
 

 To seek solutions to address issues identified in the November consultation 

 To develop key design principles outlined in the November consultation 
 
The format of this workshop enabled participants to further explore and inform solutions to the key issues emerging from the initial round of 
consultation held in November 2016 which were: 
 

 Scale and density of development 

 Transport and Parking 

 Open space 

 Social infrastructure 

 Specific issues on the above themes related to specific key development sites 
 

The consultation workshops were facilitated by Midas Training Solutions Ltd, on behalf of Dacorum Borough Council. The report on the 
workshops has been written by Midas Training Solutions Ltd. with input from Dacorum Borough Council.  

P
age 165

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration


 4 

2. Workshop methodology 

 
Two workshops were held on Thursday the 26th of January 2017, each lasting three hours. One took place in the morning between 9am and 12 
noon, the second took place between 1:30pm and 4:30pm. Both workshops followed the same format. Participation at the workshops was 
primarily by invitation only as outlined at the previous round of consultation. Invitations to participate in the workshop were sent out to over 
200 residents and stakeholders who expressed an interest in further participation at the previous November consultation. First preference was 
given to those invited. The event was publicised wider within the last week before the workshop as there were a few extra spaces available. 
These spaces were advertised through local councillors, screens in The Forum and social media. Those who couldn’t attend the workshops but 
wrote to us expressing an interested in participating were also provided with the workshop material and given an opportunity to provide their 
comments within a few days of the workshop.  
 

2.1 Agenda 
 Arrival, registration, tea and coffee 

 Introductions from Midas, Dacorum and BDP 

 Ground Rules for the workshop, explanation of format for the workshop 

 Consultation discussions in groups, using a “Consultation Café” methodology. Every member of the public will have input on each of the 
five Discussion Themes: 
 Creating a ‘sense of place’ for the Two Waters neighbourhood 

 Transport, access and movement  

 Building design and integration  

 Green spaces and countryside 

 Parking 

 Feedback and prioritisation exercise 

 Midas Trainers bring the event to a close with a brief summary of key themes 

 Event ends 
 
There was a brief coffee break approximately half-way through the workshop. 
 

P
age 166



 5 

 
 
 
2.2 Workshop facilitators 
The consultation workshops were facilitated by Midas Training Solutions Ltd, on behalf of Dacorum Borough Council. In addition to the 
facilitators of the workshop, each table had a Table Host and Scribe. Officers with knowledge of the Two Waters Masterplan project acted as 
Table Hosts and Scribes during both workshops. 
 

 
2.3 Workshop format 
Allocation to working groups 
On arrival at the workshop, each person was given a random colour token. This colour allocated them to a group that they would sit with, and 
then work with throughout the session. The colours of the groups were Blue, Green, Orange, Pink and Aqua. There were therefore five groups 
of participants in each workshop, making a total of ten over the whole day. 
 
Consultation Café 
Following brief introductions, the main exercise for the workshop was a “Consultation Café”. During this exercise groups of participants sat at 
circular tables, as you would in a café, discussing a set topic (See section 2.4 Discussion themes). There were five tables, and each table hosted 
a different topic of discussion.  
 
The groups were each given just short of 20 minutes to discuss a topic on a table. They were then asked to spend 5 more minutes recording 
their key conclusions from their discussion on a flip chart. Once this was complete the groups physically moved to the next table, which was 
hosting a different discussion topic.  
 
The only people that stayed at the tables and did not move were the Table Hosts and Scribes. The Hosts and Scribes were officers working on 
the Two Waters Masterplan. The Hosts and Scribes worked to brief the groups, make notes of the discussions, answer questions and 
encourage conversation. When a new group arrived at their table, the Host and Scribe would give a brief review of the conclusions that other 
groups had reached. The group could then quickly endorse any previous conclusions or note their disagreement, or they could explore new 

P
age 167



 6 

ideas that no one had talked about yet. They were also able to use their time to go into more detail and develop a point raised by previous 
groups. 
 
The Scribes were briefed by the Midas facilitators to make notes on the general flow of the conversation and strong feelings expressed by the 
group discussions. They were not verbatim minutes of the discussion but an aid to understanding the overall thrust of the conclusions about 
each theme after the event. 
 
As already mentioned, behind each table was a flip chart so that the conclusions of each discussion could be recorded. Behind that was an 
additional sheet of flip chart paper for the participants to place a Post It Note recording any point they personally felt was particularly 
important regarding the theme under discussion. These additional notes are recorded in this report under the title of ‘Other comments’. They 
were a very useful tool for making sure that any point made by an individual was captured. 
 
It is important to emphasise that the nature of the Consultation Café methodology ensures that every group builds on the discussion held by 
the other groups that have worked on that table beforehand. This meant that every group got to discuss every topic, but also allowed each 
theme to be explored and analysed in depth.   
 
Feedback and prioritisation exercise 
At the end of the Consultation Café discussions, the flip chart conclusion sheets were pinned to display boards at the front of the room. Each 
participant was given three sticky stars. All the participants were encouraged to come to the front of the room and read through the 
conclusions of all the discussions at the different tables. The participants could attach their stars to the conclusions/comments/ideas that they 
personally felt were of greatest importance. They were free to put one star on three different items, or all three on one conclusion if they felt 
that was the key issue for them. 
 
In tray  
In addition to the Consultation Café, participants were made aware of the “In Tray” that was available to them at the sides of the room. This 
was a flip chart sheet where Post It Notes could be placed to record ideas and comments that did not fit into their table discussions but which 
a participant felt needed to be captured. Comments on any topics were welcomed for the In Tray, with an assurance that they would be 
passed to the relevant Council Officer. Some people recorded their name and email address with their In Tray comment. 
 
  

P
age 168



 7 

2.4 Discussion themes 
 
Discussions were based on five important discussion themes which encapsulated the key issues that emerged from the previous consultation 
in November 2016.  Each discussion theme included a few questions to help focus the discussions to be solution oriented and specific.  The 
discussion themes are outlined in the table below. 
 

Theme Background information Key questions 

Creating a ‘sense of place’ 
for the Two Waters 
Neighbourhood 

Areas that are said to have a strong ‘sense of place’ have a 
strong identity and character that is deeply felt by local 
inhabitants and by visitors.  
 
We want to ensure that new development in Two Waters 
creates a good ‘sense of place’ and improves the wider area.  
In order to deliver a positive ‘sense of place’ firstly, the best 
locations for new land uses needs to be established.   
 
The masterplan will set out the framework for delivering 
‘mixed-use’ development (residential and employment) in the 
Two Waters area including residential development, 
employment land (offices and other workspaces), retail and 
commercial uses, education and health, transport infrastructure 
etc.  
 

 What land uses should we consider?  

 What are the best locations for these 
land uses? 

 

 

Transport, Access and 
Movement 

At the last consultation, respondents expressed concern for 
congestion in the area. Dacorum Borough Council is working 
with Hertfordshire County Council to assess the potential for a 
more holistic approach to transport which will be embedded 
within HCC’s forthcoming Growth and Transport Plan for South 
West Hertfordshire. Whilst highways improvements will be 

 How can we improve pedestrian, 
public transport and cycle access and 
movement within Two Waters and to 
the wider town, particularly, to key 
destinations such as the HH railway 
station, the town centre and 

P
age 169



 8 

made where possible, in general, there is a need to reduce the 
dominance of cars on London Road.   
 

Maylands Business Park?   

 How can we reduce congestion and 
improve private vehicular access and 
movement within Two Waters and to 
the wider town? This is particularly 
important in relation to key 
destinations such as the HH railway 
station, the town centre and 
Maylands Business Park. 

 

Parking Two Waters is a neighbourhood with two railway stations. It has 
relatively good public transport links and is within close 
proximity to Hemel Hempstead town centre as well as Apsley 
and other local neighbourhood centres with good retail. We 
think that a proportion of residents are likely to use public 
transport for a majority of their transport needs, with 
occasional car use.  

 How do we reduce the need for car 
parking in the area?  

 How do we manage on-road parking, 
car parks and new parking provisions 
for strategic locations such as the 
railway station? 

  

 

Green spaces and 
countryside 

The Two Waters masterplan area is home to a number of green 
spaces and has good access to local countryside.  

 What do you think are the key green 
spaces in the area that need to be 
protected?  

 How can we promote the use of 
green spaces and wider countryside 
as part of the improvements in Two 
Waters?  

 

Building design and 
integration 
 

Future development should create visual interest through a mix 
of architectural styles. Whilst building heights across most of 
the area should be in keeping with existing development, the 
most accessible locations in Two Waters, namely at Hemel 

 We have here some examples of 
taller/high density development. 
Which examples do you prefer and 
why? 

P
age 170



 9 

Hempstead station and Corner Hall fronting the Plough 
Roundabout have been identified as suitable for taller buildings.  
Taller buildings should pay particular attention to their 
relationship with open spaces and views and retain a low to 
medium scale at street level by stepping back upper floors.  
  
At the last consultation respondents were generally opposed to 
higher scale and density, with support provided for low scale 
residential development of a maximum 4, or 5 storeys in height.  
Where respondents agreed with suitable locations for taller 
buildings a maximum of 12 storeys was mentioned.  
 

 How can tall buildings be integrated 
into the landscape to provide high 
quality development?  

 

 

2.4 Report preparation 
 
The Midas Training Solutions team of facilitators have been responsible for writing the aspects of this report which cover the events, 
methodology, results and conclusions of this workshop. They have also written the summary of the responses to each question and theme.  
 
Dacorum Borough Council has supplied their responses to the conclusions generated by the discussion which took place on each table. These 
can be found in table 3.1.  DBC has also supplied responses to the ‘In-tray’ contributions. These can be found in table 3.4.  
 

P
age 171



 10 

3  Results  
 
3.1 Summary of results from the Consultation Café exercise and responses from DBC 
 
Table 3.1: Summary of results from the Consultation Café exercise and responses from DBC (See figure 3.1 for site boundary and key 
development sites 1 – 4) 

Themes, questions and summary of group answers Response from Dacorum Borough Council 

Theme 1:  Creating a ‘sense of place’ for the 
Two Waters Neighbourhood 
 

Question 1.1: What land uses should we consider?  
 
Mixed use development 
The conclusions from the work on this table demonstrated 
considerable support for mixed use development across the 
Two Waters area. Four of the groups in the morning supported 
this as well as every group in the afternoon.  
 
One group took a slightly different view, preferring to have 
office buildings close to the station with residential areas in the 
rest of the development. 
 
Six groups identified the need for a few small convenience 
shops or a café. These would serve local residents and 
commuters, especially close to the station. 
 
There were a number of conclusions from the groups which 
underlined the need to develop a sense of place and a balanced 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mixed use development and supporting infrastructure 
In accordance with responses, the masterplan will seek to include a 
variety of land uses in each site, including the retention of local retail, 
employment and community uses. As the responses suggest, most of 
the sites are suitable for mixed use development, which reflects the 
existing mix of land uses in Two Waters. Sustainable transport and 
accessibility including links with facilities for pedestrians and cyclists 
will be a key consideration of the masterplan.  
 
Key proposals, guidance and development requirements for each site 
and the wider Two Waters area will be identified in the Masterplan. 
Further feasibility studies will be undertaken for the detailed 
development of wider strategic public infrastructure where needed and 
out of the scope of the masterplan.  
 

P
age 172



 11 

community by building a sympathetic mixed use development.  
This was expressed by three groups as wanting to avoid setting 
up a dormitory situation and to keep a community structure. 
 
Three groups expressed an explicit desire that all new 
development should be family focused.  
 
One group mentioned linking land use with facilities for 
pedestrians and cyclists.  
 
Building heights 
Many groups discussed the height of buildings that would be 
acceptable. For more detailed information in this topic please 
see the results under theme ‘Building design and integration’ 
below.    
 
New school 
As a key part of the infrastructure, participants in the 
consultation were clearly supportive of a new school being built 
within the Two Waters area. Opinion was split as to whether 
the best location for the school would be within Site 2 
(supported by four groups) or within Site 4 (also supported by 
four groups. Two of these groups supported locating the new 
school on the southern edge of Site 4).  
 
Many groups noted a concern at the traffic and congestion 
implications of the school’s location and one group suggested 
that creative options would need to be investigated to manage 
this such as ‘walking schools’. Another group suggested that it 
might be best if the new school was located outside the Two 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
New school 
Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) in partnership with Hertfordshire 
County Council (HCC) is looking at options for providing new school 
places for the proposed new residential development in the area. This 
includes exploring both the feasibility of expanding current schools in 
the area and providing a new school. The masterplan will allow for this 
flexible approach with DBC and HCC looking at the feasibility of 
expanding existing schools and identifying sites both within and/or in 
close proximity to the Two Waters area. DBC note the concerns 
regarding accessibility and traffic congestion. It is acknowledged that 
any proposed location would need the agreement of DBC and 
Hertfordshire County Council and also the size and/or financial 
contribution towards a school. The traffic issue is noted and will require 
further work through the planning application process once the exact 

P
age 173



 12 

Waters area. 
 

 
 
Question 1.2: What are the best locations for these 
land uses? 
There was general support for Sites 1 and 2 being used for low-
rise residential or mixed use (six of the ten groups supported 
this). One group gave a different suggestion for use, proposing 
that Site 1 be used for offices due to its location by the station. 
Six groups identified Sites 1 and 2 as being suitable for a few 
small convenience shops and/or a café to serve local residents 
and commuters. Four groups proposed locating a new school 
within Site 2. 
 
There was some opposition to developing Site 3, with one group 
refusing to propose any development for that Site. There was 
no consensus as to what use should be made of this Site, and a 
very wide range of ideas. 
 
Site 4 also saw a great variety of proposals for use, but with 
more shared agreement. One group suggested a very tall 
building of up to 17 storeys. Four groups suggested that offices 
could take up part of the Site, and two thought that retail could 
be included here.  
 
Four groups suggested that the southern end of Site 4 might be 
appropriate for the location of a primary school, although there 
were some reservations about resulting traffic congestion.  
 

location is confirmed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Feedback and suggestions on land-use will be taken in to consideration 
when developing the Two Waters masterplan. 
 
There is existing planning permission for residential development on a 
section of site 3, which establishes the principle of development in this 
location.  
 
In response to feedback, the masterplan will seek to manage this 
development to ensure it is appropriate to its surroundings whilst 
integrating with and enhancing the surrounding open space and 
managing issues such as noise and flooding.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 174



 13 

One group was particularly concerned that the Masterplan 
should take into account the issues around London Road/Aspley 
High Street.  In these roads, the retail sites are unattractive and 
detract from the visual appeal and character of the area. 
 
There were discussions around the heights of buildings for 
various sites. These results have been summarised within the 
section Theme 5 ‘Building Design and Integration’ below. 
 

Theme 2:  Transport, Access and Movement 
 
Note: There was naturally a lot of overlap in the discussions 
between tables 2 and 3, where parking was being discussed.  
 

Question 1: How can we improve pedestrian, public 
transport and cycle access and movement within Two 
Waters and to the wider town, particularly, to key 
destinations such as the HH railway station, the town 
centre and Maylands Business Park?   
 
Pedestrians, cycle use and paths, and bus links 
The dominant theme on this Table was the need for better cycle 
paths, pedestrian crossings/routes and bus links to reduce the 
number of cars on the road. Almost every one of the ten groups 
talked about these three issues in depth and expressed a desire 
to see them improved.  
 
Improving pedestrian walkways to make it easy and safe for 
people to cross the roads were raised by seven groups. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Cycle paths, pedestrian crossings/routes and bus links 
The masterplan will identify key proposals on how to improve cycle 
paths and pedestrian routes, including crossings and tow paths, in 
addition to sustainable transport improvements including bus links. As 
the Masterplan is a high level strategic document, detailed design of 
these interventions will be developed at the next stage of the 
development process through individual planning applications in 
consultation with DBC and HCC. Cycle hire and other initiatives such as 
creative use of car parks will be explored by DBC in partnership with 

P
age 175



 14 

 
Four groups suggested that a public bicycle hire scheme (like 
‘Boris Bikes’ in London) could be investigated. 
 
Shuttle buses to and from the station and town centre, and the 
creation of a Park and Ride system, were very popular 
suggestions with eight groups supporting the idea. Some 
proposed that existing less popular car parks could be used for 
the “Park” location. 
 
 
 
Signage 
Four groups identified the need for high quality signage and 
information about transport links across the area. The 
participants felt that if people were sure of the alternate 
walking/cycling routes that they would be more inclined to use 
them. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

HCC as projects develop but will sit outside of this masterplan. 
Development will be expected to contribute towards taking forward 
these wider improvements.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Signage 
We have noted the request for improved wayfinding signage. DBC  has 
already commenced some work on improving wayfinding signage with 
the delivery of new monoliths; they will include maps of the area with 
key points of interest and they will be installed shortly by the railway 
station. New similar wayfinding monoliths and fingerposts indicating 
walking routes to the station and other key destinations have recently 
been installed in the Hemel Hempstead town centre and Heath Park.   
The masterplan will encourage future planning applications to identify 
contributions to make necessary signage improvements and help 
deliver better surfaces along the canal and through the Moor to 
respond to these issues, just like the work that was carried out in Heath 
Park after contributions were received from the Kodak development. 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 176



 15 

Question 2: How can we reduce congestion and 
improve private vehicular access and movement 
within Two Waters and to the wider town? This is 
particularly important in relation to key destinations 
such as the HH railway station, the town centre and 
Maylands Business Park. 
 
Congestion generally was a recurring theme in all the 
discussions, with seven groups recording their concerns at the 
current traffic levels. 
 
Improved public transport links 
Improved public transport links was seen as the most valuable 
approach to reducing congestion on local roads. For example 
one group wanted to see a direct bus link between Hemel and 
Apsley stations.  Another felt that a reliable bus service to the 
Town Centre and to Maylands Business Park would be very 
helpful. 
 
Encouraging more people to cycle or walk around the area, 
instead of driving was a measure supported by seven groups 
and mentioned in discussion by the remaining groups.  
 
Durrants Hill 
Seven groups discussed the congestion issues on Durrants Hill 
bridge, which was identified as a problem bottleneck area. 
There was support for measures to ease the congestion 
including widening the road, changing the lights and 
investigating any other measures that might help. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Congestion 
We have noted concerns raised regarding traffic congestion in the area. 
The level of future vehicle movement in the study area is being tested 
as part of the masterplan process. This will help to identify localised 
problem areas which require improvement and recommend key local 
proposals to help ease congestion, such as junction improvements, 
crossing improvements, shuttle buses and safeguarding of land that 
may be required for future improvements or for development 
mitigation. Areas such as Durrants Hill that appear to be adding to 
congestion issues will be looked at in more detail as part of a transport 
assessment for the town and  through detailed designs of individual 
developments as they come forward.  
 
The issue of traffic congestion in the area however is not limited to 
local traffic. DBC is working in partnership with HCC to assess the 
potential for a more holistic approach to transport which will be 
embedded within HCC’s forthcoming Growth and Transport Plan for 
South West Hertfordshire. Potential measures such as intermodal 
interchanges near to the M1 and M25, with additional bus routes and 
coach services serving Hemel Hempstead, increased frequencies of 
existing bus services and an improved cycle network are being 

P
age 177



 16 

 
The need to anticipate congestion hotspots was discussed in 
one group.  One group was concerned that building flats would 
bring a large number of cars to the area. Another group 
identified increased activity and parking at the station as a 
potential congestion problem. A fourth group observed that 
building more car parks would increase the traffic on roads 
across Two Waters. 
 
Four groups supported for the idea of building more car parks 
as part of the Two Waters development. Two groups identified 
the need to make parking at the station affordable. However it 
was acknowledged in the discussions that more affordable 
parking at the station and across the area could increase traffic 
volume and congestion. 
 

considered that are intended to reduce car use and promote 
alternatives.  
 
The masterplan could have a role in delivering elements of  these 
proposals as well as the more localised improvements proposed within 
the masterplan itself to address specific problems and congestion 
‘hotspots’. Whilst it will not be possible for this masterplan to fully 
resolve the area’s transport issues it should make a positive 
contribution overall to existing conditions for all modes of travel.  
 
Developers will be expected to consider the required improvements in 
consultation with DBC and HCC and agree improvements through the 
planning application process. Developers will be expected to make 
financial contributions towards the delivery of transport, access and 
movement improvements.    

Theme 3:  Parking 
 

Question 3.1: How do we reduce the need for car 
parking in the area?  
 
Reducing the need for car parking in the area  
All groups agreed that excellent public transport links and 
pedestrian routes were needed to and from the station to help 
manage car parking issues and reduce the need to travel by car. 
 
Eight of the ten groups said they were concerned about the 
parking capacity problems at the station and suggested this 
needed resolution. Eight groups specifically discussed a new 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Car parking 
The masterplan will include proposals for a new station car park. The 
exact number of spaces is to be determined as part of a separate study 
on demand, viability and traffic modelling. The cost of delivering a lot of 
additional car parking spaces could also add to the height, bulk and 
design of any development so this requirement will be given careful 
consideration based on the workshop feedback regarding the heights of 
buildings on Site 1 and Network Rail together with the new franchise 

P
age 178



 17 

multi-storey car park for the station.  
 
There was widespread agreement across all groups that bus 
links, cycle routes and pedestrian routes need better signage to 
increase awareness, particularly near the station. These routes 
also need better maintenance to ensure that they are accessible 
and user friendly.  
 
Some groups made a link with the canal tow paths, suggesting 
that if they were in better repair and more accessible that they 
could become a more popular commuter route. Nine of the 
groups discussed the need to improve the conditions and 
awareness of the tow paths. 
 
Many people in the groups also commented that they were 
unsure how to find out about buses and cycle paths, so better 
communication and awareness of these was repeatedly 
proposed. 
 

Question 3.2: How do we manage on-road parking, 
car parks and new parking provisions for strategic 
locations such as the railway station? 
 
London Road and Durrants Hill are hotspots for both congestion 
and parking problems. A wide range of very creative 
suggestions were made for how the Council and businesses 
could ease some of the demand, ranging from hi-tech Uber-
style minibuses to financial incentives to park in the less popular 
car parks.  
 

holder of the station due to be awarded in late 2017. 
 
Cycle paths, pedestrian crossings/routes and bus links 
The masterplan will identify key proposals on how to improve cycle 
paths and pedestrian routes, including crossings and tow paths, in 
addition to sustainable transport, including bus links. The detailed 
design of these interventions will be developed at the next stage of the 
development process through individual planning applications in 
consultation with DBC and HCC.  
We have noted the request for improved wayfinding signage. DBC has 
already commenced some work on improving wayfinding signage and 
new monoliths with maps of the area and key points of interest will be 
installed shortly by the railway station. New wayfinding monoliths and 
fingerposts indicating walking routes to the station and other key 
destinations have recently been installed in the Hemel Hempstead 
town centre and Heath Park. This work will be expanded to further 
improve signage within the Two Waters area.   The masterplan will 
encourage future planning applications to provide signage to improve 
cycle and pedestrian movement. 
 
Towpaths 
The aspiration to improve the canal towpaths will be included within 
the masterplan. DBC is in discussion with HCC regarding improvements. 
Developers will be expected to contribute towards enabling these 
wider improvements.  
 
Route information 
 This feedback will be passed on to HCC who coordinate sustainable 
transport across the County. There are several online tools that provide 
information about bus routes and cycle routes.  

P
age 179



 18 

Review of parking demand 
Eight groups felt that a review of parking demand and 
controlled parking zones was needed. Some felt that there were 
peak hours which were the times problems occurred; others felt 
it was constant, particularly on London Road and near the 
station.  
 
Park and Ride 
Eight groups were very engaged with the possibilities of both 
Park and Ride Schemes and dedicated shuttle bus services. 
 
Use of existing car parks 
Six groups noted that some existing car parks are not well used. 
They proposed that measures could be implemented to make 
parking in these more attractive to relieve the pressure on the 
other parking areas.  
 
Of the eight groups who suggested a Park and Ride Scheme, 
one group suggested that less used car parks outside the Two 
Waters area could be used in this way. 
 
 

 
Other parking areas 
The masterplan will make recommendations for areas directly affected 
by the Two Waters masterplan. However these are part of a wider 
town centre issue  
The council is in the process of consulting residents local to London 
Road between Station Road and the Eastern access to the National Grid 
site on proposals to introduce waiting restrictions in the area. Car parks 
are reviewed biannually by Cabinet. 
 
 

Theme 4:  Green spaces and countryside 
 

Question 4.1: What do you think are the key green 
spaces in the area that need to be protected?  
 
Protection of open spaces 
The majority of the groups felt that all the existing green spaces 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Protection of Open Spaces 
Open spaces are protected by planning policy. Views from the open 

P
age 180



 19 

should be preserved and protected just as they are. The moors 
were seen as a particularly important influence on the 
development of the area by the first group to work on this 
table. Subsequent groups endorsed this. 
 
Views and vistas 
Seven of the groups talked about the importance of the views 
and vistas across the moors. It was clear that they have great 
value to local people. 
 
Balanced access to the moors and Durrants Lakes 
There was a real sense from all the groups that the joy of much 
of the moors was the rugged and natural beauty, and the 
opportunity to enjoy nature. As a result, whilst all groups 
wanted to improve access, they also wanted to balance this 
with protecting the moors, Durrants Lakes and the remaining 
wildlife from any further encroachment into the moors or other 
green spaces. This was summed up by one group as the need to 
retain the rural feeling of the area. 
 

Question 4.2: How can we promote the use of green 
spaces and wider countryside as part of the 
improvements in Two Waters?  
 
Durrants Lakes 
Eight groups expressed a desire to see Durrants Lakes opened 
up more, with better access and promotion of the area. One 
group was particularly concerned that local residents just don’t 
know about the opportunities to enjoy the Durrants Lakes. 
 

space identified by stakeholders as sensitive will be indicated in the 
masterplan document. Guidance will be included within the masterplan 
on how developers should integrate these through sensitive, high 
quality design. 
 
Opening up and enhancing a network of natural assets is a key 
objective of the masterplan. Through the masterplan, new 
development will be required to encourage the use of Two Waters’ 
green open space and water ways by improving the quality of and 
access to the moors and water bodies whilst respecting their ecological 
and agricultural roles and responding to issues of flood risk. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Durrants Lakes 
The masterplan will indicate the aspiration for sensitively improved 
access to the lakes and other open spaces.. 
 
 

P
age 181



 20 

Children’s play area 
Two groups suggested that there should be some small 
expansion of the children’s play areas, possibly on Blackbirds 
Moor, to attract more families. 
 
Marketing the moors and Durrants Lakes 
One group wanted to see better marketing and improved local 
knowledge of both Durrants Lakes and the moors. Another 
wanted to see the green areas advertised to school children.  A 
third group wanted the Council to work with local groups and 
schools. One idea they discussed was to create more formal 
educational facilities in these green spaces. 
 
Tow Path 
All ten groups discussed the access routes to the open spaces. 
There is a clear agreement (9 groups recording it) that the tow 
paths along the canal need resurfacing, better signage and 
access points, particularly for buggies and wheelchairs.  
 
One group suggested that there could be some low-level 
lighting along the tow path. 
 
Improved access by car 
One group touched on the difficulty of accessing some of the 
green spaces by car – particularly the lack of parking – and 
suggested this could be possibly be improved to increase the 
number of people using the spaces. 
 
 

Theme 5:  Building design and integration  

P
age 182



 21 

 
Photographs and drawings of a range  of different kinds of 
development  were given to the groups working on this table 

 
Question 5.1:  We have here some examples of 
taller/high density development. Which examples do 
you prefer and why? 
 
Design is a key factor 
All the groups repeatedly raised the need for new 
developments to be sympathetic to the other existing buildings 
and structures in any given area.  
 
Reference to Apsley Lock 
Apsley Lock was given by seven groups as a good example of 
this sympathetic design in action. Seven of the groups discussed 
the importance of the designs being in character with the area.  
 
Rural character 
Two groups talked about the need to remember the rural 
setting of Two Waters, and said the developments should evoke 
the feelings of a village”, “lost amongst the trees” and “around 
the cricket field”. One group highlighted the need to maintain 
views of the nearby open spaces. 
 
Preferred building material and styles 
Other groups talked about materials for buildings, with brick 
and wood structures being mentioned repeatedly. A few people 
suggested that some more modern glass structures might be 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
As a result of this consultation, the maximum height and density that 
the sites can support, as assessed by the landscaping studies, will be 
reduced and strong design principles included within the masterplan to 
ensure that development meets local views as much as possible. 
 
The height’s guidance  included in the masterplan will be informed by:  
 

 the public and stakeholder consultations,  

 a townscape study of the Two Waters area including an analysis 
of existing building heights and views,  

 viability testing for the development sites and the housing need 
within the Borough, and 

 Transport assessments 
 
The masterplan will provide specific guidance on the range of 
acceptable heights in the whole of the site area taking in to account the 
above factors including feedback from the consultations. In addition, a 
range of plot ratios will be listed for each development site. The plot 
ratio alongside the heights guidance will help to limit the amount of 
development each site could accommodate whilst allowing some 
flexibility. For sites where people have shared their concerns for 
sensitive views, further guidance on the type and arrangements of 

P
age 183



 22 

appropriate for some buildings, but there were mixed views on 
this. The repeated feeling was that designs had to complement 
the surroundings and “blend” with the other buildings. 
 
There was no consensus on the style of building that was 
preferred from the example pictures that the groups looked at. 
The only commonality in responses was that two groups noted 
that they preferred the pitched roof style rather than flat ones. 
 
Taking flood risks into account 
One group identified any underground building on Site 1 as 
impractical because of the flood risk.  
 

Question 5.2: How can tall buildings be integrated 
into the landscape to provide high quality 
development?  
 
Maximum heights 
Discussions in all the groups showed concern at the idea of high 
rise buildings, particularly isolated tower blocks although there 
was a range of views as to how high developments should be.  A 
clear majority of the groups favoured buildings of between 2 
and 4 storeys across a majority of the sites.  
 
For Site 1, there was a clear view that high rise designs were not 
welcome – one group said heights up to 6 storeys, six groups 
said heights up to 4 storeys and one group said only as high as 3 
storeys. 
 
For Site 2, suggestions for the maximum were generally slightly 

buildings within the site will be also provided.  
 
It should also be noted, that for any development to come forward on 
Site 1 there will be additional costs to deliver the expected station 
requirements and much improved multi-modal transport interchange 
facilities, which will help manage congestion in the immediate and 
wider area. More costs may mean slightly more development to help 
address these issues. 
 
There is a very high housing need within Dacorum – indicated by a 
current assessed ‘objectively assessed need’ (OAN) figure of 756 homes 
per annum (17,388 over the 2013-2036 period). Two Waters is an 
important strategic location and has the potential to accommodate 
new development that promotes a sustainable mix of land uses. There 
is increased pressure from national government to deliver increased 
numbers of housing and a specific push for increased density around 
transport hubs. A clear steer for increased housing has been reiterated 
in the housing White Paper recently published.  
 
Therefore, whilst through this process building heights will be designed 
in order to respond to local views as much as possible, a balanced view, 
incorporating all of the factors above including public views will inform 
the final document.  
 
Character 
A key objective of the masterplan is achieving high quality development 
and many of the masterplan principles will be focused on that. The 
document will include diagrams and best practice examples that 
illustrate how high quality design can be achieved. 
 

P
age 184



 23 

taller. One group was comfortable with buildings up to 10 
storeys, two groups were happy up to 6 storeys, stepping down 
lower as the buildings approached the road. Four groups were 
comfortable with 4 storey builds and one group simply said they 
felt that buildings here needed to be low-rise. 
 
For Site 3, the five groups that expressed opinions suggested 
maximum heights of 4 storeys (three groups), 5 storeys (one 
group) and 6 storeys (one group). 
 
On Site 4, the suggested maximum heights were notably taller. 
One group was happy to see a building of 17 storeys, one up to 
12 storeys, one up to 9 storeys, two groups suggested 8 storeys 
and two suggested 4 storeys be the maximum. Four of the 
groups said that they felt that within Site 4 the tallest buildings 
should be at the northern end of the Site, closer to the Plough 
roundabout, and as the Site moved south, the building height 
should drop. 
 
A Consolidated Summary of suggested site uses and building 
heights at the end of this section. 
 
Good design matters most 
However, it was clear that most participants felt that really 
good architectural style and designs were more important than 
any maximum number of storeys.  
 
While some people were implacably opposed to tall buildings, 
three groups suggested that tall buildings could be most easily 
integrated to the area at the north of the Two Waters site, near 

Materials 
The masterplan document can include principles that encourage use of 
materials that are relevant to the context, including wood and brick. 
 
Architectural Style 
The masterplan encompasses a very large area with varying levels of 
sensitivity. It is likely that the new development will include a range of 
architectural styles. The masterplan will indicate character areas and 
what style may be relevant to these depending on their context. 

P
age 185



 24 

the Plough Roundabout. 
 
One group proposed that 17 storeys should be the maximum in 
this development. The same group favoured the use of terraces 
to integrate buildings into sloping areas and a mix of heights 
elsewhere. 
 
The overwhelming and repeated message was that the 
residents wanted developments that were designed to 
complement the surrounding buildings. They wanted 
imaginative designs with the right character to create a village 
or community feel for the Two Waters development as a whole. 

Theme 5:  Building design and integration 
 
Photographs and drawings of a range  of different kinds of 
development  were given to the groups working on this table 

 
Question 5.1:  We have here some examples of 
taller/high density development. Which examples do 
you prefer and why? 
 
Design is a key factor 
All the groups repeatedly raised the need for new 
developments to be sympathetic to the other existing buildings 
and structures in any given area.  
 
Reference to Apsley Lock 
Apsley Lock was given by seven groups as a good example of 
this sympathetic design in action. Seven of the groups discussed 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
As a result of this consultation, the maximum height and density that 
the sites can support as assessed by the landscaping studies will be 
reduced and strong design principles included within the masterplan to 
ensure that development meets local views as much as possible. 

P
age 186



 25 

the importance of the designs being in character with the area.  
 
Rural character 
Two groups talked about the need to remember the rural 
setting of Two Waters, and said the developments should evoke 
the feelings of a village”, “lost amongst the trees” and “around 
the cricket field”. One group highlighted the need to maintain 
views of the nearby open spaces. 
 
Preferred building material and styles 
Other groups talked about materials for buildings, with brick 
and wood structures being mentioned repeatedly. A few people 
suggested that some more modern glass structures might be 
appropriate for some buildings, but there were mixed views on 
this. The repeated feeling was that designs had to complement 
the surroundings and “blend” with the other buildings. 
 
There was no consensus on the style of building that was 
preferred from the example pictures that the groups looked at. 
The only commonality in responses was that two groups noted 
that they preferred the pitched roof style rather than flat ones. 
 
Taking flood risks into account 
One group identified any underground building on Site 1 as 
impractical because of the flood risk.  
 

Question 5.2: How can tall buildings be integrated 
into the landscape to provide high quality 
development?  
 

 
The height’s guidance  included in the masterplan will be informed by:  
 

 the public and stakeholder consultations,  

 a townscape study of the Two Waters area including an analysis 
of existing building heights and views,  

 viability testing for the development sites and the housing need 
within the Borough, and 

 Transport assessments 
 
The masterplan will provide specific guidance on the range of 
acceptable heights in the whole of the site area taking in to account the 
above factors including feedback from the consultations. In addition, a 
range of plot ratios will be listed for each development site. The plot 
ratio alongside the heights guidance will help to limit the amount of 
development each site could accommodate whilst allowing some 
flexibility. For sites where people have shared their concerns for 
sensitive views, further guidance on the type and arrangements of 
buildings within the site will be also provided. 
 
There is a very high housing need within Dacorum – indicated by a 
current assessed ‘objectively assessed need’ (OAN) figure of 756 homes 
per annum (17,388 over the 2013-2036 period). Two Waters is an 
important strategic location and has the potential to accommodate 
new development that promotes a sustainable mix of land uses. There 
is increased pressure from national government to deliver increased 
numbers of housing and a specific push for increased density around 
transport hubs. A clear steer for increased housing has been reiterated 
in the housing White Paper recently published.  
 

P
age 187



 26 

Maximum heights 
Discussions in all the groups showed concern at the idea of high 
rise buildings, particularly isolated tower blocks although there 
was a range of views as to how high developments should be.  A 
clear majority of the groups favoured buildings of between 2 
and 4 storeys across a majority of the sites.  
 
For Site 1, there was a clear view that high rise designs were not 
welcome – one group said heights up to 6 storeys, six groups 
said heights up to 4 storeys and one group said only as high as 3 
storeys. 
 
For Site 2, suggestions for the maximum were generally slightly 
taller. One group was comfortable with buildings up to 10 
storeys, two groups were happy up to 6 storeys, stepping down 
lower as the buildings approached the road. Four groups were 
comfortable with 4 storey builds and one group simply said they 
felt that buildings here needed to be low-rise. 
 
For Site 3, the five groups that expressed opinions suggested 
maximum heights of 4 storeys (three groups), 5 storeys (one 
group) and 6 storeys (one group). 
 
On Site 4, the suggested maximum heights were notably taller. 
One group was happy to see a building of 17 storeys, one up to 
12 storeys, one up to 9 storeys, two groups suggested 8 storeys 
and two suggested 4 storeys be the maximum. Four of the 
groups said that they felt that within Site 4 the tallest buildings 
should be at the northern end of the Site, closer to the Plough 
roundabout, and as the Site moved south, the building height 

Therefore, whilst through this process building heights will be designed 
in order to respond to local views as much as possible, a balanced view, 
incorporating all of the factors above including public views will inform 
the final document.  
 
Character 
A key objective of the masterplan is achieving high quality development 
and many of the masterplan principles will be focused on that. The 
document will include diagrams and best practice examples that 
illustrate how high quality design can be achieved. 
 
Materials 
The masterplan document can include principles that encourage use of 
materials that are relevant to the context, including wood and brick. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Architectural Style 
The masterplan encompasses a very large area with varying levels of 

P
age 188



 27 

should drop. 
 
A Consolidated Summary of suggested site uses and building 
heights at the end of this section. 
 
Good design matters most 
However, it was clear that most participants felt that really 
good architectural style and designs were more important than 
any maximum number of storeys.  
 
While some people were implacably opposed to tall buildings, 
three groups suggested that tall buildings could be most easily 
integrated to the area at the north of the Two Waters site, near 
the Plough Roundabout. 
 
One group proposed that 17 storeys should be the maximum in 
this development. The same group favoured the use of terraces 
to integrate buildings into sloping areas and a mix of heights 
elsewhere. 
 
The overwhelming and repeated message was that the 
residents wanted developments that were designed to 
complement the surrounding buildings. They wanted 
imaginative designs with the right character to create a village 
or community feel for the Two Waters development as a whole. 

sensitivity. It is likely that the new development will include a range of 
architectural styles. The masterplan will indicate character areas and 
what style may be relevant to these depending on their context. 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 189



 28 

Table 3.2: Consolidated summary of the suggested building heights 

Group Site 1 Site 2 Site 3 Site 4 

Pink AM 3-4 storeys max 6 (storeys) stepping down to 
the roadside 

No comment on heights No comment on heights 

Blue AM No comment on heights No comment on heights No comment on heights No comment on heights 

Aqua AM 6 storeys max, lower near 
the station 

Residential 8-10 storeys 
max, single landmark 
building 

No comment on heights 10-12 storeys at the Plough 

Orange AM Residential 3-4 (storeys) Residential 3-4 storeys 3-4 storeys School at south; retail with 
2-8 storeys 

Green AM <3-4 storeys <3-4 storeys <3-4 storeys <3-4 storeys 

Pink PM Mixed use 4 storeys Residential 6 storeys Open space, no 
development  
No comment on heights 

Residential 4 storeys  

Blue PM 3 storeys No comment on heights 4-5 storeys Residential, 9 storeys – 
lower at southern end 

Aqua PM Offices 6 storeys No comment on heights No comment on heights Residential, tall at Plough, 
17 storeys 

Orange PM Mixed residential 3-4 
storeys 

Mixed residential 3-4 
storeys 

3-4 storeys Tall at Plough 8 storeys 
down to 2 at southern end 

Green PM Mixed residential flats 2-4 
storeys 

Residential family homes, 
”low buildings” 

Up to 6 storeys  No comment on heights 

 

P
age 190



 29  

Figure 3.1: Site 
boundary and key 
development sites  
1 - 4 

P
age 191



 30 

3.2 Conclusions recorded on the Flip Charts 
 
The notes below are taken directly from the Flip Chart sheets of conclusions that the groups recorded in the consultation workshops. If you 
would prefer to read the original handwritten sheets, they can be found in Appendix B. Every effort has been made to make these notes an 
exact copy of the Flip Chart sheets. 
 

Table 1 – Theme:  Creating a ‘sense of place’ for the Two Waters 
Neighbourhood - Morning consultation 
 
Pink Group 

 More family focused housing (blue and orange groups agreed) 

 Avoid setting up a dormitory situation (blue and orange groups agreed) 

 High Rise not in character (blue and orange groups agreed) 

 Site 4 focus for retail/office (blue group agreed) 
 
Aqua Group 

 School on southern part of site 4 

 Local facilities (retail/café) not large 

 Short term parking site 3 

 With the Masterplan do not forget London Road/Apsley High Street 

 Linking land uses with better pedestrian and cycle links 
 
Green Group 

 Concerns that discussions at consultation will be taken over by planning application ie Masterplan too late! 

 Infrastructure needs to come in parallel 
 
Blue Group 

 Site 2 residential 

 Site 1 commuter housing 

P
age 192



 31 

 Any commercial development should be office not industrial 
 
Orange Group 

 Site 1 + 2 focus on family housing 

 School southern side of site 4 

 Site 4 north office + residential mix (more residential) 

 GP Site 2 

 Keep focus of retail in Town Centre 
 
Other notes from maps that were not recorded as conclusions above: 

 Site 1 – Keep shop for local needs 

 Site 1 – Eastern edge of site - Café and toilet 

 Site 2 – can be high density but low level, possibly also a small shop? (More than one group put a limited amount of small shops here) 

 Boxmoor to become “village green” 

 Keep most business use at Maylands 

 Concerns about a new school attracting traffic 

 Site 1 –GP, Chemist and walk in centre 

 Eastern tip of site 4 could have a medical use as it has good links to Watford (A41 and train) 

 Western edge of Site 4 mixed use 

 Site 2 could have new school amongst residential family housing 

 Site 1 mostly residential for commuters with small convenience store for locals and commuters 

 Southern Site 4 Hemel food garden = community focus, also Corner Hall 

 Retain local child friendly pub on Site 1 

 Site 1 should mirror Boxmoor residential area 

 Some groups suggest a new school at south of Site 4, but others are concerned about traffic congestion in that Site 

 The look and quality of Site 1 should be considered as it is an entrance to the town 

 Boxmoor is critical to the area as a big destination 

 Concern that retail may not be viable (Kodak) 
 

P
age 193



 32 

 

Table 1 – Theme:  Creating a ‘sense of place’ for the Two Waters Neighbourhood - Afternoon consultation 

 
Blue Group 

 Central, accessible school on site 2 

 Small scale retail in zone 1 

 Access to GP rather than new provision 

 Logic to residential in area 4 

 Site 3 – not residential, possible retail? 
 
Pink Group 

 Site 1 – Gateway mixed use with rail/residential/parking 

 Site 2 – Good residential – mix size/tenure – family homes 

 Site 3 – Expansion and integration as open space 

 Site 4 – Residential with school integrated 

 Sites 1 and 4 – look at drop off areas 

 Good example – ex John Dickinson/Cavendish site 
 
Aqua Group 

 Site 1 –  Office and transport hub including bikes/ E vehicles MSCP 

 Site 2 –  Residential – don’t lose jobs 

 Site 3 – Multi-functional commercial build ie Art Gallery in landscape setting (social enterprise?) 

 Site 4 –  Residential/Café society 

 School – get creative and think outside area – walking school? 
 
Orange Group 

 Mixed residential zone 1 & 2 

 Keep community structure 
o Schools and other uses etc. 

P
age 194



 33 

o Self-contained and sustaining 

 Better use of GP Surgery 

 Improvement to Sunnyside – Green asset/food production 

 Mix office and residential zone 4 – near town centre 

 Focus on connections between land uses 
 
Green Group 

 Importance of land value on zone 3 to wider Boxmoor Trust objectives 

 Site 1 – Mixed use residential (flat) and small limited shops/café 

 Site 2 – Residential (family mix) with obvious school 

 Site 4 – Taller building at roundabout going down towards Site 3 residential and second primary to serve 

 Possible primary education adjacent 4 

 Importance of affordable homes 
 
Other notes from maps that were not recorded as conclusions above: 

 Make space for landscaping in all Sites and land uses 

 Telephone exchange by the Plough Roundabout needs to go! 

 School should be located away from congested areas, possibly outside of the 4 sites. Think more creatively about the school location 
and design. 

 Station forecourt should be more attractive to bus, bikes and pedestrians 
 
Other notes from discussions that were not recorded as conclusions above: 

 Schools Key Stage 1 – 2 

 Tall buildings around Plough roundabout – max 3-4 storeys around London Road 

 Mixed development housing NOT flats 

 Better use of land for infrastructure – schools, Doctors etc. 
 

 

P
age 195



 34 

Table 2 – Theme:  Transport, Access and Movement - Morning consultation 
 
Pink Group 

 Shuttle bus (hop on hop off) from station to Maylands (Blue group agreed) 

 Increased number of cycle paths and clearer marking 

 Pedestrian crossings onto the moor 
 
Aqua Group 

 Enhanced pedestrian and cycling links 

 Durrants Hill double width bridge 

 Direct bus link between Hemel and Apsley stations 

 Extended parking at station 
 
Blue Group 

 Affordable station parking and more of it 

 Improved links to station (pedestrian, cycle and bus) 

 Control pedestrian crossing to favour pedestrians 

 Improve links to and from moor (gates) 
 
Orange Group 

 Affordable parking at station and more spaces 

 More information on bus routes and timetables 

 General improvement in cycle links 
 
Green Group 

 London Road congestion issues 

 Train capacity – more carriages 
 
 

P
age 196



 35 

Other notes from discussions that were not recorded as conclusions above: 

 Improve access across the A4251 at the station – pedestrian crossings favour cars. People cross not on crossing 

 Station parking on surrounding roads causes congestion and accidents – too expensive 

 Cycle paths – to station – improve tow path 

 Restrict parking – 1 hour per day (by station) 

 Clearer road marking on cycle track/footpath from station to St John’s Road 

 Intelligent road information – traffic lights better (by station) 

 Check REAL congestion of possible new development ie Beacon 

 Aldi traffic movements cause issues at the Two Waters junction 

 Transport report by developers are biased – not at busy times 

 Phasing of lights at Two Waters junction OK 

 Better cycle/pedestrian access across Two Waters junction 

 Access to Apsley retail from Belswains Lane – ease congestion on London Road 

 Weekends on London Road are awful – make sure this doesn’t get worse with future developments 

 Do traffic surveys at realistic times 

 Do not change kissing gates onto moor 

 Improve access for buggies onto moor 

 500 more places at car park at station is positive, but means 500 more cars per day on London Road 

 Development without transport infrastructure is no real choice. More housing means more cars and gridlock 

 Decisions re: number of homes eg Site 2 already agreed??? Where is consultation? 

 If there is no room for more traffic don’t develop! 
 
 
 

Table 2 – Theme:  Transport, Access and Movement - Afternoon consultation 

 
Pink Group 

 Widen Durrants Hill Road 

 Improved signage and information 

P
age 197



 36 

 New build sustainable transport without penalising existing builds 

 Introduce Park and Ride system 

 Railway station integration with public transport network 

 Improved bus service 
 
Green Group 

 Reduced speed limits on side roads 

 Widen Durrants Hill bridge 

 Pedestrian path improvements (moor and canal) 

 Locate a primary school to minimise school run congestion 
 
Blue Group 

 Improved bus services 
o station/TC/Maylands 
o late night service 

 Signage improvements 

 Station to TC pedestrian routes need improving 

 London Road issues – traffic speed and parking on pavements 

 Increase capacity of station (HH) car park 
 
Aqua Group 

 ‘Boris bikes’ – station/TC/Maylands 

 Review bus routes/usage 

 Canal towpath upgrades 

 Walking buses for schools 
 
Orange Group 

 Access improvements along canal for cyclists and pedestrians 

 Station car park capacity to be increased 

P
age 198



 37 

 Widen Durrants Hill 

 Reliable bus service to station/TC/Maylands 
 
Other notes from discussions that were not recorded as conclusions above: 

 Cycle lanes need to be better advertised 

 Roughdown Road parking entry  

 Encourage use of buses 

 Widening Durrants Hill Road canal bridge to remove traffic lights 

 Clear signs to cycle track and footpath from station – signs to say how many mins to town centre 

 Decreasing speed in London Road 

 Good, clearly marked pedestrian access to new school and cycle access 

 Shuttle service from station to town centre – frequent and reliable – connected to Maylands 

 New station car park 

 Electric car club schemes 

 New build aggressive reduction car reliance without penalising existing unavoidable traffic -more public transport 

 Canal towpath upgrades to create commuter belt 

 Parking restrictions to improve traffic flow 

 New A41 spur – Kings Langley to Chipperfield 

 Electric and ordinary bike scheme linking car parks, station, TC and Maylands 

 Customer parking for Apsley shops 

 Improve Two Waters junction 

 Make the roundabout between Sites 2 & 3 into another “Magic” roundabout like the Plough 

 Combine Hemel and Apsley stations into one large retail and station on Two Waters Way 

 Shared cycleway on footpaths 

 Signage for Durrants Hill Car Park – make it free for first hour 

 Broaden parking permit scheme to stop on-road “free parking” 

 Commuter parking available at Rugby Club 
 

 

P
age 199



 38 

Table 3 – Theme: Parking - Morning consultation 

 
Orange Group 

 Station car park capacity/layout/safety 

 Controlled parking – Review have staggered times not all day 

 Development – be realistic about spaces per unit 

 Sustainable Transport: consider options  
o Buses cycle etc. 
o Shared/communal parking areas 
o Realistic about current use and need for cars and parking 

provision but consider future transport options to reduce car 
use  

o Park and ride 
 
Pink Group 

 Train Station  
o Capacity/layout/safety 
o Negotiate with Management – franchise renewal 
o Multi storey 

 Sustainable Transport 
o Car club – Developer requirement and private operator 
o Cycle parking and routes: accessible good signage better routes/safe ‘Boris Bike’ schemes at key locations Developer 

requirement High quality 

 Controlled Parking 
o Consider review or existing staggered control times to alleviate overspill 
o Remove all day restrictions 

 
Green Group 

 Station Car Park 
o Lack of capacity 

P
age 200



 39 

o Management issue 
o Safety and security/lighting 
o Multi Storey? 
o Enforcement issues 
o Commuter overspill 
o Costs 

 Realistic research re travel needs and parking behaviour 

 LA3 
o Capacity/TRANSPDA links 
o Commuting via Two Waters 
o Shuttle Bus facilities 

 Public Transport Network 
o Communication of services 
o Availability of services 
o ML1 Service 

 
Blue Group 

 Sustainable and reliable transport 
o Shuttle buses 
o Regular and cost effective bus travel 
o Businesses to provide/pay for transport 
o Park and ride – proximity 
o Identify land for off road parking – temporary or long term 

 Controlled parking 
o Needs resident buy-in early stage 
o Review types of control 
o Is it a peak time issue? 

 New development 
o Parking spaces need to be realistic – there will be cars! 

 

P
age 201



 40 

Aqua Group 

 Station 
o Remember Apsley and Hemel 
o Consider similar capacity/layout/safety issues 

 Controlled parking 
o Review existing staggered times 
o Ensure enforcement of illegal parking 

 Sustainable transport 
o Encourage public TransPDA at new business/retail developments 
o Encourage cycles 
o ‘Boris Bikes’ at key sites 
o Improve links/ safe routes 
o Communicate bus travel sources 

 Encourage use of underused car parks 

 Realistic about parking at new developments 
 
Other notes from discussions that were not recorded as conclusions above: 

 Parking on both sides of London Road from Station Rd Roundabout towards Aldi causes blocks. 

 Direct bus link needed from Hemel station past Site 2 towards Apsley 

 Improve environment for bikes between stations and in to town 

 Durrants Hill car park under utilised 

 Increase parking provision at Apsley Station 

 
Table 3 – Theme: Parking - Afternoon consultation 

 
Blue Group 

 Station car park 
o better capacity 
o maintenance and management of existing spaces 

P
age 202



 41 

o encourage use of 20 min pick up points 

 Sustainable transport routes to station 
o Improvements to cycle routes 
o Pedestrian surfaces 
o Canal towpath surfacing 

 Better communication of existing services 

 Change of behaviour – communicate that Two Waters is a sustainable 
transport hub with good rail links 

 Better parking and network access to all retail units (existing and future) 

 Underused existing car parks 
 
Green Group 

 Station car parks 
o improve capacity 
o multi storey 
o improve management and fees 

 Consider enforcement and review of controlled parking 

 Behaviour/Cultural Shift 

 Developers to consider thin parking to encourage sustainable transport = 
choice 1 car per 2 bed unit 

 Support reasonable development near transport hubs 

 Developers to offer sustainable travel incentives 

 Transport links  
o needs to be fast/reliable and dedicated route/carriageway 
o better communication of existing bus links 

 Manage parking expectations for future generations 

 Better use of existing car parks 
 
Orange Group 

 Train station 

P
age 203



 42 

o Apsley and Hemel 
o Needs to be affordable 
o Better capacity 

 Sustainable transport 
o Consider better cycle routes – road and canal paths 
o Park and Ride/Shuttle Bus (possibly to/from existing car parks, EG Durrants) 
o Bus travel – early and late services (better communication of services) 

 Consider better use of existing car parks 

 Better enforcement of illegal parking and consider review of controlled parking 

 Review existing travel network and look for improvements ie Lights at Durrants and roundabout 
 
Aqua Group 

 Behaviour change 
o Car free flat system at planning stage but need to ensure alternative transport in place 
o Cleaner/accessible/Wi-Fi enabled buses to encourage better use 

 Enforcement and controlled parking 
o Consider offsite parking at Camelot 
o Better use of existing car parks – Durrants 
o Better wayfinding for car parks/cycle/pedestrian routes 
o Park and Ride schemes 
o Offer commuter parking permits in existing car parks 

 Sustainable transport 
o Consider shuttle “Uber” bus using new/current digital technology 
o Communicate existing bus/transport services 

 
Pink Group 

 Sustainable transport 
o Identify travel needs, especially those with little/no travel network and see how to resolve this with operators 

 Behaviour/Culture change  
o Make car unattractive – but need to ensure provision of bus/cycle/pedestrian links 

P
age 204



 43 

o Better communication of existing travel services 
o Provide reliable/affordable alternative travel 

 Consider better enforcement of illegal parking and controlled parking review 

 Better access/movement around Durrants Hill 

 Better use under-used car parks eg Durrants car park 
 
Other notes from discussions that were not recorded as conclusions above: 

 Problems with parking congestion along London Road, particularly between the edges of Sites 1 and 2. Problems with speed of travel 
and pedestrians crossing on the same stretch of road. 

 
 

 
Table 4 – Theme: Green spaces and countryside - Morning consultation 

 
Green Group 

 Keep the moors as main influence/style guide for future development 

 No development taller than 3-4 storeys high 

 Improve access to Roughdown/Felden from London Road 

 Maintain vistas to and from the moors 

 Market and improve knowledge of Durrants Lakes 

 No encroachment into the moors or green/open spaces 

 Take full consideration of environmental issues/wildlife/pollution for any development/infrastructure projects 
 
Aqua Group 

 Open Durrants Lakes (currently hidden) 

 Improve access to Lakes 

 Site 3 possible Visitor Centre/Café/Car Park 

 Improve tow-paths – access to and from 

 Dedicated cycle path HH Station to Apsley – Boris style scheme alongside canal or other side railway line 

P
age 205



 44 

 Make green space more accessible to Hemel town 

 Improve town centre access to moor/station/Durrants 

 Information boards/maps for public info and direction 
 
Orange Group 

 Maintain improve vistas from and onto the moors and Felden/Roughdown and Boxmoor 

 Preserve open space feeling 

 Maintain village/rural “feeling” with development 

 Replace “ugly” buildings with development more in keeping with the 
area 

 Improve tow paths 

 Retain current access to canal/river/moor 

 More/improve access to Felden Woods from through station area 
 
Blue Group 

 Improve education/information for Durrants Lake/Moors/Canal etc 

 Improve signage/info at key points ie Station, Two Waters Road 

 Improve quality of all existing footpaths 

 Open up Sunnyhill Trust (visual and advertising – awareness) 

 Work with local groups/schools etc to improve awareness/uses of the 
various green spaces 

 Improve Corner Hall/open up area and the historic buildings 
 
Pink Group 

 Keep open space 

 Open/improve access to and from moors/Durrants/canal tow paths to residential and employment areas 

 Provide educational facilities to use moors/Durrants/Sunnyside 

 Access over/under Two Waters Road 

 Access to moor opposite Site 3 to make the area more accessible and usable by public and rugged/natural children’s play 

P
age 206



 45 

 
Other notes from discussions that were not recorded as conclusions above: 
(No other notes were recorded by this table during the morning session, everything is listed above) 
 

Table 4 – Theme: Green spaces and countryside - Afternoon consultation 

 
Pink Group 

 Keep Site 3 green 

 Durrants Lakes is unknown – open the area up to the public and promote/advertise it 

 Resurface all tow paths – Durrants Hill to Fishery Inn 

 Protect all moorland to maintain its character (grazing and manicured areas) 

 Plant trees along London Road/Two Waters Road 

 Provide access to green/open spaces from any new developments 

 Provide signage and information to Roughdown/Felden/The Moors/Durrants/Apsley/over railway and improve the access points 

 Provide parking for visitors to green spaces 
 
Aqua Group 

 Better use and promotion of Durrants Lakes 

 Tow path and access improvements along whole length of canal 

 Improve/increase access to all open space 

 Consideration and protection for wildlife 

 Views across moors to London Road (possible tree screening) 
 
Orange Group 

 Sunnyside site make more visible and promote to public 

 Protect views towards moors from London Road 

 Improve all tow paths and provide lighting 

 Promote and improve access to Durrants Lakes 

 Blackbirds moor – improve children’s play area to accommodate older children (ie 9+) 

P
age 207



 46 

 Protect all moor and surrounding area 

 Picnic areas across the moor 

 Improve/provide information boards/signage/maps to the open areas 

 Information boards informing re particular/special wildlife in the area 
 
Green Group 

 Improve tow paths and access to/from them 

 Open Durrants Lakes to the moors 

 Protect all moors/grazing area 

 Improve footpaths/access over railway line to open space between railway and A41 

 Focus children’s play to Blackbird moor 

 Seating along the canal 
 
Blue Group 

 Tow path surface improvements and improve all access points for buggies, wheelchairs etc 

 Keep all green spaces 

 Nature trails – signposted/noticeboards 

 Improve Station Road bridge access down to moors and tow path 

 Information at HH railway station to town and across moors 

 Tree planting along both sides of London Road and Two Waters Road 

 Lighting at tow path access points and possible low level lighting along tow path, or reflective type line 
 
Other notes from discussions that were not recorded as conclusions above: 

 Improved canal tow path links – potential commuter route 
 

 
  

P
age 208



 47 

Table 5 – Theme: Building design and integration - Morning consultation 

 
Pink Group 

 In general a more “village feel”. Buildings that blend in. EG Milton Keynes. 

 Apsley Lock example of good design. 

 Need to protect and make use of views. 

 Site 4 – 4 storey – considerate to moor and residential area to north east 

 Site 2 – 6 storeys – stepping down to road 

 Site 1 – 4 storeys – in keeping with area (picture 6) 

 Site 3 – Recreational/green area 

 Site 2 & 3 should mirror each other 
 
Aqua Group 

 Plough roundabout to Grand Union Canal most appropriate for tall buildings and high density. Parking can be reduced due to proximity 
to Town Centre. 

 Site 1 – no taller than 6 storeys – flooding – Station – lower than 5/4 

 No taller than 10 storeys on Two Waters/London Road. Family oriented. Not for commuters. 

 Site 2 – sloping down max 8-10 storey buildings 

 Site 2 – single landmark building with lower brick built building going into site 

 Building number 15 preferred 
 
Blue Group 

 General building design style Brick – but mixed opinion 
some felt more modern like glass appropriate for near 
roundabout. Apsley Lock good example of style 

 Site 4 – 9 near roundabout stepping down to Lawn Lane 
and canal (below 9). Lower towards the south. 

 Site 3 – Mixed opinion, perhaps higher near road, 
possibly 4-5 storeys. 

P
age 209



 48 

 Site 2 – Taller buildings along railway line. Higher than Site 1. 

 Site 1 – Lower than Site 2 – 4 storeys. 
 
Green Group 

 London Road overlooking site 2,3,4 storeys – results of a survey 

 Sympathetic to village style EG Apsley Lock 

 Wood and brick buildings 

 Site 3 – mixed views. Some thought up to 6 stepping down to the canal, some thought lower. 

 Site 2 – think should be low because enough tall buildings around roundabout. 

 Mixed use – less blocks, more articulation, more glass, green, sociable space, space between buildings 
 
Orange Group 

 Site 1: 3-4 storeys. Views. Step up away from road and town. Views from Felden and Canal improves. Village/rural feel. Emulate style by 
Steam Coach. 

 Site 2: 3-4 storeys. Similar principles to Site 1. Similar to recent Apsley Lock developments. 

 Site 3: Similar height to 1 but houses facing canal. 

 Site 4: Suggested 2 areas – B&Q South: 3-4 storeys, North: Taller, stepped back from road 2 storeys going up to 8 (at roundabout) and 
reducing as we go south. 

 
Other notes from discussions that were not recorded as conclusions above: 
 

 No tall buildings at Hemel Station – lower than 5 storeys 

 Site 2 – no taller than 10 storeys on Two Waters/London Rd 

 Site 1 – no taller than 6 storeys 

 Building Design 15 is preferred 

 Plan 15 encourages community 

 Site 1 – max 4 storeys (underground car parking into flood plain) 
 

 

P
age 210



 49 

Table 5 – Theme: Building design and integration - Afternoon consultation 

 
Pink Group 

 Design styles 15 and 21 preferred 

 Mixed building heights appropriate to context 

 Good design 

 Like 11, 9, 2 (5 maybe) 

 Higher buildings at Plough roundabout 

 Station site – design like 2 and 4 – redesign to be more ‘open’ 

 Site 4 – 17,18 and 20 design 
 
Aqua Group 

 Good quality 

 Mix of heights 

 Higher near Plough roundabout 

 Terrace down Two Waters (A41 to traffic lights) 

 Top end – 17 storeys 

 Art Centre 

 Site 3 – ecology/wildlife corridor to moor/lakes 

 Site 1 – office opportunity (taller element?) 

 Boulevarding – trees along London Road 
 
Orange Group 

 Mix of uses 

 Mix of housing – range – bungalows, flats and 2-5 bed houses 

 Mixed community 

 Apsley Lock, Fourdrinier Way – good development, design/character and mix 

 Gardens and space – important 
o 1 bed houses are not being built 

P
age 211



 50 

 Enhance “community feel” in keeping with existing 

 Infrastructure essential – schools, road 
 
Green Group 

 Infrastructure – schools, hospital GP 

 Apsley and Berkhamsted design examples 

 Height at Plough roundabout 

 Protect moor – consider impacts upon this from development 

 Character – roof profile – pitched 

 Site 3 and west of Site 2 – statement architecture/buildings 
 
Blue Group 

 Design to be good – bricks, roof pitched 

 London Road frontages – existing property relationship 

 Mixed views around Symbio 

 Sustainable design – PV, green roof, water usage 

 Apsley Lock and Berkhamsted by canal = good design 

 Site 1 – 3 storeys, no higher 

 Site 4 – Plough Roundabout – higher – relationship to existing taller buildings 

 Limited capacity for taller buildings 

 Trees – soften edges of development 
 
 
Other notes from discussions that were not recorded as conclusions above: 

 Likes design 4 but also pitched roofs 

 Need to develop mixed flats and houses at the north of Site 4 and inside Site 3 

 Apsley Lock and the area of London Road just east of Durrants Hill Road are very good for younger families. 

 New flats near Apsley station in “Warehouse” style, in keeping with area 

 Important to keep/build community structure, otherwise development delays 

P
age 212



 51 

 Housing along London Road (the stretch from Site 1 to 2 inclusive) needs traditional housing, 3-4 storeys max with local character 

 One or two statement blocks could be situated at Plough Roundabout 
 
 

 
3.3 Prioritisation exercise 
 
3.3.1 A reminder of the methodology of the prioritisation exercise 
We wanted to give the participants the chance to express which of the many ideas, comments and conclusions produced by the groups were 
the most important to them personally.  
 
To express this choice, each person was given three sticky stars. We asked them to stick a star next to their top three conclusions on the flip 
charts that had been produced throughout the workshop. They could put one star next to three different items, or stick all three stars on one 
option if they felt it mattered above all else. 
 
3.3.2  Implementation of the exercise 
Whilst many residents said that they found this to be a very valuable exercise, a few were unhappy with this element of the event. Some said 
that they felt three stars were not enough as they wanted to be able to express a larger number of priorities. One person said that they feared 
that by choosing priorities it would undermine the importance of all the other comments and ideas. 
 
3.3.3 The results of the exercise 
Suggestions calling for the same idea or action have been combined to reflect the feeling of both consultations. For clarity, where items have 
been combined, the exact text as written by the participants is still listed in full. The separate lists of the morning and afternoon priorities are 
available in Appendix C. 
 
Table 3.3 The consolidated results chart from the Prioritisation Exercise 

Priority Number of stars 

Sustainable transport: Consider options, buses cycle etc; shared communal/parking areas; Realistic about current use 
and need for cars and parking provision but consider future transport options to reduce car use; Park and Ride/ 

11 

P
age 213



 52 

Behaviour/Culture change Make car unattractive – but need to ensure provision of bus/cycle/pedestrian links; Change 
of behaviour – communicate that Two Waters is a sustainable transport hub with good rail links; Sustainable transport: 
Encourage public TransPDA at new business/retail developments; Encourage cycles; ‘Boris Bikes’ at key sites; Improve 
links/ safe routes; Communicate bus travel sources 

Site 1 – 3-4 storeys. Views. Step up away from road and town. Views from Felden and Canal improves. Village/rural 
feel. Emulate style by Steam Coach; Site 1 – 3 storeys, no higher 

8 

Tow path and access improvements along whole length of canal; Tow path surface improvements and improve all 
access points for buggies, wheelchairs etc; Improve tow paths and access to/from them 

8 

Concerns that discussions at consultation will be taken over by planning application ie Masterplan too late! 7 

Maintain improve vistas from and onto the moors and Felden/Roughdown and Boxmoor 7 

No development taller than 3-4 storeys high 7 

Affordable parking at station and more spaces; Affordable station parking and more of it; Station Multi Storey car 
park?; Station Car Park management issue 

6 

Improved bus services – station/TC/Maylands; Review bus routes/usage; Regular and cost effective bus travel 6 

More family focused housing; Site 1 + 2 focus on family housing; Site 2 – Residential (family mix) with obvious school 6 

New development parking spaces need to be realistic – there will be cars!; Development – be realistic about spaces per 
unit 

6 

Improved links to station (pedestrian, cycle and bus)/Sustainable transport routes to station/Direct bus link between 
Hemel and Apsley stations 

5 

Apsley Lock and Berkhamsted by canal = good design; Apsley Lock, Fourdrinier Way – good development, 
design/character and mix 

4 

Controlled parking - Review existing staggered times, Ensure enforcement of illegal parking; Controlled parking – 
Review have staggered times not all day; Consider better enforcement of illegal parking and controlled parking review 

4 

London Road congestion issues; London Road issues – traffic speed and parking on pavements 4 

Mixed building heights appropriate to context 3 

Site 1 – no taller than 6 storeys – flooding 3 

Site 3 – Multi-functional commercial build ie Art Gallery in landscape setting (social enterprise?) 3 

Site 4 – Taller building at roundabout going down towards Site 3 residential and second primary to serve 3 

Sunnyside site make more visible and promote to public; Open up Sunnyhill Trust (visual and advertising – awareness) 3 

Widen Durrants Hill bridge/Widen of Durrants Hill 3 

P
age 214



 53 

Keep Site 3 green 2 

Open Durrants Lakes (currently hidden)/Durrants Lakes is unknown – open the area up to the public and 
promote/advertise it 

2 

Signage improvements; Improve signage/info at key points ie Station, Two Waters Road 2 

Site 1 – Gateway mixed use with rail/residential/parking 2 

Behaviour change - Car free flat system at planning stage but need to ensure alternative transport in place 1 

Better use of GP Surgery 1 

Boulevarding – trees along London Road 1 

Consideration and protection for wildlife 1 

Design to be good – bricks, roof pitched 1 

Height at Plough roundabout 1 

High rise not in character 1 

Infrastructure – schools, hospital GP 1 

London Road frontages – existing property relationship 1 

New build sustainable transport without penalising existing builds 1 

Provide educational facilities to use moors/Durrants/Sunnyside 1 

Site 1 –  Office and transport hub including bikes/ E vehicles MSCP 1 

Site 2: 3-4 storeys. Similar principles to Site 1. Similar to recent Apsley Lock developments. 1 

Site 3 and west of Site 2 – statement architecture/buildings 1 

Walking buses for schools 1 

 

  

P
age 215



 54 

3.3.4 DBC Response to the Prioritisation Exercise 
Due to the large amount of data collected and based on feedback from participants,  DBC acknowledges that there was too much information 
to be looked through and analysed meaningfully by participants during the limited time. Therefore, whilst DBC will be taking in to account the 
prioritisation, DBC will be looking at all emerging priorities from all discussions  to ensure that that all comments and ideas are taken in to 
account.  

 
3.4 In Tray contributions 
 
As explained earlier, we supplied workshop participants with an “In Tray” where they could add notes on any topic that did not fit into the 
discussions on their tables. This is the record of those notes, which have all been passed on to the appropriate Council Officer or Department. 
 
Table 3.4: Morning Session In Tray contributions 

Does this process have time to impact Planning Applications already in for 499/501 London Road 

Beacon Developers already submitted plans – will they be passed without reference to what is decided re height 

There should be evening meetings to accommodate residents who work – I took a day off work 

Evening consultation sessions needed 

Use of social media to reach community/get feedback 

Run consultation on parking please! 

Kodak Tower parking underutilised due to costs 

Submitted plans may be good. Play Devil’s Advocate and consider what an aggressive developer could do to suit themselves not the 
community. 

There is a feeling that the Council are on the Developers side rather than the Residents 

The high rise at Aldi was unwanted but went ahead anyway – we felt that we were asked our opinion for lip service – it made no difference! 

Evening consultation too please 

Please thank Bin Men who collect from Puller Road who negotiate selfish parking every week 

Could location of station (HH) and (Apsley) be moved? 

Communication to ALL in this area needed 

Include communication in Dacorum Digest 

Need improved roads and pavements 

P
age 216



 55 

Please can we have a face to face group meeting to discuss controlled parking in Boxmoor 

The consultation was not made accessible to enough people. It excluded people that can’t take time off work eg teachers, people that are 
self-employed, people with very young children to name but a few. In my view there has not been enough opportunity for transparency. 

Please improve the way you communicate with residents about things like the consultation. Not many people had heard about it. I estimate 
that only around 30 residents will have been represented today. For something that will affect so many people in the area, that is not good 
enough. 
 

 
Table 3.5: Afternoon Session In Tray contributions 

Design detail and attention to detail create sense of place 

Blackbirds parking zones 

Speed up parking scheme implementation (Boxmoor) 

Marlowes parking particularly outside multi storey and shops all uses 

 
 
Table 3.6: DBC responses to the In Tray contributions 

In Tray topic DBC Comment on In Tray 

Existing planning applications Planning applications submitted prior to the completion of the masterplan will be considered in 
accordance with the usual planning application process. In the absence of any planning guidance, 
the Council cannot control planning applications coming forward and more importantly we cannot 
refuse them without relevant guidance for material consideration. We are working as quickly as 
possible to get the masterplan in place but need to ensure that the document is robust. The new 
masterplan will eventually give us a sound document to guide new development in the area and 
avoid inappropriate development.  
 

P
age 217



 56 

Communications and timings of the 
workshops 

The workshops were scheduled during the day to ensure that a mix of public as well as key 
stakeholders such as Network Rail, Boxmoor Trust, Hertfordshire County Council and local 
Councillors were available to attend to contribute to discussions and respond to queries that arose 
during the day.   
 
A small number of people contacted us with concerns regarding the timings of the workshops and in 
response were given the opportunity to feed into the consultation by sending their thoughts on the 
same issue discussed during the workshops. 
  
There will be further opportunity to comment on the draft Masterplan later in the year when it goes 
out to consultation. More information will be available at www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration 
  
Following the first round of consultation held in November, which was widely advertised via the local 
newspaper, community noticeboards, local schools, Dacorum’s website, Dacorum Business 
Ambassadors, Council social media,  and then shared on local social media groups, local businesses 
we received written responses from around 190 residents and stakeholders. Priority invitations to 
the January workshops were sent to each of the respondents who had indicated that they would like 
to have future involvement. The remaining spaces were then advertised via the Councils social 
media pages, local Councillors  and ‘shared’ with other community pages such as Keep Boxmoor 
Beautiful and Hemel Hempstead Community and Conversation. 
 

 

 
 
 
 

P
age 218

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration


 57 

4. Conclusions 
 

The overwhelming and repeated message was that the residents wanted developments that were designed to complement the surrounding 
buildings. They wanted imaginative designs with the right character to create a village or community feel for the Two Waters development as a 
whole.  
 
It was felt important to consider the views and vistas onto and from the moors. Green space should be protected and access opened up to 
Durrants Lakes. 
 
Congestion was highlighted as a major issue in the area and there was agreement that public transport needs to be improved along with other 
creative solutions to ease the issue. 
 
There was general support for Sites 1 and 2 being used for low-rise residential or mixed use with a family focus. Although there was mixed 
opinion on acceptable heights there was a preferred view that 3 – 4 storeys would be appropriate. Feedback emphasised the need to avoid 
creating dormitory areas with no community facilities. There was mixed opinion on what use should be made of Site 3 with residential being 
acceptable to some and other groups expressing that there should be no development on Site 3. Site 4 was seen as appropriate for mixed use 
with taller buildings up to 17 storeys permitted closer to the Plough roundabout. 
 
The conclusion of the prioritisation exercise shows that the Masterplan must recognise the importance of providing sustainable transport. All 
groups agreed that excellent public transport links and pedestrian routes were needed to and from the station and town centre. A number of 
the participants  were concerned by the existing lack of provision of car parking at the station. The participants also wished to encourage good 
cycle and pedestrian access to the developments. Improvements to the access given by the tow path were also deemed important. 

 
 
 

P
age 219



 58 

5. Evaluation form responses 
 
At the end of each workshop, every participant was asked to fill in an evaluation form which consisted of the questions below. Each question 
was scored out of 5, where 0 was judged to be very poor and 5 was excellent.  The results from both workshops have been collated at the 
bottom of the table. 
 

How useful 
and relevant 
did you find 

today's event? 

How useful did 
you find the 
Consultation 

café approach 

Were the 
materials 

and 
information 
presented in 
a clear and 
informative 

manner? 

How 
suitable 
was the 

venue for 
the 

event? 

What did 
you think of 

the 
performance 

of the 
facilitators? 

3 words to describe 
today's event 

Other notes 

5 5 4 4 4 Informative, Helpful, 
Useful 

 

4 4 5 5 4 Interesting, Challenging, 
Inconclusive 

 

4 5     Will planning in the area be 
put on hold until all of this is 
considered? 

5 5 5 5 5 Informative, well planned  

5 4 5 5 4 Informative, Helpful  

4 5 4 4 4 Efficient, informative, 
helpful 

 

4 4 3 4 4 Efficient, Encompassing, 
Relevant 

 

P
age 220



 59 

4 5 4 4 4 Interesting, Challenging, 
Engaging 

Mainly good. Last session 
facilitator (traffic) was not 
open about plans etc already 
made but she was in difficult 
position conflict as 
resident/Council rep 

5 5 4 5 5 Useful, Organised, 
Comfortable 

 

3.5 4.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 Informative, Useful, 
thought provoking 

 

4 4 4 4 4 Informative, Frustrated, 
Despondent 

Ran out of time - feeling 
down hearted after final 
group discussion - if roads 
can't be sorted and there's 
no money what's the point 

4 4 4 5 5   

5 5 4 5 5 Organised, Consensus, 
Thought provoking 

 

4 4 4 4 3 Informative The stars method is not 
helpful 

4 4 4 4 4 Informative, Organised, 
Unknown 

Must play Devil's Advocate, 
not be too idealistic about 
developers sticking to 
minimalist plans! No 
underground car parks on 
flood plains. Need more 
stars! 

P
age 221



 60 

4 3 4 5 3 Interesting, Prompt, 
Organised 

Hated stars idea - not needed 
and patronising 

4 4 4 4 4 Interesting, focused, 
useful 

Needed another star for 
"parking" 

4 5 4 5 4 Informative, Well -run, 
Organised 

Helpful to have idea of 
questions in advance though I 
hadn't been able to check 
email so this may have been 
sent 

4 4      

       

80.5 83.5 69.5 75.5 69.5 Total points awarded  

4.24 4.39 4.09 4.44 4.09 Average points awarded 
per participant 

 

  

P
age 222



 61 

Afternoon 
Workshop 

      

How useful 
and relevant 
did you find 

today's event? 

How useful did 
you find the 
Consultation 

café approach 

Were the 
materials 

and 
information 
presented in 
a clear and 
informative 

manner? 

How 
suitable 
was the 

venue for 
the 

event? 

What did 
you think of 

the 
performance 

of the 
facilitators? 

3 words to describe 
today's event 

Other notes 

4 4 4 5 4   

4 4 4 3 4 Informative, Interesting, 
Useful 

(About venue) No coffee in 
room, heating loud 

4 5 4 5 5 Interesting, enjoyable, 
useful 

 

4 4 4 3 4  Coffee inside room would 
have been nice 

4 4 4 5 4   

4 4 4 4 4 Interesting, Informative, 
Collaborative 

Very well run event 

4 4 4 4 4 Informative   

4 4 4 4 4 Good  

5 5 5 5 5  Well managed/structured. 
Clear topics/discussion 
points. Council staff very 
helpful. 

4 4 4 4 4 Easy, informative, fun  

P
age 223



 62 

4 4 4 5 4 Informative, Interactive, 
Engaging 

 

5 4 3 5 5 Engaging, Well organised, 
Got through all topics 

Facilitators very organised, 
accommodating of all 
opinions. Some of the A3 
documents had excellent info 
EG CP2 but were not 
highlighted. Images of 
architectural buildings is hard 
to manage expectations of 
what will come forward. 

4 5 5 4 5 Useful Fine so long as DBC take 
notice! 

4 4 4 4 4   

3 4      

4 4 3 4 3 Interesting, diverse, 
informative 

 

       

65 67 60 64 63 Total points awarded  

4.06 4.19 4 4.27 4.2 Average points awarded 
per participant 

 

 
  

P
age 224



 63 

6. List of participants 
 

Morning consultation 
Heather Al-Jawad 
Wael Al-Jawad 
Alison Alexander 
William Allen 
Jill Broadbent 
Tony Broadbent 
Nick Brown 
Stephanie Canadas 
Odette Carter 
 

Andrew Charlwood 
Abigail Evans 
Rozz Evans 
Neil Harden 
Ben Hosier 
Patrick Hughes 
Pauline Hughes 
Kirsten Maidment 
Tricia Maloney 
 

Jacqui Parr 
Amanda Parry 
Leigh Parry 
Peter Phillips 
Lindsey Simpson 
David Smith 
Jacqui Smith 
Vera Stimson 
Rupert Thacker 

 
 

Afternoon consultation 
Alan Anderson 
Angela Attard 
Bob Buckell 
Odette Carter 
Margaret Elwick 
Nick Gough 
Sam Graham 
Dan Hardy 
Cllr Tina Howard 
John Ingleby 
David Kirk 
Kate Lewis 
 

David Lomas 
Sarah Lovejoy 
Marian Mackness 
Cllr Marshall 
Mr O’Connor 
Mrs O’Connor 
Rebecca Oblein 
Matthew Rees 
Christine Ridley 
Mike Ridley 
Ashley Stower 
Andrew Williams 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 225



 64 

Table Hosts and Scribes 

Laura Wood (DBC) 
Nathalie Bateman (DBC) 
Jason Seed (DBC) 
Claire Covington (DBC) 
Tom Rudd (BDP) 
Chris Taylor (DBC) 
Gergana Draganova (BDP) 
Stephane Lambert (DBC) 
Robert Freeman (DBC) 
Rebecca Williams (DBC) 
Matthew Allsop (HCC) 
Emma Cooper (DBC) 
Jo Deacon (DBC) 
Steve Wilson (DBC) 
Shalini Jayasinghe (DBC) 
 
 

P
age 226



 

Appendix A to Two Waters Masterplan Consultation Report – January 2017  i 

Appendices to the Report on the Two Waters Masterplan 
Consultation Report held on 26th January 2017  
  
Appendix A - Submissions to the consultation that were 
sent by email by people who could not attend the events 
 
Please note: These submissions included the names and addresses of each resident, but to 
protect the personal data of individuals, this information has been removed for this report. 
 
Submission 1 
Thank you for the opportunity to respond to the questions raised during the 
workshop.  Here are my responses: 
 
1). Mixed land use would be preferable to balance out residential and commercial 
use.  There should also be land use for additional amenities that would be required such as 
doctors and education facilities. 
 
2) a) I think it is essential to understand in more detail (by conducting a local survey or 
similar) how people are using London Road and what their end destination is.  Once you 
know that then it is possible then to assess whether public transport can support but also 
any planning development should be reviewed with a realistic view on additional 
congestion.   
B) To manage congestion, I think that there should not be high density developments near 
to current points of congestion (eg. The roundabout by the train station and fishery road).  
 
3 b) there needs to be more provision for parking at the station.  And with any new 
development, there needs to be a realistic amount of parking available. 
 
4a The moor land that runs along London road should be protected. 
 
5) I am very opposed to taller/high density development in the area by the train station.  It 
is completely out of keeping with the local area (one of the considerations of the master 
plan) and would cause strain on an already stretched infrastructure.   The building designs 
outlined in the document entitled building design do not seem to reflect some of the 
designs that have been shared by developers for taller/high density buildings.  In the 
document most of these would in principle be OK as they do not go any higher than 5 
storeys - my preferences would be for 11, 8, 9 and 5. 
 
I would like to add that I am happy to take part in any further consultations - I also assume 
that any current planning application in the area will be sympathetic to the master plan 
consultations to date. 
 
 
 
 

Page 227



 

Appendix A to Two Waters Masterplan Consultation Report – January 2017  ii 

Submission 2 
 
Good Afternoon, 
  
Unfortunately due to the timing of the consultation workshop I was unable to attend 
however, have completed the online survey. 
  
Whilst I understand and agree that the Two Waters area is in need of regeneration, it has to 
be in keeping with the local area. 
  
The lower London Road area (by the moor and the station) is a particularly beautiful area 
and has to be regenerated sympathetically. This cannot happen if tower blocks or ‘taller 
buildings’ as it seems they are being referred to as are to be built there. 
  
This part of the redevelopment should be have buildings no bigger than are presently in the 
immediate are, so perhaps 4/5 storeys high. 
  
Hemel Hempstead is a reasonably nice town with Boxmoor being the most picturesque part, 
we don’t have any other residential part that is as nice, why would we want to damage that 
are with a tower block/taller building and everything that that brings with it? 
  
In conclusion, whilst I agree with regeneration and some of the master plan, I will continue 
to object strongly to any further tower block/taller buildings. 
 
Submission 3 
 
Response to Two Waters Consultation 
30th Jan 2017 
I strongly believe that local residents should have a strong voice in the development of this 
area, 
1a and b Land use.   Site 1.  Mixture of residential and business; mostly residential with 
the business use closer to the station.  I am not against new development but want tit to be 
appropriate. 
Site 2.  Mixture of residential and business; mostly residential with the business use closer 
to Two waters way and the traffic lights at Two Waters. 
Site 3. Open space or residential 
Site 4 Employment or retail, possibly some housing south of the canal. 
 
2a and b It is going to be very difficult to persuade people not to take their cars to the 
station.  Regular and reliable public transport, preferably not petrol or diesel, linking Hemel 
Station to Hemel Hempstead centres and Maylands might help.  Providing better car parking 
sounds like a good idea on the face of it but would just encourage more traffic in the area, 
so I don’t think this is an answer.  I am a leisure cyclist and use the new cycle path but I 
would not want to have used my bike to get to the station for work.  As a teacher (now 
retired), I had books to carry and wanted to look smart when I arrived at my work place. I 
am also aware that most people would be cycling up hill to get home from the main station, 

Page 228



 

Appendix A to Two Waters Masterplan Consultation Report – January 2017  iii 

not something that is much fun after a full day’s work.  Dedicated cycle paths, where these 
can be created, might attract a few people out of their cars though.  
    
3a and b  See above.  As long as there are charges for parking at the station, people 
who can’t be persuaded out of their cars will always use the nearby roads.  I live in one of 
these roads where there is a ban on parking for one hour in the day, around midday, and 
this has worked well for us but I suppose the cars have simply moved elsewhere.  Providing 
free/cheap parking at the station might take some cars off the nearby roads but would 
probably encourage more people to use their cars so I see the dilemma here.  Perhaps 
people who can prove that they have used public transport, cycled or walked to the station 
could be given some sort of reward through the discounting of train tickets. 
 
4a The Boxmoor Trust land in the designated area needs protecting as do the areas 
surrounding the canal and the River Bulbourne.  Views of the Chiltern Hills towards Upper 
and Lower Roughdown and Felden need to be respected.  Buildings adjoining the Boxmoor 
Trust land should be in keeping with the rural/village aspect of this area,   
 
4b The Boxmoor Trust land is already well used.  I like to see the land grazed and I am 
sure many other locals do.  Dog walkers, walkers and runners use the area.  In summer, 
people picnic by and paddle in the Bulbourne.  Lots of photographers take photos.  Events 
are held on the Moor.  There is an excellent children’s adventure playground near Camelot 
Rugby Club; something like that in Site 3 might be a good idea. 
 
5a For the area bounding the Boxmoor Trust land, I prefer 6, 11 and 8 followed by 4, 5 
and 2.  
 
b I would limit building height in this area to 4 stories.  I believe that high rise dwellings 
should have no position in the area as they would not fit in with the “sense of place”.  I also 
believe that high rise residential buildings are not places where families live happy and 
fulfilled lives.  I believe that various academic studies back up this view.  We already have 
the old Kodak building and this is one high rise building too many in my opinion.  I was 
appalled that planning permission was granted for the Beacon.  This type of development 
might be appropriate for canary Wharf but not here bordering the Moor.  
  

Page 229



 

Appendix A to Two Waters Masterplan Consultation Report – January 2017  iv 

 
Submission 4 

 

Page 230



 

Appendix A to Two Waters Masterplan Consultation Report – January 2017  v 

 
  

Page 231



 

Appendix B to Two Waters Masterplan Consultation Report – January 2017  i 

Appendix B - Photographs of the Flip Chart “conclusion” 
sheets generated by the groups 
 
Morning session  
Table 1 

 
 

 
  

Page 232



 

Appendix B to Two Waters Masterplan Consultation Report – January 2017  ii 

Table 2 

 
 

 
  

Page 233



 

Appendix B to Two Waters Masterplan Consultation Report – January 2017  iii 

Table 3 

 
 

 
 

Page 234



 

Appendix B to Two Waters Masterplan Consultation Report – January 2017  iv 

 
 
Table 4 

 
 
 

Page 235



 

Appendix B to Two Waters Masterplan Consultation Report – January 2017  v 

 
 

 
  

Page 236



 

Appendix B to Two Waters Masterplan Consultation Report – January 2017  vi 

 
Table 5 

 
 

 
 
  

Page 237



 

Appendix B to Two Waters Masterplan Consultation Report – January 2017  vii 

 
 
Afternoon session  
Table 1 

 
 
 
  

Page 238



 

Appendix B to Two Waters Masterplan Consultation Report – January 2017  viii 

Table 2

 
 

 
 

 
  

Page 239



 

Appendix B to Two Waters Masterplan Consultation Report – January 2017  ix 

Table 3 

 
 

 
 

 
  

Page 240



 

Appendix B to Two Waters Masterplan Consultation Report – January 2017  x 

Table 4 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 241



 

Appendix B to Two Waters Masterplan Consultation Report – January 2017  xi 

Table 5 

 
 

 
 

Page 242



 

Appendix B to Two Waters Masterplan Consultation Report – January 2017  xii Page 243



 

Appendix C to Two Waters Masterplan Consultation Report – January 2017  i 

Appendix C - The detail of the prioritisation exercise results 
by session 
 
Morning Consultation 
 

Item Number 
of stars 

Came from 
Table/ Group 

Concerns that discussions at consultation will be taken over 
by planning application ie Masterplan too late! 

7 1 Green 

No development taller than 3-4 storeys high 7 4 Green 

Maintain improve vistas from and onto the moors and 
Felden/Roughdown and Boxmoor 

7 4 Orange 

Site 1 – 3-4 storeys. Views. Step up away from road and 
town. Views from Felden and Canal improves. Village/rural 
feel. Emulate style by Steam Coach. 

7 5 Orange 

New development parking spaces need to be realistic – 
there will be cars! 

4 3 Blue 

Sustainable transport: Consider options, buses cycle etc; 
shared communal/parking areas; Realistic about current use 
and need for cars and parking provision but consider future 
transport options to reduce car use; Park and Ride 

4 3 Orange 

More family focused housing 3 1 Pink 

London Road congestion issues 3 2 Green 

Affordable parking at station and more spaces 3 2 Orange 

Site 1 – no taller than 6 storeys – flooding 3 5 Aqua 

Site 1 + 2 focus on family housing 2 1 Orange 

Direct bus link between Hemel and Apsley stations 2 2 Aqua 

Controlled parking - Review existing staggered times, Ensure 
enforcement of illegal parking 

2 3 Aqua 

Development – be realistic about spaces per unit 2 3 Orange 

High rise not in character 1 1 Pink 

Improved links to station (pedestrian, cycle and bus) 1 2 Blue 

Affordable station parking and more of it 1 2 Blue 

Sustainable transport: Encourage public TransPDA at new 
business/retail developments; Encourage cycles; ‘Boris 
Bikes’ at key sites; Improve links/ safe routes; Communicate 
bus travel sources 

1 3 Aqua 

Regular and cost effective bus travel 1 3 Blue 

Station Multi Storey car park? 1 3 Green 

Station Car Park management issue 1 3 Green 

Controlled parking – Review have staggered times not all 
day 

1 3 Orange 

Open Durrants Lakes (currently hidden) 1 4 Aqua 

Improve signage/info at key points ie Station, Two Waters 
Road 

1 4 Blue 

Page 244



 

Appendix C to Two Waters Masterplan Consultation Report – January 2017  ii 

Open up Sunnyhill Trust (visual and advertising – 
awareness) 

1 4 Blue 

Provide educational facilities to use 
moors/Durrants/Sunnyside 

1 4 Pink 

Site 2: 3-4 storeys. Similar principles to Site 1. Similar to 
recent Apsley Lock developments. 

1 5 Orange 

 
 
Afternoon Consultation 
 

Item Number 
of stars 

Came from 
Table/ Group 

Tow path and access improvements along whole length of 
canal 

5 4 Aqua 

Improved bus services – station/TC/Maylands 4 2 Blue 

Behaviour/Culture change Make car unattractive – but need 
to ensure provision of bus/cycle/pedestrian links 

4 3 Pink 

Site 3 –  Multi-functional commercial build ie Art Gallery in 
landscape setting (social enterprise?) 

3 1 Aqua 

Site 4 – Taller building at roundabout going down towards 
Site 3 residential and second primary to serve 

3 1 Green 

Apsley Lock and Berkhamsted by canal = good design 3 5 Blue 

Mixed building heights appropriate to context 3 5 Pink 

Site 1 – Gateway mixed use with rail/residential/parking 2 1 Pink 

Widen Durrants Hill bridge 2 2 Green 

Sustainable transport routes to station 2 3 Blue 

Change of behaviour – communicate that Two Waters is a 
sustainable transport hub with good rail links 

2 3 Blue 

Tow path surface improvements and improve all access 
points for buggies, wheelchairs etc 

2 4 Blue 

Sunnyside site make more visible and promote to public 2 4 Orange 

Keep Site 3 green 2 4 Pink 

Site 1 –  Office and transport hub including bikes/ E vehicles 
MSCP 

1 1 Aqua 

Site 2 – Residential (family mix) with obvious school 1 1 Green 

Better use of GP Surgery 1 1 Orange 

Review bus routes/usage 1 2 Aqua 

Walking buses for schools 1 2 Aqua 

Signage improvements 1 2 Blue 

London Road issues – traffic speed and parking on 
pavements 

1 2 Blue 

Widen of Durrants Hill 1 2 Orange 

New build sustainable transport without penalising existing 
builds 

1 2 Pink 

Behaviour change - Car free flat system at planning stage 
but need to ensure alternative transport in place 

1 3 Aqua 

Page 245



 

Appendix C to Two Waters Masterplan Consultation Report – January 2017  iii 

Consider better enforcement of illegal parking and 
controlled parking review 

1 3 Pink 

Consideration and protection for wildlife 1 4 Aqua 

Improve tow paths and access to/from them 1 4 Green 

Durrants Lakes is unknown – open the area up to the public 
and promote/advertise it 

1 4 Pink 

Design to be good – bricks, roof pitched 1 5 Blue 

London Road frontages – existing property relationship 1 5 Blue 

Site 1 – 3 storeys, no higher 1 5 Blue 

Infrastructure – schools, hospital GP 1 5 Green 

Height at Plough roundabout 1 5 Green 

Site 3 and west of Site 2 – statement architecture/buildings 1 5 Green 

Apsley Lock, Fourdrinier Way – good development, 
design/character and mix 

1 5 Orange 

Boulevarding – trees along London Road 1 5 Pink 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 246



Appendix 4: 

Copies of invitations for Round 2 consultation 

workshops. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 247



Copy of invitation to public and stakeholders  
 
 

Page 248



Copy of letter to Councillors 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 249



 

 

 

on 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Two Waters Masterplan Workshop 
 

You are invited to attend one of our Two Waters  

Masterplanning Workshops on Thursday 26 January: 

8:45 – 12:00 

South Hill Centre 

13:15 – 16:30 

South Hill Centre 

The workshop aims to: 

  Seek solutions to address issues identified in the November consultation 

 Develop key design principles outlined in the November consultation 
 
Spaces are limited, to book your place at one of these sessions visit: 

www.twowaters.eventbrite.co.uk  
 

Page 250

http://www.twowaters.eventbrite.co.uk/


Appendix 5: 

List of Steering Group Members 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 251



Two Waters Masterplan – Steering Group Members 

Name Organisation 

Tom Rudd BDP 

Gergana Draganova BDP 

James Doe Planning Development & Regeneration, DBC 

Chris Taylor Strategic Planning & Regeneration (SPAR), DBC 

Nathalie Bateman Infrastructure & Project Delivery, DBC 

Shalini Jayasinghe Infrastructure & Project Delivery, DBC 

Rebecca Williams Strategic Planning & Regeneration, DBC 

Robert Freeman Infrastructure & Project Delivery, DBC 

Rebecca Oblein Team Leader, Enterprise and Investment, DBC 

Sara Whelan Development Management & Planning, DBC 

Paul Newton Development Management, DBC 

Philip Stanley Development Management, DBC 

Jason Seed Development Management, DBC 

Chris Troy Environmental Health, DBC 

Andrew Freeman Hertfordshire County Council (Highways) 

Rupert Thacker Hertfordshire County Council (Highways) 

Nick Gough Hertfordshire County Council (Highways) 

Odette Carter Hertfordshire County Council (Highways) 

Sarah McLaughlin Hertfordshire County Council (Development Services, Property) 

Trevor Mason Hertfordshire County Council (Highways) 

Matthew Wilson Hertfordshire County Council (Development Services) 

Alexandra Stevens Hertfordshire County Council (Development Services) 

Andrea Gilmour Hertfordshire County Council (Development Services, Property) 

Dan Hardy Hertfordshire County Council (Children’s Services) 

Sam Thrower Urban Flow 

Simon Adams Urban Flow 

Guy Ingham GL Hearne 

George Barnes GL Hearne 

Page 252



Appendix 6: 

Final Consultation Report Round 3 Consultation July – August 17 (February 2018) 

(amended following Strategic Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee, October 2017) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 253



1 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Two Waters Masterplan Guidance Public and Stakeholder Consultation 3  

(July – August 2017) 

Consultation Report  

February 2018 

 

 

                                                                                                                           

P
age 254



2 
 

Contents       Page 

Executive Summary      3 

1. Introduction      8                                                                                                                                            

2. Previous Consultations     8 

3. Draft Masterplan Guidance Consultation Overview 9 

4. Questionnaire findings     10 

5. Key Consultation Themes and Council Responses  16 

6. Conclusion       26 

 

Appendix A:  Summary of Respondents’ Comments,   27 
the Council’s Responses and proposed amendments  
to the Masterplan Guidance 
Appendix B:  Summary of Stakeholders’ Comments,   87 
Council’s Responses and proposed amendments. 
Appendix C: Copy of questionnaire    115 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 255



3 
 

 

Executive Summary  

 Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) has commissioned BDP to build 

on the Two Waters Strategic Framework (November 2015) and 

prepare the Two Waters Masterplan Guidance report. This 

Consultation Report presents an overview of the findings from 

the third Two Waters Consultation that was run from 6th July to 

16th August 2017. 

 

 Two previous rounds of consultation and several stakeholder 

discussions were held which informed the draft Two Waters 

Masterplan Guidance document. These included: 

o Discussions with local stakeholders, landowners and 

developers; 

o Public consultation events on Friday 4th November 2016 

and Saturday 5th November 2016 with consultation 

boards on display demonstrating initial masterplan 

concepts; 

o A questionnaire covering the key topics from the 
consultation boards available at the above drop-in events  
and online from 4th November to 18th November, allowing 
public to provide comments on proposals; and  

o Public and stakeholder workshops held on 26th January 
2017.  
 

 Following this third round of consultation DBC analysed 293 

questionnaire responses and public and stakeholder comments  

received via email and letters. A large number of responses were 

focussed on: 

 

o Heights and density of development and the character of 

the area;  

o The future of Sunnyside Rural Trust;  

o Open Space  

o Transport issues in the area; 

 

 A large number of respondents, whilst being supporting of the 

Masterplan Guidance in general, objected exclusively due to their 

concern regarding the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust.  

 

It was explained in the masterplan guidance that a site needed to 

be considered for a primary school for viability purposes and that 

the most expensive option, a new school was considered along 

withother uses including its existing use by Sunnyside Rural Trust. 

We would like to elaborate that the Council is wholly committed 

to working with Sunnyside Rural Trust to ensure that its valuable 

community service is retained and as the land owner DBC has no 

plans to develop the site. As a result of this consultation and 

further work with Hertfordshire County Council, we have 

removed the option of providing a school on Site 4 from the 

Masterplan Guidance. Should the site be no longer required for 

use by the Trust at some time in the future the Masterplan 

provides for the current site’s regeneration with guidelines as to 

what might be appropriate. DBC will continue to work with HCC 

to provide primary school places as required. 

 

 Key messages and DBC’s responses are outlined in the table 

below and in further detail in Sections 4 and 5 of this report.  

 

P
age 256



4 
 

  

Key message DBC Response 
Over half of all respondents to the questionnaire and many of the 
stakeholder respondents were supportive of the principles for  
‘Open Space and Sustainability ‘ with a further 22%  of 
questionnaire respondents objecting only due to their uncertainty 
regarding the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust.  
  

DBC acknowledges the support from respondents in this area. Two Waters 
is an area rich in its open space assets. The vision, objectives and guidance 
principles of the Two Waters Masterplan aims to protect and better utilise 
these assets. As a result of feedback from this consultation, principles 
around this theme, including mitigation of pollution have been 
strengthened.  
 

Nearly half of the questionnaire respondents and a majority of the 
stakeholders who provided responses in this area were supportive 
or broadly agreed with the Transport and Movement Overarching 
Guidance. A further 11% of questionnaire respondents did not 
support it only due to their uncertainty regarding the future of 
Sunnyside Rural Trust. 
 

DBC acknowledges the support from respondents in this area. A core 
vision of the Two Waters Masterplan Guidance is for sustainable 
development around the transport hubs and to improve sustainable 
transport and accessibility in the area. This is in keeping with National 
Policy. As a result of feedback from this consultation some amendments 
have been made to strengthen this area.  
 

One third of questionnaire respondents and a majority of the 
stakeholders who responded were supportive of the vision for Two 
Waters. A further 20% of questionnaire respondents did not 
support it only due to their uncertainty regarding the future of 
Sunnyside Rural Trust. 
 

DBC acknowledges the support from respondents in this area. As a result 
of feedback from this consultation some amendments have been made to 
strengthen the vision.  

Over 36% of questionnaire respondents and a majority of 
stakeholders were supportive of the objectives for the Two Waters 
Masterplan Guidance. A further 21% of questionnaire respondents 
did not support the objectives only due to their uncertainty 
regarding the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust.  
 

DBC acknowledges the support from respondents in this area. As a result 
of feedback from this consultation some amendments have been made to 
strengthen the objectives.  

Nearly one third of questionnaire respondents were supportive of 
the guidance principles for the Built Environment. A further 17% 
of questionnaire respondents did not support the objectives only 
due to their uncertainty regarding the future of Sunnyside Rural 

DBC acknowledges the support from respondents in this area. The 
guidance balances the varying priorities that need to be taken in to 
consideration in implementing the built environment strategy for Two 
Waters. As a result of feedback from this consultation some amendments 

P
age 257



5 
 

Key message DBC Response 
Trust.  
  

have been made to strengthen this area of the guidance.  
 

In general approximately one quarter of respondents were 
supportive of the guidance principles for Sites 1 – 4 with further 
significant percentages (7% - 20%) objecting only due to their 
uncertainty regarding the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust.  Only 
Site 1 had over 50% of questionnaire respondents objecting to 
development, primarily opposing high scale development. 
 

DBC acknowledges the support from respondents on guidance for 
development . Concerns raised have been responded to below and in 
Section 5 and Appendices A and B below. As a result of feedback from this 
consultation amendments have been made to strengthen this area of the 
guidance. See Appendix A for proposed changes to the Masterplan 
Guidance. 
 

Out of those who objected, there was opposition to higher scale 
and density, particularly on Site 1 

DBC acknowledges the concerns raised. The Masterplan Guidance has 
been prepared through the careful consideration of a number of factors.  
 
Two Waters area is an important strategic location and has the potential 
to accommodate new development that promotes a sustainable mix of 
land uses. Due to its location, development will come forward in this area 
through the market even if there is no specific masterplan. The masterplan 
guidance sets out a level of development that can be accommodated 
within the area.  In addition, to minimise the impact on the wider 
countryside, we need to consider and take forward housing proposals 
within town boundaries and higher densities around transport nodes such 
as Hemel Hempstead railway station. 
 
However as a result of this consultation, the maximum height proposed 
for some isolated buildings within Site 1 will be reduced from eight storeys 
to six storeys. A majority of the buildings, particularly those fronting 
London Road remain at a maximum of 4 storeys.  
 
Further modifications will also be made to the Masterplan Guidance 
following this round of consultation including strengthening the 
overarching and site specific guidelines on scale and design.  
 

A large number of respondents expressed concern about the future DBC acknowledges the concerns raised.  

P
age 258



6 
 

Key message DBC Response 
of Sunnyside Rural Trust.  
 

It was explained in the masterplan guidance that a site needed to be 
considered for a primary school for viability purposes and that the most 
expensive option, a new school was considered along with other uses 
including its existing use by Sunnyside Rural Trust. We would like to 
elaborate that the Council is wholly committed to working with Sunnyside 
Rural Trust to ensure that its valuable community service is retained and 
as the land owner DBC has no plans to develop the site.  
 
As a result of this consultation and further work with Hertfordshire County 
Council, we have removed the option of providing a school on Site 4 from 
the Masterplan Guidance. Should the site be no longer required for use by 
the Trust at some time in the future the Masterplan provides for the 
current site’s regeneration with guidelines as to what might be 
appropriate. DBC will continue to work with HCC to provide primary school 
places as required. 
 
 

There was some concern regarding a tall landmark  building at the 
Plough Roundabout 

DBC acknowledges the concerns raised. Taller buildings are an important 
part of an urban streetscape . Tall buildings are considered appropriate in 
this location given that it is the town centre gateway and adjacent to 
existing taller buildings. All development coming forward including taller 
buildings would need to adhere to statutory requirements.  Further 
assessments will be required through the planning application process to 
ensure that any development coming forward is acceptable.  
 

There was some concern that development around the moors and 
Boxmoor may detract from the natural assets and character of the 
area. 
 

DBC acknowledges the concerns raised. Guidelines have been included to 
protect the moors and minimise the impact of any new development on 
the character of the area. As a result of this consultation, the guidance in 
this area has been strengthened and the maximum height of buildings on 
Site 1 has been reduced from eight storeys to six storeys. A majority of the 
buildings, particularly those fronting London Road remain at 4 storeys. 
 

P
age 259



7 
 

Key message DBC Response 
Of those who objected, there was concern that the scale of 
development will exacerbate existing transport and parking issues 
and scepticism regarding proposed modal shift towards sustainable 
transport alternatives to reduce car use. 
 

DBC acknowledges the concerns raised. As part of developing the 
Masterplan Guidance we have worked closely with HCC highways to 
ensure they have identified proposals to tackle issues. This is being taken 
forward through the emerging South West Herts Growth and Transport 
Plan which identifies a number of both local and strategic projects. As and 
when sites come forward for development, further assessments and 
mitigating measures will be required through the planning application 
process.  

 
National Policy has moved towards securing more sustainable travel 
outcomes with emphasis on minimising the need to travel, reducing car 
use and encouraging more sustainable modes of transport.  See Section 5 
for a detailed response.  
 

There was some concern about the provision of sufficient 
infrastructure to support additional residential development.  
 

DBC acknowledges the concerns raised. Infrastructure improvements have 
been identified where appropriate to the scope of the masterplan and will 
be expected to be delivered through CIL and other contributions/funding 
received, as and when development comes forward. DBC has a dedicated 
team who will continue to work with other departments and 
infrastructure providers including Hertfordshire County Council to 
facilitate delivery of required infrastructure.  
 

 

 

 The sections below analyse and detail the responses received 

and provide DBC’s responses to key themes that emerged as well 

as to a summary of comments received. 

 

 Changes will be made to the draft Two Waters Masterplan 

Guidance report as a result of this consultation. Details of the 

changes are outlined in Appendix A. 

 

P
age 260



8 
 

 The final Two Waters Masterplan Guidance is expected to be 

submitted to Cabinet and Full Council in 2018 with the 

recommendation for adoption.  

 

1. Introduction  

Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) has commissioned BDP to build on the 

Two Waters Strategic Framework (November, 2015) and prepare the Two 

Waters Masterplan Guidance. The Masterplan Guidance will inform 

emerging planning policy including the content of Dacorum’s new Local 

Plan and guide future development in Two Waters.  

The Masterplan Guidance will shape future development in Two Waters 

and play an important role in ensuring that development in the area is 

planned and designed in the best possible way to deliver an attractive, 

sustainable and balanced environment fit for the future.  The Masterplan 

Guidance will also inform emerging planning policy including the content 

of Dacorum’s new Local Plan. It is envisioned that the Masterplan 

Guidance will be initially adopted by DBC’s Council as a planning 

statement and will then be adopted as a Supplementary Planning 

Document (SPD) supporting the new Dacorum Local Plan.  

Pursuant to Section 12.A of the Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) (as Amended) Regulations 2012 and in accordance 

with DBC’s Statement of Community Involvement (July, 2016), this 

Consultation Report provides an overview of the third round of 

consultation – consultation on the draft Two Waters Masterplan 

Guidance document from 6th July – 16th August 2017.    

 

 

 

 

2. Previous Consultations  

Extensive consultation has been carried out over recent years in regard to 

the regeneration of Hemel Hempstead Town Centre, including work 

undertaken as part of the Core Strategy (adopted September, 2013) and 

consultation events related to the preparation of the Two Waters 

Strategic Framework (November, 2015). Three rounds of public and 

stakeholder consultation as well as focussed discussions with key 

stakeholders, landowners and developers have specifically informed the 

development of the Two Waters Masterplan Guidance.  

Details of previous rounds of consultation can be found on our website at 

www.dacorum.gov.uk./regeneration.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 261

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk./regeneration


9 
 

 

 

3. Draft Masterplan Guidance Consultation Overview 

Public consultation on the draft Two Waters Masterplan Guidance was 

carried out from Thursday 6th July until Wednesday 16th August 2017.  

The consultation was publicised in the local newspaper, through posters 

on local notice boards, posters at local businesses in Apsley/Boxmoor 

who agreed to display them, digital posters on the screens in Hemel 

Hempstead town centre and The Forum, Digital Digest, newsletters and 

regularly throughout the consultation period through social media.  

Emails or letters were also sent inviting all who had participated or 

responded to previous rounds of the Two Waters Masterplan Guidance 

consultation, stakeholders, statutory consultees and local businesses, to 

respond. In addition, emails/letters were also sent out to all those who 

had previously expressed an interest in participating in Strategic Planning 

and Regeneration consultations and had registered on the database. 

Details of the consultation were also emailed to DBC’s Online 

Consultation panel.  

An online questionnaire was available throughout the consultation period 

on the Dacorum Borough Council website along with all relevant 

background documents. Paper copies of the questionnaire and 

documents were also available at DBC’s deposit points in Hemel 

Hempstead, Tring and Berkhamsted at the libraries and Civic Centres.  

 

 

 

 

 

DBC received 293 questionnaire and email responses from the public. 

Further correspondence in letter and email format was also received 

from Buckinghamshire County Council, Campaign to Protect Rural 

England, The Chiltern Society, Chilterns Conservation Board, Countryside 

Access Officer (DBC), Environment Agency, Hertfordshire County Council, 

Hertfordshire Police, Historic England, Lumiere Developments, National 

Grid, Natural England, Network Rail, St William Homes, Thames Water, 

The Box Moor Trust and Boxmoor District Angling Society.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 262



10 
 

4. Questionnaire Findings 

This section contains the main findings from the questionnaire. The 

questionnaire findings are broadly divided in to two areas: 

 Quantitative analysis of the results. 

 Qualitative analysis of the comments and DBC responses. 

293 people submitted their views via the questionnaire. We received a 

further three responses by email/letter from members of the public and 

20 from stakeholders. Section 4 is based on comments received to the 

questionnaire. All responses have been included in the analysis in Section 

5. Appendices A and B summarise comments received from public and 

stakeholders via the questionnaire and/or letters/emails.  

Whilst a large proportion of respondents appeared to object to the 

Masterplanning Guidance, analysis of the results show that a significant 

number of the respondents who did not agree with all sections of the 

Masterplanning Guidance disagreed primarily due to their concerns 

regarding the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust, with some providing 

comments supporting the rest of the content of the document. The 

Council is committed to working with Sunnyside Rural Trust to ensure 

that this provision is not lost and the potential option for a primary school 

on Site 4 will be removed from Site 4. As such where this is the only 

objection noted, this objection is shown as a separate percentage. 

Furthermore, a percentage of respondents whilst selecting ‘no’ have 

provided comments that they broadly agree but have selected ‘no’ in 

order to comment on the detail of the proposals. Hence once more 

where the comments broadly agree, they have been identified as a 

separate percentage.  

 

 

Question 1. Do you support the ‘vision’ for Two Waters set out in 

section 4.1?

  

 

24.9% of respondents agreed with the vision for Two Waters and a 

further 5% broadly agreed but wished to comment on the detail. A 

further 20% indicated uncertainty over the future of Sunnyside Rural 

Trust as their reason for objection. 46.3% of respondents did not agree 

with the vision for Two Waters.  

Those who disagreed commented on developments being visually 

intrusive and generating extra traffic. A number of respondents queried 

the need for mixed-use developments around the station. 

 

24.90% 

46.30% 

20.00% 

5.00% 
3.80% Yes

No

Sunnyside Rural Trust
(No)

Broadly agree but
comment on details
(No)

No Opinion

P
age 263



11 
 

Question 2. Do you support the Objectives for the Two Waters 

Masterplan set out in section 4.2? 

 

 

32.9% of respondents agreed with the objectives for Two Waters whilst a 

further 4% broadly agreed and wanted to comment on the detail. A 

further 21% of respondents who disagreed stated the future of Sunnyside 

Rural Trust as the reason for not agreeing.  34.6% of respondents did not 

agree with the objectives for the Two Waters Masterplan.  

Concerns raised mainly centred on protecting the existing character and 

protecting green spaces and existing traffic congestion levels.  

 

 

Question 3. Do you support the Overarching Guidance principles for the 

‘Built Environment’ set out in section 5.10? 

 

 

Approximately a third of respondents agreed with the principles for the 

‘Built Environment’ with a further 17% indicating that the future of 

Sunnyside Rural Trust was their main reason for disagreeing.  45% of 

respondents did not agree.  

Those who objected generally did so due to their objection to building 

heights and loss of character in the area. A large number of those felt that 

building heights should be limited to 4 storeys throughout the Two 

Waters area.  

 

32.90% 

34.60% 

21.00% 

4.00% 
7.50% 

Yes

No

Sunnyside Rural Trust
(No)

Broadly agree but
comment on details
(No)

No Opinion

29.10% 

45.00% 

17.00% 

8.90% 

Yes

No

Sunnyside Rural Trust
(No)

No OpinionP
age 264



12 
 

Question 4. Do you support the Overarching Guidance for ‘Transport 

and Movement’ set out in section 5.2? 

 

 

Nearly half of respondents agreed or broadly agreed with the overarching 

guidance principles for transport and movement.  A further 11% of 

respondents stated the uncertain future of Sunnyside Rural Trust as the 

only reason for objecting.  30% of the respondents did not agree  

The main points of concern were an increase to congestion on already 

busy roads, and increased parking issues as more residential properties 

come forward with less allocated parking spaces.  

 

Question 5. Do you support the Overarching Guidance principles for 

‘Open Space and Sustainability’ set out in section 5.3? 

 

 

More than half of respondents supported the overarching guidance 

principles for open space and sustainability by agreeing or broadly 

agreeing with them.  A further 22% stated the unclear future of 

Sunnyside Rural Trust as the main reason for objecting. 10.9% of 

respondents did not support the guidance principles. 7 

Comments made focussed on protecting the moors and the character of 

the area.  

 

 

39.00% 

30.00% 

11.00% 

9.00% 

11.00% Yes

No

Sunnyside Rural Trust
(No)

Broadly agree but
comment on details (No)

No Opinion

49.50% 

10.90% 

22.00% 

5.00% 
12.60% Yes

No

Sunnyside Rural Trust (No)

Broadly agree but
comment on details (No)

No OpinionP
age 265



13 
 

Question 6. Do you support the development site guidance for Site 1 set 

out in section 6.1? 

 

 

Over 22% agreed or broadly agreed with the principles. A further 7% 

stated the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust as their reason for objection 

and 12% had no opinion.  However, 57.8% of the respondents did not 

support the development site guidance for Site 1.  

The main reasons given for not agreeing were concerns that the site 

would be overdeveloped and reservations over the maximum height of 

up to eight storeys.  

Other issues mentioned were additional congestion on already busy 

roads and further problems with insufficient parking spaces.  

Concerns over safeguarding the roman archaeology site were also 

expressed.  

Question 7. Do you support the site guidance for Site 2 set out in section 

6.2? 

 

 

Over quarter of respondents agreed on the principles for Site 2. A further 

13% commented that concerns over the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust 

was their main reason for objection and 18% had no opinion.  44% of 

respondents did not support the site guidance for Site 2.  

The main reason stated was the maximum heights proposed on the site 

which in some areas is stated as 6 or 8 storeys.  

 

 

 

 

20.90% 

57.80% 

7.00% 

2.00% 12.30% 
Yes

No

Sunnyside Rural Trust (No)

Broadly agree but
comment on details (No)

No Opinion

26.00% 

44.00% 

13.00% 

1.00% 
16.00% 

yes

No

Sunnyside Rural Trust (No)

Broadly agree but
comment on details (No)

No Opinion

P
age 266



14 
 

Question 8. Do you support the development site guidance for Site 3 set 

out in section 6.3? 

 

 

Over 28% of respondents agreed or broadly agreed with the guidance for 

Site 3.  A further 17% stated the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust as the 

main reason for objection and 18% had no opinion. 36.7% of the 

respondents did not support the site guidance for Site 3.   

Respondents who did not agree had concerns over locating a school near 

a busy junction, protecting the current green space that is located on that 

site and again the proposed heights of buildings.  

A number of respondents also commented that it was unrealistic to 

assume that parents would use a drop off zone for schools.  

 

Question 9. Do you support the development guidance for Site 4 set out 

in section 6.4? 

 

 

Over 23% of respondents agreed or broadly agreed with the guidance 

with a further 20% stating that their main reason for their objection was 

concern for the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust.  38.7% of respondents 

did not support the development guidance for Site 4.  

In addition to concerns over the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust that is 

currently located within Site 4, the main reasons given for not supporting 

the guidance were objections to the potential 16-storey landmark 

building, concerns from employees whose businesses are currently within 

the site and the additional congestion that would be caused.  

Additional concerns raised were over the suitability of that area for 

residential use due to flooding.   

26.10% 

36.70% 

17.00% 

2.00% 

18.20% 

Yes

No

Sunnyside Rural Trust (No)

Broadly agree but
comment on details (No)

No Opinion

22.20% 

38.70% 

20.00% 

1.00% 
18.10% 

Yes

No

Sunnyside Rural Trust (No)

Broadly agree but
comment on details (No)

No Opinion

P
age 267



15 
 

Question 10. Do you support the approach to ‘Next Steps’ outlined in 

sections 7.1-7.5? 

 

 

Over a third of respondents agreed with the next steps.  An additional 

16% commented that their main reason for objecting was concern over 

the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust and nearly a quarter had no opinion.  

27.10% of respondents did not support the ‘Next Steps’ outlined in the 

document.  

Of those who objected, a number of people stated that they would like 

further consultation and engagement at times that are convenient for the 

majority to attend.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

28.70% 

27.10% 

16.00% 

4.00% 

24.20% 

Yes

No

Sunnyside Rural Trust (No)

Broadly agree but
comment on details (No)

No Opinion

P
age 268



16 
 

 

5. Key Consultation Themes and Council Responses 

This section outlines the key themes emerging from the qualitative responses provided by both the public and stakeholders through the analysis of 

questionnaire responses and letters/emails received.  

KEY MESSAGE DBC RESPONSES  

1. Sunnyside Rural Trust 
 
A large number of respondents raised concerns and objected to the 
Masterplan Guidance as they were concerned about the future of 
Sunnyside Rural Trust. 

 
The Council recognises that Sunnyside Rural Trust provides a valuable 
service to the local community, and as landowner DBC has no plans to 
develop the site. We would like to elaborate that the Council is wholly 
committed to working with Sunnyside Rural Trust to ensure that its 
valuable community service is retained . As a result of this consultation and 
further work with Hertfordshire County Council, we have removed the 
option of providing a school on Site 4 from the Masterplan Guidance. 
Should the site be no longer required for use by the Trust at some time in 
the future the Masterplan provides for the current site’s regeneration with 
guidelines as to what might be appropriate. DBC will continue to work with 
HCC to provide primary school places as required.  

2. Scale, Density and Character of Development 
 
Respondents welcomed the emphasis on housing delivery within the 
Borough and the principle to provide guidance to help shape the future of 
the area.  
 
There was repeated emphasis by respondents that development should 
build on the existing character and scale of the surrounding area and a 
large number of those who objected expressed concern that the 
masterplan may not deliver this primarily due to the proposal for some 
taller development in the area.  
 
Those who objected expressed concern on overdevelopment and a large 
number of respondents were concerned about taller buildings and were 

 
 
The Masterplanning Guidance has been prepared through the careful 
consideration of national and local policy, townscape context, views and 
characters of the area, sensitive land uses and boundaries, the local 
highway network, viability assessments, urban designs principles and views 
expressed through the Steering Group and public and stakeholder 
consultation.  
 
Whilst DBC accepts that a large number of respondents oppose 
development above 4 storeys, a number of considerations as outlined 
above including public views need to be taken into account when preparing 
the masterplan guidance. In order for the masterplan guidance to be 
effective proposed development needs to be viable. Viability assessments 

P
age 269



17 
 

KEY MESSAGE DBC RESPONSES  

generally opposed to development above 4 storeys in height.  
 
Conversely, there were a few respondents both stakeholders and 
questionnaire respondents who felt that the development and heights 
proposed are too low and will make development unviable. Some 
stakeholders have highlighted the pressure for new housing in potential 
regeneration areas and other brownfield locations in Dacorum in line with 
Government policy and have highlighted that the Masterplan Guidance 
should place even greater emphasis on maximising the potential for 
construction of new dwellings within the Masterplan area.  
 
A few respondents have also raised the need for houses that are 
appropriate for the local community rather than apartments.  
 

indicate that some development above 4 storeys is required to make the 
sites viable.  
 
There is a very high housing need within Dacorum – indicated by a current 
assessed ‘objectively assessed need’ (OAN) figure of 756 homes per annum 
(17,388 over the 2013 – 2036 period). Two Waters is an important strategic 
location and has the potential to accommodate new development that 
promotes a sustainable mix of land uses. Maximising the potential for the 
construction of new dwellings within more urban areas such as Two 
Waters, serves both to concentrate development in strategic areas around 
transport hubs and town centres, as well as to reduce the possible impact 
and loss of Greenbelt and Greenfield land for development. 
 
The feasibility of different forms of development were tested through the 
process of preparing the Masterplan Guidance. Early iterations of the 
masterplan tested much higher development capacities than those 
proposed in the current Masterplan Guidance but these were considered  
inappropriate forms of development due to: 
 

 Negative impacts on views and townscape due to building heights 
and dominance of taller buildings. 

 Poor relationships between existing and proposed buildings due to 
increased density. 

 Negative impacts on the local highways network due to increased 
vehicle movements. 

 Negative impacts on viability due to the requirement for 
underground car parking. 

 Views expressed through public consultation and steering group 
meetings.  

 
The current Masterplan Guidance represents what is considered an 
appropriate form of development balancing the variety of complex factors 

P
age 270



18 
 

KEY MESSAGE DBC RESPONSES  

including views expressed through public consultation. However, further 
detailed assessments and viability work will need to be undertaken by 
potential developers through the planning process as and when 
development comes forward.  
 
Detailed but flexible Overarching and Site Specific Guidance has been 
included in order to ensure that development is sensitive and appropriate 
to the local area whilst delivering the Vision and Objectives for Two 
Waters.  
 
DBC has taken in to consideration responses to this consultation along with 
all of the above and reduced the maximum height on some isolated 
buildings on Site 1 from eight storeys to six storeys. The majority of 
development, particularly along London road remains at four storeys.  
 
 

3. Key Development Sites 
 
Site 1: Hemel Hempstead Station 
 
 
Respondents raised concerns regarding what they felt was 
overdevelopment of the area and in particular, concerns regarding heights 
of up to 8 storeys. They felt that heights should be limited to 4 storeys 
though a few respondents felt that the proposed heights and densities 
were not viable. Concerns were also raised regarding the impact of 
development to the character of the area and on Boxmoor.  
 
A number of respondents welcomed proposals to improve the rail station 
and surrounding areas and to protect the archaeological significance of the 
Roman site.  
 

 
 
 
 
Site 1 represents a key strategic gateway to Hemel Hempstead and there is 
a national emphasis on increasing development including residential units 
around transport hubs such as railway stations. The draft masterplan 
outlines primarily low to mid-range building heights with provision for 
development of up to 8 storeys in a small section of the site. As outlined in 
Section 2: Scale, Density and Character of Development, a number of 
factors need to be considered when determining the form of development 
including height and densities appropriate for the site and ensuring that 
the site is viable for development. As it currently stands, due to the high 
costs associated with development at this location, additional funding is 
likely to be required to deliver all the aspirations of the site.  Therefore, the 
level of development will need to be carefully considered and designed to 

P
age 271



19 
 

KEY MESSAGE DBC RESPONSES  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Further concerns were raised regarding the impact on traffic congestion in 
the area, parking and in particular inappropriate on street parking.  
 
Respondents in general welcomed improvements to the station but were 
concerned about the provision of commercial space (office, retail, hotel) as 
they felt that there was already underutilised commercial space in the 
wider area.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

help bring forward a more appropriate primary station gateway for Hemel 
Hempstead with a mix of complimentary commercial uses.  
 
DBC has taken in to consideration responses to this consultation along with 
all of the above and reduced the maximum height on some isolated 
buildings on Site 1 from eight storeys to six storeys. The majority of 
development, particularly along London road remains as up to four storeys 
 
DBC will work with other organisations such as HCC and Network Rail to 
seek alternative funding to help mitigate any potential funding gap.  See 
Section 1 for further details on the consideration of different factors in 
determining the proposed form of development.  
 
 
 
 
 
See Section 4 of this table for details on Transport and Parking. 
 
 
Detailed viability work will be undertaken on site 1 to identify the demand 
for facilities such as office, retail and a hotel and the preferred mix of 
development. A high-quality commercial development with services for 
both business and leisure use in close proximity to Hemel Hempstead 
station would create a new and distinct offer to options available 
elsewhere in the town. 
 
This has been noted and recognised within the Masterplan Guidance.  
 
See Section 1 of this table for further details on Sunnyside Rural Trust.  
 
 

P
age 272



20 
 

KEY MESSAGE DBC RESPONSES  

Site 2: London Road 
 
Responses were similar to that provided on Site 1: Hemel Hempstead 
Station although the number of respondents who did not support the site 
guidance for site 2 was lower than for site 1.  A number of respondents 
objected to development above 3-4 storeys and expressed concerns 
regarding over development. 
 
 
 
A large number of concerns raised were regarding the likelihood of 
increased traffic congestion due to increased development in the area.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Site 3:  
There were a number of general concerns raised regarding building heights 
over development and concerns regarding traffic congestion similar to the 
other sites.  
 
There were also some concerns raised by stakeholders regarding the site 
being located in the flood zone and in close proximity to water courses and 
the need for any development coming forward to be mindful of these 
concerns. 
 
Respondents also had concerns over locating a school near a busy junction 
and that it was unrealistic to assume that parents would use a drop off 
zone for schools and that this would only add to congestions. 

 
 
The Masterplan Guidance indicates that the majority of the development 
on site should be up to 4 storeys with limited developments in specific 
areas up to 6 and 8 storeys. Higher development has been located away 
from London Road and closer to the retained employment/retail area. 
Viability assessments indicate that some development above 4 storeys is 
required. See Section 1 for further details on the consideration of different 
factors in determining the proposed form of development. 
 
See Section 4 of this table for details on Transport and Parking. 
 
 
See Section 1 of this table for further details on Sunnyside Rural Trust.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See Section 2 of this table.  
 
 
 
Any development coming forward would need to be mindful of these 
issues and would need to go through the appropriate assessments and 
consultations through the planning process. 
 
 
DBC and Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) will undertake further 
assessments and feasibility studies regarding the educational provision. 

P
age 273



21 
 

KEY MESSAGE DBC RESPONSES  

 
 
There were also some objections raised stating that the current green 
space should be protected. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Site 4: 
A number of the same concerns raised regarding building heights and over 
development on the other sites have been raised for site 4 as well.  
 
The need for additional infrastructure, schools including secondary schools 
hospitals, police station etc has been raised. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
There were a large number of objections to the proposed ‘landmark’ 
building of up to 16 storeys and its impacts on the streetscape, 
environment, congestion, parking etc. 
 
 
 

The Masterplan allows for flexibility on this.  
 
DBC is working with Box Moor Trust as the landowner of the site to ensure 
that a balance is struck between conserving the area and attracting more 
visitors and residents and that proposals reflect Box Moor Trust’s 
aspirations.  A section of site 3 has existing planning permission in place for 
development which sets a precedent for further development on the site.  
 
See Section 1 of this table for further details on Sunnyside Rural Trust.  
 
 
 
 
See Sections 1,2 and 3 of this table.  
 
 
DBC will be working with HCC and relevant organisations and departments 
to facilitate the provision of relevant infrastructure. HCC education services 
has been consulted on the masterplan proposals and has not raised any 
concerns regarding secondary school provision.  The expansion of any 
services for the hospital and police are matters for central government. 
They have been consulted as part of the public consultation and are 
considered statutory consultees. DBC also regularly meets with health 
providers and other service providers to make sure they are aware of 
planned growth within the borough.  
 
The northern end of site 4 has been assessed as suitable for a building of 
up to 16 storeys due to the heights of surrounding development and to 
create a landmark at the southern gateway to the town centre. Given the 
proximity of the town centre and station a lower parking standard may be 
appropriate as the location will appeal to residents for whom public 
transport is their main mode of travel. This will be informed by the current 

P
age 274



22 
 

KEY MESSAGE DBC RESPONSES  

 
 
 
There were also some concerns raised by people working and businesses in 
the area regarding their jobs and investment if the businesses were to be 
relocated.  
 
 
 

assessment of parking standards being undertaken as part of the partial 
review of the Core Strategy. 
 
Further discussions will be held with business owners as and when 
development comes forward in this area. 
 
 
The Council recognises that Sunnyside Rural Trust provides a valuable 
service to the local community, and as landowner DBC has no plans to 
develop the site. Should the site be no longer required for use by the Trust 
at some time in the future, or if a suitable alternative site becomes 
available, the Masterplan simply provides for the current site’s 
regeneration with guidelines as to what might be appropriate. 
 

4. Transport and Parking  
 

Overall there was support for the transport and movement principles of 
the document, in particular improvements to rail, public transport, cycle 
improvements and accessibility improvements were welcomed. 
 
Out of those who objected, there were a significant number of 
respondents who were concerned regarding congestion in the area. 
Respondents highlighted that the highway network in Two Waters was 
already severely congested at peak times and were widely concerned that 
further development would exacerbate the problem. The concerns about 
congestion and traffic flow were raised against all sites 1 – 4.  
 
 
Whilst many welcomed sustainable transport improvements, amongst 
those who expressed concern, there was scepticism regarding the 
proposed measures to reduce car use. People raised concerns that due to 
various reasons a majority of people would continue to need to travel by 

 
 
National Policy has moved towards securing more sustainable travel 
outcomes with emphasis on minimising the need to travel, reducing car use 
and encouraging more sustainable modes of transport. Both Government 
and private sectors are exploring new methods of transport to help support 
this vision, such as driverless cars, innovative public schemes and car 
sharing/taxi services such as Uber, and how this could change how we 
move between home and work, and the impact of this on the future design 
of new developments. 
 
 
 
 
The need to secure more sustainable travel is reflected in HCC’s Local 
Transport Plan 3 (LTP3) and is a major theme in the emerging LTP4 - 2050 
Hertfordshire Transport Vision and its emerging implementation ‘daughter 
document’, the South West Herts Growth and Transport Plan. This latter 

P
age 275



23 
 

KEY MESSAGE DBC RESPONSES  

car. Concerns were raised that whilst the concept was good, there was not 
sufficient joined up government support to implement measures that 
would reduce the traffic such as encouraging businesses to allow flexi time, 
encouraging car share, improving bus routes etc. There were a number of 
responses requesting detail on the proposed measures.  
 
On street parking around the station and wider in the area and its knock on 
effects on road users was repeatedly highlighted.  There were concerns 
that the level of development proposed and any reduction in parking 
standards would exacerbate the problem. The need for measures to 
mitigate this problem were highlighted. The need to increase parking 
provision at the station was also highlighted.  
 
Concerns were raised about bottlenecks in the area such as the railway 
bridge over London Road and the one-way Durrants Hill Bridge. 
 
 
 
Concerns were also raised regarding the impact on satellite areas of 
reducing parking provision. 
 
There was also an objection to the pedestrian/cycle link between Site 1 and 
2 with concerns over intrusion of privacy. 
 
Concerns were also raised regarding the impact of noise and pollution and 
potentially an increase in pollution and how the proposals would help 
address rather than exacerbate the problem.  
 
 
 
Concerns were raised regarding the safety of shared cycle/pedestrian 
routes.  

document has detailed plans and improvements outlined for the Two 
Waters Masterplan Guidance area (including areas expressed as concerns) 
and the wider area, this will be published in the new year. 
 
 
 
As part of developing the Masterplan Guidance we have worked closely 
with HCC highways to ensure they have identified proposals to tackle short, 
medium and longer term proposals for  Hemel Hempstead and the 
borough taking into account future longer term growth predictions and 
impacts for not only our borough but for South West Herts.  
 
 
DBC and HCC recognises the need for the right infrastructure package to 
help support employment and housing growth with necessary cultural 
change that will help secure a long term sustainable modal shift, such as 
delivering effective and efficient rapid bus routes connected to intermodal 
interchanges at key destinations. DBC is exploring modal shift 
infrastructure opportunities and external funding opportunities to help 
plan and deliver these vital improvements to support the new Local Plan. 
Whilst it will not be possible for this masterplan to fully resolve the area’s 
transport issues alone, it should make a positive contribution overall to 
existing conditions for all modes of travel. As sites come forward for 
development through the planning process, more detailed transport 
assessments with appropriate mitigation will be required. The safeguarding 
of land that may be required for future improvements or development 
mitigation should also be considered. 
 
The masterplan sets out the need for DBC to consider further controlled 
car parking zones together with parking provision on site to help mitigate 
any potential on street parking issues that could come forward as a result 
of unplanned development. 

P
age 276



24 
 

KEY MESSAGE DBC RESPONSES  

  
 
Once the masterplan is adopted and sites come forward for planning 
advice and applications, more detailed site design reports will address 
health and safety concerns, such as shared pedestrian and cycle routes, 
and noise and air pollution issues. Likewise, more detailed plans will be 
required to explore concerns over new pedestrian/cycle links. 
 
The masterplan will indicate potential walking and cycling routes, making 
good use of the area’s green character and existing links (eg towpath). 
 

5. Open Space & Environment 
 
The majority of the respondents supported the overarching guidance 
principles for open space and sustainability or had no opinion.  
 
Comments made focussed on protecting the moors, its ‘wild’ feel, its 
wildlife, grazing safely and the character of the area and enhancing the 
habitat for wildlife. 
 
 
 
 
 
A number of concerns were also raised regarding the inclusion of taller 
buildings in close proximity to the Moors spoiling the character of the 
moors and views.  
 
Concerns were raised regarding the current condition of the river and 
canal.  
 
Concerns were also raised regarding some of the proposed development 

 
 
DBC is working with the Box Moor Trust as the landowner of the site to 
ensure that a balance is struck between conserving the area and attracting 
more visitors and residents, and that proposals reflect Box Moor Trust’s 
aspirations. The Moors remain under Box Moor Trust who continuously 
work to enhance the habitat and wildlife. Any enhancements will seek to 
sensitively improve access to the moors and Heath Park and provide 
ecological enhancements and will be in partnership with Box Moor Trust.  
 
 
 
 
Design Guidance has been included within the Masterplan that requires 
development to be sensitive and minimise the impact of views. 
 
 
DBC regularly meet with the Environment Agency and will work with 
partner organisations to facilitate improvements where possible.  
 
Developments will be required to consider flooding and undertake 

P
age 277



25 
 

KEY MESSAGE DBC RESPONSES  

being on flood plains but a number of comments were made that the area 
has not flooded recently and therefore concerns that the flood risk was 
overstated. 
 
Concerns raised were regarding the ability of contractors to deliver the 
development sensitively.  
 
 
Concerns raised regarding air quality 

 

assessment where required as part of their planning application.  
 
 
 
The phasing of proposed development forms part of the next steps. 
Planning requirements will stipulate conditions on the delivery of 
development.  
 
Improvement of air quality has been recognised within the Masterplan. We 
will continue to work with Environmental Health and other departments to 
investigate mitigation measures to improve air quality in the area.  

6. Infrastructure 
 
A number of respondents commented on the need to address the present 
need for schools, GP surgeries, a hospital, police station, improved 
broadband services etc. Respondents suggested that there is an existing 
need for this infrastructure and the proposed additional residential 
development would put a strain on these facilities.  

 

 
 
The Masterplan suggests the provision of a new primary school and DBC 
will continue to work with Hertfordshire County Council to assess further 
the educational requirements for the area.  The provision of medical 
facilities is within the remit of the NHS trust and we will continue to work 
with them. The provision of a police service is similarly not under DBC’s 
remit but DBC will continue to work with the police. 
 
Utility providers have been informed of the Masterplan Guidance and this 
consultation. The Strategic Planning and Regeneration team at DBC 
regularly liaise with infrastructure providers as part of the Local Plan 
development and delivery, and will continue to do so.  

 

  

P
age 278



26 
 

6. Conclusion 

This Consultation Report has presented an overview of the findings from the Two Waters Round Three Consultation.  As a result of this consultation, the 

following changes have been identified to the Masterplan Guidance report. These include: 

 The option of a Primary school on site 4 has been removed. DBC and HCC will continue to work together to provide primary school places for the 
potential future development of the area. 

 Maximum building heights on Site 1 have been reduced from eight storeys to six storeys. A majority of the building heights, particularly those facing 
London Road remain at four storeys.  

 Clarify further the considerations taken in to account when determining the densities and heights proposed and the preference to optimise 
development on brownfield land minimising the impact on greenbelt and greenfield where possible.  

 Strengthen the statements on emerging transport policy and implementation documents that will support the Two Waters area and measures to 
facilitate modal shift towards the use of sustainable transport.  

 Clarify within the document that HCC have not identified a need for an additional secondary school in the area.  

 Strengthen the Masterplan Guidance on biodiversity and air quality improvements. 

 Clarify within the Masterplan DBC’s work with infrastructure providers. 

 Make more significant reference to chalk streams and fragmented landscape around chalk ridge. 

 Reference Roughdown Common SSSI. 

 Enhance coverage of historic environment and listed building constraints/opportunities.  

 Make minor wording changes and update figures when required to reflect feedback.  

 Change illustrations where required to ensure that buildings representing a range of heights are included. 
 
Full details of changes are included in Appendix A below. 
 
Amendments will be made to the draft Two Waters Masterplan Guidance document and the final document will be submitted to Council with the 

recommendation for adoption at the end of the year. It is envisioned that the Masterplan Guidance will be initially adopted by DBC’s Council as a planning 

statement and will then be adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) supporting the new Dacorum Local Plan.  

Appendix A:  Summary of Respondents’ Comments, the Council’s responses and proposed amendments to the Masterplan Guidance 

Appendix B:  Summary of Stakeholders’ Comments, Council’s responses and proposed amendments. 

Appendix C: Copy of questionnaire  

P
age 279



27 
 

Appendix A:  

Summary of Respondents’ Comments, Council’s Responses and Proposed Amendments to the Draft Two Waters 

Masterplan Guidance 

This section includes a summary of comments received through questionnaires as well as letters/emails received from the public and DBC responses to 

these. Stakeholder comments and related DBC responses are outlined in Appendix B. This section should be read in conjunction with Section 5: Key 

Consultation Themes and DBC Responses which provides more detailed responses to many of the comments below. Please note that due to a large 

number of repetitive comments, where a response has been provided to a similar comment covered in a previous section the response has not been 

repeated. 

This section also  outlines the proposed amendments  to the draft Two Waters Masterplan Guidance.  These amendments include  amendments as a result 

of Stakeholder comments which are also listed separately in Appendix B. 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

Q1 Do you support the ‘Vision’ for 
Two Waters set out in section 
4.1? 

1.1 There are concerns that 
development will have a 
negative impact on the 
environment, Moors and 
protected species in the 
area. 
 

1.2 The Moors are a much-loved 
feature and should be 
adequately protected not 
just from development but 
also from overcrowding by 
members of the public. 

 
 
 

 

It is an objective of the masterplan to 
respect and enhance the Moors and their 
parkland, leisure and grazing uses which 
make Boxmoor a special place.  
 
 
 
It is an objective of the masterplan to 
respect and enhance the Moors and their 
parkland, leisure and grazing uses which 
make Boxmoor a special place. Any 
improvements to footpaths to make them 
suitable for all year round use will be 
sensitively designed and developed in 
partnership with the Box Moor Trust. 
 
 

Proposed amendments to 4.1 Vision 
Proposed changes to wording: 
 
The Two Waters masterplan 
area…..vibrant residential-led mixed-
use neighbourhoods areas with an 
…..Hemel Hempstead train station.  
 
The masterplan area’s 
neighbourhoods areas will 
celebrate…linking the spaces.  
 
New development with supporting 
infrastructure will be of the highest 
design quality,….integrates with 
existing areas. It will also 
neighbourhoods that respect and 

P
age 280



28 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

1.3 Views of the moors should 
be retained 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.4 The area will be 
overdeveloped potentially 
having a negative impact on 
property values. The 
character of the area will be 
lost. 

 
1.5 Tall buildings at gateway 

locations could create a 
fortress appearance to the 
Town. Rather than taller 

The design guidance requires new 
development to respect views from the 
moors, particularly in regard to building 
orientation, height and form, and the 
location of landmark buildings.  
 
Development will be required to 
encourage the use of Two Waters’ green 
open space and waterways by improving 
the quality of and access to the moors and 
water bodies whilst respecting their 
ecological and agricultural roles and 
responding to issues of flood risk.  
New homes will be expected to achieve a 
high sustainability assessment and 
contribute towards sustainable transport 
schemes.   
 
 
 
The masterplanning guidance considered a 
number of factors in order to set limits for 
the level of development and building 
heights on each of the sites and 
overarching guidance for all development 
in the area. Additional detailed studies will 
need to be undertaken through the 
planning process for each site when 
development comes forward and will 
include consideration of the  masterplans’ 
ambitions for the built environment, 

enhance its natural, cultural, historic 
and built assets. New development 
will encourage the use of and access 
to heritage assets and the historic 
environment, as well as to the 
countryside. 
 
References to heritage assets, 
heritage or heritage significant of 
assets to be changed to historic 
environment as appropriate.  
 
Figure 14 will be amended to better 
reflect the heights referenced in the 
detailed figures for Site 1 – 4.  
 

P
age 281



29 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

buildings, there should be 
more creativity in the 
structure design and use of 
any new buildings.  

 
 
 
 
1.6 The development, especially 

higher buildings will be 
visually intrusive and will not 
integrate with existing 
neighbourhoods. The 
illustrations are not always 
representative of the heights 
proposed.   

 
 
 
 
1.7 Development will cause 

additional traffic on the 
already congested road 
network. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

transport and movement, and open space 
and sustainability. Developers will be 
expected to justify the mix and number of 
homes and other development as part of 
the planning consent process and 
undertake further consultation with 
residents.   
 
The Two Waters masterplan guidance sets 
out guidance to protect the character of 
the area and its natural assets and careful 
consideration has been made regarding 
the location and guidance on taller 
buildings. It will help to ensure 
development is planned and designed to 
deliver an attractive, sustainable and 
balanced environment, and provide new 
local services for residents, workers and 
commuters.   
 
Local highway improvements are set out 
for each development site, and 
contributions will be sought towards wider 
highway proposals within the Two Waters 
masterplan area and the delivery of 
sustainable transport measures. There is 
strong emphasis in the masterplan to 
reduce car use and promote alternative 
modes of transport.  
 
New development will be expected to 

P
age 282



30 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.8 Where the proposed 

maximum height of up to 8 
storeys is too high and a 
number of respondents 
would prefer to see 
development limited to 4 
storeys, concerns were also 
raised over the safety of high 
rise buildings following the 
Grenfell tragedy.  
 

1.9 A recent survey carried out 
by the Keep Boxmoor 
Beautiful campaigners 
showed that out of 200 
residents, the majority 
wanted buildings no higher 

provide a sufficient parking supply to avoid 
a detrimental impact on surrounding 
streets. Parking standards are set out in 
Policy 57 of Dacorum Borough Local Plan 
2011 and are currently under review. 
 
In addition, DBC is working with 
Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) to 
assess the potential for a more holistic 
approach to transport – this will be 
embedded within HCC’s forthcoming 
Growth and Transport plan for South West 
Hertfordshire.   
 
Opportunities for development up to 8 
storeys have been carefully considered, 
and have been located where existing 
development and land use creates an 
appropriate environment. National policy 
and viability work shows that some 
development above 4 storeys is required 
to deliver the ambitions of the Two Waters 
masterplan. However the maximum height 
on Site 1 has been reduced from eight 
storeys to six storeys.  
 
 
Two Waters is an important strategic 
location and has the potential to 
accommodate new development that 
promotes a sustainable mix of uses. Areas 

P
age 283



31 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

than 4 storeys. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

such as Two Waters are being pushed 
nationally for more intense development 
and the Two Waters guidance has carefully 
considered a number of factors and set out 
height limits that are considered 
appropriate to the site. Maximising the 
potential for the construction of new 
dwellings within more urban areas such as 
the Two Waters area serves both to 
concentrate development in strategic 
areas such as around transport hubs and 
town centres, as well as to reduce the 
possible impact and loss of Greenbelt and 
Greenfield land for development. 
 
In preparing the masterplan the local 
character, topography, highway capacities 
and existing land uses have been 
considered to determine appropriate 
building heights for each development site.  
 
We acknowledge concerns following the 
Grenfell Tower tragedy. Taller buildings 
continue to be an important part of an 
urban streetscape and play an important 
role in providing residential and 
commercial provision in areas where land 
is limited. All development coming forward 
including taller buildings would need to 
adhere to  Planning, Building Control, 
Health and Safety and other statutory 

P
age 284



32 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
1.10 The existing infrastructure 

cannot support the level of 
growth proposed i.e. health 
care, education, utilities. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.11 Concerns over the suitability 

of the mix of developments, 
there are concerns over the 
viability of the proposed 
retail/office space as there 
are so many empty units 
elsewhere.  

requirements and would be required to go 
through the relevant regulatory processes 
to ensure that they are fit for 
purpose.  Further assessments will be 
required through the planning application 
process to ensure that any development 
coming forward is acceptable.  
 
Agree that new school places will be 
needed to accommodate demand from the 
proposed residential development. Further 
work will be undertaken by DBC and HCC 
to identify how this will be achieved. For 
the purposes of the Masterplan, the most 
expensive option – the provision of a new 
school – has been included. Development 
contributions will be sought towards other 
infrastructure provision including health 
care. DBC regularly works with 
infrastructure providers to ensure that 
they are aware of proposed development 
in Dacorum. Utility provides have been 
invited to respond to the Two Waters 
Masterplan Guidance consultation.   
 
 
The viability assessment suggests that 
these are best located by the train station 
where the transport links and commuter 
demand creates a suitable environment for 
a mixed use development with new retail 

P
age 285



33 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.12 There is a need for 
affordable housing instead 
of the current types of 
development being 
proposed 

 
1.13 Concerns over the future of 

Sunnyside Rural   Trust. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.14 Development will cause 
disruption to the 
community while work is 
carried out 

 

offer and office provision. The combination 
of transport links and commuter audience 
creates a unique demand for services 
immediately at the train station, which an 
off-site existing commercial unit would not 
be able to fulfil. Further assessments will 
be undertaken as and when development 
comes forward. 
 
 
Guidelines have been provided that 
development should provide affordable 
housing in line with Dacorum policies.   
 
 
As a result of this consultation and further 
work with Hertfordshire County Council, 
we have removed the option of providing a 
school on Site 4 from the Masterplan 
Guidance. Should the site be no longer 
required for use by the Trust at some time 
in the future the Masterplan provides for 
the current site’s regeneration with 
guidelines as to what might be 
appropriate. DBC will continue to work 
with HCC to provide primary school places 
as required. 
The phasing of development will form part 
of the next steps. Developers will be 
required to ensure local services can 
continue to operate during construction 

P
age 286



34 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
1.15 There is a need for a multi 

storey car park at Hemel 
Hempstead train station, 
the recent changes to the 
forecourt has already 
caused a great deal of 
additional congestion. 

 
1.16 The photos and illustrations 

used in the Draft 
Masterplan are misleading, 
as they do not show 
buildings of the height 
proposed. 

 
1.17 This document does not 

reflect what was said in the 
January workshops, how has 
the feedback from previous 
consultation had any impact 
on the vision? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

works. Permission from HCC will be 
required for any variation to the highway 
network during construction.  
 
 
DBC is working with Network Rail to assess 
future parking demand at the train station. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A variety of illustrations have been 
included. We will review these and make 
changes to ensure that the variety of 
heights reflects the Masterplan Guidance.  
 
 
 
The document reflects consideration of a 
variety of factors including feedback from 
both rounds of consultation and 
stakeholder meetings.  A variety of 
opinions were expressed at the January 
workshop as outlined in the consultation 
report available at 
www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration. We 
confirm that these views have been taken 
in to consideration along with the other 
factors that need to be considered. The 

P
age 287

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration


35 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.18 Prices for the proposed 
development are likely to be 
unaffordable to the local 
people, increasing the 
population without assisting 
those already in the area 
looking for a home.  More 
social housing is needed. 

 
1.19 The plan is not specific 

enough in terms of how it 
intends to achieve the 
overall vision 

 
 
 

 
1.20 Diagrams showing proposals 

make it difficult to interpret 
intent. 
 
 
 
 

currents proposals are a form of 
development taking in to account and 
balancing all the factors. Please refer 
Section 5: Key Consultation Themes and 
DBC responses (2. Scale Density and 
Character of Development) of this 
Consultation Report for full details of the 
different considerations.  
 
Guidelines have been provided that 
development should provide affordable 
housing in line with Dacorum policies.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
The document is a high level 
Masterplanning Guidance document. The 
objectives, overarching guidance and site 
specific guidance is set out within the 
Masterplanning Guidance. Further detail 
will be developed through the planning 
process. 
 
The Masterplan Guidance is a technical 
document and as such the diagrams are 
representative of those used for similar 
planning documents. We will seek to 
improve the quality of images where 

P
age 288



36 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

1.21 Railway Station is not the 
Gateway to Hemel – the 
dual carriageway link to the 
bypass is.  

 
 
 
 
 
1.22 Poor quality development 

on Two Waters Road and 
comments on planning 
permission for these sites.  
 
 
 

1.23 Need for protection and 
enhancement of Green 
Corridor – open area of 
Boxmoor – Jellicoe Water 
Gardens – Gadebridge Park.  
 
 
 
 
 

1.24 Elegant footbridge over 
plough roundabout.  
 
 
 

possible. 
 
A Gateway constitutes a key entry point to 
the area. As such there are several 
gateways in to Hemel Hempstead and the 
Two Waters area as identified in Figure 13. 
Hemel Hempstead Railway Station is one 
of the key gateways with a large number of 
railway uses entering the area through this 
gateway.  
 
One of the purposes of the Masterplan 
Guidance is to steer high quality design 
appropriate to the area. Information on 
previous planning applications is available 
through the Planning Portal at 
www.dacorum.gov.uk  
 
Protection and enhancement of green 
spaces in the study area is an objective of 
the Masterplan Guidance. The Jellicoe 
Water Gardens and Gadebridge Park are 
out of the cope of this work. However 
substantial improvements have recently 
been delivered to the Jellicoe Water 
Gardens and improvements are planned 
for Gadebridge Park. 
 
A footbridge is currently not proposed.  
Further work will be undertaken by DBC 
and HCC on traffic, pedestrian and cycle 

P
age 289

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/


37 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 

1.25 Opening up the visibility and 
accessibility of the Durrants 
Hill green space would be a 
major improvement.  
 

1.26 How is DBC going to ensure 
high quality design?  

movement across the area. Development 
in the area will be expected to contribute 
towards improvements.  
 
Noted. This is the aspiration and reflected 
in the masterplan guidance. 
 
 
 
The masterplan guidance once adopted 
will be a material consideration in 
determining planning applications. The 
masterplan sets detailed but flexible 
guidance as is appropriate to a high level 
document to ensure high quality. This 
guidance has been further strengthened 
where appropriate as a result of comments 
received through this consultation. Designs 
will be further assessed through the 
planning application process which would 
require additional studies and guidance to 
justify proposed designs within the 
parameters set out in the masterplan 
guidance.  

Q2 Do you support the Objectives 
for Two Waters set out in section 
4.2? 

2.1 Concern for the environment 
especially the Moors. 
 
Concerns over making the 
moors more accessible to the 
public for access and 
recreation.  

See 1.2 
 
 
The Moors provide a high quality open 
space and pedestrian access between Two 
Waters, the town centre and other key 
locations. They are already used for 

Proposed amendments to 4.2 
Objectives 
 
Changes to 7: 
Enhance and better reveal the 
importance and significance of the 
existing natural and historic 

P
age 290



38 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
2.2 Concern that tall buildings 

and development will mean 
loss of views.  
 

2.3 The proposed level of 
development could cause a 
negative impact on property 
values. Concerns regarding 
loss of character. 

 
 

 
2.4 Respondents feel that up to 

8 storeys is too high and 
would prefer to see 
development limited to 4 
storeys. 

2.5 Concerns that the existing 
infrastructure cannot 
support the level of growth 
proposed i.e. health care and 
education.  
 

2.6 The existing road network 
will not be able to take the 
additional traffic 

 
 
2.7 Retail/office viability  
 

recreational purposes such as walking.  
Any recreational improvements will be 
sensitive to the Moors’ existing character 
and uses. 
 
See 1.1 – 1.7 
The masterplan guidance provides 
guidance on maintaining the existing 
character of the area and makes reference 
to this. This will be further evaluated 
through the planning process of individual 
developments. 
 
See 1.8  
 
 
 
 
 
See 1.10 
 
 
 
 
See 1.7 and Section 5: Key Consultation 
Themes and DBC responses (4. Transport 
and Parking) of this Consultation Report 
for full details. 
 
See 1.11 
 

environment in Two Waters to 
contribute positively to its sense of 
place.  Enhance and Better Reveal 
Two Waters’ Heritage, Landmarks 
and Green Spaces 
 

P
age 291



39 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

2.8 Existing planning 
applications/approvals 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2.9 Concerns over the future of 
Sunnyside Rural Trust. 
 

2.10 Disruption to the 
community while work is 
carried out. 

The role of the masterplan will be to guide 
DBC in its consideration of planning 
applications within the Two Waters area 
once adopted as a planning statement and 
subsequently as a supplementary planning 
document. Planning applications 
submitted in advance of the adoption of 
the report are not subject to the 
masterplan guidance. As a result, it is not 
appropriate to comment specifically on 
any previous planning application, which 
would have been subject to its own 
consultation period. 
 
See 1.13 
 
 
 
See 1.14 

Q3  Do you support the 
Overarching Guidance principles 
for the ‘Built Environment’ set out 
in section 5.1? 

3.1 Concern for the 
environment and views 
 

3.2 Concerns regarding scale, 
heights and character. 
 

3.3 Objections to the planning 
application at 499/501 
London Road 

 
 

See 1.1 – 1.7  
 
 
See 1.1 – 1.7  
 
 
The role of the masterplan will be to guide 
DBC in its consideration of planning 
applications within the Two Waters area 
once adopted as a planning statement and 
subsequently as a supplementary planning 

5.0 [Overarching Guidance] The 
guidance ensures that a range of 
appropriate development forms can 
be accommodated. 
 
Proposed amendments to 5.1 
Overarching Guidance for the ‘Built 
Environment’ 
 
Additional wording to section 5.1.1: 
…relationships with existing 

P
age 292



40 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 document. The planning application for 
499/501 London Road was submitted in 
advance of the adoption of the report. As a 
result, it is not appropriate to comment 
specifically on this planning application, 
which was subject to its own consultation 
period. 

development. This should also 
include achieving a high quality of 
new public realm and infrastructure. 
 
Add new design principles under 
Height, scale and mass:  
 
Building heights above three storeys 
adjacent to London Road or Two 
Waters road will be stepped back 
from the building line. (See Figure 
15). 
 
Applications will need to be fully 
justified in terms of amenity 
considerations, view corridors, 
heritage etc.  
 
Add reference in paragraph 5.1.4  
– Development design will respect 
the heritage significance of assets, … 
reveal their significance.  A similar 
approach needs to be taken with any 
archaeology.  Proposals should seek 
to identify the extent of any 
archaeological remains and give 
consideration of their significance. 
 
Check the building heights 
mentioned for sites/areas to ensure 
consistency across the Masterplan 

P
age 293



41 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

(figures 16, 19 and 23 and 
paragraphs 5.1.5 – 5.1.10). 
 
5.1.7 Medium to large scale….visually 
interesting roof, façade and 
streetscape. 
 
5.1.8 Taller buildings will pay 
particular attention……to reduce 
their visual impact (New figure 
showing the set back from the road 
to be added). 
 
5.1.13 Gateway locations….higher 
density residential-led mixed use 
development;  
 
Figure 16 Make key for Panoramic 
View clearer.  
 
Figure 16 – key symbol for the 
landmarks building to be made 
clearer to ensure it is clear in black 
and white. 
 

Q4 Do you support the 
Overarching Guidance principles 
for ‘Transport and Movement’ set 
out in section 5.2? 

4.1 People will not stop using 
their own cars 
 
 
 
 

National Policy has moved towards 
securing more sustainable travel outcomes 
with emphasis on minimising the need to 
travel, reducing car use and encouraging 
more sustainable modes of transport. Both 
Government and private sectors are 

Proposed amendments to 5.2 
Overarching Guidance for ‘Transport 
and Movement’ 
 
Changes to wording: 
 

P
age 294



42 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

exploring new methods of transport to 
help support this vision, such as driverless 
cars, innovative public schemes and car 
sharing/taxi services such as Uber, and 
how this could change how we move 
between home and work, and the impact 
of this on the future design of new 
developments. 
 
The need to secure more sustainable travel 
is reflected in HCC’s Local Transport Plan 3 
(LTP3) and is a major theme in the 
emerging LTP4 - 2050 Hertfordshire 
Transport Vision and its emerging 
implementation ‘daughter document’, the 
South West Herts Growth and Transport 
Plan. This latter document has detailed 
plans and improvements outlined for the 
Two Waters Masterplan Guidance area 
(including areas expressed as concerns) 
and the wider area, and will be published 
in the new year. 
 
The initiatives delivered through the Two 
Waters masterplan will give people more 
choices in transport - through attractive 
and convenient public transport services 
and improved walking and cycling links. 
The cultural change to using alternatives to 
private vehicles is a long term process 
which DBC and HCC highways will continue 

New developments following 
guidance where possible in 
conjunction with guidance provided 
by Hertfordshire County Council with 
specific attention paid to guidance 
emerging Local Transport Plan, the 
South west Hertfordshire Growth 
and Transport plan and Hemel 
Hempstead Urban Transport Plan. All 
designs in terms of transport 
infrastructure should follow best 
practice guidance as set out in the 
HCC highway design guidance and 
Manual for Streets 
 
Figure 17 to be amended to include 
the Public Rights of Way network. 
 
Figure 17 to be amended to reflect 
single lane bridge and not the double 
lane bridge for bridge improvements.  
 
5.2.4. New development will seek 
….options (based upon the 
accessibility zones for application of 
parking standards).  
 
5.2.5 Travel plans will may be 
required for key developments as 
part of ….put in place.  

P
age 295



43 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4.2 There are not enough 

measures to encourage 
other transport usage 

 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 The current public transport 

provision does not travel to 
where you want to go. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
4.4 There aren’t enough local 

jobs so residents must travel 

to pursue through the emerging Growth 
and Transport Plan for South West 
Hertfordshire. 
 
Please refer Section 5: Key Consultation 
Themes and DBC responses (4. Transport 
and Parking) of this Consultation Report 
for full details. 
 
 
All development is expected to contribute 
towards the masterplan’s strategic 
transport objectives in addition to the 
delivery requirements for each site. 
Development proposals should ensure that 
growth in sustainable transport use can be 
accommodated.   
 
 
Improvements to public transport 
including increasing frequencies of existing 
bus services and additional bus routes and 
coach services to serve Hemel Hempstead 
are being considered as part of the 
development of HCC’s Growth and 
Transport Plan for South West 
Hertfordshire. Information on current bus 
services is available online. 
 
All development will contribute towards 
the transport and movement objectives of 

P
age 296



44 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

by car. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.5 No measures to reduce 
pollution, which is already 
too high. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

the Masterplan with initiatives to reduce 
the use of private vehicles through better 
public transport and new pedestrian and 
cycle links.  Further measures to promote 
alternative modes of transport will be 
considered by DBC and HCC through the 
emerging Growth and Transport Plan for 
South West Hertfordshire. 
 
Initiatives to reduce car use, particularly 
single car use are being championed by the 
guidance. Local highway improvements are 
set out for each development site and all 
development will contribute towards 
wider measures aimed at easing 
congestion throughout the Two Waters 
area. The initiatives delivered through the 
Two Waters masterplan will give people 
more choices in transport - through 
attractive and convenient public transport 
services and improved walking and cycling 
links. Environmental improvements 
including street tree planting will support 
cleaner and greener streets. Further 
initiatives to reduce car use and promote 
alternative modes of transport will be 
considered by DBC and HCC through the 
emerging Growth and Transport Plan for 
South West Hertfordshire. The impact of 
development on the Air Quality 
Management Area to the east of Two 

P
age 297



45 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
4.6 It is not practical to limit 

parking near public 
transport hubs.  Travellers 
will be discouraged if Public 
Transport is not accessible.  
Public Transport needs to be 
more efficient. 
 
 

4.7 Development will cause 
additional problem parking 
on streets 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.8 The guidance principles are 

not strong enough to 
mitigate traffic issues. 

Waters Road/London Road junction will be 
assessed as part of the planning 
application process.     
 
 
 
DBC will work with Network Rail on the 
provision and design of parking facilities 
for station customers. Further viability 
work will be required to determine how 
the objectives of site 1 can be achieved, 
including an integrated transport system 
with more buses serving the train station. 
 
 
The masterplan will make 
recommendations for areas directly 
affected by the Two Waters masterplan. 
However, these are part of a wider town 
centre issue.  The council is in the process 
of consulting residents local to London 
Road between Station Road and the 
Eastern access to the National Grid site on 
proposals to introduce waiting restrictions 
in the area. Car parks are reviewed 
biannually by Cabinet. 
 
 
The masterplan aims to make a positive 
contribution to existing conditions for all 
modes of travel. Further traffic 

P
age 298



46 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 

4.9 The single width bridge at 
Durrants Hill contributes to 
overall congestion. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
4.10 The bridge near Hemel 

Hempstead Station will be 
an issue, but is not included 
in the area of the 
masterplan. 
 
 
 

4.11 Concerns that potential road 
widening schemes will 
damage the habitats of 
much of the local wildlife. 
 
 
 
 
 

assessments will be undertaken with 
recommendations carried forward to the 
detailed design phase of individual sites. 
 
 
The single width bridge at Durrants Hill 
Road has been identified as a cause of 
congestion, this will be looked at in more 
detail as part of a transport assessment for 
Hemel Hempstead and through the 
detailed design of individual developments 
as they come forward. 
 
 
The impact of the station development on 
the surrounding highway network, will be 
assessed as part of the detailed design 
phase of site 1.  A transport assessment 
will also be undertaken as part of the new 
Local Plan. 
 
 
It is a characteristic of Boxmoor that areas 
of natural significance are adjacent to main 
roads. A decision on whether road 
widening will be required has not been 
made and will be considered following 
further transport assessment at the 
detailed design stage and discussion with 
landowners. Any proposals will include an 
environmental impact assessment and 

P
age 299



47 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 

4.12 More provision for electric 
cars. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.13 Cycle and pedestrian routes 

should be kept separate for 
safety of both users. 

 
 
 
 
 

measures to protect or mitigate the impact 
on areas of special interest. 
 
DBC’s expectations for the delivery of 
infrastructure to support electric car use 
from development is being considered as 
part of the partial review of the Core 
Strategy and will be set out within a 
Supplementary Planning Document to be 
adopted in 2019.   
 
 
The latest guidance from HCC on the 
provision of cycling facilities and shared 
routes will be used at the detailed design 
stage when development comes forward.   

Q5 Do you support the 
Overarching Guidance principles 
for ‘Open Space and 
Sustainability’ set out in section 
5.3? 

5.1 Concerns regarding 
additional access to open 
spaces.  Need to identify 
pathways to prevent 
damage to existing habitats. 

 
 
 
5.2 Concerns regarding the 

phrase ‘Activities to enjoy’ 
as this implies lots of man-

The masterplan’s proposals show 
indicative routes which will be further 
developed at detailed design stage. This 
will include an environmental impact 
assessment and will identify measures to 
protect or mitigate the impact on existing 
habitats. 
 
The masterplan’s open space principles set 
out the uses of the main green areas and 
protects existing uses such as working 

Proposed amendments to 5.3 
Overarching Guidance for ‘Open 
Space & Sustainability’ 
 
Change title: 
 
Open Space & Sustainability Open 
Space, sustainability and pollution 
 
5.3 [Opening paragraph] 
….’Encourage the use of Two Waters’ 

P
age 300



48 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

made activities that will ruin 
the calmness of these areas 
that is currently enjoyed by 
users.  Open areas should be 
left the way they are. 

 
 
 

 
5.3 Concerns that Heath Park 

will become a private 
outdoor area for use by 
residents of nearby 
apartment blocks. 
 

5.4 Some areas in the plan are 
known to flood, 
development here would be 
at risk of flooding in the 
future.  
 

countryside and farmland, amenity and 
sports while improving access for all. There 
is more opportunity for change around the 
lakes and watercourses by site 3. This area 
has limited public access and there is the 
opportunity to add and improve local 
facilities for leisure use. 
 
 
Both the Box Moor Trust and DBC’s 
intentions are for Heath Park to remain an 
open and accessible green space for all 
visitors to enjoy. 
 
 
A flood risk assessment is required for all 
new development which falls within flood 
zones 2 and 3. This will be applicable to 
sites 3 and 4 where development will be 
expected to deliver measures such as 
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems to 
reduce flood risk. Outside the scope of the 
masterplan, DBC and the Box Moor Trust 
have been working in partnership with the 
EA to improve the sustainability of the 
rivers Gade and Bulbourne throughout the 
town centre. 

[delete apostrophe].  
 
References to be added in section 
5.3: 
Consideration to be given to the 
Actions and Mitigation Measures 
identified in the River Basin 
Management Plan 2015-2021, for the 
Grand Union Canal, Bulbourne and 
Gade.   
 
Enhance the biodiversity and natural 
habitats for wildlife in the area.  
 
Development should include the 
creation of high quality green 
amenity spaces such as pocket parks 
and/or communal gardens within 
their developments, particularly 
linking visually to the moors.  
 
Development should avoid impacting 
on chalk grassland and seek 
opportunities to increase resilience 
and connectivity where appropriate. 
The site falls within Natural England’s 
Chalk and Chilterns Focus Area, with 
the chalk ridge extending from the 
Chilterns into Hertfordshire.  Beyond, 
is a fragmented landscape of chalk 
grasslands, woodland, farmland and 

P
age 301



49 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

ancient trackways. These sites are 
increasingly valued and visited. We 
would support actions which enable 
a linking of these fragmented 
landscapes, ensuring a connected, 
accessible and robust natural 
environment along this ridge. 
 
Flood Risk and Sustainable Energy 
Flood Risk, Sustainable Energy and 
Pollution 
 
Reference to be added: 
Development should consider 
pollution issues in the area including 
air quality and implement measures 
to reduce impact on and improve 
pollution issues. This would include 
improvements to existing air quality, 
noise and light pollution. 
 
Change wording: 
 
5.3.2 Developments should actively 
encourage the responsible use of and 
sensitively improve access to the 
moors giving careful consideration to 
maintaining its current functions and 
uses.  
 
Change wording on page 48:  

P
age 302



50 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

Create gathering space that can 
become the community heart of new 
development areas and wider 
neighbourhoodsneighbourhood’s 
heart. 
 
5.3.3 Green links….roles the moors 
have such as amenity space, leisure 
space and working farmland.  
 
5.3.4 Heath Park open space 
including Plough Gardens should be 
protected as an important amenity 
space and enhanced for the tall 
building developments around the 
Plough roundabout.  
 
5.3.4 The community amenity space 
of Health Park improved through 
recent Hemel Evolution work should 
be protected and enhanced as part 
of the context/setting and amenity 
space for the new developments 
around the Plough Roundabout 
 
5.3.5: 
…provide ecological 
enhancements to the east of Two 
Waters 
Road and north of London Road. The 
River Bulbourne and River Gade are 

P
age 303



51 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

chalk streams and consideration 
should be given to potential impacts 
upon these natural environments. 
 
5.3.7 Where opportunities arise 
development should ….heat and 
power network where feasible and 
viable.  
 
 

Q6 Do you support the 
development site guidance for 
Site 1 set out in section 6.1? 

6.1 Concerns regarding a hotel 
on site 1.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
6.2 A new traffic interchange is 

not needed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6.3 More restricted parking 

Whilst set out in the aspirations of the 
Masterplan, detailed viability work will be 
undertaken on site 1 to identify the 
demand for facilities such as a hotel and 
the preferred mix of development. A high-
quality commercial development with 
services for both business and leisure use 
would create a new and distinct offer to 
the hotel options available elsewhere in 
the town. 
 
Feedback from the consultation 
undertaken through the Two Waters 
masterplanning process demonstrates that 
public transport, traffic and congestion are 
key concerns. Connecting different types 
of public transport at an interchange is 
essential to encourage the take up of 
alternatives to private car use. 
 
It is expected that new controlled parking 

Proposed amendments to 6.0 
Development Site Guidance 
 
[Introduction paragraph] bullet point 

 Key Proposals 

 Design Guidance 

 Development Requirements 
 
Design Guidance: 
 
Additional wording to Section 6: 
 
…specialist service vehicles and lastly 
other motor traffic. Historic England 
have also published Streets for All 
guidance which covers public realm 
improvements.  
 
Numbering to be amended to all site 
guidance sections in section 6 to 
avoid duplication of numbers eg: 

P
age 304



52 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

zones are required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6.4 More links with West Hemel 
needed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6.5 Clarification of items 6.15 & 
6.16 
 

 
 
 

zones will form part of each development 
site. Concerns regarding current commuter 
parking in residential areas which are not 
within an existing controlled parking zone 
should be directed to the local ward 
councillor. Further information is available 
on the DBC website under Parking and 
Travel. 
 
The pedestrian and cycle improvements 
proposed through site 1 will provide clear 
and legible links to key destinations 
including residential areas and the town 
centre. Connections with routes beyond 
the Two Waters area are outside the scope 
of the masterplan. Access and movement 
requirements arising from West Hemel 
Hempstead are set out within the LA3 
Masterplan.   Wider changes to the 
highway network will be considered by 
HCC through the Growth and Transport 
Plan for South West Hertfordshire. 
 
Proposals for residential parking levels for 
site 1 will be developed at detailed design 
stage and will explore opportunities for 
innovative shared use of spaces. As a result 
a lower parking standard may be 
appropriate as the location will appeal to 
residents for whom public transport is 
their main mode of travel. This will be 

removal of two 6.1.1s as title and as 
principle.  
 
Proposed amendments to 6.1 Site 1 
 
Change title: 
 
6.1 Site 1: Hemel Hempstead Station 
and surroundings 
 
Add new Development Parameter:  
This site is included within MU/4 of 
the Site Allocations DPD. 
 
Figure 22: Change key from ‘Up to 8 
storeys’ to ‘Up to 6 storeys’.  
 
Figure 16: Change key from ‘Up to 8 
storeys’ to ‘Up to 6 storeys’. 
 
Additional wording to be added: 
 
6.1.6 Land will be safeguarded to 
deliver Improved highway access, a 
new station and multi-modal 
interchange with supporting land 
uses shall be delivered. 
 
6.1.5: 
Residential parking for new 
residential development should be 

P
age 305



53 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

informed by the current assessment of 
parking standards being undertaken as 
part of the partial review of the Core 
Strategy. Further feasibility work will be 
undertaken into the parking requirements 
for the train station. 
 

shared with other users although 
sufficient parking for station 
customers will be necessary.   
 
6.1.14: 
A flexible approach to the number of 
station car parking spaces should be 
adopted to balance operational 
requirements with viability of 
development, and to accommodate 
predicted growth. 
 
6.1.13:   
Station car parking will be 
accommodated within a multi-storey 
(or if viable, an underground) 
arrangement and its design should 
seek to minimise adverse impacts on 
the quality of the built environment. 
 
6.1.17 Add: 
Development should not lead to  any 
adverse effects on the nearby 
Roughdown Common SSSI. 
 
6.1.18 Building heights above three 
storeys will be set back from the 
building line and stepped back (See 
figure X and figure 15 and principles 
5.1.8 and NEW PRINCIPLE in Section 
5.1 Overarching Guidance) 

P
age 306



54 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
6.1.21 Opportunities for 
sustainable….should be used 
incorporated including… 
 
6.1.23 
The Roman archaeological site will be 
protected and opportunities to 
improve its visibility and better 
reveal its heritage significance should 
be explored.  
 
Include some example pictures of 6 
and 8 storey buildings.   

Q7 Do you support the 
development site guidance for 
Site 2 set out in section 6.2? 

7.1 Concern for the 
environment many 
residents would like to see 
the Moors protected 
 

7.2 Concerns that the area will 
be overdeveloped which 
could cause a negative 
impact on property values 

 
7.3 Concern for the existing 

road network, traffic 
congestion and parking  

 
7.4 Respondents feel that up 

to 8 storeys is too high for 
this site and would prefer 

See 1.2 
 
 
 
 
See 1.4 
 
 
 
 
See 1.7 
 
 
 
See 1.8 
 
 

Proposed amendments to 6.2 Site 2 
 
Change title: 6.2 Site 2: Two 
Waters/London Road Junction West 
 
Change wording on section 6.2, site 
2: 
A new walkable green residential 
area neighbourhood 
 
Change key to relabel ‘Safeguarded 
Land’ to ‘Safeguarded Land for 
Infrastructure’.  
 
Proposed railway buffer zone to be 
changed to be adjacent to the 
railway. 

P
age 307



55 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

to see development 
limited to 4 storeys. 

 
7.5 Concerns that the existing 

infrastructure cannot 
support the level of growth 
proposed i.e. health care 
and education.  

7.6 Concerns that the level of 
development as well as the 
reduced parking on site 2 
will cause issues further 
along Station Rd 

 
7.7 Queries over the 

Retail/office viability  
 
 

 
 
 
See 1.10 
 
 
 
 
See 4.7 
 
 
 
 
 
See 1.11 

 
Add new Development Parameter:  
This site is included within H/8 of the 
Site Allocations DPD. 
 
6.2.12 Remediate contaminated land 
so that it is suitable for residential 
development.  
 
6.2.18 Building heights above three 
storeys will be set back from the 
building line and stepped back (See 
figure X and figure 15 and principles 
5.1.8 and NEW PRINCIPLE in Section 
5.1 Overarching Guidance) 
 
6.2.22 Opportunities for 
sustainable….should be used 
incorporated including… 

Q8 Do you support the 
development site guidance for 
Site 3 set out in section 6.3? 

8.1 Respondents feel that up 
to 6 storeys is too high for 
the site. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A number of residents broadly agreed with 
proposals with reservations over building 
heights and density and additional traffic 
and would like to see alternative 
provisions for Sunnyside identified. 
 
The frontage to London Road and junction 
with Two Waters Road has been identified 
as suitable for development up to 6 
storeys where feature buildings would 
form a positive landmark. The assessment 
considered local topography and the land 

Proposed amendments to 6.3 Site 3 
 
Change title: 6.3 Site 3: Two 
Waters/London Road Junction North 
 
Change wording on section 6.3, site 
3: 
A new waterside residential area 
neighbourhood 
 
Open space and Historic 
Environment (section 6.3.2- Design 

P
age 308



56 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8.2 Against development on 
green open space including 
open space within Box 
Moor Trust land holdings. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.3 Concerns that the area will 

be overdeveloped and 
housing density is too high. 
 

use, design and heights of the surrounding 
development. Moving through the site, 
building heights will reduce in response to 
the surrounding environment. In particular 
a sensitive design and lower built form will 
be required along the site’s watercourses.   
 
Some development on green open space 
has been proposed after considering the 
sensitivity of all green space within the 
Two Waters area, the level of public use 
and following discussion with land owners 
including the Box Moor Trust.  
Discussions have also taken place with the 
Box Moor Trust regarding their 
landholdings which forms part of site 3.     
Planning permission has been granted for 
part of site 3 which sets a precedent for 
further development in that area 
Development within site 2 will mitigate the 
loss of open land by providing high quality 
public spaces within new residential areas 
and connecting these to existing green 
spaces and waterways to improve access 
for all. 
 
 
The level of development has been 
informed by the viability assessment which 
considered how best the ambitions of the 
Two Waters masterplan could be achieved. 

Guidance)  

 New public realm to enhance 
the setting of the nearby Grade 
II listed Bell Inn. 

 
6.3.5 Drop-off zone for school if 
school is progressed on this site.  
 
6.3.13 …though the site by 
maintaining current no through 
routes for vehicles. 
 
6.3.14 Land should be safeguarded 
retained for a drop off …. 
 
6.3.16 Building heights above three 
storeys will be set back from the 
building line and stepped back (See 
figure X and figure 15 and principles 
5.1.8 and NEW PRINCIPLE in Section 
5.1 Overarching Guidance) 
 
6.3.20 Opportunities for 
sustainable….should be used 
incorporated including… 

P
age 309



57 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8.4 Concern for the existing 
road network, traffic 
congestion and parking 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.5 Concerns that the existing 

infrastructure cannot 

Within site 2 a mix of uses has been 
identified with a variety of building heights 
which respond to the surrounding land use 
and will provide better access to and 
enhance the areas natural resources. More 
detailed studies will need to be 
undertaken through the planning 
application process to determine the 
detail.  
 
 
Local highway improvements for the sites 
are set out within the masterplan and 
contributions will also be sought towards 
wider highway proposals within the Two 
Waters area and the delivery of 
sustainable transport measures.  New 
development will be expected to provide a 
sufficient parking supply to avoid a 
detrimental impact on surrounding streets. 
Opportunities will be sought to make 
better use of parking spaces by sharing 
facilities throughout the week between 
residents, shoppers, visitors and 
commuters.  Section 5: Key Consultation 
Themes and DBC responses (4. Transport 
and Parking) of this Consultation Report 
for full details. 
 
See 1.10 
 

P
age 310



58 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

support the level of growth 
proposed i.e. health care 
and education. 
 

8.6 Concerns over 
replacement provision for 
existing uses such as scout 
groups and Sunnyside 
Rural Trust 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8.7 School drop off point will 
not be used, where this is 
available at other schools 
parents still drive up to 
school gates. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
The land leased to 1st Apsley Scouts does 
not form part of the development area of 
site 2. It is identified as green space and 
there may be opportunities to improve 
local facilities as part of the proposals to 
benefit scouting and other leisure uses. 
 
The Council recognises that Sunnyside 
Rural Trust provides a valuable service to 
the local community, and as landowner 
DBC has no plans to develop the site. 
Should the site be no longer required for 
use by the  Trust at some time in the 
future, or if a suitable alternative site 
becomes available, the Masterplan simply 
provides for the current site’s regeneration 
with guidelines as to what might be 
appropriate 
 
 
New development throughout the 
masterplan area will contribute towards 
safe and accessible pedestrian and cycling 
routes to the potential school site. The 
cultural change to using alternatives to 
private vehicles is a long term process 
which DBC and HCC highways and 

P
age 311



59 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
8.8 Not appropriate for school 

due to air pollution and 
nearby busy junction. 
(School not proposed for 
this site but drop off point 
is). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

education will continue to pursue through 
the emerging Growth and Transport Plan 
for South West Hertfordshire. The design 
of the school drop off point and vehicle 
access will be carefully considered. 
 
DBC and HCC will continue to discuss how 
new school places within the Two Waters 
area can best be provided.  The masterplan 
is designed to be flexible to accommodate 
the outcome of this decision. The traffic 
issue is noted and will require further work 
through the planning application process 
once the exact location is confirmed. 
Development will deliver pedestrian routes 
through existing green space and new 
public areas to create pleasant routes to 
school away from the main roads. There 
will also be environmental improvements 
including street tree planting to support 
cleaner and greener streets. All 
development will contribute towards 
highway improvements and sustainable 
transport measures aimed to ease 
congestion throughout the Two Waters 
area. The cultural change to alternatives 
modes of transport to private vehicles is a 
long term process which DBC and HCC 
highways and education will continue to 
pursue through the emerging Growth and 
Transport Plan for South West 

P
age 312



60 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
8.9 Some reservations as plans 

are not definite enough at 
this stage 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Hertfordshire.    
 
The masterplanning guidance is a high 
level document. Developers will prepare 
an illustrative masterplan with detailed 
design for each development site as they 
come forward. Local residents will be able 
to comment on the proposals through the 
planning application process. The Two 
Waters masterplan sets out the 
expectations from development and will 
help guide the determination of planning 
applications to ensure that development is 
consistent with its content. 
 

Q9 Do you support the 
development site guidance for 
Site 4 set out in section 6.4? 

9.1 16 storeys landmark building 
is too tall. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The northern end of site 4 has been 
assessed as suitable for a building of up to 
16 storeys due to the heights of 
surrounding development and to create a 
landmark at the southern gateway to the 
town centre. Given the proximity of the 
town centre and station a lower parking 
standard may be appropriate as the 
location will appeal to residents for whom 
public transport is their main mode of 
travel. This will be informed by the current 
assessment of parking standards being 
undertaken as part of the partial review of 
the Core Strategy. 

Proposed amendments to 6.4 Site 4 
 

Change title: 6.4 Site 4: Two Waters 
North 
 

Change wording on section 6.4, site 
4: 
A new mixed use town centre area 
neighbourhood 
 
6.4.1 Landmark building…. Tall 
buildings are more appropriately 
located around the Plough 
roundabout. 

P
age 313



61 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
9.2 Strong concerns over the loss 

of Sunnyside Rural Trust 
 

9.3 Concerns that without the 
supporting infrastructure 
being installed first the 
developments will not work 

 
 
 
 
 

9.4 Need for secondary school 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.5 Concerns over residential 

developments in a flood risk 
area 

 
See 1.13 
 
 
The phasing of development across the 
masterplan area is still to be determined 
and will consider the impact of 
construction, delivery of residential units 
and infrastructure requirements, and 
amenity funding. Improvements to 
transport infrastructure will be phased to 
minimise disruptions. 
 
HCC education services have been 
consulted on the masterplan proposals and 
have not raised any concerns regarding 
secondary school provision.  As a result it is 
currently assumed that there is capacity 
within existing secondary school provision 
to accommodate the additional demand 
for school places resulting from the 
proposed development. Further discussion 
with HCC will take place as housing 
numbers are identified.  The masterplan 
will be amended to note this position. 
Contributions will be sought towards 
education from each development. 
 
See the response from the Environment 
Agency in the Stakeholder Comments 
section 

 
Additional wording to para 6.4.17:  
…. wind micro-climate and residential 
amenity. This would also include the 
Listed buildings on the edge of 
Corner Hall. 
 
6.4.8 Dacorum Borough 
Council…..providing new primary 
school… 
 
6.4.8 ….current schools in the area 
and or providing a new school. 
 
6.4.8 Any proposed school location… 
 
6.4.13 Land should be safeguarded 
retained for a drop off …. 
 
6.4.15 Building heights above three 
storeys will be set back from the 
building line and stepped back (See 
figure X and figure 15 and principles 
5.1.8 and NEW PRINCIPLE in Section 
5.1 Overarching Guidance) 
 
6.4.18 Opportunities for 
sustainable….should be used 
incorporated including… 
 
Include picture of a tall building to 

P
age 314



62 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 illustrate proposed landmark 
building.  
 
Page 65 – Change picture.  
 
As a result of this consultation and 
further work with Hertfordshire 
County Council, we have removed 
the option of providing a school on 
Site 4 from the Masterplan Guidance. 
Should the site be no longer required 
for use by the Trust at some time in 
the future the Masterplan provides 
for the current site’s regeneration 
with guidelines as to what might be 
appropriate. DBC will continue to 
work with HCC to provide primary 
school places as required. 
 
 

Q10. Do you support the 
approach to ‘Next Steps’ outlined 
in sections 7.1-7.5? 

10.1 More consultation needed 
with meetings to be held at 
appropriate times to allow 
members of the public to 
attend. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The consultation has been undertaken in 
accordance with DBC Statement of 
Community Involvement (July, 2016) which 
is available at www.dacorum.gov.uk.  
 
The development of the Two Waters 
masterplan has been informed by a 
comprehensive consultation process, 
which can be viewed at 
www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration. This 
included local exhibitions held during the 

Proposed amendments to section 
7.1 
 
7.1 Title: Change to Delivering the 
aim of the Two Waters Masterplan 
Guidance.  
 
 
Additional wording to Section 7.1: 
All development will … health 
facilities, public realm and open 

P
age 315

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration


63 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 

10.2 Infrastructure 
improvements to be put into 
place before additional 
housing comes forward. 
 

10.3 Clearer proposals needed 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.4 Concerns that car use 
cannot be reduced 
 

10.5 Concerns over compulsory 
purchasing 

 
 
 
 
 

evening and at the weekend. There will be 
the opportunity to comment on each 
development site as part of the planning 
application process. 
 
 
See 9.3 
 
 
 
 
The role of the masterplan is to set the 
guidance principles for future 
development.  Its guidance will ensure that 
future development is planned and 
designed in the best possible way, to 
deliver an attractive sustainable and 
balanced environment. Detailed proposals 
will follow as development sites come 
forward. 
 
See 4.1. 
 
 
DBC will work with landowners and 
stakeholders to determine how 
development can be brought forward for 
delivery. This may be achieved through a 
coordinated delivery approach by multiple 
landowners. It is too early at this stage to 
consider whether compulsory purchasing 

space improvements. Where 
relevant, other contributions may be 
sought, for example, in relation to 
improvements to the historic 
environment. 
 
DBC will undertake further feasibility 
studies…. As sites come forward for 
development through the planning 
process, more detailed transport 
assessments with appropriate 
mitigation will be required.   
 
7.2 [Viability] The masterplan will not 
necessarily….needs. As sites come 
forward for development through 
the planning process, more detailed 
assessments and feasibility studies 
will be required with appropriate 
mitigation.  
 
7.3 Further Studies Work 
7.3 Whilst it is not possible….all 
modes of travel. Safeguarding 
Retention of land that may … 
 
7.3 Schools 
 
Dacorum Borough 
Council…..providing new primary  
school  

P
age 316



64 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 

10.6 Concerns that there are 
no provisions for additional 
sports facilities 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
10.7 Concerns over the future of 

Sunnyside Rural Trust 
 

10.8 Would like to see clear 
independent studies to 
support assumptions made 
in the Masterplan 

 
 
 
 

 
 

10.9 Next steps should include 
revisions to the Masterplan 
taking into account feedback 

will be necessary but it is a lengthy process 
and not considered lightly.   
 
Contributions towards indoor and outdoor 
sports facilities will be secured via the 
Community Infrastructure Levy. 
Community space and facilities directly 
associated with the development of 
Strategic and Local Allocations will be 
secured via s106 or alternative measures. 
Delivery will be informed by the evidence 
base for the Local Planning Framework, 
including the Outdoor Leisure Facilities 
Study (2014) and Playing Pitch Strategy 
and Action Plan (2015). 
See 1.13 
 
 
The development of the Two Waters 
masterplan has been informed by a robust 
evidence base comprising; an urban 
design, transport and movement and 
viability analysis. This can be viewed at 
www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration. Or 
contact regeneration@dacorum.gov.uk 
and request a copy to be emailed.  
 
The feedback from this third round of 
consultation will be evaluated and will be 
used to inform the final amendments to 
the Two Waters Masterplan.   Proposed 

 
….current schools in the area and or 
providing a new school. 
 
Any proposed school location… 
 
7.3 ADD 
Hertfordshire County Council has not 
identified the need for a new 
secondary school in this area as a 
result of the development proposed 
in the Two Waters Masterplan 
Guidance.  
 
7.3 ADD 
 
 
Other Infrastructure 

The Council works closely with a 
wide range of infrastructure 
providers to ensure that necessary 
infrastructure is provided alongside 
new development and that the 
information we have on the types of 
infrastructure needed to support 
development is up-to-date. This 
includes working with those 
organisations responsible for roads, 
public transport, education, health, 
water supply, sewerage and power.  

 

P
age 317

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration
mailto:regeneration@dacorum.gov.uk


65 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

from residents 
 

10.10 Concerns that stakeholders 
and developer input holds 
more weight than residents 
 
 
 

10.11 Concerns that the 
Masterplan will be 
undermined by developers 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.12 Money should be spent 
refurbishing   derelict areas 
of Hemel Hempstead rather 

amendments are outlined in this report.  
 
Each comment made by residents through 
the consultation process has been 
recorded, considered and responded to. 
The development of the masterplan has 
been informed through this process. 
 
Final dwelling capacities will be tested 
through the planning application process, 
where detailed schemes will be expected 
to demonstrate compliance with specified 
planning requirements and other relevant 
policies and guidance. 
 
The Masterplan Guidance forms part of the 
evidence base for the forthcoming Local 
Plan Review anticipated for 2019. It is 
expected that the document will be 
initially adopted by the Council as a 
planning statement. Following adoption of 
the Local Plan in 2019, the Masterplan will 
then be adopted as a supplementary 
planning document. Proposals for new 
development will be expected to follow its 
guidance and it will be material 
consideration in the determination of 
planning applications. 
 
The Two Waters area has been subject to 
developer interest and several planning 

The new Local Plan must ensure the 
delivery of infrastructure in a timely 
and phased manner. This will enable 
new residents’ access to the right 
services and facilities and reduce 
more negative effects on existing 
communities.  

 

P
age 318



66 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

than building in Two Waters. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.13 Reassurances needed 
that local residents will get 
priority for new housing 
 
 
 
 

10.14 Masterplan should be 
subject to a local referendum 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.15 Concerns over how 
Boxmoors ‘sense of place’ 
will be protected 
 
 
 
 
 

applications for significant numbers of 
units have been determined in recent 
years. A Masterplan is an essential tool to 
ensure development is coordinated and 
delivers local and strategic improvements 
to support an attractive, sustainable and 
balanced environment.   
 
The masterplan is not able to set eligibility 
criteria for who will be able to purchase 
new homes within the Two Waters area. It 
does set out that development should 
deliver 35% affordable housing in 
accordance with Core Strategy Policy CS19. 
The Two Waters Masterplan has been 
subject to extensive consultation which 
has shaped its development and the final 
guidance is informed by the feedback 
received from local residents.  It is not 
proposed to hold a local referendum. 
Further consultation will take place on 
individual developments as part of the 
planning application consent process. 
 
It is an objective of the masterplan to 
respect and enhance the Moors and their 
parkland, leisure and grazing uses which 
make Boxmoor a special place. Buildings 
will need to carefully consider and 
minimise impacts on the surrounding 
streetscape and views across the moors 

P
age 319



67 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 

10.16 Concrete actions in 
terms of traffic impact 
management, researching 
what types of residential are 
in demand and clear plans 
for health care provision. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.17 Masterplan should 
specify that planning 
applications should be 
required to demonstrate 
measurable net gain in 
biodiversity 
 
 

through the use of high quality design and 
materials. 
 
The masterplan sets out transport and 
parking guidance for each of the 
development sites, plus the overarching 
transport and movement strategy. Further 
transport assessments will follow as part of 
the planning application process. The 
viability assessment undertaken to inform 
the masterplan considered block layouts, 
indicative floor space of future 
development and demand for housing in 
the area. Further viability appraisals will 
take place as sites come forward for 
development. Consultation with key 
service providers including NHS Herts 
Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group will 
form part of the delivery phase. 
Development contributions will be sought 
towards health care and other 
infrastructure provision. 
 
Detailed assessments of each development 
site will be undertaken as part of the 
planning consent process. These will 
identify habitats and species of special 
interest and any protection or mitigation 
measures required. Development will be 
expected to contribute towards 
environmental improvements both to the 

P
age 320



68 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
10.18 Concerns over the future 

of current employment land 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
10.19 Would like clearer ideas 

of timetable 
 
 

immediate and wider area. 
 
There are large areas of redundant 
employment land within the Two Waters 
area. These land uses limit activity and 
detract from the quality of the built 
environment, by restricting access and 
interaction with local streets. 
Consideration of existing and future 
employment land needs forms part of the 
review for the Single Local Plan. Further 
information is available at 
www.dacorum.gov.uk/planning-
development, within the South West Herts 
Economy Study (February 2016) and 
forthcoming Employment Land Availability 
Assessment. 
 
The Two Waters masterplan will be 
adopted as a supplementary planning 
document with the new Local Plan, 
anticipated in 2019. While DBC will work 
with landowners to support development 
being brought forward, ultimately the 
delivery timetable is dependent on the 
overall strength of the local and regional 
economies and property markets.   
 

Q11 Do you have any further 
comments regarding the 'Two 
Waters Masterplan Guidance' 

11.1 Suggested trees to 
screen Box Moor Trust land 
from London Rd. 

Development will be expected to 
contribute towards environmental 
improvements both to the immediate and 

 

P
age 321

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/planning-development
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/planning-development


69 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

that you have not included in 
previous section? 

 
 
 
 
 

11.2 Green corridor could be 
enhanced by improving the 
link across the Magic 
Roundabout 
 
 
 
 

11.3 Building proposals are 
too high 
 

11.4 There should be an iconic 
cultural development 

 
 
 
 

 
11.5 There has been no 

feedback from other 
consultations 
 
 
 
 

11.6 How can local residents 

wider area. DBC will work with developers 
and the Box Moor Trust to ensure that the 
proposals for these sensitive areas are 
appropriate. 
 
The Plough ‘magic’ roundabout is outside 
of the scope of the masterplan.  DBC and 
the Box Moor Trust have been working in 
partnership with the EA to improve the 
sustainability of the rivers Gade and 
Bulbourne throughout the town centre. 
 
 
See 1.8 
 
 
The locations of landmark buildings are 
identified within the development sites 
guidance chapter of the masterplan. 
Historic, archaeological and environmental 
development is also recognised within the 
guidance principle.  
Feedback from round one consultation 
(held between 4 and 5 November 2016) 
and round two (held on 26 January 2017) is 
available on the DBC website at 
www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/regeneration. 
The report from phase 3 consultation will 
be published following Cabinet approval.   
 
Consultation on individual development 

P
age 322

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/regeneration


70 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

continue to make their views 
known in cooperation with 
DBC? 
 

11.7 Cycle routes are 
important 

 
 
 
 
 
 

11.8 What will be the result of 
this feedback 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11.9 How will the increase in 
air pollution be addressed? 
 

11.10 Alternative provision for 
Sunnyside Rural Trust needs 
to be identified 
 

11.11 What will happen with 
planning applications that 
have already been 
submitted? 

sites will take place as part of the planning 
application process. 
 
 
Improvements to the cycle network will be 
a key component of sustainable transport 
measures through the Two Waters area. 
This will include enhancements to existing 
and new connections to link development 
sites with destinations such as the town 
centre and station. 
 
The feedback from the third round of 
consultation will be assessed and 
responses recorded. Final amendments 
will then be made to the Two Waters 
Masterplan prior to its publication. 
Proposed amendments are outlined in this 
report.  
 
See 4.5 
 
 
See 1.13 
 
 
 
The role of the masterplan will be to guide 
DBC in its consideration of planning 
applications within the Two Waters area 
once adopted as a planning statement and 

P
age 323



71 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
11.12 A clearer understanding 

of the proposed developers 
and increased transparency 
re their business interests 
 

11.13 Suggestion of extending 
Frogmore Rd to Sainsbury’s 
and restricting traffic turning 
right 

 
 
 
 

11.14 Open up all DBC 
proposals for public debate 

 
 
 
 
 
 
11.15 Park and ride facility 

should be considered 
 

subsequently as a supplementary planning 
document. Planning applications 
submitted in advance of the adoption of 
the report will consider existing guidance 
provided by the Core Strategy and policies 
of the Local Plan 
 
It is not the role of the masterplan to 
propose developers for any of the sites 
within the Two Waters area. 
 
 
This is not currently proposed. Further 
traffic assessments will take place at 
detailed design stage. Additional proposals 
will be considered as part of the 
development of HCC’s Growth and 
Transport Plan for South West 
Hertfordshire. 
 
The masterplan has been subject to an 
extensive public consultation process in 
accordance with DBC’s Statement of 
Community Involvement (SCI, 2016) where 
residents and stakeholders have been able 
to comment on emerging proposals and 
help shape the final document. 
 
Whilst this is outside the scope of the 
masterplan, further opportunities to 
reduce traffic congestion will be explored 

P
age 324



72 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
11.16 ‘proper’ parking 

restrictions needed around 
the station 
 
 
 

11.17 Relocate the station to 
the current bus depot site 
 
 

11.18 Rethink boundaries and 
avoid building right up to 
existing housing  
 
 
 

11.19 Provision for the future 
of electric cars i.e. 
Infrastructure for electric 
charging points at every 
parking space 

 
11.20 Suggested shared surface 

on the older streets, perhaps 
make Winifred Road and 
Weymouth Street one way, 

by DBC and HCC as part of the 
implementation phase and through the 
development of the Growth and Transport 
Plan for South West Hertfordshire. 
 
It is expected that new controlled parking 
zones will form part of each development 
site. The parking needs of station users will 
be considered at the detailed design stage 
and advice sought from Network Rail.   
 
A preference to relocate has not been 
raised by Network Rail within any 
discussions 
 
The boundaries of development sites have 
been identified from an assessment of 
existing land uses and opportunities for 
new uses. The layouts of buildings will be 
considered at detailed design stage. 
 
See 4.12 
 
 
 
 
 
These highway changes are outside the 
scope of the Two Waters masterplan. See 
question 6 regarding residents’ parking. 
 

P
age 325



73 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

introduce a parking system 
that helps residents park 
where they live. 

 
11.21 The Masterplan should 

recognise renewable energy 
in its requirements and make 
Hemel Hempstead known for 
its will of carbon neutral 
ideologies. 

 
11.22 Current bus routes in the 

town don’t deliver direct 
journeys at times that 
people need, would like to 
see concrete evidence of 
how DBC think this can be 
changed. 

 
11.23 Traffic congestion and air 

pollution  must be taken into 
consideration 

 
11.24 The document is poorly 

written with too much jargon 
making it difficult to 
understand 

 
11.25 The bridge widening on 

Durrants Hill lane is shown at 
the wrong bridge.  

 
 
 
 
The design guidance for each development 
site highlights the requirement to consider 
sustainable building designs, such as 
efficient and renewable energy systems, 
water conservation, reduction/reuse and 
recycling of waste water. 
 
See 4.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See 4.1 & 4.5 
 
 
 
The masterplan is a technical document 
and uses terminology recognised within 
the planning sector. Where possible 
terminology will be simplified. 
 
 
Noted, the widening proposal is for the 
single carriageway bridge on Durrants Hill 

P
age 326



74 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
11.26 The new canal bridge – Is 

there a desire line for this? 
 
 
 

11.27 Some residents in 
Boxmoor have grazing rights 
that come with their housing 

 
11.28 The cycle parking 

standards for railway 
interchange are woefully 
low. 

 
 
 
 

 
11.29 It is difficult to cycle to 

the retail units from the 
housing on the north east 
side of the canal, Durrants 
Hill Road and Red Lion Lane 
are the only crossing points 
and it makes for a long 
journey.   
 

11.30 Suggested that the 
bridge at Apsley Station be 
opened up on the other side 

Road.   
An indicative location is shown on figure 
25, within site 4. This will connect to a new 
pedestrian and cycle routes and the canal 
towpath. 
 
It is an objective of the masterplan to 
protect the semi-rural farmland of the 
moors currently used for grazing. 
 
The emerging Station Gateway Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document will 
consider this matter further in 
collaboration with key stakeholders 
including DBC, Network Rail and Abellio. 
Further information on this report will be 
found on 
www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration . 
 
The masterplan proposes a new bridge 
crossing the canal within site 4. This will 
connect to a new pedestrian and cycle 
route to London Road providing access to 
the retail units. 
 
 
 
 
Further discussion will take place with 
Network Rail on vehicle and pedestrian 
access to the stations. Whilst this is not 

P
age 327

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration


75 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

through the public right of 
way through the golf course 
for faster access for 
pedestrians to the manor 
estate and aspen park 

 
11.31 Bridges over London 

Road rather than numerous 
road level crossings 

 
11.32 Work with local 

businesses to provide 
solutions to problems I.e. car 
sharing, improved parking 
facilities, flexi time to 
alleviate rush hour traffic 

 
 
 
11.33 Space for a church 

building around 
development sites 1-3 

 
 
 

11.34 The plans miss out many 
of the public rights of way in 
the area, this is likely to 
result in missed 
opportunities for improving 
sustainable transport links, 

currently identified as an objective, all 
development will contribute towards 
sustainable transport measures within the 
wider Two Waters area. 
 
This has not been raised by HCC as part of 
their requirements. 
 
 
DBC is working with HCC to assess the 
potential for a more holistic approach to 
transport to be embedded within HCC’s 
forthcoming Growth and Transport Plan 
for South West Hertfordshire. Whilst the 
masterplan will not be able to fully resolve 
the area’s transport issues it could have a 
role in delivering elements of these 
 
This is covered under the Core Strategy 
policy CS23 which encourages the 
provision of social infrastructure (which 
includes places of worship) in accessible 
locations. 
 
Noted, the masterplan illustrates the main 
pedestrian and cyclist routes and key 
proposals for improvements. This will be 
updated to include public rights of way. 
These will be looked at in more detail at 
the next stage of the development process 
in consultation with DBC and HCC.  

P
age 328



76 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

particularly walking and 
cycling 

 
11.35 A 3D or virtual model 

that shows the whole 
scheme 

 
11.36 What evidence of 

housing needs is there? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11.37 The sites should not be 
considered in               
isolation from the rest 
particularly in respect of 
congestion mitigation 
 

 
 
 
This is unlikely to be possible as sites will 
come forward individually through the 
phasing plan and developer interest. 
 

There is a very high housing need within 
Dacorum – indicated by a current 
assessed ‘objectively assessed need’ 
(OAN) figure of 756 homes per annum 
(17,388 over the 2013-2036 period). Two 
Waters is an important strategic location 
and has the potential to accommodate 
new development that promotes a 
sustainable mix of land uses. There is 
increased pressure from national 
government to deliver increased 
numbers of housing and a specific push 
for increased density around transport 
hubs. A clear steer for increased housing 
has been reiterated in the housing White 
Paper recently published. 
 
See 11.32 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 329



77 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

11.38 Has due attention been 
given to flood risk in the 
areas adjacent to the canal, 
rivers and moor? 

 
11.39 How will this plan be 

funded? 
 

 
 
 

 
11.40 Why have we not been 

consulted on this? 
 

11.41 Hardcopy of masterplan 
not available to purchase.  

See EAs response under stakeholders 
 
 
 
 
It is expected that private finance will be 
necessary to bring forward the 
development opportunities. Viability and 
deliverability of potential development 
sites have been considered and assessed 
during the preparation of the masterplan. 
 
See 11.14 
 
 
Hardcopies of the masterplan were 
available at the deposit points in Hemel 
Hempstead, Berkhamsted and Tring and at 
Hemel Hempstead library. Respondents 
were welcome to print out copies of the 
documents if they wished to do so. Hemel 
Hempstead library provides printing 
facilities and free computer access.  

P
age 330



78 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

Additional changes not covered 
in the above sections 
 

  Figure 5 will be amended to include 
views from higher lands in the 
Chilterns AONB.  
 
All references to London Midland as 
the Train Operating Company should 
be changed to West Midlands Rail 
Limited [ADD FOOTNOTE] or current 
Train Operating Company.  
 
References to heritage assets, 
heritage or heritage significance of 
assets to be changed to historic 
environment as appropriate.  
 
All references to emerging Site 
Allocations DPD to be updated (as 
covered in Schedule of Clarifications 
1.1 which supported the consultation 
document).  
 
All references to DBC’s parking 
standards in Appendix 5 of the DBLP 
will be changed to refer to current 
DBC parking guidance (as covered in 
Schedule of Clarifications 1.2 which 
supported the consultation 
document). 
 
In key of Figure 12: Safeguarded land 
to be changed to Safeguarded Land 

P
age 331



79 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

for Infrastructure.  
 
Additional wording to section 3.2, 
bullet point 22:   

 Explore lower parking 
provision to encourage use 
of sustainable travel modes. 

 

Additional wording to section 2.5.6:   
…to avoid a detrimental impact on 
surrounding streets. In doing so, 
careful consideration will need to be 
given to parking provision and its 
impact on well-designed, high quality 
public realm. 
 
Add wording to section 1.2: 
… development. The opportunities 
are focused around improving public 
transport and promoting a mix of 
housing led mixed-use development, 
which enhances the existing and 
natural environment promote public 
transport and sustainable transport 
networks to ease traffic congestion, 
supports high quality urban design… 
 
Add wording to Section 1.5: 
The moors, Grand Union Canal and 
the River Bulbourne provide valuable 
opportunities for recreation and 

P
age 332



80 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

biodiversity, whilst industrial land, 
large retail units and significant 
transport strategic, high volume 
roads infrastructure detract from 
dominate the key gateways into the 
area’s, detracting attention from its 
character and restricting walking and 
cycling movement through the car-
led environment.  
 
Reference to residential 
neighbourhoods to be changed to 
residential areas on figure 12. 
 
Additional wording to Section 3.1: 

 Impact of development on 
Roughdown Common Sites 
of Special Scientific Interest.  

 Design should seek to include 
high quality, well designed 
public open spaces and green 
infrastructure providing the 
amenities which will be 
required by future residents.  

 
Additional wording to section 2.2:  
… terraced houses at Corner Hall, 
that should be considered.  The Two 
Waters area is of considerable 
significance in terms of the history of 
paper manufacturing and includes 

P
age 333



81 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

the John Dickinson’s Frogmore Paper 
Mill, museum and ‘Paper Trail’.  
 
Additional wording to section 3.2:  

 Enhance existing historic 
environment and ensure its 
character influences the 
design and context of new 
development.  

 
Page 2 image: De-haze 
 
Section 1.4 The Masterplan Guidance 
forms part of …anticipated for 
adoption in 2019.  
 
1.6.2 Hemel Hempstead was 
developed as a ....population of 
around 94,932 87,000 ONS Census 
2011.  
 
1.6.2 The town was developed ….a 
series of districts neighbourhoods 
focussed around an existing a parade 
of shops.  
 
1.7 The adopted DBC development 
……Dacorum Core Strategy 
(September 2013), Site Allocations 
DPD (July 2017) and the Emerging 
Site Allocations DPD Policies  Map 

P
age 334



82 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

(July 2017). 
 
DBC is currently preparing…..and 
modifications (December 2016) 
DBC’s adopted Site Allocations 
Development Plan Document 
identifies….. 
 
1.7 Delete ‘new proposal’ from bullet 
points 4 & 5.  
 
1.7 DBC is also…adopting a this Plan 
in 2019.  
 
1.7 Whilst technically the adopted 
allocations ….policies and guidance. 
The aim will be to incorporate the 
aims and objectives of this planning 
statement into the new Local Plan.  
 
1.7 Whilst already ambitious….review 
of the Core Strategy (new Local Plan 
process). following completion of the 
emerging Site Allocations Local Plan  
 
1.7 Along with the need to meet 
meeting housing targets DBC will 
need to consider the is committed to 
the wider regeneration ……. 
 
1.7 The Two Waters Masterplan 

P
age 335



83 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

Guidance adopts a proactive 
approach to contribute towards 
housing need delivering the 
Borough’s housing need and manage 
managing growth in a manner …… 
Page 12 images – Change to front 
cover of Site Allocations DPD rather 
than Strategic Framework covers.  
 
2.2 There are a number of …….that 
should be considered conserved.  
 
2.4 Land having between a 1 in 100 
and 1 in 100 (2a and 2b)…. 
 
2.5 This is also compounded by the 
distance…. 
 
2.5 Whilst the towpath …… unpaved 
making it is less suitable for walking 
and cycling when it is wet or dark.  
 
ALL relevant figures  – Arrow ‘To 
Aylesbury’ change to ‘To 
Berkhamsted, Tring, Aylesbury’ 
 
Figure 11: Arrow adjacent to A41 
south – delete arrow sitting in the 
middle of the key. 
 
2.5.5 Parking standards are ……..DBLP 

P
age 336



84 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

(2004) and are contained in…..as 
residential parking standards by 
accessibility standards are specified 
specifically. These are currently being 
reviewed. The latest parking 
standards will be applicable to all 
development in the Two Waters 
area.  
 
2.5.6 Controlled Parking Zones “A” 
covers Two Waters Road while 
Controlled Parking Zone “R” covers 
and sections of London Road, 
Strandring Rise and Roughdown 
Road.  
 
2.6.1 [Residential] Given its location 
…..and develop enhance. 
 
2.6.1 [Residential] The exception to 
this would be ….where a reduced car 
parking provision near the town 
centre could be 
considered….enhanced public 
transport. 
 
2.6.1 [Residential] The key 
development sites ….improve values 
across the area. 
 
2.6.1 [Employment/Office] There is 

P
age 337



85 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

limited scope for ……office space. 
which is more likely to be ….existing 
office stock.  
 
2.6.1 [Retail and Leisure] The town’s 
retail core….with recent 
improvements to the retail offer 
planned. Including planned 
improvements to the retail and 
leisure offer.  
 
2.6.1 [Retail and Leisure] Given the 
above … increased population. 
through the new residential 
developments. 
 
2.6.1 [Retail and Leisure] The basket 
food sector….which is in contrast to 
the larger format store market.  
 
2.6.2 The viability of the 
Development Sites ….due to 
changing dynamic market 
conditions… 
 
3.1 [Weaknesses & Constraints] 
include new bullet point 

 Contains older parts of the 
town. 

 Existing utilities 
infrastructure and viability 

P
age 338



86 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

considerations around 
contamination in parts of the 
study area.  

 Impact of development on 
Roughdown Common Sites 
of Special Scientific Interest.  

 Design should seek to include 
high quality, well designed 
public open spaces and green 
infrastructure providing the 
amenities which will be 
required by future residents. 

 
3.2 [Strengths & Opportunities]  

 Established sustainable 
mixed-used development 
…….railway stations with 
more sustainable locations. 
the potential……parking 
standards.  

 Enhance the amenity of 
London Road….improving the 
Apsley high street area.  

 Improve Two Waters 
Road/London Road junction 
for pedestrian/cyclists.  

 Lower parking provision 
Encourage use of sustainable 
travel modes to deliver 
modal shift.  

 

P
age 339



87 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

Figure 13: Clarify what the dark 
green next to Durrants Hill Rd 
represents.  
 
Include illustrations/example 
pictures representing a range of 
heights proposed in the masterplan.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 340



88 
 

Appendix B:  

Summary of Stakeholder Comments and the Council’s Responses 

This section should be read in conjunction with Section 5:  Key Consultation Themes and DBC responses which provides more detailed responses to many of 

the comments below.

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

Buckinghamshire County Council (BCC) 

 The Draft Two Waters Masterplan Guidance document does 
not specify the number of homes planned for the 
Masterplan area, so it is difficult to give specific education 
comments on the scheme at this stage. The document states 
that Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) and Hertfordshire 
County Council (HCC) will need to explore options for 
providing additional school places. BCC would take a similar 
approach and would support any future proposals that 
would enable the Borough to meet its sufficiency duty and 
not negatively impact on Buckinghamshire schools. 

 Currently a number of Bucks resident primary and secondary 
pupils attend schools in the Borough of Dacorum.  Similarly, 
a number of Dacorum resident primary and secondary pupils 
attend schools in Bucks (predominantly secondary school 
pupils). Proposed growth in both Buckinghamshire and 
Dacorum is likely to increase demand for school places and 
have an impact on education movements between the two 
areas. BCC would therefore need to consider any future 
proposal with regard to its impact on schools and residents 
in Buckinghamshire. 

 BCC would want to have further engagement with DBC in 
order to better understand the proposals for this area, 
including the number of homes planned for the Masterplan 
area; specific education provisions proposed to meet needs 

 
Noted. The Duty to Cooperate applies to 
both HCC and DBC and we are both in 
discussions over whether appropriate 
schooling provision could be made for 
proposed levels of growth.  
 
We are happy to arrange a specific 
meeting between DBC and the BCC and 
HCC to be satisfied that appropriate 
schooling provision could be made.  

 

P
age 341



89 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

generated by the Masterplan proposals; and any other 
relevant mitigation measures. 

 

CPRE Herts 

 Concerns regarding the methodology of calculating 
reference to Housing Targets.  

 Despite uncertainty about the scale of housing development 
that will be proposed in the new Local Plan in due course, 
there is little doubt that there will be great pressure for new 
housing in potential regeneration areas and other 
brownfield locations in Dacorum, in line with emerging 
Government policy. For this reason the Two Waters 
Masterplan should place greater emphasis on maximising 
the potential for construction of new dwellings within the 
Masterplan area, and this emphasis should not be limited to 
the individual development sites included in the current 
consultation. To encourage this, the guidance should set out 
minimum dwelling densities for the proposed residential-
only sites within the Masterplan area, and minimum 
dwelling targets for the mixed use areas.  

 Care should still be taken to ensure that the height and 
design of new buildings does not have a significant 
detrimental effect on residents of neighbouring properties 
and on the townscape of this part of Hemel Hempstead 
which is an important gateway to the town.  

 Concerns re traffic generated by new development and 
those developments already underway.  

 Development should consider scale, and should not damage 
the local environment, and be sustainable. 

 

 
Noted. There is very high housing need 
within Dacorum – indicated by a current 
assessed ‘objectively assessed need’ (OAN) 
figure of 756 homes per annum (17,388 
over the 2013 – 2036 period).  The new 
Local Plan process will ultimately set the 
housing target for Dacorum up until 2036.  
 
The development sites have been 
identified as being the areas which have 
the most opportunity for change within 
the Two Waters area. Detailed but flexible 
Overarching and Site Specific Guidance has 
been included in order to ensure that 
development is sensitive and appropriate 
to the local area whilst delivering the 
Vision and Objectives for Two Waters.  
 
Further consideration will be given to 
transport through transport assessments 
and borough wide modelling to support 
the new Local Plan.  
 

 

Chiltern Society   

 Retention and expansion of open space and green 

 
Noted. The development sites have been 

 

P
age 342



90 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

environment especially Boxmoor. Linking of the Boxmoor 
area more clearly with Sites 3 and 4 by providing pedestrian 
access over Two Waters Road and the opening up and 
enhancement  of the Durrants Lakes will protect this area 
and make it a more accessible amenity for all. 

 Development should be constrained by area, and the 4 
development sites are noted and should not be exceeded.  

 A key issue is the height of development, which should be 
consistent with the majority of surrounding buildings and 
should not block the skyline from the surrounding wider 
area, being Green Belt and AONB further towards the west 
and north.  

 The new residents of the proposed 6 storey housing blocks 
should be taken into account when looking at the future of 
the stations.   

 Apsley station should be retained in view of the proposed 
increase of population near to the station, most of whom 
will be commuters. 

 Transport and parking. There is a wider impact of traffic 
congestion for the borough as a whole, and this applies to 
road congestion and rail capacity. Any idea of amalgamating 
Hemel Hempstead station with Apsley must not only take 
account of Network Rail’s demands but recognise and 
address the chronic car parking shortage at these stations, 
both of which are full before 08:00am. With the increase of 
up to 9,000 new properties in the borough (Core Strategy 
indication), this will only increase because of the desirability 
of Dacorum as a commuter area. 

 A strategic plan for the changing landscape and needs of 
Dacorum with the large increase in residential development, 
and therefore population, needs to protect all existing open 
space and should enhance and improve the open space. 

identified as being those with the greatest 
opportunity for change within the Two 
Waters area. Detailed but flexible 
Overarching and Site Specific Guidance has 
been included in order to ensure that 
development is sensitive and appropriate 
to the local area whilst delivering the 
Vision and Objectives for Two Waters.  
 
There is very high housing need within 
Dacorum – indicated by a current assessed 
‘objectively assessed need’ (OAN) figure of 
756 homes per annum (17,388 over the 
2013 – 2036 period).  Two Waters is an 
important strategic location and has the 
potential to accommodate new 
development that promotes a sustainable 
mix of land uses. Maximising the potential 
for construction of new dwellings within 
more urban areas such as the Two Waters 
area serves both to concentrate 
development in strategic areas such as 
around transport hubs and town centres as 
well as to reduce the possible impact and 
loss of Greenbelt land for development.  
 
The masterplan does not propose to 
change the location of the two stations in 
Hemel Hempstead. Parking at both 
stations are in the control of Network Rail 
and the service provider and are likely to 
remain commercially led.  DBC will be 

P
age 343



91 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

 In view of the appalling tragedy of Grenfell Tower, building 
above 6 storeys should not be considered. Local fire 
equipment will not provide the necessary cover for anything 
above this. 

 

working with relevant organisations and 
departments to facilitate the provision of 
relevant infrastructure, such as car parking 
and sustainable transport provision.  
 
The emerging new Local Plan will develop 
a vision, objectives and policies for the 
whole of Dacorum up until 2036. This aims 
to balance growth needs against other 
designations, such as open spaces, Green 
Belt or AONB.  

Chilterns Conservation Board 

 The draft masterplan fails to mention that the River 
Bulbourne and River Gade are chalk streams, which are 
home to some of our most threatened plants and animals. 
The impact on the chalk stream of the development 
proposals in the Two Waters masterplan must be carefully 
assessed.  

 The Board has particular concerns about site 3 and the lower 
half of site 4. There appears to be little consideration for the 
Rivers Gade or Bulbourne. The proposal to build up to 
buildings of up to 6 storeys on what is currently floodplain 
meadow should be looked at from an ecological perspective 
as well flood risk 

 High rise building in the setting of the Chilterns AONB could 
harm the AONB. The viewpoints on Figure 5 identify two 
wider viewpoints, both from the town, and should also 
include views from higher land in the Chilterns AONB, a 
nationally protected landscape.  

 

 
Noted. If necessary, assessments will be 
undertaken for the sites as part of the pre-
app process.  These assessments will 
provide evidence on the impacts (if any) on 
flood risk, ecology, the setting of the AONB 
and other strategic considerations. DBC 
Development Management team will 
consider these assessments and consultee 
responses before determining any 
application.  

Reference to be added to section 
5.3.5 acknowledge that: 
…provide ecological 
enhancements to the east of Two 
Waters 
Road and north of London Road. 
The River Bulbourne and River 
Gade are chalk streams and 
consideration should be given to 
potential impacts upon these 
natural environments.  

Countryside Access Officer – DBC 

 Plans depicting the current public rights of way network 

 
Noted. We recognise the need for the right 

 
Add Public Rights of Way network 

P
age 344



92 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

which do not appear to have been included in the ‘Transport 
& Movement’ section of the document. 

 There is considerable scope to incorporate improvements to 
existing routes, including inevitable diversions, to improve 
sustainable transport through the study area. Ideally a non-
vehicular shared pedestrian-cycle route linking residents to 
the stations and minimising road crossings. 

 

infrastructure package to help support 
employment and housing growth with 
necessary cultural change that will help 
secure a long term sustainable modal shift. 
Whilst it will not be possible for this 
masterplan to fully resolve the area’s 
transport issues alone, it should make a 
positive contribution overall to existing 
conditions for all modes of travel. The 
safeguarding of land that may be required 
for future improvements or development 
mitigation should also be considered. 

to Transport and Movement section 
(Figure 17).  

Environment Agency 

 We agree that the moors, Grand Union Canal, River 
Bulbourne and the River Gade provide valuable 
opportunities for quality recreation and biodiversity. 

 It is essential that the quality and quantity of water in the 
environment is properly safeguarded. 

 Environment Agency would seek the implementation of 
Actions and Mitigation Measures identified in the update of 
the River Basin Management Plan 2015-2021, for the Grand 
Union Canal, Bulbourne and Gade for the extent these water 
bodies pass through the proposed development area, and 
for at least 1km upstream and downstream the area.  

 
Flood risk: General comments for all sites within the masterplan  

 Latest climate change allowances will need to be taken in to 
account for new developments.  

 Level-for-level volume-for-volume floodplain compensation 
will be required for any increased built footprint in the 1 in 
100 year plus climate change floodplain, such development 
should be avoided regardless through sequential planning.  

Noted. If necessary, assessments will be 
undertaken for the sites as part of the pre-
app process.  These assessments will 
provide evidence on the impacts (if any) on 
flood risk, ecology and other strategic 
considerations. DBC Development 
Management team will consider these 
assessments and consultee responses 
before determining any application. 
 
As and when firmer proposals are 
developed for these sites (either through 
detailed site master planning or planning 
applications), we would expect a flood risk 
assessments and sequential test to be 
completed and for consideration to be 
given to the existence of flood zone 
designations, the need for SuDs and buffer 
zones to aid habitat continuity.  

Reference to be added in section 
5.3: 
Consideration to be given to the 
Actions and Mitigation Measures 
identified in the River Basin 
Management Plan 2015-2021, for 
the Grand Union Canal, Bulbourne 
and Gade.   

P
age 345



93 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

 At least an 8 metre undeveloped buffer should be left along 
rivers, to ensure riparian habitat continuity and access for 
maintenance.  

 Any development should be supportive of ongoing river and 
floodplain restoration of the Gade and Bulbourne in the 
area, and work with catchment partnership. Developer buy-
in to improving the riparian environment, and implement 
river basin management plan 1-2km upstream and 
downstream of the site allocations.  

 
Site 1 & 2  

 We have no fluvial flood risk concerns as both these sites are 
located outside of the flood plain. 

 Site 3  

 New development may constrict the riparian corridor, as the 
site is currently mostly undeveloped green space. New 
development may reduce the habitat continuity along the 
Bulbourne and all new proposals should ensure a suitable 
natural buffer strip is proposed.  

 Flood Zones are present on site and any development will 
need to be planned sequentially to avoid development in 
highest flood risk areas.  

 Flood alleviation scheme proposed, ideally this should be a 
joined-up approach taking into account SuDS and surface 
water flood risk where possible.  

Site 4  

 Flood Zones are present on site and any development will 
need to be planned sequentially to avoid development in 
highest flood risk areas.  

 Flood alleviation scheme proposed, ideally this should be a 
joined-up approach taking into account SuDS and surface 
water flood risk where possible  

P
age 346



94 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

 

Hertfordshire County Council:  Education 
 
Further to our previous representations dated 17/11/16 and 
03/04/17, we have the following comments to make. 
Land Use – School  

 The size and number of schools required will be determined 
by the number of residential units proposed within the 
master plan area. 

 The masterplan area falls within the SE Hemel Hempstead 
primary planning area. In this area, there is a concentration 
of demand where the number of children significantly 
exceeds the number of available school places.  To help ease 
this concentration of demand, Belswain Primary was 
temporarily expanded to 2FE in 2016.  

 Although the primary forecast can only show projected pupil 
numbers up to 4 years ahead, the latest forecast shows an 
increase in demand for school places in South East Hemel as 
well as across the whole of Hemel town.  

Site 3  

 The inclusion of a potential drop off zone to serve the new 
primary school shown in site 4 is welcomed, subject to 
further feasibility studies being undertaken by DBC and HCC. 

  
Site 4 
Para 6.4.3 

 The inclusion of land to provide a 2FE primary school, 
together with open space and drop off zones is welcomed, 
subject to further consultation with DBC regarding proposed 
housing numbers and feasibility work. 

 

Noted. The Duty to Cooperate applies to 
both HCC and DBC and we are both in 
discussions over whether appropriate 
schooling provision could be made for 
proposed levels of growth.  We will 
continue such discussions as the new Local 
Plan emerges.  
 
DBC and HCC recognise the need for the 
right infrastructure package to help 
support employment and housing growth. 
DBC is exploring external funding 
opportunities to help plan and deliver 
these vital improvements to support the 
new Local Plan. The safeguarding of land 
that may be required for future 
improvements or development mitigation 
should also be considered. 
 
 

 

   

P
age 347



95 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

Hertfordshire County Council: Lead Local Flood Authority 

 Future development in the area must consider flood risk 
from all sources and the risk of flooding should minimised 
through appropriate management. As the Lead Local Flood 
Authority we will assess the drainage assessment and Flood 
Risk assessments for major planning applications.  

 A surface water drainage assessment should be carried out 
to demonstrate that the proposed development will not 
create an increased risk of flooding from surface water to 
the development site and the surrounding area. It should be 
carried out in accordance with the NPPF and the NPPG. 

 We would expect development to demonstrate that the 
surface water drainage can be managed in a sustainable 
manner, giving priority to above ground storage and source 
control. By giving preference to infiltration, then discharge 
to a watercourse thereafter to a surface water sewer.  

 Any FRA submitted to support any future planning 
applications should  demonstrate that the proposed 
drainage system can be designed to cater within the site for 
the post development surface water run-off rates and 
volumes for its lifetime and for all rainfall events up to and 
including the 1 in 100 year rainfall event + 40% allowance for 
climate change.  

 The FRA should also demonstrate that any existing areas of 
surface water flood risk can be managed within the site 
without increasing flood risk elsewhere.  

 Where it will be proposed to infiltrate, detailed assessment 
of ground conditions should be provided with groundwater 
levels, permeability of the underlying geology, with 
infiltration tests carried out in accordance BRE Digest 365. 
The FRA should also demonstrate that there will be sufficient 
surface water quality treatment by implementing an 

Noted. Hertfordshire have commissioned a 
Water Cycle Study to better understand 
the relationship between development 
and the water environment around the 
county, by examining the potential impacts 
of future growth on the main aspects of 
the water cycle.  This considers such 
aspects on a 'local' and 'wider than local' 
level for scenarios at 2021, 2031 and 
2051.  This work has involved a number of 
different Local Authorities and 
stakeholders.  This Water Cycle Study is 
due to be completed this year and will 
form part of the new Local Plan evidence 
base for Dacorum Borough 
Council.  Further work may be necessary to 
complete a Stage 2 report, but this will not 
be known until the Stage 1 work has been 
completed. A Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment is going to be commissioned 
for Three Rivers and Dacorum which will 
also support the new Local Plan.  
 
As and when firmer proposals are 
developed for these sites (either through 
detailed site master planning or planning 
applications), we would expect a flood risk 
assessments and sequential test to be 
completed and for consideration to be 
given to the existence of flood zone 
designations or the need for SuDs, etc. 

P
age 348



96 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

appropriate amount of water quality treatment stages 
through the use of SuDS.  

 Please note there are ordinary watercourses within the Two 
Water area. Any works proposed to the ordinary 
watercourses that affect the flow within the channel will 
require the prior written consent from the Lead Local Flood 
Authority. This includes all temporary and permanent works 
such as dams, culverts, weirs etc. the Grand Union Canal is 
also classified as an Ordinary Watercourse. 

 The River Bulbourne is classified as Main River; we would 
recommend consulting the Environment Agency in matters 
relating to water quality and fluvial flooding. 

 

Hertfordshire County Council: Natural, Historic and Built 
Environment Advisory Team 

 Future planning applications includes a requirement for an 
archaeological desk-based assessment. Whilst we welcome 
the inclusion of the historic environment in the list, we 
recommend that this office is consulted with regard to the 
scope of any required archaeological investigations.   

 Heritage assets should be established and this may include 
archaeological evaluation as well as a desk-based 
assessment. 

 Masterplan must consider the historic environment 
appropriately. The historic environment/heritage assets 
include both below ground archaeological remains as well as 
historic buildings, landscapes and landscape features. In this 
instance this may include (but not be limited to) the Grand 
Union Canal and any associated features/furniture.  

 Provision should also be made for the identification of 
currently unknown heritage assets and their consideration of 
their significance.  

Noted. Planning applications will need to 
meet our local validation checklist. Where 
relevant, we will notify statutory 
consultees of applications where 
designations are known.  Weekly lists of 
live planning applications are available 
from our website.   

Add reference in paragraph 5.1.4 to  
Para 5.1.4. – Development design 
will respect the heritage 
significance of assets, … reveal their 
significance.  A similar approach 
needs to be taken with any 
archaeology.  Proposals should seek 
to identify the extent of any 
archaeological remains and give 
consideration of their significance. 

P
age 349



97 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

Hertfordshire Police – Traffic Management 

 No objection. 
 

Noted.   

Historic England 

 An appreciation of the historical context of a place for which 
change is planned is of considerable importance in ensuring 
successful design.   

 The masterplan would benefit from the greater inclusion of 
historic environment into its aspirations and objectives.   

 Recommend that where the masterplan refers to ‘heritage’ 
or ‘built assets’, it instead uses the term ‘historic 
environment, in line with the accepted terminology in the 
NPPF.   

 To properly summarise the interesting and varied elements 
of the historic environment found within the Study Area, 
more content is required than referenced Grade II listed 
terraces at Corner Hall.  

 Roman period archaeological site not mentioned in site 1 
overarching summary, neither are any other listed buildings 
or (if appropriate) non-designated heritage assets. 
Recommendation is that this information and any 
accompanying imagery could be better presented if 
‘heritage’ had its own discrete section, or if the current 
combined section were enlarged to cover more than one 
page.  

 No reference to the presence of John Dickinson’s Frogmore 
Paper Mill and its existing heritage amenities, including the 
‘Paper Trail’ and museum, which are within the Study Area.  
The plan should ideally include consideration of ways in 
which this asset and its significance can be enhanced and 
better revealed as part of any new public realm or open 

Noted. The historic environment is one of 
many important factors that the objectives 
need to respond to. However, the 
objectives provide reference to the historic 
environment within objectives 4 and 7.  
 
Roman period archaeological site in site 1 
is already adequately referred to in figure 
22 and paragraph 6. 1.23.  
 
There is sufficient reference to heritage 
throughout the document.  
 
Wording changes will be made to some 
sections based on your feedback.  

Proposed change to vision:  
New development with supporting 
infrastructure will be of the highest 
design quality, …. integrates with 
existing areas. It will also 
neighbourhoods that respect and 
enhances its natural, cultural, 
historic and built assets. New 
development will encourage the 
use of and access to heritage assets 
and the historic environment, as 
well as to the countryside. 
 
References to heritage assets, 
heritage or heritage significance of 
assets to be changed to historic 
environment as appropriate.  
 
Additional wording to para 6.4.17:  
…. wind micro-climate and 
residential amenity. This would also 
include the Listed buildings on the 
edge of Corner Hall. 
 
Additional wording to section 2.2:  
… terraced houses at Corner Hall, 
that should be considered.  The 
Two Waters area is of considerable 
significance in terms of the history 

P
age 350



98 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

space, and also the wider regeneration of the Two Waters 
area more generally. Its omission from long term planning in 
this area would be an unfortunate missed opportunity in 
terms of enhancing not only the historic character of the 
area, but also the area’s potential to attract tourism and 
foster additional economic activity.  

 We are pleased to note the masterplan’s focus on the 
improvement of the public realm and streetscape in terms of 
placemaking, as identified in section 3.2. We acknowledge 
there is a large range of building types, including those which 
are designated heritage assets, in the Study Area, as 
highlighted in Section 3.1. This diversity of form will require 
detailed consideration in any future development proposals 
in the Study Area. It is important, however, that the 
masterplan includes the Grade II* listed Snatchup End 
Cottages and other heritage assets in the area (15 Grade II 
listed buildings) as potential opportunities for enhancement 
in Section 3.2, relating future development within the Study 
Area to its historic character and context, and using that 
context to inspire successful future designs. With that in 
mind, we suggest also that section 4.1 also includes an 
aspiration to encourage the use of and access to heritage 
assets and the historic environment, as well as to the 
countryside.  

 In Section 4.2, the wording of point 7 could benefit from 
rewording along the lines of “Enhance and better reveal the 
importance and significance of the existing natural and 
historic environment in Two Waters to contribute positively 
to its sense of place”  

 Welcome focus in Section 5.1 on ensuring high quality design 
for new buildings, recommend that equal importance is 
placed on the design quality of new public realm and 

of paper manufacturing and 
includes the John Dickinson’s 
Frogmore Paper Mill, museum and 
‘Paper Trail’.  
 
Additional wording to section 3.2:  

 Enhance existing historic 
environment and ensure its 
character influences the design 
and context of new 
development.  

 
Proposed changes to section 4.2:  
Enhance and better reveal the 
importance and significance of the 
existing natural and historic 
environment in Two Waters to 
contribute positively to its sense of 
place  Enhance and Better Reveal 
Two Waters’ Heritage, Landmarks 
and Green Spaces 
 
Additional wording to section 5.1.1: 
…relationships with existing 
development. This should also 
include achieving a high quality of 
new public realm and 
infrastructure. 
 
Additional wording to Section 6: 
Design Guidance  
…specialist service vehicles and 

P
age 351



99 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

infrastructure.  

 Section 6.0 could also make reference to Historic England’s 
Streets for All guidance 
(https://historicengland.org.uk/images-
books/publications/streets-for-all-east-of-england/) for 
public realm improvements, alongside the Manual for 
Streets and county design guidance.  

 In Section 6.3 - Site 3 under Open Space and Heritage, we 
suggest the inclusion of a requirement that new public realm 
(Numbered 4 on Figure 24) enhance the setting of the 
nearby Grade II listed Bell Inn.  

 It is well established that heritage is not just an adjunct to a 
healthy economy, it is an important component of growth 
and a source of employment. We therefore welcome the 
inclusion, in Section 7.1, of a requirement for new 
development to contribute towards delivering infrastructure 
improvements in the Two Waters area through CIL and 
Section 106. The Localism Act allows CIL to be used for the 
maintenance and on-going costs associated with a range of 
heritage assets including, for example, transport 
infrastructure such as historic bridges, green and social 
infrastructure such as historic parks and gardens, civic spaces 
and public places. Historic England encourages charging 
authorities to consider identifying the ways in which CIL, and 
S106 agreements can be used to implement local planning 
policy and proposals relating to the conservation of the 
historic environment, heritage assets and their setting. This 
will help the SPD to satisfy national planning policy (NPPF 
paragraphs 6, 126 and 157).  Development specific planning 
obligations and S106 will continue to offer opportunities for 
funding improvements to and the mitigation of adverse 
impacts on the historic environment, such as archaeological 

lastly other motor traffic.  Historic 
England have also published Streets 
for All guidance which covers public 
realm improvements.  
 
Open space and Historic 
Environment (section 6.3.2- Design 
Guidance)  

 New public realm to enhance 
the setting of the nearby 
Grade II listed Bell Inn. 

 
Additional wording to Section 7.1: 
All development will … health 
facilities, public realm and open 
space improvements. Where 
relevant, other contributions may 
be sought, for example, in relation 
to improvements to the historic 
environment.  

P
age 352

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/streets-for-all-east-of-england/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/streets-for-all-east-of-england/


100 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

investigations, access and interpretation, and the repair and 
reuse of buildings or other heritage assets.  

 

Lumiere Developments (landowner) 

 The draft Guidance fails to take into account the purpose for 
a Masterplan and various crucial factors which have resulted 
in flaws in numerous sections of the document. The draft 
Guidance does not discuss viability sufficiently and has failed 
to address the Vision and Objectives specified. The draft 
Guidance concludes that the proposal is viable, however no 
sufficient investigation or assessment has been conducted. 

 The Masterplan is considered to rely too greatly on existing 
routes and desire lines as opposed to holistically 
changing/removing these to create a much more vibrant 
pedestrian dominated place to live, work and travel. 

 Further detail of the proposals is required to assess possible 
reduced benefit should some of the aspirations in the draft 
Guidance not be viable or achievable. While the funding 
approach is considered most likely and most appropriate, 
the level of detail in the masterplan does not evidence its 
viability. 

 There is no formal viability report with quantitative data on 
land values, cost of construction, gross development values 
or costs of proposed highways improvements. There are a 
number of concerns regarding the assumed numbers of 
housing units, build cost and land values in the Masterplan. 

 The existing volume of traffic on the network is at capacity 
and the masterplan should have investigated wholesale 
alterations so as to remove barriers as opposed to working 
round existing infrastructure and vehicular desire lines. The 
Masterplan should go further to create a vibrant, car free 
environment.  

The current Masterplan Guidance 
represents what is considered an 
appropriate form of development 
balancing the variety of complex factors 
including national and local policy, 
townscape context, views and characters 
of the area, sensitive land uses and 
boundaries, the local highway network, 
viability assessments, urban designs 
principles and views expressed through the 
Steering Group and public and stakeholder 
consultation. The viability assessment 
methods adopted is standard market 
practice for documents of this nature.  
The Masterplan Guidance provides 
overarching and site specific guidance for 
development coming forward. However, 
potential developers will need to 
undertake their own further detailed 
assessments and viability work through the 
planning process as and when 
development comes forward for their own 
proposed development scheme.  
 
As part of developing the Masterplan 
Guidance we have worked closely with 
HCC highways to ensure they have 
identified proposals to tackle short, 
medium and longer term proposals for  

 

P
age 353



101 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

 There are further concerns regarding the approach to the 
transport network, traffic flow links, access to the station, 
bus routes and parking. 

 

Hemel Hempstead and the borough taking 
into account future longer term growth 
predictions and impacts for not only our 
borough but for South West Herts. See 
Section 5 above of the main report for 
further details on Transport and 
Movement.  
 

National Grid 

 We have reviewed the above consultation document and 
can confirm that National Grid has no comments to make in 
response to this consultation. 

 

Noted.   

Natural England 

 SSSI should be included specifically on the list of constraints. 

 Design should seek to include high quality, well designed 
public open spaces and green infrastructure providing the 
amenities which will be required by the future populace 

 Given the scale of the development, consideration should 
also be given to ecological enhancement. The site falls within 
Natural England’s Chalk and Chilterns Focus Area. The chalk 
ridge extending from the Chilterns into Hertfordshire, and 
beyond, is a fragmented landscape of chalk grasslands and 
woodland that is also locally a farmland bird ‘hotspot’. As 
well as its ancient trackways, its sites are increasingly valued 
and visited by people from expanding towns. We are looking 
to ‘join the dots’, ensuring a connected, accessible and 
robust natural environment along this ridge.  

 The development should look to avoid impacting on chalk 
grassland and seek opportunities to increase resilience and 
connectivity where appropriate. 

 

Noted. The natural environment is one of 
many important factors that the Two 
Waters area need to respond to. 
 
We will make wording changes to the 
document based on your feedback.  

Additional wording to Section 3.1: 

 Impact of development on 
Roughdown Common Sites of 
Special Scientific Interest.  

 Design should seek to include 
high quality, well designed 
public open spaces and green 
infrastructure providing the 
amenities which will be 
required by future residents.  

 
Reference to be added to section 
5.3 acknowledge that: 
…provide ecological 
enhancements to the east of Two 
Waters 
Road and north of London Road. 
The River Bulbourne and River 
Gade are chalk streams and 

P
age 354



102 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

consideration should be given to 
potential impacts upon these 
natural environments.  
Development should avoid 
impacting on chalk grassland and 
seek opportunities to increase 
resilience and connectivity where 
appropriate. The site falls within 
Natural England’s Chalk and 
Chilterns Focus Area, with the chalk 
ridge extending from the Chilterns 
into Hertfordshire.  Beyond, is a 
fragmented landscape of chalk 
grasslands, woodland, farmland and 
ancient trackways. These sites are 
increasingly valued and visited. We 
would support actions which 
enable a linking of these 
fragmented landscapes, ensuring a 
connected, accessible and robust 
natural environment along this 
ridge. 

Network Rail 
Network Rail owns, maintains, renews and enhances the railway 
infrastructure in England, Wales and Scotland.  Our comments are as 
follows:  

 Network Rail is supportive of the proposed draft Two Waters 
master plan consultation document where it relates to Site 1 - 
Hemel Hempstead Railway Station. We also support the 
masterplan’s vision and objectives for future development.  

 A comprehensive development as envisaged at the station would 
be subject to railway and regulatory approvals and Network 

Noted. We will consult with Network Rail 
as part of ongoing engagement with key 
consultees, regarding projected growth 
numbers within Dacorum.  The work on 
housing growth will be progressed through 
the new Local Plan.  To ensure implications 
on train capacity (both passenger numbers 
and parking) can be considered by 
Network Rail.  
 

All references to London Midland as 
the Train Operating Company 
should be changed to West 
Midlands Rail Limited.  
 
Additional wording to Section 6.1.5: 

 Residential parking for new 
residential development should 
be shared with other users. 
Although sufficient parking for 

P
age 355



103 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

Rail’s processes.    

 Under 6.1.4 Network Rail would wish to see some increased 
flexibility to allow for market demand.    

 Under 6.1.5 it states: “Residential parking for new residential 
development should be shared with other uses.” Network Rail 
would have concerns over any shared use of dedicated station 
parking with residential parking and will require sufficient 
parking for station customers.   

 Point 6.1.13 should allow flexibility and the ability to provide 
underground car parking should this be more appropriate than a 
multi-storey.  

 Under 6.1.14 it should be noted that Network Rail is regulated 
and any development on the site will need to ensure that 
sufficient station parking is provided to accommodate predicted 
growth.  

 It should be noted that there is reference in the document to 
London Midland as the Train Operating Company, but West 
Midlands Rail Limited has recently been awarded the franchise 
and will take over from London Midland in December 2017 for a 
period of 9 years. 

 The West Coast Main Line south has capacity issues.   

 We have projected levels of demand to 2043 to understand how 
demand may grow over time. In conclusion, future demand 
continues to increase significantly on the route, with options to 
increase capacity very limited. In the shorter term, a programme 
of train lengthening would help meet some of this demand but 
at the moment this is a non-committed, unfunded aspiration.  

 HS2 services are available post 2026.  We are currently working 
jointly on whether its introduction will release capacity on the 
existing rail network and if so, what this may look like.  

 Implications of development within the Two Waters area and 
train station capacity for both Stations in terms of passenger 

Paragraph 6.1.4 refers to primarily 
encouraging smaller units as these are 
more likely to be the type of 
accommodation coming from high density, 
urban sites.  The approach would allow for 
other types of units as part of the overall 
mix.  
 
Transport Assessments should cover all 
alternative means of transport and 
consider any direct impacts upon Hemel 
Hempstead or Apsley Stations.  Mitigation 
will be sought by DBC through the planning 
application process, as appropriate.  

station customers will be 
necessary.   

 
Additional wording to paragraph 
6.1.14: 
A flexible approach to the number 
of station car parking spaces should 
be adopted to balance operational 
requirements (and to 
accommodate predicted growth) 
with viability of development. 
 
Additional wording to paragraph 
6.1.13:   
Station car parking will be 
accommodated within a multi-
storey (or if viable, an 
underground) arrangement and its 
design should seek to minimise 
adverse impacts on the quality of 
the built environment. 

P
age 356



104 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

numbers and parking. 

 Transport Assessments should also take into account trip 
generation data at Railway Stations, including footfall at railway 
stations and consider developer contribution (either via CIL, 
S106 or unilateral undertaking) where there is increased 
numbers of customers resulting from proposals.  Location of 
proposals, accessibility and density of developments should be 
considered in relation to the railway stations within proposals. 

 

St William Homes (agent for landowner) 

 To provide greater clarity, the Council should make it very 
clear that this document once adopted will provide only 
limited material weight in decision making. The current text 
‘it should be given material consideration in the 
determination of planning applications’ should be amended 
to ‘it will provide some material consideration, although as a 
Planning Statement in the first instance (prior to the Local 
Plan review), the weight applied as material is limited’.  

 The Council should refer to ‘H/2 National Grid and 339-353 
London Road, Hemel Hempstead’ as being contained in the 
SADPD and reflect the 350 homes to be delivered on this site 
as a minimum.  The number of homes assumed is not in 
conformity with NPPF principle to emphasise delivery of 
housing on brownfield sites.  Therefore the document as it 
currently stands is inconsistent with planning policy.  We 
confirm that the former gasworks site (site 2) alone is 
proposed to deliver in excess of 350 homes in line with the 
Council’s adopted Site Allocations DPD.  

 Reference to Saved Local Plan policy 10 is questioned given 
that this policy is now considered out of date. The NPPG 
states that SPD’s should build upon and provide more 
detailed advice or guidance on the policies in the Local Plan. 

Noted. The Masterplanning Guidance has 
been prepared through the careful 
consideration of national and local policy, 
townscape context, views and characters 
of the area, sensitive land uses and 
boundaries, the local highway network, 
viability assessments, urban designs 
principles and views expressed through the 
Steering Group and public and stakeholder 
consultation. These will be reconsidered as 
part of the new Local Plan process.  It is 
acknowledged that at the planning 
application stage these matters will be 
explored further.  
 
The viability undertaken for the 
Masterplan was ‘high level’ to inform 
broad site assumptions. Detailed viability 
will need to be tested on a site by site basis 
when detailed plans are progressed.  We 
acknowledge that viability will vary for 
each site.  
 

All references to emerging Site 
Allocations DPD to be updated (as 
covered in Schedule of 
Clarifications 1.1 which supported 
the consultation document).  
 
All references to our parking 
standards in Appendix 5 of the 
DBLP will be changed to refer to 
current DBC parking guidance (as 
covered in Schedule of 
Clarifications 1.2 which supported 
the consultation document). 
 
In key of Figure 12: Safeguarded 
land to be changed to Safeguarded 
Land for Infrastructure.  
 
Additional wording to section 3.2, 
bullet point 22:   
 Explore lower parking 

provision to encourage use of 
sustainable travel modes. 

P
age 357



105 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

The Council should carefully consider the document’s status 
and its timeframe within the context of the up to date Local 
Plan.  

 As the document provides guidance only, it is imperative 
that this is portrayed clearly throughout the document.  

 References to the Site Allocations DPD should reflect its 
status as an adopted planning document.  

 We support the intention of the residential led approach for 
the designated London Road Area and particularly support 
the last paragraph in 2.1 whereby future development will 
need to ‘create a more efficient use of land and encourage 
Two Waters to reach its full potential as a sustainable 
neighbourhood.’  

 Having undertaken a Topography Study, this shows the 
levels in Figure 5 to be inaccurate. The levels provide an 
opportunity to increase the delivery of homes making a 
more efficient use of the site.  

 The last paragraph in section 2.2.5 should include reference 
to the review of the Car Parking Standards SPD.  

 Suggested wording for section 2.5.6, paragraph 4 ‘…to avoid 
a detrimental impact on surrounding streets. In doing so, 
careful consideration will need to be given to parking 
provision and its impact on well-designed, high quality public 
realm’.  

 The NPPF sets out a core planning principle that local 
planning policies should encourage the effective and 
efficient use of land by re-using land that has been 
previously developed. While the reference that the Two 
Waters area ‘would be better suited to a mix of apartment 
led development with a number of houses to create market 
choice’ (Section 2.6.1), wording should be included that 
emphasises the need for the Council to deliver the quantum 

This Masterplan (and further work being 
completed for the new Local Plan) explore 
all opportunities to make effective use of 
suitable brownfield sites and optimising 
the proposed density of development 
(aligned to para 1.39 of the Housing White 
Paper).  
 
The Masterplan will be a material 
consideration for planning applications.  Its 
status is adequately covered within section 
1.4.  This work will be progressed further 
through the emerging new Local Plan. 
Section 1.7 acknowledges that the Site 
Allocations DPD allocates the National Grid 
and 339-353 London Road site as proposal 
H/2. The Masterplan provides a flexible 
approach (as stated in paragraph 2 of 
section 6.0: Design Guidance) and does not 
specify the numbers of homes for each 
site. The number of homes proposed by 
developers will need to be justified and 
tested at the planning application stage. 
DBC will consider such proposals in the 
context of relevant national and local 
policy and guidance documents and site 
specific issues.    
 
 
DBLP Policy 10 is saved and is considered 
broadly consistent with NPPF.  Its objective 
to secure sustainable development is 

 

Additional wording to section 2.5.6:   
…to avoid a detrimental impact on 
surrounding streets. In doing so, 
careful consideration will need to 
be given to parking provision and 
its impact on well-designed, high 
quality public realm. 

P
age 358



106 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

of needed new homes without over reliance on Greenbelt 
land.  

 Section 2.6.1, paragraph 3 states ‘we would expect there be 
limited current market interest to any significant degree in 
residential units without dedicated parking’. The words ‘we 
would expect’ are misleading and not based on any 
evidence.  

 Our research indicates that purchasers of studio and one 
bedroom homes do not consider a parking space as being a 
requirement for sale. Text stating ‘we would expect…without 
designated parking. The exception to this would be in respect 
of development in close’ should be deleted and changed to 
‘there may be some limited market interest for a degree of 
residential units to be without dedicated parking. This would 
be dependent on type and size of a home and proximity to 
Hemel Hempstead Station where a reduced car parking 
provision near the town centre could be considered,’  

 Section 2.6.2 ‘Masterplan Guidance Viability Assessment’, 
paragraph 3 makes reference to viability analysis which has 
been undertaken to underpin provisions in the study. The 
former uses (and remediation) of the Gas Holder Site makes 
viability a key issue.  The NPPF (specifically paragraph 173) 
makes it very clear that Plans should be deliverable and have 
regard to viability; in particular, that sites should not be 
subject to policy burdens that threaten viably. The design 
aspirations for the Site 2 (including height guidance) are 
considered to be unduly prescriptive, would hinder viability 
and ultimately the delivery of homes on the site.  

 We consider the viability evidence to have a number of 
flaws:  

 An assumption that all units will be 105 sq.m.  
 The applied density is considered too low for a 

applicable in this instance. 
 
Figure 5 is based upon Ordnance Survey 
mapping and is accurately reflected across 
the Two Waters Area.  
 
The Masterplan seeks to guide growth over 
broad areas of development opportunity. 
We acknowledge that in reality parcels of 
individual sites may come forward (as per 
Proposal H/2 in the Site Allocations DPD).  
The 123 list is based on information 
available at the time the CIL was adopted. 
We accept that the CIL will need to be 
updated, particularly as we progress a new 
Local Plan.  
 
While the wording in the vision has 
changed (since the earlier version), the 
commitment in the Masterplan to 
residential led mixed use development 
remains.  
 
The statement in section 2.6.1 only seeks 
to reflect the common approach that the 
majority of new homes are provided with 
dedicated parking. There are very few 
examples of car free development in the 
Borough. If lower (or no parking) is to be 
pursued then this will need to be justified 
in each case.     
 

P
age 359



107 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

centrally located brownfield site (the lowest density 
of all the sites).  

 An allowance of £5m has been made for abnormal 
costs for Site 2. We anticipate that this figure will be 
significantly higher, especially as high pressure gas 
infrastructure will need to be re-provided within the 
site.  

 Build costs are considered to be low given the 
emphasis we place on good place-making and 
landscape led development.  

 Welcome last paragraph in section 2.6.2 referencing viability, 
although this should be reference alongside the need to 
maximise and make best use of brownfield land.  

 The weaknesses and constraints (section 3.1) are generally 
supported including reference to ‘the contamination in parts 
of the study area’.  However previous text noted ‘the 
southern part of the Study area and its impact on 
development viability’. This text should be reinstated given 
the unique characteristics and constraints of regenerating a 
former gasworks site.  

 Figure 12: suggested that this wording is altered to 
‘Safeguarded Land for Infrastructure’.  

 Contribution made by brownfield sites to DBC’s 5 year 
housing land supply could be emphasised.  

 Bullet points 4 and 22 referring to lower parking provisions 
are fully supported, although are contradicted in other areas 
of the document.  

 Figure 13: Site 2 should be split into two individual sites so 
that the Masterplan fully accords to the Site Allocations DPD.  

 The proposed vision (section 4.1) differs to the first draft of 
the masterplan which stated the Council’s commitment to 
achieving a ‘thriving well connected sustainable 

The 2nd paragraph in Section 2.6.1 refers to 
a mix of apartment led development with a 
number of houses.  The approach in 
section 6.2.1 is consistent with this. 
  
We acknowledge the need to check the 
building heights mentioned for sites/areas 
to ensure consistency across the 
Masterplan (figures 16, 19 and 23 and 
paragraphs 5.1.5 – 5.1.10).  

P
age 360



108 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

neighbourhood’. This has been replaced with: ‘Two Waters 
area will become vibrant mixed use neighbourhoods’. It 
should be clear that the neighbourhoods will be residential 
led regeneration in line with Objective 3.  

 We are in general support with the objectives set out in the 
Document.  In relation to Objective 3 (‘Provide Residential-
led Mixed Use Development’), it is suggested that further 
emphasis is placed on the actual delivery of housing 
numbers (aligning to the Site Allocations DPD). This appears 
to conflict with the overall Vision to deliver ‘’vibrant mixed 
use neighbourhoods’.  

 Section 5.0 (Overarching Guidance) states that ‘the guidance 
ensures that ‘a range of development forms can be 
accommodated’; however, section 5.1 and section 6 is overly 
prescriptive and would not allow for this.  

 Text contained in 5.1.5, 5.1.6 and 5.1.8 unduly restrict the 
study area up to 6 storeys and that any level above G+2 to 
be set back. This blanket approach across contradicts text set 
out in 5.1.7 and 5.1.9, which references a mix of building 
forms and references the benefit made from the varied 
topography of the area. The approach is contrary to the Site 
Allocations DPD (350 homes), does not take into account 
specific constraints or opportunities of individual sites or 
consider viability matters.  A more bespoke approach to 
heights and a flexible height strategy should be considered. 
Wording relating to the need for full views analysis and could 
be added to the guidance document itself.  

 Figure 16 sets out a predominant 3 storey ‘limit’ across the 
former gas works site which is contrary to paragraphs 5.1.5 – 
5.1.10 and is not justified. The approach to heights as set out 
in figure 19 is unduly onerous.  No evidence of the viewpoint 
positions has been given, nor has any TVIA been undertaken.  

P
age 361



109 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

 We fully support the encouragement of more sustainable 
forms of transport (section 5.2). Reference should be made 
to any infrastructure already included in the Council’s CIL 
Regulation 123 List.   

 We fully support the flexible approach in paragraph 4 of 
page 52. However, the flexibility highlighted here contradicts 
provisions as set out earlier in the document.  

 Paragraph 6.2.1 states that development will comprise a 
variety of 1-4 bedroom houses and apartments. This is 
contrary to paragraph 2.6.1 which emphasis the need for 
flatted developments. It is suggested that wording within 
6.2.1 reflects a steer to flatted development. This should 
refer to the abnormal costs associated with the 
redevelopment of site 2 and to its former use and issues 
concerning site viability.  

 Figure 23 shows a predominant height of 4 storeys across 
the site and a small area indicating heights of 6 storeys.  
There is no specific regard to varying levels/topography on 
site 2. This Plan should suggest heights are indicative and 
subject to full site and design analysis as part of the planning 
application process.  There are a number of discrepancies 
within Figure 23 including:  

 The proposed railway buffer zone is misleading and 
located in the wrong place – it should be adjacent to 
the railway.  

 The indication of Public Open Space at ‘12’ should be 
changed to ‘Green Corridor’  

 Safeguarded Land needs to be re-labelled to 
‘Safeguarded Land for Infrastructure’.  

 Proposed vehicular route running west to east 
through the site is questioned.  

 There is no evidence to uphold established 

P
age 362



110 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

viewpoints across Site 2.  
 

Thames Water 

 Thames Water requires further information on the scale and 
phasing of development in order to understand the potential 
impact on their processes and the sewerage network. As 
such Thames Water are keen to work with the Council to 
advise on waste water infrastructure issues as more 
information becomes available 

 The developments demand for sewage treatment and 
sewerage network infrastructure both on and off site and 
can it be met 

 The surface water drainage requirements and flood risk of 
the area and downstream and can it be met. 

 

 
Hertfordshire have commissioned a Water 
Cycle Study to better understand the 
relationship between development and 
the water environment around the county, 
by examining the potential impacts of 
future growth on the main aspects of the 
water cycle.  This considers such aspects 
on a 'local' and 'wider than local' level for 
scenarios at 2021, 2031 and 2051.  This 
work has involved a number of different 
Local Authorities and stakeholders.  This 
Water Cycle Study is due to be completed 
this year and will form part of the new 
Local Plan evidence base for Dacorum 
Borough Council.  Further work may be 
necessary to complete a Stage 2 report, 
but this will not be known until the Stage 1 
work has been completed.  
 
Thames Water and DBC are in discussions 
over whether appropriate levels of 
infrastructure could be made for the 
proposed levels of growth.  We will 
continue such discussions as the new Local 
Plan emerges. 

 

The Box Moor Trust (landowner) 

 Concerns over use of plot ratios rather than numbers of 
homes proposed per site 

 Concern over proposed inclusion of active frontages within 

Noted. The Masterplan will be a material 
consideration for planning applications.  
This work will be progressed further 
through the emerging new Local Plan, 

 

P
age 363



111 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

Sites 3 and 4 do not represent a financial viable proposition.  
Consideration should instead focus on how best to develop 
these frontages for residential use. 

 Further consideration should be given to expanding existing 
primary schools.  Costs should be accounted for within 
viability assessments.  

 The canal, the railway and the A41 bypass have already 
taken large chunks of the Trust's land over the centuries and 
we are understandably worried about discussion on road 
widening on Two Waters Rd and the London Rd. 

 The Trust land is at the core of a cohesive approach to the 
future of Two Waters gateway and the Board is, within 
reason, enthusiastic to help see the Council's vision 
achieved. In terms of our long term sustainability, the Plan 
process conclusions are crucial to us. This latest information, 
if studied carefully, seems to suggest that construction 
height and housing unit projections on our land at B&Q and 
at Two Waters East might substantially affect the 
development potential and attraction for housing, especially 
if we provide 35% social housing. As an organisation with the 
wellbeing of our 100,000 residents at heart we might be in a 
position to help achieve local targets and thus give local 
young people a chance to find housing, but the current 
allocation of units may not swing the balance from 
commercial rent potential to housing rent potential. We 
would hope that the distribution of building heights and 
numbers will be more flexible because, at present, this new 
information suggests that the Old Gasworks site and the 
northern end of Two Waters Rd may have a better 
development potential.  

 

which will seek to carry forward relevant 
principles and allocate development sites. 
The Masterplan provides a flexible 
approach (as stated in paragraph 2 of 
section 6.0: Design Guidance) and does not 
specify the numbers of homes for each 
site. The number of homes proposed by 
developers will need to be justified and 
tested at the planning application stage. 
DBC will consider such proposals in the 
context of relevant national and local 
policy and guidance documents and site 
specific issues.    
 
Securing active frontages at ground level is 
accepted as good practice urban design 
principles. It is likely that we would seek 
flexibility over the type of uses to ensure 
they appeal to the market.  
 
It is important that there are sufficient 
school places to accommodate new 
development. We will be guided by 
ongoing advice from the County Council 
regarding how best to meet future school 
needs, be this expanding existing schools 
or providing new schools.  
 
The Masterplans does not envisage any 
significant new road schemes. We would 
anticipate that these would generally 
involve junction/capacity improvements to 

P
age 364



112 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

the local road network and some new 
pedestrian/cycle routes. We will be guided 
by advice from the County Council on the 
requirements for and nature of these 
improvements.  
 

Boxmoor & District Angling Society (tenants on Durrants Hill Lakes, 
leased by DBC) 
(also received from Michael Heylin) 

 Timing of consultation clashes with ‘summer holidays’ which 
is not best practice. Interested parties unable to respond in 
limited time period. 

 Questions have been phrased to obtain positive responses.  

 Two Waters area has its own special character with diverse 
natural wildlife structures to the area, from open moors, 
unused land to mixed waterscapes. The Council should be 
seeking to protect this special environment (section 1.2).  

 Most traffic though Apsley is going to or from the retail parks 
and small industrial estates on which many small businesses 
start, grow and develop. These retail parks draw footfall 
away from the traditional shopping area of Hemel 
Hempstead.  

 In the planning context (section 1.7), there is no planning 
guidance for developments with proximity to waterways, 
rivers and canals. 

 The Study Area (section 1.5) includes no evidence to justify 
that industrial land, large retail units and significant 
transport infrastructure detract from the area’s character 
and restrict movement.  Apsley retailing (and industrial 
units) is supported by large weekly shops or purchases of 
high value items, which will continue to support the use of 
private transport. Queuing along London Road is associated 

Noted. Our Statement of Community 
Involvement sets out how the Council will 
consult on planning policy documents. 
Where possible we exceed these 
requirements with the aim of engaging and 
receiving resident’s views. For 
masterplans, we would normally consult 
for at least 4 weeks but this was extended 
to 6 weeks to account for the summer 
holidays.  
 
The Local Planning Framework 
(predominantly made up of the 2004 Local 
Plan, Core Strategy and Site Allocations 
DPD) seeks to identify and protect areas 
with special character in Dacorum. The 
Two Waters Master Plan provides more 
local guidance to these overarching policy 
documents.  To ensure comprehensive 
development occurs, further site specific 
masterplans may be progressed to support 
the new Local Plan.  
 
Planning applications are determined 
against the Councils adopted parking 
standards (currently in Appendix 5 of the 

Add wording to section 1.2: 
… development. The opportunities 
are focused around improving 
public transport and promoting a 
mix of housing led mixed-use 
development, which enhances the 
existing and natural environment 
promote public transport and 
sustainable transport networks to 
ease traffic congestion, supports 
high quality urban design… 
 
Add wording to Section 1.5: 
The moors, Grand Union Canal and 
the River Bulbourne provide 
valuable opportunities for 
recreation and biodiversity, whilst 
industrial land, large retail units and 
significant transport strategic, high 
volume roads infrastructure detract 
from dominate the key gateways 
into the area’s, detracting attention 
from its character and restricting 
walking and cycling movement 
through the car-led environment.  
 

P
age 365



113 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

with travel to the retail parks.  

 Planning decisions in recent developments have restricted 
off road parking allocation causing on road parking issues. 
Parking standards lead to on street and footpath parking. 
North End Farm is an example where this occurs.  Durrants 
Hill car park is rarely busy, although public parks on street in 
locality. Suggestion to consider free off street parking.  

 Regional and local context - the Two Waters area refers to 2 
distinct community areas. Original industrial areas (Apsley 
and Maylands) have been encroached by residential 
development and these do not make good places to live. 
Housing targets should not ‘trump’ good place making.  

 Site 2 (National Grid site) is seriously impregnated by 
pollutants.  

 The area is not made up of neighbourhoods, Two Waters, 
Apsley and Boxmoor are separate distinct areas. Early 
recognition of the differing needs of Apsley and Boxmoor 
may result in an improved vision for the two areas and 
better outcomes. 

 Proposed primary school site is not ideal location – next to 
wildlife zone and subject to regular flooding. Negatively 
impacts on Sunnyside Rural Trust. The site has flooded twice 
in the last 7 years.  

 Existing employment opportunities alongside railway line are 
there as it is unsuitable for family housing (due to noise and 
pollution).  

 Built development should not dominate existing landscapes 
as light pollution can affect waterscapes and open spaces, 
therefore damaging the environment for wildlife.  

 Durrants Hill Lakes to be used by 1st Apsley Scouts for water 
based recreation and there are plans to run water sports, 
angling coaching and educational courses (so value as an 

2004 Local Plan).  These will be updated 
through revised parking standards.  
 
DBC Development Management team 
consult the EA, Canal and River Trust and 
Hertfordshire County Council (as the Lead 
Local Flood Authority) as and when 
necessary (as prescribed by national 
legislation). This will include when 
developments are in a defined proximity to 
waterways, rivers and canals; within flood 
zones 2 or 3 or are major development 
with surface water drainage. Some 
proposals will be required to submit a 
drainage strategy as part of the planning 
application process.  
 
We recognise that on street parking is 
occurring within the area, parking 
restrictions can be used to alleviate 
commuter parking in residential areas. Car 
parking charges or levels of car parking 
provided at the stations car parks are 
commercially led decisions which planning 
has limited, if any, influence over. 
 
There is very high housing need within 
Dacorum – indicated by a current assessed 
‘objectively assessed need’ (OAN) figure of 
756 homes per annum (17,388 over the 
2013 – 2036 period).  The new Local Plan 
process will ultimately set the housing 

Reference to residential 
neighbourhoods to be changed to 
residential areas on figure 12. 
Remove wording from section 4.1 
(vision): 
The masterplan area’s 
neighbourhoods will celebrate 
 
Change wording on page 48:  
Create gathering space that can 
become the areas neighbourhood’s 
heart. 
 
Change wording on section 6.2, site 
2: 
A new walkable green residential 
area neighbourhood 
 
Change wording on section 6.3, site 
3: 
A new waterside residential area 
neighbourhood 
 
Change wording on section 6.4, site 
4: 
A new mixed use town centre area 
neighbourhood 
 
 

P
age 366



114 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

ecological facility).  

 EA confirm that the canal poses a flood risk in the area. EA 
flood maps not reflective of flooding on the ground. The risk 
of flooding on these sites is directly associated with rainfall 
and the amount of water falling on and stored in the chalk 
aquifers of the hills at Bennetts End and the maintenance of 
the flood relief channel to prevent flooding of London Road 
Apsley. The abstraction regime reduces river flows 
considerably (so no serious flood since 1950/51). 

 The flood step weir at Durrants Hill Lakes is inaccessible 
(located within EA’s locked gates) which has resulted in a 
succession of floods. The weir collects excess water from the 
River Gade and diverts it into a flood relief channel heading 
towards Kings Langley lake. Thames Water has the main 
flood drain under the town and the Kings Langley Lake listed 
on its asset register but not the Durrants Hill system. The 
Council has failed to encourage Thames Water to take 
responsibility of the structure.  The town drain design needs 
modification to avoid under capacity, with more extreme 
weather events forecast.  

 Tow paths are an asset of the Canal and River Trust. Hard 
surfacing of the pathways is not wanted by boaters, but 
surfacing is not designed for speed and volume of cyclists.  

 Support recognition that frequency of service can be a 
limiting factor to use of public buses. Education campaigns 
and signing on rear of buses can aid bus timetables/ 
frequency through reduced wait times to re-join traffic 
flows.  

 Increasing the capacity at the stations for parking will reduce 
commuter parking in Boxmoor and Corner Hall. This limits 
opportunity public can make to visit the moor.  

 If the Council invest in the public realm, this will encourage 

target for Dacorum up until 2036.  
 
We recognise that site 2 has contamination 
issues which will need to be resolved.  
 
A decision on the future use of the nursery 
site will be made at a later stage following 
the outcome of DBC and HCC’s discussions 
regarding new school places. Any 
development coming forward would need 
to go through the appropriate assessments 
and consultations during the planning 
process. DBC and HCC will undertake 
further assessments and feasibility studies 
regarding the educational provision. The 
Masterplan allows for flexibility on this.  
 
If necessary, assessments will be 
undertaken for the sites as part of the pre-
app process.  These assessments will 
provide evidence on the impacts (if any) on 
flood risk, ecology and other strategic 
considerations. DBC Development 
Management team will consider these 
assessments and consultee responses 
(such as the Environment Agency) before 
determining any application. The Council 
plans to produce a Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment to support the emerging new 
Local Plan. Concerns over the accuracy of 
the EA’s flood mapping have been brought 
to the attention of the EA by DBC.  

P
age 367



115 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

business people to make the necessary investments in 
service provision. DBC spend on capital structures, but do 
not hold the revenue to maintain these structures. This will 
affect landowners and leaseholders willingness for such 
structures on their land – as the responsibility for and 
maintenance of the structures should be provided by DBC.  

 The land to the east of Two Waters Road and north of 
London Road holds one of the last remaining areas of wet 
woodland in Hertfordshire.  No doubt it could be visually 
improved but it would then cease to be wet woodland, 
provide the habitats which are in existence and feed the 
surrounding area with wildlife.  Successive inspections and 
surveys by conservationists, Herts & Middlesex Wild Life 
Trust and the council’s own contractors have highlighted the 
importance of this ecological feature.  

Concerns can be raised directly with the EA 
as well, to understand if further work can 
be undertaken to improve its accuracy.  
 
The environmental impact of new exterior 
lighting will often be a material planning 
consideration for planning applications. 
Appendix 8 of the 2004 Local Plan details 
these key considerations. Other interested 
parties are able to raise their concerns 
over as light pollution and its effect on 
wildlife in waterscapes and open spaces as 
part of any planning application.  
 
EA are trying to establish ownership of the 
flood step weir at Durrants Hill Lakes.  
 
The Council has committed to investments 
in the public realm in Hemel Hempstead, 
examples include the Watergardens, 
Maylands Avenue, Phoenix Gateway 
sculpture at Maylands, the Old Town and 
improvements to the Marlowes pedestrian 
shopping area.  S106 and CIL can be used 
for public realm improvements. Such 
regeneration projects require supportive 
landowners and an overarching plan for 
change.  
 
Planning permission has been granted for 
part of site 3 which sets a precedent for 
further development in that area.  

P
age 368



116 
 

 

Appendix C: Copy of the Questionnaire 

P
age 369



117 
 

  

P
age 370



118 
 

  

P
age 371



119 
 

  

P
age 372



Appendix 7: 

Publicity for Round 3 Consultation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 373



Appendix 7 – Publicity for Round 3 Consultation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 374



Consultation Letter and Email 

Invitations to the public and stakeholder consultation were circulated to a large 
database of contacts by email and post.  The database included recognised 
stakeholders and statutory consultees such as highways, environmental groups, 
utility providers, disability groups, health providers and disability groups, along with 
emergency and education services.   Members and Steering Group members were 
also included together with all those who have participated in previous workshops 
and rounds of consultation.  The DBC Online Consultation Panel was also included.  

 

 

Page 375



  

Poster 

Posters displayed at community centres, local shops and notice boards within the Masterplan area. 

 

 

 

 

Page 376



Press Advert 

Published in Hemel Hempstead Gazette on Wednesday 5th July 2017. 

 

                                                           

 

 

Page 377



Press Release 

 

Help shape the future of Two Waters 

 
Dacorum Borough Council is preparing Masterplan Guidance for Two Waters, the area between 
Apsley Station, the Plough Roundabout and Hemel Hempstead Station.  
 
The guidance will help ensure that development and changes in the area, including housing, 
business, open space, transport and community services, are planned and designed in the best 
possible way to ensure we have an attractive, sustainable and balanced town fit for the future. It's 
hoped that this Masterplan will initially be developed as a less formal planning statement to help 
guide planning applications, and then be adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), as 
part of the review of the new Dacorum Local Plan, expected around 2019.  
 
We've already held two rounds of consultation.  The findings from these consultations have been 
used to create the draft Two Waters Masterplan Guidance. 
 
The draft Masterplan Guidance was approved by Cabinet on 27 June and the Council now wants to 
hear residents’ views.  Responses will be considered and incorporated where appropriate and, 
following any amendments, the final Masterplan Guidance will be presented to Cabinet for approval 
in October/November this year. 
 
Residents can read the supporting documents and complete the survey at 
www.dacorum.gov.uk/consultation.    

Paper copies of the consultation documents are available at the Borough Council’s offices in 
Berkhamsted, Hemel Hempstead and Tring  during normal opening hours. 

This consultation closes midnight on Wednesday, 16 August. 

Cllr Graham Sutton, Portfolio Holder for Planning and Regeneration said: “In 2015 the Two Waters 
Strategic Framework was created to help guide and create a clear vision for the area. We have now 
taken this work a step further to create the draft Two Waters Masterplan Guidance to help guide 
key development sites within the site area and establish development principles for the wider area. 
We would like to invite all interested members of the public and stakeholders to comment on the 
draft Two Waters Masterplan Guidance which will help shape and refine the guidance.” 
 
 
Notes to the Editor 
 
This consultation can be viewed online at www.dacorum.gov.uk/consultation from Thursday, 6 July 
2017 to Wednesday, 16 August 2017.  
 
Paper copies of the document can also be viewed at: 

 The Forum, Marlowes, Hemel Hempstead, HP1 1DN 

 The Civic Centre, 161 High Street, Berkhamsted, HP4 3HD  

 Victoria Hall, Akeman Street, Tring, HP23 6AA 
 

Page 378

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/consultation


Town Centre Big Screen 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 379



Business Ambassadors 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 380



Housing Groups 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 381



Dacorum Digital Digest 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 382



Social Media 

Information and reminders were posted on social media site during the course of the 

consultation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 383



Press Cuttings 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 384



 

 

 

 

Page 385



Members Group 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 386



Paper copies of documents and Questionnaire 

Deposited at  

 The Forum, Marlowes, Hemel Hempstead 

 Hemel Hempstead Library 

 Berkhamsted Civic Centre 

 Victoria Hall, Tring 

Page 387



 

 

Page 388



 

 

Page 389



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 390



 

 

 

Page 391



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 392



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 393



 

 

 

 

 

Page 394



 

Page 395



Appendix 8: 

Consultation Report Round 3 Consultation July – August 17 (September 2017 

version submitted to Strategic Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee, October 2017) 

 

Page 396



1 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Two Waters Masterplan Guidance Public and Stakeholder Consultation 3  

(July – August 2017) 

Consultation Report  

September 2017 

 

 

 

                                                                                                                           

P
age 397



2 
 

Contents       Page 

Executive Summary      3 

1. Introduction      8                                                                                                                                            

2. Previous Consultations     8 

3. Draft Masterplan Guidance Consultation Overview 9 

4. Questionnaire findings     10 

5. Key Consultation Themes and Council Responses  16 

6. Conclusion       26 

 

Appendix A:  Summary of Respondents’ Comments,   27 
the Council’s Responses and proposed amendments  
to the Masterplan Guidance 
Appendix B:  Summary of Stakeholders’ Comments,   87 
Council’s Responses and proposed amendments. 
Appendix C: Copy of questionnaire    115 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 398



3 
 

 

Executive Summary  

 Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) has commissioned BDP to build 

on the Two Waters Strategic Framework (November 2015) and 

prepare the Two Waters Masterplan Guidance report. This 

Consultation Report presents an overview of the findings from 

the third Two Waters Consultation that was run from 6th July to 

16th August 2017. 

 

 Two previous rounds of consultation and several stakeholder 

discussions were held which informed the draft Two Waters 

Masterplan Guidance document. These included: 

o Discussions with local stakeholders, landowners and 

developers; 

o Public consultation events on Friday 4th November 2016 

and Saturday 5th November 2016 with consultation 

boards on display demonstrating initial masterplan 

concepts; 

o A questionnaire covering the key topics from the 
consultation boards available at the above drop-in events  
and online from 4th November to 18th November, allowing 
public to provide comments on proposals; and  

o Public and stakeholder workshops held on 26th January 
2017.  
 

 Following this third round of consultation DBC analysed 293 

questionnaire responses and public and stakeholder comments  

received via email and letters. A large number of responses were 

focussed on: 

 

o Heights and density of development and the character of 

the area;  

o The future of Sunnyside Rural Trust;  

o Open Space  

o Transport issues in the area; 

 

 A large number of respondents, whilst being supporting of the 

Masterplan Guidance in general, objected exclusively due to their 

concern regarding the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust.  

 

It was explained in the masterplan guidance that a site needed to 

be considered for a primary school and as a result it would also 

consider other uses including its existing use by Sunnyside Rural 

Trust. DBC will be working with HCC Education Officers to identify 

other opportunities to support primary school needs. We would 

like to elaborate that the Council is wholly committed to working 

with Sunnyside Rural Trust to ensure that its valuable community 

service is retained and as the land owner DBC has no plans to 

develop the site. Should the site be no longer required for use by 

the Trust at some time in the future, or if a suitable alternative 

site becomes available, the Masterplan simply provides for the 

current site’s regeneration with guidelines as to what might be 

appropriate.  

 

 Key messages and DBC’s responses are outlined in the table 

below and in further detail in Sections 4 and 5 of this report.  

 

 

P
age 399



4 
 

 

Key message DBC Response 
Over half of all respondents to the questionnaire and many of the 
stakeholder respondents were supportive of the principles for  
‘Open Space and Sustainability ‘ with a further 22%  of 
questionnaire respondents objecting only due to their uncertainty 
regarding the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust.  
  

DBC acknowledges the support from respondents in this area. Two 
Waters is an area rich in its open space assets. The vision, objectives and 
guidance principles of the Two Waters Masterplan aims to protect and 
better utilise these assets. As a result of feedback from this consultation, 
principles around this theme, including mitigation of pollution have been 
strengthened.  
 

Nearly half of the questionnaire respondents and a majority of the 
stakeholders who provided responses in this area were supportive 
or broadly agreed with the Transport and Movement Overarching 
Guidance. A further 11% of questionnaire respondents did not 
support it only due to their uncertainty regarding the future of 
Sunnyside Rural Trust. 
 

DBC acknowledges the support from respondents in this area. A core 
vision of the Two Waters Masterplan Guidance is for sustainable 
development around the transport hubs and to improve sustainable 
transport and accessibility in the area. This is in keeping with National 
Policy. As a result of feedback from this consultation some amendments 
have been made to strengthen this area.  
 

One third of questionnaire respondents and a majority of the 
stakeholders who responded were supportive of the vision for 
Two Waters. A further 20% of questionnaire respondents did not 
support it only due to their uncertainty regarding the future of 
Sunnyside Rural Trust. 
 

DBC acknowledges the support from respondents in this area. As a result 
of feedback from this consultation some amendments have been made to 
strengthen the vision.  

Over 36% of questionnaire respondents and a majority of 
stakeholders were supportive of the objectives for the Two Waters 
Masterplan Guidance. A further 21% of questionnaire respondents 
did not support the objectives only due to their uncertainty 
regarding the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust.  
 

DBC acknowledges the support from respondents in this area. As a result 
of feedback from this consultation some amendments have been made to 
strengthen the objectives.  

Nearly one third of questionnaire respondents were supportive of 
the guidance principles for the Built Environment. A further 17% 
of questionnaire respondents did not support the objectives only 

DBC acknowledges the support from respondents in this area. The 
guidance balances the varying priorities that need to be taken in to 
consideration in implementing the built environment strategy for Two 

P
age 400



5 
 

Key message DBC Response 

due to their uncertainty regarding the future of Sunnyside Rural 
Trust.  
  

Waters. As a result of feedback from this consultation some amendments 
have been made to strengthen this area of the guidance.  
 

In general approximately one quarter of respondents were 
supportive of the guidance principles for Sites 1 – 4 with further 
significant percentages (7% - 20%) objecting only due to their 
uncertainty regarding the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust.  Only 
Site 1 had over 50% of questionnaire respondents objecting to 
development, primarily opposing high scale development. 
 

DBC acknowledges the support from respondents on guidance for 
development . Concerns raised have been responded to below and in 
Section 5 and Appendices A and B below. As a result of feedback from this 
consultation some amendments have been made to strengthen this area 
of the guidance. See Appendix A for proposed changes to the Masterplan 
Guidance. 
 

Out of those who objected, there was opposition to higher scale 
and density, particularly on Site 1 

DBC acknowledges the concerns raised. The Masterplan Guidance has 
been prepared through the careful consideration of a number of factors.  
 
Two Waters area is an important strategic location and has the potential 
to accommodate new development that promotes a sustainable mix of 
land uses. Due to its location, development will come forward in this area 
through the market even if there is no specific masterplan. The 
masterplan guidance sets out a level of development that can be 
accommodated within the area.  In addition, to minimise the impact on 
the wider countryside, we need to consider and take forward housing 
proposals within town boundaries and higher densities around transport 
nodes such as Hemel Hempstead railway station. 
 
Further modifications will be made to the Masterplan Guidance following 
this round of consultation including strengthening the overarching and 
site specific guidelines on scale and design.  
 

A large number of respondents expressed concern about the 
future of Sunnyside Rural Trust.  
 

DBC acknowledges the concerns raised. It was explained in the 
masterplan guidance that a site needed to be considered for a primary 
school and as a result it would also consider other uses including its 
existing use by Sunnyside Rural Trust. DBC will be working with HCC 

P
age 401



6 
 

Key message DBC Response 

Education Officers to identify other opportunities to support primary 
school needs. We would like to elaborate that the Council is wholly 
committed to working with Sunnyside Rural Trust to ensure that its 
valuable community service is retained and as the land owner DBC has no 
plans to develop the site. Should the site be no longer required for use by 
the Trust at some time in the future, or if a suitable alternative site 
becomes available, the Masterplan simply provides for the current site’s 
regeneration with guidelines as to what might be appropriate.  
 

There was some concern regarding a tall landmark  building at the 
Plough Roundabout 

DBC acknowledges the concerns raised. Taller buildings are an important 
part of an urban streetscape . Tall buildings are considered appropriate in 
this location given that it is the town centre gateway and adjacent to 
existing taller buildings. All development coming forward including taller 
buildings would need to adhere to statutory requirements.  Further 
assessments will be required through the planning application process to 
ensure that any development coming forward is acceptable.  
 

There was some concern that development around the moors and 
Boxmoor may detract from the natural assets and character of the 
area. 
 

DBC acknowledges the concerns raised. Guidelines have been included to 
protect the moors and minimise the impact of any new development on 
the character of the area. As a result of this consultation, the guidance in 
this area has been strengthened.  
 

Of those who objected, there was concern that the scale of 
development will exacerbate existing transport and parking issues 
and scepticism regarding proposed modal shift towards 
sustainable transport alternatives to reduce car use. 
 

DBC acknowledges the concerns raised. As part of developing the 
Masterplan Guidance we have worked closely with HCC highways to 
ensure they have identified proposals to tackle issues. As and when sites 
come forward for development, further assessments and mitigating 
measures will be required through the planning application process.  

 
National Policy has moved towards securing more sustainable travel 
outcomes with emphasis on minimising the need to travel, reducing car 

P
age 402



7 
 

Key message DBC Response 

use and encouraging more sustainable modes of transport.  See Section 5 
for detailed response.  

There was some concern about the provision of sufficient 
infrastructure to support additional residential development.  
 

DBC acknowledges the concerns raised. Infrastructure improvements 
have been identified where appropriate to the scope of the masterplan 
and will be expected to be delivered through CIL and other 
contributions/funding received, as and when development comes 
forward. DBC has a dedicated team who will continue to work with other 
departments and infrastructure providers to facilitate delivery of required 
infrastructure.  
 

 

 

 The sections below analyse and detail the responses received 

and provide DBC’s responses to key themes that emerged as well 

as to a summary of comments received. 

 

 Changes will be made to the draft Two Waters Masterplan 

Guidance report as a result of this consultation. Details of the 

changes are outlined in Appendix A. 

 

 The final Two Waters Masterplan Guidance is expected to be 

submitted to Full Council at the end of 2017/early 2018 with the 

recommendation for adoption.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 403



8 
 

 

 

 

 

1. Introduction  

Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) has commissioned BDP to build on the 

Two Waters Strategic Framework (November, 2015) and prepare the Two 

Waters Masterplan Guidance. The Masterplan Guidance will inform 

emerging planning policy including the content of Dacorum’s new Local 

Plan and guide future development in Two Waters.  

The Masterplan Guidance will shape future development in Two Waters 

and play an important role in ensuring that development in the area is 

planned and designed in the best possible way to deliver an attractive, 

sustainable and balanced environment fit for the future.  The Masterplan 

Guidance will also inform emerging planning policy including the content 

of Dacorum’s new Local Plan. It is envisioned that the Masterplan 

Guidance will be initially adopted by DBC’s Council as a planning 

statement and will then be adopted as a Supplementary Planning 

Document (SPD) supporting the new Dacorum Local Plan.  

Pursuant to Section 12.A of the Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) (as Amended) Regulations 2012 and in accordance 

with DBC’s Statement of Community Involvement (July, 2016), this 

Consultation Report provides an overview of the third round of 

consultation – consultation on the draft Two Waters Masterplan 

Guidance document from 6th July – 16th August 2017.    

 

 

 

 

2. Previous Consultations  

Extensive consultation has been carried out over recent years in regard to 

the regeneration of Hemel Hempstead Town Centre, including work 

undertaken as part of the Core Strategy (adopted September, 2013) and 

consultation events related to the preparation of the Two Waters 

Strategic Framework (November, 2015). Three rounds of public and 

stakeholder consultation as well as focussed discussions with key 

stakeholders, landowners and developers have specifically informed the 

development of the Two Waters Masterplan Guidance.  

Details of previous rounds of consultation can be found on our website at 

www.dacorum.gov.uk./regeneration.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 404

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk./regeneration


9 
 

 

 

 

 

3. Draft Masterplan Guidance Consultation Overview 

Public consultation on the draft Two Waters Masterplan Guidance was 

carried out from Thursday 6th July until Wednesday 16th August 2017.  

The consultation was publicised in the local newspaper, through posters 

on local notice boards, posters at local businesses in Apsley/Boxmoor 

who agreed to display them, digital posters on the screens in Hemel 

Hempstead town centre and The Forum, Digital Digest, newsletters and 

regularly throughout the consultation period through social media.  

Emails or letters were also sent inviting all who had participated or 

responded to previous rounds of the Two Waters Masterplan Guidance 

consultation, stakeholders, statutory consultees and local businesses, to 

respond. In addition, emails/letters were also sent out to all those who 

had previously expressed an interest in participating in Strategic Planning 

and Regeneration consultations and had registered on the database. 

Details of the consultation were also emailed to DBC’s Online 

Consultation panel.  

An online questionnaire was available throughout the consultation period 

on the Dacorum Borough Council website along with all relevant 

background documents. Paper copies of the questionnaire and 

documents were also available at DBC’s deposit points in Hemel 

Hempstead, Tring and Berkhamsted at the libraries and Civic Centres.  

 

 

 

 

 

DBC received 293 questionnaire and email responses from the public. 

Further correspondence in letter and email format was also received 

from Buckinghamshire County Council, Campaign to Protect Rural 

England, The Chiltern Society, Chilterns Conservation Board, Countryside 

Access Officer (DBC), Environment Agency, Hertfordshire County Council, 

Hertfordshire Police, Historic England, Lumiere Developments, National 

Grid, Natural England, Network Rail, St William Homes, Thames Water, 

The Box Moor Trust and Boxmoor District Angling Society.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 405



10 
 

 

4. Questionnaire Findings 

This section contains the main findings from the questionnaire. The 

questionnaire findings are broadly divided in to two areas: 

 Quantitative analysis of the results. 

 Qualitative analysis of the comments and DBC responses. 

293 people submitted their views via the questionnaire. We received a 

further three responses by email/letter from members of the public and 

20 from stakeholders. Section 4 is based on comments received to the 

questionnaire. All responses have been included in the analysis in Section 

5. Appendices A and B summarise comments received from public and 

stakeholders via the questionnaire and/or letters/emails.  

Whilst a large proportion of respondents appeared to object to the 

Masterplanning Guidance, analysis of the results show that a significant 

number of the respondents who did not agree with all sections of the 

Masterplanning Guidance disagreed primarily due to their concerns 

regarding the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust, with some providing 

comments supporting the rest of the content of the document. The 

Council is committed to working with Sunnyside Rural Trust to ensure 

that this provision is not lost and as such where this is the only objection 

noted, this objection is shown as a separate percentage. 

Furthermore, a percentage of respondents whilst selecting ‘no’ have 

provided comments that they broadly agree but have selected ‘no’ in 

order to comment on the detail of the proposals. Hence once more 

where the comments broadly agree, they have been identified as a 

separate percentage.  

 

 

Question 1. Do you support the ‘vision’ for Two Waters set out in 

section 4.1?

  

 

24.9% of respondents agreed with the vision for Two Waters and a 

further 5% broadly agreed but wished to comment on the detail. A 

further 20% indicated uncertainty over the future of Sunnyside Rural 

Trust as their reason for objection. 46.3% of respondents did not agree 

with the vision for Two Waters.  

Those who disagreed commented on developments being visually 

intrusive and generating extra traffic. A number of respondents queried 

the need for mixed-use developments around the station. 

24.90%

46.30%

20.00%

5.00%
3.80% Yes

No

Sunnyside Rural Trust
(No)

Broadly agree but
comment on details
(No)

No Opinion

P
age 406



11 
 

 

Question 2. Do you support the Objectives for the Two Waters 

Masterplan set out in section 4.2? 

 

 

32.9% of respondents agreed with the objectives for Two Waters whilst a 

further 4% broadly agreed and wanted to comment on the detail. A 

further 21% of respondents who disagreed stated the future of Sunnyside 

Rural Trust as the reason for not agreeing.  34.6% of respondents did not 

agree with the objectives for the Two Waters Masterplan.  

Concerns raised mainly centred on protecting the existing character and 

protecting green spaces and existing traffic congestion levels.  

 

 

Question 3. Do you support the Overarching Guidance principles for the 

‘Built Environment’ set out in section 5.10? 

 

 

Approximately a third of respondents agreed with the principles for the 

‘Built Environment’ with a further 17% indicating that the future of 

Sunnyside Rural Trust was their main reason for disagreeing.  45% of 

respondents did not agree.  

Those who objected generally did so due to their objection to building 

heights and loss of character in the area. A large number of those felt that 

building heights should be limited to 4 storeys throughout the Two 

Waters area.  

32.90%

34.60%

21.00%

4.00%
7.50%

Yes

No

Sunnyside Rural Trust
(No)

Broadly agree but
comment on details
(No)

No Opinion

29.10%

45.00%

17.00%

8.90%

Yes

No

Sunnyside Rural Trust
(No)

No OpinionP
age 407



12 
 

 

Question 4. Do you support the Overarching Guidance for ‘Transport 

and Movement’ set out in section 5.2? 

 

 

Nearly half of respondents agreed or broadly agreed with the overarching 

guidance principles for transport and movement.  A further 11% of 

respondents stated the uncertain future of Sunnyside Rural Trust as the 

only reason for objecting.  30% of the respondents did not agree  

The main points of concern were an increase to congestion on already 

busy roads, and increased parking issues as more residential properties 

come forward with less allocated parking spaces.  

 

Question 5. Do you support the Overarching Guidance principles for 

‘Open Space and Sustainability’ set out in section 5.3? 

 

 

More than half of respondents supported the overarching guidance 

principles for open space and sustainability by agreeing or broadly 

agreeing with them.  A further 22% stated the unclear future of 

Sunnyside Rural Trust as the main reason for objecting. 10.9% of 

respondents did not support the guidance principles. 7 

Comments made focussed on protecting the moors and the character of 

the area.  

 

 

39.00%

30.00%

11.00%

9.00%

11.00% Yes

No

Sunnyside Rural Trust
(No)

Broadly agree but
comment on details (No)

No Opinion

49.50%

10.90%

22.00%

5.00%
12.60% Yes

No

Sunnyside Rural Trust (No)

Broadly agree but
comment on details (No)

No Opinion

P
age 408



13 
 

Question 6. Do you support the development site guidance for Site 1 set 

out in section 6.1? 

 

 

Over 22% agreed or broadly agreed with the principles. A further 7% 

stated the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust as their reason for objection 

and 12% had no opinion.  However, 57.8% of the respondents did not 

support the development site guidance for Site 1.  

The main reasons given for not agreeing were concerns that the site 

would be overdeveloped and reservations over the maximum height of 

up to eight storeys.  

Other issues mentioned were additional congestion on already busy 

roads and further problems with insufficient parking spaces.  

Concerns over safeguarding the roman archaeology site were also 

expressed.  

Question 7. Do you support the site guidance for Site 2 set out in section 

6.2? 

 

 

Over quarter of respondents agreed on the principles for Site 2. A further 

13% commented that concerns over the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust 

was their main reason for objection and 18% had no opinion.  44% of 

respondents did not support the site guidance for Site 2.  

The main reason stated was the maximum heights proposed on the site 

which in some areas is stated as 6 or 8 storeys.  

 

 

 

 

20.90%

57.80%

7.00%

2.00% 12.30%
Yes

No

Sunnyside Rural Trust (No)

Broadly agree but
comment on details (No)

No Opinion

26.00%

44.00%

13.00%

1.00%
16.00%

yes

No

Sunnyside Rural Trust (No)

Broadly agree but
comment on details (No)

No Opinion

P
age 409



14 
 

Question 8. Do you support the development site guidance for Site 3 set 

out in section 6.3? 

 

 

Over 28% of respondents agreed or broadly agreed with the guidance for 

Site 3.  A further 17% stated the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust as the 

main reason for objection and 18% had no opinion. 36.7% of the 

respondents did not support the site guidance for Site 3.   

Respondents who did not agree had concerns over locating a school near 

a busy junction, protecting the current green space that is located on that 

site and again the proposed heights of buildings.  

A number of respondents also commented that it was unrealistic to 

assume that parents would use a drop off zone for schools.  

 

Question 9. Do you support the development guidance for Site 4 set out 

in section 6.4? 

 

 

Over 23% of respondents agreed or broadly agreed with the guidance 

with a further 20% stating that their main reason for their objection was 

concern for the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust.  38.7% of respondents 

did not support the development guidance for Site 4.  

In addition to concerns over the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust that is 

currently located within Site 4, the main reasons given for not supporting 

the guidance were objections to the potential 16-storey landmark 

building, concerns from employees whose businesses are currently within 

the site and the additional congestion that would be caused.  

Additional concerns raised were over the suitability of that area for 

residential use due to flooding.   

26.10%

36.70%

17.00%

2.00%

18.20%

Yes

No

Sunnyside Rural Trust (No)

Broadly agree but
comment on details (No)

No Opinion

22.20%

38.70%

20.00%

1.00%
18.10%

Yes

No

Sunnyside Rural Trust (No)

Broadly agree but
comment on details (No)

No Opinion

P
age 410



15 
 

Question 10. Do you support the approach to ‘Next Steps’ outlined in 

sections 7.1-7.5? 

 

 

Over a third of respondents agreed with the next steps.  An additional 

16% commented that their main reason for objecting was concern over 

the future of Sunnyside Rural Trust and nearly a quarter had no opinion.  

27.10% of respondents did not support the ‘Next Steps’ outlined in the 

document.  

Of those who objected, a number of people stated that they would like 

further consultation and engagement at times that are convenient for the 

majority to attend.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

28.70%

27.10%

16.00%

4.00%

24.20%

Yes

No

Sunnyside Rural Trust (No)

Broadly agree but
comment on details (No)

No Opinion

P
age 411



16 
 

 

 

5. Key Consultation Themes and Council Responses 

This section outlines the key themes emerging from the qualitative responses provided by both the public and stakeholders through the analysis of 

questionnaire responses and letters/emails received.  

KEY MESSAGE DBC RESPONSES  

1. Sunnyside Rural Trust 
 
A large number of respondents raised concerns and objected to the 
Masterplan Guidance as they were concerned about the future of 
Sunnyside Rural Trust. 

 
The Council recognises that Sunnyside Rural Trust provides a valuable 
service to the local community, and as landowner DBC has no plans to 
develop the site. Should the site be no longer required for use by the  Trust 
at some time in the future, or if a suitable alternative site becomes 
available, the Masterplan simply provides for the current site’s 
regeneration with guidelines as to what might be appropriate 
 

2. Scale, Density and Character of Development 
 
Respondents welcomed the emphasis on housing delivery within the 
Borough and the principle to provide guidance to help shape the future of 
the area.  
 
There was repeated emphasis by respondents that development should 
build on the existing character and scale of the surrounding area and a 
large number of those who objected expressed concern that the 
masterplan may not deliver this primarily due to the proposal for some 
taller development in the area.  
 
Those who objected expressed concern on overdevelopment and a large 
number of respondents were concerned about taller buildings and were 
generally opposed to development above 4 storeys in height.  
 

 
 
The Masterplanning Guidance has been prepared through the careful 
consideration of national and local policy, townscape context, views and 
characters of the area, sensitive land uses and boundaries, the local 
highway network, viability assessments, urban designs principles and views 
expressed through the Steering Group and public and stakeholder 
consultation.  
 
Whilst DBC accepts that a large number of respondents oppose 
development above 4 storeys, a number of considerations as outlined 
above including public views need to be taken into account when preparing 
the masterplan guidance. In order for the masterplan guidance to be 
effective proposed development needs to be viable. Viability assessments 
indicate that some development above 4 storeys is required to make the 
sites viable.  

P
age 412



17 
 

KEY MESSAGE DBC RESPONSES  

Conversely, there were a few respondents both stakeholders and 
questionnaire respondents who felt that the development and heights 
proposed are too low and will make development unviable. Some 
stakeholders have highlighted the pressure for new housing in potential 
regeneration areas and other brownfield locations in Dacorum in line with 
Government policy and have highlighted that the Masterplan Guidance 
should place even greater emphasis on maximising the potential for 
construction of new dwellings within the Masterplan area.  
 
A few respondents have also raised the need for houses that are 
appropriate for the local community rather than apartments.  
 

 
There is a very high housing need within Dacorum – indicated by a current 
assessed ‘objectively assessed need’ (OAN) figure of 756 homes per annum 
(17,388 over the 2013 – 2036 period). Two Waters is an important strategic 
location and has the potential to accommodate new development that 
promotes a sustainable mix of land uses. Maximising the potential for the 
construction of new dwellings within more urban areas such as Two 
Waters, serves both to concentrate development in strategic areas around 
transport hubs and town centres, as well as to reduce the possible impact 
and loss of Greenbelt and Greenfield land for development. 
 
The feasibility of different forms of development were tested through the 
process of preparing the Masterplan Guidance. Early iterations of the 
masterplan tested much higher development capacities than those 
proposed in the current Masterplan Guidance but these were considered  
inappropriate forms of development due to: 
 

 Negative impacts on views and townscape due to building heights 
and dominance of taller buildings. 

 Poor relationships between existing and proposed buildings due to 
increased density. 

 Negative impacts on the local highways network due to increased 
vehicle movements. 

 Negative impacts on viability due to the requirement for 
underground car parking. 

 Views expressed through public consultation and steering group 
meetings.  

 
The current Masterplan Guidance represents what is considered an 
appropriate form of development balancing the variety of complex factors 
including views expressed through public consultation. However, further 
detailed assessments and viability work will need to be undertaken by 

P
age 413



18 
 

KEY MESSAGE DBC RESPONSES  

potential developers through the planning process as and when 
development comes forward.  
 
Detailed but flexible Overarching and Site Specific Guidance has been 
included in order to ensure that development is sensitive and appropriate 
to the local area whilst delivering the Vision and Objectives for Two 
Waters.  
 

3. Key Development Sites 
 
Site 1: Hemel Hempstead Station 
 
A number of respondents welcomed proposals to improve the rail station 
and surrounding areas and to protect the archaeological significance of the 
Roman site.  
 
Respondents raised concerns regarding what they felt was 
overdevelopment of the area and in particular, concerns regarding heights 
of up to 8 storeys. They felt that heights should be limited to 4 storeys 
though a few respondents felt that the proposed heights and densities 
were not viable. Concerns were also raised regarding the impact of 
development to the character of the area and on Boxmoor.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Site 1 represents a key strategic gateway to Hemel Hempstead and there is 
a national emphasis on increasing development including residential units 
around transport hubs such as railway stations. The masterplan outlines 
primarily low to mid-range building heights with provision for development 
of up to 8 storeys in a small section of the site. As outlined in Section 2: 
Scale, Density and Character of Development, a number of factors need to 
be considered when determining the form of development including height 
and densities appropriate for the site and ensuring that the site is viable for 
development. As it currently stands, due to the high costs associated with 
development at this location, additional funding is likely to be required to 
deliver all the aspirations of the site.  Therefore, the level of development 
will need to be carefully considered and designed to help bring forward a 
more appropriate primary station gateway for Hemel Hempstead with a 
mix of complimentary commercial uses. DBC will work with other 
organisations such as HCC and Network Rail to seek alternative funding to 
help mitigate any potential funding gap.  See Section 1 for further details 
on the consideration of different factors in determining the proposed form 
of development.  
 
 

P
age 414



19 
 

KEY MESSAGE DBC RESPONSES  

 
 
 
 
Further concerns were raised regarding the impact on traffic congestion in 
the area, parking and in particular inappropriate on street parking.  
 
Respondents in general welcomed improvements to the station but were 
concerned about the provision of commercial space (office, retail, hotel) as 
they felt that there was already underutilised commercial space in the 
wider area.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Site 2: London Road 
 
Responses were similar to that provided on Site 1: Hemel Hempstead 
Station although the number of respondents who did not support the site 
guidance for site 2 was lower than for site 1.  A number of respondents 
objected to development above 3-4 storeys and expressed concerns 
regarding over development. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
See Section 4 of this table for details on Transport and Parking. 
 
 
Detailed viability work will be undertaken on site 1 to identify the demand 
for facilities such as office, retail and a hotel and the preferred mix of 
development. A high-quality commercial development with services for 
both business and leisure use in close proximity to Hemel Hempstead 
station would create a new and distinct offer to options available 
elsewhere in the town. 
 
This has been noted and recognised within the Masterplan Guidance.  
 
See Section 1 of this table for further details on Sunnyside Rural Trust.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Masterplan Guidance indicates that the majority of the development 
on site should be up to 4 storeys with limited developments in specific 
areas up to 6 and 8 storeys. Higher development has been located away 
from London Road and closer to the retained employment/retail area. 
Viability assessments indicate that some development above 4 storeys is 
required. See Section 1 for further details on the consideration of different 
factors in determining the proposed form of development. 
 
See Section 4 of this table for details on Transport and Parking. 

P
age 415



20 
 

KEY MESSAGE DBC RESPONSES  

A large number of concerns raised were regarding the likelihood of 
increased traffic congestion due to increased development in the area.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Site 3:  
There were a number of general concerns raised regarding building heights 
over development and concerns regarding traffic congestion similar to the 
other sites.  
 
There were also some concerns raised by stakeholders regarding the site 
being located in the flood zone and in close proximity to water courses and 
the need for any development coming forward to be mindful of these 
concerns. 
 
Respondents also had concerns over locating a school near a busy junction 
and that it was unrealistic to assume that parents would use a drop off 
zone for schools and that this would only add to congestions. 
 
There were also some objections raised stating that the current green 
space should be protected. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
See Section 1 of this table for further details on Sunnyside Rural Trust.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
See Section 2 of this table.  
 
 
 
Any development coming forward would need to be mindful of these 
issues and would need to go through the appropriate assessments and 
consultations through the planning process. 
 
 
DBC and Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) will undertake further 
assessments and feasibility studies regarding the educational provision. 
The Masterplan allows for flexibility on this.  
 
DBC is working with Box Moor Trust as the landowner of the site to ensure 
that a balance is struck between conserving the area and attracting more 
visitors and residents and that proposals reflect Box Moor Trust’s 
aspirations.  A section of site 3 has existing planning permission in place for 
development which sets a precedent for further development on the site.  
 
See Section 1 of this table for further details on Sunnyside Rural Trust.  
 
 
 

P
age 416



21 
 

KEY MESSAGE DBC RESPONSES  

 
Site 4: 
A number of the same concerns raised regarding building heights and over 
development on the other sites have been raised for site 4 as well.  
 
The need for additional infrastructure, schools including secondary schools 
hospitals, police station etc has been raised. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
There were a large number of objections to the proposed ‘landmark’ 
building of up to 16 storeys and its impacts on the streetscape, 
environment, congestion, parking etc. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
There were also some concerns raised by people working and businesses in 
the area regarding their jobs and investment if the businesses were to be 
relocated.  
 
 
 

 
See Sections 1,2 and 3 of this table.  
 
 
DBC will be working with HCC and relevant organisations and departments 
to facilitate the provision of relevant infrastructure. HCC education services 
has been consulted on the masterplan proposals and has not raised any 
concerns regarding secondary school provision.  The expansion of any 
services for the hospital and police are matters for central government. 
They have been consulted as part of the public consultation and are 
considered statutory consultees. DBC also regularly meets with health 
providers and other service providers to make sure they are aware of 
planned growth within the borough.  
 
The northern end of site 4 has been assessed as suitable for a building of 
up to 16 storeys due to the heights of surrounding development and to 
create a landmark at the southern gateway to the town centre. Given the 
proximity of the town centre and station a lower parking standard may be 
appropriate as the location will appeal to residents for whom public 
transport is their main mode of travel. This will be informed by the current 
assessment of parking standards being undertaken as part of the partial 
review of the Core Strategy. 
 
Further discussions will be held with business owners as and when 
development comes forward in this area. 
 
 
The Council recognises that Sunnyside Rural Trust provides a valuable 
service to the local community, and as landowner DBC has no plans to 
develop the site. Should the site be no longer required for use by the Trust 
at some time in the future, or if a suitable alternative site becomes 

P
age 417



22 
 

KEY MESSAGE DBC RESPONSES  

available, the Masterplan simply provides for the current site’s 
regeneration with guidelines as to what might be appropriate. 
 

4. Transport and Parking  
 

Overall there was support for the transport and movement principles of 
the document, in particular improvements to rail, public transport, cycle 
improvements and accessibility improvements were welcomed. 
 
Out of those who objected, there were a significant number of 
respondents who were concerned regarding congestion in the area. 
Respondents highlighted that the highway network in Two Waters was 
already severely congested at peak times and were widely concerned that 
further development would exacerbate the problem. The concerns about 
congestion and traffic flow were raised against all sites 1 – 4.  
 
 
Whilst many welcomed sustainable transport improvements, amongst 
those who expressed concern, there was scepticism regarding the 
proposed measures to reduce car use. People raised concerns that due to 
various reasons a majority of people would continue to need to travel by 
car. Concerns were raised that whilst the concept was good, there was not 
sufficient joined up government support to implement measures that 
would reduce the traffic such as encouraging businesses to allow flexi time, 
encouraging car share, improving bus routes etc. There were a number of 
responses requesting detail on the proposed measures.  
 
On street parking around the station and wider in the area and its knock on 
effects on road users was repeatedly highlighted.  There were concerns 
that the level of development proposed and any reduction in parking 
standards would exacerbate the problem. The need for measures to 

 
 
National Policy has moved towards securing more sustainable travel 
outcomes with emphasis on minimising the need to travel, reducing car use 
and encouraging more sustainable modes of transport. Both Government 
and private sectors are exploring new methods of transport to help support 
this vision, such as driverless cars, innovative public schemes and car 
sharing/taxi services such as Uber, and how this could change how we 
move between home and work, and the impact of this on the future design 
of new developments. 
 
 
 
 
The need to secure more sustainable travel is reflected in HCC’s Local 
Transport Plan 3 (LTP3) and is a major theme in the emerging LTP4 - 2050 
Hertfordshire Transport Vision and its emerging implementation ‘daughter 
document’, the South West Herts Growth and Transport Plan. This latter 
document has detailed plans and improvements outlined for the Two 
Waters Masterplan Guidance area (including areas expressed as concerns) 
and the wider area, this will be published in the new year. 
 
 
 
As part of developing the Masterplan Guidance we have worked closely 
with HCC highways to ensure they have identified proposals to tackle short, 
medium and longer term proposals for  Hemel Hempstead and the 
borough taking into account future longer term growth predictions and 
impacts for not only our borough but for South West Herts.  

P
age 418



23 
 

KEY MESSAGE DBC RESPONSES  

mitigate this problem were highlighted. The need to increase parking 
provision at the station was also highlighted.  
 
Concerns were raised about bottlenecks in the area such as the railway 
bridge over London Road and the one-way Durrants Hill Bridge. 
 
 
 
Concerns were also raised regarding the impact on satellite areas of 
reducing parking provision. 
 
There was also an objection to the pedestrian/cycle link between Site 1 and 
2 with concerns over intrusion of privacy. 
 
Concerns were also raised regarding the impact of noise and pollution and 
potentially an increase in pollution and how the proposals would help 
address rather than exacerbate the problem.  
 
 
 
Concerns were raised regarding the safety of shared cycle/pedestrian 
routes.  
 

 
 
DBC and HCC recognises the need for the right infrastructure package to 
help support employment and housing growth with necessary cultural 
change that will help secure a long term sustainable modal shift, such as 
delivering effective and efficient rapid bus routes connected to intermodal 
interchanges at key destinations. DBC is exploring modal shift 
infrastructure opportunities and external funding opportunities to help 
plan and deliver these vital improvements to support the new Local Plan. 
Whilst it will not be possible for this masterplan to fully resolve the area’s 
transport issues alone, it should make a positive contribution overall to 
existing conditions for all modes of travel. As sites come forward for 
development through the planning process, more detailed transport 
assessments with appropriate mitigation will be required. The safeguarding 
of land that may be required for future improvements or development 
mitigation should also be considered. 
 
The masterplan sets out the need for DBC to consider further controlled 
car parking zones together with parking provision on site to help mitigate 
any potential on street parking issues that could come forward as a result 
of unplanned development. 
 
 
Once the masterplan is adopted and sites come forward for planning 
advice and applications, more detailed site design reports will address 
health and safety concerns, such as shared pedestrian and cycle routes, 
and noise and air pollution issues. Likewise, more detailed plans will be 
required to explore concerns over new pedestrian/cycle links. 
 
The masterplan will indicate potential walking and cycling routes, making 
good use of the area’s green character and existing links (eg towpath). 
 

P
age 419



24 
 

KEY MESSAGE DBC RESPONSES  

5. Open Space & Environment 
 
The majority of the respondents supported the overarching guidance 
principles for open space and sustainability or had no opinion.  
 
Comments made focussed on protecting the moors, its ‘wild’ feel, its 
wildlife, grazing safely and the character of the area and enhancing the 
habitat for wildlife. 
 
 
 
 
 
A number of concerns were also raised regarding the inclusion of taller 
buildings in close proximity to the Moors spoiling the character of the 
moors and views.  
 
Concerns were raised regarding the current condition of the river and 
canal.  
 
Concerns were also raised regarding some of the proposed development 
being on flood plains but a number of comments were made that the area 
has not flooded recently and therefore concerns that the flood risk was 
overstated. 
 
Concerns raised were regarding the ability of contractors to deliver the 
development sensitively.  

 

 
 
DBC is working with the Box Moor Trust as the landowner of the site to 
ensure that a balance is struck between conserving the area and attracting 
more visitors and residents, and that proposals reflect Box Moor Trust’s 
aspirations. The Moors remain under Box Moor Trust who continuously 
work to enhance the habitat and wildlife. Any enhancements will seek to 
sensitively improve access to the moors and Heath Park and provide 
ecological enhancements and will be in partnership with Box Moor Trust.  
 
 
 
 
Design Guidance has been included within the Masterplan that requires 
development to be sensitive and minimise the impact of views. 
 
 
DBC regularly meet with the Environment Agency and will work with 
partner organisations to facilitate improvements where possible.  
 
Developments will be required to consider flooding and undertake 
assessment where required as part of their planning application.  
 
 
 
The phasing of proposed development forms part of the next steps. 
Planning requirements will stipulate conditions on the delivery of 
development.  

6. Infrastructure 
 
A number of respondents commented on the need to address the present 
need for schools, GP surgeries, a hospital, police station, improved 

 
 
The Masterplan suggests the provision of a new primary school and DBC 
will continue to work with Hertfordshire County Council to assess further 

P
age 420



25 
 

KEY MESSAGE DBC RESPONSES  

broadband services etc. Respondents suggested that there is an existing 
need for this infrastructure and the proposed additional residential 
development would put a strain on these facilities.  

 

the educational requirements for the area.  The provision of medical 
facilities is within the remit of the NHS trust and we will continue to work 
with them. The provision of a police service is similarly not under DBC’s 
remit but DBC will continue to work with the police. 
 
Utility providers have been informed of the Masterplan Guidance and this 
consultation. The Strategic Planning and Regeneration team at DBC 
regularly liaise with infrastructure providers as part of the Local Plan 
development and delivery, and will continue to do so.  

 

  

P
age 421



26 
 

6. Conclusion 

This Consultation Report has presented an overview of the findings from the Two Waters Round Three Consultation.  As a result of this consultation, the 

following changes have been identified to the Masterplan Guidance report. These include: 

 Clarify further the considerations taken in to account when determining the densities and heights proposed and the preference to optimise 
development on brownfield land minimising the impact on greenbelt and greenfield where possible.  

 Strengthen the statements on emerging transport policy and implementation documents that will support the Two Waters area and measures to 
facilitate modal shift towards the use of sustainable transport.  

 Clarify within the document that HCC have not identified a need for an additional secondary school in the area.  

 Strengthen the Masterplan Guidance on biodiversity and air quality improvements. 

 Clarify within the Masterplan DBC’s work with infrastructure providers. 

 Make more significant reference to chalk streams and fragmented landscape around chalk ridge. 

 Reference Roughdown Common SSSI. 

 Enhance coverage of historic environment and listed building constraints/opportunities.  

 Make minor wording changes and update figures when required to reflect feedback.  

 Change illustrations where required to ensure that buildings representing a range of heights are included. 
 
Full details of changes are included in Appendix A below. 
 
Amendments will be made to the draft Two Waters Masterplan Guidance document and the final document will be submitted to Council with the 

recommendation for adoption at the end of the year. It is envisioned that the Masterplan Guidance will be initially adopted by DBC’s Council as a planning 

statement and will then be adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) supporting the new Dacorum Local Plan.  

 

Appendix A:  Summary of Respondents’ Comments, the Council’s responses and proposed amendments to the Masterplan Guidance 

Appendix B:  Summary of Stakeholders’ Comments, Council’s responses and proposed amendments. 

Appendix C: Copy of questionnaire  

P
age 422



27 
 

Appendix A:  

Summary of Respondents’ Comments, Council’s Responses and Proposed Amendments to the Draft Two Waters 

Masterplan Guidance 

This section includes a summary of comments received through questionnaires as well as letters/emails received from the public and DBC responses to 

these. Stakeholder comments and related DBC responses are outlined in Appendix B. This section should be read in conjunction with Section 5: Key 

Consultation Themes and DBC Responses which provides more detailed responses to many of the comments below. Please note that due to a large 

number of repetitive comments, where a response has been provided to a similar comment covered in a previous section the response has not been 

repeated. 

This section also  outlines the proposed amendments  to the draft Two Waters Masterplan Guidance.  These amendments include  amendments as a result 

of Stakeholder comments which are also listed separately in Appendix B. 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

Q1 Do you support the ‘Vision’ for 
Two Waters set out in section 
4.1? 

1.1 There are concerns that 
development will have a 
negative impact on the 
environment, Moors and 
protected species in the 
area. 
 

1.2 The Moors are a much-loved 
feature and should be 
adequately protected not 
just from development but 
also from overcrowding by 
members of the public. 

 
 
 

 

It is an objective of the masterplan to 
respect and enhance the Moors and their 
parkland, leisure and grazing uses which 
make Boxmoor a special place.  
 
 
 
It is an objective of the masterplan to 
respect and enhance the Moors and their 
parkland, leisure and grazing uses which 
make Boxmoor a special place. Any 
improvements to footpaths to make them 
suitable for all year round use will be 
sensitively designed and developed in 
partnership with the Box Moor Trust. 
 
 

Proposed amendments to 4.1 Vision 
Proposed changes to wording: 
 
The Two Waters masterplan 
area…..vibrant residential-led mixed-
use neighbourhoods areas with an 
…..Hemel Hempstead train station.  
 
The masterplan area’s 
neighbourhoods areas will 
celebrate…linking the spaces.  
 
New development with supporting 
infrastructure will be of the highest 
design quality,….integrates with 
existing areas. It will also 
neighbourhoods that respect and 

P
age 423



28 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

1.3 Views of the moors should 
be retained 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.4 The area will be 
overdeveloped potentially 
having a negative impact on 
property values. The 
character of the area will be 
lost. 

 
1.5 Tall buildings at gateway 

locations could create a 
fortress appearance to the 
Town.Rather than taller 

The design guidance requires new 
development to respect views from the 
moors, particularly in regard to building 
orientation, height and form, and the 
location of landmark buildings.  
 
Development will be required to 
encourage the use of Two Waters’ green 
open space and waterways by improving 
the quality of and access to the moors and 
water bodies whilst respecting their 
ecological and agricultural roles and 
responding to issues of flood risk.  
New homes will be expected to achieve a 
high sustainability assessment and 
contribute towards sustainable transport 
schemes.   
 
 
 
The masterplanning guidance considered a 
number of factors in order to set limits for 
the level of development and building 
heights on each of the sites and 
overarching guidance for all development 
in the area. Additional detailed studies will 
need to be undertaken through the 
planning process for each site when 
development comes forward and will 
include consideration of the  masterplans’ 
ambitions for the built environment, 

enhance its natural, cultural, historic 
and built assets. New development 
will encourage the use of and access 
to heritage assets and the historic 
environment, as well as to the 
countryside. 
 
References to heritage assets, 
heritage or heritage significant of 
assets to be changed to historic 
environment as appropriate.  
 
Figure 14 will be amended to better 
reflect the heights referenced in the 
detailed figures for Site 1 – 4.  
 

P
age 424



29 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

buildings, there should be 
more creativity in the 
structure design and use of 
any new buildings.  

 
 
 
 
1.6 The development, especially 

higher buildings will be 
visually intrusive and will not 
integrate with existing 
neighbourhoods. The 
illustrations are not always 
representative of the heights 
proposed.   

 
 
 
 
1.7 Development will cause 

additional traffic on the 
already congested road 
network. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

transport and movement, and open space 
and sustainability. Developers will be 
expected to justify the mix and number of 
homes and other development as part of 
the planning consent process and 
undertake further consultation with 
residents.   
 
The Two Waters masterplan guidance sets 
out guidance to protect the character of 
the area and its natural assets and careful 
consideration has been made regarding 
the location and guidance on taller 
buildings. It will help to ensure 
development is planned and designed to 
deliver an attractive, sustainable and 
balanced environment, and provide new 
local services for residents, workers and 
commuters.   
 
Local highway improvements are set out 
for each development site, and 
contributions will be sought towards wider 
highway proposals within the Two Waters 
masterplan area and the delivery of 
sustainable transport measures. There is 
strong emphasis in the masterplan to 
reduce car use and promote alternative 
modes of transport.  
 

P
age 425



30 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.8 Where the proposed 

maximum height of up to 8 
storeys is too high and a 
number of respondents 
would prefer to see 
development limited to 4 
storeys, concerns were also 
raised over the safety of high 
rise buildings following the 
Grenfell tragedy.  
 

1.9 A recent survey carried out 
by the Keep Boxmoor 
Beautiful campaigners 
showed that out of 200 
residents, the majority 

New development will be expected to 
provide a sufficient parking supply to avoid 
a detrimental impact on surrounding 
streets. Parking standards are set out in 
Policy 57 of Dacorum Borough Local Plan 
2011 and are currently under review. 
 
In addition, DBC is working with 
Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) to 
assess the potential for a more holistic 
approach to transport – this will be 
embedded within HCC’s forthcoming 
Growth and Transport plan for South West 
Hertfordshire.   
 
Opportunities for development up to 8 
storeys have been carefully considered, 
and have been located where existing 
development and land use creates an 
appropriate environment. National policy 
and viability work shows that some 
development above 4 storeys is required 
to deliver the ambitions of the Two Waters 
masterplan.  
 
 
Two Waters is an important strategic 
location and has the potential to 
accommodate new development that 
promotes a sustainable mix of uses. Areas 
such as Two Waters are being pushed 

P
age 426



31 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

wanted buildings no higher 
than 4 storeys. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

nationally for more intense development 
and the Two Waters guidance has carefully 
considered a number of factors and set out 
height limits that are considered 
appropriate to the site. Maximising the 
potential for the construction of new 
dwellings within more urban areas such as 
the Two Waters area serves both to 
concentrate development in strategic 
areas such as around transport hubs and 
town centres, as well as to reduce the 
possible impact and loss of Greenbelt and 
Greenfield land for development. 
 
In preparing the masterplan the local 
character, topography, highway capacities 
and existing land uses have been 
considered to determine appropriate 
building heights for each development site.  
 
We acknowledge concerns following the 
Grenfell Tower tragedy. Taller buildings 
continue to be an important part of an 
urban streetscape and play an important 
role in providing residential and 
commercial provision in areas where land 
is limited. All development coming forward 
including taller buildings would need to 
adhere to  Planning, Building Control, 
Health and Safety and other statutory 
requirements and would be required to go 

P
age 427



32 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.10 The existing infrastructure 

cannot support the level of 
growth proposed i.e. health 
care, education, utilities. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.11 Concerns over the suitability 

of the mix of developments, 
there are concerns over the 
viability of the proposed 
retail/office space as there 

through the relevant regulatory processes 
to ensure that they are fit for 
purpose.  Further assessments will be 
required through the planning application 
process to ensure that any development 
coming forward is acceptable.  
 
Agree that new school places will be 
needed to accommodate demand from the 
proposed residential development. Further 
work will be undertaken by DBC and HCC 
to identify how this will be achieved. For 
the purposes of the Masterplan, the most 
expensive option – the provision of a new 
school – has been included. Development 
contributions will be sought towards other 
infrastructure provision including health 
care. DBC regularly works with 
infrastructure providers to ensure that 
they are aware of proposed development 
in Dacorum. Utility provides have been 
invited to respond to the Two Waters 
Masterplan Guidance consultation.   
 
 
The viability assessment suggests that 
these are best located by the train station 
where the transport links and commuter 
demand creates a suitable environment for 
a mixed use development with new retail 
offer and office provision. The combination 

P
age 428



33 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

are so many empty units 
elsewhere.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.12 There is a need for 
affordable housing instead 
of the current types of 
development being 
proposed 

 
1.13 Concerns over the future of 

Sunnyside Rural   Trust. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.14 Development will cause 
disruption to the 

of transport links and commuter audience 
creates a unique demand for services 
immediately at the train station, which an 
off-site existing commercial unit would not 
be able to fulfil. Further assessments will 
be undertaken as and when development 
comes forward. 
 
 
Guidelines have been provided that 
development should provide affordable 
housing in line with Dacorum policies.   
 
 
 
The Council recognises that Sunnyside 
Rural Trust provides a valuable service to 
the local community, and as landowner 
DBC has no plans to develop the site. 
Should the site be no longer required for 
use by the Trust at some time in the 
future, or if a suitable alternative site 
becomes available, the Masterplan simply 
provides for the current site’s regeneration 
with guidelines as to what might be 
appropriate. 
 
The phasing of development will form part 
of the next steps. Developers will be 
required to ensure local services can 
continue to operate during construction 

P
age 429



34 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

community while work is 
carried out 

 
 
 
 
1.15 There is a need for a multi 

storey car park at Hemel 
Hempstead train station, 
the recent changes to the 
forecourt has already 
caused a great deal of 
additional congestion. 

 
1.16 The photos and illustrations 

used in the Draft 
Masterplan are misleading, 
as they do not show 
buildings of the height 
proposed. 

 
1.17 This document does not 

reflect what was said in the 
January workshops, how has 
the feedback from previous 
consultation had any impact 
on the vision? 

 
 
 
 

works. Permission from HCC will be 
required for any variation to the highway 
network during construction.  
 
DBC is working with Network Rail to assess 
future parking demand at the train station. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A variety of illustrations have been 
included. We will review these and make 
changes to ensure that the variety of 
heights reflects the Masterplan Guidance.  
 
 
 
The document reflects consideration of a 
variety of factors including feedback from 
both rounds of consultation and 
stakeholder meetings.  A variety of 
opinions were expressed at the January 
workshop as outlined in the consultation 
report available at 
www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration. We 
confirm that these views have been taken 
in to consideration along with the other 
factors that need to be considered. The 
currents proposals are a form of 

P
age 430

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration


35 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.18 Prices for the proposed 
development are likely to be 
unaffordable to the local 
people, increasing the 
population without assisting 
those already in the area 
looking for a home.  More 
social housing is needed. 

 
1.19 The plan is not specific 

enough in terms of how it 
intends to achieve the 
overall vision 

 
 
 

 
1.20 Diagrams showing proposals 

make it difficult to interpret 
intent. 
 

development taking in to account and 
balancing all the factors. Please refer 
Section 5: Key Consultation Themes and 
DBC responses (2. Scale Density and 
Character of Development) of this 
Consultation Report for full details of the 
different considerations.  
 
Guidelines have been provided that 
development should provide affordable 
housing in line with Dacorum policies.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
The document is a high level 
Masterplanning Guidance document. The 
objectives, overarching guidance and site 
specific guidance is set out within the 
Masterplanning Guidance. Further detail 
will be developed through the planning 
process. 
 
The Masterplan Guidance is a technical 
document and as such the diagrams are 
representative of those used for similar 
planning documents. We will seek to 
improve the quality of images where 
possible. 

P
age 431



36 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 

1.21 Railway Station is not the 
Gateway to Hemel – the 
dual carriageway link to the 
bypass is.  

 
 
 
 
 
1.22 Poor quality development 

on Two Waters Road and 
comments on planning 
permission for these sites.  
 
 
 

1.23 Need for protection and 
enhancement of Green 
Corridor – open area of 
Boxmoor – Jellicoe Water 
Gardens – Gadebridge Park.  
 
 
 
 
 

1.24 Elegant footbridge over 
plough roundabout.  

 
A Gateway constitutes a key entry point to 
the area. As such there are several 
gateways in to Hemel Hempstead and the 
Two Waters area as identified in Figure 13. 
Hemel Hempstead Railway Station is one 
of the key gateways with a large number of 
railway uses entering the area through this 
gateway.  
 
One of the purposes of the Masterplan 
Guidance is to steer high quality design 
appropriate to the area. Information on 
previous planning applications is available 
through the Planning Portal at 
www.dacorum.gov.uk  
 
Protection and enhancement of green 
spaces in the study area is an objective of 
the Masterplan Guidance. The Jellicoe 
Water Gardens and Gadebridge Park are 
out of the cope of this work. However 
substantial improvements have recently 
been delivered to the Jellicoe Water 
Gardens and improvements are planned 
for Gadebridge Park. 
 
A footbridge is currently not proposed.  
Further work will be undertaken by DBC 
and HCC on traffic, pedestrian and cycle 
movement across the area. Development 

P
age 432

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/


37 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 

1.25 Opening up the visibility and 
accessibility of the Durrants 
Hill green space would be a 
major improvement.  
 

1.26 How is DBC going to ensure 
high quality design?  

in the area will be expected to contribute 
towards improvements.  
 
Noted. This is the aspiration and reflected 
in the masterplan guidance. 
 
 
 
The masterplan guidance once adopted 
will be a material consideration in 
determining planning applications. The 
masterplan sets detailed but flexible 
guidance as is appropriate to a high level 
document to ensure high quality. This 
guidance has been further strengthened 
where appropriate as a result of comments 
received through this consultation. Designs 
will be further assessed through the 
planning application process which would 
require additional studies and guidance to 
justify proposed designs within the 
parameters set out in the masterplan 
guidance.  

Q2 Do you support the Objectives 
for Two Waters set out in section 
4.2? 

2.1 Concern for the environment 
especially the Moors. 
 
Concerns over making the 
moors more accessible to the 
public for access and 
recreation.  

 

See 1.2 
 
 
The Moors provide a high quality open 
space and pedestrian access between Two 
Waters, the town centre and other key 
locations. They are already used for 
recreational purposes such as walking.  

Proposed amendments to 4.2 
Objectives 
 
Changes to 7: 
Enhance and better reveal the 
importance and significance of the 
existing natural and historic 
environment in Two Waters to 

P
age 433



38 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

2.2 Concern that tall buildings 
and development will mean 
loss of views.  
 

2.3 The proposed level of 
development could cause a 
negative impact on property 
values. Concerns regarding 
loss of character. 

 
 

 
2.4 Respondents feel that up to 

8 storeys is too high and 
would prefer to see 
development limited to 4 
storeys. 

2.5 Concerns that the existing 
infrastructure cannot 
support the level of growth 
proposed i.e. health care and 
education.  
 

2.6 The existing road network 
will not be able to take the 
additional traffic 

 
 
2.7 Retail/office viability  
 

Any recreational improvements will be 
sensitive to the Moors’ existing character 
and uses. 
 
See 1.1 – 1.7 
The masterplan guidance provides 
guidance on maintaining the existing 
character of the area and makes reference 
to this. This will be further evaluated 
through the planning process of individual 
developments. 
 
See 1.8  
 
 
 
 
 
See 1.10 
 
 
 
 
See 1.7 and Section 5: Key Consultation 
Themes and DBC responses (4. Transport 
and Parking) of this Consultation Report 
for full details. 
 
See 1.11 
 

contribute positively to its sense of 
place.  Enhance and Better Reveal 
Two Waters’ Heritage, Landmarks 
and Green Spaces 
 

P
age 434



39 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

2.8 Existing planning 
applications/approvals 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2.9 Concerns over the future of 
Sunnyside Rural Trust. 
 

2.10 Disruption to the 
community while work is 
carried out. 

The role of the masterplan will be to guide 
DBC in its consideration of planning 
applications within the Two Waters area 
once adopted as a planning statement and 
subsequently as a supplementary planning 
document. Planning applications 
submitted in advance of the adoption of 
the report are not subject to the 
masterplan guidance. As a result, it is not 
appropriate to comment specifically on 
any previous planning application, which 
would have been subject to its own 
consultation period. 
 
See 1.13 
 
 
 
See 1.14 

Q3  Do you support the 
Overarching Guidance principles 
for the ‘Built Environment’ set out 
in section 5.1? 

3.1 Concern for the 
environment and views 
 

3.2 Concerns regarding scale, 
heights and character. 
 

3.3 Objections to the planning 
application at 499/501 
London Road 

 
 

See 1.1 – 1.7  
 
 
See 1.1 – 1.7  
 
 
The role of the masterplan will be to guide 
DBC in its consideration of planning 
applications within the Two Waters area 
once adopted as a planning statement and 
subsequently as a supplementary planning 

5.0 [Overarching Guidance] The 
guidance ensures that a range of 
appropriate development forms can 
be accommodated. 
 
Proposed amendments to 5.1 
Overarching Guidance for the ‘Built 
Environment’ 
 
Additional wording to section 5.1.1: 

P
age 435



40 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 document. The planning application for 
499/501 London Road was submitted in 
advance of the adoption of the report. As a 
result, it is not appropriate to comment 
specifically on this planning application, 
which was subject to its own consultation 
period. 

…relationships with existing 
development. This should also 
include achieving a high quality of 
new public realm and infrastructure. 
 
Add new design principles under 
Height, scale and mass:  
 
Building heights above three storeys 
adjacent to London Road or Two 
Waters road will be stepped back 
from the building line. (See Figure 
15). 
 
Applications will need to be fully 
justified in terms of amenity 
considerations, view corridors, 
heritage etc.  
 
Add reference in paragraph 5.1.4  
– Development design will respect 
the heritage significance of assets, … 
reveal their significance.  A similar 
approach needs to be taken with any 
archaeology.  Proposals should seek 
to identify the extent of any 
archaeological remains and give 
consideration of their significance. 
 
Check the building heights 
mentioned for sites/areas to ensure 

P
age 436



41 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

consistency across the Masterplan 
(figures 16, 19 and 23 and 
paragraphs 5.1.5 – 5.1.10). 
 
5.1.7 Medium to large scale….visually 
interesting roof, façade and 
streetscape. 
 
5.1.8 Taller buildings will pay 
particular attention……to reduce 
their visual impact (New figure 
showing the set back from the road 
to be added). 
 
5.1.13 Gateway locations….higher 
density residential-led mixed use 
development;  
 
Figure 16 Make key for Panoramic 
View clearer.  
 
Figure 16 – key symbol for the 
landmarks building to be made 
clearer to ensure it is clear in black 
and white. 
 

Q4 Do you support the 
Overarching Guidance principles 
for ‘Transport and Movement’ set 
out in section 5.2? 

4.1 People will not stop using 
their own cars 
 
 
 

National Policy has moved towards 
securing more sustainable travel outcomes 
with emphasis on minimising the need to 
travel, reducing car use and encouraging 
more sustainable modes of transport. Both 

Proposed amendments to 5.2 
Overarching Guidance for ‘Transport 
and Movement’ 
 
Changes to wording: 

P
age 437



42 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Government and private sectors are 
exploring new methods of transport to 
help support this vision, such as driverless 
cars, innovative public schemes and car 
sharing/taxi services such as Uber, and 
how this could change how we move 
between home and work, and the impact 
of this on the future design of new 
developments. 
 
The need to secure more sustainable travel 
is reflected in HCC’s Local Transport Plan 3 
(LTP3) and is a major theme in the 
emerging LTP4 - 2050 Hertfordshire 
Transport Vision and its emerging 
implementation ‘daughter document’, the 
South West Herts Growth and Transport 
Plan. This latter document has detailed 
plans and improvements outlined for the 
Two Waters Masterplan Guidance area 
(including areas expressed as concerns) 
and the wider area, and will be published 
in the new year. 
 
The initiatives delivered through the Two 
Waters masterplan will give people more 
choices in transport - through attractive 
and convenient public transport services 
and improved walking and cycling links. 
The cultural change to using alternatives to 
private vehicles is a long term process 

 
New developments following 
guidance where possible in 
conjunction with guidance provided 
by Hertfordshire County Council with 
specific attention paid to guidance 
emerging Local Transport Plan, the 
South west Hertfordshire Growth 
and Transport plan and Hemel 
Hempstead Urban Transport Plan. All 
designs in terms of transport 
infrastructure should follow best 
practice guidance as set out in the 
HCC highway design guidance and 
Manual for Streets 
 
Figure 17 to be amended to include 
the Public Rights of Way network. 
 
Figure 17 to be amended to reflect 
single lane bridge and not the double 
lane bridge for bridge improvements.  
 
5.2.4. New development will seek 
….options (based upon the 
accessibility zones for application of 
parking standards).  
 
5.2.5 Travel plans will may be 
required for key developments as 
part of ….put in place.  

P
age 438



43 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4.2 There are not enough 

measures to encourage 
other transport usage 

 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 The current public transport 

provision does not travel to 
where you want to go. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

which DBC and HCC highways will continue 
to pursue through the emerging Growth 
and Transport Plan for South West 
Hertfordshire. 
 
Please refer Section 5: Key Consultation 
Themes and DBC responses (4. Transport 
and Parking) of this Consultation Report 
for full details. 
 
 
All development is expected to contribute 
towards the masterplan’s strategic 
transport objectives in addition to the 
delivery requirements for each site. 
Development proposals should ensure that 
growth in sustainable transport use can be 
accommodated.   
 
 
Improvements to public transport 
including increasing frequencies of existing 
bus services and additional bus routes and 
coach services to serve Hemel Hempstead 
are being considered as part of the 
development of HCC’s Growth and 
Transport Plan for South West 
Hertfordshire. Information on current bus 
services is available online. 
 

P
age 439



44 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

4.4 There aren’t enough local 
jobs so residents must travel 
by car. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.5 No measures to reduce 
pollution, which is already 
too high. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

All development will contribute towards 
the transport and movement objectives of 
the Masterplan with initiatives to reduce 
the use of private vehicles through better 
public transport and new pedestrian and 
cycle links.  Further measures to promote 
alternative modes of transport will be 
considered by DBC and HCC through the 
emerging Growth and Transport Plan for 
South West Hertfordshire. 
 
Initiatives to reduce car use, particularly 
single car use are being championed by the 
guidance. Local highway improvements are 
set out for each development site and all 
development will contribute towards 
wider measures aimed at easing 
congestion throughout the Two Waters 
area. The initiatives delivered through the 
Two Waters masterplan will give people 
more choices in transport - through 
attractive and convenient public transport 
services and improved walking and cycling 
links. Environmental improvements 
including street tree planting will support 
cleaner and greener streets. Further 
initiatives to reduce car use and promote 
alternative modes of transport will be 
considered by DBC and HCC through the 
emerging Growth and Transport Plan for 
South West Hertfordshire. The impact of 

P
age 440



45 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.6 It is not practical to limit 

parking near public 
transport hubs.  Travellers 
will be discouraged if Public 
Transport is not accessible.  
Public Transport needs to be 
more efficient. 
 
 

4.7 Development will cause 
additional problem parking 
on streets 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

development on the Air Quality 
Management Area to the east of Two 
Waters Road/London Road junction will be 
assessed as part of the planning 
application process.     
 
 
 
DBC will work with Network Rail on the 
provision and design of parking facilities 
for station customers. Further viability 
work will be required to determine how 
the objectives of site 1 can be achieved, 
including an integrated transport system 
with more buses serving the train station. 
 
 
The masterplan will make 
recommendations for areas directly 
affected by the Two Waters masterplan. 
However, these are part of a wider town 
centre issue.  The council is in the process 
of consulting residents local to London 
Road between Station Road and the 
Eastern access to the National Grid site on 
proposals to introduce waiting restrictions 
in the area. Car parks are reviewed 
biannually by Cabinet. 
 
 

P
age 441



46 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

4.8 The guidance principles are 
not strong enough to 
mitigate traffic issues. 
 
 
 
 
 

4.9 The single width bridge at 
Durrants Hill contributes to 
overall congestion. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
4.10 The bridge near Hemel 

Hempstead Station will be 
an issue, but is not included 
in the area of the 
masterplan. 
 
 
 

4.11 Concerns that potential road 
widening schemes will 
damage the habitats of 
much of the local wildlife. 
 
 

The masterplan aims to make a positive 
contribution to existing conditions for all 
modes of travel. Further traffic 
assessments will be undertaken with 
recommendations carried forward to the 
detailed design phase of individual sites. 
 
 
The single width bridge at Durrants Hill 
Road has been identified as a cause of 
congestion, this will be looked at in more 
detail as part of a transport assessment for 
Hemel Hempstead and through the 
detailed design of individual developments 
as they come forward. 
 
 
The impact of the station development on 
the surrounding highway network, will be 
assessed as part of the detailed design 
phase of site 1.  A transport assessment 
will also be undertaken as part of the new 
Local Plan. 
 
 
It is a characteristic of Boxmoor that areas 
of natural significance are adjacent to main 
roads. A decision on whether road 
widening will be required has not been 
made and will be considered following 
further transport assessment at the 

P
age 442



47 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 

4.12 More provision for electric 
cars. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.13 Cycle and pedestrian routes 

should be kept separate for 
safety of both users. 

 
 
 
 
 

detailed design stage and discussion with 
landowners. Any proposals will include an 
environmental impact assessment and 
measures to protect or mitigate the impact 
on areas of special interest. 
 
DBC’s expectations for the delivery of 
infrastructure to support electric car use 
from development is being considered as 
part of the partial review of the Core 
Strategy and will be set out within a 
Supplementary Planning Document to be 
adopted in 2019.   
 
 
The latest guidance from HCC on the 
provision of cycling facilities and shared 
routes will be used at the detailed design 
stage when development comes forward.   

Q5 Do you support the 
Overarching Guidance principles 
for ‘Open Space and 
Sustainability’ set out in section 
5.3? 

5.1 Concerns regarding 
additional access to open 
spaces.  Need to identify 
pathways to prevent 
damage to existing habitats. 

 
 
 

The masterplan’s proposals show 
indicative routes which will be further 
developed at detailed design stage. This 
will include an environmental impact 
assessment and will identify measures to 
protect or mitigate the impact on existing 
habitats. 
 

Proposed amendments to 5.3 
Overarching Guidance for ‘Open 
Space & Sustainability’ 
 
Change title: 
 
Open Space & Sustainability Open 
Space, sustainability and pollution 

P
age 443



48 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

5.2 Concerns regarding the 
phrase ‘Activities to enjoy’ 
as this implies lots of man-
made activities that will ruin 
the calmness of these areas 
that is currently enjoyed by 
users.  Open areas should be 
left the way they are. 

 
 
 

 
5.3 Concerns that Heath Park 

will become a private 
outdoor area for use by 
residents of nearby 
apartment blocks. 
 

5.4 Some areas in the plan are 
known to flood, 
development here would be 
at risk of flooding in the 
future.  
 

The masterplan’s open space principles set 
out the uses of the main green areas and 
protects existing uses such as working 
countryside and farmland, amenity and 
sports while improving access for all. There 
is more opportunity for change around the 
lakes and watercourses by site 3. This area 
has limited public access and there is the 
opportunity to add and improve local 
facilities for leisure use. 
 
 
Both the Box Moor Trust and DBC’s 
intentions are for Heath Park to remain an 
open and accessible green space for all 
visitors to enjoy. 
 
 
A flood risk assessment is required for all 
new development which falls within flood 
zones 2 and 3. This will be applicable to 
sites 3 and 4 where development will be 
expected to deliver measures such as 
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems to 
reduce flood risk. Outside the scope of the 
masterplan, DBC and the Box Moor Trust 
have been working in partnership with the 
EA to improve the sustainability of the 
rivers Gade and Bulbourne throughout the 
town centre. 

 
5.3 [Opening paragraph] 
….’Encourage the use of Two Waters’ 
[delete apostrophe].  
 
References to be added in section 
5.3: 
Consideration to be given to the 
Actions and Mitigation Measures 
identified in the River Basin 
Management Plan 2015-2021, for the 
Grand Union Canal, Bulbourne and 
Gade.   
 
Enhance the biodiversity and natural 
habitats for wildlife in the area.  
 
Development should include the 
creation of high quality green 
amenity spaces such as pocket parks 
and/or communal gardens within 
their developments, particularly 
linking visually to the moors.  
 
Development should avoid impacting 
on chalk grassland and seek 
opportunities to increase resilience 
and connectivity where appropriate. 
The site falls within Natural England’s 
Chalk and Chilterns Focus Area, with 
the chalk ridge extending from the 

P
age 444



49 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

Chilterns into Hertfordshire.  Beyond, 
is a fragmented landscape of chalk 
grasslands, woodland, farmland and 
ancient trackways. These sites are 
increasingly valued and visited. We 
would support actions which enable 
a linking of these fragmented 
landscapes, ensuring a connected, 
accessible and robust natural 
environment along this ridge. 
 
Flood Risk and Sustainable Energy 
Flood Risk, Sustainable Energy and 
Pollution 
 
Reference to be added: 
Development should consider 
pollution issues in the area including 
air quality and implement measures 
to reduce impact on and improve 
pollution issues. This would include 
improvements to existing air quality, 
noise and light pollution. 
 
Change wording: 
 
5.3.2 Developments should actively 
encourage the responsible use of and 
sensitively improve access to the 
moors giving careful consideration to 

P
age 445



50 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

maintaining its current functions and 
uses.  
 
Change wording on page 48:  
Create gathering space that can 
become the community heart of new 
development areas and wider 
neighbourhoodsneighbourhood’s 
heart. 
 
5.3.3 Green links….roles the moors 
have such as amenity space, leisure 
space and working farmland.  
 
5.3.4 Heath Park open space 
including Plough Gardens should be 
protected as an important amenity 
space and enhanced for the tall 
building developments around the 
Plough roundabout.  
 
5.3.4 The community amenity space 
of Health Park improved through 
recent Hemel Evolution work should 
be protected and enhanced as part 
of the context/setting and amenity 
space for the new developments 
around the Plough Roundabout 
 
5.3.5: 
…provide ecological 

P
age 446



51 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

enhancements to the east of Two 
Waters 
Road and north of London Road. The 
River Bulbourne and River Gade are 
chalk streams and consideration 
should be given to potential impacts 
upon these natural environments. 
 
5.3.7 Where opportunities arise 
development should ….heat and 
power network where feasible and 
viable.  
 
 

Q6 Do you support the 
development site guidance for 
Site 1 set out in section 6.1? 

6.1 Concerns regarding a hotel 
on site 1.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
6.2 A new traffic interchange is 

not needed. 
 
 
 
 

Whilst set out in the aspirations of the 
Masterplan, detailed viability work will be 
undertaken on site 1 to identify the 
demand for facilities such as a hotel and 
the preferred mix of development. A high-
quality commercial development with 
services for both business and leisure use 
would create a new and distinct offer to 
the hotel options available elsewhere in 
the town. 
 
Feedback from the consultation 
undertaken through the Two Waters 
masterplanning process demonstrates that 
public transport, traffic and congestion are 
key concerns. Connecting different types 
of public transport at an interchange is 

Proposed amendments to 6.0 
Development Site Guidance 
 
[Introduction paragraph] bullet point 

 Key Proposals 

 Design Guidance 

 Development Requirements 
 
Design Guidance: 
 
Additional wording to Section 6: 
 
…specialist service vehicles and lastly 
other motor traffic. Historic England 
have also published Streets for All 
guidance which covers public realm 
improvements.  

P
age 447



52 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 

6.3 More restricted parking 
zones are required. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6.4 More links with West Hemel 
needed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6.5 Clarification of items 6.15 & 
6.16 
 

essential to encourage the take up of 
alternatives to private car use. 
 
It is expected that new controlled parking 
zones will form part of each development 
site. Concerns regarding current commuter 
parking in residential areas which are not 
within an existing controlled parking zone 
should be directed to the local ward 
councillor. Further information is available 
on the DBC website under Parking and 
Travel. 
 
The pedestrian and cycle improvements 
proposed through site 1 will provide clear 
and legible links to key destinations 
including residential areas and the town 
centre. Connections with routes beyond 
the Two Waters area are outside the scope 
of the masterplan. Access and movement 
requirements arising from West Hemel 
Hempstead are set out within the LA3 
Masterplan.   Wider changes to the 
highway network will be considered by 
HCC through the Growth and Transport 
Plan for South West Hertfordshire. 
 
Proposals for residential parking levels for 
site 1 will be developed at detailed design 
stage and will explore opportunities for 
innovative shared use of spaces. As a result 

 
Numbering to be amended to all site 
guidance sections in section 6 to 
avoid duplication of numbers eg: 
removal of two 6.1.1s as title and as 
principle.  
 
Proposed amendments to 6.1 Site 1 
 
Change title: 
 
6.1 Site 1: Hemel Hempstead Station 
and surroundings 
 
Add new Development Parameter:  
This site is included within MU/4 of 
the Site Allocations DPD. 
 
Additional wording to be added: 
 
6.1.6 Land will be safeguarded to 
deliver Improved highway access, a 
new station and multi-modal 
interchange with supporting land 
uses shall be delivered. 
 
6.1.5: 
Residential parking for new 
residential development should be 
shared with other users although 

P
age 448



53 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 

a lower parking standard may be 
appropriate as the location will appeal to 
residents for whom public transport is 
their main mode of travel. This will be 
informed by the current assessment of 
parking standards being undertaken as 
part of the partial review of the Core 
Strategy. Further feasibility work will be 
undertaken into the parking requirements 
for the train station. 
 

sufficient parking for station 
customers will be necessary.   
 
6.1.14: 
A flexible approach to the number of 
station car parking spaces should be 
adopted to balance operational 
requirements with viability of 
development, and to accommodate 
predicted growth. 
 
6.1.13:   
Station car parking will be 
accommodated within a multi-storey 
(or if viable, an underground) 
arrangement and its design should 
seek to minimise adverse impacts on 
the quality of the built environment. 
 
6.1.17 Add: 
Development should not lead to  any 
adverse effects on the nearby 
Roughdown Common SSSI. 
 
6.1.18 Building heights above three 
storeys will be set back from the 
building line and stepped back (See 
figure X and figure 15 and principles 
5.1.8 and NEW PRINCIPLE in Section 
5.1 Overarching Guidance) 
 

P
age 449



54 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

6.1.21 Opportunities for 
sustainable….should be used 
incorporated including… 
 
6.1.23 
The Roman archaeological site will be 
protected and opportunities to 
improve its visibility and better 
reveal its heritage significance should 
be explored.  
 
Include some example pictures of 6 
and 8 storey buildings.   

Q7 Do you support the 
development site guidance for 
Site 2 set out in section 6.2? 

7.1 Concern for the 
environment many 
residents would like to see 
the Moors protected 
 

7.2 Concerns that the area will 
be overdeveloped which 
could cause a negative 
impact on property values 

 
7.3 Concern for the existing 

road network, traffic 
congestion and parking  

 
7.4 Respondents feel that up 

to 8 storeys is too high for 
this site and would prefer 

See 1.2 
 
 
 
 
See 1.4 
 
 
 
 
See 1.7 
 
 
 
See 1.8 
 
 
 

Proposed amendments to 6.2 Site 2 
 
Change title: 6.2 Site 2: Two 
Waters/London Road Junction West 
 
Change wording on section 6.2, site 
2: 
A new walkable green residential 
area neighbourhood 
 
Change key to relabel ‘Safeguarded 
Land’ to ‘Safeguarded Land for 
Infrastructure’.  
 
Proposed railway buffer zone to be 
changed to be adjacent to the 
railway. 
 

P
age 450



55 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

to see development 
limited to 4 storeys. 

 
7.5 Concerns that the existing 

infrastructure cannot 
support the level of growth 
proposed i.e. health care 
and education.  

7.6 Concerns that the level of 
development as well as the 
reduced parking on site 2 
will cause issues further 
along Station Rd 

 
7.7 Queries over the 

Retail/office viability  
 
 

 
 
See 1.10 
 
 
 
 
See 4.7 
 
 
 
 
 
See 1.11 

Add new Development Parameter:  
This site is included within H/8 of the 
Site Allocations DPD. 
 
6.2.12 Remediate contaminated land 
so that it is suitable for residential 
development.  
 
6.2.18 Building heights above three 
storeys will be set back from the 
building line and stepped back (See 
figure X and figure 15 and principles 
5.1.8 and NEW PRINCIPLE in Section 
5.1 Overarching Guidance) 
 
6.2.22 Opportunities for 
sustainable….should be used 
incorporated including… 

Q8 Do you support the 
development site guidance for 
Site 3 set out in section 6.3? 

8.1 Respondents feel that up 
to 6 storeys is too high for 
the site. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A number of residents broadly agreed with 
proposals with reservations over building 
heights and density and additional traffic 
and would like to see alternative 
provisions for Sunnyside identified. 
 
The frontage to London Road and junction 
with Two Waters Road has been identified 
as suitable for development up to 6 
storeys where feature buildings would 
form a positive landmark. The assessment 
considered local topography and the land 
use, design and heights of the surrounding 

Proposed amendments to 6.3 Site 3 
 
Change title: 6.3 Site 3: Two 
Waters/London Road Junction North 
 
Change wording on section 6.3, site 
3: 
A new waterside residential area 
neighbourhood 
 
Open space and Historic 
Environment (section 6.3.2- Design 
Guidance)  

P
age 451



56 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 

8.2 Against development on 
green open space including 
open space within Box 
Moor Trust land holdings. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.3 Concerns that the area will 

be overdeveloped and 
housing density is too high. 
 
 

development. Moving through the site, 
building heights will reduce in response to 
the surrounding environment. In particular 
a sensitive design and lower built form will 
be required along the site’s watercourses.   
 
Some development on green open space 
has been proposed after considering the 
sensitivity of all green space within the 
Two Waters area, the level of public use 
and following discussion with land owners 
including the Box Moor Trust.  
Discussions have also taken place with the 
Box Moor Trust regarding their 
landholdings which forms part of site 3.     
Planning permission has been granted for 
part of site 3 which sets a precedent for 
further development in that area 
Development within site 2 will mitigate the 
loss of open land by providing high quality 
public spaces within new residential areas 
and connecting these to existing green 
spaces and waterways to improve access 
for all. 
 
 
The level of development has been 
informed by the viability assessment which 
considered how best the ambitions of the 
Two Waters masterplan could be achieved. 
Within site 2 a mix of uses has been 

 New public realm to enhance 
the setting of the nearby Grade 
II listed Bell Inn. 

 
6.3.5 Drop-off zone for school if 
school is progressed on this site.  
 
6.3.13 …though the site by 
maintaining current no through 
routes for vehicles. 
 
6.3.14 Land should be safeguarded 
retained for a drop off …. 
 
6.3.16 Building heights above three 
storeys will be set back from the 
building line and stepped back (See 
figure X and figure 15 and principles 
5.1.8 and NEW PRINCIPLE in Section 
5.1 Overarching Guidance) 
 
6.3.20 Opportunities for 
sustainable….should be used 
incorporated including… 

P
age 452



57 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8.4 Concern for the existing 
road network, traffic 
congestion and parking 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.5 Concerns that the existing 

infrastructure cannot 
support the level of growth 

identified with a variety of building heights 
which respond to the surrounding land use 
and will provide better access to and 
enhance the areas natural resources. More 
detailed studies will need to be 
undertaken through the planning 
application process to determine the 
detail.  
 
 
Local highway improvements for the sites 
are set out within the masterplan and 
contributions will also be sought towards 
wider highway proposals within the Two 
Waters area and the delivery of 
sustainable transport measures.  New 
development will be expected to provide a 
sufficient parking supply to avoid a 
detrimental impact on surrounding streets. 
Opportunities will be sought to make 
better use of parking spaces by sharing 
facilities throughout the week between 
residents, shoppers, visitors and 
commuters.  Section 5: Key Consultation 
Themes and DBC responses (4. Transport 
and Parking) of this Consultation Report 
for full details. 
 
See 1.10 
 
 

P
age 453



58 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

proposed i.e. health care 
and education. 
 

8.6 Concerns over 
replacement provision for 
existing uses such as scout 
groups and Sunnyside 
Rural Trust 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8.7 School drop off point will 
not be used, where this is 
available at other schools 
parents still drive up to 
school gates. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
The land leased to 1st Apsley Scouts does 
not form part of the development area of 
site 2. It is identified as green space and 
there may be opportunities to improve 
local facilities as part of the proposals to 
benefit scouting and other leisure uses. 
 
The Council recognises that Sunnyside 
Rural Trust provides a valuable service to 
the local community, and as landowner 
DBC has no plans to develop the site. 
Should the site be no longer required for 
use by the  Trust at some time in the 
future, or if a suitable alternative site 
becomes available, the Masterplan simply 
provides for the current site’s regeneration 
with guidelines as to what might be 
appropriate 
 
 
New development throughout the 
masterplan area will contribute towards 
safe and accessible pedestrian and cycling 
routes to the potential school site. The 
cultural change to using alternatives to 
private vehicles is a long term process 
which DBC and HCC highways and 
education will continue to pursue through 

P
age 454



59 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
8.8 Not appropriate for school 

due to air pollution and 
nearby busy junction. 
(School not proposed for 
this site but drop off point 
is). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

the emerging Growth and Transport Plan 
for South West Hertfordshire. The design 
of the school drop off point and vehicle 
access will be carefully considered. 
 
DBC and HCC will continue to discuss how 
new school places within the Two Waters 
area can best be provided.  The masterplan 
is designed to be flexible to accommodate 
the outcome of this decision. The traffic 
issue is noted and will require further work 
through the planning application process 
once the exact location is confirmed. 
Development will deliver pedestrian routes 
through existing green space and new 
public areas to create pleasant routes to 
school away from the main roads. There 
will also be environmental improvements 
including street tree planting to support 
cleaner and greener streets. All 
development will contribute towards 
highway improvements and sustainable 
transport measures aimed to ease 
congestion throughout the Two Waters 
area. The cultural change to alternatives 
modes of transport to private vehicles is a 
long term process which DBC and HCC 
highways and education will continue to 
pursue through the emerging Growth and 
Transport Plan for South West 
Hertfordshire.    

P
age 455



60 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
8.9 Some reservations as plans 

are not definite enough at 
this stage 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The masterplanning guidance is a high 
level document. Developers will prepare 
an illustrative masterplan with detailed 
design for each development site as they 
come forward. Local residents will be able 
to comment on the proposals through the 
planning application process. The Two 
Waters masterplan sets out the 
expectations from development and will 
help guide the determination of planning 
applications to ensure that development is 
consistent with its content. 
 

Q9 Do you support the 
development site guidance for 
Site 4 set out in section 6.4? 

9.1 16 storeys landmark building 
is too tall. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The northern end of site 4 has been 
assessed as suitable for a building of up to 
16 storeys due to the heights of 
surrounding development and to create a 
landmark at the southern gateway to the 
town centre. Given the proximity of the 
town centre and station a lower parking 
standard may be appropriate as the 
location will appeal to residents for whom 
public transport is their main mode of 
travel. This will be informed by the current 
assessment of parking standards being 
undertaken as part of the partial review of 
the Core Strategy. 
 

Proposed amendments to 6.4 Site 4 
 

Change title: 6.4 Site 4: Two Waters 
North 
 

Change wording on section 6.4, site 
4: 
A new mixed use town centre area 
neighbourhood 
 
6.4.1 Landmark building…. Tall 
buildings are more appropriately 
located around the Plough 
roundabout. 
 

P
age 456



61 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

9.2 Strong concerns over the loss 
of Sunnyside Rural Trust 
 

9.3 Concerns that without the 
supporting infrastructure 
being installed first the 
developments will not work 

 
 
 
 
 

9.4 Need for secondary school 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.5 Concerns over residential 

developments in a flood risk 
area 

 

See 1.13 
 
 
The phasing of development across the 
masterplan area is still to be determined 
and will consider the impact of 
construction, delivery of residential units 
and infrastructure requirements, and 
amenity funding. Improvements to 
transport infrastructure will be phased to 
minimise disruptions. 
 
HCC education services have been 
consulted on the masterplan proposals and 
have not raised any concerns regarding 
secondary school provision.  As a result it is 
currently assumed that there is capacity 
within existing secondary school provision 
to accommodate the additional demand 
for school places resulting from the 
proposed development. Further discussion 
with HCC will take place as housing 
numbers are identified.  The masterplan 
will be amended to note this position. 
Contributions will be sought towards 
education from each development. 
 
See the response from the Environment 
Agency in the Stakeholder Comments 
section 

Additional wording to para 6.4.17:  
…. wind micro-climate and residential 
amenity. This would also include the 
Listed buildings on the edge of 
Corner Hall. 
 
6.4.8 Dacorum Borough 
Council…..providing new primary 
school… 
 
6.4.8 ….current schools in the area 
and or providing a new school. 
 
6.4.8 Any proposed school location… 
 
6.4.13 Land should be safeguarded 
retained for a drop off …. 
 
6.4.15 Building heights above three 
storeys will be set back from the 
building line and stepped back (See 
figure X and figure 15 and principles 
5.1.8 and NEW PRINCIPLE in Section 
5.1 Overarching Guidance) 
 
6.4.18 Opportunities for 
sustainable….should be used 
incorporated including… 
 

P
age 457



62 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

Include picture of a tall building to 
illustrate proposed landmark 
building.  
 
Page 65 – Change picture.  
 

Q10. Do you support the 
approach to ‘Next Steps’ outlined 
in sections 7.1-7.5? 

10.1 More consultation needed 
with meetings to be held at 
appropriate times to allow 
members of the public to 
attend. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.2 Infrastructure 
improvements to be put into 
place before additional 
housing comes forward. 
 

10.3 Clearer proposals needed 
 
 

The consultation has been undertaken in 
accordance with DBC Statement of 
Community Involvement (July, 2016) which 
is available at www.dacorum.gov.uk.  
 
The development of the Two Waters 
masterplan has been informed by a 
comprehensive consultation process, 
which can be viewed at 
www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration. This 
included local exhibitions held during the 
evening and at the weekend. There will be 
the opportunity to comment on each 
development site as part of the planning 
application process. 
 
 
See 9.3 
 
 
 
 
The role of the masterplan is to set the 
guidance principles for future 
development.  Its guidance will ensure that 

Proposed amendments to section 
7.1 
 
7.1 Title: Change to Delivering the 
aim of the Two Waters Masterplan 
Guidance.  
 
 
Additional wording to Section 7.1: 
All development will … health 
facilities, public realm and open 
space improvements. Where 
relevant, other contributions may be 
sought, for example, in relation to 
improvements to the historic 
environment. 
 
DBC will undertake further feasibility 
studies…. As sites come forward for 
development through the planning 
process, more detailed transport 
assessments with appropriate 
mitigation will be required.   
 

P
age 458

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration


63 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.4 Concerns that car use 
cannot be reduced 
 

10.5 Concerns over compulsory 
purchasing 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.6 Concerns that there are 
no provisions for additional 
sports facilities 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

future development is planned and 
designed in the best possible way, to 
deliver an attractive sustainable and 
balanced environment. Detailed proposals 
will follow as development sites come 
forward. 
 
See 4.1. 
 
 
DBC will work with landowners and 
stakeholders to determine how 
development can be brought forward for 
delivery. This may be achieved through a 
coordinated delivery approach by multiple 
landowners. It is too early at this stage to 
consider whether compulsory purchasing 
will be necessary but it is a lengthy process 
and not considered lightly.   
 
Contributions towards indoor and outdoor 
sports facilities will be secured via the 
Community Infrastructure Levy. 
Community space and facilities directly 
associated with the development of 
Strategic and Local Allocations will be 
secured via s106 or alternative measures. 
Delivery will be informed by the evidence 
base for the Local Planning Framework, 
including the Outdoor Leisure Facilities 

7.2 [Viability] The masterplan will not 
necessarily….needs. As sites come 
forward for development through 
the planning process, more detailed 
assessments and feasibility studies 
will be required with appropriate 
mitigation.  
 
7.3 Further Studies Work 
7.3 Whilst it is not possible….all 
modes of travel. Safeguarding 
Retention of land that may … 
 
7.3 Schools 
 
Dacorum Borough 
Council…..providing new primary  
school  
 
….current schools in the area and or 
providing a new school. 
 
Any proposed school location… 
 
7.3 ADD 
Hertfordshire County Council has not 
identified the need for a new 
secondary school in this area as a 
result of the development proposed 
in the Two Waters Masterplan 
Guidance.  

P
age 459



64 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
10.7 Concerns over the future of 

Sunnyside Rural Trust 
 

10.8 Would like to see clear 
independent studies to 
support assumptions made 
in the Masterplan 

 
 
 
 

 
 

10.9 Next steps should include 
revisions to the Masterplan 
taking into account feedback 
from residents 
 

10.10 Concerns that stakeholders 
and developer input holds 
more weight than residents 
 
 
 

10.11 Concerns that the 
Masterplan will be 
undermined by developers 
 
 
 

Study (2014) and Playing Pitch Strategy 
and Action Plan (2015). 
See 1.13 
 
 
The development of the Two Waters 
masterplan has been informed by a robust 
evidence base comprising; an urban 
design, transport and movement and 
viability analysis. This can be viewed at 
www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration. Or 
contact regeneration@dacorum.gov.uk 
and request a copy to be emailed.  
 
The feedback from this third round of 
consultation will be evaluated and will be 
used to inform the final amendments to 
the Two Waters Masterplan.   Proposed 
amendments are outlined in this report.  
 
Each comment made by residents through 
the consultation process has been 
recorded, considered and responded to. 
The development of the masterplan has 
been informed through this process. 
 
Final dwelling capacities will be tested 
through the planning application process, 
where detailed schemes will be expected 
to demonstrate compliance with specified 

 
7.3 ADD 
 
 
Other Infrastructure 

The Council works closely with a 
wide range of infrastructure 
providers to ensure that necessary 
infrastructure is provided alongside 
new development and that the 
information we have on the types of 
infrastructure needed to support 
development is up-to-date. This 
includes working with those 
organisations responsible for roads, 
public transport, education, health, 
water supply, sewerage and power.  

 

The new Local Plan must ensure the 
delivery of infrastructure in a timely 
and phased manner. This will enable 
new residents’ access to the right 
services and facilities and reduce 
more negative effects on existing 
communities.  

 

P
age 460

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration
mailto:regeneration@dacorum.gov.uk


65 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.12 Money should be spent 
refurbishing   derelict areas 
of Hemel Hempstead rather 
than building in Two Waters. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.13 Reassurances needed 
that local residents will get 
priority for new housing 
 
 
 
 

planning requirements and other relevant 
policies and guidance. 
 
The Masterplan Guidance forms part of the 
evidence base for the forthcoming Local 
Plan Review anticipated for 2019. It is 
expected that the document will be 
initially adopted by the Council as a 
planning statement. Following adoption of 
the Local Plan in 2019, the Masterplan will 
then be adopted as a supplementary 
planning document. Proposals for new 
development will be expected to follow its 
guidance and it will be material 
consideration in the determination of 
planning applications. 
 
The Two Waters area has been subject to 
developer interest and several planning 
applications for significant numbers of 
units have been determined in recent 
years. A Masterplan is an essential tool to 
ensure development is coordinated and 
delivers local and strategic improvements 
to support an attractive, sustainable and 
balanced environment.   
 
The masterplan is not able to set eligibility 
criteria for who will be able to purchase 
new homes within the Two Waters area. It 
does set out that development should 

P
age 461



66 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

10.14 Masterplan should be 
subject to a local referendum 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.15 Concerns over how 
Boxmoors ‘sense of place’ 
will be protected 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.16 Concrete actions in 
terms of traffic impact 
management, researching 
what types of residential are 
in demand and clear plans 
for health care provision. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

deliver 35% affordable housing in 
accordance with Core Strategy Policy CS19. 
The Two Waters Masterplan has been 
subject to extensive consultation which 
has shaped its development and the final 
guidance is informed by the feedback 
received from local residents.  It is not 
proposed to hold a local referendum. 
Further consultation will take place on 
individual developments as part of the 
planning application consent process. 
 
It is an objective of the masterplan to 
respect and enhance the Moors and their 
parkland, leisure and grazing uses which 
make Boxmoor a special place. Buildings 
will need to carefully consider and 
minimise impacts on the surrounding 
streetscape and views across the moors 
through the use of high quality design and 
materials. 
 
The masterplan sets out transport and 
parking guidance for each of the 
development sites, plus the overarching 
transport and movement strategy. Further 
transport assessments will follow as part of 
the planning application process. The 
viability assessment undertaken to inform 
the masterplan considered block layouts, 
indicative floor space of future 

P
age 462



67 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.17 Masterplan should 
specify that planning 
applications should be 
required to demonstrate 
measurable net gain in 
biodiversity 
 
 
 

10.18 Concerns over the future 
of current employment land 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

development and demand for housing in 
the area. Further viability appraisals will 
take place as sites come forward for 
development. Consultation with key 
service providers including NHS Herts 
Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group will 
form part of the delivery phase. 
Development contributions will be sought 
towards health care and other 
infrastructure provision. 
 
Detailed assessments of each development 
site will be undertaken as part of the 
planning consent process. These will 
identify habitats and species of special 
interest and any protection or mitigation 
measures required. Development will be 
expected to contribute towards 
environmental improvements both to the 
immediate and wider area. 
 
There are large areas of redundant 
employment land within the Two Waters 
area. These land uses limit activity and 
detract from the quality of the built 
environment, by restricting access and 
interaction with local streets. 
Consideration of existing and future 
employment land needs forms part of the 
review for the Single Local Plan. Further 
information is available at 

P
age 463



68 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
10.19 Would like clearer ideas 

of timetable 
 
 

www.dacorum.gov.uk/planning-
development, within the South West Herts 
Economy Study (February 2016) and 
forthcoming Employment Land Availability 
Assessment. 
 
The Two Waters masterplan will be 
adopted as a supplementary planning 
document with the new Local Plan, 
anticipated in 2019. While DBC will work 
with landowners to support development 
being brought forward, ultimately the 
delivery timetable is dependent on the 
overall strength of the local and regional 
economies and property markets.   
 

Q11 Do you have any further 
comments regarding the 'Two 
Waters Masterplan Guidance' 
that you have not included in 
previous section? 

11.1 Suggested trees to 
screen Box Moor Trust land 
from London Rd. 
 
 
 
 
 

11.2 Green corridor could be 
enhanced by improving the 
link across the Magic 
Roundabout 
 
 
 

Development will be expected to 
contribute towards environmental 
improvements both to the immediate and 
wider area. DBC will work with developers 
and the Box Moor Trust to ensure that the 
proposals for these sensitive areas are 
appropriate. 
 
The Plough ‘magic’ roundabout is outside 
of the scope of the masterplan.  DBC and 
the Box Moor Trust have been working in 
partnership with the EA to improve the 
sustainability of the rivers Gade and 
Bulbourne throughout the town centre. 
 

 

P
age 464

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/planning-development
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/planning-development


69 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
11.3 Building proposals are 

too high 
 

11.4 There should be an iconic 
cultural development 

 
 
 
 

 
11.5 There has been no 

feedback from other 
consultations 
 
 
 
 

11.6 How can local residents 
continue to make their views 
known in cooperation with 
DBC? 
 

11.7 Cycle routes are 
important 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
See 1.8 
 
 
The locations of landmark buildings are 
identified within the development sites 
guidance chapter of the masterplan. 
Historic, archaeological and environmental 
development is also recognised within the 
guidance principle.  
Feedback from round one consultation 
(held between 4 and 5 November 2016) 
and round two (held on 26 January 2017) is 
available on the DBC website at 
www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/regeneration. 
The report from phase 3 consultation will 
be published following Cabinet approval.   
 
Consultation on individual development 
sites will take place as part of the planning 
application process. 
 
 
Improvements to the cycle network will be 
a key component of sustainable transport 
measures through the Two Waters area. 
This will include enhancements to existing 
and new connections to link development 
sites with destinations such as the town 
centre and station. 
 

P
age 465

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/regeneration


70 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

11.8 What will be the result of 
this feedback 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11.9 How will the increase in 
air pollution be addressed? 
 

11.10 Alternative provision for 
Sunnyside Rural Trust needs 
to be identified 
 

11.11 What will happen with 
planning applications that 
have already been 
submitted? 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
11.12 A clearer understanding 

of the proposed developers 
and increased transparency 
re their business interests 
 

The feedback from the third round of 
consultation will be assessed and 
responses recorded. Final amendments 
will then be made to the Two Waters 
Masterplan prior to its publication. 
Proposed amendments are outlined in this 
report.  
 
See 4.5 
 
 
See 1.13 
 
 
 
The role of the masterplan will be to guide 
DBC in its consideration of planning 
applications within the Two Waters area 
once adopted as a planning statement and 
subsequently as a supplementary planning 
document. Planning applications 
submitted in advance of the adoption of 
the report will consider existing guidance 
provided by the Core Strategy and policies 
of the Local Plan 
 
It is not the role of the masterplan to 
propose developers for any of the sites 
within the Two Waters area. 
 
 

P
age 466



71 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

11.13 Suggestion of extending 
Frogmore Rd to Sainsbury’s 
and restricting traffic turning 
right 

 
 
 
 

11.14 Open up all DBC 
proposals for public debate 

 
 
 
 
 
 
11.15 Park and ride facility 

should be considered 
 
 
 
 
 
 
11.16 ‘proper’ parking 

restrictions needed around 
the station 
 
 
 

This is not currently proposed. Further 
traffic assessments will take place at 
detailed design stage. Additional proposals 
will be considered as part of the 
development of HCC’s Growth and 
Transport Plan for South West 
Hertfordshire. 
 
The masterplan has been subject to an 
extensive public consultation process in 
accordance with DBC’s Statement of 
Community Involvement (SCI, 2016) where 
residents and stakeholders have been able 
to comment on emerging proposals and 
help shape the final document. 
 
Whilst this is outside the scope of the 
masterplan, further opportunities to 
reduce traffic congestion will be explored 
by DBC and HCC as part of the 
implementation phase and through the 
development of the Growth and Transport 
Plan for South West Hertfordshire. 
 
It is expected that new controlled parking 
zones will form part of each development 
site. The parking needs of station users will 
be considered at the detailed design stage 
and advice sought from Network Rail.   
 

P
age 467



72 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

11.17 Relocate the station to 
the current bus depot site 
 
 

11.18 Rethink boundaries and 
avoid building right up to 
existing housing  
 
 
 

11.19 Provision for the future 
of electric cars i.e. 
Infrastructure for electric 
charging points at every 
parking space 

 
11.20 Suggested shared surface 

on the older streets, perhaps 
make Winifred Road and 
Weymouth Street one way, 
introduce a parking system 
that helps residents park 
where they live. 

 
11.21 The Masterplan should 

recognise renewable energy 
in its requirements and make 
Hemel Hempstead known for 
its will of carbon neutral 
ideologies. 

 

A preference to relocate has not been 
raised by Network Rail within any 
discussions 
 
The boundaries of development sites have 
been identified from an assessment of 
existing land uses and opportunities for 
new uses. The layouts of buildings will be 
considered at detailed design stage. 
 
See 4.12 
 
 
 
 
 
These highway changes are outside the 
scope of the Two Waters masterplan. See 
question 6 regarding residents’ parking. 
 
 
 
 
 
The design guidance for each development 
site highlights the requirement to consider 
sustainable building designs, such as 
efficient and renewable energy systems, 
water conservation, reduction/reuse and 
recycling of waste water. 
 

P
age 468



73 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

11.22 Current bus routes in the 
town don’t deliver direct 
journeys at times that 
people need, would like to 
see concrete evidence of 
how DBC think this can be 
changed. 

 
11.23 Traffic congestion and air 

pollution  must be taken into 
consideration 

 
11.24 The document is poorly 

written with too much jargon 
making it difficult to 
understand 

 
11.25 The bridge widening on 

Durrants Hill lane is shown at 
the wrong bridge.  

 
11.26 The new canal bridge – Is 

there a desire line for this? 
 
 
 

11.27 Some residents in 
Boxmoor have grazing rights 
that come with their housing 

 

See 4.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See 4.1 & 4.5 
 
 
 
The masterplan is a technical document 
and uses terminology recognised within 
the planning sector. Where possible 
terminology will be simplified. 
 
 
Noted, the widening proposal is for the 
single carriageway bridge on Durrants Hill 
Road.   
An indicative location is shown on figure 
25, within site 4. This will connect to a new 
pedestrian and cycle routes and the canal 
towpath. 
 
It is an objective of the masterplan to 
protect the semi-rural farmland of the 
moors currently used for grazing. 
 

P
age 469



74 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

11.28 The cycle parking 
standards for railway 
interchange are woefully 
low. 

 
 
 
 

 
11.29 It is difficult to cycle to 

the retail units from the 
housing on the north east 
side of the canal, Durrants 
Hill Road and Red Lion Lane 
are the only crossing points 
and it makes for a long 
journey.   
 

11.30 Suggested that the 
bridge at Apsley Station be 
opened up on the other side 
through the public right of 
way through the golf course 
for faster access for 
pedestrians to the manor 
estate and aspen park 

 
11.31 Bridges over London 

Road rather than numerous 
road level crossings 

 

The emerging Station Gateway Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document will 
consider this matter further in 
collaboration with key stakeholders 
including DBC, Network Rail and Abellio. 
Further information on this report will be 
found on 
www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration . 
 
The masterplan proposes a new bridge 
crossing the canal within site 4. This will 
connect to a new pedestrian and cycle 
route to London Road providing access to 
the retail units. 
 
 
 
 
Further discussion will take place with 
Network Rail on vehicle and pedestrian 
access to the stations. Whilst this is not 
currently identified as an objective, all 
development will contribute towards 
sustainable transport measures within the 
wider Two Waters area. 
 
This has not been raised by HCC as part of 
their requirements. 
 
 

P
age 470

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/regeneration


75 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

11.32 Work with local 
businesses to provide 
solutions to problems I.e. car 
sharing, improved parking 
facilities, flexi time to 
alleviate rush hour traffic 

 
 
 
11.33 Space for a church 

building around 
development sites 1-3 

 
 
 

11.34 The plans miss out many 
of the public rights of way in 
the area, this is likely to 
result in missed 
opportunities for improving 
sustainable transport links, 
particularly walking and 
cycling 

 
11.35 A 3D or virtual model 

that shows the whole 
scheme 

 
11.36 What evidence of 

housing needs is there? 
 

DBC is working with HCC to assess the 
potential for a more holistic approach to 
transport to be embedded within HCC’s 
forthcoming Growth and Transport Plan 
for South West Hertfordshire. Whilst the 
masterplan will not be able to fully resolve 
the area’s transport issues it could have a 
role in delivering elements of these 
 
This is covered under the Core Strategy 
policy CS23 which encourages the 
provision of social infrastructure (which 
includes places of worship) in accessible 
locations. 
 
Noted, the masterplan illustrates the main 
pedestrian and cyclist routes and key 
proposals for improvements. This will be 
updated to include public rights of way. 
These will be looked at in more detail at 
the next stage of the development process 
in consultation with DBC and HCC.  
 
 
 
This is unlikely to be possible as sites will 
come forward individually through the 
phasing plan and developer interest. 
 

There is a very high housing need within 
Dacorum – indicated by a current 

P
age 471



76 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11.37 The sites should not be 
considered in               
isolation from the rest 
particularly in respect of 
congestion mitigation 
 

11.38 Has due attention been 
given to flood risk in the 
areas adjacent to the canal, 
rivers and moor? 

 
11.39 How will this plan be 

funded? 
 

 
 

assessed ‘objectively assessed need’ 
(OAN) figure of 756 homes per annum 
(17,388 over the 2013-2036 period). Two 
Waters is an important strategic location 
and has the potential to accommodate 
new development that promotes a 
sustainable mix of land uses. There is 
increased pressure from national 
government to deliver increased 
numbers of housing and a specific push 
for increased density around transport 
hubs. A clear steer for increased housing 
has been reiterated in the housing White 
Paper recently published. 
 
See 11.32 
 
 
 
 
 
See EAs response under stakeholders 
 
 
 
 
It is expected that private finance will be 
necessary to bring forward the 
development opportunities. Viability and 
deliverability of potential development 

P
age 472



77 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 
 

11.40 Why have we not been 
consulted on this? 
 

11.41 Hardcopy of masterplan 
not available to purchase.  

sites have been considered and assessed 
during the preparation of the masterplan. 
 
See 11.14 
 
 
Hardcopies of the masterplan were 
available at the deposit points in Hemel 
Hempstead, Berkhamsted and Tring and at 
Hemel Hempstead library. Respondents 
were welcome to print out copies of the 
documents if they wished to do so. Hemel 
Hempstead library provides printing 
facilities and free computer access.  

P
age 473



78 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

Additional changes not covered 
in the above sections 
 

  Figure 5 will be amended to include 
views from higher lands in the 
Chilterns AONB.  
 
All references to London Midland as 
the Train Operating Company should 
be changed to West Midlands Rail 
Limited [ADD FOOTNOTE] or current 
Train Operating Company.  
 
References to heritage assets, 
heritage or heritage significance of 
assets to be changed to historic 
environment as appropriate.  
 
All references to emerging Site 
Allocations DPD to be updated (as 
covered in Schedule of Clarifications 
1.1 which supported the consultation 
document).  
 
All references to DBC’s parking 
standards in Appendix 5 of the DBLP 
will be changed to refer to current 
DBC parking guidance (as covered in 
Schedule of Clarifications 1.2 which 
supported the consultation 
document). 
 

P
age 474



79 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

In key of Figure 12: Safeguarded land 
to be changed to Safeguarded Land 
for Infrastructure.  
 
Additional wording to section 3.2, 
bullet point 22:   

 Explore lower parking 
provision to encourage use 
of sustainable travel modes. 

 

Additional wording to section 2.5.6:   
…to avoid a detrimental impact on 
surrounding streets. In doing so, 
careful consideration will need to be 
given to parking provision and its 
impact on well-designed, high quality 
public realm. 
 
Add wording to section 1.2: 
… development. The opportunities 
are focused around improving public 
transport and promoting a mix of 
housing led mixed-use development, 
which enhances the existing and 
natural environment promote public 
transport and sustainable transport 
networks to ease traffic congestion, 
supports high quality urban design… 
 
Add wording to Section 1.5: 

P
age 475



80 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

The moors, Grand Union Canal and 
the River Bulbourne provide valuable 
opportunities for recreation and 
biodiversity, whilst industrial land, 
large retail units and significant 
transport strategic, high volume 
roads infrastructure detract from 
dominate the key gateways into the 
area’s, detracting attention from its 
character and restricting walking and 
cycling movement through the car-
led environment.  
 
Reference to residential 
neighbourhoods to be changed to 
residential areas on figure 12. 
 
Additional wording to Section 3.1: 

 Impact of development on 
Roughdown Common Sites 
of Special Scientific Interest.  

 Design should seek to include 
high quality, well designed 
public open spaces and green 
infrastructure providing the 
amenities which will be 
required by future residents.  

 
Additional wording to section 2.2:  
… terraced houses at Corner Hall, 
that should be considered.  The Two 

P
age 476



81 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

Waters area is of considerable 
significance in terms of the history of 
paper manufacturing and includes 
the John Dickinson’s Frogmore Paper 
Mill, museum and ‘Paper Trail’.  
 
Additional wording to section 3.2:  

 Enhance existing historic 
environment and ensure its 
character influences the 
design and context of new 
development.  

 
Page 2 image: De-haze 
 
Section 1.4 The Masterplan Guidance 
forms part of …anticipated for 
adoption in 2019.  
 
1.6.2 Hemel Hempstead was 
developed as a ....population of 
around 94,932 87,000 ONS Census 
2011.  
 
1.6.2 The town was developed ….a 
series of districts neighbourhoods 
focussed around an existing a parade 
of shops.  
 
1.7 The adopted DBC development 
……Dacorum Core Strategy 

P
age 477



82 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

(September 2013), Site Allocations 
DPD (July 2017) and the Emerging 
Site Allocations DPD Policies  Map 
(July 2017). 
 
DBC is currently preparing…..and 
modifications (December 2016) 
DBC’s adopted Site Allocations 
Development Plan Document 
identifies….. 
 
1.7 Delete ‘new proposal’ from bullet 
points 4 & 5.  
 
1.7 DBC is also…adopting a this Plan 
in 2019.  
 
1.7 Whilst technically the adopted 
allocations ….policies and guidance. 
The aim will be to incorporate the 
aims and objectives of this planning 
statement into the new Local Plan.  
 
1.7 Whilst already ambitious….review 
of the Core Strategy (new Local Plan 
process). following completion of the 
emerging Site Allocations Local Plan  
 
1.7 Along with the need to meet 
meeting housing targets DBC will 

P
age 478



83 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

need to consider the is committed to 
the wider regeneration ……. 
 
1.7 The Two Waters Masterplan 
Guidance adopts a proactive 
approach to contribute towards 
housing need delivering the 
Borough’s housing need and manage 
managing growth in a manner …… 
Page 12 images – Change to front 
cover of Site Allocations DPD rather 
than Strategic Framework covers.  
 
2.2 There are a number of …….that 
should be considered conserved.  
 
2.4 Land having between a 1 in 100 
and 1 in 100 (2a and 2b)…. 
 
2.5 This is also compounded by the 
distance…. 
 
2.5 Whilst the towpath …… unpaved 
making it is less suitable for walking 
and cycling when it is wet or dark.  
 
ALL relevant figures  – Arrow ‘To 
Aylesbury’ change to ‘To 
Berkhamsted, Tring, Aylesbury’ 
 

P
age 479



84 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

Figure 11: Arrow adjacent to A41 
south – delete arrow sitting in the 
middle of the key. 
 
2.5.5 Parking standards are ……..DBLP 
(2004) and are contained in…..as 
residential parking standards by 
accessibility standards are specified 
specifically. These are currently being 
reviewed. The latest parking 
standards will be applicable to all 
development in the Two Waters 
area.  
 
2.5.6 Controlled Parking Zones “A” 
covers Two Waters Road while 
Controlled Parking Zone “R” covers 
and sections of London Road, 
Strandring Rise and Roughdown 
Road.  
 
2.6.1 [Residential] Given its location 
…..and develop enhance. 
 
2.6.1 [Residential] The exception to 
this would be ….where a reduced car 
parking provision near the town 
centre could be 
considered….enhanced public 
transport. 
 

P
age 480



85 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

2.6.1 [Residential] The key 
development sites ….improve values 
across the area. 
 
2.6.1 [Employment/Office] There is 
limited scope for ……office space. 
which is more likely to be ….existing 
office stock.  
 
2.6.1 [Retail and Leisure] The town’s 
retail core….with recent 
improvements to the retail offer 
planned. Including planned 
improvements to the retail and 
leisure offer.  
 
2.6.1 [Retail and Leisure] Given the 
above … increased population. 
through the new residential 
developments. 
 
2.6.1 [Retail and Leisure] The basket 
food sector….which is in contrast to 
the larger format store market.  
 
2.6.2 The viability of the 
Development Sites ….due to 
changing dynamic market 
conditions… 
 

P
age 481



86 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

3.1 [Weaknesses & Constraints] 
include new bullet point 

 Contains older parts of the 
town. 

 Existing utilities 
infrastructure and viability 
considerations around 
contamination in parts of the 
study area.  

 Impact of development on 
Roughdown Common Sites 
of Special Scientific Interest.  

 Design should seek to include 
high quality, well designed 
public open spaces and green 
infrastructure providing the 
amenities which will be 
required by future residents. 

 
3.2 [Strengths & Opportunities]  

 Established sustainable 
mixed-used development 
…….railway stations with 
more sustainable locations. 
the potential……parking 
standards.  

 Enhance the amenity of 
London Road….improving the 
Apsley high street area.  

P
age 482



87 
 

Question Summary of Respondents 
Comments 

DBC Response Proposed amendments to this 
section 

 Improve Two Waters 
Road/London Road junction 
for pedestrian/cyclists.  

 Lower parking provision 
Encourage use of sustainable 
travel modes to deliver 
modal shift.  

 
Figure 13: Clarify what the dark 
green next to Durrants Hill Rd 
represents.  
 
Include illustrations/example 
pictures representing a range of 
heights proposed in the masterplan.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 483



88 
 

Appendix B:  

Summary of Stakeholder Comments and the Council’s Responses 

This section should be read in conjunction with Section 5:  Key Consultation Themes and DBC responses which provides more detailed responses to many of 

the comments below.

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

Buckinghamshire County Council (BCC) 

 The Draft Two Waters Masterplan Guidance document does 
not specify the number of homes planned for the 
Masterplan area, so it is difficult to give specific education 
comments on the scheme at this stage. The document states 
that Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) and Hertfordshire 
County Council (HCC) will need to explore options for 
providing additional school places. BCC would take a similar 
approach and would support any future proposals that 
would enable the Borough to meet its sufficiency duty and 
not negatively impact on Buckinghamshire schools. 

 Currently a number of Bucks resident primary and secondary 
pupils attend schools in the Borough of Dacorum.  Similarly, 
a number of Dacorum resident primary and secondary pupils 
attend schools in Bucks (predominantly secondary school 
pupils). Proposed growth in both Buckinghamshire and 
Dacorum is likely to increase demand for school places and 
have an impact on education movements between the two 
areas. BCC would therefore need to consider any future 
proposal with regard to its impact on schools and residents 
in Buckinghamshire. 

 BCC would want to have further engagement with DBC in 
order to better understand the proposals for this area, 
including the number of homes planned for the Masterplan 
area; specific education provisions proposed to meet needs 

 
Noted. The Duty to Cooperate applies to 
both HCC and DBC and we are both in 
discussions over whether appropriate 
schooling provision could be made for 
proposed levels of growth.  
 
We are happy to arrange a specific 
meeting between DBC and the BCC and 
HCC to be satisfied that appropriate 
schooling provision could be made.  

 

P
age 484



89 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

generated by the Masterplan proposals; and any other 
relevant mitigation measures. 

 

CPRE Herts 

 Concerns regarding the methodology of calculating 
reference to Housing Targets.  

 Despite uncertainty about the scale of housing development 
that will be proposed in the new Local Plan in due course, 
there is little doubt that there will be great pressure for new 
housing in potential regeneration areas and other 
brownfield locations in Dacorum, in line with emerging 
Government policy. For this reason the Two Waters 
Masterplan should place greater emphasis on maximising 
the potential for construction of new dwellings within the 
Masterplan area, and this emphasis should not be limited to 
the individual development sites included in the current 
consultation. To encourage this, the guidance should set out 
minimum dwelling densities for the proposed residential-
only sites within the Masterplan area, and minimum 
dwelling targets for the mixed use areas.  

 Care should still be taken to ensure that the height and 
design of new buildings does not have a significant 
detrimental effect on residents of neighbouring properties 
and on the townscape of this part of Hemel Hempstead 
which is an important gateway to the town.  

 Concerns re traffic generated by new development and 
those developments already underway.  

 Development should consider scale, and should not damage 
the local environment, and be sustainable. 

 

 
Noted. There is very high housing need 
within Dacorum – indicated by a current 
assessed ‘objectively assessed need’ (OAN) 
figure of 756 homes per annum (17,388 
over the 2013 – 2036 period).  The new 
Local Plan process will ultimately set the 
housing target for Dacorum up until 2036.  
 
The development sites have been 
identified as being the areas which have 
the most opportunity for change within 
the Two Waters area. Detailed but flexible 
Overarching and Site Specific Guidance has 
been included in order to ensure that 
development is sensitive and appropriate 
to the local area whilst delivering the 
Vision and Objectives for Two Waters.  
 
Further consideration will be given to 
transport through transport assessments 
and borough wide modelling to support 
the new Local Plan.  
 

 

Chiltern Society     

P
age 485



90 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

 Retention and expansion of open space and green 
environment especially Boxmoor. Linking of the Boxmoor 
area more clearly with Sites 3 and 4 by providing pedestrian 
access over Two Waters Road and the opening up and 
enhancement  of the Durrants Lakes will protect this area 
and make it a more accessible amenity for all. 

 Development should be constrained by area, and the 4 
development sites are noted and should not be exceeded.  

 A key issue is the height of development, which should be 
consistent with the majority of surrounding buildings and 
should not block the skyline from the surrounding wider 
area, being Green Belt and AONB further towards the west 
and north.  

 The new residents of the proposed 6 storey housing blocks 
should be taken into account when looking at the future of 
the stations.   

 Apsley station should be retained in view of the proposed 
increase of population near to the station, most of whom 
will be commuters. 

 Transport and parking. There is a wider impact of traffic 
congestion for the borough as a whole, and this applies to 
road congestion and rail capacity. Any idea of amalgamating 
Hemel Hempstead station with Apsley must not only take 
account of Network Rail’s demands but recognise and 
address the chronic car parking shortage at these stations, 
both of which are full before 08:00am. With the increase of 
up to 9,000 new properties in the borough (Core Strategy 
indication), this will only increase because of the desirability 
of Dacorum as a commuter area. 

 A strategic plan for the changing landscape and needs of 
Dacorum with the large increase in residential development, 

Noted. The development sites have been 
identified as being those with the greatest 
opportunity for change within the Two 
Waters area. Detailed but flexible 
Overarching and Site Specific Guidance has 
been included in order to ensure that 
development is sensitive and appropriate 
to the local area whilst delivering the 
Vision and Objectives for Two Waters.  
 
There is very high housing need within 
Dacorum – indicated by a current assessed 
‘objectively assessed need’ (OAN) figure of 
756 homes per annum (17,388 over the 
2013 – 2036 period).  Two Waters is an 
important strategic location and has the 
potential to accommodate new 
development that promotes a sustainable 
mix of land uses. Maximising the potential 
for construction of new dwellings within 
more urban areas such as the Two Waters 
area serves both to concentrate 
development in strategic areas such as 
around transport hubs and town centres as 
well as to reduce the possible impact and 
loss of Greenbelt land for development.  
 
The masterplan does not propose to 
change the location of the two stations in 
Hemel Hempstead. Parking at both 
stations are in the control of Network Rail 
and the service provider and are likely to 

P
age 486



91 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

and therefore population, needs to protect all existing open 
space and should enhance and improve the open space. 

 In view of the appalling tragedy of Grenfell Tower, building 
above 6 storeys should not be considered. Local fire 
equipment will not provide the necessary cover for anything 
above this. 

 

remain commercially led.  DBC will be 
working with relevant organisations and 
departments to facilitate the provision of 
relevant infrastructure, such as car parking 
and sustainable transport provision.  
 
The emerging new Local Plan will develop 
a vision, objectives and policies for the 
whole of Dacorum up until 2036. This aims 
to balance growth needs against other 
designations, such as open spaces, Green 
Belt or AONB.  

Chilterns Conservation Board 

 The draft masterplan fails to mention that the River 
Bulbourne and River Gade are chalk streams, which are 
home to some of our most threatened plants and animals. 
The impact on the chalk stream of the development 
proposals in the Two Waters masterplan must be carefully 
assessed.  

 The Board has particular concerns about site 3 and the lower 
half of site 4. There appears to be little consideration for the 
Rivers Gade or Bulbourne. The proposal to build up to 
buildings of up to 6 storeys on what is currently floodplain 
meadow should be looked at from an ecological perspective 
as well flood risk 

 High rise building in the setting of the Chilterns AONB could 
harm the AONB. The viewpoints on Figure 5 identify two 
wider viewpoints, both from the town, and should also 
include views from higher land in the Chilterns AONB, a 
nationally protected landscape.  

 

 
Noted. If necessary, assessments will be 
undertaken for the sites as part of the pre-
app process.  These assessments will 
provide evidence on the impacts (if any) on 
flood risk, ecology, the setting of the AONB 
and other strategic considerations. DBC 
Development Management team will 
consider these assessments and consultee 
responses before determining any 
application.  

Reference to be added to section 
5.3.5 acknowledge that: 
…provide ecological 
enhancements to the east of Two 
Waters 
Road and north of London Road. 
The River Bulbourne and River 
Gade are chalk streams and 
consideration should be given to 
potential impacts upon these 
natural environments.  

Countryside Access Officer – DBC   

P
age 487



92 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

 Plans depicting the current public rights of way network 
which do not appear to have been included in the ‘Transport 
& Movement’ section of the document. 

 There is considerable scope to incorporate improvements to 
existing routes, including inevitable diversions, to improve 
sustainable transport through the study area. Ideally a non-
vehicular shared pedestrian-cycle route linking residents to 
the stations and minimising road crossings. 

 

Noted. We recognise the need for the right 
infrastructure package to help support 
employment and housing growth with 
necessary cultural change that will help 
secure a long term sustainable modal shift. 
Whilst it will not be possible for this 
masterplan to fully resolve the area’s 
transport issues alone, it should make a 
positive contribution overall to existing 
conditions for all modes of travel. The 
safeguarding of land that may be required 
for future improvements or development 
mitigation should also be considered. 

Add Public Rights of Way network 
to Transport and Movement section 
(Figure 17).  

Environment Agency 

 We agree that the moors, Grand Union Canal, River 
Bulbourne and the River Gade provide valuable 
opportunities for quality recreation and biodiversity. 

 It is essential that the quality and quantity of water in the 
environment is properly safeguarded. 

 Environment Agency would seek the implementation of 
Actions and Mitigation Measures identified in the update of 
the River Basin Management Plan 2015-2021, for the Grand 
Union Canal, Bulbourne and Gade for the extent these water 
bodies pass through the proposed development area, and 
for at least 1km upstream and downstream the area.  

 
Flood risk: General comments for all sites within the masterplan  

 Latest climate change allowances will need to be taken in to 
account for new developments.  

 Level-for-level volume-for-volume floodplain compensation 
will be required for any increased built footprint in the 1 in 

Noted. If necessary, assessments will be 
undertaken for the sites as part of the pre-
app process.  These assessments will 
provide evidence on the impacts (if any) on 
flood risk, ecology and other strategic 
considerations. DBC Development 
Management team will consider these 
assessments and consultee responses 
before determining any application. 
 
As and when firmer proposals are 
developed for these sites (either through 
detailed site master planning or planning 
applications), we would expect a flood risk 
assessments and sequential test to be 
completed and for consideration to be 
given to the existence of flood zone 
designations, the need for SuDs and buffer 
zones to aid habitat continuity.  

Reference to be added in section 
5.3: 
Consideration to be given to the 
Actions and Mitigation Measures 
identified in the River Basin 
Management Plan 2015-2021, for 
the Grand Union Canal, Bulbourne 
and Gade.   

P
age 488



93 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

100 year plus climate change floodplain, such development 
should be avoided regardless through sequential planning.  

 At least an 8 metre undeveloped buffer should be left along 
rivers, to ensure riparian habitat continuity and access for 
maintenance.  

 Any development should be supportive of ongoing river and 
floodplain restoration of the Gade and Bulbourne in the 
area, and work with catchment partnership. Developer buy-
in to improving the riparian environment, and implement 
river basin management plan 1-2km upstream and 
downstream of the site allocations.  

 
Site 1 & 2  

 We have no fluvial flood risk concerns as both these sites are 
located outside of the flood plain. 

 Site 3  

 New development may constrict the riparian corridor, as the 
site is currently mostly undeveloped green space. New 
development may reduce the habitat continuity along the 
Bulbourne and all new proposals should ensure a suitable 
natural buffer strip is proposed.  

 Flood Zones are present on site and any development will 
need to be planned sequentially to avoid development in 
highest flood risk areas.  

 Flood alleviation scheme proposed, ideally this should be a 
joined-up approach taking into account SuDS and surface 
water flood risk where possible.  

Site 4  

 Flood Zones are present on site and any development will 
need to be planned sequentially to avoid development in 
highest flood risk areas.  

P
age 489



94 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

 Flood alleviation scheme proposed, ideally this should be a 
joined-up approach taking into account SuDS and surface 
water flood risk where possible  

 

Hertfordshire County Council:  Education 
 
Further to our previous representations dated 17/11/16 and 
03/04/17, we have the following comments to make. 
Land Use – School  

 The size and number of schools required will be determined 
by the number of residential units proposed within the 
master plan area. 

 The masterplan area falls within the SE Hemel Hempstead 
primary planning area. In this area, there is a concentration 
of demand where the number of children significantly 
exceeds the number of available school places.  To help ease 
this concentration of demand, Belswain Primary was 
temporarily expanded to 2FE in 2016.  

 Although the primary forecast can only show projected pupil 
numbers up to 4 years ahead, the latest forecast shows an 
increase in demand for school places in South East Hemel as 
well as across the whole of Hemel town.  

Site 3  

 The inclusion of a potential drop off zone to serve the new 
primary school shown in site 4 is welcomed, subject to 
further feasibility studies being undertaken by DBC and HCC. 

  
Site 4 
Para 6.4.3 

 The inclusion of land to provide a 2FE primary school, 
together with open space and drop off zones is welcomed, 

Noted. The Duty to Cooperate applies to 
both HCC and DBC and we are both in 
discussions over whether appropriate 
schooling provision could be made for 
proposed levels of growth.  We will 
continue such discussions as the new Local 
Plan emerges.  
 
DBC and HCC recognise the need for the 
right infrastructure package to help 
support employment and housing growth. 
DBC is exploring external funding 
opportunities to help plan and deliver 
these vital improvements to support the 
new Local Plan. The safeguarding of land 
that may be required for future 
improvements or development mitigation 
should also be considered. 
 
 

 

P
age 490



95 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

subject to further consultation with DBC regarding proposed 
housing numbers and feasibility work. 

 

 
Hertfordshire County Council: Lead Local Flood Authority 

 Future development in the area must consider flood risk 
from all sources and the risk of flooding should minimised 
through appropriate management. As the Lead Local Flood 
Authority we will assess the drainage assessment and Flood 
Risk assessments for major planning applications.  

 A surface water drainage assessment should be carried out 
to demonstrate that the proposed development will not 
create an increased risk of flooding from surface water to 
the development site and the surrounding area. It should be 
carried out in accordance with the NPPF and the NPPG. 

 We would expect development to demonstrate that the 
surface water drainage can be managed in a sustainable 
manner, giving priority to above ground storage and source 
control. By giving preference to infiltration, then discharge 
to a watercourse thereafter to a surface water sewer.  

 Any FRA submitted to support any future planning 
applications should  demonstrate that the proposed 
drainage system can be designed to cater within the site for 
the post development surface water run-off rates and 
volumes for its lifetime and for all rainfall events up to and 
including the 1 in 100 year rainfall event + 40% allowance for 
climate change.  

 The FRA should also demonstrate that any existing areas of 
surface water flood risk can be managed within the site 
without increasing flood risk elsewhere.  

 Where it will be proposed to infiltrate, detailed assessment 
of ground conditions should be provided with groundwater 

 
Noted. Hertfordshire have commissioned a 
Water Cycle Study to better understand 
the relationship between development 
and the water environment around the 
county, by examining the potential impacts 
of future growth on the main aspects of 
the water cycle.  This considers such 
aspects on a 'local' and 'wider than local' 
level for scenarios at 2021, 2031 and 
2051.  This work has involved a number of 
different Local Authorities and 
stakeholders.  This Water Cycle Study is 
due to be completed this year and will 
form part of the new Local Plan evidence 
base for Dacorum Borough 
Council.  Further work may be necessary to 
complete a Stage 2 report, but this will not 
be known until the Stage 1 work has been 
completed. A Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment is going to be commissioned 
for Three Rivers and Dacorum which will 
also support the new Local Plan.  
 
As and when firmer proposals are 
developed for these sites (either through 
detailed site master planning or planning 
applications), we would expect a flood risk 
assessments and sequential test to be 

 

P
age 491



96 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

levels, permeability of the underlying geology, with 
infiltration tests carried out in accordance BRE Digest 365. 
The FRA should also demonstrate that there will be sufficient 
surface water quality treatment by implementing an 
appropriate amount of water quality treatment stages 
through the use of SuDS.  

 Please note there are ordinary watercourses within the Two 
Water area. Any works proposed to the ordinary 
watercourses that affect the flow within the channel will 
require the prior written consent from the Lead Local Flood 
Authority. This includes all temporary and permanent works 
such as dams, culverts, weirs etc. the Grand Union Canal is 
also classified as an Ordinary Watercourse. 

 The River Bulbourne is classified as Main River; we would 
recommend consulting the Environment Agency in matters 
relating to water quality and fluvial flooding. 

 

completed and for consideration to be 
given to the existence of flood zone 
designations or the need for SuDs, etc. 

Hertfordshire County Council: Natural, Historic and Built 
Environment Advisory Team 

 Future planning applications includes a requirement for an 
archaeological desk-based assessment. Whilst we welcome 
the inclusion of the historic environment in the list, we 
recommend that this office is consulted with regard to the 
scope of any required archaeological investigations.   

 Heritage assets should be established and this may include 
archaeological evaluation as well as a desk-based 
assessment. 

 Masterplan must consider the historic environment 
appropriately. The historic environment/heritage assets 
include both below ground archaeological remains as well as 
historic buildings, landscapes and landscape features. In this 

Noted. Planning applications will need to 
meet our local validation checklist. Where 
relevant, we will notify statutory 
consultees of applications where 
designations are known.  Weekly lists of 
live planning applications are available 
from our website.   

Add reference in paragraph 5.1.4 to  
Para 5.1.4. – Development design 
will respect the heritage 
significance of assets, … reveal their 
significance.  A similar approach 
needs to be taken with any 
archaeology.  Proposals should seek 
to identify the extent of any 
archaeological remains and give 
consideration of their significance. 

P
age 492



97 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

instance this may include (but not be limited to) the Grand 
Union Canal and any associated features/furniture.  

 Provision should also be made for the identification of 
currently unknown heritage assets and their consideration of 
their significance.  

Hertfordshire Police – Traffic Management 

 No objection. 
 

Noted.   

Historic England 

 An appreciation of the historical context of a place for which 
change is planned is of considerable importance in ensuring 
successful design.   

 The masterplan would benefit from the greater inclusion of 
historic environment into its aspirations and objectives.   

 Recommend that where the masterplan refers to ‘heritage’ 
or ‘built assets’, it instead uses the term ‘historic 
environment, in line with the accepted terminology in the 
NPPF.   

 To properly summarise the interesting and varied elements 
of the historic environment found within the Study Area, 
more content is required than referenced Grade II listed 
terraces at Corner Hall.  

 Roman period archaeological site not mentioned in site 1 
overarching summary, neither are any other listed buildings 
or (if appropriate) non-designated heritage assets. 
Recommendation is that this information and any 
accompanying imagery could be better presented if 
‘heritage’ had its own discrete section, or if the current 
combined section were enlarged to cover more than one 
page.  

Noted. The historic environment is one of 
many important factors that the objectives 
need to respond to. However, the 
objectives provide reference to the historic 
environment within objectives 4 and 7.  
 
Roman period archaeological site in site 1 
is already adequately referred to in figure 
22 and paragraph 6. 1.23.  
 
There is sufficient reference to heritage 
throughout the document.  
 
Wording changes will be made to some 
sections based on your feedback.  

Proposed change to vision:  
New development with supporting 
infrastructure will be of the highest 
design quality, …. integrates with 
existing areas. It will also 
neighbourhoods that respect and 
enhances its natural, cultural, 
historic and built assets. New 
development will encourage the 
use of and access to heritage assets 
and the historic environment, as 
well as to the countryside. 
 
References to heritage assets, 
heritage or heritage significance of 
assets to be changed to historic 
environment as appropriate.  
 
Additional wording to para 6.4.17:  
…. wind micro-climate and 
residential amenity. This would also 
include the Listed buildings on the 
edge of Corner Hall. 
 

P
age 493



98 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

 No reference to the presence of John Dickinson’s Frogmore 
Paper Mill and its existing heritage amenities, including the 
‘Paper Trail’ and museum, which are within the Study Area.  
The plan should ideally include consideration of ways in 
which this asset and its significance can be enhanced and 
better revealed as part of any new public realm or open 
space, and also the wider regeneration of the Two Waters 
area more generally. Its omission from long term planning in 
this area would be an unfortunate missed opportunity in 
terms of enhancing not only the historic character of the 
area, but also the area’s potential to attract tourism and 
foster additional economic activity.  

 We are pleased to note the masterplan’s focus on the 
improvement of the public realm and streetscape in terms of 
placemaking, as identified in section 3.2. We acknowledge 
there is a large range of building types, including those which 
are designated heritage assets, in the Study Area, as 
highlighted in Section 3.1. This diversity of form will require 
detailed consideration in any future development proposals 
in the Study Area. It is important, however, that the 
masterplan includes the Grade II* listed Snatchup End 
Cottages and other heritage assets in the area (15 Grade II 
listed buildings) as potential opportunities for enhancement 
in Section 3.2, relating future development within the Study 
Area to its historic character and context, and using that 
context to inspire successful future designs. With that in 
mind, we suggest also that section 4.1 also includes an 
aspiration to encourage the use of and access to heritage 
assets and the historic environment, as well as to the 
countryside.  

 In Section 4.2, the wording of point 7 could benefit from 
rewording along the lines of “Enhance and better reveal the 

Additional wording to section 2.2:  
… terraced houses at Corner Hall, 
that should be considered.  The 
Two Waters area is of considerable 
significance in terms of the history 
of paper manufacturing and 
includes the John Dickinson’s 
Frogmore Paper Mill, museum and 
‘Paper Trail’.  
 
Additional wording to section 3.2:  

 Enhance existing historic 
environment and ensure its 
character influences the design 
and context of new 
development.  

 
Proposed changes to section 4.2:  
Enhance and better reveal the 
importance and significance of the 
existing natural and historic 
environment in Two Waters to 
contribute positively to its sense of 
place  Enhance and Better Reveal 
Two Waters’ Heritage, Landmarks 
and Green Spaces 
 
Additional wording to section 5.1.1: 
…relationships with existing 
development. This should also 
include achieving a high quality of 

P
age 494



99 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

importance and significance of the existing natural and 
historic environment in Two Waters to contribute positively 
to its sense of place”  

 Welcome focus in Section 5.1 on ensuring high quality design 
for new buildings, recommend that equal importance is 
placed on the design quality of new public realm and 
infrastructure.  

 Section 6.0 could also make reference to Historic England’s 
Streets for All guidance 
(https://historicengland.org.uk/images-
books/publications/streets-for-all-east-of-england/) for 
public realm improvements, alongside the Manual for 
Streets and county design guidance.  

 In Section 6.3 - Site 3 under Open Space and Heritage, we 
suggest the inclusion of a requirement that new public realm 
(Numbered 4 on Figure 24) enhance the setting of the 
nearby Grade II listed Bell Inn.  

 It is well established that heritage is not just an adjunct to a 
healthy economy, it is an important component of growth 
and a source of employment. We therefore welcome the 
inclusion, in Section 7.1, of a requirement for new 
development to contribute towards delivering infrastructure 
improvements in the Two Waters area through CIL and 
Section 106. The Localism Act allows CIL to be used for the 
maintenance and on-going costs associated with a range of 
heritage assets including, for example, transport 
infrastructure such as historic bridges, green and social 
infrastructure such as historic parks and gardens, civic spaces 
and public places. Historic England encourages charging 
authorities to consider identifying the ways in which CIL, and 
S106 agreements can be used to implement local planning 
policy and proposals relating to the conservation of the 

new public realm and 
infrastructure. 
 
Additional wording to Section 6: 
Design Guidance  
…specialist service vehicles and 
lastly other motor traffic.  Historic 
England have also published Streets 
for All guidance which covers public 
realm improvements.  
 
Open space and Historic 
Environment (section 6.3.2- Design 
Guidance)  

 New public realm to enhance 
the setting of the nearby 
Grade II listed Bell Inn. 

 
Additional wording to Section 7.1: 
All development will … health 
facilities, public realm and open 
space improvements. Where 
relevant, other contributions may 
be sought, for example, in relation 
to improvements to the historic 
environment.  

P
age 495

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/streets-for-all-east-of-england/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/streets-for-all-east-of-england/


100 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

historic environment, heritage assets and their setting. This 
will help the SPD to satisfy national planning policy (NPPF 
paragraphs 6, 126 and 157).  Development specific planning 
obligations and S106 will continue to offer opportunities for 
funding improvements to and the mitigation of adverse 
impacts on the historic environment, such as archaeological 
investigations, access and interpretation, and the repair and 
reuse of buildings or other heritage assets.  

 

Lumiere Developments (landowner) 

 The draft Guidance fails to take into account the purpose for 
a Masterplan and various crucial factors which have resulted 
in flaws in numerous sections of the document. The draft 
Guidance does not discuss viability sufficiently and has failed 
to address the Vision and Objectives specified. The draft 
Guidance concludes that the proposal is viable, however no 
sufficient investigation or assessment has been conducted. 

 The Masterplan is considered to rely too greatly on existing 
routes and desire lines as opposed to holistically 
changing/removing these to create a much more vibrant 
pedestrian dominated place to live, work and travel. 

 Further detail of the proposals is required to assess possible 
reduced benefit should some of the aspirations in the draft 
Guidance not be viable or achievable. While the funding 
approach is considered most likely and most appropriate, 
the level of detail in the masterplan does not evidence its 
viability. 

 There is no formal viability report with quantitative data on 
land values, cost of construction, gross development values 
or costs of proposed highways improvements. There are a 
number of concerns regarding the assumed numbers of 
housing units, build cost and land values in the Masterplan. 

The current Masterplan Guidance 
represents what is considered an 
appropriate form of development 
balancing the variety of complex factors 
including national and local policy, 
townscape context, views and characters 
of the area, sensitive land uses and 
boundaries, the local highway network, 
viability assessments, urban designs 
principles and views expressed through the 
Steering Group and public and stakeholder 
consultation. The viability assessment 
methods adopted is standard market 
practice for documents of this nature.  
The Masterplan Guidance provides 
overarching and site specific guidance for 
development coming forward. However, 
potential developers will need to 
undertake their own further detailed 
assessments and viability work through the 
planning process as and when 
development comes forward for their own 
proposed development scheme.  

 

P
age 496



101 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

 The existing volume of traffic on the network is at capacity 
and the masterplan should have investigated wholesale 
alterations so as to remove barriers as opposed to working 
round existing infrastructure and vehicular desire lines. The 
Masterplan should go further to create a vibrant, car free 
environment.  

 There are further concerns regarding the approach to the 
transport network, traffic flow links, access to the station, 
bus routes and parking. 

 

 
As part of developing the Masterplan 
Guidance we have worked closely with 
HCC highways to ensure they have 
identified proposals to tackle short, 
medium and longer term proposals for  
Hemel Hempstead and the borough taking 
into account future longer term growth 
predictions and impacts for not only our 
borough but for South West Herts. See 
Section 5 above of the main report for 
further details on Transport and 
Movement.  
 

National Grid 

 We have reviewed the above consultation document and 
can confirm that National Grid has no comments to make in 
response to this consultation. 

 

Noted.   

Natural England 

 SSSI should be included specifically on the list of constraints. 

 Design should seek to include high quality, well designed 
public open spaces and green infrastructure providing the 
amenities which will be required by the future populace 

 Given the scale of the development, consideration should 
also be given to ecological enhancement. The site falls within 
Natural England’s Chalk and Chilterns Focus Area. The chalk 
ridge extending from the Chilterns into Hertfordshire, and 
beyond, is a fragmented landscape of chalk grasslands and 
woodland that is also locally a farmland bird ‘hotspot’. As 
well as its ancient trackways, its sites are increasingly valued 
and visited by people from expanding towns. We are looking 

Noted. The natural environment is one of 
many important factors that the Two 
Waters area need to respond to. 
 
We will make wording changes to the 
document based on your feedback.  

Additional wording to Section 3.1: 

 Impact of development on 
Roughdown Common Sites of 
Special Scientific Interest.  

 Design should seek to include 
high quality, well designed 
public open spaces and green 
infrastructure providing the 
amenities which will be 
required by future residents.  

 
Reference to be added to section 
5.3 acknowledge that: 

P
age 497



102 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

to ‘join the dots’, ensuring a connected, accessible and 
robust natural environment along this ridge.  

 The development should look to avoid impacting on chalk 
grassland and seek opportunities to increase resilience and 
connectivity where appropriate. 

 

…provide ecological 
enhancements to the east of Two 
Waters 
Road and north of London Road. 
The River Bulbourne and River 
Gade are chalk streams and 
consideration should be given to 
potential impacts upon these 
natural environments.  
Development should avoid 
impacting on chalk grassland and 
seek opportunities to increase 
resilience and connectivity where 
appropriate. The site falls within 
Natural England’s Chalk and 
Chilterns Focus Area, with the chalk 
ridge extending from the Chilterns 
into Hertfordshire.  Beyond, is a 
fragmented landscape of chalk 
grasslands, woodland, farmland and 
ancient trackways. These sites are 
increasingly valued and visited. We 
would support actions which 
enable a linking of these 
fragmented landscapes, ensuring a 
connected, accessible and robust 
natural environment along this 
ridge. 

Network Rail 
Network Rail owns, maintains, renews and enhances the railway 
infrastructure in England, Wales and Scotland.  Our comments are as 
follows:  

Noted. We will consult with Network Rail 
as part of ongoing engagement with key 
consultees, regarding projected growth 
numbers within Dacorum.  The work on 

All references to London Midland as 
the Train Operating Company 
should be changed to West 
Midlands Rail Limited.  

P
age 498



103 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

 Network Rail is supportive of the proposed draft Two Waters 
master plan consultation document where it relates to Site 1 - 
Hemel Hempstead Railway Station. We also support the 
masterplan’s vision and objectives for future development.  

 A comprehensive development as envisaged at the station would 
be subject to railway and regulatory approvals and Network 
Rail’s processes.    

 Under 6.1.4 Network Rail would wish to see some increased 
flexibility to allow for market demand.    

 Under 6.1.5 it states: “Residential parking for new residential 
development should be shared with other uses.” Network Rail 
would have concerns over any shared use of dedicated station 
parking with residential parking and will require sufficient 
parking for station customers.   

 Point 6.1.13 should allow flexibility and the ability to provide 
underground car parking should this be more appropriate than a 
multi-storey.  

 Under 6.1.14 it should be noted that Network Rail is regulated 
and any development on the site will need to ensure that 
sufficient station parking is provided to accommodate predicted 
growth.  

 It should be noted that there is reference in the document to 
London Midland as the Train Operating Company, but West 
Midlands Rail Limited has recently been awarded the franchise 
and will take over from London Midland in December 2017 for a 
period of 9 years. 

 The West Coast Main Line south has capacity issues.   

 We have projected levels of demand to 2043 to understand how 
demand may grow over time. In conclusion, future demand 
continues to increase significantly on the route, with options to 
increase capacity very limited. In the shorter term, a programme 

housing growth will be progressed through 
the new Local Plan.  To ensure implications 
on train capacity (both passenger numbers 
and parking) can be considered by 
Network Rail.  
 
Paragraph 6.1.4 refers to primarily 
encouraging smaller units as these are 
more likely to be the type of 
accommodation coming from high density, 
urban sites.  The approach would allow for 
other types of units as part of the overall 
mix.  
 
Transport Assessments should cover all 
alternative means of transport and 
consider any direct impacts upon Hemel 
Hempstead or Apsley Stations.  Mitigation 
will be sought by DBC through the planning 
application process, as appropriate.  

 
Additional wording to Section 6.1.5: 

 Residential parking for new 
residential development should 
be shared with other users. 
Although sufficient parking for 
station customers will be 
necessary.   

 
Additional wording to paragraph 
6.1.14: 
A flexible approach to the number 
of station car parking spaces should 
be adopted to balance operational 
requirements (and to 
accommodate predicted growth) 
with viability of development. 
 
Additional wording to paragraph 
6.1.13:   
Station car parking will be 
accommodated within a multi-
storey (or if viable, an 
underground) arrangement and its 
design should seek to minimise 
adverse impacts on the quality of 
the built environment. 

P
age 499



104 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

of train lengthening would help meet some of this demand but 
at the moment this is a non-committed, unfunded aspiration.  

 HS2 services are available post 2026.  We are currently working 
jointly on whether its introduction will release capacity on the 
existing rail network and if so, what this may look like.  

 Implications of development within the Two Waters area and 
train station capacity for both Stations in terms of passenger 
numbers and parking. 

 Transport Assessments should also take into account trip 
generation data at Railway Stations, including footfall at railway 
stations and consider developer contribution (either via CIL, 
S106 or unilateral undertaking) where there is increased 
numbers of customers resulting from proposals.  Location of 
proposals, accessibility and density of developments should be 
considered in relation to the railway stations within proposals. 

 

St William Homes (agent for landowner) 

 To provide greater clarity, the Council should make it very 
clear that this document once adopted will provide only 
limited material weight in decision making. The current text 
‘it should be given material consideration in the 
determination of planning applications’ should be amended 
to ‘it will provide some material consideration, although as a 
Planning Statement in the first instance (prior to the Local 
Plan review), the weight applied as material is limited’.  

 The Council should refer to ‘H/2 National Grid and 339-353 
London Road, Hemel Hempstead’ as being contained in the 
SADPD and reflect the 350 homes to be delivered on this site 
as a minimum.  The number of homes assumed is not in 
conformity with NPPF principle to emphasise delivery of 
housing on brownfield sites.  Therefore the document as it 
currently stands is inconsistent with planning policy.  We 

Noted. The Masterplanning Guidance has 
been prepared through the careful 
consideration of national and local policy, 
townscape context, views and characters 
of the area, sensitive land uses and 
boundaries, the local highway network, 
viability assessments, urban designs 
principles and views expressed through the 
Steering Group and public and stakeholder 
consultation. These will be reconsidered as 
part of the new Local Plan process.  It is 
acknowledged that at the planning 
application stage these matters will be 
explored further.  
 

All references to emerging Site 
Allocations DPD to be updated (as 
covered in Schedule of 
Clarifications 1.1 which supported 
the consultation document).  
 
All references to our parking 
standards in Appendix 5 of the 
DBLP will be changed to refer to 
current DBC parking guidance (as 
covered in Schedule of 
Clarifications 1.2 which supported 
the consultation document). 
 

P
age 500



105 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

confirm that the former gasworks site (site 2) alone is 
proposed to deliver in excess of 350 homes in line with the 
Council’s adopted Site Allocations DPD.  

 Reference to Saved Local Plan policy 10 is questioned given 
that this policy is now considered out of date. The NPPG 
states that SPD’s should build upon and provide more 
detailed advice or guidance on the policies in the Local Plan. 
The Council should carefully consider the document’s status 
and its timeframe within the context of the up to date Local 
Plan.  

 As the document provides guidance only, it is imperative 
that this is portrayed clearly throughout the document.  

 References to the Site Allocations DPD should reflect its 
status as an adopted planning document.  

 We support the intention of the residential led approach for 
the designated London Road Area and particularly support 
the last paragraph in 2.1 whereby future development will 
need to ‘create a more efficient use of land and encourage 
Two Waters to reach its full potential as a sustainable 
neighbourhood.’  

 Having undertaken a Topography Study, this shows the 
levels in Figure 5 to be inaccurate. The levels provide an 
opportunity to increase the delivery of homes making a 
more efficient use of the site.  

 The last paragraph in section 2.2.5 should include reference 
to the review of the Car Parking Standards SPD.  

 Suggested wording for section 2.5.6, paragraph 4 ‘…to avoid 
a detrimental impact on surrounding streets. In doing so, 
careful consideration will need to be given to parking 
provision and its impact on well-designed, high quality public 
realm’.  

The viability undertaken for the 
Masterplan was ‘high level’ to inform 
broad site assumptions. Detailed viability 
will need to be tested on a site by site basis 
when detailed plans are progressed.  We 
acknowledge that viability will vary for 
each site.  
 
This Masterplan (and further work being 
completed for the new Local Plan) explore 
all opportunities to make effective use of 
suitable brownfield sites and optimising 
the proposed density of development 
(aligned to para 1.39 of the Housing White 
Paper).  
 
The Masterplan will be a material 
consideration for planning applications.  Its 
status is adequately covered within section 
1.4.  This work will be progressed further 
through the emerging new Local Plan. 
Section 1.7 acknowledges that the Site 
Allocations DPD allocates the National Grid 
and 339-353 London Road site as proposal 
H/2. The Masterplan provides a flexible 
approach (as stated in paragraph 2 of 
section 6.0: Design Guidance) and does not 
specify the numbers of homes for each 
site. The number of homes proposed by 
developers will need to be justified and 
tested at the planning application stage. 
DBC will consider such proposals in the 

In key of Figure 12: Safeguarded 
land to be changed to Safeguarded 
Land for Infrastructure.  
 
Additional wording to section 3.2, 
bullet point 22:   
 Explore lower parking 

provision to encourage use of 
sustainable travel modes. 

 

Additional wording to section 2.5.6:   
…to avoid a detrimental impact on 
surrounding streets. In doing so, 
careful consideration will need to 
be given to parking provision and 
its impact on well-designed, high 
quality public realm. 

P
age 501



106 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

 The NPPF sets out a core planning principle that local 
planning policies should encourage the effective and 
efficient use of land by re-using land that has been 
previously developed. While the reference that the Two 
Waters area ‘would be better suited to a mix of apartment 
led development with a number of houses to create market 
choice’ (Section 2.6.1), wording should be included that 
emphasises the need for the Council to deliver the quantum 
of needed new homes without over reliance on Greenbelt 
land.  

 Section 2.6.1, paragraph 3 states ‘we would expect there be 
limited current market interest to any significant degree in 
residential units without dedicated parking’. The words ‘we 
would expect’ are misleading and not based on any 
evidence.  

 Our research indicates that purchasers of studio and one 
bedroom homes do not consider a parking space as being a 
requirement for sale. Text stating ‘we would expect…without 
designated parking. The exception to this would be in respect 
of development in close’ should be deleted and changed to 
‘there may be some limited market interest for a degree of 
residential units to be without dedicated parking. This would 
be dependent on type and size of a home and proximity to 
Hemel Hempstead Station where a reduced car parking 
provision near the town centre could be considered,’  

 Section 2.6.2 ‘Masterplan Guidance Viability Assessment’, 
paragraph 3 makes reference to viability analysis which has 
been undertaken to underpin provisions in the study. The 
former uses (and remediation) of the Gas Holder Site makes 
viability a key issue.  The NPPF (specifically paragraph 173) 
makes it very clear that Plans should be deliverable and have 
regard to viability; in particular, that sites should not be 

context of relevant national and local 
policy and guidance documents and site 
specific issues.    
 
 
DBLP Policy 10 is saved and is considered 
broadly consistent with NPPF.  Its objective 
to secure sustainable development is 
applicable in this instance. 
 
Figure 5 is based upon Ordnance Survey 
mapping and is accurately reflected across 
the Two Waters Area.  
 
The Masterplan seeks to guide growth over 
broad areas of development opportunity. 
We acknowledge that in reality parcels of 
individual sites may come forward (as per 
Proposal H/2 in the Site Allocations DPD).  
The 123 list is based on information 
available at the time the CIL was adopted. 
We accept that the CIL will need to be 
updated, particularly as we progress a new 
Local Plan.  
 
While the wording in the vision has 
changed (since the earlier version), the 
commitment in the Masterplan to 
residential led mixed use development 
remains.  
 

P
age 502



107 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

subject to policy burdens that threaten viably. The design 
aspirations for the Site 2 (including height guidance) are 
considered to be unduly prescriptive, would hinder viability 
and ultimately the delivery of homes on the site.  

 We consider the viability evidence to have a number of 
flaws:  

 An assumption that all units will be 105 sq.m.  
 The applied density is considered too low for a 

centrally located brownfield site (the lowest density 
of all the sites).  

 An allowance of £5m has been made for abnormal 
costs for Site 2. We anticipate that this figure will be 
significantly higher, especially as high pressure gas 
infrastructure will need to be re-provided within the 
site.  

 Build costs are considered to be low given the 
emphasis we place on good place-making and 
landscape led development.  

 Welcome last paragraph in section 2.6.2 referencing viability, 
although this should be reference alongside the need to 
maximise and make best use of brownfield land.  

 The weaknesses and constraints (section 3.1) are generally 
supported including reference to ‘the contamination in parts 
of the study area’.  However previous text noted ‘the 
southern part of the Study area and its impact on 
development viability’. This text should be reinstated given 
the unique characteristics and constraints of regenerating a 
former gasworks site.  

 Figure 12: suggested that this wording is altered to 
‘Safeguarded Land for Infrastructure’.  

 Contribution made by brownfield sites to DBC’s 5 year 
housing land supply could be emphasised.  

The statement in section 2.6.1 only seeks 
to reflect the common approach that the 
majority of new homes are provided with 
dedicated parking. There are very few 
examples of car free development in the 
Borough. If lower (or no parking) is to be 
pursued then this will need to be justified 
in each case.     
 
The 2nd paragraph in Section 2.6.1 refers to 
a mix of apartment led development with a 
number of houses.  The approach in 
section 6.2.1 is consistent with this. 
  
We acknowledge the need to check the 
building heights mentioned for sites/areas 
to ensure consistency across the 
Masterplan (figures 16, 19 and 23 and 
paragraphs 5.1.5 – 5.1.10).  

P
age 503



108 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

 Bullet points 4 and 22 referring to lower parking provisions 
are fully supported, although are contradicted in other areas 
of the document.  

 Figure 13: Site 2 should be split into two individual sites so 
that the Masterplan fully accords to the Site Allocations DPD.  

 The proposed vision (section 4.1) differs to the first draft of 
the masterplan which stated the Council’s commitment to 
achieving a ‘thriving well connected sustainable 
neighbourhood’. This has been replaced with: ‘Two Waters 
area will become vibrant mixed use neighbourhoods’. It 
should be clear that the neighbourhoods will be residential 
led regeneration in line with Objective 3.  

 We are in general support with the objectives set out in the 
Document.  In relation to Objective 3 (‘Provide Residential-
led Mixed Use Development’), it is suggested that further 
emphasis is placed on the actual delivery of housing 
numbers (aligning to the Site Allocations DPD). This appears 
to conflict with the overall Vision to deliver ‘’vibrant mixed 
use neighbourhoods’.  

 Section 5.0 (Overarching Guidance) states that ‘the guidance 
ensures that ‘a range of development forms can be 
accommodated’; however, section 5.1 and section 6 is overly 
prescriptive and would not allow for this.  

 Text contained in 5.1.5, 5.1.6 and 5.1.8 unduly restrict the 
study area up to 6 storeys and that any level above G+2 to 
be set back. This blanket approach across contradicts text set 
out in 5.1.7 and 5.1.9, which references a mix of building 
forms and references the benefit made from the varied 
topography of the area. The approach is contrary to the Site 
Allocations DPD (350 homes), does not take into account 
specific constraints or opportunities of individual sites or 
consider viability matters.  A more bespoke approach to 

P
age 504



109 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

heights and a flexible height strategy should be considered. 
Wording relating to the need for full views analysis and could 
be added to the guidance document itself.  

 Figure 16 sets out a predominant 3 storey ‘limit’ across the 
former gas works site which is contrary to paragraphs 5.1.5 – 
5.1.10 and is not justified. The approach to heights as set out 
in figure 19 is unduly onerous.  No evidence of the viewpoint 
positions has been given, nor has any TVIA been undertaken.  

 We fully support the encouragement of more sustainable 
forms of transport (section 5.2). Reference should be made 
to any infrastructure already included in the Council’s CIL 
Regulation 123 List.   

 We fully support the flexible approach in paragraph 4 of 
page 52. However, the flexibility highlighted here contradicts 
provisions as set out earlier in the document.  

 Paragraph 6.2.1 states that development will comprise a 
variety of 1-4 bedroom houses and apartments. This is 
contrary to paragraph 2.6.1 which emphasis the need for 
flatted developments. It is suggested that wording within 
6.2.1 reflects a steer to flatted development. This should 
refer to the abnormal costs associated with the 
redevelopment of site 2 and to its former use and issues 
concerning site viability.  

 Figure 23 shows a predominant height of 4 storeys across 
the site and a small area indicating heights of 6 storeys.  
There is no specific regard to varying levels/topography on 
site 2. This Plan should suggest heights are indicative and 
subject to full site and design analysis as part of the planning 
application process.  There are a number of discrepancies 
within Figure 23 including:  

P
age 505



110 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

 The proposed railway buffer zone is misleading and 
located in the wrong place – it should be adjacent to 
the railway.  

 The indication of Public Open Space at ‘12’ should be 
changed to ‘Green Corridor’  

 Safeguarded Land needs to be re-labelled to 
‘Safeguarded Land for Infrastructure’.  

 Proposed vehicular route running west to east 
through the site is questioned.  

 There is no evidence to uphold established 
viewpoints across Site 2.  

 

Thames Water 

 Thames Water requires further information on the scale and 
phasing of development in order to understand the potential 
impact on their processes and the sewerage network. As 
such Thames Water are keen to work with the Council to 
advise on waste water infrastructure issues as more 
information becomes available 

 The developments demand for sewage treatment and 
sewerage network infrastructure both on and off site and 
can it be met 

 The surface water drainage requirements and flood risk of 
the area and downstream and can it be met. 

 

 
Hertfordshire have commissioned a Water 
Cycle Study to better understand the 
relationship between development and 
the water environment around the county, 
by examining the potential impacts of 
future growth on the main aspects of the 
water cycle.  This considers such aspects 
on a 'local' and 'wider than local' level for 
scenarios at 2021, 2031 and 2051.  This 
work has involved a number of different 
Local Authorities and stakeholders.  This 
Water Cycle Study is due to be completed 
this year and will form part of the new 
Local Plan evidence base for Dacorum 
Borough Council.  Further work may be 
necessary to complete a Stage 2 report, 
but this will not be known until the Stage 1 
work has been completed.  
 

 

P
age 506



111 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

Thames Water and DBC are in discussions 
over whether appropriate levels of 
infrastructure could be made for the 
proposed levels of growth.  We will 
continue such discussions as the new Local 
Plan emerges. 

The Box Moor Trust (landowner) 

 Concerns over use of plot ratios rather than numbers of 
homes proposed per site 

 Concern over proposed inclusion of active frontages within 
Sites 3 and 4 do not represent a financial viable proposition.  
Consideration should instead focus on how best to develop 
these frontages for residential use. 

 Further consideration should be given to expanding existing 
primary schools.  Costs should be accounted for within 
viability assessments.  

 The canal, the railway and the A41 bypass have already 
taken large chunks of the Trust's land over the centuries and 
we are understandably worried about discussion on road 
widening on Two Waters Rd and the London Rd. 

 The Trust land is at the core of a cohesive approach to the 
future of Two Waters gateway and the Board is, within 
reason, enthusiastic to help see the Council's vision 
achieved. In terms of our long term sustainability, the Plan 
process conclusions are crucial to us. This latest information, 
if studied carefully, seems to suggest that construction 
height and housing unit projections on our land at B&Q and 
at Two Waters East might substantially affect the 
development potential and attraction for housing, especially 
if we provide 35% social housing. As an organisation with the 
wellbeing of our 100,000 residents at heart we might be in a 
position to help achieve local targets and thus give local 

Noted. The Masterplan will be a material 
consideration for planning applications.  
This work will be progressed further 
through the emerging new Local Plan, 
which will seek to carry forward relevant 
principles and allocate development sites. 
The Masterplan provides a flexible 
approach (as stated in paragraph 2 of 
section 6.0: Design Guidance) and does not 
specify the numbers of homes for each 
site. The number of homes proposed by 
developers will need to be justified and 
tested at the planning application stage. 
DBC will consider such proposals in the 
context of relevant national and local 
policy and guidance documents and site 
specific issues.    
 
Securing active frontages at ground level is 
accepted as good practice urban design 
principles. It is likely that we would seek 
flexibility over the type of uses to ensure 
they appeal to the market.  
 
It is important that there are sufficient 
school places to accommodate new 

 

P
age 507



112 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

young people a chance to find housing, but the current 
allocation of units may not swing the balance from 
commercial rent potential to housing rent potential. We 
would hope that the distribution of building heights and 
numbers will be more flexible because, at present, this new 
information suggests that the Old Gasworks site and the 
northern end of Two Waters Rd may have a better 
development potential.  

 

development. We will be guided by 
ongoing advice from the County Council 
regarding how best to meet future school 
needs, be this expanding existing schools 
or providing new schools.  
 
The Masterplans does not envisage any 
significant new road schemes. We would 
anticipate that these would generally 
involve junction/capacity improvements to 
the local road network and some new 
pedestrian/cycle routes. We will be guided 
by advice from the County Council on the 
requirements for and nature of these 
improvements.  
 

Boxmoor & District Angling Society (tenants on Durrants Hill Lakes, 
leased by DBC) 
(also received from Michael Heylin) 

 Timing of consultation clashes with ‘summer holidays’ which 
is not best practice. Interested parties unable to respond in 
limited time period. 

 Questions have been phrased to obtain positive responses.  

 Two Waters area has its own special character with diverse 
natural wildlife structures to the area, from open moors, 
unused land to mixed waterscapes. The Council should be 
seeking to protect this special environment (section 1.2).  

 Most traffic though Apsley is going to or from the retail parks 
and small industrial estates on which many small businesses 
start, grow and develop. These retail parks draw footfall 
away from the traditional shopping area of Hemel 
Hempstead.  

Noted. Our Statement of Community 
Involvement sets out how the Council will 
consult on planning policy documents. 
Where possible we exceed these 
requirements with the aim of engaging and 
receiving resident’s views. For 
masterplans, we would normally consult 
for at least 4 weeks but this was extended 
to 6 weeks to account for the summer 
holidays.  
 
The Local Planning Framework 
(predominantly made up of the 2004 Local 
Plan, Core Strategy and Site Allocations 
DPD) seeks to identify and protect areas 
with special character in Dacorum. The 

Add wording to section 1.2: 
… development. The opportunities 
are focused around improving 
public transport and promoting a 
mix of housing led mixed-use 
development, which enhances the 
existing and natural environment 
promote public transport and 
sustainable transport networks to 
ease traffic congestion, supports 
high quality urban design… 
 
Add wording to Section 1.5: 
The moors, Grand Union Canal and 
the River Bulbourne provide 
valuable opportunities for 

P
age 508



113 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

 In the planning context (section 1.7), there is no planning 
guidance for developments with proximity to waterways, 
rivers and canals. 

 The Study Area (section 1.5) includes no evidence to justify 
that industrial land, large retail units and significant 
transport infrastructure detract from the area’s character 
and restrict movement.  Apsley retailing (and industrial 
units) is supported by large weekly shops or purchases of 
high value items, which will continue to support the use of 
private transport. Queuing along London Road is associated 
with travel to the retail parks.  

 Planning decisions in recent developments have restricted 
off road parking allocation causing on road parking issues. 
Parking standards lead to on street and footpath parking. 
North End Farm is an example where this occurs.  Durrants 
Hill car park is rarely busy, although public parks on street in 
locality. Suggestion to consider free off street parking.  

 Regional and local context - the Two Waters area refers to 2 
distinct community areas. Original industrial areas (Apsley 
and Maylands) have been encroached by residential 
development and these do not make good places to live. 
Housing targets should not ‘trump’ good place making.  

 Site 2 (National Grid site) is seriously impregnated by 
pollutants.  

 The area is not made up of neighbourhoods, Two Waters, 
Apsley and Boxmoor are separate distinct areas. Early 
recognition of the differing needs of Apsley and Boxmoor 
may result in an improved vision for the two areas and 
better outcomes. 

 Proposed primary school site is not ideal location – next to 
wildlife zone and subject to regular flooding. Negatively 

Two Waters Master Plan provides more 
local guidance to these overarching policy 
documents.  To ensure comprehensive 
development occurs, further site specific 
masterplans may be progressed to support 
the new Local Plan.  
 
Planning applications are determined 
against the Councils adopted parking 
standards (currently in Appendix 5 of the 
2004 Local Plan).  These will be updated 
through revised parking standards.  
 
DBC Development Management team 
consult the EA, Canal and River Trust and 
Hertfordshire County Council (as the Lead 
Local Flood Authority) as and when 
necessary (as prescribed by national 
legislation). This will include when 
developments are in a defined proximity to 
waterways, rivers and canals; within flood 
zones 2 or 3 or are major development 
with surface water drainage. Some 
proposals will be required to submit a 
drainage strategy as part of the planning 
application process.  
 
We recognise that on street parking is 
occurring within the area, parking 
restrictions can be used to alleviate 
commuter parking in residential areas. Car 
parking charges or levels of car parking 

recreation and biodiversity, whilst 
industrial land, large retail units and 
significant transport strategic, high 
volume roads infrastructure detract 
from dominate the key gateways 
into the area’s, detracting attention 
from its character and restricting 
walking and cycling movement 
through the car-led environment.  
 
Reference to residential 
neighbourhoods to be changed to 
residential areas on figure 12. 
Remove wording from section 4.1 
(vision): 
The masterplan area’s 
neighbourhoods will celebrate 
 
Change wording on page 48:  
Create gathering space that can 
become the areas neighbourhood’s 
heart. 
 
Change wording on section 6.2, site 
2: 
A new walkable green residential 
area neighbourhood 
 
Change wording on section 6.3, site 
3: 
A new waterside residential area 
neighbourhood 

P
age 509



114 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

impacts on Sunnyside Rural Trust. The site has flooded twice 
in the last 7 years.  

 Existing employment opportunities alongside railway line are 
there as it is unsuitable for family housing (due to noise and 
pollution).  

 Built development should not dominate existing landscapes 
as light pollution can affect waterscapes and open spaces, 
therefore damaging the environment for wildlife.  

 Durrants Hill Lakes to be used by 1st Apsley Scouts for water 
based recreation and there are plans to run water sports, 
angling coaching and educational courses (so value as an 
ecological facility).  

 EA confirm that the canal poses a flood risk in the area. EA 
flood maps not reflective of flooding on the ground. The risk 
of flooding on these sites is directly associated with rainfall 
and the amount of water falling on and stored in the chalk 
aquifers of the hills at Bennetts End and the maintenance of 
the flood relief channel to prevent flooding of London Road 
Apsley. The abstraction regime reduces river flows 
considerably (so no serious flood since 1950/51). 

 The flood step weir at Durrants Hill Lakes is inaccessible 
(located within EA’s locked gates) which has resulted in a 
succession of floods. The weir collects excess water from the 
River Gade and diverts it into a flood relief channel heading 
towards Kings Langley lake. Thames Water has the main 
flood drain under the town and the Kings Langley Lake listed 
on its asset register but not the Durrants Hill system. The 
Council has failed to encourage Thames Water to take 
responsibility of the structure.  The town drain design needs 
modification to avoid under capacity, with more extreme 
weather events forecast.  

provided at the stations car parks are 
commercially led decisions which planning 
has limited, if any, influence over. 
 
There is very high housing need within 
Dacorum – indicated by a current assessed 
‘objectively assessed need’ (OAN) figure of 
756 homes per annum (17,388 over the 
2013 – 2036 period).  The new Local Plan 
process will ultimately set the housing 
target for Dacorum up until 2036.  
 
We recognise that site 2 has contamination 
issues which will need to be resolved.  
 
A decision on the future use of the nursery 
site will be made at a later stage following 
the outcome of DBC and HCC’s discussions 
regarding new school places. Any 
development coming forward would need 
to go through the appropriate assessments 
and consultations during the planning 
process. DBC and HCC will undertake 
further assessments and feasibility studies 
regarding the educational provision. The 
Masterplan allows for flexibility on this.  
 
If necessary, assessments will be 
undertaken for the sites as part of the pre-
app process.  These assessments will 
provide evidence on the impacts (if any) on 
flood risk, ecology and other strategic 

 
Change wording on section 6.4, site 
4: 
A new mixed use town centre area 
neighbourhood 
 
 

P
age 510



115 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

 Tow paths are an asset of the Canal and River Trust. Hard 
surfacing of the pathways is not wanted by boaters, but 
surfacing is not designed for speed and volume of cyclists.  

 Support recognition that frequency of service can be a 
limiting factor to use of public buses. Education campaigns 
and signing on rear of buses can aid bus timetables/ 
frequency through reduced wait times to re-join traffic 
flows.  

 Increasing the capacity at the stations for parking will reduce 
commuter parking in Boxmoor and Corner Hall. This limits 
opportunity public can make to visit the moor.  

 If the Council invest in the public realm, this will encourage 
business people to make the necessary investments in 
service provision. DBC spend on capital structures, but do 
not hold the revenue to maintain these structures. This will 
affect landowners and leaseholders willingness for such 
structures on their land – as the responsibility for and 
maintenance of the structures should be provided by DBC.  

 The land to the east of Two Waters Road and north of 
London Road holds one of the last remaining areas of wet 
woodland in Hertfordshire.  No doubt it could be visually 
improved but it would then cease to be wet woodland, 
provide the habitats which are in existence and feed the 
surrounding area with wildlife.  Successive inspections and 
surveys by conservationists, Herts & Middlesex Wild Life 
Trust and the council’s own contractors have highlighted the 
importance of this ecological feature.  

considerations. DBC Development 
Management team will consider these 
assessments and consultee responses 
(such as the Environment Agency) before 
determining any application. The Council 
plans to produce a Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment to support the emerging new 
Local Plan. Concerns over the accuracy of 
the EA’s flood mapping have been brought 
to the attention of the EA by DBC.  
Concerns can be raised directly with the EA 
as well, to understand if further work can 
be undertaken to improve its accuracy.  
 
The environmental impact of new exterior 
lighting will often be a material planning 
consideration for planning applications. 
Appendix 8 of the 2004 Local Plan details 
these key considerations. Other interested 
parties are able to raise their concerns 
over as light pollution and its effect on 
wildlife in waterscapes and open spaces as 
part of any planning application.  
 
EA are trying to establish ownership of the 
flood step weir at Durrants Hill Lakes.  
 
The Council has committed to investments 
in the public realm in Hemel Hempstead, 
examples include the Watergardens, 
Maylands Avenue, Phoenix Gateway 
sculpture at Maylands, the Old Town and 

P
age 511



116 
 

Comments received from Stakeholders DBC response Proposed changes to Master Plan 

improvements to the Marlowes pedestrian 
shopping area.  S106 and CIL can be used 
for public realm improvements. Such 
regeneration projects require supportive 
landowners and an overarching plan for 
change.  
 
Planning permission has been granted for 
part of site 3 which sets a precedent for 
further development in that area.  

 

P
age 512



117 
 

Appendix C: Copy of the Questionnaire 

P
age 513



118 
 

  

P
age 514



119 
 

  

P
age 515



120 
 

  

P
age 516



Report for: Cabinet

Date of meeting: 27 March 2018

PART: 1

If Part II, reason:

Title of report: Senior Officer Pay Policy 

Contact: Cllr Neil Harden – Portfolio Holder for Residents and 
Corporate Services.

Author/Responsible Officers:
Sally Marshall – Chief Executive
Robert Smyth – Assistant Director (Performance, People & 
Innovation)
Matthew Rawdon – Group Manager (People and Performance)
(Anne Stunell – HR and OD Team Leader)

Purpose of report: To set the Council’s pay policy for the financial year 2018/19, 
as required by Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011.

Recommendations (1) That Cabinet recommend Council to adopt the Pay Policy 
for 2018/19 as set out in appendix 1 to this report.

(2) That Cabinet agree that any amendments to the Pay Policy 
throughout the financial year 2018/2019 which are required 
as a result of legislative changes can be approved by the 
Chief Executive in conjunction with the Council’s Monitoring 
Officer. 

Corporate 
objectives:

The Council’s policies in respect of pay and terms and 
conditions support all five of the Council’s strategic objectives 
as part of ensuring that services to the community can be 
delivered to the required standards and with due regard to 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness

AGENDA ITEM:  
SUMMARY

Page 517

Agenda Item 8



Risk Implications There needs to be a robust procedure in place to ensure 
transparency of information and equality in staffing costs and 
remuneration.

Equalities 
Implications

The Pay Policy Statement adheres to national guidance on 
pay equality.

Health And Safety 
Implications

No implications from this report.

Monitoring 
Officer/S.151 
Officer Comments

Monitoring Officer:   

The Pay Policy Statement meets the Council’s statutory 
requirements under Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 and is 
therefore suitable for approval by Cabinet and Council.

S.151 Officer

No further comments to add to the report.

Consultees: Sally Marshall (Chief Executive)

Background 
papers:

Pay Policy Statement 2018/19

Openness and accountability in local pay: Draft guidance 
under section 40 of the Localism Act (CLG, November 2011) 

Localism Act 2011: local government senior officer pay 
accountability Impact assessment (CLG, November 2011)

The Code of Recommended Practice for Local Authorities on 
Data Transparency (CLG, September 2011)

The Local Government Transparency Code 2014 

DBC Employee Handbook

Glossary of 
acronyms and any  
other abbreviations 
used in this report:

HR – Human Resources

FTE – Full Time Equivalent (employee)

EIS – Employee Information System

Appendices Appendix 1 – Pay Policy Statement 2018/2019

Appendix 2 – Election fees for 2018/2019 (points 2 to 8 
inclusive are relevant to the pay policy where applicable)

Appendix 3 – Gender Pay Gap figures and narrative

Page 518



Background

1. Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 (‘The Act’) requires local authorities in 
England to prepare, approve and publish a pay policy statement. The 
statement must detail the authority’s own policies towards a range of issues 
relating to the pay of its workforce, particularly its senior staff (‘Chief Officers’, 
as defined in the Act) and its lowest paid employees.

2. The pay policy statement must be prepared for each financial year. As soon 
as reasonably practicable after approving the statement it must be published 
in such manner as the Council thinks fit, which must include publication on 
the Council’s website.

3. Specifically, the Act requires the publication of a pay policy statement for 
each financial year which must set out the authority’s policies for the financial 
year relating to:

 the remuneration of its chief officers
 the remuneration of its lowest-paid employees, and
 the relationship between:

(i) the remuneration of its chief officers, and

(ii) the remuneration of its employees who are not chief officers.

4. The statement must also provide:

 the definition of “lowest-paid employees” and the authority’s reasons for 
adopting that definition, and

 a statement on the Council’s policies relating to:

(i) the level and elements of remuneration for each chief officer

(ii) remuneration of chief officers on recruitment

(iii) increases and additions to remuneration for each chief officer

(iv) the use of performance-related pay for chief officers

(v) the use of bonuses for chief officers

(vi) the approach to the payment of chief officers on their ceasing 
to hold office under or to be employed by the authority, and

(vii) the publication of and access to information relating to 
remuneration of chief officers.

5. In respect of item (vi), the Council currently has no defined approach to the 
payment of chief officers on ceasing to hold office, and no statement is, 
therefore, made in the report in relation to this.

Page 519



6. It remains the case that each local authority is an individual employer in its 
own right and has the autonomy to make decisions on pay that are 
appropriate to local circumstances and which deliver value for money for local 
tax payers. The Act only requires that authorities are more open about local 
pay policies and how their local pay decisions are made. It is not necessary to 
specify actual pay rates or terms and conditions. It also means that future 
decisions by a local authority relating to the pay and conditions of its chief 
officers must comply with the authority’s approved pay policy statement.

7. Guidance relating to the statement of Pay Policy and related guidance on 
transparency make recommendations arising from the Hutton Review of Fair 
Pay in the Public Sector (final report published March 2011). 

8. Members should also note that the Council is also required to publish, under 
the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011:

 the number of employees whose remuneration in that year was at least 
£50,000, and

 details of remuneration and job title of certain senior employees whose 
salary is at least £50,000.

9. In addition, under the Local Government Transparency Code 2014, the 
Council is required to publish a list of responsibilities (including the service 
and functions they are responsible for, budget held and number of staff) for 
senior employees whose salary exceeds £50,000.

10. The Council is not required to include the information referred to in 
paragraphs 8 and 9 in its Pay Policy Statement, but it is required to place the 
information on its website.

11. The Senior Officer Pay Policy also includes a schedule of election fees as 
referred to in paragraph 8 of the Policy.

12. The statutory Gender Pay gap statistics forms part of the pay policy 
(Appendix 3).  This has been reported on the government website, with 
further narrative.  The narrative will also be available on the Council’s 
website.

Recommendations

13 That Cabinet recommend Council to adopt the Pay Policy for 2018/19 as set 
out in appendix 1 to this report.

14 That Cabinet agree that any amendments to the Pay Policy throughout the 
financial year 2018/2019 which are required as a result of legislative changes 
can be approved by the Chief Executive in conjunction with the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer.

Page 520



Dacorum Borough Council Appendix 1

Pay Policy Statement 2018/2019 

1 Background

1.1 Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 (‘The Act’) requires local authorities in 
England to prepare, approve and publish a pay policy statement. The 
statement must detail the authority’s own policies towards a range of issues 
relating to the pay of its workforce, particularly its senior staff (‘chief officers’) 
and its lowest paid employees. This statement has been produced in line with 
the Local Government Transparency Code 2014.

1.2 The pay policy statement must be prepared for each financial year. As soon 
as reasonably practicable after approving the statement it must be published 
in such manner as the Council thinks fit, which must include publication on 
the Council’s website.

1.3 It remains the case that each local authority is an individual employer in its 
own right and has the autonomy to make decisions on pay that are 
appropriate to local circumstances and which deliver value for money for local 
taxpayers. The Act only requires that authorities are more open about local 
pay policies and how their local pay decisions are made. It is not necessary to 
specify actual pay rates or terms and conditions. It also means that future 
decisions by a local authority relating to the pay and conditions of its chief 
officers must comply with the authority’s approved pay policy statement. 

2 Pay Policy Principles

2.1 The provisions of the Act confirm the government’s commitment to increase 
openness about how taxpayers’ money is used, bringing together the 
principles of increasing accountability, transparency and fairness in the 
setting of local pay.

2.2 The Hutton Review of Fair Pay in the Public Sector (final report published 
March 2011) confirmed the government’s decision to promote pay fairness in 
the public sector by reducing the gap between the lowest and highest paid in 
public sector organisations.

2.3 The Act requires Councillors to take a greater role in determining pay, 
ensuring that decisions are made by those who are directly accountable to 
local people. In addition, they must ensure that policies on the pay and 
reward of the most senior staff are set clearly within the context of the pay of 
the wider workforce.

3 Scope of Dacorum Borough Council Pay Policy Statement

3.1 The Council’s definition of a senior manager for the purposes of this policy 
statement is: Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service), Corporate Directors and 
Assistant Directors. The term ‘Chief Officer’ relates to the Chief Executive and 
Corporate Directors only.

Page 521



3.2 Council staff are employed under terms and conditions contained in the 
National Joint Council (NJC) for Local Government Services National 
Agreement on Pay and Conditions of Service. However, these are subject to 
a number of local agreements including a local agreement on remuneration. 
The following roles form the Council’s Corporate Management Team:

 Chief Executive
 Corporate Director (Finance and Operations) (S151 Officer)
 Corporate Director (Housing and Regeneration)
 Assistant Director (Finance and Resources)
 Assistant Director (Housing)
 Assistant Director (Neighbourhood Delivery)
 Assistant Director (Planning, Development and Regeneration)
 Assistant Director (Performance People and Innovation) 
 Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer.

4 Senior Officer Salary Ranges

4.1 During 2009 and 2010, the Council undertook a Strategic Re-alignment 
programme, in which all senior posts (Group Manager level and above) were 
evaluated using the Local Government Employers (LGE) senior management 
evaluation scheme. This is a nationally recognised methodology, 
benchmarked by the LGE against other local authorities, taking into account 
local factors.  

4.2 Continuing from this, the Council has developed its own job evaluation 
scheme. Each grade is then matched to a prescribed salary range.  Each 
salary range has 3 incremental points. Increments are awarded annually in 
April, linked to the achievement of satisfactory performance. There are 
specific Chief Officer pay bands for the Corporate Directors and for the Chief 
Executive. These have 5 points within each band. 

4.3 The senior management job evaluation scheme can only be applied to posts 
below Group Manager level in very exceptional circumstances. This is subject 
to the recruiting manager being able to demonstrate to the satisfaction of 
Chief Officer Group (COG) that the role is comparable to that of Group 
Manager in terms of any specialist skills and/or leadership qualities that are 
required and the significant importance of the post to the Council.  

4.4 As at February 2018, the ratio between the pay of the highest paid officer and 
the median salary of staff is 5.5:1. The ratio was 5.6:1 last year. 

5 Remuneration Package

5.1 As well as basic salary, all senior managers are entitled to specific terms of 
employment, as set out in the following paragraphs.

Page 522



5.2 Annual Leave

5.3 The leave year begins on the 1st April each year and ends on the following 
31st March. Annual leave entitlement varies, dependent on spinal column 
point (SCP), length of local government service and the number of days 
contracted to work each week (see Table 1 below). Chief Officer leave 
allowances refer to the Chief Executive and Corporate Directors.

Page 523



Table 1: Annual leave entitlements

Working 1 day per 
week

Working 2 days per 
week

Working 3 days per 
week

Working 4 days per 
week

Working 5 days per 
week

Service in Years Service in Years Service in Years Service in Years Service in Years
Spinal 

Column 
Point

<5 5 to < 
10

10 & 
10+

<5 5 to 
<10

10 & 
10+

<5 5 to 
<10

10 & 
10+

<5 5 to 
<10

10 & 
10+

<5 5 to 
<10

10 & 
10+

Up to 12 4.5 5.5 5.5 9 11 11 14 16 16 18.5 21.5 21.5 23 27 27
13 to 21 4.5 5.5 5.5 9 11 11 14 16 17 18.5 21.5 22.5 23 27 28
22 to 28 5 5.5 6 10 11 11.5 15 16 17.5 20 21.5 23 25 27 29
29 to 40 5 5.5 6 10.

5
11 11.5 15.5 16 17.5 21 21.5 23 26 27 29

41 & above 
(Assistant 
Directors)

6 6 6.5 11.
5

11.5 13 17.5 17.5 19 23 23 25.5 29 29 32

Chief 
Officers

6.5 6.5 7 13 13 14 19 19 21 26 26 28 34 34 37

P
age 524



2018/2019

5.4 Cars

5.5 From 1st April 2018 the lease car scheme has been replaced by a car salary 
sacrifice scheme. This is open to all eligible employees.

5.6 From 1st April 2018 the three essential car user allowances will be 
discontinued. Previous eligible staff roles will receive a consolidated increase 
in their pay equivalent to this amount (with adjustments for additional pension 
contributions).

5.7 All Chief Officers and all employees whose posts are Band 11 or above are 
eligible for a lease car allowance*. Chief or Senior Officers are paid a lease 
car allowance lump sum See Table 2 below:

Table 2:  Chief Officer and senior officer car allowance 

Band point Miles. Car Band Amount p.a.
34 to 46 N/A 1 £2,550
34 to 46 Over 2000 per year 2 £3,200
34 to 46 Over 4000 per year 3 £3,750
47 to 72 N/A 3 £3,750
Corporate Directors N/A 4 £4,600
Chief Executive N/A 5 £4,800

 
* Lease car allowances will be consolidated into basic pay as of October 2020, so 
lease car payments to staff will no longer exist beyond this date.  

5.8 All employees are also eligible for a Council Car Loan, with interest being 
charged at the HMRC official rates.

5.9 All car business mileage for senior officers can be claimed at a locally agreed 
rate, currently 21p per mile.  

5.10 Sick Pay

5.11 As part of its responsibility towards its employees the Council has 
arrangements for ensuring that employees who are unable to work for a 
limited period for reasons of illness do not suffer additional hardship through 
loss of earnings. These payments are restricted and at the end of the defined 
the period the entitlement to occupational sick pay ceases. The periods of 
entitlement to occupational sick pay are related to length of service and apply 
to all employees, as shown in table 3.

Page 525



2018/2019

Table 3: Occupational sick pay periods 

Length of continuous service Amount of sick pay

During 1st year of service 1 month’s full pay & (after completing 4 
months’ service) 2 months’ half pay

During 2nd year of service 2 months’ full pay & 2 months’ half pay

During 3rd year of service 4 months’ full pay & 4months’ half pay

During 4th and 5th years of service 5 months’ full pay & 5 months’ half pay

After 5 years’ service 6 months’ full pay & 6 months’ half pay

6 Pensions (Local Government Pension Scheme)

6.1 All local government employees (including senior managers) are eligible to 
join the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). Employee contributions 
are set nationally by the LGPS and are banded, according to salary level.  
Currently senior managers pay between 8.5% - 12.5% depending on their 
individual salary.

6.2 Employer contributions to the Local Government Pension Scheme for the 
Dacorum Borough Council employers fund are currently set at 18.5%.

7 Additional Payments

7.1 Senior managers are not entitled to claim any additional payments, such as 
overtime, standby or payments for working at the weekend. Senior managers 
attend a wide variety of evening meetings and assist with emergency phone 
duties on top of their normal working week. Attendance at such meetings is 
not compensated for and is expected as part of any senior role.

7.2 There is a subsistence scheme for all staff, including senior managers. The 
aim of the scheme is to reimburse employees fairly for travelling and 
subsistence necessarily incurred whilst carrying out their duties on behalf of 
the Council and to keep costs to the Council to a minimum.

7.3 All staff are entitled to make a claim for job-related subsistence if working 
away from the area on business. Claims for meals can only be made if staff 
are prevented from taking the meal at home or the workplace and this has 
been agreed in advance with managers. Receipts must be produced for all 
claims.

Page 526



2018/2019

7.4    Job related subsistence rates (maximum payable) are:

Breakfast £6.88
Lunch £9.50
Tea £3.76
Evening Meal £11.77

8 Election Fees

8.1 Election fees are paid to senior officers in compensation for the additional 
duties required to management national and local elections and referendums.

8.2 The Returning Officer is designated as the Chief Executive in the Council’s 
Constitution. The fees for all staff employed on election duties are either 
specified by the Electoral Commission for national elections or are decided 
locally by the Returning Officer for local elections. The fees for local elections 
are set out in a ‘scale of expenses’ agreed by the Council, after a comparison 
with other neighbouring authorities and whether the poll is being combined 
with another election. 

8.3 The fee for the Returning Officer for national elections is determined by the 
number of the electorate in the area administered by that Returning Officer 
(as set out in s.29 of the Representation of the People’s Act 1983 and 
updated by the Ministry of Justice prior to each election). These are enhanced 
by an amount set out in a ‘scale of expenses’ agreed by the Council if the poll 
is combined with another election.

8.4 Returning Officer Fees - Fee for the duly appointed Returning Officer in 
performing their duties under any enactment’s relating to local government 
elections including all expenses: The Council’s Returning Officer is the Chief 
Executive.

8.5 For every 1,000 electors in the electoral area/ward in which contested 
election is held – Borough Election: £47.50 and Town/Parish Election: £35.00.

8.6 For every 1,000 electors in each uncontested election - Borough Election: 
£20.00 and Town/Parish Election: £14.00

8.7 Deputy Returning Officer Fees - For each electoral area/ward in which 
contested election is held: Borough Election: £100, Town/Parish: £70. The 
Deputy Returning Officers are typically the Monitoring Officer and the Group 
Manager (Democratic Services).

8.8 For each uncontested election: Borough Election: £40, Town/Parish: £30.

8.9 Appendix 2 incorporates all election fees for 2018/2019 

9 Recruitment of Senior Managers

9.1 Recruitment of senior managers is managed by the Council. Vacancies are 
advertised with the applicable salary range. The total package is set out in the 
recruitment pack. The recruitment of officers below Chief Officer level is 
undertaken by the Corporate Director for the relevant service area through a 
recruitment panel process involving other senior officers and if appropriate, 
specialist recruitment advisors.

Page 527



2018/2019

9.2 The appointment of posts at Chief Executive and Corporate Director level are 
made by an Appointments Panel. This panel normally consists of Council 
Members, Chief Officers and Human Resources officers and is convened 
specifically to undertake the appointment of Chief Officers.

9.3 The decision on which roles attract salaries over £100.000 per annum will be 
initially determined by the Chief Executive, as Head of the Paid Service, and 
the Leader of the Council, in consultation with Human Resources. The 
Council’s Cabinet will review the proposed salary package and make a 
recommendation to Full Council. Recruitment to vacancies with salary 
packages above £100,000 per annum will be in accordance with the Council’s 
Recruitment and Selection Code of Practice, which requires that Cabinet 
Members will be included in the appointment panel.

10 Managing Pay

10.1 Starting salaries for Senior Managers

10.2 It is normal practice for all senior managers to be appointed at the bottom of 
the prescribed salary range. Exceptionally there may be instances where the 
Council may appoint above the bottom of the salary range where there is a 
clear rationale. Such cases will be considered and justified on a case by case 
basis. Consideration will be given to:

 Relativity of salaries of comparable roles
 Size and responsibilities of the post and duties to be undertaken.
 The wider recruitment market. 

10.3 For employees below Chief Officer level, the decision on the salary of the 
post will be approved by the Corporate Director of the service (dependent on 
level of post) prior to an offer being made.

10.4 Pay Increases for Senior Managers

10.5 Pay increases that involve no changes to terms and conditions may take two 
forms:

 Pay scale increments awarded annually, subject to satisfactory 
performance

 Pay awards relating to cost of living increases.

10.6 Increments

10.7 The decision on whether to award an increment is made by the direct line 
manager of each employee following a performance review. The Leader of 
the Council makes the decision on pay relating to the Chief Executive.

10.8 The Individual performance of senior managers is assessed via the Council’s 
Performance Development Review Appraisal Scheme. Each employee has 
an individual performance plan, setting out objectives for the coming year and 
expectations that are to be met with regard to the Council’s High Performance 
Environment attitudes and behaviours. This is reviewed throughout the year 
and formally at the end of each year. Staff are then awarded an overall rating 
assessing their achievement against their objectives and the High 
Performance Environment standards.

Page 528



2018/2019

10.9 Any adjustments to pay are awarded based on an individual’s overall 
performance assessment. Increments are not awarded where performance is 
deemed not to have been satisfactory during the relevant year. 

10.10 Where a role significantly varies within the performance year, an assessment 
will be undertaken using the Council’s job evaluation scheme, to assess if an 
alteration to pay or grade is necessary.  Any changes in salary for Leadership 
roles need approval from the Chief Executive.

10.11 Cost of living increases

10.12   Annual cost of living increases for all Council staff, except Chief Officers, are 
determined by the National Joint Council for Local Government Services. The 
Council awards cost of living increases in line with NJC recommendations 
unless there are specific reasons not to do so. Annual cost of living increases 
for Chief Officers are determined by the Joint National Council for Chief 
Officers but are subject to the same considerations. These considerations 
may include:

 Affordability
 The conditions of the job market and the relative pay of employees, 

including Chief Officers, in comparison with other similar organisations
 Difficulties in recruitment and retention to specific posts.

 
10.13 Deputising for statutory officers

10.14 The Chief Executive has the authority to award an additional responsibility 
allowance (ARA) to staff who deputise for the statutory officer roles of the 
Section 151 Officer and the Monitoring Officer where the deputy role has not 
been included in the job description and therefore incorporated within the job 
evaluation.  The ARA will be calculated as a percentage of the remuneration 
of the relevant statutory officer and will reflect the amount of time the 
deputising staff undertake those additional statutory responsibilities.  
Typically, an ARA will be no more than £5,000 per annum.

11 Payments on Termination of Employment for Senior Managers

11.1 Redundancy and Severance Payments

11.2 An employee whose contract of employment is terminated due to redundancy 
will be eligible for a redundancy payment.  Payments are made based on the 
length of service and the calculation of 1.5 weeks per year of service, and 
based on an employee’s contractual weekly pay. Employees aged over 55 
who are made redundant will be able to draw their pension to the date of their 
retirement.  Employees aged under 55 will receive a redundancy payment 
and have their pension benefits deferred until they reach retirement age.

11.3 An employee whose contract of employment is terminated for any reason and 
there is justification for a severance payment, will be subject to approval by 
the relevant Corporate Director and Chief Executive taking advice from the 
Monitoring Officer, Human Resources and Section 151 Officer.  

Page 529



2018/2019

11.4 An employee who is made redundant or paid a severance payment must 
have a break of at least one month and one day to break their continuous 
service with the Authority before they can be re-employed by the Council in a 
different position.

11.5 Any proposed payment(s) as part of a severance package that results in the 
severance package being of a value of £100,000 or more in total, will be 
reviewed by the Chief Executive and the Leader of the Council in consultation 
with Human Resources and Legal Services and make a recommendation to 
Cabinet. The Cabinet will review the award and make recommendation to Full 
Council.  Proposed severance packages under £100,000 are approved by the 
S151 Officer and reviewed by the Group Manager (People and Performance).

11.6 The government has indicated that they are considering the introduction of 
legislation, which will impose a cap on ‘exit payments’ which can be made to 
public sector employees who leave voluntarily.

12. Local Government Pension Scheme 

12.1 Employees are eligible to be members of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme.  The core pension benefits of these schemes are determined by 
statutory regulations. 

 
13 Lowest paid employees

13.1 The Council’s definition of lowest paid employees for the purposes of this 
policy is: employees paid on spinal column point 5 of the local pay scale. The 
scale is based on nationally-approved scales but has been adjusted to meet 
local requirements, for which point 5 represents the bottom of pay band 1. As 
at 1 April 2017, this equates to £14,113 per annum for a full time employee, 
plus £840 per annum London Fringe Weighting (The living wage is currently 
£8.45 per hour). The Council applies the living wage entitlement to posts 
under the living wage threshold. From 1 April 2018 the living wage entitlement 
is £8.75 per hour in total. This is reviewed by Cabinet on a yearly basis. To 
date there has not been final agreement on the national pay deal.

14 Gender Pay Gap

14.1 As from 1 April 2018, all employers with 250 or more employees are required 
by Law to publish their gender pay gap each year on their own and the 
Government’s website.  The Council’s gender pay gap is as follows:

 

Average 
Total 

Hourly 
Rate

Total 
Number 
of Staff

Mean 
Hourly 
Rate  

Median 
Hourly 
Rate

Female £5,076.69 360 £14.10 Female £12.83
Male £4,794.41 337 £14.23 Male £11.03

Mean Gender Pay Gap 1% Median Gender Pay Gap 8% 

Appendix 3 provides further detail on the key actions that will be undertaken 
to address any issues. 

Page 530



2018/2019

15 Pay Transparency

15.1 Organisation chart

In accordance with the Local Government Transparency Code 2014, the 
Council must publish an organisation chart covering the top three 
management tiers of the organisation and showing the following items of 
information for each member of staff included in the chart:

• Grade
• Job title
• Department and team
• Permanent or temporary
• Work contact details
• Salary in £5,000 brackets (see the senior salaries requirements 

below)
• Maximum salary for the grade.

15.2 Senior Salaries

In addition to the organisation chart, under the Accounts and Audit (England) 
Regulations 2011 and the Local Transparency Code 2014, the Council is 
required to publish:

 the number of employees whose remuneration in that year was at least 
£50,000, and

 details of remuneration and job title of certain senior employees whose salary 
is at least £50,000 together with a list of responsibilities (for example, the 
services and functions they are responsible for, budget held and number of 
staff they are responsible for) and details of any bonuses and ‘benefits in 
kind’.

15.3 The information referred to in paragraph 14.1 and 14.2 is not required to be 
contained in the Pay Policy Statement but must be placed on the Council’s 
website. This information is located on Dacorum Borough Council’s website, 
under the open data section. 

Page 531



2018/2019

Pay Scales (April 2017)

 SCP
Salary 

(Excluding 
London Fringe 

Weighting)
SCP

Monthly Salary 
(Including 

London Fringe 
Weighting)

SCP

Hourly 
Rate 

(Excluding 
London 
Fringe 

Weighting
  £  £  £

05 14,113 05 1,246.08 05 7.32Band 1 06 14,279 06 1,259.92 06 7.40
07 14,307 07 1,262.25 07 7.42
08 14,821 08 1,305.08 08 7.68Band 2
09 15,235 09 1,339.58 09 7.90
10 15,525 10 1,363.75 10 8.05
11 16,075 11 1,409.58 11 8.33Band 3
12 16,391 12 1,435.92 12 8.50
13 16,808 13 1,470.67 13 8.71
14 17,104 14 1,495.33 14 8.87Band 4
15 17,449 15 1,524.08 15 9.04
16 17,851 16 1,557.58 16 9.25
17 18,283 17 1,593.58 17 9.48Band 5
18 18,680 18 1,626.67 18 9.68
19 19,376 19 1,684.67 19 10.04
20 20,055 20 1,741.25 20 10.40Band 6
21 20,752 21 1,799.33 21 10.76
22 21,281 22 1,843.42 22 11.03
23 21,894 23 1,894.50 23 11.35Band 7
24 22,344 24 1,932.00 24 11.58
25 22,772 25 1,967.67 25 11.80
26 23,508 26 2,029.00 26 12.18Band 8
27 24,293 27 2,094.42 27 12.59
28 25,084 28 2,160.33 28 13.00
29 27,362 29 2,350.17 29 14.18Band 9
30 28,279 30 2,426.58 30 14.66
31 29,166 31 2,500.50 31 15.12
32 30,025 32 2,572.08 32 15.56Band 10
33 30,910 33 2,645.83 33 16.02
34 31,786 34 2,718.83 34 16.48
35 33,349 35 2,849.08 35 17.29Band 11
36 34,227 36 2,922.25 36 17.74
37 35,190 37 3,002.50 37 18.24
38 36,223 38 3,088.58 38 18.78Band 12
39 37,401 39 3,186.75 39 19.39
40 38,390 40 3,269.17 40 19.90
41 40,102 41 3,411.83 41 20.79Band 13
42 41,129 42 3,497.42 42 21.32
43 42,142 43 3,581.83 43 21.84
44 43,175 44 3,667.92 44 22.38Band 14
45 44,155 45 3,749.58 45 22.89

Page 532



2018/2019

46 45,233 46 3,839.42 46 23.45
47 46,265 47 3,925.42 47 23.98Band 15
48 48,116 48 4,079.67 48 24.94
49 49,141 49 4,165.08 49 25.47
50 50,170 50 4,250.83 50 26.00Band 16
51 51,196 51 4,336.33 51 26.54
52 52,241 52 4,423.42 52 27.08
53 53,262 53 4,508.50 53 27.61Band 17
54 54,293 54 4,594.42 54 28.14
55 55,324 55 4,680.33 55 28.68
56 56,357 56 4,766.42 56 29.21Band 18
57 57,432 57 4,856.00 57 29.77
58 58,504 58 4,945.33 58 30.32
59 59,571 59 5,034.25 59 30.88Band 19
60 60,638 60 5,123.17 60 31.43
61 61,709 61 5,212.42 61 31.99
62 62,786 62 5,302.17 62 32.54Band 20
63 63,857 63 5,391.42 63 33.10
64 65,134 64 5,497.83 64 33.76
65 66,438 65 5,606.50 65 34.44Band 21
66 67,765 66 5,717.08 66 35.12
67 69,120 67 5,830.00 67 35.83
68 70,504 68 5,945.33 68 36.54Band 22
69 71,913 69 6,062.75 69 37.27
70 73,353 70 6,182.75 70 38.02
71 74,819 71 6,304.92 71 38.78Band 23
72 76,316 72 6,429.67 72 39.56

LFW (London Fringe Weighting) = £840 per annum 

Dacorum Borough Council's Minimum Wage, excluding London Fringe Weighting, is £7.32 per hour.
Dacorum Borough Council's Minimum Wage, including London Fringe Weighting, is £7.75 per hour.

Corporate Director’s Pay bands:
Band point 83 - £91,936 per annum
Band point 84 - £93,555 per annum
Band point 85 - £95,175 per annum
Band point 86 - £96,800 per annum
Band point 87 - £98,423 per annum

Chief Executive Pay bands:
Band point 88 - £124,060 per annum
Band point 89 - £126,181 per annum
Band point 90 - £128,302 per annum
Band point 91 - £130,423 per annum
Band point 92 - £132,544 per annum

Page 533



Appendix 2

Scale of fees and expenses at Elections of Borough and Town/Parish 
Councillors from 1 January 2017-

PART 1 - EXPENDITURE 

1 The costs actually and necessarily incurred in respect of the following, 

(a) For the provision of any accommodation for the purpose of the election, 
including heating, lighting and cleaning and compensation for damage to 
any such accommodation.

(b) For adapting and fitting up any accommodation for the purpose of the 
election and restoring to for its normal use, including the provision of voting 
compartments and any necessary furniture.

(c) For providing ballot boxes, including repairs.

(d) For the conveyance of ballot boxes and ballot papers 

(f) For copies of the Register of Electors.

(g) For printing and providing ballot papers.

(h) For printing and providing postal vote packs

(i) For printing and providing official poll cards.

(j) For printing and providing notices, training materials and other documents 
required in or about the election or poll and for publishing the same.

(k) For general stationery, postage, telephone calls and miscellaneous 
matters.

(l) For promoting election, delivering communication strategy and 
encouraging voter registration

Page 534



2 For each Presiding Officer 
at a polling station, to 
include all expenses, 
authorised by this scale.

Additional sum to be paid 
to the Presiding Officer at 
each polling station where 
the elections are for a 
combined election.

£220.00

25.00

3 For one Poll Clerk (or 
additional one where the 
number of electors 
exceeds 1,000) at a 
polling station, 

£135.00

4 For the delivery of every 
100 poll cards (Where 
Royal Mail or another 
carrier is not used)

£22.00

5 For persons employed in 
connection with the receipt 
and counting of postal 
ballot papers, at each 
election)

£15.00
per half-day 

session

6 For the remuneration of 
persons employed in 
connection with the 
verification/counting of 
votes (including any 
recounts) at Borough and 
Town/Parish elections:

Verification 
/Counting 
Assistant

Supervisor

(1) Up to 4 hours £60.00 £80.00

(2) Additional fee if 
anticipated hours 
exceeded

TBA TBA

Senior
Verification/Count

 Supervisor

£140.00

Page 535



Verification/Count
 Supervisor

£115.00

Polling Station 
Inspector

£100.00

Porter /  
Security

£90.00

Training 
Facilitator

£25 per session 

Press Officer 

£40.00

Page 536



PART 2 - RETURNING OFFICERS FEES

for services and other expenses

Fee for the duly appointed Returning Officer in performing their duties under any 
enactment’s relating to local government elections including all expenses other than 
those for which specific provision is made elsewhere in this scale:

Borough Election Town/Parish 
Election

7 For every 1,000 
electors in the 
electoral area/ward 
in which contested 
election is held.

For every 1,000 
electors in each 
uncontested 
election

£47.50

£20.00

£35.00

£14.00

PART 3 DEPUTY RETURNING OFFICERS FEES

for services and other expenses

Fee for duly appointed Deputy Returning Officer in performing such duties as may be 
required by the Returning Officer under any enactment’s relating to local government 
elections including all expenses other than those for which specific provision is made 
elsewhere in this scale:

Borough Election Town/Parish 
Election

8. For each electoral 
area/ward in which 
contested election 
is held.

For each 
uncontested 
election

£100.00

£40.00

£70.00

£30.00

NOTES

1. The fees and expenses set out in the Schedule come into effect on 1 January 
2017.

2. The fees shown are the gross amounts and are with certain exceptions subject 
to the standard rate of tax.

3. These fees are for the ‘local’ element of any election and will be adjusted in the 
case of National or Regional (or combined) Polls in line with the guidance 
issued by the organising body. 

4. There has been no amendment to these fees since last year.

March 2018 Page 537



Appendix 3 - Gender Pay Reporting  

1. Introduction

1.1 All employers with 250 or more employees are required by law to publish their gender pay gap 
each year on their own and the Government’s website.

1.2 This was introduced in order to address the 18% average pay gap between men (higher)  and 
women and it was introduced alongside the existing public sector equality duties for public 
bodies. 

1.3 The following report therefore sets out the Council’s gender pay gap information and a summary 
of the key actions that will be undertaken to address any issues:

2. DBC Gender Pay Gap Information 

 

Average 
Total 

Hourly 
Rate

Total 
Number 
of Staff

Mean 
Hourly 
Rate  

Median 
Hourly 
Rate

Female £5,076.69 360 £14.10 Female £12.83
Male £4,794.41 337 £14.23 Male £11.03

Mean Gender Pay Gap 1% Median Gender Pay Gap 8% 

 
3. DBC’s Current Approach to Improving Gender Pay Parity

3.1 Our current approach to improving gender pay parity is built around four key areas:

3.1.1 Strategy 
3.1.2 Recruitment and Selection
3.1.3 Terms and Conditions
3.1.4 Support

Strategy

3.2 Our People Strategy sets out a vision and detailed action plan to making sure we have the “right 
staff, in the right place, working in the right way”.  

3.3 We are developing a new Equality and Diversity Strategy, which sets out a number of 
commitments and actions that the Council will take including on gender diversity.

3.4 Senior officers from the Council attend the Herts. Diversity Network, which enables local 
authorities in Hertfordshire to come together and support each other on equality issues.

3.5 When developing a new or updated strategy, policy or plan, we  undertake a Community Impact 
Assessment to identify how the proposal contributes to equality and diversity.  

Page 538



Recruitment and Selection

3.6 We advertise roles using a variety of publications and mediums to ensure that we can maximise 
applications from different people.

3.7 We operate a robust selection process and all managers undertake training to ensure that 
decisions are made based on the best skills and experience for the job.  

3.8 Our Equal Opportunities policy statement sets out how we support employees from different 
backgrounds.  

Terms and Conditions

3.9 We have introduced Single Status to ensure that all roles were evaluated using the same system 
(NJC Gauge).

3.10 Our Establishment Management Form (EMF) system ensures a transparent procedure is 
followed for recruitment, evaluation and role amendments.  

3.11 We have paid the living wage for the last four years.  

3.12 We have flexible working policies and practices that are in place for all employees to ensure 
they are supported to achieve a good work life balance.   

3.13 Our maternity and paternity leave policies are paid at an enhanced rate. Our shared parental 
leave policy is paid at the statutory rate.

Support

3.14 All employees have access to HR and the recognised Trade Unions if they wish to raise any 
concerns.

3.15 We review Exit Interview forms to ensure the Council can understand and learn from any     
feedback.

3.16 We have an employee assistance programme to support all employees. It is a 24 hour, 7 
days a week confidential service.

 
4. Next Steps

4.1 We will be developing a detailed action plan as part of the people strategy programme plan to 
ensure that we continue to promote gender parity across all aspects of employment.  This work 
will be governed by a corporate working group.   

Page 539



Report for: Cabinet

Date of meeting: 27th March 2018

Part: Part I

If Part II, reason: n/a

Title of 
report:

Council New Build Programme Update
(Including use of right to buy one for one replacement funding)

Contact: Cllr Margaret Griffiths, Portfolio Holder for Housing

Elliott Brooks, Assistant Director for Housing

David Barrett, Group Manager for Housing Development

Purpose of 
report:

To provide a full update on the Council New Build Programme 

To seek approval for the payment of “141 Right to Buy replacement 
scheme’ grant funding to Housing Associations (Registered Providers) 
delivering affordable housing schemes in the Borough. 

Recommend
ations

1. To note progress of the Council New Build Programme
2. To approve an increase to the budget to Kylna Court by £483,200 

all to accommodate amendments to the design of the external 
envelope of the building and to incorporate a sprinkler system, 
funded from a budget virement from the 2018/19 New Build 
General budget.

3. To approve a consultancy budget of £600,000 to develop plans for 
the next phase of the Council’s New Build programme as detailed 
in Section 7, funded from a budget virement from the 2018/19 New 
Build General budget.

4. That Cabinet approves the following ‘141 Right to Buy 
replacement scheme’ grant funding payments for affordable 
housing developments in the Borough:
 £3,750,000 to Watford Community Housing Trust for 6 No 

Garage Sites known as Cupid Green Lane, Hyde Meadows, 
Pulleys Lane, Rucklers Lane, Wood View and Long Arotts. 

 £343,820 to Watford Community Housing Trust for a 
development known as Nova House, Jupiter Drive, Hemel 
Hempstead.

 In addition, this recommendation authorises a +/- 5% 
adjustment to the stated cost figures as a contingency sum 
should the Housing Association revise their cost data as these 
are based on current estimates which could adjust as the 

Page 540

Agenda Item 9



project develops
5. To note the two ‘141 Right to Buy replacement scheme’ grant 

funding applications that have now been withdrawn by Hastoe and 
Thrive.

Corporate 
Objectives:

Delivering Affordable Housing

Implications:

Value For 
Money 
Implications

Financial

The overall development budget is reviewed strategically as part of 
the annual review of the Housing Revenue Account Business Plan. 
Each individual scheme following contract award is subject to close 
financial monitoring with any variances agreed formally through a 
change control process.

The grant funding approach to supporting other organisations 
developing affordable housing in the Borough will enable us to 
allocate the funding before the deadline to spend expires. 

Value for Money

This has been achieved through a successful procurement 
programme.

 “One for one” receipts paid to Housing Associations by way of a grant 
provides the means to increase the provision of affordable homes 
within the Borough at no cost to the Council and assist in avoiding the 
costs of homelessness by increasing supply.

Risk 
Implications

Risk Assessment completed within the New Build Project Initiation 
Document (PID) and updated on Corvu on a monthly basis. 

If the Council is unable to spend its “one for one” receipts they must 
be returned to the Government. Should the Council retain receipts and 
then be unable to spend them within a three year period then interest 
becomes payable. The recommended model agreement passes this 
risk onto the receiving Housing Association.

Community 
Impact 
Assessment

Community Impact Assessment reviewed/carried out

n/a

Health And 
Safety 
Implications

Each new build scheme has in place a Principal Designer as required 
under the Construction Design and Management Regulations. 
Contractors are required to comply with the Council’s H&S policy 
along with Considerate Constructors requirements.

Health & Safety is identified as a key risk of the Housing Service and 
is reported to the Council’s Housing & Communities Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee on a quarterly basis.

Monitoring 
Officer/S.151 

Deputy Monitoring Officer:   

Page 541



Officer 
Comments

Under the scheme introduced in 2012 investment in new affordable 
housing can be made by the Council itself or through grant funding 
registered providers.  

This decision proposes the funding of several developments by 
Watford Community Housing Trust.

Officers should ensure that each site going forward is covered by the 
grant agreement (referred to in para 8.2 below) to ensure that the 
Council’s position is protected and enable it to meet audit 
requirements. 

S.151 Officer

No further comments to add to the report.

Consultees: Mark Gaynor, Corporate Director of Housing & Regeneration
James Deane, Corporate Director Finance & Operations
Caroline Souto, Financial Planning & Analysis Team Leader, Financial 
Services
David Barrett, Group Manager, Housing Development

Background 
papers:

n/a

Glossary of 
acronyms 
and any  
other 
abbreviations 
used in this 
report:

n/a

Page 542



1. Introduction

1.1 Dacorum Borough Council’s Development Strategy - New Council Homes 2013-
2020 ‘Building for the Future’ was approved by Cabinet in December 2013 and 
sets out the Council’s ambitious plans for the Council New Build Programme.  So 
far, the Council has delivered over 90 new homes and a homeless hostel. This 
report is to provide a full update on the current development programme and 
plans to secure the next phase of schemes. 

2. Kylna Court  (Wood House), Maylands Avenue, Hemel Hempstead. 

2.1 Situated in the Heart of Maylands this project forms an important part of the 
regeneration of the overall area.  This project comprises a 79 unit development, 
42x1 bedroom flats, 37x2 bedroom. The scheme achieved planning permission 
in March 2016.  The development will provide 79 social rented units along with a 
business suite as an extension to the Maylands Business Centre.  

2.2 Jarvis Contracting Ltd was awarded the build contract and commenced on site in 
March 2017 with completion anticipated during November 2018.

2.3 The project is progressing well on site and the construction of the concrete frame 
is complete. The external cladding and windows are being installed whilst 
internally the flats are being formed and first fix has commenced. 

2.4 In the Cabinet Report submitted on the 17th October 2017 it was highlighted that 
a review had taken place in the light of the Grenfell Tower fire. A comprehensive 
review of the fire strategy took place and it was decided to revise the 
specification of some elements of the construction including introducing non-
combustible insulation into the external wall construction. Although at this time 
there is no regulatory requirement to install sprinklers because the dwellings are 
less than 18 metres in height, a decision was taken in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder to install a full sprinkler system. 

2.5 This has placed pressure on the construction cost and therefore it is necessary 
to request approval to increase the overall budget by £483,200 against the 
approved budget of £12,008,000 (not including business suite). The additional 
sum requested can be broken down as follows:

1.      Sprinkler design: £13,200
2.      Sprinkler installation and associated works: £295,000
3.      Non-combustible cladding: £175,000

This will be funded by a budget virement from the New Build General budget.

2.6 Due to the high number of properties which will be let at once, preparations are 
underway to resource this and a local lettings plan will be in place.

3. Corn Mill Court (Swing Gate Lane), Berkhamsted

3.1 Planning permission to deliver 11 new homes was granted in June 2015, this 
consisted of 9 new-build flats ( 6 x 1-beds and 3 x 2-beds) and the conversion of 
three existing building into two units of accommodation.  Osborne Homes were 
the successful contractor and the new build works started in August 2017.

Page 543



3.2 The work on the new build flats has carried on as planned. The external walls 
are now up to the second floor and the roof steels are in on the lowest section.  

3.3 A planning application has been submitted to increase the number of units in the 
existing building from two to three units and expect to hear the outcome at the 
end of the month. The existing building once converted will deliver two 3-
bedroom houses and one 2-bed house. The middle unit is locally listed and does 
present some issues with regard to window heights and floor levels which is 
being considered by our Architects.  

4. Stationers Place, London Road, Apsley 

4.1 Full planning permission was granted in March 2016 for a 31 flat development 
for social rent.

4.2 Cabinet approval was obtained to go out to tender and the contract was awarded 
to Jarvis Contracting Ltd under a Design & Build contract. Jarvis started pre 
commencement investigations and were originally due to be on site early this 
summer, however there have been a couple of issues to resolve prior to being in 
a positon to start work. 

4.3 Under planning conditions the Environment Agency (EA) required the culvert that 
runs under the rear of the site to be opened up and naturalised “de culverted” 
however, in liaising with the EA and the Contractors engineers it became 
apparent that the EA required much more than just a naturalised bank for the 
culvert. Subsequently to meet the EA’s requirements would be unworkable due 
to H&S requirements and the area would become unusable. Discussions are 
continuing to look at alternative solutions.

4.4 An advanced package of works have started to deal with all site condition around 
existing boreholes, buried services and demolition of existing buildings. This has 
also provided an opportunity to validate the location of all buried services and 
given the extent of them check that there are no further site constraints. 

4.5 Based on site constraints a revised scheme delivering 29 units is ready for 
submission for planning approval and this takes into account issues identified 
around the culvert and buried services that we have encountered on the site.  
This scheme would not require the culvert to be opened up, just repaired 
underground.

5. Martindale School, Boxted Road, Hemel Hempstead. 

5.1 The Council purchased the site from Hertfordshire County Council in May 2015.  
The scheme had already received outline planning permission for 43 units in 
February 2015. 

5.2 After two public consultations a planning application was submitted in August 
2017 for consideration and comprised 65 new homes: 33 proposed for outright 
sale – 17x2 bedroom houses and 16x3 bedroom houses and then 32 new 
Council homes for social rent – 19 flats (14x1 bedroom & 5x 2 bedrooms) plus 
5x3 bedroom houses and 8x2 bedroom houses. Planning approval was achieved 
in October 2017. 

5.3 The scheme is currently out to tender to seek a suitable Contractor to build out 
the scheme. Due to the value an Official Journal of the European Community 

Page 544



(OJEU) compliant tender process is required. These will be returned in April. The 
pre- tender estimate currently exceeds the existing budget by approximately £2 
million. However, the expected return from the market sale properties has 
increased and may offset this amount. Once the tenders  have been adjudicated 
a report for approval to Cabinet will be submitted. 

5.4 Based on receiving a suitable tender it is envisaged that works will start on site 
Summer / Autumn 2018.

6. Westerdale and Northend garage sites, Hemel Hempstead.

6.1 The Council has identified 2 garage sites as part of the garage asset strategy for 
redevelopment, using General Fund resources, for new temporary 
accommodation housing. They  are to be redeveloped in tandem to deliver 6x2 
bedroom flats at Westerdale and 4x2 bedroom flats and 2x1 bedroom flats at 
Northend.  The properties would provide an ongoing revenue stream as well as 
being a valuable flexible asset.  

6.2 After a public consultation the schemes were submitted for planning approval 
during early October 2017. Planning approval was achieved in December 2017.

6.3 Tenders are currently being obtained to find a suitable Contractor to build out the 
scheme. Construction is targeted to start on site during the summer 2018 subject 
to successful appointment of a contractor.

7. Pipeline for Building New Homes

7.1 The Council has been planning the next phase of potential schemes and have 
undertaken some early feasibility work to assess viability of various sites. These 
are predominately on land already in the Council’s ownership. The following sites 
have been identified as suitable to take forward to obtaining planning approval.

Bulbourne, Tring (rural site)

7.2 The site is located on the north eastern side of Tring. It is on the northern side of 
Bulbourne road and close to the Grand Union Canal. The site is roughly 
rectangular in shape, and has an area of approximately 0.4ha (1ac). It has the 
entrance frontage to Bulbourne Road. The adjoining residential properties – 
Myrtle Cottages - mainly comprise two storey terraced houses. 

7.3 The land is currently owned by Tring Parish Council. Although the site is in green 
belt and in an area of outstanding natural beauty it is envisaged that a scheme of 
8-10 houses maybe achievable. The proposal is for low rise housing following 
the existing build line of neighbouring terrace houses. 

Eastwick Row, Hemel Hempstead

7.4 Eastwick Row is a residential street ending in a cul-de-sac. This space serves 
two residential towers. Using two existing garage plots (owned by the general 
fund) the proposal is to construct an additional block of flats on the site along 
with three terraced houses. The flat block could contain somewhere between 22 
to 28 flat units depending on the size.

7.5 There is also potential to undertake a refurbishment of the existing towers re-
cladding them to improve their appearance. The public realm space would also 

Page 545



be re-planned more efficiently to provide increased parking provision and 
landscaping. 

St Margarets Way. Hemel Hempstead

7.6 The existing site is currently occupied by open grassland with a band of mature 
woodland along its east and west boundary edges. The site has potential to 
deliver circa 40-50 units with a combination of flats and houses. 

Paradise Fields

7.7 This is a site that Homes England are looking to dispose of and discussions 
have commenced around purchasing the land from them which falls into four 
distinct categories: 

 The Housing site at the South of the overall site 
 Paradise Fields nature reserve/wildlife area 
 The open space to the North 
 The hospital car park 

7.8 The housing site runs from the St. Albans Road to the footpath at the bottom of 
the nature reserve. The site has the potential to deliver apartments similar to the 
neighbouring Hightown scheme potentially going to 4 storeys. A red book 
valuation has been commissioned to determine the price the Council would pay 
for the site. 

Coniston Road, Kings Langley

7.9 A site owned by the general fund located at the junction of Coniston Road and 
Barnes Lane on the northern edge of the village with open farmland to the north 
and predominantly 2 storey residential to the east, south and west. This site 
could be developed to receive in the region of 8-10 units.

Garage Sites

7.10 Up to three garage sites from the existing disposal programme to sell sites on 
the open market are being considered. Using the template already established 
for Northend and Westerdale. The Council could deliver some further flat 
blocks.

7.11 In order to develop all these schemes through to a planning approval a budget 
of £600,000 is requested for consultancy services to include professional fees 
and surveys required to support the development of these schemes. This will 
be funded by virement from the New Build General budget.

8. 141 Right to Buy Replacement Scheme – Applications for Approval

8.1 The Council signed up to an agreement with the Department for Communities 
and Local Government, following the government’s major increase in the level of 
potential discount for Right to Buy, which allowed the Council to use the receipts 
to  part fund new affordable homes – the one for one replacement scheme.  

8.2 Grant funding these schemes has been agreed in principle by the Council’s 
Finance Department and fits within the profile of receiving and using one for one 
receipts. A formal agreement drawn up by the Council’s Legal team was agreed 

Page 546



as a template through a recent Portfolio Holder decision signed by the Council’s 
Portfolio Holder for Housing. Each scheme will have its own agreements which 
following approval will be signed by both the Council and the individual Housing 
Association. This agreement commits the Council to make the payments at 
agreed timescales and places an obligation on the Housing Association to spend 
the funding within specific timescales or otherwise face financial penalties.

Watford Community Housing Trust – 6 No Garage Sites knows as Cupid 
Green Lane, Hyde Meadows, Pulleys Lane, Rucklers Lane, Wood View and 
Long Arrotts. - £3,750,000

8.3 Watford Community Housing Trust have submitted an application for £3,750,000 
for grant funding for the provision of the following units on garage sites that the 
Council has agreed to sell to them:

8.4 Cupid Green Lane, Hemel Hempstead – 2 x Two Bed Houses (Affordable Rent)

8.5 Hyde Meadows, Bovingdon – 5 x Two Bed Houses (Affordable Rent)

8.6 Pulleys Lane, Hemel Hempstead – 2 x Three Bed Houses (Affordable Rent)

8.7 Rucklers Lane, Kings Langley – 4 x Two Bed Houses (Affordable Rent)

8.8 Wood View, Hemel Hempstead – 5 x One Bed Flats and 7 x Two Bed Flats 
(Affordable Rent)

8.9 Long Arrotts, Hemel Hempstead – 2 x Two Bed Houses and 6 x Two Bed Flats 
(Affordable Rent) 

8.10 Watford Community Housing Trust proposes that this grant will be drawn down 
as follows:

2017/18 - £1,080,000 
2018/19 - £1,700,000
2019/20 - £970,000

8.11 The cost data provided is based on the Housing Associations current estimate. 
An additional +/- 5% cost adjustment as a contingency sum should be included 
in addition to the stated figures.

Watford Community Housing Trust – Nova House, Jupiter Drive, Hemel 
Hempstead - £344,440 

8.12 Watford Community Housing Trust have submitted an application for £343,820 
for grant funding for the provision of 4 x 2 Bed Apartments (Affordable Rent) 

8.13 Watford Community Housing Trust proposes that this grant will be drawn down 
as follows:

2017/18 - £42,210
2018/19 - £301,610

8.14 The cost data provided is based on the Housing Associations current estimate. 
An additional +/- 5% cost adjustment as a contingency sum should be included 
in addition to the stated figures.

Page 547



9. 141 Right to Buy Replacement Scheme – Withdrawn applications

9.1 The following applications previously approved by Cabinet have now been 
withdrawn by the relevant Housing Association.

9.2 £133,168 to Hastoe Housing Association for a development known as garage 
site adjacent to 28 & 30 West Dene, Gaddesden Row, Great Gaddesden.  
Approved at Cabinet on the 19th September 2017.

9.3 £2,950,000 to Thrive Homes for a development known as Hempstead House, 
Hemel Hempstead. Approved at Cabinet on the 30th January 2018.

10. Recommendations

10.1 To note progress of the Council New Build Programme

10.2 To approve an increase to the budget to Kylna Court by £483,200.00 to 
accommodate amendments to the design to incorporate a sprinkler system and 
design changes to the cladding.

10.3 To approve a consultancy budget of £600,000 to develop plans for the next 
phase of the Council’s New Build programme.

10.4 That individual ‘141 Right to Buy replacement scheme’ grant funding 
agreements be made with, and payments made to, the following Housing 
Associations:

10.4.1 Watford Community Housing Trust for the 6 No Garage Sites know as 
Cupid Green Lane, Hyde Meadows, Pulleys Lane, Rucklers Lane, 
Wood View and Long Arrotts of £3,750,000 to be drawn from one for 
one receipt. 

10.4.2 Watford Community Housing Trust for Nova House, Jupiter Drive, 
Hemel Hempstead  of £343,820 to be drawn from one for one 
receipts.

10.4.3 In addition, this recommendation authorises a +/- 5% adjustment to 
the stated cost figures as a contingency sum should the Housing 
Association revise their cost data as these are based on current 
estimates which could adjust as the project develops.

10.5 To note the two ‘141 Right to Buy replacement scheme’ grant funding 
applications that have now been withdrawn by Hastoe and Thrive.

Page 548



1

Report for: Cabinet

Date of meeting: 27 March 2018

PART: 1

If Part II, reason:

Title of report: Joint Strategic Plan for South West Hertfordshire
Contact: Graham Sutton, Portfolio Holder for Planning and 

Regeneration

James Doe, Assistant Director   (Planning, Development and 
Regeneration)

Laura Wood, Team Leader (Strategic Planning)
Purpose of report: To seek support from Members to proceed with the preparation 

of a South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan and for governance 
arrangements to be put in place to enable this work to move 
forwards.

Recommendations: That Cabinet recommend Council to:

1. Agree to work with the other South West Herts Authorities 
(Three Rivers, Watford, Hertsmere and St. Albans 
Councils) to prepare a Joint Strategic Plan. 

2. Agree to progress a Memorandum of Understanding as 
the framework for governing future joint working 
arrangements and for the final terms of this Memorandum 
of Understanding to be delegated to the Assistant Director 
– Planning, Development and Regeneration, in 
consultation with the Planning and Regeneration Portfolio 
Holder, for agreement.

3. Agree to Officers progressing work on the joint plan and to 
note that this will be reported to Cabinet and Council for 
approval at key stages.

4. Note the arrangements for the appointment of staff to be 
jointly managed between the five Local Authorities and to 
delegate to the Assistant Director – Planning, 
Development and Regeneration in consultation with the 

AGENDA ITEM:  

SUMMARY

Page 549

Agenda Item 10



2

Corporate Director Finance and Operations and the 
Assistant Director Performance, Policy and Innovation to 
make the necessary arrangements and agreement with 
the other Local Authorities for recruitment, appointment, 
joint management and sharing of costs and liabilities.

5. Note the support of Hertfordshire County Council and the 
Hertfordshire LEP for this process.

6. Agree the recruitment arrangements for an urban design 
officer, shared with St Albans City and District Council, to 
provide specialist advice.

Corporate 
objectives:

The Joint Strategic Plan would set the context for the Council’s 
own Local Plan and together both documents would help 
support all 5 corporate objectives:

 Safe and clean environment: e.g. contains policies 
relating to the design and layout of new development 
that promote security and safe access;

 Community Capacity: e.g. provide a framework for local 
communities to prepare area-specific guidance such as 
Neighbourhood Plans, Town / Village Plans etc;

 Affordable housing: e.g. sets the Borough’s overall 
housing target and the proportion of new homes that 
must be affordable;

 Dacorum delivers:  e.g. provides a clear framework 
upon which planning decisions can be made; and

 Regeneration: e.g. sets the planning framework for key 
regeneration projects, such as Hemel Hempstead town 
centre and the Maylands Business Park.

Implications: Financial 
Having an up-to-date and comprehensive planning framework 
helps reduce the incidence of planning appeals (and hence 
costs associated with these).  It is also the most effective way 
of ensuring the optimum level of developer contributions and 
critically, external funding for infrastructure and in mitigation of 
development impacts can be achieved.  

It is estimated that the combined cost across South West Herts 
for a joint plan would be approximately £400,000 over a three 
year period.  A joint bid to the MHCLG Planning Delivery Fund 
has been successful in securing £242,000 covering the period 
to the end of the 2018/2019 financial year. This will provide 
additional resources including two temporary specialists to help 
take the JSP forward.  Additional funding and support  
opportunities are also being explored through the East of 
England Local Government Association (EELGA) to help 
support a series of workshops with Members to develop a clear 
vision for the SW Herts area, which will set a clear framework 
for the JSP. 

It is considered that the initial costs can be absorbed within the 

Page 550



3

existing local plan budget, equating to around £6,000 per 
authority.  Autumn 2018 would provide the opportunity to 
review these budgets, as the progress of both the Local and 
Joint Strategic Plans will be clearer in terms of agreed 
timescales and cost of preparation.

In 2019/20 and 2020/21 it is anticipated that a further £150,000 
would be required across the two years to cover public 
consultations, legal and consultancy advice and the 
examination of the JSP. This would equate to c£15,000 per 
annum per authority. Ideally we would want to keep the two 
specialist officers in post during 2019/20 and this would result 
in the need to seek additional grant funding, or to split 
additional costs arising between the five participating 
authorities.  This would equate to a maximum additional cost of 
£29,000 per authority. The posts would only be extended if a 
successful bid for grant is received or that the five councils all 
agree to commit to the funding. For Dacorum it is intended that 
the funding be drawn from the Local Development Framework 
budget.

A second funding bid to MHCLG, submitted jointly with St 
Albans was also successful.  This was for to provide funding 
for additional urban design expertise to help support 
masterplanning work for key development sites and to provide 
a design guidance document for the Borough. The grant for 
2017/18 and 2018/19 is £135,792 for salary and research and 
publication costs.  There are no additional costs associated 
with this post that would need to be covered through other 
budgetary sources.

Value for Money
Where possible, technical work that supports plan-making is 
already carried out across the five authorities to ensure value 
for money.  The creation of a formal joint planning partnership 
will help maximise existing resources across the authorities 
and put the Council in a stronger position to benefit from 
external funding opportunities.

The joint planning work will sit above the preparation of 
statutory Local Plans which are to be prepared in any event by 
the five Councils. Experience from elsewhere in the country 
shows that the strategic planning document that would be 
prepared can be kept to a high level and therefore costs 
minimised. 

Having a joint plan will provide the South West Herts 
authorities with a platform for improving their ability to secure 
external funding for key infrastructure.

Legal
Section 28 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
gives the power for two or more local planning authorities to 
agree to prepare one or more joint development documents.

Page 551



4

It is expected that some specialist external legal support will be 
required to support the JSP process on an ad-hoc basis, as 
occurs for the Council’s own plan-making processes.  This 
advice has historically been provided by Robert Jameson of 
Attwaters Jameson and Hill, who has also provided support to 
Three Rivers and Hertsmere Councils.  Subject to agreement 
with the other participating authorities, and compliance with 
procurement standing orders, it is suggested that this 
arrangement continues.  

Staff
The recent successful funding bid provides funding for two 
additional members of staff to lead key aspects of the JSP 
process. Subject to agreement with the other Councils, 
Dacorum Borough Council could act as host authority for ‘pay 
and rations’ for the new appointments, but they would work  
operationally across SW Herts.

In this event, these Officers will work alongside staff in the 
Planning, Development and Regeneration service, and 
equivalent Officers from the other participating authorities. 

Whilst this arrangement has been agreed on an in principle 
basis, a specific agreement will be needed across all five 
Councils about the sharing of costs for the appointments, and 
any redundancy costs should these arise. Recommendation 4 
of this report refers to this.

A ‘knowledge bank’ will be shared across the five authorities to 
support the delivery of the SW Herts Joint Plan and provide 
resource resilience.

Having the shared use of a specialist urban design officer will 
add to the skills and expertise available to the Council, but as 
externally financed, can be recruited at nil cost to the Council.  
They will be split their time between St Albans and Dacorum 
Councils, with precise working arrangements to be confirmed 
as part of the recruitment process.  

Land
No direct implications as a result of this report. However it is 
envisaged that the JSP itself will set the scale and distribution 
of growth across SW Herts, and indicate the location of key 
strategic sites.  Precise site boundaries of strategic sites and 
the allocation of smaller development areas will fall to 
individual Local Plans.   

Risk implications: A full risk assessment for the JSP process will be included 
within the Statement of Common Ground (SoCG). However an 
initial assessment has indicated the following key risks: 

 The primary risk is if one of the partners to break away from 
the arrangement. To reduce the risk of this occurring, a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) would establish the 

Page 552



5

governance and ambitions for the new plan. A draft of this 
document is attached for information as Annex A to this 
report.  It would also increase the likelihood of that 
authority, in particular, failing to meet the requirements of 
the Duty to Co-operate and the possibility of the Secretary 
of State intervening in the Local Plan process.  The 
preparation of the MOU would be followed by the 
authorities agreeing a Statement of Common Ground which 
would identify the key cross boundary issues. This SoCG is 
expected to be a new statutory requirement, to be 
introduced by the new NPPF.

 Resource availability and changes in staffing would be a 
risk to the plan’s preparation as resources would need to be 
committed from all participating authorities. To address this, 
a skills bank would be prepared and the two specialist JSP 
Officers would be expected to work with Officers of all other 
member authorities on the joint plan as appropriate.

 The risk of programme slippage significantly increases 
when multiple parties are involved. To address this, a 
governance structure will be included in the Memorandum 
of Understanding. A standard project planning approach will 
be put in place across the participating authorities. 

Despite these risks, as the main report sets out, the risk of not 
progressing joint working are advised to be higher than the 
risks outlined above, in terms of enabling a ‘sound’ 
development plan to be adopted for the area.

Equalities 
implications:

An Equalities Impact Assessment will be undertaken as the 
plan progresses, alongside a health impact assessment and a 
sustainability appraisal. As part of this work there will be a 
consideration of the impact of the plan on Human Rights 
including an assessment of how proposals would outweigh any 
detriment to them. 

Health and safety 
implications:

No implications as a result of this report.

Sustainability 
implications: 

Like all statutory panning document, the JSP would need to be 
subject to detailed sustainability appraisal (incorporating 
strategic environmental assessment) throughout its 
development.  Sustainability Appraisals covers social, 
economic and environmental considerations, including 
equalities and health and safety issues.  It is expected that this 
work will be carried out by independent specialist consultants 
as is currently the case for Dacorum’s own plan.  

Monitoring 
Officer/S.151 
Officer comments:

Monitoring Officer

The Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) will be the key 
document to agree the governance arrangements to take the 
plan forward but officers will need to ensure that it does not 
fetter the Council’s own decision making processes.    

The Statement of Common Ground will set the framework and 
agree key principles and priorities for the Joint Strategic Plan 

Page 553



6

and therefore this should be approved by Cabinet and Council.

Section 151 Officer
The Service will need to ensure that the financial risks to the 
Council of appointing shared staff are adequately mitigated. 
This will require a robust MoU that provides for the equitable 
sharing of potential redundancy costs and agreement on the 
way forward in the event that no funding is allocated by 
MHCLG beyond that already awarded. This process will need 
to involve both the Legal and Finance teams. 

Consultees: The principle of preparing a JSP for SW Herts area has been 
discussed at recent a Member / Chief Officer workshop, 
attended by Dacorum’s Leader, Planning and Regeneration 
Portfolio Holder, Chief Executive and other relevant Officers.  
There was equivalent Member and senior Officer attendance 
from the other SW Herts authorities and the Council Council.  
This workshop was facilitated with Catriona Riddell from the 
Planning Officer’s Society who is an expert in this field of 
planning, and liaises closely with the Ministry for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) on strategic 
planning matters. A copy of the workshop report is appended 
as Annex 2 to this report.    
Formal consultation on key stages of the JSP would be 
governed by a Statement of Community Involvement (SCI), 
with the ned for Member endorsement as per the Council’s 
constitution.  Legal advice is currently being sought to 
determine if this should be a separate SCI solely for the JSP, 
or if it is more appropriate for each authority to add reference 
to consultation arrangements for the JSP into their existing 
SCIs.  
Dacorum’s current Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) 
was adopted in July 2015.

Background 
papers:

 West of England Joint Spatial Plan (2017) 
https://www.jointplanningwofe.org.uk/consult.ti/JSPPublica
tion/consultationHome

 Fixing the Broken Housing Market (2017) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fixing-our-
broken-housing-market

 Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places: 
Consultation Proposals (2017) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-
for-the-right-homes-in-the-right-places-consultation-
proposals

Glossary of 
acronyms and any 
other abbreviations 
used in this report:

SCI Statement of Community Involvement
LDS Local Development Scheme
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
JSP Joint Strategic Plan
SoCG Statement of Common Ground
MOU Memorandum of Understanding
MHCLG Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local 

Page 554

https://www.jointplanningwofe.org.uk/consult.ti/JSPPublication/viewCompoundDoc?docid=9163508&sessionid=&voteid=
https://www.jointplanningwofe.org.uk/consult.ti/JSPPublication/consultationHome
https://www.jointplanningwofe.org.uk/consult.ti/JSPPublication/consultationHome
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fixing-our-broken-housing-market
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fixing-our-broken-housing-market
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fixing-our-broken-housing-market
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-right-homes-in-the-right-places-consultation-proposals
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-right-homes-in-the-right-places-consultation-proposals
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-right-homes-in-the-right-places-consultation-proposals
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-right-homes-in-the-right-places-consultation-proposals
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-right-homes-in-the-right-places-consultation-proposals


7

Government

Page 555



8

BACKGROUND

1. Summary

1.1 Delivering more homes to meet growing need has become a key issue for Government. 
Recent Government announcements indicate that the Duty to Co-operate is going to be 
strengthened in favour of more formalised joint strategic planning among local 
authorities.  At a Leader, Portfolio Holder and Chief Executive meeting in January 2018 
the principle of supporting the preparation of a SW Herts Joint Strategic Plan was 
agreed. This report outlines the issues, benefits and implications of preparing such a 
plan and seeks authority to progress such a plan including the preparation of a 
Memorandum of Understanding as the next step in the process, to be followed by a 
Statement of Common Ground.

2. Context

2.1 South West Hertfordshire faces significant strategic challenges in accommodating the 
required new homes, jobs and supporting infrastructure over the next fifteen years and 
beyond.  The five local authorities which make up this area – Dacorum, Hertsmere, 
Three Rivers, St Albans and Watford – continue to experience an acute shortage of 
new and affordable housing and beyond existing built up areas, are almost entirely 
designated as Green Belt land.    

2.2 In recent years it has become increasingly evident that the scale of growth Government 
is expecting local authorities to deliver is of such a scale that it cannot be delivered 
sustainably by individual local authorities working in isolation.  Neighbouring authorities 
are therefore increasingly being encouraged to work together to provide the high quality 
homes, jobs and infrastructure where people want to live their lives.   The opportunity to 
agree new arrangements for strategic planning across the area is particularly timely as 
all five SW Herts authorities are now at a similar stage in the plan making process.  

2.3 Following a meeting on the 23 January 2018 attended by Leaders, Portfolio Holders 
and Senior Officers from Dacorum, Hertsmere, St Albans, Three Rivers, Watford 
Councils and Hertfordshire County Council, it was agreed to progress work towards a 
joint strategic plan for South West Herts (see Annex A for Workshop Report). As such 
an undertaking is of such a strategic scale, this report seeks support from Members to 
proceed with the preparation of a South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan and for 
governance arrangements to be put in place to enable this work to move forwards.

2.4 Dacorum, Hertsmere, Three Rivers and Watford Councils have been working together 
as an informal planning group since 2014, when a Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment and an Economy Study were jointly commissioned to inform the Local 
Plan reviews. Further joint technical work, including a Retail and Leisure Study and a 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, is underway. Since November 2017, St Albans 
Council has formal Member agreement to move forward with joint work on this SW 
Herts geography (see Figure 1 below).

2.5 All five authorities have already been working as a group with Hertfordshire County 
Council on transport matters, including the SW Herts Growth and Transport Plan.

Page 556



9

Fig.1 South West Hertfordshire Housing Market Area and Functional Economic Market 
Area

 

3. The Duty to Co-operate

3.1 The duty to cooperate was created in the Localism Act 2011. It places a legal duty on 
local planning authorities, county councils in England and public bodies to engage 
constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis to maximise the effectiveness of Local 
Plan preparation in the context of strategic cross boundary matters.

3.2 Whilst the duty to cooperate is not a duty to agree local planning authorities are 
required to make every effort to secure the necessary cooperation on strategic cross 
boundary matters before they submit their Local Plans for examination. 

3.3 Local planning authorities must demonstrate how they have complied with the duty at 
the independent examination of their Local Plans. If a local planning authority cannot 
demonstrate that it has complied with the duty then the Local Plan will not be able to 
proceed further in examination. This has already been a stumbling block at examination 
for a number of local plans in recent years including Castle Point in Essex and St 
Albans.

3.4 In February 2017 the Housing White Paper: ‘Fixing our broken housing market’ 
proposed a new spatial local plan based on effective joint working as part of the new 
Housing Delivery Test. To strengthen the duty to co-operate, a Statement of Common 
Ground (SoCG) would also be required. The clear expectation from Government is that 
these would be prepared on Housing Market Area geographies i.e. involving the 
authorities shown in Figure 1 above.   

Page 557



10

3.5 The Government’s “Right Homes in Right Places” published in September 2017 
proposes two new tests of soundness for local plans including:

a)  plans should be prepared based on a strategy informed by agreements over 
the wider area, and 

b)  plans should be based on effective joint working on cross-boundary strategic 
priorities, which are evidenced in the statement of common ground.

3.6 With the Government driving for a step change in housing delivery these proposals 
are highly likely to be implemented in 2018 with the publication of the new National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), recently received as a consultation draft.  These 
new soundness tests will effectively mean that local planning authorities will need to 
change the way they work together on strategic and cross boundary matters for their 
plans to be found ‘sound’.

3.7 At the same time the Government is offering resources to local authorities to support 
wider area based plans. A SW Herts bid for £242,000 has been approved by the 
Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government to support the 
development of a joint plan. It is understood that further funding opportunities will be 
announced for the 2019/20 period in due course.  

4. Examples of Joint Planning
 
4.1 Following the demise of the old county structure plans and the regional spatial 

strategies, it has become evident that many key planning and infrastructure issues 
extend beyond individual borough and district boundaries. Consequently there are a 
number of cases where authorities are working together on strategic planning matters. 
Some partnerships of local authorities have taken a non-statutory approach to 
preparing infrastructure frameworks and plans. Areas that have been doing this include 
West Sussex and Greater Brighton and South Essex.  Such plans are useful for 
bringing infrastructure providers together and helping co-ordinate growth. However as 
they are non-statutory they only have of limited weight when guiding the preparation of 
individual Local Plans and   strategic development proposals. As a result of this 
limitation, a number of authorities are now working together to prepare statutory Spatial 
/ Strategic Plans.  Examples include Greater Exeter, Oxfordshire and Greater 
Manchester. 

4.2 The closest example of what is being considered for SW Herts is a statutory document 
akin to the emerging West of England Joint Spatial Plan which covers Bath and North 
East Somerset, Bristol City, North Somerset, and South Gloucestershire. The emerging 
plan contains 7 high level policies and 12 area policies which sets the broad direction 
and strategic approach for development across the whole area.  This is then supported 
by detailed policies in each authority’s local plan. These two levels of plans are being 
prepared in tandem.

5. Role of Hertfordshire County Council and the Hertfordshire Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP)

5.1 Both the County and the LEP have an important role in helping to deliver a new joint 
plan; the County from its perspective as a major service provider, funding partner and 
land owner and the LEP as a key business and funding partner. County Councils are 
identified as participants in the Duty to Co-operate. LEPs have a less formal 
requirement but it is generally considered best practice to work closely with the LEP. As 
a result both organizations would be invited to be signatures of the MOU and SoCG. 
However the joint plan would only need to be approved by district and borough 
authorities. 

Page 558



11

6. Benefits

6.1 Preparing a statutory joint plan has a number of significant benefits:

1.  It provides a more effective way of place shaping, by providing a bigger canvas 
to direct development to the right areas that deliver growth and that are, or can 
be, supported by the right infrastructure.

2. It brings with it increased funding opportunities and secures wider support from 
Government and other agencies such as Homes England (formerly Homes and 
Communities Agency) and the LEP. Joint plans are increasingly favoured by the 
Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (i.e. Housing 
Infrastructure Fund and Planning Delivery Fund). There is also greater potential 
for a bespoke housing deal to deliver strategic infrastructure where significant 
growth is proposed.

3. A joint plan can help local authorities to manage their housing delivery more 
effectively. Currently the Government is proposing to allow 5 year housing land 
supply and the new Housing Delivery Test to be managed across strategic 
areas where there is a joint plan in place. This could be particularly useful 
where very complex and large scale developments are being progressed with 
significantly longer lead-in times i.e. houses can typically be delivered faster 
than an apartment scheme.

4. Joint planning can provide a more robust and coherent basis for negotiating 
with others. In the SW Herts case, by working together we would be in a 
stronger position when dealing with the Greater London Authority to ensure that 
there are greater mutual benefits arising from London’s growth, and to the 
north, how we work with the Cambridge- Milton Keynes-Oxford Growth corridor 
where one million new homes are proposed and being supported by 
Government.

5. By having a joint plan in place it would address the duty to co-operate and help 
to deliver technically sound and legally compliant local plans.

7. Costs

7.1 As set out under the financial implications section above, there will be some costs 
associated with production of the Joint Strategic Plan. However, at this stage no 
additional Council funding is being requested, as the expected commitment can be met 
from the Local Development Framework budget for 2018/19 and 2019/20. The nature 
of the MHCLG grant recently received is such that any unspent elements can roll 
forward to the next financial year, for example to account for a delay in recruitment time 
and the possibility that one or both of the postholders would operate only 3 or 4 days 
per week thus stretching the budget. There may be additional opportunities to bid for 
funding for subsequent years however success cannot be guaranteed.

7.2 The reports being considered by the other Councils’ Cabinet / Executive all note that 
there will be the need for all five authorities to share future costs should grant funding 
not be repeated. This issue will be discussed further between all parties and text 
included in an appendix to the draft MOU setting out how this process will be managed.   
This process will also need to be formalised by the JSP Board that will include Leaders 
and Chief Officers. 

7.3 In additional to some financial support, there will also be an element of additional costs 
in terms of staff time required to support the Officer working group for the JSP. 
However, increased joint working also means that in effect a substantial ‘knowledge 

Page 559



12

bank’ will be shared across the five authorities to support the delivery of the JSP and 
provide resource resilience.

8. Retention of Sovereignty

8.1 A new joint strategic plan would need to be agreed individually by all authorities. 
Members would be consulted as the plan progressed at each stage through a series 
of workshops and broader consultation events.  Each authority would continue to 
maintain its own Local Development Scheme, setting out arrangements for both the 
preparation of its own Local Plan documents, as well as the agreed timescales for 
the Joint Strategic Plan. Both the Submission and Adoption joint plan documents 
would need to be approved by each Council. In addition to the joint plan, each 
authority will progress their own local plans to address local issues and provide site 
allocations.

8.2 Whilst an adopted joint plan would form part of the development plan for the 
district/borough, local Development Management committees would retain 
sovereignty when it came to determining planning applications in their area.

9. Next Steps

9.1 The first step to embark on a South West Herts Joint Plan is for all the authorities to 
agree a Memorandum of Understanding. The next step will be to progress a 
Statement of Common Ground (SoCG). This document will identify the relevant 
cross-boundary strategic priorities and will also be expected to set out how growth 
will be distributed across the area and what key supporting infrastructure will be 
required. The five South West Herts authorities and Hertfordshire County Council will 
be the signatories.  During the time the Statement of Common Ground is being 
drafted, a new timetable for the plan’s preparation will be drafted and officers will be 
working to progress the evidence to support the new plan.

10. Additional Urban Design Capacity

10.1 To help support the delivery of high quality new development, money has also 
successfully been secured through an MHCLG (Planning Delivery Fund) bid for 
design and masterplanning expertise.  This money will fund a new Officer post – to 
be shared with St Albans Council.  This Officer’s principal role will be to assist with 
future masterplanning of key development sites and oversee production of new 
design guidance.  Whilst direct recruitment on a 1 year contract will be explored, the 
role is likely to be filled through the use of an agency or specialist consultant.  This 
contract will be reviewed at the end of the 1 year period, and a decision taken at that 
time if this post needs to be continued on a jointly funded basis, and budget options 
reviewed as appropriate at that time.  

11 Annexes to this report
 
11.1 The following documents are annexed to this report:

 Annex 1 – Draft Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)
 Annex 2 – Member Workshop Report ‘Planning Strategically in South West 

Hertfordshire – Next steps’ February 2018. 

Page 560



 

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING  

  

 FOR STRATEGIC PLANNING   

  

IN SOUTH WEST HERTFORDSHIRE  

  

  

  

  

  

January 2018 
 

 

 

 

Page 561



Page 562



 

1  

  

STRATEGIC PLANNING IN SOUTH WEST HERTFORDSHIRE 

 

Memorandum of Understanding 

between 

Dacorum Borough Council 

Hertsmere Borough Council 

St Albans District Council 

Three Rivers District Council 

Watford Borough Council 

Hertfordshire County Council 

 

 

 

This Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) sets out how cooperation between the five 

local planning authorities in South West Hertfordshire and Hertfordshire County Council will 

be managed in respect of strategic planning issues.  

The Localism Act 2011 places a Duty to Cooperate on local planning authorities and county 

councils1 (amongst other public sector organisations), requiring them to engage 

constructively, actively and on an on-going basis in the preparation of plans where this 

involves strategic matters. Local planning authorities will be tested in relation to legal 

compliance with the Duty at examination, as well as whether strategic cooperation has 

resulted in a ‘sound’ and robust approach to delivering strategic objectives. 

The Neighbourhood Planning Act 20172 requires local planning authorities to “identify the 

strategic priorities for the development and use of land in the authorities’ area and set out 

policies to address those priorities in the development plan documents, taken as a whole. 

This clause was included to allow greater flexibility in the way that local planning authorities 

prepare local planning documents, and specifically to support the preparation of ‘strategic’ 

local plans, whether prepared individually or jointly with neighbouring authorities. However, 

several recent announcements from Government on proposed planning reforms indicates 

                                            
1
 Localism Act 2011, Section 110.  

2
 Neighbourhood Planning Act Part 1, Section 8 

Page 563



  

  

 

2  

  

strongly that the Government’s preferred approach is for strategic priorities to be managed 

on a joint basis across housing market areas through the use of joint spatial plans.   

Building on the existing strong foundations of cooperation developed through the Duty to 

Cooperate, the Local Authorities have agreed to move to a more formal approach to 

strategic planning. This will be developed through a ‘portfolio’ of plans, with a Joint Strategic 

Plan (JSP) setting out strategic spatial and infrastructure priorities that are considered to be 

of mutual benefit, prepared alongside a suite of Local Plans to manage delivery within each 

of the local planning areas.  

Work on the JSP will be steered within the governance structure of the Joint Member and 

Officer Board (JMOB) to ensure that it aligns with other strategic priorities.  Although the JSP 

will be prepared on the basis of collaboration, formal decisions on the JSP at key stages in its 

preparation (identified in each local planning authorities’ Local Development Scheme) will 

be taken by the individual local planning authorities which will continue to retain the 

statutory local planning duty (as set out in the 2004 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

and the 2017 Neighbourhood Planning Act).  

A Statement of Common Ground (SoCG) will be prepared by the Authorities, setting out the 

process and timetable for the plan, what local delivery plans will be needed (and how 

current local plans will be managed through the transition process), governance and 

working arrangements, and the key evidence needed to support the JSP. Although the focus 

will be strategic development (housing and economic development) and infrastructure, 

other strategic priorities may be included where they are required to support delivery of the 

long term shared vision for South West Hertfordshire. The Statement will be reviewed on an 

ongoing basis and updated as and when needed. This will form key evidence to support the 

JSP and individual Local Plans and should therefore be made available on each of the 

partner authority’s websites. 

In preparing the JSP, all partners agree to: 

• Engage constructively, actively and on an on-going basis in relation to strategic 

planning matters under the Duty to Cooperate (or equivalent processes);  

• Ensure a broad and consistent approach to strategic planning and development 

issues in South West Hertfordshire;  

• Support better alignment between strategic planning, infrastructure and investment 

priorities in South West Hertfordshire;  

• Adhere to the governance structure set out in this document and ensure that 

activities are delivered, actions are taken and communications are made as required;  

• Be accountable for ensuring that the role and responsibilities as agreed in the 

Statement of Common Ground are adhered to; 

Page 564



 

3  

  

• Be open and communicate about concerns, issues and opportunities in respect of 

collaboration and joint working;  

• Act in a timely manner, recognising the time critical nature of consultations, 

technical projects and plan preparation;  

• Adhere to statutory requirements. Comply with applicable laws and standards, data 

protection and freedom of information requirements;  

• Encourage, develop and share best practice in strategic planning matters;  

• Ensure adequate resources and staffing are in place to undertake effective 

collaboration and joint working (resources to be agreed by the South West 

Hertfordshire Authorities through the Statement of Common Ground). 

 

Area Covered  

For the purposes of this MoU the geographic area of South West Hertfordshire applies to 

the administrative areas of Dacorum Borough Council, Hertsmere Borough Council, St 

Albans District Council, Three Rivers District Council and Watford Borough Council. 

 

Status  

This MoU cannot override the statutory duties and powers of the parties and is not 

enforceable by law. However, the parties agree to the principles set out in this MoU.  

This MoU is not a development plan, nor a legally binding document, but will be used in the 

consideration of how the local authorities have jointly approached strategic planning issues 

and legal compliance with the Duty to Cooperate.  

This MoU may be supported by other documentation, and other subject specific MoUs, 

which set out in more detail how the parties will work together to tackle more detailed 

matters with respect to strategic planning in South West Hertfordshire.  

It is accepted that an individual party or group of parties that are signatories to this MoU 

may also be signatories to other MoUs between themselves, or with other parties outside 

South West Hertfordshire in respect of the Duty to Cooperate.   

Key outputs of this MoU are:  

• A Joint Strategic Plan (JSP) setting out strategic spatial and infrastructure priorities 

across South West Hertfordshire; 

• A Delivery Strategy setting out how the strategic policy framework of the JSP will be 

delivered, accompanied by a risk assessment and risk management plan; 

• A Statement of Common Ground setting out how a JSP will be delivered, what the 

evidence base is, including identification of various development needs;  

• A JSP monitoring process to chart and monitor delivery of the JSP. 

 

Page 565



  

  

 

4  

  

Governance, Roles and Responsibilities  

Preparation of the Joint Spatial Plan and associated Delivery Strategy will be steered under 

the governance arrangements of a Joint Member and Officer Board (JMOB). Formal 

decisions on the JSP at key stages (to be set out in individual Local Development Schemes) 

will be taken by individual Local Planning Authorities on the advice and recommendations of 

JMOB.  The JMOB will comprise the Leader and the Chief Executive (or equivalent) from 

each of the District/Borough authorities and the Portfolio Holder and Lead Planning Officer 

from Hertfordshire County Council. 

A Strategic Planning Members Group (SPMG) will be accountable for the overall 

project management of the JSP, supported by a Strategic Planning Officers Group 

(SPOG). The SPMG will comprise political representatives from each of the partners 

(to be appointed by individual authorities) with appropriate authority to direct 

progress with the SoCG and JSP.  The SPOG will comprise the Heads of Service (or 

equivalent) from each of the partner authorities, and the lead officer for strategic 

planning. 

 

‘Task and finish’ groups will be used to develop specific policy areas, to be identified 

by the SPMG as and when needed.  

 

Terms of Reference for all groups will be established, setting out the roles, responsibilities 

and administration. These will be agreed by all partners and reviewed annually to ensure 

they remain relevant.  

 

Local authorities should ensure that adequate resources are provided in order to undertake 

the joint work programme as set out in the Statement of Common Ground. Additional 

resources may be provided by other relevant bodies, as agreed to undertake specified tasks 

under the work programme.  

Review of the MoU  

This MoU is effective from the date it is signed by the Chief Executive and Leaders of all 

parties. It will be reviewed as and when indicated through the Statement of Common 

Ground. 

Page 566



 

5  

  

 

Table of Signatories  

Signature  Role  Authority  Date  

   Leader of Council      

   Chief Executive      

  

Page 567



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Planning Strategically in  

South West Hertfordshire  

– Next steps 

 
February 2018 

 
 

 
 

POS Enterprises Ltd is the operational arm of the Planning Officers Society 
Registered office: Suite 1, 3rd Floor, 11-12 St James’s Square, London SW1Y 4LB 

Registered in England and Wales No 6708161 

Page 568



Planning Strategically in South West Hertfordshire – Next steps 

 
 
1 Introduction and national context 

1.1 The South West Hertfordshire Authorities of Dacorum, Hertsmere, St Albans, Three 

Rivers and Watford, together with Hertfordshire County Council have agreed to work on a 

more formal basis to address strategic planning priorities across the Housing Market 

Area (HMA). Lead councillors and officers from the partner authorities held a workshop 

on the 23 January 2018 (see Annex 1 for a summary note of workshop discussions) to 

agree how to progress this work, following an initial officer workshop on the 28 November 

2017. This paper summarise the context for joint planning, and sets out recommended 

next steps.    

  

1.2 Since the abolition of Regional Spatial Strategies in 2010, local planning authorities 

(LPAs) have relied on the Duty to Cooperate to manage strategic priorities across HMAs, 

particularly housing provision and distribution. However, this has not proved to be an 

effective mechanism and has resulted in a number of failures at local plan examinations. 

The Government recognises the Duty’s weaknesses and is therefore proposing some 

new mechanisms to strengthen approaches to strategic planning. These were set out in 

various consultation documents published during 2017 (see Annex 2) but are expected to 

be confirmed in the revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)1. The following 

paragraphs summarise the key planks of the Government’s new anticipated approach to 

strategic planning. 

 

 Joint ‘strategic’ plans  

 

1.3 An increasing number of LPAs are moving towards this approach as it is considered as 

the most effective mechanism for properly addressing strategic issues. The path towards 

joint plans has been helped by the Government’s proposal to move back to a portfolio 

approach to local planning, with strategic plans, preferably prepared on a joint basis, 

addressing a small number of key policies, supported by more locally focused plans (see 

Annex 3).  The concept of ‘strategic’ local plans was initially set out in last February’s 

Housing White Paper and was formally introduced in May 2017 through the 

Neighbourhood Planning Act. This requires all local authorities to identify their strategic 

priorities and set out policies in their development plan documents (taken as a whole) to 

address these.  The new approach allows a more flexible way of plan-making with the 

aim being that the more challenging strategic issues are dealt with in the first stage 

strategic plan. 

 

1.4 So far three groups of authorities are pioneering joint strategic plans (West of England, 

Greater Exeter and Oxfordshire Authorities) but a number of others are exploring this as 

an option.  Although the Government is not likely to impose joint plans as a model for 

strategic planning across the country, it is clear that its ‘carrot and stick’ approach is 

making this increasingly difficult to avoid. The Secretary of State has also made it clear 

that he fully intends to use new powers to direct LPAs to prepare joint plans where there 

                                            
1
 A revised version of NPPF (and associated Planning Policy Guidance) is due to be published in draft in March 2018 

with the final version expected in the summer 2018. 

Page 569



have been failures to progress plans within HMAs. This is one of the mechanisms for local 

plan intervention open to the Government. 

 

Statement of Common Ground 

 

1.5 The revised NPPF will introduce a new requirement for all LPAs to prepare a Statement 

of Common Ground (SCG) setting out how strategic planning matters have been 

managed over HMAs.  These will form an important part of the  Duty to Cooperate 

evidence and will be tested at local plan examinations.  Those authorities that are 

preparing a joint strategic plan are using this new mechanism as the ‘pre-

commencement’ document, setting out overall strategy, working arrangements and key 

issues. A template for a SCG is set out in Annex 4. 

 

New ‘tests of soundness’ 

 
1.6 Local plans will be assessed against two new tests of soundness at examination, aimed 

at ensuring strategic planning matters across HMAs have been properly addressed. 

These will be used to ensure that there is not only a proactive and positive approach to 

strategic planning matters across HMAs (as currently required by the Duty to Cooperate), 

but that there is a clear (and agreed) approach to how these will be delivered in all 

relevant local plans or through a joint plan.  The new tests are expected to be confirmed 

in the revised NPPF but, as currently proposed, would require plans to be:  

 

a) prepared based on a strategy informed by agreements over the wider area, and  

b) based on effective joint working on cross-boundary strategic priorities, which are 

evidenced in the statement of common ground. 

 

1.7 The new tests will set a high bar to cross for all LPAs, particularly where local plans are 

being prepared on different timetables and there are complex strategic issues, with no 

overall agreed strategy for addressing these. This is clearly an incentive to prepare joint 

plans to provide a coherent strategic framework across HMAs and deliver a quicker local 

planning process. 

 
 

2  Taking forward a Joint Spatial Plan in South West Hertfordshire 
 

2.1 All six of the partner authorities recognised at the workshop that there were potentially 

significant advantages from preparing a statutory joint plan for the area.  The key benefits 

are set out in the table below. 

 

A joint strategic plan for South West Hertfordshire will: 

• provide a more effective long-term approach to place-shaping, with a larger spatial 
canvas offering more options for directing development to the right areas where growth 
can be supported by the right infrastructure, whilst retaining individual LPA decision-
making (on the JSP). 

• facilitate a ‘strategy-led’ rather than a purely ‘numbers-led’ planning framework to deliver 

growth, which better articulates the role of SW Herts in the context of the Metropolitan 

Green Belt and its relationship with London and the Oxfordshire-Cambridge Growth 

Page 570



corridor. 

• increase funding opportunities and secure wider support from Government, with a 
strong emphasis on joint plans in all DCLG bidding processes (e.g. Housing 
Infrastructure Fund, Joint Working Fund).  

• ensure that key strategic matters common across the HMA (e.g. future role of the Green 
Belt, infrastructure delivery, development viability, housing mix and type) are addressed 
more effectively and on a consistent basis. 

• help deliver a technically sound and legally compliant planning framework for SWH 
through examination (i.e. meet the Duty to Cooperate and new ‘tests of soundness’). 

• demonstrate to Government that there is serious intent to move forward positively and 
quickly with local plans, ensuring that SWH Authorities remain in control in response to 
the local plan intervention threat faced by St Albans, which may result in a Secretary of 
State direction to prepare a joint plan with adjoining areas.  

• articulate an agreed position in terms of growth to Government and the potential ability 
to negotiate ‘freedoms and flexibilities’ with regard to things such as the 5 year land 
supply and infrastructure funding (as per Oxfordshire). 

• more efficient and effective use of resources, skills and expertise 

 
 

2.2 All the LPAs are at a similar, early stage in reviewing their local plans for the first time.  

There is therefore a perfect opportunity to move to a joint plan without compromising 

individual local plans. The proposed new SCG provides a useful opportunity for the 

councils to manage this transition and develop a robust response to the challenging 

strategic issues the area faces in the short, medium and long term. The following 

paragraphs therefore set out the key actions needed to take this work forward. 

 

 Secure formal agreement from all partners to develop a joint spatial plan 

 

2.3 In order to progress work on developing a Joint Strategic Plan (JSP) for South West 

Hertfordshire, all partners will have to secure formal agreement and provisional 

governance and working arrangements.  

 

 Recommendation 1:  All SW Hertfordshire Authorities secure initial agreement from their 

relevant committee / cabinet to progress a JSP as part of a new portfolio approach to 

local plan-making [timescale: by the end of March 2018].   

 

 Recommendation 2: A Memorandum of Understanding should be prepared and signed 

by all partner authorities [timescale: by the end of March 2018]. 

 

Recommendation 3: A pre-commencement document2 should be prepared, setting out 

the overall approach to developing the JSP (governance and working arrangements, 

project management, resources, budget), the plan’s scope and timetable, and a risk 

                                            
2
 The West of England Authorities prepared a pre-commencement document as part of the work on the JSP 

(https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/so-welep-uploads2/files/JSPS/JSPS%20PCD%20v12.pdf ) but the proposed 
new requirement for a statement of common ground to be prepared will fulfil this purpose in future.  

Page 571

https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/so-welep-uploads2/files/JSPS/JSPS%20PCD%20v12.pdf


assessment and management plan. The Statement of Common Ground should be used 

as the template for the pre-commencement document to avoid duplication.   

[timescale: SCG agreed by June 2018 with all Local Development Schemes updated to 

reflect the new planning arrangements] 

 

Overall vision and strategy for South West Hertfordshire 

 

2.4 A key part of the plan-making process will be ensuring that all partners agree a shared 

long-term vision for the area, with key spatial, economic and infrastructure priorities. 

Although over time the detailed aspects of delivering the vision may change, the overall 

strategy will stay the same, therefore it is important that this is developed and owned by 

all involved, and at the highest level.  

 

 Recommendation 4: All South West Hertfordshire LPAs and the County Council develop 

a long term (2050) vision, setting out strategic spatial, economic and infrastructure 

priorities to inform the JSP but also wider strategies that are being prepared on a 

Hertfordshire basis e.g. Local Industrial Strategy, Local Transport Plan (and other 

infrastructure plans). To explore potential for support from Est of England Local 

Government Association (EELGA). [timescale: by June 2018] 

 

Governance and working arrangements  

 

2.5 The JSP will be prepared on a joint basis but the decision-making process will be through 

the individual LPAs.  To manage the risks associated with this, a robust governance 

structure will need to be established, which a clear role for the leadership from each 

authority. 

 

 Recommendation 5: A Member-led Strategic Planning Members Group (SPMG) should 

be established to provide political leadership for preparation of the JSP.   The 

composition of the SPMG, and its links to other relevant groups (e.g. the Hertfordshire 

Infrastructure and Planning Partnership) should be agreed in the MoU, and set out in 

more detail in terms of reference. [timescale: governance structure, MoU and ToR 

agreed by end of February 2018] 

 

2.6 Although preparation of a joint plan will bring benefits from sharing resources and skills 

across the HMA, there will continue to be considerable constraints that will have to be 

managed if the JSP is to be delivered as a priority.  Additional resources will have to be 

procured, for example, a project manager and project support, but the authorities should 

also develop an internal training and development programme to help fill any gaps. 

 

 Recommendation 6: That the lead officers from each of the partner authorities form a  

Strategic Planning Officers Group (SPOG) to support the SPMG. Terms of reference 

should be prepared to ensure the role and responsibilities of the project board are clear, 

including any specific workstream responsibilities. [timescale: end of February 2018] 

 

Recommendation 7: The SPOG should appoint a project manager and other project 

support as soon as is practically possible to keep momentum going on the plan-

preparation.  A draft job description is contained on Annex 5. [timescale: end of March 

2018] 

Page 572



 

 

 

 

 

 

 Communications and engagement  

 

2.7 Given the complexities and sensitivities related to preparing a joint plan, it will be 

important to ensure that any communications and engagement with stakeholders is 

properly managed.  

 

Recommendation 8: A communications strategy should be prepared as part of the pre-

commencement stage, setting out how the formal consultation processes will be 

managed alongside wider engagement on the plan.  Engagement with the following key 

groups should be included: 

 

 The wider local authority membership, helping to secure cross-party ownership 

and therefore reducing any risks associated with potential changes arising from 

elections or in leadership. Suggested mechanisms include establishing a member 

forum with a small number of cross-party representatives as a sounding board at 

key stages of the process, and regular member updates and workshops.  

 Strategic stakeholders to ensure buy-in from stakeholders as the plan develops, 

particularly where they are statutory bodies (statutory consultees) or have a role 

in delivering the plan.  

 Local MPs, ensuring that they understand why the JSP is being prepared and the 

what the long term approach to developing a coherent and robust strategy is. 

 Government departments, particularly where there is a need to ensure additional 

funding to deliver the JSP.  An initial meeting with the Ministry of Housing, 

Communities and Local Government should take place at the early stages of plan 

preparation. Neighbouring authorities, particularly those areas adjacent to the 

JSP area.  

 

 

Catriona Riddell, POS Enterprises Consultant 

21 February 2018  

Page 573



Annex 1: Notes from workshop held 23 January 2018 
 

 
Key Issues and Agreed Actions: 
 
Discussion (1)- What does ‘joint planning’ mean for SW Herts? 
 
Key issue was whether authorities choose to (a) continue with a ‘business as usual approach i.e. 
using the new Statement of Common Ground (SCG) to set the context for the five individual 
Local Plan (LPs), or (b) whether to use this SCG to progress a Joint Strategic Plan (JSP) which 
would articulate these key strategic issues in a statutory planning document, with individual LPs 
sitting below.   
 
The initial position of each authority was as follows: 

 WBC accepted the logic of preparing a JSP, but there needed to be clearer articulation of 

the advantages of this. 

 HBC were in favour of a JSP as could see benefits in terms of helping secure additional 

infrastructure funding etc.  Some concerns regarding Green Belt issues and how the issues 

of housing numbers would be resolved were raised. 

 DBC agreed that it was essential to have some form of joint planning process to help 

address concerns regarding infrastructure provision etc.  However, there were some 

concerns regarding how the housing numbers issue became easier with the involvement of 

5 authorities without becoming a game of ‘pass the parcel.’   

 HCC considered the decision to be in the hands of the 5 local authorities, but noted there 

was an emerging recognition that as a service provider they needed to work with smaller 

groupings of local authorities to address the challenges posed with regard to growth and 

infrastructure provision. 

 TRDC noted that no single authority could deal with the challenges the area faces alone.  

Due to the nature of the area, development in one location directly impacted a wider area – 

irrespective of administrative boundaries.  A JSP also gave the opportunity to better address 

issues such as infrastructure delivery and the mix of housing across the area.  There were 

some concerns regarding the loss of individual political control, but these were outweighed 

by the benefits a JSP would bring.  

 SADC agreed with TRDC in terms of the challenges faced within the SW Herts area.  The 

position for SADC was however complicated by the fact that they had to respond to the 

Government intervention letter.  However, they supported the principle of a JSP. 

 
After further discussion it was agreed by all that that there were benefits of working together on 
a JSP in terms of: 

 Planning strategically for the area, but maintaining local decision-making processes. 

 Addressing common issues such as the future role of the Green Belt, infrastructure 

delivery, development viability, affordable housing and housing mix. 

 Articulating an agreed position in terms of growth to Government and the potential ability to 

negotiate ‘freedoms and flexibilities’ with regard to things such as the 5 year land supply 

and infrastructure funding (as per Oxfordshire). 

 Improved chances of securing infrastructure funding. 

 Developing a ‘strategy-led’ rather than a purely ‘numbers-led’ plan, which delivers growth, 

but better articulates the role of SW Herts in the context of the Metropolitan Green Belt and 

its relationship with London and the Oxfordshire-Cambridge Growth corridor. 

Page 574



 Developing a shared commitment to how growth is planned, delivered and explained to 

stakeholders. 

 The ability to consider the role of key strategic sites and the ability of these to deliver 

better infrastructure improvements than a large number of smaller sites. 

 Ensuring plans can be found ‘sound’ and comply with the anticipated new tests of 

soundness (even if they initially take slightly longer to prepare than currently 

envisaged). 

 Overcome the challenge of mixed messages from Government on issues such as 

Green Belt and housing delivery. 

 The ability to set out a clear vision for the wider area and plan strategically on a long 

term basis i.e. potentially up to 2050, with individual Local Plans providing the short / 

medium term detail. 

 
Following discussion, the agreed position of all six authorities was as follows: 

1. Agree to the principle of progressing a JSP, but noted that time needed to be set aside 

urgently to work out the details of how this would work in practice.   

2. The aim should be to have an initial SCG in place by June 2018 to set a clear process to 

take the JSP forward. 

 
Discussion (2) – what is needed to initiate work on a joint strategic plan? 
 
It was noted that Government would expect to see prompt evidence of a commitment to a JSP.  
This commitment had the potential to support SADC in their response to their intervention letter 
(due by the end of January 2018). 

 
Next steps were agreed as follows: 

1. Set up a meeting with Government asap (at the appropriate level; suggest Steve Evison). 

(WBC to lead) 

2. Discuss with the EELGA what they may be able to offer in terms of supporting the JSP 

process going forwards (DBC to lead). 

3. Draft a MOU to set establish a clear commitment to moving forwards and how this would 

need to be resourced in terms of both finances and staff (SADC to lead). 

4. The above MOU to form the basis of a report to relevant Committees, for their 

endorsement of the process moving forward.  Agreement to be confirmed by all parties 

by the end of February/March 2018. 

5. If one authority proves unable to commit to this MOU at this time, the other authorities 

will proceed with the JSP process. 

6. To set up a meeting with local MPs (appropriate timing to be discussed) to ensure they 

are fully briefed and ideally on-board with the SW Herts process. 

7. Carry out an initial audit of skills and resources to see where there are gaps that need to 

be filled on a SW Herts basis, to enable a JSP to progress successfully. 

8. CR to provide examples of MOUs and JSP timetables for consideration. 

9. A Communications Strategy to be agreed, to include a draft press release for circulation 

asap, to ensure all authorities take a consistent approach to announcing decisions on the 

JSP and the benefits of joint working. Key messages to be as set out under Discussion 

(1) above. (DBC to lead). 

10. Formal Member and Officer groups to be established to take discussions forward. 

Member representation to be either at leader or Portfolio Holder level (as appropriate for 

each Council), but the representative must have the authority to make key decisions 

relating to work on the SoCG / JSP.  Meetings to be held on a regular basis to ensure 

Page 575



matters progress to timetable.  Officer meeting confirmed for 21st February, but 

discussions on MOU to progress in advance of this. 

 

Workshop Attendees: 
 

DACORUM (DBC) 
Cllr Andrew Derek Williams, Leader 
Cllr Graham Sutton, Portfolio Holder – Planning & Regeneration  
Sally Marshall, Chief Executive 
Mark Gaynor, Corporate Director – Housing & Regeneration 
James Doe, Assistant Director – Planning, Development & Regeneration 
Chris Taylor, Group Manager – Strategic Planning & Regeneration 
Nathalie Bateman, Team Leader – Strategic Growth and Infrastructure 
Laura Wood, Team Leader – Strategic Planning 
 
HERTSMERE (HBC) 
Cllr Harvey Cohen, Portfolio Holder – Planning and Localism  
Christine Lyons, Head of Planning & Economic Development 
Mark Silverman, Policy & Transport Manager 
 
ST ALBANS (SADC) 
Cllr Alec Campbell, Leader 
Cllr Mary Maynard, Planning Portfolio Holder 
Amanda Foley, Chief Executive 
Tracy Harvey, Head of Planning & Building Control 
Chris Briggs, Spatial Planning Manager  
 
THREE RIVERS (TRDC) 
Cllr Sara Bedford, Leader 
Steven Halls, Chief Executive 
Geof Muggeridge, Director of Community & Environmental Services 
Claire May, Head of Planning Policy & Projects 
Marko Kalik, Senior Planning Officer 
 
WATFORD (WBC) 
Mayor Dorothy Thornhill, Mayor & Portfolio Holder – Strategic Partnerships  
Cllr Iain Sharpe, Portfolio Holder – Regeneration & Development  
Nick Fenwick, Deputy Managing Director 
Ian Dunsford, Head of Planning Policy 
 
Hertfordshire CC (HCC) 
Cllr Derrick Ashley, Chair of Environment, Planning & Transport Cabinet Panel 
Jon Tiley, Head of Spatial Planning & Economy 
 
Hertfordshire LEP (LEP) 
Apologies received 
 
POS Enterprises 
Catriona Riddell – Facilitator 

  

Page 576



Annex 2: The national context for joint local plans  
 
 Housing White Paper (February 2017): Proposed new style ‘strategic’ local plans to be 

introduced; effectiveness of joint working to be taken into account in new Housing Delivery 
Test; all local planning authorities required to prepare a statement of common ground 
(SCG) setting out how they have worked together and how they have resolved strategic 
matters within the HMA, particularly on infrastructure and housing provision. 

“…we would like to see more and more local authorities working together to produce a 
strategic plan over a wider area on the functional economic geography that is right for their 
part of the world...”                                   

[Gavin Barwell, Minister for Housing and Planning] 

 

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/housing-white-paper  

 Neighbourhood Planning Act (May 2017): Local authorities are required to identify their 
strategic priorities with policies set out in their development plan documents (taken as a 
whole) to address these. Provisions also included in the Act to allow the Secretary of State 
to direct the preparation of a joint local plan where this would “facilitate the more effective 
planning of the development and use of land in the area”. 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/20/part/1/crossheading/local-development-
documents/enacted  

 Housing Infrastructure Fund (July 2017): New £2.3b fund launched to support 
infrastructure delivery, with emphasis given to joint planning as a priority factor in the 
bidding process. 

“We want to fund those schemes that take a strategic approach, with strong local 
leadership and joint working to achieve higher levels of housing growth….” 

[HIF prospectus] 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-infrastructure-fund  

 Right homes in the right places consultation document (September 2017): Set out 
further details of HWP implementation including, new housing needs methodology; details 
and timetable for preparation of Statement of Common Ground, with pilot authorities 
invited; More incentives offered to local authorities progressing joint local plans in relation 

Page 577

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/housing-white-paper
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/20/part/1/crossheading/local-development-documents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/20/part/1/crossheading/local-development-documents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-infrastructure-fund


to the HDT and 5 year land supply calculations; new ‘tests of soundness’ introduced for 
local plans to demonstrate effective strategic planning across HMAs. 

“…today we’re also publishing a requirement for a “statement of common ground”, a new 
framework that will make cross-boundary co-operation more transparent and more 
straightforward.” 

[Sajid Javid, Secretary of State for Communities & Local Government] 

 

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-right-homes-in-the-right-
places-consultation-proposals  

 Secretary of State local plan intervention (November 2017): SoS announces the 
Government’s intention to intervene in plan-making in 15 local authorities (including St 
Albans).  Key factors to be taken into account in final decisions (expected early 2018) are 
local plan progress and the extent of joint working. 

“My decisions on interventions will also be informed by the wider planning context in each 
area (specifically the extent to which authorities are working cooperatively to put strategic 
plans in place)” 

[Sajid Javid, Secretary of State for Communities & Local Government] 

 

 Autumn Budget (November 2017): As part of the Budget, the Government announced 
that the Oxfordshire Authorities would be preparing a joint local plan to support a new 
Housing Deal; that a new ‘strategic infrastructure tariff’ was being considered for combined 
authority areas and areas with joint local plans; and provisions of the Neighbourhood 
Planning Act 2017 to allow the SoS to direct the preparation of joint plans to be 
implemented immediately (one of the mechanisms for government intervention). 

https://www.gov.uk/government/topical-events/autumn-budget-2017  

 Industrial Strategy White Paper (December 2017): White paper setting out how 
Government intends to implement its Industrial Strategy and the important role ‘place’ and 
infrastructure should play in supporting growth, with an emphasis on local authority 
collaboration. LEPs and CAs to be responsible for preparing local industrial strategies.  
Although the focus is on rebalancing Britain more housing deals are on offer in areas of 
high demand and two key growth areas in the South were confirmed (Oxford-Milton 
Keynes- Cambridge Corridor and in the Thames Estuary). 

“We want to support greater collaboration between councils, a more strategic approach to 
planning housing and infrastructure, more innovation and high-quality design in new 
homes and creating the right conditions for new private investment.”  

[Industrial Strategy White Paper] 

https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/industrial-strategy  

 Joint planning capacity fund (December 2017): The new fund, initially announced in the 
HWP, was launched to support those local authorities progressing (or moving towards) a 
joint local plan. The fund will cover the period 2017/18 to 2018/19 initially and aims to 
encourage “more and better joint working, across local authority boundaries, ensuring that 
there are the skills and capacity where they are needed to plan strategically for housing 
growth, and to manage delivery of new homes and infrastructure”.  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-delivery-fund-prospectus  

 

 

Page 578

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-right-homes-in-the-right-places-consultation-proposals
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-right-homes-in-the-right-places-consultation-proposals
https://www.gov.uk/government/topical-events/autumn-budget-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/industrial-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-delivery-fund-prospectus


Annex 3: A new portfolio approach to local planning 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 579



Annex 4: Statement of Common Ground – suggested template 
 
 
Part 1: Strategic context:  

• geographical extent and wider relationships;  

• overall ambitions and strategic priorities i.e. those that affect the sum of all parts;  

• key metrics e.g. housing need, past delivery, expected GVA growth; 

• main delivery mechanisms i.e. single joint plan/ single LPs. 

 

Part 2: Policy Scope and evidence base:  

• key strategic matters to be addressed e.g. overall housing target and anticipated 

distribution as this may change as plans/plan develops; strategic infrastructure priorities; 

strategic employment opportunities; other e.g. GI strategy, G&T 

• Main evidence-base to be used 

 

Part 3: Decision-making & project management:  

• What are the governance and working arrangements (resources)?  

• Who are the key partners and are they signed up to the overall objective?  

• How will strategic stakeholders/ Stat cons be involved?  

• What are key timescales/ milestones and at what point are key decisions likely to be 

made? 

 

Part 4: Risk assessment and management:  

• Need to link to HDT/ HIF.  

• Highlight key risks to delivering shared objectives and how these will be managed e.g. 

infrastructure not delivered, housing not delivered at anticipated rate, changing political 

priorities - locally or nationally, changing resources.   

• Others with a key role in delivery - mechanisms to ensure delivery (e.g. MoUs, deals with 

government). 

• Risks in terms of resources and any skills gaps, and how these will be managed. 

 

Part 5: Monitoring and Review:  

• Key indicators and milestones 

• Monitoring of DtC (as currently done through AMR) 

• Triggers fore review of SCG (as highlighted through risk assessment) 

 

Annexes 

• Details of MoUs, deals, other agreements 

• DtC activity table 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 580



Annex 5: JSP Project Manager – draft job description 
 
 

SOUTH WEST HERTFORDSHIRE JOINT STRATEGIC PLAN: PROJECT MANAGER 
 

DRAFT JOB DESCRIPTION 
 

February 2018 
 

 
Post Title: South West Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan 

Project Manager  
 (time period of appointment tbc) 

  
Accountable Body: South West Hertfordshire Strategic Planning 

Members Group (SPMG) -add annex explaining 
governance 

 
Post No: TBC  

 
Grade/ Salary: £45k-£60k plus car allowance to be added (plus 

London Fringe allowance?) 
 
Responsible Officer: Chief Executive [from one of the SWH Authorities] 

 
    

 
Job Summary: 
 
To manage the development of a cross-authority, statutory spatial plan (Joint Strategic 

Plan) for South West Hertfordshire, covering the geographical area of Dacorum, 

Hertsmere, St Albans, Three Rivers and Watford, taking account of existing and 

emerging local development strategies for the area, and national policy and statutory 

plan-making requirements. 

The post holder will work with the five Local Planning Authorities within and 

Hertfordshire County Council, as well as strategic stakeholders identified by the 

Authorities as key in delivering the JSP. 

The post holder will be directly accountable to the lead officer [to be identified] with 
responsibility for steering the JSP, working closely with the South West Hertfordshire  
Joint Member and Officer Board (JMOB). 

 

Responsibilities: 

Working with the six partner authorities, the post holder will have a key role in supporting 

the implementation of the shared vision through preparation of a statutory joint plan (Joint 

Strategic Plan). The work programme for the plan will be steered by the  Strategic 

Planning Officers Group (SPOG), reporting to a  Joint Member and Officer Board 

(JMOB).. Specific responsibilities of the post holder will be: 

 To ensure that the Joint Strategic Plan is delivered to the agreed timetable and meets 
all statutory process requirements (including Duty to Cooperate), keeping momentum 
going throughout the process. 

Page 581



 To lead on co-ordination and procurement of the evidence base needed to support the 
development of the plan, including liaison with the local planning authorities in relation 
to their individual local development plans 

 To keep the plan’s risk assessment and management plan current, with regular 
reviews and updates, highlighting any significant changes to the JSP  Strategic 
Planning Officers Group (SPOG) and  Strategic Planning Members Group (SPMG)  
immediately. 

 To manage the plan’s communication’s strategy (internal and external), working 
closely with the lead officers from each authority [to be agreed].  

 To work with strategic stakeholders, including neighbouring authorities, key partner 
agencies and relevant Central Government departments, representing the views of 
the authorities and ensuring the plan is deliverable.  

 To act as a ‘champion’ for the joint planning work, helping to raise its profile both 
within a South West Hertfordshire context and externally, as ‘good practice’.  

 To ensure that adequate systems are in place to allow monitoring and performance 
assessments, and that all work reaches required high levels of quality. 

 To manage the plan’s budget in accordance with the requirements of Statement of 
Common Ground and work programme.   

 

Note: 
This Job Description is not a definitive list of tasks - it is designed to give an overall view 
of the job, and not to indicate what the sole requirements are.  It is envisaged that you will 
use your own initiative, and develop you own style to achieve the desired aims. 
 
Reasonable adjustment will be made to working arrangements to accommodate a person 
with a disability who otherwise would be prevented from undertaking the work. 

 

Person Specification 

To be added but should include the following  

 political awareness (working with Members and Officers at a senior level) 

 good communications skills (presenting complex technical issues, adjusting 
presentation to different audiences) 

 good understanding of statutory plan-making process (do they need to be a qualified 
planner?) 

 Ability to manage complex projects, delivering to timetable but remaining flexible and 
responsive to necessary changes over time.  

 

Annexes to be added 

 

 

 

Page 582



Report for: Cabinet

Date of meeting: 27 March 2018

Part: 1

If Part II, reason:

Title of report: Risk Management Report, Quarter 3, 2017/18

Contact: Councillor Graeme Elliot, Portfolio Holder Finance & 
Resources 
James Deane, Corporate Director (Finance & Operations)
Linda Dargue, Lead Officer Insurance & Risk 

Purpose of report: To provide the Quarter 3 update on the Strategic Risk Register

Recommendations That the content of this report is noted 

Corporate 
Objectives:

Dacorum Delivers – Risk management is an essential part of 
ensuring that the Council meets all of its objectives

Implications:

‘Value For Money 
Implications’

Financial

None Identified 

Value for Money
Risk management is closely linked to the Council’s
 commitment to ensure that all resources are used efficiently
 and forms part of effective financial planning. The Council also
 needs to ensure that adequate provisions are in place to
 address anticipated risks but that these are no greater than
 necessary so that maximum resources are applied to services
 as required.  To this end the Council sets minimum target
 working balances for both the general fund and HRA and at
 the date of this report this minimum balances are secured.
 Budget exercises for 2017/18 have ensured that the minimum
 balance requirements will also be met for the next financial
year

Community Impact 
Assessment

Community Impact Assessment reviewed/carried out*

Not Applicable 

Health And Safety Not Applicable 

Page 583

Agenda Item 11



Implications

Monitoring 
Officer/S.151 
Officer Comments

Monitoring Officer:   

No comments to add to the report.

S.151 Officer
No comments to add to the report.

Consultees: CMT 

Audit Committee 7 February 2018

Background 
papers:

Report to Audit Committee 7 February 2018

Glossary of 
acronyms and any  
other abbreviations 
used in this report:

SRR – Strategic Risk Register 

Background 

1. The revised Strategic Risk Register showing the position at the end of Q3 2017/18        
     is attached at Appendix A.

Audit Committee Scrutiny 

2. In line with the Council’s approved Risk management Strategy, the 2017/18 
    Quarter 3 position for the Strategic Risk Register was considered by the Audit    

        Committee at its meeting on 7 February 2018.

3.  For this quarter the risk scores have remained unchanged, however the narrative 
     has been reviewed and amended as appropriate to reflect the present position.     

4. There were no material concerns to report back to Cabinet.  The Minutes of the 
Audit Committee discussion will be available shortly on the Council’s website.

        https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=160&Year=0
 

Page 584

https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=160&Year=0


4. There was a discussion around the need for the Strategic Risk Register to be 
reviewed and updated, both in terms of the risks themselves and the control 
measures that are in place.  It was agreed that Mazar’s will be asked to facilitate a 
meeting with Portfolio Holder’s and CMT in the New Year.   The Minutes of the 
Audit Committee discussion will be available shortly on the Council’s website.

        https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=160&Year=0
 
      

Page 585

https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=160&Year=0


C5 - The Council fails to comply with the regulatory framework within which it must operate. 

Category: Corporate Priority: Risk Owner: Portfolio Holder: Tolerance:
Legal & Regulatory Dacorum Delivers James Deane Graeme Elliot Treating

Inherent Probability Inherent Impact Inherent Risk Score Residual Probability Residual Impact Residual Risk Score
4

Very Likely
4

Severe
16

Red
3

Likely
2

Medium
6

Amber
Consequences Current Controls Assurance

As a public sector organisation, there a number of 
regulatory frameworks which govern the way in which 
the Council must operate both on a day-to-day basis and 
in the discharging of one-off duties or actions.
 
Generally, compliance with these frameworks is 
considered an operational risk and is monitored and 
managed through a combination of the Operational Risk 
Register and Performance Indicators which are reported 
to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committees.
 
However, there is a risk that in some circumstances 
failure to comply with regulations could result in a 
number of consequences for the Council that are 
sufficiently negative and high profile in nature to 
become, for a short time, strategic in nature.
 
For example, failure to follow the correct protocols 
prescribed under the data protection legislation could 
result in the following consequences for the Council:

The Council has a number of strategies and policies in 
place which aim to provide clarity in the way Council 
Members and staff should operate. 

These documents are reviewed and updated periodically 
by Officers who are experts in the field and are 
frequently the subject of Internal Audit reviews in order 
to provide Members with independent, third-party 
assurance. 

These processes mitigate the likelihood of this risk 
crystallising and have resulted in my reducing the 
inherent risk score from ‘4’, Very Likely, to ‘2’, Unlikely.

Data Protection policy & procedures 
Health & Safety policy & procedures
Risk Management framework 
Safeguarding policy & procedures
Financial Regulations
Procurement Standing Orders
Constitution

The Financial Regulations (Main Accounting) and 
Emergency Plan were audited by Mazars, the Council's 
Internal Auditors in 2014/15 and achieved a FULL level 
of assurance.

The Risk Management framework and Procurement 
Standing Orders were audited in 2014/15 and achieved 
a SUBSTANTIAL level of assurance.

29/01/2018 12:19PM Page 1 of 16

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER
December 2017

P
age 586



1. Disclosure of personal information causing harm to a 
resident
2. High profile negative publicity regarding the way the 
Council operates
3. Significant financial penalty imposed by the 
Information Commissioner

This risk has been included on the Strategic Risk Register 
to ensure that there is scope to escalate an operational 
risk for Cabinet consideration and Audit Committee 
scrutiny should there be a period of intensified risk in a 
specific regulatory area.

Emergency Plan
Human Resources terms & conditions

Sign Off and Comments

Sign Off Complete

The Council is currently in discussions with Union Representatives following their balloting of members in response to changes to Terms and Conditions approved by 
Cabinet in late 2017. Members will kept updated of any associated risks as discussions continue.

C6 - The Council does not attract and retain the skill sets within its workforce that will enable it to maximise opportunities for delivering its services more 
efficiently through increased partnership working.

Category: Corporate Priority: Risk Owner: Portfolio Holder: Tolerance:
People/Employees Dacorum Delivers Sally Marshall Neil Harden Treating

Inherent Probability Inherent Impact Inherent Risk Score Residual Probability Residual Impact Residual Risk Score
4

Very Likely
4

Severe
16

Red
2

Unlikely
4

Severe
8

Amber
Consequences Current Controls Assurance

• The quality of service delivery is likely to be adversely 
affected due to a lack of resources and/or skills to 

- Leading in Dacorum continues to be delivered (all 
courses stated in risk register)

• The projected annual turnover rate (as calculated in 
Q2) is 14%. While this has increased slightly, it is 

29/01/2018 12:19PM Page 2 of 16

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER
December 2017

P
age 587



effectively deliver services through increased 
partnership working.
• There is likely to be a reduction in efficiency savings 
due to inability to create more effective partnerships. 
• There is also likely to be a negative impact on any 
proposals for devolved powers.
• A failure to create more examples of effective 
partnership working will result in a higher likelihood of 
back office and front line services being reduced as the 
financial constraints on the Council’s budget continue to 
tighten.

- People strategy has been implemented which will 
cover issues including graduate scheme, apprenticeship 
scheme, succession planning, reviewing T&Cs etc.
- Continuation

comparable to the wider business average of 15% and 
only just above the local government average (12%). 
• Opportunities for collaboration and shared services 
are being actively considered across Hertfordshire in 
relation to Legal, HR, Information Management, 
Insurance and Payroll Services.
• Recruitment for leadership posts is generally 
competitive with a good number of applications being 
received from suitably qualified candidates for vacant 
posts.

Sign Off and Comments

Sign Off Complete

We have a well-established and effective approach to recruiting staff, although there are some areas in which it is more difficult to attract candidates.  
We use a range of media to advertise and operate up-to-date recruitment policies and practices. However, following a review we have begun to implement changes, which 
will make the Council more attractive to prospective recruits. This includes a new recruitment website, easier forms and using the power of LinkedIn and other social media 
sites to better target suitable candidates. 
We have also started to implement proposals to modernise our terms and conditions, which includes car salary sacrifice, holiday trading and a new staff recognition 
scheme. 
 A project to review our approach to training and development is underway which will ensure our corporate training fulfils the workforce needs and that the service 
training budgets are consistently split across the teams. 
We are also continuing to provide a dedicated management-training programme (Leading in Dacorum) that focuses on service planning, innovation, efficiencies and 
workforce planning, as well as a comprehensive mandatory training programme to ensure staff have the right skills to carry out their roles.

C7 - Controls do not develop at a sufficient pace to keep track with the continually emerging data protection risks

Category: Corporate Priority: Risk Owner: Portfolio Holder: Tolerance:
Corporate Dacorum Delivers Sally Marshall Neil Harden Treating

Inherent Probability Inherent Impact Inherent Risk Score Residual Probability Residual Impact Residual Risk Score

29/01/2018 12:19PM Page 3 of 16

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER
December 2017

P
age 588



3
Likely

4
Severe

12
Red

2
Unlikely

3
High

6
Amber

Consequences Current Controls Assurance
Cause of Risk - The Council is reliant on vast amounts of 
good quality data and information to determine sound 
decisions and plans, conduct operations and deliver 
services.  

It is also required by the Data Protection Act and 
Government’s Public Sector Network (PSN) Code of 
Connection (CoCo) to maintain confidentiality, integrity, 
availability and appropriately authorised  use of the 
data.

With the Government’s ‘Open’ agenda, increased 
flexible working patterns of staff, and increased 
partnership working and use of multiple information 
storage sources, controls on data management and 
security have become complex and important.

Consequences of Risk – 
1. Poor decision making due to ineffective use of or 
insufficient availability of data and information sharing.  
2. Loss, misrepresentation or unauthorised disclosure of 
sensitive data, DBC has the potential to be susceptible to 
cyber-attacks or sabotage.  
3. Under performance. Breach of Data Protection Act 
leading to legal actions, fines, adverse publicity, and 
additional remedial and data protection costs.  
4. Significant interruption of vital services leading to 

Information Security Officer appointed responsibilities 
include:
• the Council’s Corporate Information Assurance 
specialist 
• the custodian, owner and updater of ICT Security and 
Information Governance strategy, policy and procedure 
ensuring that the Council complies with the latest 
legislation in terms of ICT Security standards and 
compliance.
• To ensure that the Council’s policies and procedures 
regarding ICT Security and Information governance are 
adhered to across all the Council’s services.
• To keep informed of relevant technical innovation and 
changes to technological, infrastructure, telecom and 
software systems in relation to Information Security.
• To be the custodian and owner of Information Security 
and Governance Standards.
• To manage Information Security and Governance 
strategies and to support the Council in the future 
development of Information Security, Governance and 
Business Continuity.
• To train Council Staff, Members on Information 
Security, Data Protection Act and Freedom of 
Information Acts.
Compulsory training for staff on Data Security
- PSN Compliance
- Audit of data protection approach

- Information Security Officer appointed
- Various ICT policies and procedures in place
- Compulsory training for staff on Data Security
- PSN Compliance

29/01/2018 12:19PM Page 4 of 16

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER
December 2017

P
age 589



failure to meet duties and to protect people, finances 
and assets. 
5. Potential damage to DBC’s reputation.

Sign Off and Comments

Sign Off Complete

We have a robust approach to managing data security and protection. This includes a range of technical security measures such as anti-virus software, corporate firewalls 
and various authentication processes. 

New staff also have to review and sign a number of Information Security / Management Policies (Including data protection) and all suppliers working with our data are 
required to complete an ‘accreditation form’.

Overall systems availability in Q2 was above target at 99.96% and we received our PSN reaccreditation (January). We also continue to implement the findings from the 
independent cyber security audit.  

The forthcoming refresh of our hardware (February) and software upgrades will strength our resilience and we are continuing to work with BT to progress delivery of 
resilient lines. We are also working towards the upgrade of the Council’s data centre (March). 

We are continuing to run quarterly training courses and refreshers on the Data Protection Act, which will be merged with the GDPR course in May 2018. A GDPR 12 point 
action plan was presented to CMT and is being implemented.  

F6 - Changes to legislation could negatively affect the medium to long term viability of the HRA Business Plan.

Category: Corporate Priority: Risk Owner: Portfolio Holder: Tolerance:
Financial Affordable Housing Mark Gaynor Margaret Patricia Griffiths Treating

Inherent Probability Inherent Impact Inherent Risk Score Residual Probability Residual Impact Residual Risk Score
4

Very Likely
4

Severe
16

Red
4

Very Likely
3

High
12

Red

29/01/2018 12:19PM Page 5 of 16

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER
December 2017

P
age 590



Consequences Current Controls Assurance
Since the ‘once and for all’ settlement with government 
on the self financing of the HRA there have been major 
legislative and policy changes which, overall, have 
impacted detrimentally on the HRA Business Plan:
• The re-invigoration of the RTB which has increased 
sales from around 15-20 per year to well over 100
• The parallel introduction of the RTB ‘one for one’ 
replacement scheme where the Council can use receipts 
to build new homes but only to pay for 30% of costs 
(leaving the other 70% to be sourced)
• A change to national rent policy which moved from RPI 
+ 0.5% to CPI + 1% and ending the process of reaching 
target rents (leaving 60% of DBC properties below 
target)
The government now propose two further changes 
which, if enacted, will further constrain the capacity of 
the HRA Business Plan viability:
• A rent reduction of 1% per year for four years and a 
complete inability to make any progress towards 
convergence to target rents (a reduction of income of 
£30M over the first four years and over £500M over the 
lifetime of the HRA Business Plan)
• Enforced sales of ‘high value’ council homes as they 
become vacant to fund Housing Association RTB
The first of these changes is already in draft legislation 
and the assumption must be that it will happen. The 
consequences are very significant, and even with 
mitigation will continue to be so:
 The financial viability of the HRA to meet its current 

Elements of the changes are yet to apply (the rent 
changes start from April 2016) and the current controls 
– proper business planning, the disciplines of the MTFS, 
project and programme management arrangements, 
effective contract management, annual efficiency 
programmes and so on – reflect on the existing position 
and could provide sufficient mitigation to the long term 
business plan. The controls proposed for the new 
changes – if the proposed legislation is enacted – will 
only mitigate the impact to an extent as the scale of 
change, compounded with previous changes, are so 
significant. The controls are as follows:
A complete review of the HRA Business Plan to spread 
the impacts over activities and over time.  Initially, in 
order to deliver the current new build programme, this 
will be focused on a slowing down of the investment 
into current stock.
Reducing the costs of running the service through 
efficiency and service redesign (in partnership with 
tenants and leaseholders).
Improved procurement of services and renegotiation of 
existing contracts (though these have been procured 
within the last year or so and will restrict potential). This 
would include seeking shared services with other 
partners and models of operation which reduce the 
overheads of the HRA.  
Maximising the income to the HRA by altering use of 
parts of the stock (increased use of HRA stock for 
temporary accommodation and provision of low level 

A remodelling of the HRA Business Plan has been made 
to take account of the impact of the changes which will 
be considered by Cabinet (initially in November 2015 
and periodically thereafter). This has demonstrated that 
the current new build programme can be completed. 
The ability to extend this further will depend on the 
success of the mitigations above.

29/01/2018 12:19PM Page 6 of 16

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER
December 2017

P
age 591



business plan objectives in full cannot be made due to 
loss of income and economies of scale as stock numbers 
diminish.
Services to tenants will have to reduce, including 
proposed investment in the existing stock, to deal with 
the scale of resource reduction. 
The new build programme at its proposed scale will 
have to reduce, and possibly cease, in order to provide 
services to tenants and balance the books.
That resources provided through RTB one for one 
replacement will be unused and lost to the Borough as it 
is returned to the Treasury as a result of the Council’s 
inability to provide the 70% match funding and as 
Housing Associations reduce their supply of new 
affordable homes (as a result of the same legislative 
changes impacting on the Council).  
The Council’s housing stock will progressively reduce 
through RTB, enforced sales and reduction in new build 
which will reduce its ability to meet the housing needs in 
the Borough and achieving the strategic objective of 
increasing the supply of affordable homes.

care as part of a tenancy  where rent controls do not 
apply).
Altering the tenure mix of the current new build 
programme to include shared ownership and market 
sale in order to cross subsidise new rented provision. 
This could incorporate an element of affordable rent to 
increase revenue.
Development of a partnership approach to use of  RTB 
one for one replacement funding with local Housing 
Associations in order to minimise losses of resource to 
the Borough and to increase supply of new homes. 
Fully exploring the potential of a Local Housing Company 
to improve the cost of delivery of new homes alongside 
the benefits to the General Fund.
Lobbying of government regarding the 
disproportionately severe impacts of the changes, 
though historical reasons, on DBC seeking some local 
amelioration.
Ensuring that our intelligence on the changing position 
and on developments within the sector are fully up to 
date through membership of ARCH, liaison with CIH and 
other key bodies.
The following controls are in place already with regard 
to the financial and strategic management of the HRA 
Business Plan:
• An annual refresh of the HRA Business Plan reported 
both to CMT and to Cabinet
• Monthly meeting between budget holders and 
accountants monitoring progress against original 
timeframes and costs

29/01/2018 12:19PM Page 7 of 16

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER
December 2017

P
age 592



• Regular meetings of the Corporate New Build Group 
considering performance and new schemes  
• CMT receive a fortnightly update on the new build 
programme
• Performance Board comprising Chief Officers and 
cabinet members receive a report on progress before 
each cabinet meeting
• Reports on HRA performance go the Overview and 
Scrutiny every quarter
• The HRA is reported as part of the overall corporate 
financial reporting process

Sign Off and Comments

Sign Off Complete

Confirmation from the government that rent increases of CPI plus 1% from 2020 will apply will help stabilise the HRA. The new Business Plan will outline a continuation of 
new build over the next few years. There remains a concern over the proposed levy for 'higher value council houses' which looks like being brought in for 2019/20 with no 
indication of how much that will be. In practice this will require the sale of a number of vacant homes.

F7 - Funding and income is not sufficient to deliver the Council’s corporate objectives

Category: Corporate Priority: Risk Owner: Portfolio Holder: Tolerance:
Financial Dacorum Delivers James Deane Graeme Elliot Treating

Inherent Probability Inherent Impact Inherent Risk Score Residual Probability Residual Impact Residual Risk Score
4

Very Likely
4

Severe
16

Red
3

Likely
3

High
9

Amber
Consequences Current Controls Assurance

The government's austerity programme has led to 
reduced Local Authority funding over the last seven 

The Council's Medium Term Financial Strategy and the 
HRA Business Plan are controls that mitigate the 

In March 2017, the Council was audited by Mazars on 
'Budgetary Control', and secured a 'FULL' level of 

29/01/2018 12:19PM Page 8 of 16

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER
December 2017

P
age 593



years, resulting in the Council's need to find savings of 
£7m since 2010/11. Further funding reductions in excess 
of £3m are forecast over the next four years, which 
increases the risk of the Council being unable to deliver 
its vision for the borough, as detailed in the Corporate 
Plan.
 (http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-
source/council-
democracy/dacorum_corporateplan_web.pdf?sfvrsn=2)

Sustained funding reductions of this magnitude are not 
only a risk to the Council's capacity to grow and enhance 
the community, but more fundamentally they are a risk 
to the continued provision of high quality frontline 
services to residents.
  
If the Council is unable to deliver its vision or to protect 
its frontline service provision, it risks the following 
consequences:
Increased community hardship as the services provided 
to the most vulnerable residents in the borough are 
impacted, leading to delays in their accessing financial 
and residential help.

The impact of reducing standards of environmental 
services across the borough could lead to a less 
attractive environment and a loss of community identity 
and civic pride for residents.

Reputational damage as residents become dissatisfied 

likelihood of this risk crystallising through the effective 
modelling of the future financial environment, which 
allows for more effective forward planning. These 
controls are detailed below, and have resulted in my 
reducing the inherent risk score from '4', Very Likely, to 
'3', Likely.

The Council's Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
details the financial implications of the Corporate Plan 
over a five-year period. It ensures that the Council is 
able to forecast likely income pressures in the medium-
term, and optimise the balance between its financial 
resources and the delivery of its priorities. The MTFS is 
reviewed at least annually and is approved by Full 
Council, thereby providing the opportunity for Members 
to make informed amendments to the Corporate Plan 
on the basis of likely funding constraints. The current 
version is accessible via the following link:

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-
source/council-democracy/mtfs-july-cabinet-2015.pdf?
sfvrsn=0

The Council's Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business 
Plan maps planned income and expenditure over a 
thirty-year period. Government legislation that can 
affect the Council's delivery of social housing is 
incorporated within the plan and forms the basis for 
informed strategic decision-making.

assurance.

The external auditors, Grant Thornton, gave the 
following 'value for money' opinion within the 2016/17 
year end audit of the Council: 'based on the work we 
performed to address the significant risk, we concluded 
that [the Council] had proper arrangements in place in 
all significant respects to ensure it delivered value for 
money in its use of resources.'

These audit opinions provide assurance that the Council 
is effectively controlling the processes that will enable it 
to derive value for money from its available resources, 
and therefore to maximise the opportunity for 
delivering its corporate objectives.

29/01/2018 12:19PM Page 9 of 16

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER
December 2017

P
age 594



with their experience of interacting with the Council. 
This risk is exacerbated by the growth of social media 
and the ability of residents to share their experiences 
with large numbers of people instantaneously.

The Council's reviewing of its Corporate Plan together 
with its Communications Strategy mitigate the impact of 
this risk, should it occur, by keeping residents informed 
of the pressures faced by the Council, and consequently 
by managing aspiration and expectation (detail below). 
On this basis, I have reduced the Impact score from '4', 
Severe, to '3', High.

The Council reviews its 
Corporate Plan periodically to ensure that the vision for 
the borough remains relevant and realistic within the 
financial constraints outlined within the MTFS and the 
HRA plan. The aspirations of the Council and the 
community are managed through the Council's 
Communications Strategy both through social media, 
the local press and Digest.

Sign Off and Comments

Sign Off Complete

29/01/2018 12:19PM Page 10 of 16

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER
December 2017

P
age 595



A sustainable draft budget for 2018/19 was presented to Joint OSC in December 2017, and is scheduled for recommendation by Council in February 2018. 

2018 Government funding levels for Dacorum, announced within the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement in December 2017 were consistent with those 
anticipated through the 4-year funding deal to which DBC subscribed.

The recent collapse of Carillion demonstrates the risk to public sector bodies of increased partnership working with the private sector. The Council has no direct exposure 
to Carillion. Officers are currently in discussion with the Council's major contractors to understand if there are likely to be any significant, indirect implications arising for 
the Council.

There have been recent reports in the news regarding the financial stability of Interserve, which provide the Council's Facilities Management services for The Forum. There 
is not believed to be a direct threat to the current service provision, but the Council does have a contingency plan in place to ensure continuation of services should 
Interserve cease to be in a position to provide them.

Officers within Housing, where the Council contracts the highest value with the private sector, are currently reviewing the contingency position should any of the Council's 
major contractors be unable to fulfil their obligations in the future. This will be reported back to Audit Committee.

I3 - The Borough does not secure sufficient investment in infrastructure to ensure that housing delivery and economic and community growth is 
sustainable in the longer term.

Category: Corporate Priority: Risk Owner: Portfolio Holder: Tolerance:
Infrastructure Affordable Housing Mark Gaynor Graham Sutton Treating

Inherent Probability Inherent Impact Inherent Risk Score Residual Probability Residual Impact Residual Risk Score
4

Very Likely
4

Severe
16

Red
3

Likely
3

High
9

Amber
Consequences Current Controls Assurance

The provision of infrastructure such as schools, health, 
transport and other facilities is crucial to sustainability of 
the local community and economy. Its funding, 
however, is increasingly complex and difficult as central 

Infrastructure is provided through the development 
process (s106 and Community Infrastructure Levy) and 
elements of funding which comes from central 
government (increasingly through the LEP, bidding and 

The process for setting out development delivered is 
through the Authority Monitoring Report. The agreed 
process for CIL will see an annual report setting out 
income due, achieved and expenditure made on agreed 

29/01/2018 12:19PM Page 11 of 16

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER
December 2017

P
age 596



government moves away from direct provision and 
expects the development process and local partnerships 
to deliver it. Failure to provide this infrastructure will 
have a number of damaging consequences:
 A reduction in the quality of life and opportunities for 
people in the Borough
A serious constraint to economic growth with the 
impact on the contribution to service provision through 
Business Rates growth
Increased community opposition to new developments, 
particularly housing, on the grounds that existing 
infrastructure will not cope
Damage to the image of the area, worsening of 
community pride and social cohesion and reputational 
damage to the Council

HCC). The responsibility for some infrastructure 
elements is through privatised arrangements (utilities) 
or arms-length government agencies such as Network 
Rail. The ability of the Council to control these processes 
is limited.
The Council is able to promote the quantum, nature and 
timing of growth making it more likely that the 
infrastructure will be delivered. It is also able to 
promote partnerships and use its asset base and 
influence to stimulate desired development. Current 
controls include:
Ensuring that the Local Plan (and its component 
elements such as the Core Strategy, site allocations, 
supporting policies and so on on) is up to date and sets 
out very clearly the requirements of proposed 
development. This promotes sustainable development 
by design, access and movement, materials. Use of 
masterplanning supports what is required to be 
delivered to produce sustainability on larger sites.
The approved Council’s Community Infrastructure Levy 
Policy and schedule (CIL) provides for the levels of 
contributions that must be made by developers and the 
purpose for which they will be spent. This also includes 
an element of CIL which can be spent by local 
communities and act to link growth directly with 
infrastructure provision local people want.
Operating a ‘open for business’ approach to how the 
Council deals with potential development with a 
presumption of making acceptable development easier 
to deliver by proactive advice through the planning 

infrastructure.
Regular reports are made as set out above in controls.

29/01/2018 12:19PM Page 12 of 16

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER
December 2017

P
age 597



process. Allied to this is ensuring that the development 
management service is capable of achieving decision 
making within required time limits.
Stimulating required growth through the Council’s own 
regeneration activity, including Hemel Evolution, Gade 
Zone and Heart of Maylands resulting in inward 
investment being more likely.
Increasing inward investment through initiatives such as 
Dacorum Look no Further, Ambassadors, direct 
provision of business advice and a supportive approach 
to new development.
Good market intelligence through regular liaison with 
local employers, landowners, developers, institutional 
investors and land agents regarding demand and 
expected assistance.
Partnership with the LEP as the main route for 
additional funding for infrastructure through influencing 
the Strategic Growth Plan (in which Hemel Hempstead 
and the M1 corridor is a priority) and bidding for 
resources for infrastructure (such as the £5M achieved 
for West Herts College)
Working to create key partnerships to bring forward 
development capable of funding major infrastructure 
(such as Gorhambury)
These controls are exercised within the following:
• Monthly reporting to Hemel Evolution Board and 
Corporate Regeneration Group
• Fortnightly reporting on key projects to CMT
• Reporting to Performance Board before each Cabinet 
Meeting

29/01/2018 12:19PM Page 13 of 16

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER
December 2017

P
age 598



• A clear programme for the Local Development 
Framework and CIL
• Quarterly reporting to Overview and Scrutiny
• Regular reporting to Cabinet
• Adherence to the agreed performance and project 
management processes

Sign Off and Comments

Sign Off Complete

No real changes in the situation. The issues and options element of the developing Local Plan identified that infrastructure is most likely to be delivered effectively through 
larger sites that Section 106 can apply rather than CIL. 

R5 - The Council does not embrace the increased use of social media as a tool for social engagement and increased community engagement.

Category: Corporate Priority: Risk Owner: Portfolio Holder: Tolerance:
Reputational Dacorum Delivers Sally Marshall Neil Harden Treating

Inherent Probability Inherent Impact Inherent Risk Score Residual Probability Residual Impact Residual Risk Score
3

Likely
3

High
9

Amber
2

Unlikely
3

High
6

Amber
Consequences Current Controls Assurance

The risk of not using social media

- This will mean that our approach to engagement (i.e. 
letters, workshops, printed magazines) is likely to 
exclude key demographic groups including younger 
residents and those who are more technologically 
minded. 

- We will not be able to respond to negative posts or 

In order to mitigate these risks we have put in place a 
number of controls:

The risk of not using social media

- Our social media strategy sets out how we will 
proactively engage with residents through Twitter, 
Facebook, Linked In, Instagram and using online videos.

o Corporate Information Security Management Policy
o Corporate Information Technology Security Policy
o Data Protection Act Policy
o Freedom of Information Policy
o PSN/Government Connect (GSx) Acceptable Usage 
Policy
o Information Security Incident Procedure 
o Social Media Strategy
o Facebook and Twitter accounts

29/01/2018 12:19PM Page 14 of 16

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER
December 2017

P
age 599



views which could cause significant reputational damage 
or risk.

- We will have less opportunity to influence Government 
and media through the use of targeted campaigns and 
communications.

- The organisation may not be viewed as ‘technologically 
forward thinking' which could lead to reputational risks. 
This includes more difficulty in attracting hi-tech 
investment or exclusion from innovation pilots.

Managing the risk of social media

- Members of the public can use DBC's profile to raise 
negative or incorrect statements that damage the 
reputation of DBC.

- Employees may breach data security rules regarding 
the management of private or confidential information. 

- Inappropriate or  unacceptable content posted by 
employees

- Our social media accounts are 'identity jacked' which 
occurs when fake accounts are set up to look like those 
of DBC. This is a risk because the fake accounts can post 
incorrect or inappropriate information which is then 
associated with DBC.  

- We have 18 social media accounts covering corporate 
and operational services including from the CSU. 

- We regularly use social media to actively promote 
campaigns, events and messages.

- We interact with partners and other third parties (eg 
HCC) to promote joint initiatives via social media

- We generate reports and analysis on scale and content 
of Facebook and Twitter posts.  

Managing the risk of social media

- We employ the Crowd Control system to enable the 
Communications team to manage and authorise services 
posts and tweets.  

- The Crowd Control system also enables the 
Communications team to monitor and respond to any 
negative posts.

- Our system provides automatic moderation of abusive 
messages.

- We provide in-house training for all staff posting on 
DBC social media accounts.

- We use a subscription service that manages and 
secures accounts.  

o Social Media Management System
o Dedicated communications specialists

29/01/2018 12:19PM Page 15 of 16

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER
December 2017

P
age 600



- Weak authentication in the use of social media 
accounts can lead to them being hacked. The hacked 
accounts are then used to post inappropriate, 
derogatory or libellous comments.  

- The use of social media can make it easier for 'pressure 
groups' to generate support behind negative campaigns.

- All staff are required to read and sign-up to a range of 
policies including:

 Corporate Information Security Management Policy
 Corporate Information Technology Security Policy
 Data Protection Act Policy
 Freedom of Information Policy
 PSN/Government Connect (GSx) Acceptable Usage 
Policy
 Information Security Incident Procedure

Sign Off and Comments

Sign Off Complete

We continue to operate a proactive and engaged social media programme, which is managed by a Communications Team with significant social media experience.

In Q3 we posted over 1,650 outbound messages across our 15 social media accounts, received over 600 direct messages which were responded to in accordance with our 
social media policy and guidance, and had a total potential twitter reach of 4.68 million viewers across our social media networks. The success of our social media work is 
reflected in the local government ranking which regularly places Dacorum Borough Council as one of the highest ranked (of the 10 borough councils in Hertfordshire).

In January, we will also undergo an internal audit of our social media process as part of the internal audit programme (Mazars).  

29/01/2018 12:19PM Page 16 of 16

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER
December 2017

P
age 601



Agenda Item
Page 1 of 8

Agenda item
Page 1 of 8

Report for: Cabinet

Date of meeting: 27th  March 2018

Part: Part I & Part II (appendix)

If Part II, reason: The part II appendix to the report contains 
information relating to the financial and business 
affairs of the Council.

Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A Part 
1, paragraph 3

Title of report: Housing Revenue Account Business Plan Annual Review 
2017/18

Contact: Margaret Griffiths, Portfolio Holder for Housing

Elliott Brooks, Assistant Director for Housing
Purpose of report: To update Cabinet on the Annual Review of the Council’s 

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan
Recommendations 1. That Cabinet recommends Council to approve the updated 

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan
2. That Cabinet recommends Council to approve the revised 

development programme budgets as set out in Section 8 
and the budget for the Martindale Development in 
Appendix 2, in part II of this report   

Corporate 
Objectives:

Delivering Affordable Housing

Implications:

‘Value For Money 
Implications’

Financial

Regular review of the Council’s Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) Business Plan is essential to ensure short, medium and 
long term viability of the Business Plan

Value for Money

All contracts and services are tendered in line with the 
Council’s procurement procedures to ensure Value for Money.  
The Council’s Housing Landlord service annually compares 
running costs with other social landlords through ‘Housemark’ 
benchmarking data.

Risk Implications Monitoring of the Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 
has been identified as a key risk of the Housing Service and is 

AGENDA ITEM:

SUMMARY

Page 602

Agenda Item 12



Agenda Item
Page 2 of 8

Agenda item
Page 2 of 8

reported to the Council’s Housing & Communities Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee on a quarterly basis.

Equalities 
Implications

The Housing Revenue Account is a ‘ring fenced’ account for 
income and expenditure solely related to the Council’s housing 
stock, tenants and leaseholders.

Health And Safety 
Implications

Health & Safety is identified as a key risk of the Housing 
Service and is reported to the Council’s Housing & 
Communities Overview & Scrutiny Committee on a quarterly 
basis.

Monitoring 
Officer/S.151 
Officer Comments

Monitoring Officer:   

The annual review provides a robust mechanism to monitor 
the business plan to ensure that it takes account of changes in 
government policy, law and the economy and therefore meets 
the Council’s statutory requirements.

S.151 Officer:

Over the coming months the Council should focus on the 
medium-term development opportunities that will arise 
following MHCLG clarifying their approach to potentially lifting 
the borrowing cap. This will need to combine the updated trend 
for RTB sales and the increased scope for internal use of the 
141 receipts.

The development budgets identified in Appendix 2 represent a 
reprofiling of previously approved budgets.

Consultees: Mark Gaynor, Corporate Director of Housing & Regeneration
James Deane, Corporate Director Finance & Operations
Fiona Jump – Group Manager Financial Services
Poonam Mehta – Senior Financial Accountant
David Barret – Group Manager Housing Development
Fiona Williamson – Group Manager Property & Place

Background 
papers:

n/a

Glossary of 
acronyms and any  
other abbreviations 
used in this report:

HRA - Housing Revenue Account
TAM -  Total Asset Management
RTB – Right to Buy

Page 603



Agenda Item
Page 3 of 8

Agenda item
Page 3 of 8

1. Background 

1.1 In April 2012 the Council agreed its first 30 year Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) Business Plan.  It was a requirement following the introduction of Self 
Financing (replacing the HRA Housing Subsidy System). This report details 
the fifth annual review of the HRA Business Plan and explains the issues and 
assumptions which have needed to be considered or re-visited.

2. Housing Revenue Account Business Plan

2.1 The resources available initially following the move to ‘Self Financing’ gave 
the Council the opportunity to be strategic in its approach to its housing stock 
for the first time.  It was possible, and essential, to not only consider the 
existing housing stock, but also wider issues such as community 
development, improving the environment and the potential to build new 
Council homes to attempt to address the increasing demand yet decreasing 
supply of social and affordable housing.

2.2 The Business Plan not only concentrates on the financial related strategy and 
objectives but also the service priorities of the Council’s landlord function to 
its tenants and leaseholders.  The long term perspective is crucial to ensure 
that the service and its primary assets, the housing stock, are fit for purpose 
for the whole period and beyond.

3. Performance of the 2016/17 Business Plan

3.1 As would be expected within such a complex budget as the Housing Revenue 
Account there were various areas of overspend and underspend throughout 
2016/17. These were regularly reported to the Council’s Corporate 
Management Team and its Cabinet and Scrutiny Committees on a quarterly 
basis.

3.2 In terms of tangible outcomes that benefit the Council’s tenants the table 
below demonstrates how the Council has been able to improve the homes in 
which tenants live since the introduction of the HRA Business Plan. It should 
be noted that considerable catch up work has been achieved between 2012-
15 and the levels of renewal required has fallen. This has allowed more 
roofing work and communal elements to be addressed, as well as diverting 
resources to new build

Improvement Works 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Kitchen Renewal 456 721 433 351 246
Bathroom Renewal 426 529 327 235 210
Re-Wire 605 784 411 252 14
New Doors 1935 3480 2568 1284 907
Boilers 770 963 782 782 916

The Decent Homes Standard was a programme aimed at improving council 
and housing association homes to bring them all up to a minimum standard.

Page 604



Agenda Item
Page 4 of 8

Agenda item
Page 4 of 8

Examples of how a home could fail the Decent Homes Standard include if:
 there are hazards such as persistent damp or a heating or electrical 

system that is in poor condition
 the bathroom has not been improved in the last 30 years
 the kitchen has an inadequate layout or not enough space
 it isn't warm because of an inefficient heating system or ineffective 

insulation

As a measure of success of the Council’s Housing Asset Management 
strategy and investment decisions over the last 5 years, it is worth noting that 
the Council has a ‘decency’ figure in excess of 90%.

3.3 The Council has also been able to continue its programme to build new 
homes in the borough for the first time in over 20 years

3.4 The total number of new homes completed and allocated to local people 
since the first HRA Business Plan is 90, with approximately 200 within 
approved schemes  either on site or contracts being procured. 75 of those will 
be ready to occupy in the Autumn of 2018 at Kylna Court, Hemel Hempstead.   
Section 8 details how the Council is proposing to continue its development 
programme over the next 5 years, with further development planned in 
excess of those currently in the pipeline.

4. Considerations for year 5 HRA Business Plan Review

4.1 Government Policy & Proposals

4.1.1 Over the past 18 months both the Welfare Reform Act 2016 and Housing & 
Planning Act 2016 have included a number of changes or proposed changes 
that have or could have a significant impact on the HRA Business Plan both 
immediately and in the longer term.

4.1.2 Whilst not all of the detail has yet been provided by the government, Council 
officers have been working to try and estimate impact on the Business Plan 
and what actions are needed in terms of mitigation and reviewing 
assumptions within the Business Plan

4.2 Social Rent Reductions

4.2.1 Social Rents will continue to reduce 1% each year for another 2 years.  Those 
Council rents not yet at ‘target’ will also be subject to the 1% reduction.  Rents 
for Sheltered Housing are also subject to the 1% decrease. The government 
has announced that after the 4 years of reductions are complete the Council 
can revert to its previous policy. CPI (2.2%) + 1% (3.2% total) for the next five 
years, and CPI (2.2%) for the remainder years of the plan.  These are the 
assumptions within the Business Plan that will be reviewed annually.

4.2.2 As detailed during previous year’s review of the HRA Business Plan the 1% 
rent reduction will have a negative impact on the income of approximately 
£33m over the total 4 year period.  This has reduced resources available to 
build new homes and invest in the current housing stock.

4.3 Sale of High Value Council Homes

Page 605



Agenda Item
Page 5 of 8

Agenda item
Page 5 of 8

4.3.1 This proposal, within the Housing & Planning Act 2016, for Local Authorities 
to sell its high value homes to in effect fund the Right To Buy (RTB) extension 
to Housing Associations is still in the planning stages, but a pilot scheme is 
currently taking place in the Midlands.  No specific detail has been provided to 
other Local Authorities regarding potential start date, or receipts to be 
generated.  

4.3.2 Following professional advice The HRA business plan currently assumes no 
payment or loss of stock related to this policy.  Should detail be issued during 
2018/19 the Business Plan will be reviewed and presented to the Council’s 
Cabinet for approval.

4.4 Universal Credit

4.4.1 Universal Credit (UC) is a key part of the Government’s welfare reform 
programme. When the concept was introduced in 2010 it received cross party 
support with its aim to simplify the benefits system and incentivise 
employment. It signifies a considerable change to the benefit system, to 
combine six existing means-tested benefits into a single monthly payment. 
The benefits being replaced are:
 Income support
 Jobseekers allowance
 Employment & support allowance
 Working tax credit
 Child tax credit
 Housing benefit (HB)

4.4.2 This change intends to reduce complications of the benefit system for 
applicants and smooth the transition into employment. The DWP estimated 
that an additional 250,000 people would enter work under UC.

4.4.3 The programme was set in 2013 and was intended to be rolled out to all 
working age people by 2017. This has since been revised to a target date of 
March 2022.

4.4.4 A significant challenge is being able to accurately identify the impact on the 
Council. Regular changes and delays to implementation have affected the 
ability to predict the impact of UC on local residents and our services. The 
Council can learn from other authorities and complete modelling to get an 
estimate of the impact but this doesn’t give an accurate assessment of the 
financial risks.

4.4.5 One of the biggest risks is that Social Housing tenants will directly receive the 
housing element of UC. For 3000 council tenants this will replace Housing 
Benefit and they will be responsible for paying the Council directly.

4.4.6 The roll out in Dacorum has started in small pockets and will continue over 
the next two years.  For this reason the provision within the Business Plan for 
bad debt will rise by £300k in 2018/19 and a further £300k in 2019/20.  This 
will be monitored closely and reviewed annually.

4.5      Right to Buy

Page 606



Agenda Item
Page 6 of 8

Agenda item
Page 6 of 8

4.5.1 Following the re-invigoration of the Right to Buy Policy in 2013 there was an 
immediate and sustained increase in the number of sales which had an 
impact on receipts into the Council and rental income from tenancies. For a 3 
to 4 year period sales were over 100 per year.  This has now significantly 
reduced with the number in 20117/18 likely to be approximately 50.

4.5.2 The assumptions in the Business Plan have been updated to reflect this and 
the projection is 55 sales per year for 3 years then reducing to 50 and then to 
20.

5.0 Increased Development Costs

5.1 Over the 5 year period of the Business Plan being in place, the costs 
associated with delivering the new build schemes have gradually increased 
against the assumptions originally made (due to increases in construction 
costs and increased tender costs arising due to an overheating construction 
sector).  This has caused a level of uncertainty when forecasting total costs of 
developments and requesting budget approval.  A number of schemes have 
required additional budget to be approved at the point of contract award, each 
occasion resulting in the overall Business Plan and development funds being 
reviewed.

5.2 The year 5 review has again taken this into account and made new 
assumptions regarding the cost per unit which it is felt has an element of 
flexibility and contingency.  The proposed development programme for 
current schemes and future allocation of resources can be found in Section 
6.3 of this report. The proposed development budget for Martindale site can 
be found in Appendix 2, part II of the report. (The scheme is currently subject 
to a tender process)

6. Additional Resources & Future Development proposals

6.1 During last years of the business plan, additional resources were identified, 
mainly arising from the previous high levels of RTB sales.

6.2 These funds were earmarked to extend the development programme which 
had been affected by the 1% rent reductions.  Work has taken place this year 
to identify the next wave of schemes and suitable sites to progress.  A report 
will be presented at Cabinet April 2018 to highlight the proposals. For the 
purpose of this report, those resources are named as New Build General 
Expenditure in the table within Section 8

7.0 Opportunities for Additional Borrowing

7.1 Currently the Council has a strategy to pay off the Self Financing loans 
gradually over the medium and long term life of the Business Plan.

7.2 Due to repayments made so far, the borrowing headroom currently stands at 
£7.8million and rises to approximately £22million by the end of year 5 due to 
the repayment of loans. 

7.3 The Government recently announced that there may be flexibility for Council’s 
to borrow in excess of those limits in place currently.  Whilst details of how 
that would happen have not yet been communicated, the Council has 
contacted the DCLG for initial discussions

Page 607



Agenda Item
Page 7 of 8

Agenda item
Page 7 of 8

8. 2017/2018 Housing Revenue Account Business Plan

8.1 The draft 2017/18 Business Plan can be found in Appendix 1. All areas of the 
plan have been reviewed by officers in both housing and finance.  

8.2 Appendix 1 of the plan itself details a number of financial assumptions which 
are required to enable a level of future financial planning.  They have been 
made based on past and future trends along with the current knowledge of 
political and external factors.  They are however subject to change and close 
monitoring throughout the year will ensure that if there is significant change 
this can be factored in and the impact reported as required depending on the 
significance.

8.3 As a result of the year 5 review the 2017/18 Business Plan reflects the current 
30 year financial forecast for the Housing Revenue account and some of the 
key issues are as follows:
 Rents are subject to 1% reduction.  This is the third year of a 4 year 

national policy.  
 The Council’s disposal strategy will continue and an assumption of £750k 

income per year has been made.
 A reduction in the assumed level of RTB sales based on the current 

resulted in an increase in resources available for investment. Close 
monitoring on a quarterly basis will be required to ensure that receipts 
generated are in line with financial assumptions.

 A decision was taken not to proceed with Shared Ownership at Kylna Ct. 
The impact on the Business Plan and capital programme going forward is 
reflected in the current model.

 The capital programme of investment in the current housing stock remains 
significant. The budgets in this area are to be approved within the 
Council’s overall budget proposal for 2017/18. The forecast for the next 
five years is detailed within the table below. Each year would be subject to 
review and budget approval.

2017/18 
(current Year)

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

17.609m 17.480m 17.746m 17.057m 17.023m 17.066m

 The Council’s New Build programme has been fully reviewed including 
schemes currently on site, those where a contract has been awarded but 
not yet started and those not yet awarded.

Scheme 2017/18
£’000

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Kylna Court / 
Wood House

5,044 4,416 0 0 0

Martindale *
Stationers Place 2,350 3,000 3,896 0 0
Swing Gate Lane 1,142 574 0 0 0
Swing Gate Lane
(conversion)

822 913 0 0 0

General New 
Build 

4,087 6,000 6,000 6,578 6,000

Page 608



Agenda Item
Page 8 of 8

Agenda item
Page 8 of 8

Expenditure**
Total

*Martindale proposed costs in Appendix 2, part II of this report
** General New Build finances available subject to RTB receipts generated

9. Recommendations

9.1 That Cabinet recommends the updated HRA Business Plan 2017/2018

9.2 That Cabinet recommends the revised development programme budgets as 
set out in Section 8 and Appendix 2, part II of this report

Page 609



Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 1 | P a g e

People: Property: Place

2017 - 2021

Dacorum Borough Council Housing Revenue Account 
Business Plan

P
age 610



Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 2 | P a g e

Contents

1.0 Introduction

2.0 Overview

3.0 Delivering for Dacorum

4.0 Our Housing Service
4.1 Our Housing Strategy
4.2 Our Tenant Involvement Strategy

5.0 The Governance and Delivery of the Plan

6.0 Homes for the Future
6.1 Our Asset Management Strategy
6.2 Our Stock Investment Requirements & Financing 

7.0 Our Priorities 

8.0 The Housing Revenue Account(HRA)
8.1 The HRA Forecast
8.2 The HRA Treasury Strategy 
8.3 HRA Resources Available 

9.0 The Risks and Challenges

Appendix One
1. Financial Assumptions

P
age 611



Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 3 | P a g e

Foreword
To be completed

1.0 Introduction
Dacorum Borough Council Housing Service is the landlord for approximately 10,200 council homes 
across the borough 2000 of which are sheltered housing for older people. We also own the 
freehold for approximately 1700 leasehold flats. 

Since 2013 the Council has delivered an active development programme to deliver new homes 
across the borough for local people and a homeless hostel.  To date we have completed over 130 
of these new homes and The Elms, a 44 bedroom hostel in Hemel Hempstead opened in 2015.  A 
further 87 are in development with a planned programme of over 100 to be delivered in the next 
three to four years.

Housing is a vital part of the Council’s long-term vision for the borough. The Council’s Corporate 
Plan identifies ‘Affordable Housing’ as a key priority and commits to ‘providing good quality 
affordable homes, particularly to those most in need’.

The Localism Act 2011 introduced new powers for councils to keep their rental income and 
generate growth capital to fund investment in their housing stock. This is called ‘self-financing’. 
This enabled us to develop a long term business plan for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
allowing for more financial certainty, additional resources and a more robust foundation for 
housing in Dacorum. 

In spite of self-financing, like many other services, social housing has been required to adapt to a 
continually evolving economic landscape.  Changes brought in by Central Government such as a 
four year rent reduction of 1% per year and increased discounts on Roght to Buy sales to impact 
and on the services we deliver and challenge us to maximise the resources we have available to 
meet growing need. 

Analyses of our stock and the services we provide have enabled us to create an element of 
flexibility and overcome some of the challenges that we outline. This plan identifies how the 
Council will utilise the HRA and continue to deliver a great housing service, this includes;

 What it costs and how we think finances will develop in the future
 Showing our plans are laid on firm foundations and sustainable
 What additional resources we might have for investment
 What our priorities are for investment and tenants views
 Key risks in the delivery of this business plan with actions to mitigate these

1.0  Introduction 

P
age 612



Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 4 | P a g e

2.0 Overview
The HRA business plan has been updated to include the latest vision, priorities and financial 
position of Dacorum’s Housing Service.  A key change is the incorporation of our latest 
asset management strategy outlining the investment we intend to make to our properties 
over the next five years.

The Council has a financial model that demonstrates a sound financial long term plan for its 
Housing Revenue Account.

This updated business plan starts at 2017/18 and runs over the next 30 years. It 
incorporates the latest budgetary forecasts but excludes any provision for unknown factors 
from forthcoming Government policy changes such as Sale of High Value Homes.  Once 
details of these changes are released we can assess the impact to the HRA. This plan is 
written for Elected Members, tenants and staff involved in the governance or the 
management of our housing service and it demonstrates;
 the sustainability of our existing homes;
 how viable our current investment plans are in the long-term;
 the finances available for investment in new homes and investment in our existing 

stock and service; 
 the role of the housing service in the Council’s overall vision and priorities.

At the time of updating this business plan we are aware of a number of challenges already 
impacting the housing service and Dacorum residents. We know the introduction of the Welfare 
Reform Act 2012 has already or is likely to affect many of our tenants.  Additionally the Housing 
and Planning Act 2016 and Homelessness Reduction Act will continue to increase the number of 
people at risk of homelessness presenting to the Council.   The latter part of 2018 will also see 
further roll out of Universal Credit in the borough which is reflected in our financial assumptions.

An emphasis on homeownership from Central Government such as reinvigorating the ‘right to 
buy’ initiative adds further pressures and uncertainty in meeting new build targets and challenges 
regarding the use of ‘141’ receipts.

2.0  Overview

P
age 613



Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 5 | P a g e

3.0 Delivering for Dacorum
Around three quarters of our homes are in Dacorum’s largest town, Hemel Hempstead, with the 
remainder spread across the other Hertfordshire towns of Berkhamsted and Tring as well as the 
surrounding villages.

Dacorum has a population of 149,700. Twenty percent of the population are under 16 and we have 
significantly less 16 – 24 year olds than the national average. The largest age group totalling 80,500 
are aged 25-64; we also have higher than England averages for people aged 85+. On the whole we 
know that Dacorum is an affluent borough. 

We have significantly better than England average levels for income deprivation, child poverty and 
older people living in deprivation. However analysis of indices of multiple deprivation scores 
indicates our homes generally exist in the small concentrated pockets of deprivation that exist in 
Dacorum.  This means the challenges facing our tenants are sometimes masked.  It is important for 
us as a Housing Service to work with our tenants to understand their needs, priorities and how best 
to support them.  

Housing plays a key role in delivering the Councils vision of "working in partnership to create a 
borough which enables the communities of Dacorum to thrive and prosper." 

Through tenant engagement and homelessness prevention we contribute to clean, safe and 
enjoyable environments that build strong and vibrant communities. Provision of affordable 
housing, helping people into work and creating employment opportunities through our 
contracts with external partners mean we can ensure economic growth and prosperity. 
Our annual investment of over £30 million into existing homes and assets and our new build  
ensures we are providing good quality affordable homes in particular for those most in need. 
Finally, we are using channel shift and innovative ways of working so we can deliver a more 
efficient and modern service that benefits our tenants. 

To date the housing service has delivered significant efficiencies through its new repairs and 
maintenance contract. This has enabled us to deliver more services based on emerging needs of 
tenants such as the introduction of the Tenancy Sustainment Team. Other examples include the 
installation of an energy efficient biomass boiler and six new homes as part of a rooftop 
development project. 

 

3.0  Delivering for 
Dacorum

P
age 614



Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 6 | P a g e

4.0 Our Housing 
Service

4.1 Our Housing Strategy
The Housing Service consists of a number of different teams. This first is the Housing landlord 
function which is responsible for the day to day management and maintenance of our homes, 
other assets and tenancies.  Another is Strategic Housing which includes responsibilities such 
as fulfilling our homelessness statutory duties and influencing other housing providers such as 
the private rented sector and housing associations. Finally we have the development of new 
homes. 

Our purpose is to ensure we can meet peoples housing need within Dacorum whether this is 
through a more secure and stable private rented sector or provision of social housing.

Whilst the HRA is solely used for the delivery of our landlord duties, we want the housing service to 
been seen as a single entity with clear and shared vision and objectives. This will help us to provide a 
seamless service for Dacorum residents. 

Working with staff, tenants and leaseholders we came up with the following vision for the 
Housing Service. 

‘We want Dacorum to be a place people are proud to call home. We will involve our tenants & 
leaseholders in decisions, provide good quality, affordable homes, help maintain tenancies and 
prevent homelessness – and be honest about improvements we still need to achieve.’

To support our shared vision our Housing Strategy also includes the following key strategic 
objectives:

 To plan and deliver a good supply and mix of housing
 To improve the quality of housing in Dacorum
 To monitor need effectively
 To maximize the delivery of affordable housing
 To improve prevention of homelessness and the range of temporary housing options
 To foster the private sector as a housing provider option 

P
age 615



Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 7 | P a g e

4.2 Our Tenant Involvement Strategy
Dacorum Borough Council has a long history of working closely with its tenants and leaseholders 
to make informed decisions. Our previous Tenant Involvement strategy expired in 2015 
presenting an opportunity to re-fresh the direction and structure for delivering modern and 
flexible tenant involvement. 

Our vision for the new ‘Get Involved’ strategy 2016 – 2020 is ‘for our tenants to feel listened to, 
empowered to influence decisions and to have the opportunity to challenge us.’

The ability to influence is what matters most to our tenant population. Over the four years of this 
strategy, we will capture the impact each of our involved tenants had in transforming the housing 
service. The strategy is underpinned by four commitments these are; 

 Commitment one: All Dacorum tenants and leaseholders have the opportunity to ‘Get 
involved’ 

 Commitment two: Dacorum Borough Council works in partnership to ensure the housing 
service is shaped by the needs of our tenants 

 Commitment three: Young people within Dacorum’s tenant population have a voice and a 
positive influence in their local communities 

 Commitment four: Dacorum Borough Council’s housing service is accountable to our 
tenants and leaseholders

The structure for delivering these four commitments includes three levels of involvement;

 ‘Our Tenants’ – creates conversations and building relationships between us and tenants
 ‘Service Shapers’ – uses a variety of engagement activities to build up a picture of our 

tenants needs.
 ‘Official Involvement’ – brings together tenant and leaseholder representatives with local 

professionals, Elected Members, and staff to regulate, scrutinize and challenge the 
housing service

We will work with our tenants to identify more efficient ways of working and maximise the 
resources available. Through tenant involvement we can continue to provide well managed, 
affordable homes for those in need and ensure the wellbeing of our tenants.

P
age 616



Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 8 | P a g e

4.0 continued…
5.0 Governance and 
Delivery 

5.0 Governance and Delivery
The HRA business plan is a living document which articulates the short, medium and long-term strategies 
for the management, maintenance, improvement and addition to the Council’s housing stock.

Going forward the HRA business plan will be reviewed by officers from both housing and finance and 
approved by the Council’s Cabinet on an annual basis

Once approved it is the responsibility of the officers in the Housing Service and Finance Department to 
monitor and deliver the plan.

To ensure transparency the Tenant and Leaseholder Committee, the top level committee in the ‘Get 
Involved’ Strategy will receive strategic updates on the financial position of the Housing Service against 
its target. This will also be presented to elected members on the Council’s Housing and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

Each year we will use the annual report to publish our top line figures from the HRA business plan. This 
will help to keep our tenants informed and offer information around value for money. The annual report 
is also our opportunity to pull together satisfaction information collected throughout the year and 
publish our annual goals for the service based on what our tenants feel is important. These are shown 
through our annual ‘promises’. This is discussed further in section 7.

This business plan is supported by a financial model that uses the latest budgetary information to outline 
the expenditure required for all the key services and priorities of the Housing landlord functions. It does 
not include the Strategic Housing, which is financed by the Council’s General Fund. 

Any fundamental changes or circumstances that will see expenditure increase above those provided, or 
income fall below expectations then the plan will be revisited with support from the stakeholders listed.  
Swift action allows us to remedy any shortfalls and assess to the medium and longer-term impact to the 
plan. This flexibility is particularly important as it allows us to consider and react to the numerous 
changes previously mentioned. 

P
age 617



Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 9 | P a g e

6.0 Homes for the 
Future

6.1 Our Asset Management Strategy
In year 2017 we produced our Asset Management strategy called ‘Homes for the Future’.  It 
commits to having the right homes that meet the required standards and that we work 
with our tenants, leaseholders and contractors to provide good quality homes for the 
future. It recognises our homes are the Council’s most valuable asset. 

This strategy outlines the Councils approach to managing demand and supply and the 
sustainability and condition of our stock whilst delivering a financially robust service that 
offers value for money. It acknowledges changes in the external national and economic 
environment and how the Council will continue to respond proactively. 

The development of the strategy involved a range of stakeholders, including tenant led 
focus groups, intelligence gathered by our Total Asset Management (TAM) partner, 
Osborne Property Services and feedback from the STAR survey. This resulted in our 
strategy being centred on the following four commitments:

 Commitment One: Our housing assets meet the current and future needs of our tenants 
 Commitment Two: Our tenants live in homes that are safe and maintained to the agreed 

standard
 Commitment Three: Through investments and improvements our assets generate 

income and support the housing service (HRA) business plan
 Commitment Four: We get the best value from our assets and develop homes for 

the future

In 2014 we entered into a long term partnership with Osborne Property Services Ltd for 
the delivery of repairs, maintenance and planned works. The partnership approaches 
these areas of work with a Total Asset Management approach (TAM). 

This and other contracts such as Gas Servicing and Mechanical and Electrical work have 
been designed to encourage our contractors to provide a high quality service and value 
for money. The contracts are monitored monthly and an annual review undertaken to 
ensure they are delivering to the promises that they made at tender stage.

By achieving effective asset management, the Council can continue to support it tenants, improve 
their quality of life and deliver a sustainable service for the future.

P
age 618



Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 10 | P a g e

6.0 Continued 6.2 Our Stock Investment Requirement and Financing
The table below shows the projected Capital spend requirements for our housing stock to both improve 
and maintain it over the next 30 years. All new homes that have been completed, are underway or 
approved as part of the Council’s new build programme to develop 300 new homes have been accounted 
for.  We have also included a budget for further new homes where sites have not yet been formally 
approved.

All of the expenditure assumptions detailed in the table include the impact of inflation and how this will affect the cost of improvements and maintenance of our 
stock. The funding for capital expenditure is raised through our rents and sales of properties. An integral accounting adjustment for depreciation results in a 
charge to the HRA that is then credited to a major repairs reserve, which in turn funds capital works.

A formula used nationally dictates how much we should credit the major repairs reserve. If there is a shortfall in funding capital works we are able to 
top this up with revenue contributions from the HRA.

Right to Buy receipts help fund both capital works and new build expenditure, in particular ‘1-4-1’ receipts which we go on to discuss in more detail in 
sections 8 and 9. 

Other capital receipts received by the HRA are a result of the sale of non traditional properties. Properties are also planned to bepurposefully built to 
sell on the open market, the recipt allocated to a New Build Reserve. This allows us to subsidise the cost of building new affordable homes.

In the later stages of the plan we detail required borrowing for the HRA account. This is further explained in section 8. 

Overall this table shows the HRA can afford to meet our capital investment, maintenance and current new build targets.

Year 2017.18 2018.19 2019.20 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027-32 2032-37 2037-42 2042-47
£'000 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11-15 16-20 21-25 26-30
EXPENDITURE:
Planned Variable Expenditure -4 -349 -1,744 -3,549 -5,606
Planned Fixed Expenditure -17,609 -17,480 -17,746 -17,057 -17,023 -17,066 -15,657 -16,437 -16,913 -17,160 -93,164 -105,779 -125,775 -161,185
New Bui ld Expenditure -8,705 -19,003 -18,117 -8,613 -6,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total Capital Expenditure -26,314 -36,483 -35,863 -25,670 -23,023 -17,066 -15,657 -16,437 -16,913 -17,164 -93,513 -107,524 -129,324 -166,791
FUNDING:
Major Repairs  Reserve 10,265 12,806 13,386 8,460 9,863 8,412 14,758 12,998 10,472 9,710 44,850 14,841 -83,476 32,087
Right to Buy Receipts 4,020 2,534 2,534 2,534 2,300 900 900 899 899 899 4,488 4,494 4,470 4,462
HRA CFR Borrowing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13,896 151,055 72,185
Other Receipts/Grants 587 5,030 750 750 750 750 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -
HRA Reserves 2,595 9,084 14,159 8,480 3,744 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -
Revenue Contributions 8,847 7,029 5,034 5,447 6,366 7,004 0 2,540 5,542 6,555 44,175 74,292 57,276 58,057
Total Capital Funding 26,314 36,483 35,863 25,670 23,023 17,066 15,657 16,437 16,913 17,164 93,513 107,524 129,324 166,791

P
age 619



Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 11 | P a g e

7.0 Our Priorities
7.0 Our Priorities
In 2016 year we conducted the Survey of Tenants and Residents (STAR).  STAR is a satisfaction survey 
that helps landlords to identify and evidence how well they are meeting the needs of tenants and 
leaseholders and engaging them in the work that they do.
 
The results showed we are delivering a good quality service to our tenants and leaseholders. We 
found 95% of our general needs tenants, 92% of our supported housing tenants and 90% of 
leaseholders are satisfied with the service they receive. 

Key action points arising from the survey are that we need to work in partnership with our TAM 
partner, Osborne Property Services Ltd to improve satisfaction. The expenditures dedicated to 
repairs within this plan will offer certainty to our tenants and leaseholders that improving and 
maintaining our stock continues to be a main priority for the Housing Service.
   
Another recommendation is to improve tenants’ and leaseholders’ perceptions of feeling listened 
to. Our new approach and structure for delivering Tenant Involvement and investment in digital 
communications will achieve this.

2017 saw the tragic fire at Grenfell Tower in London.  Tragedies often instigate a re-focus and 
review of priorities.  Whilst the Council has for some time had a robust approach to managing Fire 
Safety, Gas Servicing and other statutory compliance within its housing stock a review with the 
assistance of external professionals is taking place.  Recommendations   will be implemented and 
resources allocated to ensure all of our homes are as safe as possible.

As mentioned the Council has committed to building new homes across the borough and this 
remains a priority. There is always an appetite to deliver more homes. With a growing demand for housing 
and the need for it to be affordable we will where possible seek to extend our development programme 
above the expenditure detailed within this plan. 

As well as the 130 new homes already completed, there are approximately 200 either on site or at the 
planning stages with a future pipeline being finalised.

P
age 620



Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 12 | P a g e

8.1 The HRA Forecasts
In section 6.2 we have shown that we can meet our core investment needs as per the asset 
management strategy and deliver over 300 additional affordable homes.

This section reviews the HRA and the day to day income and expenditure forecasts. See appendix 
one for the details behind the HRA and Capital forecasts including assumptions made.

8.0 The HRA 
Finances

This table indicates the HRA can remain balanced throughout the 30 years projected. 

This balance allows us to meet; the cost of day to day management and repairs for our housing stock; manage interest charges; the depreciation charge that 
funds capital works through the major repairs reserve; and top up the funding for capital works through revenue contributions. A minimum balance has 
been set within this financial model to ensure the HRA does not go below an agreed figure.

Year 2017.18 2018.19 2019.20 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.32 2032.37 2037.42 2042.47
£ '000 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11-15 16-20 21-25 26-30
INCOME:
Renta l  Income 53,792 53,448 52,972 54,604 56,349 58,040 59,775 61,562 62,802 64,067 340,209 375,849 415,201 458,647
Void Losses -431 -430 -428 -443 -458 -472 -486 -501 -511 -521 -2,768 -3,061 -3,384 -3,741
Service Charges 1,949 1,999 2,065 2,125 2,186 2,250 2,315 2,382 2,451 2,522 13,753 15,866 18,304 21,117
Non-Dwel l ing Income 212 102 105 108 112 115 118 122 125 129 702 810 934 1,077
Grants  & Other Income 796 535 550 565 580 595 610 627 643 660 3,576 4,084 4,670 5,346
Total Income 56,319 55,653 55,265 56,960 58,769 60,528 62,333 64,192 65,511 66,857 355,472 393,548 435,725 482,446
EXPENDITURE:
Genera l  Management -12,318 -12,442 -12,938 -13,368 -13,803 -14,235 -14,648 -15,073 -15,510 -15,960 -87,017 -100,387 -115,812 -133,608
Specia l  Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other Management -56 -34 -35 -36 -37 -38 -39 -41 -42 -43 -234 -270 -311 -359
Rent Rebates 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Bad Debt Provis ion -296 -696 -1,003 -1,035 -848 -873 -899 -926 -945 -964 -5,119 -5,656 -6,249 -6,903
Respons ive & Cycl ica l  Repairs -11,731 -12,195 -12,526 -12,895 -13,261 -13,640 -14,085 -14,495 -14,937 -15,372 -83,557 -95,922 -110,114 -126,402
Total Revenue Expenditure -24,402 -25,367 -26,502 -27,334 -27,948 -28,787 -29,672 -30,534 -31,434 -32,338 -175,927 -202,235 -232,486 -267,272
Interest Pa id -11,603 -11,594 -11,558 -11,486 -11,385 -11,302 -11,266 -11,204 -11,105 -10,966 -51,959 -42,925 -35,011 -29,699
Finance Adminis tration 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -2 -10 -42 0
Interest Received 145 387 304 207 234 253 338 423 493 544 3,203 1,977 1,128 1,153
Depreciation -11,612 -12,050 -12,474 -12,900 -13,303 -13,689 -14,086 -14,494 -14,914 -15,347 -83,674 -96,531 -111,364 -128,476
Net Operating Income 8,847 7,029 5,034 5,447 6,366 7,004 7,647 8,383 8,551 8,750 47,112 53,824 57,950 58,152
APPROPRIATIONS:
Revenue Contribution to Capi ta l -8,847 -7,029 -5,034 -5,447 -6,366 -7,004 0 -2,540 -5,542 -6,555 -44,175 -74,292 -57,276 -58,057
Total Appropriations -8,847 -7,029 -5,034 -5,447 -6,366 -7,004 0 -2,540 -5,542 -6,555 -44,175 -74,292 -57,276 -58,057

ANNUAL CASHFLOW 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,647 5,843 3,009 2,194 2,937 -20,468 674 95
Opening Ba lance 2,892 2,892 2,892 2,892 2,892 2,892 2,892 10,539 16,382 19,391 21,585 24,522 4,054 4,728
Closing Balance 2,892 2,892 2,892 2,892 2,892 2,892 10,539 16,382 19,391 21,585 24,522 4,054 4,728 4,823

P
age 621



Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 13 | P a g e

8.0 Continued 8.2 The Treasury Management Strategy
As part of the national self-financing settlement the HRA took on debt of £354million in place of 
making an annual subsidy contribution. This in effect made HRA business plans easier to produce 
as it enables us to project our finances and understand what resources we had available. 

As a self-financing local authority we do however need to consider imposed borrowing cap limiting 
the amount of debt that can be supported from the HRA.

This graph shows our projected borrowing position. It highlights our capital expenditure needs against the required HRA balance.

The blue line shows the balances for the original loan taken out when transition to self-financing transaction. This will be fully repaid by year 25. In line with 
the capital funding requirements in section 6.2, new borrowing is required to fully finance the capital programme in the later years. This is shown using the red 
line. New borrowing is a result of changes to rent policy causing a reduction in previously anticipated levels of income, an increase in numbers of right to buys 
and the need to match fund 70% of the new build programme to avoid losing receipts. The green line depicts our agreed debt caps.

In summary the HRA will remain balanced, fully funded and become debt free in 33 years.

P
age 622



Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 14 | P a g e

8.3 HRA Resources Available
Whilst the HRA has a minimum balance set for unforeseen short-term impacts such as high 
responsive repairs expenditure, we cannot assume that there are additional resources available 
to meet all the priorities outlined in section 7. 

The only additional resources available to the HRA are through borrowing headroom. This 
currently stands at £7.8million and rises to approximately £22million by the end of year 5 due 
to the repayment of loans. If borrowing is undertaken, then the level of headroom will be 
diminished slightly as the cost of interest needs to be taken into account.

The Government recently announced that there may be flexibility for Council’s to borrow in 
excess of those limits in place currently.  Whilst details of how that would happen have not yet 
been communicated, the Council has contacted the DCLG for initial discussions.

In summary whilst the HRA has borrowing capacity to fund tenant’s priorities, it is essential we 
understand the potential impact associated with each of the priorities listed before committing 
resources.  

The annual update for this business plan will allow us to effectively monitor and make such 
decisions.

.

8.0 Continued

P
age 623



Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 15 | P a g e

9.0 The Risks and Challenges
We have identified four key areas that could have significant impact to the financial projections 
detailed in section 8. 

The Sale of High Value Council Homes (Housing and Planning Act 2016)
To introduce Right to Buy to Housing Associations, the Housing and Planning Act 2016 stated stock 
holding Local Authorities would be required to sell their high value properties. Sales would be 
returned to the Treasury who would then allocate funding to Housing Associations to cover the 
discount offered through Right to Buy. This was originally set to come into action for 2017 but has 
since been postponed by Central Government who anticipate it will now be an expectation from 
2019 following a pilot scheme in the Midlands. Further guidance is yet to be released detailing the 
expectations for each Local Authority and how the process would operate. If introduced we will need 
to sell vacant properties reducing our rental income and therefore projections outlined in the HRA. 

Cost Inflation
Following the result of the Brexit referendum, interest rates have lowered but the threat of inflation 
increase. Our heavy reliance on external suppliers for our repairs and maintenance service means 
there’s is potentially a significant increase in the cost of materials. This would affect both our ability 
to maintain our current homes as set out by the Asset Management strategy and our ability to 
deliver our New Builds. This means our current available resources within the plan would become 
increasingly limited. 

Right to Buys
There is a level of volatility regarding levels of Right to Buy and prediction is difficult. An increase in 
uptake for Right to Buy would see a reduction in our income.  A decrease in sales results in more 
income but more properties to maintain and less receipt for use.

Each sale results in a ‘1-4-1’ receipt which we have to spend on providing new affordable homes 
within a 3-year timeframe. With the development costs of 70% falling to us and the remaining 30% 
from these receipts we are under additional pressure to either build new homes in a shorter 
timescale, absolve our portion of the cost to do so or return these receipts to Central Government. 
For this reason we are actively working with a number of RSL’s who we can ‘grant’ these receipts to 
for the provision of affordable housing.

Universal Credit Roll Out

An Increase in the bad debt provision had been made for 2018/19 but the full impact on rental 
income is not possible to predict at this stage.  

9.0 Risks and 
Challenges

P
age 624



Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 16 | P a g e

Appendix One Financial Assumptions
The 30-year business plan has been based on the projected out-turn position for 2017/18 and 
the proposed budget for 2018/19. The capital expenditure has been derived from the housing 
asset management database and current new build programme. In order to project forward the 
remaining 28 years certain assumptions have to be made in order to provide for the projections, 
these are:

Item Assumption
Rent Increases Years 2 & 3 minus 1%, then CPI (2.2%) + 1% (3.2% total) for the next five years, and CPI (2.2%) for the 

remainder years throughout plan. New tenancies re-let at (social) formula rent. De-pooling of Service 
Charges & Rent for flats has been implemented in 2017/2018.

RPI Year 2 RPI (3.9%), Year 3 RPI(3.3%) and 2.9% for the remainder years throughout plan– applies to 
service charges, other income, management costs, repairs and maintenance costs

Minimum HRA Balance 5% of turnover
Major Repairs Reserve Balance Nil – to be fully utilised each year to fund capital works and new build
New Build Programme 170 units planned with provision for expenditure for 100 more. Let at existing (social) formula rent 

levels
Voids and Bad Debts Voids: 0.8% of gross income  Bad Debts: 0.55% rising to 1.9% then reducing to 1.5% with the increases 

making a provision for the impact of Welfare Reform
Right to Buy sales Assumption of 55 sales per year for 3 years then reducing to 50 and then to 20. The self-financing 

settlement assumed an average of 20 per year. The HRA benefits from all retained right to buy receipts. 
However, if right to buy levels maintain at 55 or above per year and the new build programme is not 
expanded beyond the provisions made in this plan, then ‘1-4-1’ receipts will have to be paid to the 
Government. This is because the receipts will not have been spent in the time frame allowed on 
providing new affordable homes. An option would be to look at purchasing properties in the open 
market (if affordable), or gifting the receipts to local Registered Providers instead.

Interest Rates On existing borrowing the loan interest rates are fixed with levels between 1.5% and 3.5% depending 
on the duration. New borrowing which is assumed later in the plan and more short-term has been 
modelled at 4%.

P
age 625



Document is Restricted

Page 626

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	6 Cabinet Forward Plan
	7 Two Waters Master Plan
	Appendix 1 - Two Waters Draft Masterplan Guidance
	Appendix 2 - Full Consultation Statement - 2

	8 Senior Pay Policy
	Appendix 1 Senior Officer Pay Policy 2018 2019 v5 7 March 2018
	Election Fees Appendix 2
	Appendix 3 - Gender pay  2 March 2018 v6

	9 Council New Build Programme Update
	10 South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan
	Annex 1_Draft Memorandum of Understanding
	Annex 2_ Planning Strategically across SW Herts - Member Workshop Report...

	11 Q3 Risk Register
	Strategic Risk Register Q3 Dec 17

	12 Review of HRA Business Plan
	HRA Business Plan Cabinet March 18 final
	Appendix 2 Dev Budgets Cabinet March 18


